Lecture Notes in Bioengineering

Muhamed Brka · Enisa Omanović-Mikličanin · Jasmin Grahić · Samir Muhamedagić · Alen Mujčinović · Almir Toroman · Vedad Falan *Editors*

32nd Scientific-Expert Conference of Agriculture and Food Industry

Local Food Production Systems in the Era of Global Challenges



Lecture Notes in Bioengineering

Advisory Editors

Nigel H. Lovell, Graduate School of Biomedical Engineering, University of New South Wales, Kensington, NSW, Australia Luca Oneto, DIBRIS, Università di Genova, Genova, Italy Stefano Piotto, Department of Pharmacy, University of Salerno, Fisciano, Italy Federico Rossi, Department of Earth, University of Salerno, Fisciano, Siena, Italy Alexei V. Samsonovich, Krasnow Institute for Advanced Study, George Mason University, Fairfax, VA, USA Fabio Babiloni, Department of Molecular Medicine, University of Rome Sapienza, Rome, Italy Adam Liwo, Faculty of Chemistry, University of Gdansk, Gdansk, Poland Ratko Magjarevic, Faculty of Electrical Engineering and Computing, University of Zagreb, Zagreb, Croatia Lecture Notes in Bioengineering (LNBE) publishes the latest developments in bioengineering. It covers a wide range of topics, including (but not limited to):

- Bio-inspired Technology & Biomimetics
- Biosensors
- Bionanomaterials
- Biomedical Instrumentation
- Biological Signal Processing
- Medical Robotics and Assistive Technology
- Computational Medicine, Computational Pharmacology and Computational Biology
- Personalized Medicine
- Data Analysis in Bioengineering
- Neuroengineering
- Bioengineering Ethics

Original research reported in proceedings and edited books are at the core of LNBE. Monographs presenting cutting-edge findings, new perspectives on classical fields or reviewing the state-of-the art in a certain subfield of bioengineering may exceptionally be considered for publication. Alternatively, they may be redirected to more specific book series. The series' target audience includes advanced level students, researchers, and industry professionals working at the forefront of their fields.

Indexed by SCOPUS, INSPEC, zbMATH, SCImago.

Muhamed Brka · Enisa Omanović-Mikličanin · Jasmin Grahić · Samir Muhamedagić · Alen Mujčinović · Almir Toroman · Vedad Falan Editors

32nd Scientific-Expert Conference of Agriculture and Food Industry

Local Food Production Systems in the Era of Global Challenges



Editors Muhamed Brka Faculty of Agriculture and Food Sciences University of Sarajevo Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina

Jasmin Grahić Faculty of Agriculture and Food Sciences University of Sarajevo Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina

Alen Mujčinović D Faculty of Agriculture and Food Sciences University of Sarajevo Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina

Vedad Falan Faculty of Agriculture and Food Sciences University of Sarajevo Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina Enisa Omanović-Mikličanin Faculty of Agriculture and Food Sciences University of Sarajevo Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina

Samir Muhamedagić Faculty of Agriculture and Food Science University of Sarajevo Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina

Almir Toroman Faculty of Agriculture and Food Sciences University of Sarajevo Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina

 ISSN 2195-271X
 ISSN 2195-2728 (electronic)

 Lecture Notes in Bioengineering
 ISBN 978-3-031-47466-8

 ISBN 978-3-031-47466-8
 ISBN 978-3-031-47467-5 (eBook)

 https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-47467-5

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are solely and exclusively licensed by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Paper in this product is recyclable.

Preface

The collection of papers before you contains carefully selected papers presented at the 32nd International Scientific-Expert Conference of Agriculture and Food Industry "Local Food Production Systems in the Era of Global Challenges." The conference was held in Sarajevo on December 1–2, 2022, and gathered many local and international institutions and representatives who have established themselves as leaders in their respective fields. The papers presented have addressed current trending topics and challenges in animal and plant production, food technology and nutrition, agricultural economics, and innovative technologies centered around the common goal of transforming the food value chain. The double-blind review process has been conducted with a minimum of three assignees per paper, ensuring only high-quality papers are submitted and published.

Contents

Technical Correctness of Sprayer Nozzles for Pesticide Applications	
in Bosnia and Herzegovina	1
and Edin Omerhodžić	
Determination of Water Extractable Chloride in the Greenhouse Soil	
and Minimizing Interferences Caused by the Presence of the Iron Ions	14
Josip Jurković, Elmedina Bristrić, Sanel Haseljić, Sabrija Cadro,	
Fejzo Basic, Kasim Omanovic, ana jasmina Sulejmanovic	
Detection of Blueberry Latent Virus on Highbush Blueberries	
in Montenegro	23
Darko Jevremović, Dejan Zejak, Bojana Vasilijević, and Aleksandar Leposavić	
Leaf Diseases of Wild Barley (Hordeum spontaneum) in Bingöl University	
Campus, Turkey	30
Işıl Saraç Sivrikaya, Arzu Çelik Oğuz, and Aziz Karakaya	
The Effect of Biofertilization on Potato Yield Components Teofil Gavrić, Emra Bašić, Drena Gadžo, Saud Hamidović, and Mirha Đikić	37
Effects of Mulching and Irrigation on Antioxidant Activity	
and Antimicrobial Properties of Basil (Ocimum basilicum L.)	47
Ajla Šakonjić, Anamarija Matijević, Saud Hamidović, Lejla Čengić, and Teofil Gavrić	
Impact of Climate Change on the Soil Water Balance Components	
in the Area of Sanski Most (Bosnia and Herzegovina)	56
Ajla Smajlović, Ahmed Gudić, Ajdin Avdović, Faruk Hadžić,	
Sara Tatarević, Vanesa Ibraković, Zejneba Kermo, and Sabrija Cadro	
Effect of Pruning on Mechanical Composition of Bunch of Table Grape	
Varieties (Vitis Vinifera L.)	72
Mersija Delić, Fikreta Behmen, Semira Sefo, Pakeza Drkenda,	
Saša Matijašević, and Ana Mandić	

viii	Contents
111	Contents

Vascular Flora of Medieval Fortresses of Bosnia and Herzegovina Nermina Sarajlić, Semir Maslo, Biljana Lubarda, Nejc Jogan, Šemso Šarić, Borut Bosančić, and Vladimir Ranđelović	82
Soil Pollution by Heavy Metals Near the Lukavac Coke Factory and Models of Its Protection and Remediation	96
Effectiveness of Chlorantraniliprole, Methoxyfenozide and Emamectin Benzoate Insecticides in Controlling <i>Tuta Absoluta</i>	107
The Effect of Pyrophyllite on Yield Components and Accumulation of Nitrate in Lettuce (<i>Lactuca Sativa</i> L.)	116
The Use of Pyrophyllite for the Purpose of Remediation of Soil Contaminated with Heavy Metals in the Industrials Zone of Kakanj <i>Emina Sijahović, Hamdija Čivić, Senad Murtić, and Biljana Dojčinović</i>	126
Spontaneous Flora of Urban Domestic Gardens of the City of Sarajevo Nermina Sarajlić, Nejc Jogan, and Vladimir Ranđelović	136
Analysis of the Breeding of Lipizzaner Horses at the State Stud Farm Dakovo Barbara Perica, Maja Gregić, Tina Bobić, Pero Mijić, and Mirjana Baban	148
Influence of the Honeybee Colony Strength on Collecting Bee Venom by Electro Stimulation Method	163
An Overview of Using Algae Meal in Feeding Freshwater Fish Species Senada Čengić-Džomba, Emir Džomba, and Dženan Hadžić	171
Agro-Ecological Zoning as the Basis for Planning Agricultural Production in the Area of the City of Tuzla	183
Screening Based Approach to Rational Utilization of GMO Testing Resources: Case of DP305423 Soybean Merima Miralem, Anesa Ahatović Hajro, Mujo Hasanović, and Adaleta Durmić-Pašić	196

vi

Antioxidant Activity and Total Phenolic Content Determining in Samples of Celandine (<i>Chelidonium Majus</i> L.) by Applying Different Solvents Zilha Ašimović, Semira Hasanović, Ševal Muminović, Nermina Spaho, Selma Čorbo, and Lejla Čengić	202
Determination of Elements Composition in Vranec Wines Produced with Different Maceration Time Violeta Ivanova-Petropulos, Elena Bogeva, Katerina Bačeva Andonovska, Dragan Nikolić, and Trajče Stafilov	210
The Effect of Essential Oils on the Quality and Oxidative Stability of Linseed Oil Belmina Halilović, Selma Čorbo, Teofil Gavrić, and Munevera Begić	218
Identification of Anthocyanins and Anthocyanin-Derivatives in Vranec Wines During Aging	232
The Effect of Antioxidants on the Quality and Stability of Olive Oil Sara Uglješa, Selma Čorbo, and Munevera Begić	242
Plant-Based Diet as a Sustainable Diet or a New Diet Trend Lejla Mujezin, Adna Salkić, and Irzada Taljić	256
Characteristics of Steviol Glycosides and Their Function as Sucrose Substitutes: A Review	266
Quality of Commercial Blends for Tarhana, Bey's and Sarajevska Soup Jasmina Tahmaz, Irma Velić, Sabina Operta, Amila Oras, Mersiha Alkić Subašić, and Enver Karahmet	285
Role of Sensory Evaluation and Quality in Consumers' Acceptance of Smoked Meat Products Jasna Djinovic-Stojanovic, Milan Ristic, and Klaus Troeger	303
Determination of Antioxidant Activity in Parsley, Dill, Coriander and Basil Lejla Čengić, Zilha Ašimović, and Teofil Gavrić	312
The Chemistry of Fermented and Pickled Food Amina Stambolić, Selma Burović, Semira Galijašević, and Enisa Omanović-Mikličanin	320

х	Contents
л	Contents

Encapsulation and Its Possible Application in the Technology	225
of Ready-Made and Ready to Eat Food - A Review Jasmina Tahmaz	335
Green Synthesis of Silver Nanoparticles from <i>Mentha Piperita</i> Extract and Their Antimicrobial Activity Asima Buljina, Amina Stambolić, Saud Hamidović, and Enisa Mikličanin-Omanović	351
Quality and Technology of White Sheep's Cheese from Bjelašnica Adela Milišić, Zlatan Sarić, Tarik Dizdarević, and Svjetlana Sakić-Dizdarević	361
Nanotoxicology in Food Technology Maid Ćibo, Adis Šator, Amina Stambolić, and Enisa Omanović-Mikličanin	373
Phytomelatonin: Recent Advances – Systematic Review Semira Galijašević, Selma Burović, Amina Stambolić, and Enisa Omanović –Mikličanin	387
Determination of Methanol Content in Homemade Brandy Using Raman	
Amina Stambolić, Emina Drkić, Sabaheta Keser, Nermina Spaho, and Enisa Omanović-Mikličanin	401
Economic Analysis of Semi-hard Cheese Production Depending on the Applied Technology	410
Author Index	423



Technical Correctness of Sprayer Nozzles for Pesticide Applications in Bosnia and Herzegovina

Zuhdija Omerović^(⊠), Nermin Rakita, Muamer Bezdrob, and Edin Omerhodžić

Faculty of Agriculture and Food Science, University of Sarajevo, Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina

z.omerovic@ppf.unsa.ba

Abstract. Nozzles are supplies that are deformed during the work process and can affect the quality of pesticide application. The quality of pesticide application is reflected in coverage, flow, drift and droplet size, which mostly depends on the technical correctness of the nozzle. The goal of the paper is to determine the technical correctness of the new nozzles and deviations of the nozzle flow from the declaration values, for pesticide application in Bosnia and Herzegovina (B&H). The examination was conducted on different types and brands of nozzles that can be found in the B&H market. The examination included three different working pressures, 3, 5 and 8 bars and six different nozzle brands. Nozzle flow measurement was done with special equipment for testing devices for pesticide application, model "Schachtner tip control B20" and portable agricultural tractor sprayer, model "Agromehanika 330", applying European normative EN ISO 16122. For statistical analyses, IBM SPSS Statistics software, version 20, was used. Some nozzle brands had statistically significant deviations from declaration flow, while some brands satisfied ISO 16122 standards. The flow deviation of nozzle brands, marked with D, B and F didn't satisfy the mentioned standard. The largest average deviation had nozzles of brand A made of metal (69,6%) and the smallest average deviation had nozzles of brand B made of metal (2,9%). Conducted research indicates, in the B&H market are nozzles whose flow rate didn't correspond to declaration flow and there need to intensify inspection supervision in the Bosnia and Herzegovina market.

Keywords: Nozzle · Flow · Application of pesticides · Deviations

1 Introduction

Agricultural engineering is one of the main preconditions for high-quality, efficient and modern agricultural production. Machines and devices for pesticide application have a very important role in agricultural production for purpose of protecting crops from various diseases, harmful insects and weeds. Today's intensive agricultural production is unimaginable without using pesticides. Therefore, agricultural producers and consumers need to be aware of many dangers which can be caused unprofessional and irregular application of pesticides. For timely, precise and efficient crop protection, it is necessary to have correct and adequate devices for pesticide application. Defective and inadequate devices and their improper use leads to harmful consequences for human health and environmental pollution but also affects on increasing the total costs of farmers. The key role in pesticide application has the correctness of all components and parts of the tractor unit, not only the sprayer [1]. The failure of any part affects the pollution of the human environment and the quality of agricultural products. For these reasons, it is necessary to control and calibrate all devices for pesticide application to reduce the negative impact of pesticides on agricultural products, people and the environment. Calibration is the process of measuring and adjusting the amount of pesticides that are applied to the target area through the application device and properly performed calibration is one of the most important preconditions for effective pesticide application [2]. The calibration procedure is as follows: a) determining the amount of pesticides in the tank used to spray a certain area, b) operating the sprayer in a stationary position and measuring the amount of pesticides released for a certain time, c) collecting the pesticides from the nozzles for a certain time and determining nozzle flow [3].

For the mentioned reasons, many legal regulations have been adopted and various methods are used that will enable the production of healthy food and contribute to the reduction of environmental pollution. The majority of agricultural producers in Europe strive for agricultural production following the principles of good agricultural practice (GAP). Devices for the application of pesticides have an important place in GAP, and for their inspection, GAP used the recommendations of the first and second European symposiums on the standardization of inspection procedures for devices for the application of pesticides in Europe [4]. Since it isn't possible to check every agricultural producer, the GAP consortia have developed commercial standards that have crossed the borders of Europe and received the name Global GAP. Clause 8.4 of this standard refers to equipment and devices for the application of pesticides and defines the obligation of agricultural producers who apply Global GAP to perform a mandatory inspection of their machines and devices once a year, as well as their calibration, which will be conducted by an authorized laboratory for testing these devices. The authorized laboratory for testing devices for the application of pesticides on the territory of the Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina is the Laboratory for Agricultural Machinery within the Faculty of Agriculture and Food Science, University of Sarajevo. The rulebook on devices for pesticide application started to apply on 29.10.2013, which aligned with Directive 2009/128/EC. As part of this directive, there is also a standard related to the inspection of pesticide application devices that are in use.

The new standard that has been applied since 2015 is EN ISO 16122:2015 and consists of five parts covering general provisions, field sprayers, sprinklers, fixed and semi-mobile sprayers and aerial spraying systems. This standard is exclusively related to devices of larger dimensions and working procedures, while EN ISO 19932–2, which regulates the inspection of knapsack sprayers, is also applied. According to ISO 16122, all nozzles located on the wing of the sprayer must be identical (type, size, material and manufacturer), five seconds after turning off the nozzle mustn't continue to drip, the flow of each nozzle must not deviate more than 10% of the declaration flow for used

nozzles, 5% for new nozzles. The new standard has been applied since 2015 and applies in the member states of the European Union.

Testing devices for pesticide application has already begun in many countries across the planet. Field studies of pesticide applicators on golf fields in Nebraska, USA, found more than 25% of applicators which weren't working with properly serviced and calibrated devices, whose nozzles varied in flow rate by more than 10% [5]. Also, according to other research, only one in three pesticide applicators in the USA applied pesticides within 5% of the prescribed amounts [6]. As for Europe, tests of these devices in the European Union began at the end of the seventies of the last century. Out of 70,000 tested devices in Germany, 10% of them were found to have defective nozzles [7]. Also, in Belgium, about 18,000 devices were tested, of which 86% were defective due to manometers and nozzles [8]. All these, point to a big problem in the correctness of the nozzles as the final emitters of pesticides to the treated areas, because according to earlier research, during the technical inspection of plant protection devices, the nozzles are the main factor that is tested, and must achieve the declared flow according to the ISO standard for the device to satisfy the necessary conditions at the technical inspection [9].

The research in Croatia was conducted by the Institute for Agricultural Machinery of the Faculty of Agriculture in Osijek, as a part of this project, 84 devices were tested in several cities in Croatia. The results showed that about 55% of the nozzles were in a defective condition and the devices used in these cities in Croatia don't satisfy the EN ISO 16122 standard [10]. Similar research has never been conducted in Bosnia and Herzegovina, but there have been some experiments related to nozzle flow.

Nozzles are supplies that are deformed during the working process and can significantly affect the quality of the pesticide application, which is reflected in coverage, flow, drift and the number of droplets. The basic task of nozzles on devices for the application of pesticides is to eject the spray under pressure through small openings, forming a special form of jet to break the liquid into small droplets [11]. According to the European standard ISO 16122, a new nozzle is considered good if its flow doesn't deviate by more than 5% from the manufacturer's declared value [12]. Similar problems were observed with the knapsack sprayer, where, according to the research of a group of authors, determined deviations from the declared flow from 18% to 40%, but it is a sprayer that has already been used [13]. Even brand-new nozzles can show variations in flow, where it was found that as many as 20% of new nozzles on average deviated from the allowable tolerance [14]. The nozzles that exceed the mentioned deviations shouldn't be in use. New nozzles that can be found on the B&H market are usually made of plastic or metal and they are made by different manufacturers. The research in B&H was focused on this topic, where they examined several manufacturers of new nozzles in the B&H market, i.e. their deviation from the declared flow rate. The results of that research showed the majority of tested new nozzles from different manufacturers showed significant, positive or negative deviations from the declared flows. Deviations from the declared norms ranged from -28.6% to + 64.24% [15]. In that case, slightly smaller deviations were shown by metal nozzles compared to plastic nozzles. The research concluded in the B&H market there are nozzles of suspicious quality and quality without declarations, whose flow significantly deviates from the declared one. According to the same research, the nozzle flow deviations were negative with the brands Kosmos (-5.54%), AG (-7.95%), *Lechler* (-5.04%), and *Mlaz* (-29.08%), while the nozzles of the *Kovina* brand ejected more liquid than the declared norm (+6.75%). If it is taken into account that the allowed flow tolerance can be \pm 5%, then the nozzles, from their research, *Kosmos* and *Lechler* were slightly above the upper limit of the allowed and the remaining *AG*, *Mlaz* and *Kovina* were out the allowed tolerance limits. Also, research by Tadić et al. (2012) says that they had a nozzle flow deviation, with brands *Mlaz* (+0.81%), *Laznik* (-1.01%), *Andrić* (- 64.44%) and *AG* (+3.70%) at the pressure of 3 bars.

For these reasons, it is necessary to examine the technical correctness of the new nozzles in the B&H market that are available to farmers. Accordingly, the goal of this paper is to examine the technical correctness of new nozzles and deviations of nozzle flow from the declared values for pesticide application in B&H. The results of the research should indicate the real quality of the new nozzles to the sellers who purchase those nozzles and sell them to farmers in B&H.

2 Material and Methods

The testing of the flow rate and the quality of protection was conducted in the authorized "*Laboratory for Agricultural Machinery*" of the Faculty of Agriculture and Food Science, University of Sarajevo. The nozzle flow test was performed using special equipment for testing sprayers, model "*Schachtner type control B20*" with the use of the agricultural tractor sprayer "*Agromehanika 330*" following the EN ISO 16122 standard. In the progress of testing, the capacity of the sprayer tank was 330 l, the spray height of 50 cm and pressures of 3, 5 and 8 bars. The test was conducted with new nozzles, of six different brands, which are the most commonly present in the B&H market. Fan-shaped nozzles were used, six brands, 30 nozzles per sample, with a spray angle of 110° and with different declared flow rates of 02, 03 and 04 gallons. The examined brands are marked with capital letters of the alphabet, and the material in which they are made is marked with numbers 1 and 2. Number 1 represents a nozzle made of metal (*CuZn*) and number 2 represents a nozzle made of PVC material.

By applying the EN ISO 16122 standard, the technical correctness of the sprayer and nozzle flow testing device was checked. The revolutions per minute (rpm) of the drive shaft of the sprayer were also checked, which was 540 rpm. The requirements that had to be fulfilled in advance are: the protection of the PTO shaft and the cardan shaft must be in perfect condition, the correct individual parts of the shaft, the joints and the separation securing elements mustn't show attrition and must function properly. The functionality of the pump was checked following the European standard, where for proper testing of the nozzle flow, the volume flow of the pump must be higher than the maximum flow of all nozzles, and it was determined that the pump has no visible pulsation. The specified normative also requires the correctness of the manometer, the capacity of the pump and other parts that are necessary for the functioning of the sprayer. The correctness of the tested parts of the sprayer according to EN ISO 16122 is very important for the highquality application of pesticides on plants, therefore it is necessary to pay attention to it. Following the mentioned standard, the valves for switching on individual sections of nozzles, which must function as prescribed and mustn't show liquid leakage, were checked. Before testing the nozzles, the wings of the sprayer were secured, their stability was determined without visible damage, and the hoses of the test equipment that were connected to the nozzles were checked. To measure the flow for each tested nozzle on the sprayer, the already mentioned equipment for testing sprayers, "*Schachtner type control B20*" was used.

To do the examination professionally and with high quality, various equipment, and tools were used during the experiment, which enable the recording and processing of data to determine possible deviations in the nozzle flow. New nozzles, which are the most represented in the B&H market, were tested for possible deviations from the declaration flow at certain pressures.

The obtained data were statistically analyzed using *IBM SPSS Statistics v20*, statistical data processing software. To examine the influence of the nozzle brands and different working pressures, as well as the influence of their interaction, on the flow deviations from the declared values, the exposed samples to the Shapiro-Wilk normality test were first analyzed to examine the suitability of the data for parametric tests and then were analyzed using two-way ANOVA parametric test. Furthermore, to compare the differences in flow deviations of different nozzle brands and different working pressures, the post hoc Tukey test was used. *Microsoft Office 2019* package was used for the graphs and tables.

3 Results and Discussion

To achieve the set goals and tasks of the paper, this chapter will present the results of the flow of six different brands of new nozzles at three different working pressures and their deviation from the declaration flow. After the presented results, adequate conclusions will be made.

3.1 Nozzles 02 Gallons at Working Pressures of 3 and 5 Bars.

In the B&H market, five different nozzles were found, which were declared for 02 gallons and were exposed to flow testing at working pressures of 3 and 5 bars. Table 1. Shows descriptive statistics of nozzle flow deviations from declared values. The declared flow rate for nozzles of 02 gallons at a working pressure of 3 bars is 800 ml/min and at a working pressure of 5 bars, it is 1030 ml/min.

Table 1 shows two nozzle brands had the measured average flow higher than declared, while for the other three brands, the flow was lower than declared. Looking at the nozzle brand, the average deviation from the declared flow was + 69.6% for brand A1, + 6.9% for brand B1, -16.2% for brand C2, -4.5% for brand D2 and -22.6% for brand E2.

At working pressure of 3 bars, the average flow rate of the tested nozzles ranged from 592.3 ml/min to 1340.3 ml/min. The lowest average flow was measured by brand E2, while the highest was measured by brand A1. The declared flow rate for the 02-gallon nozzle type at a working pressure of 3 bars is 800 ml/min, so it can be concluded that some brands had negative some positive deviations from the declared flow rate. Deviations from the declared flow ranged from -26.0% to + 67.5%. The smallest deviation from the declared flow was measured by brands B1 (+6.1%) and D2 (-4.9%), while the largest deviation was measured by brand A1 (+67.5%). When testing the same nozzles at a

Nozzle brand	Working pressure	Average flow (ml/min)	The average deviation from declaration (%)	Total average brand deviation (%)	
A1	3 bars	1340,3	+ 67,5	+ 69,6	
	5 bars	1769,0	+ 71,7		
B1	3 bars	849,0	+ 6,1	+ 6,9	
	5 bars	1110,0	+ 7,8		
C2	3 bars	656,0	-18,0	-16,2	
	5 bars	882,3	-14,3		
D2	3 bars	766,3	-4,9	-4,5	
	5 bars	987,3	-4,1		
E2	3 bars	592,3	-26,0	-22,6	
	5 bars	833,7	-19,1		

Table 1. Descriptive statistics of nozzles with a declared flow of 02 gallons

working pressure of 5 bars, very similar results were obtained. The measured average flow, in this case, ranged from 833.7 ml/min to 1769.7 ml/min. The lowest average flow was recorded by brand E2, while the highest was by brand A1. Considering the declared flow rate of these nozzles at a working pressure of 5 bars (1030 ml/min), it can be concluded, again, some nozzles on average throw out more liquids and some less than the declared values. Average deviations from the declared flow ranged from -19.1% to + 71.7%. Nozzle brand D2 showed the smallest average deviations from the declaration (-4.1%), while brand A1 again showed the largest deviations (+71.7%). The results indicate brands of nozzles A1, C2, and E2 declared for 02 gallons, don't satisfy the permitted deviations for new nozzles according to the EN ISO 16122 standard and as such aren't recommended for use. Brand B1 showed higher deviations than the permitted of 5%, but such a result doesn't necessarily indicate that all nozzles of this brand don't satisfy the standards because their average deviations are slightly higher than the permitted ones. The best result showed the nozzle brand D2, which was the only one with average deviations within the limits allowed according to EN ISO 16122 standards.

At both working pressures, the samples of all tested nozzle brands satisfy the conditions of normality (sig > 0.05) and a parametric test, two-way ANOVA, can be performed. Based on the results of the two-way ANOVA, it can be concluded there is a statistically significant influence of the interaction of nozzle brand and working pressure on the deviation of nozzle flow from the declared value (sig < 0.05). Therefore, there is a statistically significant influence of the nozzle brand and working pressure as separate factors. The result indicates different nozzle brands don't show the same deviations from the declared flow at the same working pressure, and it is necessary to compare the flow deviations of different nozzle brands and different working pressures to get clearer results. Differences in nozzle flow deviation were tested using a post hoc Tukey test and the results are shown in Fig. 1.



Fig. 1. Average flow deviation of different nozzles at different working pressures (02 gallons)

Looking at Fig. 1 and the results of the Tukey test, it can be concluded, all nozzle brands differ significantly in the flow deviation compared to the declared flow (sig < 0.05). Also, within the brand, at different pressures, there are statistically significant differences in the flow deviation from the declaration value. Nozzle brands A1 and B1 showed higher deviations at higher working pressure compared to the lower pressure, while other brands showed higher deviations at lower working pressure compared to higher pressure. Such large deviations in flow can cause very significant damage to treated crops, contribute to higher environmental pollution, and contribute to much higher financial expenses for farmers who use these nozzles.

3.2 Nozzles 03 Gallons at Working Pressures of 3, 5 and 8 Bars

The next group of nozzles (03 gallons) are the nozzles with a slightly higher declared flow rate than the previous ones. The following Table 2. Shows the descriptive statistics of the nozzle flow deviations from the declared flow of different brands. All nozzles had a declared flow of 03 gallons, i.e. 1190 ml/min at 3 bars, 1530 ml/min at 5 bars and 1940 ml/min at 8 bars.

Table 2 shows for two nozzle brands, the measured average flow was higher than declared, while for the other two brands, the flow was lower than declared. Looking at the nozzle brand in general, the average deviation from the declared flow was + 43.8% for brand A1, + 2.9% for brand B1, -36.5% for brand C2 and -4.6% for brand D2.

Nozzles with a declared flow rate of 03 gallons are the most commonly used at three different working pressures 3, 5 and 8 bars. When testing the nozzles at an operating pressure of 3 bars, average flows ranged from 695.3 ml/min to 1712.7 ml/min. The lowest average flow was measured by nozzle brand C2, while the highest was measured by nozzle brand A1. The declared flow of these nozzles at a working pressure of 3 bars is 1190 ml/min, so it can be concluded the tested nozzles deviated in both directions (positive and negative). The average nozzle flow deviation from the declared value ranged

Nozzle brand	Working pressure	Average flow (ml/min)	The average deviation from declaration (%)	Total average brand deviation (%)
A1	3 bars	1712,7	+ 43,9	+ 43,8
	5 bars	2186,0	+ 42,9	
	8 bars	2808,0	+ 44,7	
B1	3 bars	1146,7	+ 4,3	+ 2,9
	5 bars	1560,7	+ 2,6	
	8 bars	1976,0	+ 1,9	
C2	3 bars	695,3	-41,6	-36,5
	5 bars	968,7	-36,7	
	8 bars	1332,1	-31,3	
D2	3 bars	1142,0	-6,2	-4,6
	5 bars	1471,7	-4,1	
	8 bars	1878,3	-3,4	

Table 2. Descriptive statistics of nozzles with a declared flow of 03 gallons

from -41.6% to + 43.9%. The smallest deviations from the declared flow rate were recorded by nozzle brand B1 and the largest by nozzle brand A1. When testing the same nozzles at a higher pressure of 5 bars, the results obtained were very similar. The average flow ranged from 968.7 ml/min to 2186 ml/min, while the average deviations from the declared flow ranged from -36.7% to + 42.9%. In this case, too, the smallest and the largest deviations in the flow from the declared one were shown by nozzles of the same brands as at the working pressure of 3 bars. At the highest tested pressure of 8 bars, the average flow ranged from 1322.1 ml/min to 2808 ml/min. Also, the deviations from the declared flow ranged from -31.3% to + 44.7%, where, again, the nozzles of the same brands showed the smallest and the largest deviations. Based on the presented results, it can be concluded the nozzles of brands A1 and C2 don't satisfy the criteria of the EN ISO 16122 standard, while the other two brands, B1 and D2, showed extremely small deviations that are within the allowed 5%.

In this case, too, all samples were exposed to the Shapiro-Wilk normality test and satisfied the conditions for using parametric tests.

Based on the results of two-way ANOVA, it can be concluded there is a statistically significant interaction influence on the deviation of the nozzle flow from the declared value for nozzles of 03 gallons (sig < 0.05). The result indicates that different brands of the nozzle, even for nozzles with a declared flow of 03 gallons, don't show the same deviations from the declared flow at the same working pressures, and it is necessary to compare the flow deviations of different brands of nozzles and different working pressures to get clearer results. Differences in nozzle flow deviation were tested using a post hoc Tukey test and the results are shown in Fig. 2.



Fig. 2. Average flow deviation of different nozzles at different working pressures (03 gallons)

Looking at Fig. 2 and the results of the post hoc test, it can be concluded all nozzle brands differ significantly from each other in the flow deviation from the declared flow (sig < 0.05), except for brands B1 and D2, which don't differ significantly from each other (sig > 0.05), Also within the brand, at different pressures, there are statistically significant differences in flow deviation from the declared value, except between nozzle flow at 5 and 8 bars where the differences aren't statistically significant (sig > 0.05). With most brands of the nozzle, the largest deviations were recorded at a working pressure of 3 bars and the smallest at a working pressure of 8 bars, except in the case of the nozzle brand A1 where the largest deviations were recorded at a working pressure of 8 bars and the smallest at 5 bars.

3.3 Nozzles 04 Gallons at Working Pressures of 3, 5 and 8 Bars

The next group is a group of nozzles with the highest declared flow of all tested nozzles of 04 gallons. Table 3 shows the descriptive statistics of the flow deviation of new nozzles from the declared flow of different brands. All nozzles had a declared flow of 04 gallons, i.e. 1580 ml/min at 3 bars, 2040 ml/min at 5 bars and 2580 ml/min at 8 bars.

Table 3 shows that for all nozzle brands, the measured average flow was lower than the declared one. Looking at the nozzle brand in general, the average deviation from the declared flow was -3.5% for the F1 brand, -6.7% for the F2 brand, -8.8% for the C2 brand and -4.1% for the D2 brand.

As in the previous case, the tested nozzle brands were exposed to testing at the three most commonly used working pressures of 3, 5 and 8 bars. The results of measuring the average flow at a working pressure of 3 bars were very similar for all tested brands. The average flow ranged from 1474.7 ml/min to 1524.3 ml/min. Therefore, the measured deviations from the declared flow were very small and ranged from -3.5% to -6.7%. The largest deviations were measured by nozzle brand C2 and the smallest by nozzle brand D2. Very similar results were obtained when testing the flow at a working pressure of 5 bars. The average flow ranged from 1860.7 ml/min to 1991 ml/min. Also, the average

Nozzle brand	Working pressure	Average flow (ml/min)	The average deviation from declaration (%)	Total average brand deviation (%)	
F1	3 bars	1506,3	-4,7	-3,5	
	5 bars	1991,0	-2,9		
	8 bars	2518,3	-2,9		
F2	3 bars	1490,0	-5,7	-6,7	
	5 bars	1897,7	-7,0		
	8 bars	2389,3	-7,4		
C2	3 bars	1474,7	-6,7	-8,8	
	5 bars	1860,7	-8,8		
	8 bars	2302,3	-10,8		
D2	3 bars	1524,3	-3,5	-4,1	
	5 bars	1958,7	-4,0		
	8 bars	2464,7	-4,7		

Table 3. Descriptive statistics of nozzles with a declared flow of 04 gallons

deviations from the declared flow ranged from -2.9% to -8.8%, with the nozzles of brand F1 showing the most minor average deviations and the nozzles of brand C2 the largest. At working pressure of 8 bars, the situation is similar. The average flow of tested nozzles ranged from 2302.3 ml/min to 2518.3 ml/min. Accordingly, the average deviations from the declared flow ranged from -2.9% to -10.8%. The largest average deviations were shown by the nozzle C2 brand, while the smallest deviations were shown by the F1 nozzle brand. According to the presented results, it can be concluded the nozzles of brands F1 and D2 at all tested working pressures satisfy the criteria of the EN ISO 16122 standard and proved to be of high quality and reliable, while the nozzles of brands F2 and C2 showed deviations out of the allowed limits, but these deviations aren't significantly higher, so the results should be accepted with the questionnaire because additional tests of these nozzles are needed, which might show minor deviations within the permitted limits in other studies.

In this case, too, the samples were exposed to the same test and satisfied the conditions for using the parametric test. Based on the results of two-way ANOVA, it can be concluded there is a statistically significant interaction influence on the deviation of the nozzle flow from the declared value for nozzles of 04 gallons (sig < 0.05). The results, again, indicate that different nozzle brands, even for nozzles with a declared flow of 04 gallons, don't show the same deviations from the declared flow at the same working pressures, and it is necessary to compare the flow deviations of different brands of the nozzle and different working pressures. Differences in nozzle flow deviation were tested using a post hoc Tukey test and the results are shown in Fig. 3.

Looking at Fig. 3 and the results of the Tukey test, it can be concluded all nozzle brands differ significantly from each other in the flow deviation from the declared flow



Fig. 3. Average flow deviation of different nozzles at different working pressures (04 gallons)

(sig < 0.05), except for brands F1 and D2, which don't differ significantly from each other (sig > 0,05), Also within the brand, at different pressures, there are statistically significant differences in the flow deviation from the declared value, except between the flows at 3 and 5 bars where the differences aren't statistically significant (sig > 0.05). All nozzle brands showed the largest deviations from the declared flow at the highest tested working pressure and the smallest deviations at the lowest tested working pressure. The exception is the nozzles of the F1 brand, where the largest average deviations from the declaration were recorded at a pressure of 3 bars, while the same deviations were recorded at pressures of 5 and 8 bars.

The research in B&H examined several brands of new nozzles in the B&H market, based on very similar nozzle brands [15]. The results of their research showed deviations from the declared norms ranged from -28,6% to + 64,24%. Accordingly, we can conclude the results of this study confirmed those results because the deviations in this study ranged from -36,5% to + 69,5%. According to their research, some nozzle brands deviated similarly in both studies but some deviated much more or less. Also, another group of authors tested some similar nozzle brands and got similar deviations [10].

Table 4 shows data on the percentage of nozzles that satisfy the ISO 16122 standard, ie, the 5% flow deviation tolerance threshold, by categories 02, 03 and 04 gallons.

Based on the results shown in Table 4, it can be concluded the most nozzles that don't satisfy the ISO 16122 standard were in the sample of nozzles with a declared flow of 02 gallons, about 85%, followed by nozzles with a declared flow of 03 gallons, 62.5% and at least from a nozzle sample with a declared flow rate of 04 gallons 55%. In total, of all the tested nozzles, 67.5% of nozzles didn't satisfy the permitted deviations for new nozzles of 5%, while only 32.5% of the tested nozzles satisfy the criteria of the mentioned standard. According to research [14] where it was discovered that 20% of new nozzles on average deviated from the allowed tolerance, we can conclude that this percentage is much higher in the B&H market. The reasons for this can be numerous, such as the procurement of the cheapest and low-grade nozzles in the B&H market,

Declared flow	Deviations below 5%	Deviations above 5%
02 gallons	15%	85%
03 gallons	37,5%	62,5%
04 gallons	45%	55%
TOTAL	32,5%	67,5%

Table 4. Percentual representation of nozzles that satisfy the ISO 16122 standard

which is affordable for domestic producers, but also the lack of control of standards on the goods sold in the B&H market.

4 Conclusions

Successful protection of crops from pesticides is possible only if it is done with the correct parts of the sprayer, correct adjustment and at the appropriate time. The key role in the correct application of pesticides depends on the correctness of all assemblies and parts of the tractor unit. The failure of any part or assembly affects the pollution of the human environment, and thus the quality of crops. Nozzles in the market should have the declared flow because otherwise, they cause incalculable consequences. Conducted research indicates in the B&H market, there are nozzles in the retail trade without declaration, of unknown origin and quality, and whose flow rate doesn't correspond to the declared norms. In the B&H market, several nozzle brands are available to farmers. Some of them can be found made from metal, but most of them are made of PVC plastic. Most of the examined nozzle brands had significant deviations from the declared norms and didn't satisfy the prescribed standards according to ISO 16122. Three nozzle brands showed significantly better results than the others and the average deviations of these nozzles were within or slightly over the allowed 5%. The other three tested brands showed significant deviations over the allowed 5% and didn't satisfy the ISO 16122 standard and as such shouldn't be on the market. Also, the result that 67.5% of all the tested nozzles did not satisfy the standard raises a big question mark on the quality and origin of the nozzles found on the B&H market. The obtained results indicate that it is necessary to strengthen the inspection supervision of the nozzle sales for pesticide application, to intensify the obligation of farmers to periodically calibrate devices for application following the provisions "Regulations on control of devices for the application of the pesticide" (Official Gazette of B&H No. 84/2013), and when they want to replace some nozzles they should buy more reliable brands to reduce the possibility of incorrect application of pesticides.

References

 Škaljić, S., Rakita, N.: Tehnička ispravnost atomizera u regiji Sjeverna Bosna, Orginalni naučni rad, Radovi Poljoprivredno-prehrambenog fakulteta u Sarajevu, Univerzitet u Sarajevu, 64/2: UDK: 63/66(058)0808.1/2, str.:141–151 (2014)

- 2. Gil, E., Gracia, F.: Calibration and Inspection of Sprayers: Proposal for a Joint Venture to reduce the use of plant protection products, 2nd SPISE, pp. 55–59 (2007)
- 3. Rider, A.R., Dickey, E.C.: Field evaluation of calibration accuracy for pesticide application equipment. Transactions of the ASAE **25**(2), 258–260 (1982)
- 4. Moeller, K., Coetezer, E.: Implementation of SPISE features in the Eurepgap standard, 2nd SPISE, pp. 19–20 (2007)
- Varner, D.L., Grisso, R.D., Shearman, R.C.: Calibration accuracy of golf course pesticide applicators. Appl. Eng. Agric. 6(4), 405–411 (1990). https://doi.org/10.13031/2013.26405
- Grisso, R.D., Hewett, E.J., Dickey, E.C., Schnieder, R.D., Nelson, E.W.: Calibration accuracy of pesticide application equipment. Appl. Eng. Agric. 4(4), 310–315 (1988). https://doi.org/ 10.13031/2013.26624
- Rietz, S., Gamzlemeier, H.: Inspection of plant protection equipment in Europe. AgEng, Oslo, 98-A-023 (1998)
- Langenakens, J., Pieters, M.: Organization and Results of The Compulsory Inspection of Speayers in Belgium. In: 7th International Congress Of Agriculture, pp. 50–53. Adana-Turkey (1999)
- 9. Herbst, A., Ganzelmeier, H.: International standards and their impact on pesticide application. Asp. Appl. Biol. **66**, 1–8 (2002)
- Tadić, V., Banaj, D., Petrović, D., Horvat, D., Lukinac, J.: Utjecaj tlaka i visine mlaznice na raspodjelu tekućine prskalice, Agronomski glasnik - Glasilo Hrvatskog agronomskoga društva, Vol. 74, No. 2–3. Listopad (2012)
- Banaj, Đ., Tadić, V., Banaj, Ž., Menđušić, I., Duvnjak, V.: Ispitivanje ujednačenosti površinske raspodjele tekućine ratarskih prskalica. 44. hrvatski i 4. međunarodni simpozij agronoma, Opatija, pp. 897 – 901 (2010)
- European Standard EN 16122: Agricultural and forestry machinery Inspection of sprayers in use: Part 1: General, Part 2: Horizontal boom sprayers, Part 3: Sprayers for bush and tree crops (2015)
- Omerović, Z., Rakita, N., Škaljić, S.: Determining the optimal operational parameters of the knapsack sprayer for raspberry protection. The Fourth International Symposium on Agricultural Engineering. ISAE 2019, pp. 135–147. Belgrade, Serbia (2019). ISBN 978-86-7834-342-1
- 14. Huyghebaert, B., Debouche, C., Mostade, O.: Flow rate quality of new flat fan nozzles. Trans. ASAE **44**(4), 769–773 (2001). https://doi.org/10.13031/2013.6238
- Škaljić, S., Rakita, N.: Uticaj protoka dizni na kvalitet i troškove zaštite bilja, Works of the Faculty of Agriculture and Food Scinece, University of Sarajevo, Vol. LXII, No. 67/2 (2017)



Determination of Water Extractable Chloride in the Greenhouse Soil and Minimizing Interferences Caused by the Presence of the Iron Ions

Josip Jurković¹(⊠) , Elmedina Bristrić¹ , Sanel Haseljić¹ , Sabrija Čadro¹ , Fejzo Bašić^{1,2} , Rasim Omanović² , and Jasmina Sulejmanović²

¹ Faculty of Agriculture and Food Sciences, University of Sarajevo, Zmaja Od Bosne 8, Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina

j.jurkovic@ppf.unsa.ba

² Faculty of Science, University of Sarajevo, Zmaja Od Bosne 33-35, Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina

Abstract. Chloride ion (Cl⁻) is one of the most abundant inorganic anions in water. In the soil, it originates from many chlorine minerals, Chlorides in soil can be released also as constituent of fertilizers. Fertilizers in greenhouses are used in high amount, where salinization of soil often happens. Increased chloride content on arable land can significantly affect the cultivation of certain agricultural crops, and the first step towards solving this problem must be to determine the chloride content as accurately as possible. The aim of this research is to determine the chloride content in soil samples from greenhouses by use of automatic titration, and to record possible disturbances caused by certain cations (Fe³⁺), and to propose a way to minimize them. The following samples were used as material: soil from five greenhouses, soil samples outside the greenhouse - control, and irrigation water samples. In the samples following basic parameters were measured: hygroscopic water content, pH value in water and CaCl₂, redox potential and electrical conductivity. Chloride content was measured with automatic titrator, and iron content with atomic absorption spectrophotometry with flame atomization (Shimadzu AA 7000 instrument). Irrigation water had a neutral pH value, while the soil samples were slightly acidic (6.74) to alkaline (8.36). Irrigation water does not contribute in chloride content in soils. The highest chloride content was 226.7 mg/kg, and at this chloride value, moderately resistant plants can show negative changes. There is a certain difference in chloride content with and without EDTA addition, but amount of iron was not high enough to cause significant interference (average: 9.86 mg/kg).

Keywords: chloride · fertilizers · automatic titration · greenhouse · interferences

1 Introduction

Chloride ion (Cl^-) is one of the most abundant inorganic anions in water and wastewater. In the soil, concentration of chloride depends on many factors: depositions trough irrigation water, depositions of airborne Cl^- , input by fertilization, basin or saline springs or in soils bedrock is constituent of minerals such as chlor-apatite, boracite, halite, etc. The decomposition of these minerals releases chlorine and is found in the solution in the form of Cl⁻ anions. In this form, plants adopt it. The chloride ion is very mobile in nature, and its transfer from water to soil is easy and fast. Chlorides present in the soil are usually very soluble in water (except if they are bound in AgCl, PbCl₂, CuCl(OH)₃, etc. An increased level of soil salinity is a result of the accumulation of various water-soluble salts in the soil profile, and it can be said that those agricultural soils are saline in which the concentrations of dissolved salts are so great that they can cause limitations in the growth, development and/or productivity of cultivated agricultural crops. However, how salt stress will affect a certain agricultural crop depends on the type, variety and phase of crop development (vegetative, generative), as well as on other environmental conditions (moisture, temperature) and on ions (Na⁺, Ca²⁺, Mg²⁺, Cl⁻, SO₄²⁻ etc.) which are found in increased concentrations in the soil [2]. According to the origin, soil salinization can be natural (primary) or anthropogenic (secondary). In arid and semi-arid climate zones and in coastal areas, high salt concentrations naturally occur in soils, while the amount of precipitation is insufficient to wash the salt into deeper soil horizons [3]. In the case of primary salinization, the salts reach the surface of the ground water by capillary rise, where they accumulate through evaporation or evapotranspiration. Excessive amounts of salt in the soil are a limiting factor in the cultivation of many agricultural crops. In conditions of increased amount of salt in the soil, there are three main factors that adversely affect plants: lack of water, ion toxicity - excessive intake of Cl- and Na+, and disturbance in the intake and transport of nutrients [4, 5]. Factors that affect salinity of agricultural soils are: the application of mineral fertilizers, the quality of irrigation water and the method of irrigation, climatic conditions and the type of land. Irrigation as an agrotechnical measure can affect the salinization of land in two ways: directly when water containing more mineral substances is applied and indirectly - when larger quantities of irrigation water are applied and the level of mineralized underground water rises. The amount of chloride in the irrigation water below 70 mg/L is generally considered safe for all plants [6]. Increased amounts of chlorides (4-7 mg/g for sensitive species) are toxic to plants [7]. Increased chloride content on arable land can significantly affect the cultivation of certain agricultural crops, and the first step towards solving this problem must be to determine the chloride content as accurately as possible. One of the most accurate and precise methods for determining chloride is automatic titration with an ion-selective chloride electrode. When determining chloride by automatic titration, larger amounts of trivalent cations can interfere. Polyvalent cations (e.g., Fe³⁺ and Al³⁺) interfere by forming complexes with chloride which are not measured by the chloride ion selective electrode [8]. Trivalent cations cause lower result than correct one. The minimization of the cation affect will be conducted with complexing agent (EDTA) which complex the cations in stable complex. Taking into account all these facts, the goal of this work was derived, which is: using automatic titration to determine the chloride content in soil samples from greenhouses, to record possible disturbances caused by certain cations (iron cations or aluminum), and propose a way to minimize them.

2 Materials and Methods

Five greenhouses were included in the research, from which three soil samples were taken (total of 15 samples). Soil samples were taken with plastic scoop, until the depth of 15 cm was reached. At a distance of 20 m from the greenhouses, samples were taken and served as a control (total of 5 samples). In addition to soil samples, irrigation water samples were also taken from each greenhouse, a total of 5 samples. All samples were collected in the area in the northeastern part of Bosnia and Herzegovina, in the city of Gradačac. In the greenhouses where the samples were taken, vegetable production is carried out, namely the production of: cucumbers, tomatoes and peppers. Sampling was done during vegetation rest.

2.1 Sample Preparation

After the soil samples were brought to the laboratory, they were air dried, homogenized and sieved trough 2 - mm sieve. Irrigation water samples in which the Fe content was measured were preserved with concentrated nitric acid.

2.2 Methods Used for Water Analysis

Irrigation water samples from the areas were taken from the city water supply and from a well. The water samples were subjected to the following analyses: pH value, electrical conductivity, redox potential, and determination of chloride and iron content. The pH value was measured using a pH meter, which was calibrated with buffers of known pH value (7.00 and 4.00) by means of Mettler Toledo, MP 230 device. Electrical conductivity was measured with a conductometer with standards of known electrical conductivity (12.88 mS/cm and 1043 μ S/cm), with Mettler Toledo MC 126 instrument. The redox potential was measured using an ORP device that was calibrated with standards of known redox potential. The chloride content was measured by automatic titration with an ion-selective chloride electrode, where silver nitrate solution, concentration 0.01 mol/L, was used as the titrant. For determination of chloride content Mettler Toledo G20 used.

2.3 Methods Used for Soil Analysis

In order to determine the basic and specific quality parameters of the soil samples, several analytical methods were used:

Basic Quality Parameters

pH value

In air dried, homogenized and sieved samples, the pH value was measured in two different solutions: distilled water and a $CaCl_2 \times 2H_2O$. The pH value is measured in the ratio soil:extractant 1:5 (ISO 10390:2021 method). The measurement was performed using a pH meter (MP 230) that was previously calibrated with buffers of known pH value.

Electrical conductivity

The electrical conductivity was measured in a water suspension of the soil, in a ratio of 1:5. A conductometer (MC 126) was used for the measurement, which was calibrated with standards of known electrical conductivity.

Redox potential

The redox potential was measured with a HANNA, ORP meter (Reference electrode was Ag/AgCl). The redox potential was also measured in the water suspension (1:5 ratio) of the soil in accordance to US EPA method. The ORP device is previously calibrated with standards of known redox potential.

Specific Soil Parameters

Determination of iron content in water extract using atomic absorption spectrometry

The iron content was determined by atomic absorption spectrometry with flame atomization, using the external standard method. In order to determine the amount of iron ions that could interfere with an electrode, the measurement of the deionized water extractable iron was measured. The water extractable iron was measured in the same solution in which the chloride content was determined, just in different aliquot. The limit of detection was 1 mg/L. A Shimadzu AA-7000 device was used to measure this parameter.

Determination of chloride content

Determination of chloride was carried out in the water extract of the soil, without and with EDTA addition, as an iron complexing agent. The complexing agent was used to minimize the iron content interference on the electrode. Chloride content was measured by automatic titration with an ion-selective chloride electrode (Mettler Toledo, DM 141-SC). The titration was carried out by transferring 30 mL of the sample with the help of a burette to the container for stirring the sample, and with constant mixing, the titration was carried out with a standard solution of silver nitrate. The device was a Mettler Toledo, G20. The end point of the titration was determined potentiometrically. Analytical determinations were conducted in the laboratories of Faculty of Agriculture and Food Sciences in Sarajevo.

2.4 Statistical Evaluation

Results of this research are statistically evaluated with usage of statistical program SPSS 20.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) through next analysis: 1. Descriptive statistics (mean, maximum, minimum and median). 2. Correlation is used to see similarity between two groups of results. Description of correlation coefficients which describe strength of connection between two variables is as follows: 0.0-0.19 very weak connection, 0.2-0.39 weak connection, 0.40-0.59 moderate connection, 0.60-0.79 strong connection, 0.80-1.0 very strong connection. Correlation can be uphill (coefficient of correlation (r) is positive), or downhill (coefficient of correlation (r) is negative).

3 Results and Discussion

3.1 Analysis of the Irrigation Water Samples

The descriptive statistics results of water samples analysis are given in the Table 1.

	pH value	ORP (mV)	EC mS/cm	Cl ⁻ (mg/L)	Fe (mg/kg)
Minimum	6.91	294	4.16	3.65	< 1
Maximum	7.46	313	6.41	27.60	< 1
Median	7.15	294	6.05	19.96	< 1
Average	7.17	294	5.67	7.44	< 1

 Table 1. Results of the water samples analysis

Analysis of the irrigation water samples showed the pH value close to neutral. The oxidation – reduction potential was in oxidative range (positive values). The electrical conductivity was quite uniform, meaning that all samples had similar number of dissolved solids. The amounts of dissolved chlorides were low enough to not contribute significantly to amounts of chlorides in soil. These amounts of chloride are considered generally safe for all plants [6, 9, 10]. Concentrations of iron was below the detection limit of the AAS instrument.

3.2 Analysis of Soil Samples

Basic Quality Parameters

The descriptive statistics of basic quality parameter of the soil samples are shown by the Table 2.

	pH (Water)	pH (CaCl ₂)	ORP (mV)	EC (mS/cm)
Minimum	6.74	6.14	176	0.64
Maximum	8.36	7.64	261	8.87
Median	7.91	7.37	228	1.70
Average	7.78	7.28	223	2.92

Table 2. The results of the basic quality parameters of the soil samples

pH value was in some cases slightly acidic and in others moderately basic. Oxidationreduction potential values ware positive, which is similar to irrigation water results. Electrical conductivity was in contrast to irrigation water unevenly distributed, ranging from 0.64 to 8.87 mS/cm.

Chloride Content

The chloride content of the soil samples is presented by the Fig. 1.



Fig. 1. Chloride content

The chloride content in soil samples was quite uneven inside each greenhouse. Amounts of chlorides in controls actually showed higher amounts of chlorides, than those found inside of greenhouses, meaning that greenhouses under investigation do not have significantly higher amounts of chlorides brought by e.g., fertilization, or the green houses are very well irrigated, so chlorides (as soluble salts) are easily.

mobilizable, and thus removed from the rhizosphere layer of greenhouse soil. The amounts of chlorides found in soil samples do not have a negative effect on the plant growth and development.

Iron Content

The iron content of the soil samples is presented by the Fig. 2.



Fig. 2. Iron content

The water extractable iron content in investigated samples of was low and uneven.

20 J. Jurković et al.

In four of five cases, iron was higher in controls than in greenhouse soil samples. This means that samples inside of greenhouses is lacking in iron content. We believe that the reason is intensive agricultural production. Water extractable amounts of iron were similar to previous research [11].

Chloride Content with and Without EDTA Addition

The comparison of chloride content, with and without EDTA addition are presented by the Fig. 3.



Fig. 3. Chloride content with and without EDTA addition

When the results of chloride content with and without EDTA are considered, we can conclude that in majority of samples (16 of 20), after addition of EDTA decreasing of chloride content is observed. It is expected that after the addition of EDTA, we do not have interferences anymore. So, the results should be higher. It means that, this small difference is probably derived by the heterogenicity of soil. Although certain difference is found, the amount of iron is not high enough to interfere with electrode.

Correlations

Table 3

The highest observed correlation was one found between chloride content with and without EDTA addition. This very strong connection is expected because the same parameter is measured with slightly different conditions. Iron showed a strong, and negative correlation with chloride content. Meaning that higher amount of iron corresponds to lower amount of chloride and *vice versa*. Iron compounds in soils, especially the iron oxyhydroxides are well known as a sequesters of cations from solution. The Cl⁻ anion shows little affinity (or specificity) in its adsorption to soil components (iron compounds are one of them) [12]. Oxidation – reduction potential shows moderate and positive correlation with chloride content. It means that higher (oxidative) ORP is accompanied with higher Cl- content. The very strong correlation is found between electrical conductivity

	Cl-	Cl ⁻ (EDTA)	Fe	ORP	EC	pH _{H2O}	pH _{CaCl2}
Cl ⁻	1						
Cl ⁻ (EDTA)	0.920	1					
Fe	-0.562	-0.590	1				
ORP	0.605	0.622	-0.544	1			
EC	0.843	0.854	-0.741	0.549	1		
pH _{H2O}	-0.381	-0.398	0.128	-0.374	-0.275	1	
pH _{CaCl2}	-0.180	-0.195	-0.149	-0.395	0.031	0.878	1

Table 3. Pearson's correlations among measured parameters

and chloride content. Cl^- movement within the soil is largely determined by water flows [12]. Higher amount of chlorides gives a higher electrical conductivity. This fact was used to predict amounts of chlorides based on electrical conductivity [13].

4 Conclusions

The amount of chlorides found in researched samples do not threaten the wellbeing of cultivated plants inside of greenhouses.

The soil in greenhouses lacks in available iron.

Chloride is not bonded to iron particulate matter in soil, but dissolved into water fraction.

The water extractable amounts of iron are not high enough to interfere with ionselective chloride electrode.

References

- 1. Geilfus, C.-M.: Chloride in soil: From nutrient to soil pollutant. Environ. Exp. Bot. 157, 299–309 (2019)
- Yadav, S., Irfan, M., Ahmad, A., Hayat, S.: Causes of salinity and plant manifestations to salt stress: a review. J. Environ. Biol. 32, 667–685 (2011)
- Zhao, J., Ren, W., Zhi, D., Wang, L., Xia, G.: Arabidopsis DREB1A/CBF3 bestowed transgenic tall rescue increased tolerance to drought stress. Plant Cell Rep. 26, 1521–1528 (2007)
- Zekri, M., Parsons, L.R.: Salinity tolerance of citrus rootstock: effects of salt on root and leaf mineral concentrations. Plant Soil 147, 171–181 (1992)
- Peres-Alfocea, F., Estan, M.T., Caro, M., Bolarin, M.C.: Response of tomato cultivars to salinity. Plant Soil 150, 203–211 (1993)
- Maas, E.V.: Crop salt tolerance. In: Tanji, K.K., (ed.) Agricultural Salinity Assessment and Management. ASCE Manual Reports on Engineering Practices 71, 262–304 (1990)
- Li, B., Tester, M., Gilliham, M.: Chloride on the Move. Trends Plant Sci. 22(3), 236–248 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tplants.2016.12.004
- 8. EPA 9212: Potentiometric Determination of Chloride (1996)

- Zaman, M., Shahid, S.A., Heng, L.: Guideline for Salinity Assessment. Mitigation and Adaptation Using Nuclear and Related Techniques, 113–131 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-96190-3_5
- Bouraoudj, S., et al.: Assessment of water quality at the largest dam in Algeria (Beni Haroun Dam) and effects of irrigation on soil characteristics of agricultural lands. Chemosphere 219, 76–88 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2018.11.193
- Ahmad, F., Maqsood, M.A., Aziz, T., Cheema, M.A.: Water soluble iron (Fe) concentration in alkaline and calcareous soils influenced by various Fe sources. Pak. J. Agric. Sci. 51(2), 417–421 (2014)
- 12. White, P.J., Broadley, M.R.: Chloride in soils and its uptake and movement within the plant a review. Ann. Bot. **88**(6), 967 (2001). https://doi.org/10.1006/anbo.2001.1540
- Peinado-Guevara, H., et al.: Relationship between chloride concentration and electrical conductivity in groundwater and its estimation from vertical electrical soundings (VESs) in Guasave, Sinaloa. Mexico. Ciencia e Investigación Agraria 39(1), 229–239 (2012). https:// doi.org/10.4067/S0718-16202012000100020



Detection of Blueberry Latent Virus on Highbush Blueberries in Montenegro

Darko Jevremović¹(⊠) , Dejan Zejak², Bojana Vasilijević¹, and Aleksandar Leposavić¹

¹ Fruit Research Institute, Kralja Petra I 9, 32102 Čačak, Serbia darkoj@ftn.kg.ac.rs

² Faculty of Agriculture, University of Belgrade, Nemanjina 6, 11080 Zemun, Serbia

Abstract. Highbush blueberries (*Vaccinium corymbosum* L.) are a recent addition to Montenegro's fruit producing repertoire. The northern region of the country is home to new, dense plantations.

To investigate the presence of viruses in blueberry plantations in Montenegro during 2022, visual inspections of plantations were carried out. Seventeen leaf samples of five cultivars were collected and analyzed. The samples were tested by ELISA for the presence of: blueberry shock virus (BIShV), blueberry scorch virus (BIScV), blueberry shoestring virus (BSSV), blueberry leaf mottle virus (BLMoV), tomato ringspot virus (ToRSV), and tobacco ringspot virus (TRSV). Assays were conducted according to the recommended protocols. The samples were further tested for the presence of blueberry mosaic-associated virus and blueberry latent virus using RT-PCR and for the presence of the blueberry red ringspot virus using PCR. Extraction of total nucleic acids was performed with 2% CTAB buffer. Reverse transcription was done with $pd(N)_6$ random primers, and PCR was done with virus-specific primers. PCR products were analyzed by electrophoresis in a 1.5% agarose gel and stained with ethidium bromide.

The presence of blueberry latent virus was confirmed in 10 blueberry samples (59%) in cultivars ''Duke', 'Bluecrop', and 'Earlyblue'. Virus identification was confirmed by sequencing the amplified fusion protein gene fragments of all 10 isolates. No other viruses were confirmed in the tested samples.

This is the first survey for virus presence in blueberries in Montenegro and the first finding of blueberry latent virus in the country.

Keywords: Vaccinium corymbosum L. \cdot Viruses \cdot ELISA \cdot PCR \cdot Latent infection

1 Introduction

Highbush blueberry (*Vaccinium corymbosum* L.) is a relatively new fruit species for the Balkan countries. The intensive growing of blueberries started in Serbia in the 2000s and has reached more than 2,500 ha today (Leposavić and Jevremović, 2020). In Montenegro, growing highbush blueberries is at the very beginning, with an estimated 5 ha of orchards. Blueberry expansion may favor the emergence or spread of diseases and pests that could threatening production. Highbush blueberry is a host to more than 15 viruses and virus-like agents (Martin and Tzanetakis, 2018; Saad et al., 2021). Economically, the most important viruses of blueberries are: blueberry scorch virus (BlScV), blueberry shock virus (BlShV), blueberry shoestring virus (BSSV), blueberry red ringspot virus (BRRV), blueberry leaf mottle virus (BLMoV), tobacco ringspot virus (TRSV), and tomato ringspot virus (ToRSV) (Martin et al., 2012). These viruses originate in North America, but they are also present in numerous countries throughout the world. Other viruses of lesser importance include: peach rosette mosaic virus (PRMV), blueberry mosaic-associated virus (BlMaV), blueberry latent virus (BILV), blueberry virus A (BVA), blueberry latent spherical virus (BLSV), cherry leaf roll virus (CLRV), strawberry latent ringspot virus (SLRSV), blueberry necrotic ring blotch virus (BNRBV), blueberry green mosaic-associated virus (BGMaV), and blueberry virus T (BIVT) (Saad et al., 2021). Blueberry latent virus has been reported in the USA, Japan, Serbia, and Bosnia and Herzegovina (Jevremović and Paunović, 2021, Delić et al., 2022).

In sensitive cultivars, viruses can cause significant yield losses, reduce fruit quality or destroy entire plants. Viruses can also induce latent infections in tolerant cultivars. They spread through infected plant material and vectors (nematodes and insects). Preventive virus disease control measures include the use of virus-free planting material and spatial isolation from other blueberry plantations. In practice, eradication of symptomatic or diseased plants may not give satisfactory results due to the long latency of some viruses (Saad et al., 2021).

This paper presents the results of the first survey for virus presence in highbush blueberry plantations in Montenegro.

2 Material and Methods

2.1 Plant Material

Material for this study was collected during a survey performed in June 2022 in highbush blueberry orchards in Montenegro. A total of 17 leaf samples from five blueberry cultivars ('Aurora', 'Bluecrop', 'Brigita Blue', 'Duke', and 'Earlyblue') were collected from commercial orchards in north Montenegro (Table 1). Each sample consisted of ten youngest but fully expanded leaves, picked from several branches of a single bush. Collected samples were stored at 4 °C (for ELISA) and at -80 °C (for PCR).

2.2 ELISA Test

All collected samples were serologically tested for the presence of six viruses: blueberry scorch virus (BlScV), blueberry shock virus (BlShV), blueberry leaf mottle virus (BlMoV), blueberry shoestring virus (BSSV), tobacco ringspot virus (TRSV), and tomato ringspot virus (ToRSV). Assays were performed by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) with the reagents of AGDIA Inc. (USA) (BlScV, BlShV BlMoV and BSSV), and BIOREBA AG (Switzerland) (TRSV and ToRSV) according to the manufacturers' recommendations. Fresh leaf samples were ground at 1:10 ratio in the general extraction buffer (GEB) (AGDIA Inc). Color development was measured at 405 nm for

Cultivar	Number of analyzed samples	Number of BILV positive samples	%
Aurora	1	0	1
Bluecrop	6	5	83,3
Brigita Blue	1	0	/
Duke	8	4	50
Earlyblue	1	1	100
Total	17	10	58,8

Table 1. List of analyzed blueberry samples from Montenegro.

all viruses except BSSV (650 nm) on ELISA plate reader (MULTISKAN MCC/340, Finland) after 20 - 120 min. Samples were considered positive when recorded optical density (OD) values were at least three times higher than the OD values of the negative control.

2.3 TNA Extraction

Total nucleic acids (TNA) were extracted following a modified CTAB protocol (Li et al., 2008). A leaf tissue sample of 200 mg taken from ten leaves of a single plant was ground in extraction bags (Flexo Duga, Serbia) with 2 ml of 2% cetyltrimethylammoniumbromide (CTAB) buffer. One ml of the extract was incubated for 15 min at 65 °C and centrifuged at 10,400 rpm for 5 min. The obtained supernatant (650 μ l) was transferred to a new 1.5 ml tube and vortexed with an equal volume of chloroform/isoamyl alcohol (24:1). The mixture was centrifuged for 10 min at 12,800 rpm. The supernatant (500 μ l) was transferred to another tube with 350 μ l ice-cold isopropanol, mixed and centrifuged at 12,800 rpm for 10 min. The aqueous phase was removed and the TNA pellet was washed with 1 ml ice-cold 70% ethanol by centrifugation for 5 min at 12,800 rpm, dried at room temperature, and dissolved in 100 μ l Tris-EDTA.

2.4 Reverse Transcription and Polymerase Chain Reaction (RT-PCR)

Samples were analyzed for the presence of BILV and BIMaV by reverse transcriptionpolymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) using virus-specific primers. Reverse transcription was performed with random pd(N)6 primers and Maxima Reverse Transcriptase (Thermo Scientific, USA). The obtained complementary DNA (cDNA) was then used as a template in a PCR reaction with BILV and BLMaV specific primer sets (Martin et al., 2011; Thekke-Veetil et al., 2014). Extracted TNA was used for PCR reactions with specific primers for BRRV detection (Glasheen et al., 2002). PCR reactions were carried out in a TPersonal thermal cycler (Biometra, Germany) with Green Taq DNA Polymerase (Thermo Scientific, USA).

Horizontal electrophoresis in 1.5% agarose gel was used to analyze PCR products, which were stained with ethidium bromide and visualized with the Gel Doc EZ System (Biorad, USA) using a UV tray. The presence of a fragment of the expected size was considered a positive reaction.

2.5 Sequence Analysis

PCR products of all 10 detected BILV isolates were sequenced. Phylogenetic relationships were reconstructed by a Maximum Likelihood (ML) tree with a Hasegawa-Kishino-Yano (HKY) model of nucleotide substitution using MEGA11 software (Tamura et al., 2021).

3 Results

During the survey, we did not observe blueberry plants with the symptoms that could be linked to viral infections. Collected blueberry leaf samples of five cultivars were analyzed for the presence of nine viruses. None of the analyzed six viruses (BIScV, BIShV, BIMoV, BSSV, TRSV, and ToRSV) were detected in the ELISA test. PCR reaction with BRRV-specific primer pair confirmed the absence of BRRV in the analyzed samples. RT-PCR analyzed samples, whereas the presence of BILV detection. BIMaV was not detected in analyzed samples, whereas the presence of BILV was confirmed in 58.8% samples. The expected 391 bp fragment was obtained in 10 out of 17 tested samples in cultivars 'Bluecrop' (5), 'Duke' (4), and 'Earlyblue' (1) (Table 1). BILV was confirmed in all five surveyed localities (Fig. 1). The percentage of infected from total number of tested samples in surveyed localities varied from 50 to 75%.



Fig. 1. Sampling locations and the occurrence of BILV in analyzed samples
To further characterize detected BILV isolates, we partially sequenced a fragment of fusion protein (F) gene of all ten isolates. Obtained sequences were deposited in the nucleotide sequence database (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/) and assigned the accession numbers OP561432 – OP561441. When compared, Montenegrin isolates showed 100% nucleotide (nt) sequence identity. The sequences of these isolates were compared with 31 sequences of other BILV isolates available in the NCBI GenBank. BLAST analysis showed 99.71% nt sequence identity with isolates from South Korea (LC440652 and LC437352), Serbia (MW177582), and the USA (HM029247). Complete (100%) nt sequence similarity Montenegrin isolates share with isolates from Serbia (MW177576 – MW177581, MW177583 – MW177589), USA (HM029246, HM029248, EF442779, NC014593, and MN416031), Japan (AB608991), and Bosnia and Herzegovina (MK511321 – MK511327 and MK519231). Phylogenetic analysis of the partial nucleotide sequences of the fragment from the fusion protein gene showed that all BILV virus isolates were grouped into a single cluster (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2. Phylogenetic analysis of 41 BILV sequences of isolates reconstructed from partial F gene sequences. The analysis was performed with MEGA11 software using ML method based on the HKY model. Phylogeny was inferred after 1000 bootstrap replications. Bootstrap support of > 60% are shown at nodes. Isolates from Montenegro are presented in red. The NCBI accession numbers are in parentheses. The tree was rooted with southern tomato virus (STV) as an outgroup.

4 Discussion

Highbush blueberry is a new species for fruit production in Montenegro, and in this study, we presented the results of the first survey for blueberry viruses in the country. Only the blueberry latent virus was detected in analyzed samples out of nine tested viruses. Blueberry latent virus is a member of the genus Amalgavirus, family Amal-gaviridae. It is a virus of minor importance that causes latent infections in blueberries, both in single or mixed infections (Martin et al., 2011).

A high percentage (58.8%) of BILV-infected samples were confirmed during our study. Similar results were obtained in the study of Jevremović and Paunović (2021) con-ducted in Serbia, where almost 63% of the tested samples were BILV positive. Significant BILV incidence in analyzed samples was reported in the surveys in the USA (about 50%) and Japan (28%) (Martin et al., 2011; Isogai et al., 2011). On the other hand, the latest survey in the USA revealed a very low percentage of BILV-infected samples (3.6%) (Martin and Tzanetakis, 2018). According to Martin et al. (2012), the prevalence of the BILV should not be of major concern though as no symptoms have been observed on several highbush cultivars for almost 10 years. Its role in mixed infections is to be determined.

The analysis of nucleotide sequences of a partial fusion protein gene revealed a high similarity (99.71–100%) of Montenegrin with isolates from other countries. According to the studies of Martin et al. (2011), Jevremović and Paunović (2021), and Delić et al. (2022) BILV is very homogeneous, that was also confirmed in our study.

Introducing a new plant species into the country poses the risk of introducing new diseases that can endanger production. Therefore, the most critical step in developing a control strategy is the early diagnosis of the causal agent.

Acknowledgement. This research was supported by the Ministry of Science, Technological Development and Innovation of the Republic of Serbia, contract 451-03-47/2023-01/200215.

Compliance with Ethical Standards.

Conflict of Interest. The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

References

- Leposavić, A., Jevremović, D.: Borovnica Tehnologije gajenja, zaštite i prerade. Naučno voćarsko društvo Srbije, Čačak, Serbia (2020)
- Martin, R.R., Tzanetakis, I.E.: High risk blueberry viruses by region in North America; implications for certification, nurseries, and fruit production. Viruses **10**, 342 (2018)
- Saad, N., Olmstead, J.W., Jones, J.B., et al.: Known and new emerging viruses infecting blueberry. Plants (Basel) **10**, 2172 (2021)
- Martin, R.R., Polashock, J.J., Tzanetakis, I.E.: New and emerging viruses of blueberry and cranberry. Viruses 4, 2831–2852 (2012)
- Jevremović, D., Paunović, S.A.: Molecular detection, geographical distribution and genetic diversity of blueberry latent virus in highbush blueberries in Serbia. J. Plant Dis. Prot. **128**, 601–605 (2021)

- Delić, D., Mihaljica, M., Vakić, M., et al.: Blueberry latent virus in highbush blueberry (*Vaccinium corymbosum* L.) in Bosnia and Herzegovina. Agro-Knowledge Journal **23**, 49–56 (2022)
- Li, R., Mock, R., Huang, Q., et al.: A reliable and inexpensive method of nucleic acid extraction for the PCR-based detection of diverse plant pathogens. J. Virol. Methods 154, 48–55 (2008)
- Martin, R.R., Zhou, J., Tzanetakis, I.E.: Blueberry latent virus: an amalgam of partitiviridae and totiviridae. Virus Res. 155, 175–180 (2011)
- Thekke-Veetil, T., Ho, T., Keller, K.E., et al.: A new ophiovirus is associated with blueberry mosaic disease. Virus Res. **189**, 92–96 (2014)
- Glasheen, B.M., Polashock, J.J., Lawrence, D.M., et al.: Cloning, sequencing, and promoter identification of blueberry red ringspot virus, a member of the family Caulimoviridae with similarities to the "soybean chlorotic mottle-like" genus. Adv. Virol. 147, 2169–2186 (2002)
- Tamura, K., Stecher, G., Kumar, S.: MEGA11: molecular evolutionary genetics analysis version 11. Mol. Biol. Evol. 38, 3022–3027 (2021)
- National Center for Biotechnology Information (NCBI) (1988) National Library of Medicine (US), Bethesda, https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov, last accessed 01 October 2022
- Isogai, M., Nakamura, T., Ishii, K., et al.: Histochemical detection of Blueberry latent virus in highbush blueberry plant. J. Gen. Plant Pathol. **77**, 304–306 (2011)



Leaf Diseases of Wild Barley (*Hordeum spontaneum*) in Bingöl University Campus, Turkey

Işıl Saraç Sivrikaya¹, Arzu Çelik Oğuz², and Aziz Karakaya²(⊠)

¹ Faculty of Agriculture, Department of Plant Protection, Bingöl University, Bingöl, Turkey
 ² Faculty of Agriculture, Department of Plant Protection, Ankara University, Dışkapı, Ankara,

Turkev

karakaya@agri.ankara.edu.tr

Abstract. In May 2022, a survey was accomplished in the campus area of Bingöl University, Turkey, and diseases in wild barley (*Hordeum spontaneum*) populations were determined. A total of 15 *H. spontaneum* populations were examined. In these populations, powdery mildew incited by *Blumeria graminis* f. sp. *hordei*, scald incited by *Rhynchosporium commune*, the net form of net blotch incited by *Pyrenophora teres* f. *teres*, and spot form of net blotch incited by *Pyrenophora teres* f. *maculata* were determined by visual identification. Powdery mildew was observed in all 15 populations. Scald, the net form of net blotch, and spot form of net blotch were observed in 7, 3, and 2 populations, respectively. In these areas, the percentages of these diseases varied between 50–90% for powdery mildew, 10–30% for scald, 2–3% for the net form of net blotch, and 1–2% for the spot form of net blotch. Scale values for disease severity were higher in powdery mildew (between 5–9), 3–5 for scald, and low in both forms of net blotch (1–3, and 1–2).

Keywords: *Hordeum spontaneum* · barley leaf diseases · Bingöl University · Turkey

1 Introduction

Wild barley, *Hordeum vulgare* subsp. *spontaneum* (=*H. spontaneum*) is the ancestor of cultivated barley (*Hordeum vulgare*). *H. spontaneum* commonly grows in the Fertile Crescent region (von Bothmer et al., 2003; Karakaya et al., 2016). Chromosome numbers of both *H. spontaneum* and *H. vulgare* are the same (2n = 14). Since these two species are in the same gene pool, they can be crossed easily. Thus, the transfer of important genes from wild barley into cultured barley can be achieved (Lehmann, 1991; Fischbeck and Jahoor, 1992). Natural hybrids are possible when *H. spontaneum* and *H. vulgare* coexist in the same field (von Bothmer et al., 1995). *H. spontaneum* is common in Turkey (Karakaya et al., 2016; Saraç Sivrikaya et al., 2021). There are different biotic and abiotic disease factors affecting barley plants (Mathre, 1997). In different studies conducted in Turkey among barley and wild barley plants, several disease agents including *Drechslera teres* (teleomorph: *Pyrenophora teres*), *Rhynchosporium commune* (formerly named

Rhynchosporium secalis (Zaffarano et al. (2011), *Drechslera graminea* (teleomorph: *Pyrenophora graminea*), *Puccinia hordei*, *Blumeria graminis* f. sp. *hordei*, and *Ustilago* spp. Were reported (Çelik and Karakaya, 2015; Karakaya et al., 2016; Özdemir et al., 2017; İlgen et al., 2017; Saraç et al., 2019; Saraç Sivrikaya et al., 2021). In this survey study, fungal leaf diseases present on wild barley plants in the campus area of Bingöl University, Turkey were determined.

2 Materials and Methods

In May 2022, a survey was accomplished at the campus area of Bingöl University, Turkey where the dense wild barley populations were present. The area consisted of 3,115,616.85 m2, and the leaf diseases observed in wild barley (*Hordeum spontaneum*) plants in this area were determined visually (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. The location of Bingöl University, Bingöl, Turkey (https://www.google.com/maps/sea rch/bing%C3%B6l+%C3%BCniversitesi+kamp%C3%BCs%C3%BC/@38.8981853,40.460919 2,13z)

A total of 15 locations and at least 10 plants from each location were examined (Fig. 2). For disease identification, Zillinsky (1983), Mathre (1997), and Zaffarano et al. (2011) were used. For the identification of *Rhynchosporium commune*, the nomenclature of Zaffarano et al. (2011) was followed. For determination of the severity of the diseases, a 1–9 scale was used (Saari and Prescott, 1975). In calculating the average prevalence of diseases, the populations with and without diseases were evaluated together. Bingöl province, located in eastern Turkey, is a region rich in wild barley resources because of its closeness to the Fertile Crescent region. The main reason for choosing the campus area was the widespread occurrence of *Hordeum spontaneum*.

3 Results and Discussion

In the wild barley populations at the Bingöl University campus, powdery mildew disease incited by *Blumeria graminis* f. sp. *hordei*, barley scald disease incited by *Rhynchosporium commune*, the net form of net blotch incited by *Pyrenophora teres* f. *teres* and spot form of net blotch incited by *Pyrenophora teres* f. *maculata* were determined (Table 1, Fig. 3). *B. graminis* f. sp. *hordei* was present in all 15 wild barley populations examined. *R. commune* was detected in 7 populations. *P. teres* f. *teres* was found in 3 populations and *P. teres* f. *maculata* was found in 2 populations. Percentages of diseased plants in locations where diseases were detected ranged between 50–90, 10–30, 1–3, and 1–2 for *B. graminis* f. sp. *hordei*, *R. commune*, *P. teres* f. *teres*, and *P. teres* f. *maculata*, respectively. Disease severity values ranged between 5–9 for powdery mildew, 3–5 for scald, and 1–3 for the net and spot forms of net blotch.

Table 1. Disease agents, average disease prevalences, number of infected fields, percentage range of diseased plants, and disease severity values in wild barley (*H. spontaneum*) plants observed in the survey conducted in the campus area of Bingöl University in May 2022.

Wild Barley Disease Agents	Mean Disease Prevalence	Number of Fields with Disease	Percentage Range of Diseased Plants	Disease Severity Values
<i>Blumeria</i> graminis f. sp. hordei	70	15	50–90	5–9
Rhynchosporium commune	8.67	7	10–30	3–5
Pyrenophora teres f. teres	0.6	3	1–3	1–3
Pyrenophora teres f. maculate	0.13	2	1–2	1–3

Powdery mildew disease incited by *B. graminis* f. sp. *hordei* was observed in all locations studied. The mean disease prevalence of the powdery mildew disease was 70%. Barley scald disease incited by *R. commune* was present in 7 locations with a mean prevalence of 8.67%. The net form of net blotch disease incited by *P. teres* f. *teres* was found in 3 locations with a prevalence of 0.6%. The spot form of net blotch incited by *P. teres* f. *maculata* was seen only in 2 locations with a mean prevalence of 0.13%.

In the Bingöl University campus area, powdery mildew incited by *B. graminis* f. sp. *hordei* was the most commonly encountered disease. Barley scald disease incited by *R. commune*, the net form of net blotch incited by *P. teres* f. *teres*, and the spot form of net blotch incited by *P. teres* f. *maculata* followed the powdery mildew.

These diseases detected in wild barley (*H. spontaneum*) populations in the Bingöl University campus area are the diseases that are frequently seen in barley and wild barley plants in Turkey and they are previously reported by other researchers (Akan et al., 2006;



Fig. 2. Hordeum spontaneum plants growing in the Bingöl University campus area, Bingöl, Turkey

Karakaya et al., 2014; Çelik and Karakaya, 2015; Karakaya et al., 2016; Özdemir et al., 2017; Karakaya et al., 2020; İlgen et al., 2017; Ertürk et al., 2018; Saraç et al., 2019; Saraç Sivrikaya et al., 2021).

Karakaya et al. (2016) investigated naturally growing *Hordeum spontaneum* field populations in Mardin, Şanlıurfa, Siirt, Şırnak, Gaziantep, Diyarbakır, Hatay, and Kilis provinces of Turkey for the presence of diseases and their severities. No disease was observed in 9 *Hordeum spontaneum* populations. Powdery mildew incited by *B. graminis* f. sp. *hordei*, barley scald incited by *R. commune*, brown rust incited by *P. hordei*, both

forms of net blotch incited by *D. teres* f. *maculata* and *D. teres* f. *teres*, loose smut incited by *Ustilago nuda*, barley stripe incited by *Drechslera graminea*, and semi-loose smut incited by *Ustilago nigra* were found in these provinces. Barley scald was the most commonly observed disease. Powdery mildew and net blotch diseases followed



Fig. 3. A) Powdery mildew disease incited by *Blumeria graminis* f. sp. *hordei*, b) barley scald disease incited by *Rhynchosporium commune*, c) net form of barley net blotch disease incited by *Pyrenophora teres* f. *teres*, d) spot form of barley net blotch disease incited by *Pyrenophora teres* f. *maculata*

the barley scald. The severity and incidence values of diseases showed variation. In our current study, powdery mildew was the most commonly observed disease. Barley scald, the net form of net blotch, and spot form of net blotch diseases followed the powdery mildew disease.

Saraç Sivrikaya et al. (2021) inspected the leaf diseases of naturally grown wild barley (*H. spontaneum*) populations in the Batman central district and Beşiri (Batman), Hasankeyf (Batman), Kurtalan (Siirt), and Midyat (Mardin) districts of Turkey. Barley leaf scald disease was the most common disease among the *H. spontaneum* populations. Spot form of net blotch, the net form of net blotch, powdery mildew, and brown rust diseases followed the barley leaf scald. In addition, 37 barley fields in Batman central district and Kozluk (Batman), Hasankeyf (Batman), Beşiri (Batman), Gercüş (Batman), Sason (Batman), Midyat (Mardin), Kocaköy (Diyarbakır), and Kurtalan (Siirt) districts of Turkey were investigated for the presence of leaf diseases. In barley fields, scald was the most commonly encountered disease. Spot form of net blotch, barley stripe, the net form of net blotch, spot blotch, powdery mildew, and brown rust followed the barley scald.

4 Conclusion

Powdery mildew disease incited by *B. graminis* f. sp. *hordei*, barley scald disease incited by *R. commune*, net and spot forms of barley net blotch disease incited by *P. teres* f. *teres*, and *P. teres* f. *maculata* were determined in the wild barley (*H. spontaneum*) plants grown in the campus area of Bingöl University, Turkey. The most common disease at Bingöl University campus was powdery mildew followed by barley scald, the net form of net blotch, and the spot form of net blotch.

References

- Akan, K., Çetin, L., Albostan, S., Düşünceli, F., Mert, Z.: İç Anadolu'da görülen önemli tahıl ve nohut hastalıkları. Tarla Bitkileri Merkez Araştırma Enstitüsü Dergisi 15(1–2), 29–48 (2006)
- Çelik, E., Karakaya, A.: Eskişehir ili arpa ekim alanlarında görülen fungal yaprak ve başak hastalıklarının görülme sıklıklarının ve yoğunluklarının belirlenmesi. Bitki Koruma Bülteni 55(2), 157–170 (2015)
- Ertürk, H., Karakaya, A., Çelik Oğuz, A.: Leaf diseases occurring on barley plants in Bala district of Ankara province. Turkey. Ecological Life Sciences **13**(4), 204–207 (2018)
- Fischbeck, G., Jahoor, A.: The transfer of genes for mildew resistance from *H. spontaneum*. In: Jorgensen, J.H. (ed.) Integrated control of cereal mildews - virulence patterns and their changes, pp. 247–255. RISO National Laboratory, Roskilde, Denmark (1992)
- İlgen, M.Z., Karakaya, A., Çelik Oğuz, A.: Leaf diseases occurring on barley and wheat fields in Çubuk district of Ankara, Turkey. Works of the Faculty of Agriculture and Food Sciences, University of Sarajevo, Vol. XLII 67(2), pp. 210–215 (2017)
- Karakaya, A., Mert, Z., Çelik Oğuz, A., Ertaş, M.N., Karagöz, A.: Determination of the diseases occurring on naturally growing wild barley (*Hordeum spontaneum*) field populations. Works of the Faculty of Agriculture and Food Sciences, University of Sarajevo, Vol. LXI, No. 66/1, pp. 291–295 (2016)

- Karakaya, A., et al.: Current status of scald and net blotch diseases of barley in Turkey. In: IWBLD – 1st International Workshop on Barley Leaf Diseases. Salsomaggiore Terme, Italy (2014)
- Karakaya, A., Çelik Oğuz, A., Saraç Sivrikaya, I.: Diseases occurring on *Hordeum bulbosum* field populations at Bingöl province of Turkey. Works of the Faculty of Agriculture and Food Sciences, University of Sarajevo, Vol. LXV, No. 70, pp. 75–81 (2020)
- Lehmann, W.: The use of genetic resources for isolating disease resistance for barley cultivar development. Barley Genetics **6**, 650–651 (1991)
- Mathre, D.E. (ed.): Compendium of barley diseases, 2nd edn. APS Press, Minnesota (1997)
- Özdemir, H.Y., Karakaya, A., Çelik Oğuz, A.: Kırıkkale ilinde buğday ve arpa ekim alanlarında görülen fungal yaprak hastalıklarının belirlenmesi. Bitki Koruma Bülteni **57**(2), 89–112 (2017)
- Saari, E.E., Prescott, J.M.: A scale for appraising the foliar intensity of wheat diseases. Plant Disease Reporter 59, 377–380 (1975)
- Saraç, I., Karakaya, A., Çelik Oğuz, A.: Elazığ ilinde arpalarda görülen yaprak hastalıkları. Tarla Bitkileri Merkez Araştırma Enstitüsü Dergisi 28(1), 1–6 (2019)
- Saraç Sivrikaya, I., Karakaya, A., Çelik Oğuz, A.: The occurrence of barley (*Hordeum vulgare*) and wild barley (*H. spontaneum*) leaf diseases in Batman province and surrounding areas of Turkey. Selcuk J. Agri. Food Sci. 35(1), 39–44 (2021)
- Von Bothmer, R., Jacobsen, N., Rikke, C. B., Jørgensen, B., Linde-Laursen, I.: An ecogeographical study of the genus *Hordeum*. 2nd ed. IPGRI, Rome, Italy (1995)
- Von Bothmer, R., Sato, K., Kamatsuda, T., Yasuda, S., Fischbeck, G.: The domestication of cultivated barley. In: von Bothmer, R., van Hintum, T., Knupffer, H., Sato, K. (eds.) Diversity in barley (*Hordeum vulgare*), pp. 9–27. Elsevier, Amsterdam (2003)
- Zaffarano, P.L., McDonald, B.A., Linde, C.C.: Two new species of *Rhynchosporium*. Mycologia 103, 195–202 (2011)
- Zillinsky, F.J.: Common diseases of small grains. A guide to identification. CIMMYT, Mexico (1983)



The Effect of Biofertilization on Potato Yield Components

Teofil Gavrić^(⊠) , Emra Bašić, Drena Gadžo, Saud Hamidović , and Mirha Đikić

Faculty of Agriculture and Food Sciences, University of Sarajevo, Zmaja Od Bosne 8, Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina

t.gavric@ppf.unsa.ba

Abstract. The potatoes (Solanum tuberosum L.) are the third most important food crop in Bosnia and Herzegovina, right after maize and wheat. It was grown on an area of 39,051 ha with an average yield of 11.3 t ha^{-1} in 2020. The potato root system is shallow, with a poor ability to extract nutrients from the soil. Therefore, potatoes should be provided with enough nutrients during cultivation to achieve high yields. This work aimed to examine the impact of biofertilizers on potato vield in the environment of central Bosnia and Herzegovina. The treatments used in this research consisted of several different fertilizers (mineral fertilizer, mineral fertilizer + biofertilizer, organic fertilizer and organic fertilizer + biofertilizer). The Carrera variety was used in the research. The research results showed that biofertilizer increased the number of tubers per plant. Biofertilizer variants had more tubers per plant (7.12) than those without it (6.93). The range of tuber mass was between 115.80 g (organic fertilizer) to 134.91 g. (mineral fertilizer). Depending on the year of research, potato yield ranged from 34.83 t ha⁻¹ (2018) to 37.51 t ha^{-1} (2019). The applied fertilizers did not significantly affect the content of dry matter in the potato tuber.

Keywords: Potatoes · Fertilizer · Biofertilizer · Manure · Yield

1 Introduction

Potatoes (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) are the fourth most significant crop in the world in production, harvested areas, and consumption after wheat, maize, and rice [1]. Potatoes have been vital in preventing hunger and malnutrition worldwide [2]. Also, this crop is still an essential source of income for developing countries [3]. Furthermore, potatoes in human nutrition have gained popularity thanks to the more favourable overall nutrient-to-price ratio than many other crops [4]. In other words, potatoes are cheap and an excellent source of nutrients such as vitamin C, potassium, magnesium, and vitamin B6 [5]. Furthermore, potatoes can be used to prepare various food products using many preparation methods, including baking, boiling, and steaming. In addition to their importance in human nutrition, potatoes are also valuable in animal nutrition. Furthermore, potatoes are a useful raw material for industry, where they are used to produce products such as starch, alcohol, paper, etc. [6-8].

In Bosnia and Herzegovina (B&H), potatoes are grown in an area of 39,051 ha with an average yield of 11.3 t ha⁻¹ [9]. A lower yield than surrounding countries characterizes its production in B&H. One of the reasons for low potato yields is unfavorable environmental conditions. However, to a certain degree, growers can reduce the adverse effects of the environment on the crop by using various agronomic practices. In addition to the choice of cultivars, crop rotation, plant protection, and irrigation, crop nutrition is another important agronomic practice for potato production. This agronomic practice is even more significant because the potato root system is shallow and poorly extracts nutrients from the soil [10]. Therefore, a sufficient supply of nutrients is one of the necessary factors for achieving a high yield of potatoes [11]. Organic and mineral fertilizers are mainly used in growing potatoes. Both types of fertilizers have advantages and disadvantages. Organic fertilizers contain all macro and micronutrients and positively affect soil structure [12, 13]. However, these fertilizers' main disadvantages are their low nutrient content and slow decomposition of organic matter [14]. On the other hand, mineral fertilizers have a high content of macronutrients available to plants to achieve high yields [15, 16]. However, using these fertilizers, especially in large doses, causes some environmental issues, such as surface and underground water pollution and the reduction of soil microbial biodiversity [14]. Therefore, in addition to the mentioned fertilizers, biofertilizers have also been used in plant production. They are substances that contain various soil microbes (e.g., Bacillus, Pseudomonas, Azotobacter and Azospirillum) that colonize the rhizosphere and make nutrients easily available to plants [17]. Various benefits are associated with these fertilizers, such as the decomposition of organic matter, increasing the availability of nutrients, production of phytohormones, and contribution towards mitigation of abiotic and biotic stresses [18]. Although their use has increased significantly in the last two decades in some parts of the world [19], they are insufficiently researched in the environmental conditions of B&H [17]. Therefore, the aim of this work was to examine the influence of biofertilizers on potato yield in the environmental conditions of central Bosnia and Herzegovina.

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Experiment Location

A field experiment was conducted at a private farm Gavrić in Kakanj (44°07′27.8″N 18°07′42.3″E) during the 2018 and 2019 growing seasons.

2.2 Weather Condition Analysis

Meteorological data from meteorological station Zenica were used in the research. The data was collected by the Federal Hydrometeorological Institute, Sarajevo, B&H [20]. The data for average monthly air temperature and amount of precipitation for 2018 and 2019 were used in the research.

2.3 Soil Analysis

Soil samples were collected at 0–20 cm depth before setting up the experiment. Each collected soil sample was a combination of four subsamples. The following soil properties were measured according to standard methods: soil pH [21], organic matter content [22], and the contents of available K and available P [23]. According to soil analysis, the experimental plots had the following chemical characteristics: pH 6.8, 5.8% organic matter, $P_2O_5 = 25.8 \text{ mg } 100 \text{ g}^{-1}$, $K_2O = 70.0 \text{ mg } 100 \text{ g}^{-1}$.

2.4 Experimental Design

A cultivar of potatoes called "Carrera" was used for the research. The treatments used in the research consisted of a combination of different fertilizers (organic and mineral) and biofertilizers (biofertilized and non-biofertilized). The experiment was set up by randomized block method in four repetitions. The size of the basic plot was 4.9 m^2 .

2.5 Properties of Fertilizer

The mineral fertilizer applied in the research was produced by INA Kutina, Croatia. Mineral fertilizer was used in the form of 7:20:30 at a rate of 500 kg ha⁻¹. The second applied fertilizer was organic (manure). Manure was applied at the rate of 50 t ha⁻¹. The chemical composition of the manure was as follows: pH = 7.5; Organic Matter = 20.66%, $P_2O_5 = 0.18\%$; $K_2O = 0.6\%$. Biofertilizer called "Megaflu" was used in the research. According to the product declaration, this preparation contained the following microbes: *Bacillus megaterium, Pantoea agglomerans and Pseudomonas fluorescens*.

2.6 Crop Management

Potatoes were planted on April 16 in the first year of research (2018) and April 4 in the second year of research (2019). The distance from row to row was 70 cm and from plant to plant 33 cm. Fertilizer and biofertilizer were applied to the intended plots before planting. In addition, chemical plant protection agents were used according to the need against the Colorado potato beetle (*Leptinotarsa decemlineata*) and Potato late blight (*Phytophthora infestans*). Potatoes were harvested on September 17, 2018, and on September 14, 2019.

2.7 Data Collection

Yield components included the number of tubers per plant, the average mass of the tuber, the percent of large, medium, and small tubers, yield per hectare, and dry mass. Potato tubers from each plot were manually harvested, counted, and separated into large (>55 mm), medium (35–55 mm), and small (<35 mm) classes according to their size. Tubers of each category were weighed to calculate tuber yield. The dry matter was determined by drying the samples at 105 °C for 16 h.

2.8 Statistical Methods

All experiments were performed in quadruplicate. One-way ANOVA was used to examine the data and Tukey's multiple tests statistically evaluated the comparison of the means between treatments at a significance level of 0.05. The research findings were statistically analyzed using the SPSS 22 software.

3 Results and Discussions

3.1 Analysis of Weather Conditions

Data for the average monthly temperature and total precipitation collected from the regional meteorological stations in Zenica are presented in Fig. 1. Data analysis shows that weather conditions in 2018 and 2019 differed from the reference climate period. (1961–1990). Average monthly temperatures during both years of the research were higher than that of the reference period (1961–1990). Hot weather was registered in May 2018, when the average monthly temperature was higher by 3.4 °C compared to the reference climate period. June and August were the warmest months this year, with recorded temperatures of 4.4 °C and 3.8 °C higher than the climatic reference period. These recorded high monthly temperatures are not desirable for growing potatoes. Namely, potatoes have the highest yields when the average monthly temperature is up to 20 °C [24]. High temperatures can reduce potato yield due to physiological changes in the plant, such as respiration and photosynthesis [25]. The monthly amount of precipitation in the same period was similar to the climatic reference period (1961–1990), except for July 2018 and June 2019. In July 2018, 208 mm of precipitation was recorded, 145 mm more than the climatic reference period. In June 2019, 14.7 mm of rainfall was recorded.



Fig. 1. Average monthly temperature and amount of rainfall

3.2 Potato Yield

The influence of biofertilizer, fertilizer type, and research year on potato yield components is presented in Tables 1, 2, and 3 and explained in detail below. The number of tubers per plant significantly depended on the application of biofertilizer, the type of fertilizer, and the year of research. The variant with biofertilizer had the most tubers per plant (7.12) compared to the variant without this preparation (6.93). (Table 1). A similar influence of biofertilizers on the number of tubers was recorded in research by many authors [26, 27]. Also, in our research, the type of fertilizer significantly impacted the number of tubers. It was recorded that the organic fertilizer treatment had a higher number of tubers per plant (7.67) compared to the mineral fertilizer treatment (6.37) (Table 2).

The year of research also significantly affected the tested traits (Table 3). Potatoes grown in 2019 had a higher number of tubers per plant (8.79) than those from 2018. According to Margus et al. [28], the number of tubers per plant mostly depends on the growing conditions at the beginning of the growing season. Based on the weather conditions observed in our research, it can concluded that more precipitation was recorded in April, May, and June 2019 than at the same time in 2018 (Fig. 1). Therefore, the 2019 research year had a more favourable beginning of the growing season, positively affecting the number of tubers per plant.

Biofertilizer	Number of tubers per plant	Mass of the tuber	Large tubers	Medium tubers	Small tubers	Yield	Dry matter
		-g-	-%-	-%-	-%-	-t ha ⁻¹ -	-%-
not applied	6.93b	128.03 ns	50.03 ns	43.66 ns	6.08 ns	35.39 ns	17.44 ns
applied	7.12a	122.68 ns	49.99 ns	43.90 ns	6.12 ns	37.03 ns	17.21 ns
Average	7.02	125.35	50.01	43.78	6.10	36.21	17.28

Table 1. Effect of biofertilizer application on the number of tubers per plant, the mass of the tuber, percent of large, medium, and small tubers, potato yield, and dry matter content

Different letters indicate significant differences at the 0.05 level; ns: nonsignificant differences.

The mass of the tuber was significantly dependent on the type of fertilizers and year of research, while application of biofertilizer did not significantly affect this trait. As can be observed from Table 2, the mass ranged from 115.80 g (organic fertilizer) to 134.91 g (mineral fertilizer). In contrast to organic fertilizer, mineral fertilizer treatment increased the abundance of tubers. The obtained results are, to some extent, expected due to the differences in the chemical composition of the applied fertilizers. Mineral fertilizers have a higher content of macronutrients readily available to plants than organic fertilizers [14, 16]. Also, our experiment indicated that the year of research also influenced the mass of the tuber (Table 3). A greater mass of tubers was determined in 2018 (149.63 g) compared to 2019 (101.08 g). The resulting differences are most likely the result of a different distribution of precipitation in specific years (experimental years) during the

tuber bulking stage. Thus, during June, July, and August 2018, 374.4 mm of precipitation was recorded compared to 2019, when 272.7 mm of rainfall was recorded in the same period. These observations are consistent with many authors [29–31], who found that the lack of precipitation leads to a low mass of tubers.

Fertilizer	Number of tubers per plant	Mass of the tuber	Large tubers	Medium tubers	Small tubers	Yield	Dry matter
		-g-	-%-	-%-	-%-	-t ha-1-	-%-
mineral	6.37b	134.91a	49.17 ns	44.97 ns	5.91 ns	34.82b	17.08 ns
organic	7.68a	115.80b	50.86 ns	42.59 ns	6.29 ns	37.44a	17.48 ns
Average	7.02	125.35	50.01	43.78	6.10	36.13	17.28

Table 2. Effect of type of fertilizers on number of tubers per plant, mass of the tuber, percent of large, medium and small tubers, potato yield and dry matter content

Different letters indicate significant differences at the 0.05 level; ns: nonsignificant differences.

The research results revealed that the proportion of large, medium, and small tubers significantly depends only on the year of the research. (Table 3). A significantly higher proportion of large tubers (>55 mm) was recorded in 2018 (67.25%) compared to 2019 (32.78%). On the other hand, a higher proportion of medium tubers (35-55 mm) was recorded in 2019 (57.32%) compared to 2018 (30.24%). Therefore, the proportion of medium tubers was inversely proportional to that of large tubers, which was confirmed by a negative correlation (r = -0.987). A tuber mass analysis partly explained the increased proportion of large tubers observed in 2018. The presumption is that the larger precipitation in 2018 is the main reason for this. Another reason is the number of tubers per plant in 2018. In particular, fewer tubers were noted in 2018 than in 2019. This means that a smaller number of tubers per plant were better filled with assimilates in 2018. This conclusion is supported by the negative correlation (r = -0.716) between the number of tubers per plant and large tubers (Table 4). Our results are in harmony with those obtained by many authors [32-34], who also recorded a higher proportion of large tubers in wetter soil conditions. Badr et al. [35] believe that tuber mass is a yield component more sensitive to water deficit than tuber number.

Based on the yield data, it can be concluded that the values did not change significantly due to the biofertilizer application. (Table 1). In contrast, it significantly depended on the type of fertilizer (Table 2) and the year of cultivation (Table 3). Thus, depending on the application of microbiological fertilizer, the yield ranged from 35.39 (not applied) to 37.03 t ha⁻¹ (applied). There were certain differences, but they were not statistically significant. Variants treated with organic fertilizer had a significantly higher yield than those treated with mineral fertilizer (Table 2). Differences in yield were due to differences in the number of tubers per plant between treatments. Namely, the variant treated with organic fertilizer had a significantly higher number of tubers per plant. Organic fertilizers, in addition to containing micro and macronutrients, have a positive effect on improving soil structure, bulk density, aeration, porosity, and water movement [34, 36].

Year	Number of tubers per plant	Mass of the tuber	Large tubers	Medium tubers	Small tubers	Yield	Dry matter
		-g-	-%-	-%-	-%-	-t ha ⁻¹ -	-%-
2018	5.26b	149.63a	67.25a	30.24b	2.30b	34.83b	16.85 ns
2019	8.79a	101.08b	32.78b	57.32a	9.90a	37.51a	17.72 ns
Average	7.02	125.35	50.01	43.87	6.10	36.17	17.28

Table 3. Effect of years of research on the number of tubers per plant, the mass of the tuber, percent of large, medium, and small tubers, potato yield, and dry matter content

Different letters indicate significant differences at the 0.05 level; ns: nonsignificant differences

That is,organic fertilizer creates soil characteristics most suitable for growing potatoes [37]. Our research showed that high doses of organic fertilizers have a higher yield than plots fertilized with mineral fertilizers. This research is no exception, as earlier research on organic and mineral fertilizers indicates that the yield can be the same or higher [36, 38]. In our research, the potato yield depended on the year of study and ranged from a minimum of 34.83 t ha⁻¹ (2018) to a maximum of 37.51 t ha⁻¹ (2019). The recorded higher number of tubers per plant during 2019 is the reason for the higher yield in this year. This opinion is supported by the positive correlation found between these traits (r = 0.536) (Table 4).

Although our research has provided glimpses into the influence of biofertilizers in combination with mineral and organic fertilizers on the components of potato yield, this study has certain limitations. A limitation of this study is that it does not contain information on the nutritional value of potatoes. Thus, future research should consider the potential impact of biofertilizers on these properties. Furthermore, our research showed certain benefits that could be applied in practice. Specifically, organic fertilizers and biofertilizers positively impacted one of the main yield components (the number of tubers per plant). Therefore, the more intensive application of these fertilizers directly affects the yield components and yield. Likewise, considering that the second component of yield (tuber mass) is significantly dependent on the amount of precipitation during the tuber bulking stage, future research is needed to address water conservation and irrigation of potatoes at this stage of development.

	Number of tubers per plant	Mass of the tuber	Large tubers	Medium tubers	Small tubers	Yield	Dry matter
Number of tubers per plant	1						
Mass of the tuber	-0.869**	1					
Large tubers	-0.716**	0.702**	1				
Medium tubers	0.726**	-0.691**	-0.987**	1			
Small tubers	0.587**	-0.621**	-0.900**	0.823**	1		
Yield	0.536**	-0.184	-0.166	0.193	0.071	1	
Dry matter	0.457*	-0.487**	-0.349	0.348	0.276	0.069	1

Table 4. Coefficients of the linear correlation between the number of tubers per plant, mass of the tuber, percent of large, medium, and small tubers, potato yield, and dry matter content

*, ** Significant differences at the 0.05 and 0.01 levels, respectively

4 Conclusions

Based on the experiment results, it can be concluded that biofertilization had a positive effect on potatoes yield components in the environmental conditions of central Bosnia and Herzegovina. Biofertiliser positively affected the number of tubers per plant and directly correlated with potato yield. Therefore, applying such fertilizers can be a useful agrotechnical practice to increase potato yields.

References

- Ahmadu, T., Abdullahi, A., Ahmad, K.: The role of crop protection in sustainable potato (*Solanum tuberosum* L.) production to alleviate global starvation problem: an overview. In: Yildiz, M., Ozgen, Y. (eds.) Solanum tuberosum – A Promising Crop for Starvation Problem. IntechOpen (2021). https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.100058
- 2. King, J.C., Slavin, J.L.: White potatoes, human health, and dietary guidance. Adv. Nutr. 4, 393S-401S (2013)
- Devaux, A., Goffart, J.-P., Kromann, P., Andrade-Piedra, J., Polar, V., Hareau, G.: The potato of the future: opportunities and challenges in sustainable agri-food systems. Potato Res 64, 681–720 (2021)
- 4. Beals, K.A.: Potatoes, nutrition and health. Am. J. Potato Res. 96, 102-110 (2019)
- Agarwal, S., Fulgoni, V.L.: Intake of potatoes is associated with higher diet quality, and improved nutrient intake and adequacy among US adolescents: NHANES 2001–2018 analysis. Nutrients 13, 2614 (2021). https://doi.org/10.3390/nu13082614

- 6. Izmirlioglu, G., Demirci, A.: Enhanced bio-ethanol production from industrial potato waste by statistical medium optimization. Int. J. Mol. Sci. **16**, 24490 (2015)
- Zięba, T., et al.: Potato starch extrusion and roasting with apple distillery wastewater as a new method for resistant starch production. Appl. Sci. 11, 9169 (2021). https://doi.org/10.3390/ app11199169
- Combrzyński, M., Matwijczuk, A., Wójtowicz, A., et al.: Potato starch utilization in ecological loose-fill packaging materials—sustainability and characterization. Materials (Basel) 13, 1390 (2020). https://doi.org/10.3390/ma13061390
- 9. FAOSTAT: https://www.fao.org/faostat/en/#data. Accessed 26 Oct 2022
- Joshi, M., Fogelman, E., Belausov, E., Ginzberg, I.: Potato root system development and factors that determine its architecture. J. Plant Physiol. 205, 113–123 (2016)
- Koch, M., Naumann, M., Pawelzik, E., Gransee, A., Thiel, H.: The importance of nutrient management for potato production Part I: plant nutrition and yield. Potato Res. 63, 97–119 (2020)
- Hirzel, J., et al.: Evolution of nutrients and soil chemical properties of seven organic fertilizers in two contrasting soils under controlled conditions. Chil. J. Agric. Anim. Sci. 34, 77–88 (2018)
- Yürürdurmaz, C.: Impact of different fertilizer forms on yield components and macromicronutrient contents of cowpea (*Vigna unguiculata* L.). Sustainability 14(19), 12753 (2022). https://doi.org/10.3390/su141912753
- Han, S.H., An, J.Y., Hwang, J., Bin, K.S., Park, B.B.: The effects of organic manure and chemical fertilizer on the growth and nutrient concentrations of yellow poplar (*Liriodendron tulipifera* Lin.) in a nursery system. Forest Sci. Technol. 12, 137–143 (2016)
- 15. Timsina, J.: Can organic sources of nutrients increase crop yields to meet global food demand? Agronomy **8**, 214 (2018)
- Gavrić, T., Jurković, J., Gadžo, D., Čengić, L., Sijahović, E., Bašić, F.: Fertilizer effect on some basil bioactive compounds and yield. Ciencia e Agrotecnologia 45, e003121 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1590/1413-7054202145003121
- Hamidović, S., et al.: Biofertilization and its effect on soil microbial diversity and some morphological properties of soybean. Rad Poljopr Fak Univ u Sarajev Fac Agric Univ Sarajev 62, 165–173 (2017)
- 18. Kumar, S., Diksha, S.S.S., Kumar, R.: Biofertilizers: an ecofriendly technology for nutrient recycling and environmental sustainability. Curr. Res. Microb. Sci. **3**, 100094 (2022)
- Zambrano-Mendoza, J.L., Sangoquiza-Caiza, C.A., Campaña-Cruz, D.F., Yánez-Guzmán, C.F.: Use of biofertilizers in agricultural production. In: Ahmad, F., Sultan, M. (eds.) Technology in Agriculture. IntechOpen (2021). https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.98264
- FHMZ: Federal Hydrometeorological Institute Sarajevo. http://www.fhmzbih.gov.ba/latinica/ index.php (2022)
- 21. ISO 10390: Soil Quality Determination of pH. Int. Stand (1994)
- 22. ISO 14235: Soil quality Determination of organic carbon by sulfochromic oxidation. Int. Stand (1998)
- Egnér, H., Riehm, H., Domingo, W.R.: Untersuchungen über die chemische Bodenanalyse als Grundlage für die Beurteilung des Nährstoffzustandes der Böden. II. Chemische Extraktionsmethoden zur Phosphor- und Kaliumbestimmung. K. Lantbrukshögskolans Ann. (1960)
- 24. Kim, Y.-U., Lee, B.-W.: Differential mechanisms of potato yield loss induced by high day and night temperatures during tuber initiation and bulking: photosynthesis and tuber growth. Front Plant Sci **10**, 300 (2019)
- 25. Rymuza, K., Radzka, E., Lenartowicz, T.: The effect of weather conditions on early potato yields in east-central Poland. Commun. Biometry Crop. Sci. **10**, 65–72 (2015)

- Kołodziejczyk, M.: Effect of nitrogen fertilization and microbial preparations on potato yielding. Plant, Soil Environ. 60, 379–386 (2014)
- 27. Maralian, H., Nasrollahzadeh, S., Raiyi, Y., Hassanpanah, D.: Ecophysiological response of potato cultivars to bio-fertilizer and limited irrigation. PPT **10**, 175–188 (2018)
- 28. Margus, K., et al.: Impact of farming system on potato yield and tuber quality in northern baltic sea climate conditions. Agriculture **12**, 1–12 (2022)
- Dalla Costa, L., Delle Vedove, G., Gianquinto, G., Giovanardi, R., Peressotti, A.: Yield, water use efficiency and nitrogen uptake in potato: influence of drought stress. Potato Res. 40, 19–34 (1997)
- Li, W., Xiong, B., Wang, S., Deng, X., Yin, L., Li, H.: Regulation effects of water and nitrogen on the source-sink relationship in potato during the tuber bulking stage. PLoS One 11, e0146877 (2016)
- Aliche, E.B., Oortwijn, M., Theeuwen, T.P.J.M., Bachem, C.W.B., Visser, R.G.F., van der Linden, C.G.: Drought response in field grown potatoes and the interactions between canopy growth and yield. Agric. Water Manag. 206, 20–30 (2018)
- 32. Yuan, B.-Z., Nishiyama, S., Kang, Y.: Effects of different irrigation regimes on the growth and yield of drip-irrigated potato. Agric. Water Manag. 63, 153–167 (2003)
- Mahmoud, S.H., Salama, D.M., El-Tanahy, A.M.M., El-Bassiony, A.M.: Effects of prolonged restriction in water supply and spraying with potassium silicate on growth and productivity of potato. Plant Arch. 19, 2585–2595 (2019)
- Larkin, R.P., Honeycutt, C.W., Griffin, T.S., Olanya, O.M., He, Z.: Potato growth and yield characteristics under different cropping system management strategies in northeastern U.S. Agronomy 11, 165 (2021). https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy11010165
- Badr, M.A., El-Tohamy, W.A., Zaghloul, A.M.: Yield and water use efficiency of potato grown under different irrigation and nitrogen levels in an arid region. Agric. Water Manag. 110, 9–15 (2012)
- El-Sayed, S.F., Hassan, H.A., El-Mogy, M.M.: Impact of bio- and organic fertilizers on potato yield, quality and tuber weight loss after harvest. Potato Res. 58, 67–81 (2015)
- Koco, Š, Vilček, J., Torma, S., Michaeli, E., Solár, V.: Optimising Potato (Solanum tuberosum L.) Cultivation by Selection of Proper Soils. Agriculture 10, 155 (2020). https://doi.org/10. 3390/agriculture10050155
- Delate, K., Friedrich, H., Lawson, V.: Organic pepper production systems using compost and cover crops. Biol. Agric. Hortic. 21, 131–150 (2003)



Effects of Mulching and Irrigation on Antioxidant Activity and Antimicrobial Properties of Basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.)

Ajla Šakonjić, Anamarija Matijević, Saud Hamidović ⓑ, Lejla Čengić ⓑ, and Teofil Gavrić^(⊠) ⓑ

Faculty of Agriculture and Food Sciences, University of Sarajevo, Zmaja Od Bosne 8, Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina

t.gavric@ppf.unsa.ba

Abstract. Basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.) is an annual herb from the mint family. It is used as a fresh and dry spice, and in the form of essential oil. The antioxidant activity and antimicrobial properties of basil depend on genetic properties, environmental conditions, and growing technology. Therefore, the aim of this research was to determine the effects of mulching and irrigation on the antioxidant activity and antimicrobial properties of basil. The field experiment was conducted at Butmir, Bosnia and Herzegovina. The treatments used consisted of a combination of different mulches (wheat straw mulch, black mulch film, and control) and irrigation (irrigated and non-irrigated). Total phenolics, flavonoids, antioxidant activity, and essential oil antimicrobial activity were tested. Experimental results suggested that growing technology impacts the researched traits. The high content of total phenolic (69.94 mg GAE g⁻¹), flavonoids (35.77 mg CAE g⁻¹), and antioxidant activity (45.13 μ M Fe²⁺ g⁻¹) were recorded in the treatment with black mulch film. The research showed that the essential oil has a growth inhibition zone diameter of 10.88 mm for *Salmonella spp.* and 8.72 mm for *E. coli*.

Keywords: basil · mulch · essential oil · antioxidant activity · antimicrobial activity

1 Introduction

Since the beginning of time, people have been interested in medicinal and spice plants because of their beneficial effects on human health. Basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.) is the most abundant herb in the world, particularly in Mediterranean countries. It is originally from India, but today it is cultivated worldwide [1]. Basil is used as a spice in many foods, such as soups, salads, meat specialties, and some types of cheese [2, 3]. Furthermore, basil essential oil is an additive in food products, perfume, and cosmetics [4, 5]. In addition, leaves, plant juice extracts, and seeds are used in indigenous medicine for headaches, colds, toothaches, and bronchitis [5, 6]. Recently, it was found that basil has antimicrobial properties [7, 8] and that the intensity of this effect depends on essential oil quality [9].

The amount of phenols, flavonoids, alkaloids, tannins, and essential oils in basil is often a good indicator of basil quality [7]. Although genetic processes control the amount of these components in the plant [1, 10, 11], numerous other factors also significantly impact. For example, during cultivation, environmental factors such as temperature, soil, light, wind, humidity, weeds, animals, and microorganisms can significantly impact the synthesis of secondary metabolites [12–17]. On the other hand, different agricultural practices such as planting date, tillage, crop nutrition, irrigation, and mulching affect the change in environmental conditions, which also indirectly affects the quality and yield of basil [18–21].

Mulching is one of the agricultural practices that has been used in different crops since ancient times [22]. The main goals of using mulch are to preserve soil humidity and suppress weeds [23]. Its use leads to certain changes in environmental conditions. For example, mulch increases soil humidity and temperature and improves microbial activities [22, 24]. Furthermore, it reduces evaporation and modifies the soil's water retention capacity [25]. Therefore, mulching changes the environmental conditions that can affect the growth and development of the plant.

Considering all the above, the aim of this work was to determine the effects of mulching and irrigation on the antioxidant capacity and essential oil antimicrobial activity.

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Field Experiment

A field experiment was conducted at Butmir, B&H. The experiment was set up during the growing season of 2022. A basil cultivar called "Genovese" was used. The treatments consisted of a combination of different mulches (wheat straw mulch, black mulch film, and control) and irrigation (irrigated and non-irrigated). Basil was sown on April 24, 2022. Seeds of sweet basil were sown in polystyrene trays (104 cells) filled with a substrate (Klasmann Potgrond H). After 30 days from sowing, seedlings were transplanted in an open field (May 24, 2022). Seedlings were planted at 70cm \times 30cm plant density.

2.2 Materials for Analysis

The content of total phenols, flavonoids, and antioxidant capacity were determined in aerial parts of basil. Plant materials were collected at the flowering stage (BBCH 60–65). Collected plant samples were dried in a dark room at room temperature for 30 days. After drying, samples were milled to 1 mm and homogenized.

2.3 Extraction for Antioxidant Activity

Plant aqueous ethanolic extracts were prepared as described previously [1]. The extract was prepared as follows: approximately 1 g of dried and powdered aerial parts of basil was added to the flask. Then, 50 mL of 60% ethanol was added and mixed. After incubation at room temperature for 24 h, all extracts were filtered and stored in the fridge (4 °C) for further use.

2.4 Extraction for Antimicrobial Activity

Essential oil extraction was performed with a Clevenger type apparatus [26]. In brief, the dried plant material was weighed (50 g), then transferred to a volumetric flask with a volume of 1000 mL, and 500 mL of distilled water was added. After distillation, the isolated essential oils were dried using sodium sulfate anhydrous.

2.5 Determination of Total Phenols Content

The total phenolic content in extracts was determined by the modified Folin-Ciocalteu method [6], and the results were expressed as mg gallic acid equivalent (GAE) per g sample.

2.6 Determination of Total Flavonoid Contents

The content of flavonoids was determined by a modified spectrophotometric method based on the colored reaction of flavonoids with AlCl₃ [27], and the results were expressed as mg catechin acid equivalents (GAE).

2.7 Determination of Antioxidant Capacity

The antioxidant capacity of the extract was measured using the modified FRAP method [28]. The results were expressed as $\mu M Fe^{2+} g^{-1}$.

2.8 Antimicrobial Activity of Essential Oils

In this study, *Escherichia coli* and *Salmonella spp*. were used as test bacteria. The antimicrobial activity of essential oils was determined using the paper-disc diffusion method [29]. Briefly, the bacterial inoculum $(1 \times 10^8 \text{ CFU mL}^{-1})$ was spread on Muller-Hinton agar using a sterile swab. After that, three sterile paper discs were pre-soaked with essential oil (10 µl/disc) and placed on agar. Incubation was performed in an incubator at 37 °C for 24 h. Antimicrobial activity was evaluated by measuring the zone of inhibition around discs and comparing it with the standard values for the inhibition zones of gentamicin *Salmonella spp*. and *Escherichia coli* [29].

2.9 Statistical Methods

The research results were statistically analyzed by analyzing variance in the SPSS 22 software program. The average values of determined data were tested using analysis of variance at p = 0.05.

3 Results and Discussions

3.1 Analysis of Total Phenols Content, Total Flavonoid Contents, and Antioxidant Capacity

The influence of mulch type and irrigation on the content of total phenolic, flavonoids, and antioxidant capacity is presented in Tables 1 and 2. Total phenolic contents and antioxidant capacity significantly depended on mulching. The treatments with "black mulch film" had the highest level of total phenols (69.94 mg/g GAE), followed by the treatments with "wheat straw mulch" (62.94 mg/g GAE), and the "control" had the lowest content (57.24 mg/g GAE). A similar influence of mulch, but without statistical differences, was also recorded with flavonoids. They ranged from 32.94 mg CAE g⁻¹ (control) to 35.77 mg CAE g⁻¹ (black mulch film). While measuring antioxidant capacity, it was found that mulch had a similar impact on antioxidant capacity.

Mulch type	Total phenolics	Total flavonoids	Antioxidant capacity
	mg GAE g^{-1}	mg CAE g^{-1}	μ M Fe ²⁺ g ⁻¹
Wheat straw mulch	62.81b	33.88ns	43.62a
Black mulch film	69.94a	35.77ns	45.13a
Control	57.24b	32.94ns	35.76b
Average	63.33	34.19	41.50

Table 1. Effect of mulch type on total phenolic, flavonoid, and antioxidant capacity.

Different letters indicate significant differences at the 0.05 level; ns: nonsignificant differences. GAE – gallic acid equivalent. CAE – cathetin acid equivalent.

Phenolics and flavonoids are secondary plant metabolites that protect plants from environmental stressors [30, 31]. Therefore, their high concentrations indicate that the plant grows in stressful conditions [6]. Based on these facts and our results, it can be said that "black mulch film" changed the growing conditions, which caused the plants to react and synthesize an additional amount of secondary metabolites to protect themselves. Furthermore, this mulch type increases soil moisture [6, 8], which is most likely why basil had stressful conditions in our study. The data from table 2 support this opinion. The highest values of total phenols, flavonoids, and antioxidant capacity were recorded with irrigation (68.14 mg GAE g⁻¹, 38.81 mg CAE g⁻¹, and 48.39 μ M Fe²⁺ g⁻¹, respectively) compared to non-irrigation (58.51 mg GAE g⁻¹, 29.57 mg CAE g⁻¹, and 34.61 μ M Fe²⁺ g⁻¹, respectively). The largest number of researchers found that lack of water (drought) causes an increase in phenol content and antioxidant capacity [32–34]. However, some have found that soil water does not affect the content of bioactive compounds [35–38] or that drought causes their reduction [39]. Differences in that research are most likely due to different agricultural practices and environmental conditions.

The relationships between the examined parameters were determinated with the Pearson correlation coefficient. According to the results given in Table 3, there was a

Irrigation	Total phenolics	Total flavonoids	Antioxidant capacity
	mg GAE g^{-1}	mg CAE g^{-1}	μ M Fe ²⁺ g ⁻¹
Irrigated	68.14a	38.81a	48.39a
Non-irrigated	58.51b	29.57b	34.61b
Average	63.33	34.19	41.50

Table 2. Effect of irrigation on total phenolic contents, total flavonoid contents, and antioxidant capacity.

Different letters indicate significant differences at the 0.05 level; ns: nonsignificant differences GAE – gallic acid equivalent, CAE – cathetin acid equivalent

positive correlation between total phenols and antioxidant capacity (r = 0.487). Additionally, a positive correlation between flavonoids and antioxidant capacity was found. (r = 0.753). The findings of this study are consistent with the results of many other researchers [1, 6, 31], who also found a relationship between the content of total phenols and antioxidant capacity and flavonoids and antioxidant capacity. In contrast, Ghasemi et al. [40] observed no correlation between total flavonoid concentration and antioxidant capacity.

Table 3. Coefficients of the linear correlation between total phenolic contents, total flavonoids contents, and antioxidant capacity.

	Total phenolics	Total flavonoids	Antioxidant capacity
Total phenolics	1		
Total flavonoids	0.313	1	
Antioxidant capacity	0.487*	0.753**	1

*, ** Significant differences at the 0.05 and 0.01 levels, respectively.

3.2 Analysis of the Antimicrobial Activity of Essential Oils

Tables 4 and 5 show the results on the influence of the mulch and irrigation type on the essential oil's antibacterial effects. The results were interpreted based on standard values for inhibition zones for the antibiotic gentamicin (Table 6) [29]. The type of mulch did not affect essential oil antimicrobial activity (Table 4). In other words, the inhibition zone for *Escherichia coli* was between 7.83 mm (black mulch film) and 9.34 mm (wheat straw mulch), while for *Salmonella spp.*, it ranged from 9.33 mm (black mulch film) to 11.84 mm (control).

Based on the data from Table 5, it can be said that irrigation did not affect essential oil antimicrobial activity. The inhibition zone of the essential oil for *Escherichia coli* was 8.66 mm (non-irrigated) and 8.77 mm (irrigated). The essential oil's zone of inhibition for *Salmonella* spp. Ranged from 11.11 mm (non-irrigated) to 10.66 mm (irrigated).

Mulch type	Escherichia coli	Salmonella spp.
	Inhibition zone (mm)	
Wheat straw mulch	9.34 ns	11.50 ns
Black mulch film	7.83 ns	9.33 ns
Control	9.00 ns	11.84 ns
Average	8.72	10.88

 Table 4. Effect of mulch type on antimicrobial activity of essential oils

ns: nonsignificant differences.

Table 5.	Effect of	irrigation	on	antimicrobial	activity	of	essential	oils
----------	-----------	------------	----	---------------	----------	----	-----------	------

Irrigation	Escherichia coli	Salmonella spp.		
	Inhibition zone (mm)			
Irrigated	8.77ns	10.66ns		
Non-irrigated	8.66ns	11.11ns		
Average	8.72	10.88		

ns: nonsignificant differences

From the above, essential oil has antimicrobial activity. However, this effect is weaker than the antibiotic gentamicin. For example, for *Escherichia coli*, basil essential oil has an average zone of inhibition of 8.72 mm on Escherichia coli which belongs to the R category (resistant) compared to gentamicin antibiotics (Table 6). On the other hand, the essential oil had similar antimicrobial activity against on *Salmonella spp*. It has been classified in classified in the R category (resistant) compared to gentamicin antibiotics. Numerous studies on the antibacterial activity of essential oils and their constituents are available nowadays [29, 41, 42]. Researchers showed that the antimicrobial effect depends on the type of essential oil, the essential oil's chemical composition, and microorganism structure (Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria). In other words, it was found that some organisms are sensitive to certain essential oils but resistant to other essential oils.

Zareen et al. [7] studied the antimicrobial effect of basil essential oil, and they found that basil essential oils showed good antibacterial activity against gram-positive bacteria compared to gram negative bacteria. They consider that gram positive bacteria are sensitive to essential oil due to the absence of the lipopolysaccharide layer, a barrier to the entry of molecules from essential oil. Our study focused on gram negative bacteria with a lipopolysaccharide layer (*Salmonella spp.* and *E. coli*), which is most likely why the examined organisms were resistant to essential oils. Therefore, to obtain as much information as possible about the potential sensitivity of bacteria to basil essential oil, future research on a similar topic should also include representatives of the group of gram-positive bacteria.

Test organism	Antibiotic	Inhibition zone (mm)				
		S	Ι	R		
Salmonella spp.	Gentamicin	≥ 17	13–16	≤ 14		
Escherchia coli	Gentamicin	≥ 15	13–14	≤ 12		

Table 6. Standard values for the inhibition zones of gentamicin antibiotic for Salmonella spp.

 and Escherichia coli [29].

S - sensitive; I - moderately sensitive; R - resistant.

4 Conclusions

The results of the experiments have demonstrated that mulching and irrigation can affect basil's total phenols, flavonoids, and antioxidant activity. Using "black mulch film" and irrigation increased antioxidant capacity of basil. Therefore, using these agricultural practices could increase basil antioxidant capacity, which is especially important if we use basil as medicinal plant. From the above, it can be concluded that essential oil has antimicrobial activity. However, the antimicrobial effect of the essential oil was weaker compared to the antibiotic gentamicin.

Acknowledgements. This study was supported by grants from the Ministarstvo za nauku, visoko obrazovanje i mlade Kantona Sarajevo, B&H (Project name: Mogućnost uzgoja bosiljka kao alternativne culture u svrhu adaptacije klimatskim promjenama).

References

- Gavrić, T., Marković, S., Čengić, L.: Factibility of growing basil as an alternative crop for adaptation to climate change in Bosnia and Herzegovina. Chil. J. Agric. Res. 83(1), 43–51 (2023). https://doi.org/10.4067/S0718-58392023000100043
- Ciriello, M., et al.: Genotype and successive harvests interaction affects phenolic acids and aroma profile of Genovese basil for pesto sauce production. Foods 10, 278 (2021). https:// doi.org/10.3390/foods10020278
- Corrado, G., Chiaiese, P., Lucini, L., Miras-Moreno, B., Colla, G., Rouphael, Y.: Successive harvests affect yield, quality and metabolic profile of sweet basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.). Agronomy 10(6), 830 (2020). https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy10060830
- 4. Zagoto, M.: Biological activities of basil essential oil: a review of the current evidence. Res. Soc. Dev. **10**, e363101220409 (2021)
- Sarrou, E., Chatzopoulou, P., Koutsos, T.V., Katsiotis, S.T.: Herbagernyield and essential oil composition of sweet basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.) under the influence of differentrnmulching materials and fertilizers. J. Med. Plants Stud. 4, 111–117 (2016)
- Gavrić, T., et al.: Yield and contents of some bioactive components of basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.) depending on time of cutting. Studia Universitatis Vasile Goldis Arad, Seria Stiintele Vieti 28, 192-197 (2018)
- Zareen, A., Ahmed Gardezi, D., Naeemullah, M., Shahid Masood, M., Tahira, R.: Screening of antibacterial potential of siam queen, holy basil and italian basil essential oils. J. Med. Plants Stud. 2, 63–68 (2014)

- Kaya, I., Yigit, N., Benli, M.: Antimicrobial activity of various extracts of *Ocimum basilicum* L. and observation of the inhibition effect on bacterial cells by use of scanning electron microscopy. Afr. J. Trad. Compl. Alt. Med. 5, 363–369 (2008)
- 9. Nazzaro, F., Fratianni, F., De Martino, L., Coppola, R., De Feo, V.: Effect of essential oils on pathogenic bacteria. Pharmaceuticals (Basel) 6, 1451–1474 (2013)
- Albergaria, E.T., Oliveira, A.F.M., Albuquerque, U.P.: The effect of water deficit stress on the composition of phenolic compounds in medicinal plants. South African J. Bot. 131, 12–17 (2020)
- Lebedev, V.G., Lebedeva, T.N., Vidyagina, E.O., Sorokopudov, V.N., Popova, A.A., Shestibratov, K.A.: Relationship between phenolic compounds and antioxidant activity in berries and leaves of raspberry genotypes and their genotyping by SSR markers. Antioxidants 11, 1961 (2022). https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox11101961
- Šamec, D., Karalija, E., Šola, I., Vujčić Bok, V., Salopek-Sondi, B.: The role of polyphenols in abiotic stress response: the influence of molecular structure. Plants 10, 118 (2021). https:// doi.org/10.3390/plants10010118
- Ahmed, U., et al.: Expression profiling of flavonoid biosynthesis genes and secondary metabolites accumulation in populus under drought stress. Molecules 26, 5546 (2021). https://doi. org/10.3390/molecules26185546
- Del Valle, J.C., Buide, M.L., Whittall, J.B., Valladares, F., Narbona, E.: UV radiation increases phenolic compound protection but decreases reproduction in Silene littorea. PLoS ONE 15, e0231611 (2020)
- Sharma, A., Shahzad, B., Rehman, A., Bhardwaj, R., Landi, M., Zheng, B.: Response of phenylpropanoid pathway and the role of polyphenols in plants under abiotic stress. Molecules 24, 2452 (2019). https://doi.org/10.3390/molecules24132452
- de la Portilla, N., et al.: Soil Amendment with biosolids and inorganic fertilizers: effects on biochemical properties and oxidative stress in Basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.). Agronomy 10(8), 1117 (2020). https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy10081117
- Gavrić, T., et al.: Influence of meteorological parameters on the yield and chemical composition of common buckwheat (*Fagopyrum esculentum* Moench). J. Agric. For. 64, 113–120 (2018). https://doi.org/10.17707/agricultforest.64.4.13
- Svecova, E., Neugebauerová, J.: A study of 34 cultivars of basil (*Ocimum* L.) and their morphological, economic and biochemical characteristics, using standardized descriptors. Acta Univ. Sapientiae, Aliment 3, 118–135 (2010)
- Rakic, Z., Johnson, C.B.: Influence of environmental factors (including UV-B radiation) on the composition of the essential oil of *Ocimum basilicum*-sweet basil. J. Herbs Spices Med. Plants 9, 157–162 (2008). https://doi.org/10.1300/J044v09n02_22
- Al-Huqail, A., et al.: Effects of climate temperature and water stress on plant growth and accumulation of antioxidant compounds in sweet basil (*Ocimum basilicum* L.) leafy vegetable. Scientifica **2020**, 1–12 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/3808909
- Gavrić, T., Čengić, L., Marković, S.: Effects of cultivars on the yield and contents of some bioactive components of basil. Work Fac. Agric. Food Sci. 72, 20–27 (2022)
- 22. Iqbal, R., et al.: Potential agricultural and environmental benefits of mulches—a review. Bull Natl Res Cent 44, 75 (2020)
- 23. El-Beltagi, H.S., et al.: Mulching as a sustainable water and soil saving practice in agriculture: a review. Agronomy **12**, 1881 (2022). https://doi.org/10.3390/agronomy12081881
- Kashi, A., Hosseinzadeh, S., Babalar, M., Lessani, H.: Effect of black polyethylene mulch and calcium nitrate application on growth, yield, and blossom-end rot of watermelon, cv. charleston gray TT – پوسیدگی گلگاهاش مالچ پلی اتیلن سیاه و کلسیم نیترات بر رشد، عملکرد و Blossom end rot) پوسیدگی پالگاهاش مالچ پلی اتیلن سیاه و کلسیم نیترات بر رشد، عدلکرد و JSTNAR 7, 1–10 (2004)

- Teame, G., Tsegay, A., Abrha, B.: Effect of organic mulching on soil moisture, yield, and yield contributing components of sesame (*Sesamum indicum* L.). Int. J. Agronomy 2017, 4767509 (2017). https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/4767509
- Clevenger, J.F.: Apparatus for the determination of volatile oil. J. Am. Pharm. Assoc. 17, 345–349 (1928). https://doi.org/10.1002/jps.3080170407
- 27. Zhishen, J., Mengcheng, T., Jianming, W.: The determination of flavonoid contents in mulberry and their scavenging effects on superoxide radicals. Food Chem. **64**, 555–559 (1999)
- Benzie, I.F.F., Strain, J.J.: The ferric reducing ability of plasma (FRAP) as a measure of "Antioxidant Power": the FRAP assay. Anal. Biochem. 239(1), 70–76 (1996). https://doi.org/ 10.1006/abio.1996.0292
- Imamović, B., Komlen, V., Gavrić, T., Sunulahpašić, A., Lalević, B., Hamidović, S.: Antimicrobial activity of ginger (Zingiber officinale) and rosemary (Rosmarinus officinalis) essential oils. Agric. For. 67, 231–238 (2021)
- Lim, J.H., Park, K.J., Kim, B.K., Jeong, J.W., Kim, H.J.: Effect of salinity stress on phenolic compounds and carotenoids in buckwheat (*Fagopyrum esculentum* M.) sprout. Food Chem. 135, 1065–1070 (2012)
- 31. Gavrić, T., et al.: Chemical composition and total phenols content of tartary buckwheat (Fagopyrum tataricum gaertn) grown in different vegetation seasons. In: Brka, M., Omanović-Mikličanin, E., Karić, L., Falan, V., Toroman, A. (eds.) 30th Scientific-Experts Conference of Agriculture and Food Industry: Answers for Forthcoming Challenges in Modern Agriculture, pp. 59–68. Springer International Publishing, Cham (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-40049-1_7
- 32. Talbi, S., et al.: Effect of drought on growth, photosynthesis and total antioxidant capacity of the saharan plant Oudeneya africana. Environ. Exp. Bot. **176**, 104099 (2020)
- Chiappero, J., Cappellari, L.D.R., Palermo, T.B., Giordano, W., Banchio, E.: A simple method to determine antioxidant status in aromatic plants subjected to drought stress. Biochem. Mol. Biol. Educ. 49, 483–491 (2021)
- Gharibi, S., Tabatabaei, B.E.S., Saeidi, G., Goli, S.A.H.: Effect of drought stress on total phenolic, lipid peroxidation, and antioxidant activity of achillea species. Appl. Biochem. Biotechnol. 178, 796–809 (2016)
- Caliskan, O, et al.: The effects of salt and drought stress on phenolic accumulation in greenhouse-grown Hypericum pruinatum. Ital. J. Agron. 12(3) (2017). https://doi.org/10. 4081/ija.2017.918
- Carvalho, M., et al.: Drought stress effect on polyphenolic content and antioxidant capacity of cowpea pods and seeds. J. Agron. Crop Sci. 207, 197–207 (2021)
- Dzida, K., Michałojć, Z., Jarosz, Z., Pitura, K., Skubij, N.: Effect of potassium fertilization on yield, growth and chemical composition of Basil herb. Acta Sci. Pol. Hortorum Cultus 17, 135–145 (2018)
- Mulugeta, S.M., Radácsi, P.: Influence of drought stress on growth and essential oil yield of ocimum species. Horticulturae 8, 175 (2022). https://doi.org/10.3390/horticulturae8020175
- Copolovici, L., Lupitu, A., Moisa, C., Taschina, M., Copolovici, D.M.: The effect of antagonist abiotic stress on bioactive compounds from basil (*Ocimum basilicum*). Appl. Sci. 11, 9282 (2021). https://doi.org/10.3390/app11199282
- 40. Ghasemi, K., Ghasemi, Y., Ebrahimzadeh, M.A.: Antioxidant activity, phenol and flavonoid contents of 13 citrus species peels and tissues. Pak. J. Pharm. Sci. **22**(3), 277–281 (2009)
- 41. Swamy, M.K., Akhtar, M.S., Sinniah, U.R.: Antimicrobial properties of plant essential oils against human pathogens and their mode of action: an updated review. Evid. Based Complement Alternat. Med. **2016**, 3012462 (2016)
- 42. Dzaferovic, A., et al.: Antimicrobial activity of three essential oils against several human pathogens. J. Environ. Treat. Tech. 7, 501–505 (2019)



Impact of Climate Change on the Soil Water Balance Components in the Area of Sanski Most (Bosnia and Herzegovina)

Ajla Smajlović, Ahmed Gudić, Ajdin Avdović, Faruk Hadžić, Sara Tatarević, Vanesa Ibraković, Zejneba Kermo, and Sabrija Čadro^(⊠)

Faculty of Agriculture and Food Sciences, University of Sarajevo, Zmaja Od Bosne 8, 71000 Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina

s.cadro@ppf.unsa.ba

Abstract. Given that global climate change affects the agricultural sector, often negatively affecting yields and food quality, it is essential to understand these impacts at the local level. The area of Sanski Most belongs to the Peripannon macroregion and it is located in the northwestern part of Bosnia and Herzegovina, where agriculture represents one of the most important economic sectors. Therefore, it is essential to conduct a detailed analysis of the agroclimatic conditions and soil water balance to determine the current situation and adapt agriculture and society to the coming changes. The impact of climate change was analyzed by observing two climate periods, namely the reference climate period (1961–1990) and the current climate period (1991–2020). Comparing these two clime periods an increase in the annual amount of precipitation by 38 mm was found. Although there is a positive trend at the year's level, it is negative during the summer months (-14.73 mm per decade), when the plant needs water the most. Also, the mean air temperature shows a positive trend in all seasons, with the most significant increase in the summer months (0.49 °C per decade). In summer, the water deficit in the soil becomes more and more present; that is, the need for irrigation increases. The difference in the average amount of soil water deficit between the two climatic periods is 48 mm, with a positive trend of 14.49 mm per decade. Also, one of the more visible differences is the increase in reference evapotranspiration (ET_0) , which increased by 50 mm between these two climatic periods.

Keywords: Climate change · agriculture · soil water balance · BiH

1 Introduction

Bosnia and Herzegovina (BiH) can be considered as a country rich in water, but also among the countries with a wide range of water-related problems, especially in the field of agriculture [1]. In such conditions, sustainable development cannot be achieved without the application of sustainable water management in agriculture, strengthening the capacities of all actors in the sector, implementing and improving the existing legislative framework and applying innovative solutions and tools that belong to the domain of smart technologies [1–6]. Regarding climate change vulnerability, most vulnerable municipalities in BiH are located across the north, with a gradual decrease in vulnerability towards the central, north, and east of the country.

The area of Sanski Most is located in the northwestern part of BiH, from a macroregional point of view it belongs to the Peripannon macro-region, while from a mesoregional point it belongs to the Bosnian Krajina meso-region [7].

The city of Sanski Most has an area of 12.90 km², while the municipality size is 781.17 km² [8]. The relief of Sanski Most is complex, abounding in predominantly hilly areas, with a plain along the Sana River, as well as high mountains: Grmeč (highest, 1500 m.a.s.l.), Mrežnica, Čelić kosa, Mulež and Behramaginica. The altitude of the urban part of the municipality is 160 m, and the average altitude for populated places is 500 m [7, 9]. Sanski Most is located in the area of continental climate, according to the Köppen-Geiger climate classification [10] in type Cfb x"s, which represents temperate warm and humid climates [11].

The municipality has 1,238 agricultural holdings in its register, and 75 registered tradesmen are engaged in agricultural production and contribute to the development of the Sana municipality [9, 12].

This area has very favorable conditions for the development of intensive agriculture, both in the plains in the Sana river valley from 150 to 250 m.a.s.l. with the construction of hydro-melioration systems (drainage and irrigation), as well as at hills of up to 500 m, which are suitable for the development of fruit growing [13]. There is a tradition of cattle breeding in this municipality [14], and some of the largest areas of arable land in BiH are also located here [7].

Although there are great potentials, especially for the development of agricultural production, according to the methodology and criteria for determining the level of development of municipalities in Federation of BiH (FBiH), Sanski Most belongs to the underdeveloped municipalities and is in 63rd place out of 79 municipalities in the FBiH [9]. Also, vulnerability index of this municipality is high [15]. Among other problems, the sensitivity to climate change, the effects of which are becoming more pronounced in the entire area of BiH, is highlighted [16–19].

Many studies carried out for the area of BiH agree on the present changes in the climate on an annual basis [17, 18, 20–22]. In such studies, the need to apply a local approach as well as a more detailed analyses at the changes within each season is often highlighted. Therefore, the goal of this research is to determine the impact of climate changes in different time periods (1961 - 1990 and 1991 - 2020) and seasons (winter, spring, summer, autumn, vegetation and annually) on the parameters of the agrohydrological balance of the municipality area Sanski Most, to better understand the state of water resources in this area and conclude their more rational use with particular reference to agriculture as a water user.

2 Material and Methods

The research was carried out for the area of Sanski Most, town and municipality located in the Una-Sana Canton of the Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina, BiH. Climate of this region is represented with one weather station (WS) located at the 158 m above sea level (44°45′N; 16°40′E). It is the only WS in this area that has long-term climate data and continuity as well as all the necessary data for the water balance calculation. Also, the station is located in an urban area, but in the immediate vicinity of agricultural areas, so the data from it can be considered representative.

Daily weather data, including mean (T_{mean}), maximum (T_{max}) and minimum (T_{min}) air temperature, sum of precipitation (P), mean relative humidity (RH_{mean}) and sunshine hours (n) for the period 1961 – 2020 were collected for this WS. Daily climate data were provided by the Federal Hydrometeorological Institute Sarajevo.

The 60-year period is divided into two climatic periods, (I) the climatic period of the reference normal: 1961–1990 and (II) the last climatological standard normal 1991–2020 [23].

Monthly water balance was calculated using the modified Thornthwaite-Mather method [24–26]. Thornthwaite-Mather method (TM) required data on monthly precipitation (P), average monthly air temperature (T), reference evapotranspiration (ET₀) and soil available water content (SOIL_{max}). The value SOIL_{max} = 100 mm was used [27] since this is the most commonly used value for the types of soil that are found in the area of Sanski Most [28, 29].

Reference evapotranspiration (ET_0) was calculated using the standard FAO Penman-Monteith 56 equation [30]. All necessary parameters required for the calculation of ET_0 were computed following the procedure developed in FAO-56 [30] via REF-ET: reference Evapotranspiration Calculator [31] model.

All parameters are divided into climate parameters including precipitation (P), temperature (T), insolation (n), relative air humidity (RH_{mean}), amount of snow and water balance components (WB) including calculated values of soil moisture deficit (SMD), Total runoff (TRO), reference evapotranspiration (ET_0) and actual evapotranspiration (AET).

All data are presented by seasons, i.e. winter (XII–II), spring (III–V), summer (VI– VIII), autumn (IX–XI), vegetation (VI–IX) and the entire year. After the calculation of annual means (μ) and the standard deviation (σ) for all analysed water balance components, a statistical measure of the dispersion of data points and the coefficient of variation (CV) were calculated. To detect the trends (b) within time series of climate parameters and water balance components parametric method of linear regression was used.

3 Results and Discussion

3.1 Climate Parameters

Before the calculations of the components of the soil water balance were carried out, an analysis of all collected climate data was carried out. (P, T, n, RH_{mean}). The wind speed parameter was not analyzed because data for a large number of years were missing.

Precipitation (P). Precipitation is a very important climate parameter characterized by high spatial and temporal variability. The following table (Table 1) shows the obtained statistical data for the sum of precipitation by seasons, in vegetation and on an annual basis, for the entire analyzed period (1961–2020), as well as especially for I (1961–1990) and II (1991–2020) climatic period. Also, differences between these two analyzed periods were determined.

Precipitation (mm)		Wi	Sp	Sum	Au	Veg	Annual
1961–2020	x	227	265	269	282	556	1042
	σ	70.3	75.2	96.3	85.5	136.4	154.9
	CV	31.0	28.4	35.8	30.4	24.5	14.9
	b	0.609	0.500	-1.473	1.076	0.031	0.712
I 1961–1990	x	214	262	293	254	557	1024
	σ	75.2	68.7	101.7	65.2	122.0	125.1
	CV	35.2	26.2	34.7	25.6	21.9	12.2
	b	-1.698	1.000	-1.388	-0.616	-0.759	-2.702
II 1991–2020	x	239	268	245	309	555	1061
	σ	63.7	82.3	86.6	95.2	151.5	180.2
	CV	26.6	30.7	34.9	30.8	27.3	17.0
	b	1.461	1.953	-0.789	-1.785	1.421	0.840
Difference	x	26	5	-48	55	-2	38
	σ	11.5	-13.5	16.2	-30.0	-29.4	-55.1
	CV	8.5	-4.5	-0.2	-5.1	-5.4	-4.8

Table 1. Statistical data for precipitation sums (P in mm) in the area of Sanski Most period: 1961 – 2020.

Note: \bar{x} – Arithmetic mean; σ – Standard deviation; CV – Coefficient of Variation; b – decline of the trend curve; Wi – Winter; Sp – Spring, Su – Summer, Au – Autumn, V – Vegetation

In the area of Sanski Most, the annual average amount of precipitation was determined to be 1042 mm. Based on the analysis of two climatic periods, an increase in precipitation of 38 mm was determined, with a trend of 7.12 mm per decade. Of the total precipitation, 53% falls during the vegetation period (growing season), which indicates a uniform seasonal distribution of precipitation in this area (from 227 mm in winter to 282 mm in autumn). However, there is a negative trend of precipitation during the summer period for all three analyzed time periods, i.e. the sum of summer precipitation is 48 mm less in the second period. In contrast to the summer period, during winter and autumn there is an increase in the sum of average precipitation, which amounts to 26 mm (winter) and 55 mm (autumn). It is also important to emphasize that in the second climatic period we have a greater variation in precipitation during the vegetation period and annually. Although the annual amount of precipitation in the area of Sanski Most is increasing, which is also visible in the positive trend in the II analyzed period, where during the vegetation season and annually we have a trend of increasing (14.21 and 8.40 mm per decade), during the summer months, when water is most needed for plant production, negative trend was determined (-7.89 mm per decade).

Previously, for the territory of Bosnia and Herzegovina, it was determined that the trends of annual, seasonal and monthly precipitation are weak and do not have statistical significance. [18]. The results obtained for the area of Sanski Most agree with the results of other researchers in BiH. So, in the period 1961–2017, the annual amount of precipitation showed a tendency to increase in most areas in the north of the territory (the Peripannon region) from 5.3 mm per decade in Sanski Most to 20.5 mm per decade in Doboj (except in Banja Luka, where the annual amount of precipitation decreased by - 4.4 mm per decade) [18, 32]. Also, in the research of Popov (2020), except for the summer period, positive trends were determined throughout the territory of BiH in the autumn season – from 2.0 mm per decade in Mostar to 12.5 mm per decade in Sanski Most [32, 33].

Air Temperature (T). Air temperature is a climatic parameter that provides energy for evaporation (E) and movement of water vapor from the evaporating surface and significantly affects the value of evapotranspiration (ET). Almost all ET calculation methods base their calculations on this climate parameter, and some methods only require the air temperature for the ET calculation [34].

The following table (Table 2) shows the obtained statistical data and differences between the average air temperature in the entire analyzed period (1961–2020), as well as for I (1961–1990) and II (1991–2020) climatic period. The data are presented by season (winter, spring, summer, autumn), vegetation (April – September) and annually.

In the area of Sanski Most, the determined annual average temperature is 10.64 °C. Based on the analysis of two climatic periods, an increase in temperature by 1.0 °C was determined, with a trend of 0.34 °C per decade.

Analyzing period II (1991–2020), we can conclude that the increase in air temperature is present in all seasons with the most pronounced increase in the winter (0.71 °C per decade) and summer (0.52 °C per decade) periods. It is interesting to note that in the second period the average air temperature during vegetation period increased by as much as 1.2 °C.

These results are in agreement with earlier research related to the territory of BiH. The increase in annual air temperature of BiH ranges from 0.4 to 1.0 °C, while the increase in temperature during the growing season (April–September) even reaches 1,2 °C [22]. These changes are more pronounced in the continental part [22], where the increase in temperatures is generally greatest during the summer, while in the autumn season the temperatures in most areas increased slightly. Analyzes of trends in average, maximum and minimum air temperatures show that the warming of the climate system is present throughout the territory of BiH [18, 21, 35, 36].

Temperature (°C)		Wi	Sp	Sum	Au	Veg	Annual
1961–2020	x	1.14	10.78	19.75	10.91	16.82	10.64
	σ	1.66	1.08	1.15	1.09	0.89	0.80
	CV	145.62	10.05	5.84	10.04	5.32	7.56
	b	0.043	0.029	0.049	0.016	0.036	0.034
I 1961–1990	x	0.64	10.33	18.91	10.61	16.23	10.12
	σ	1.72	1.04	0.62	1.12	0.60	0.52
	CV	269.47	10.08	3.26	10.56	3.70	5.15
	b	0.072	0.008	0.007	-0.032	0.003	0.014
II 1991–2020	x	1.63	11.22	20.59	11.21	17.42	11.16
	σ	1.45	0.94	0.93	1.00	0.73	0.69
	CV	88.61	8.42	4.53	8.90	4.19	6.22
	b	0.071	0.044	0.052	0.038	0.047	0.051
Difference	x	1.0	0.9	1.7	0.6	1.2	1.0
	σ	0.3	0.1	-0.3	0.1	-0.1	-0.2
	CV	180.9	1.7	-1.3	1.7	-0.5	-1.1

Table 2. Statistical data for the average air temperature (T in °C) in the area of Sanski Most period: 1961–2020.

Note: \bar{x} – Arithmetic mean; σ – Standard deviation; CV – Coefficient of Variation; b – decline of the trend curve; Wi – Winter; Sp – Spring, Su – Summer, Au – Autumn, V – Vegetation

Insolation (n). The most important factor in the formation of the climate of an area is solar radiation. Insolation represents the amount of energy that the earth receives with the sun's rays and is expressed in units of time, that is, in hours of sunshine during one day (h/day). Like other climatic parameters, insolation changes in space and time. The following table (Table 3) shows the obtained statistical data for the entire analyzed period (1961–2020), as well as separately for the I (1961–1990) and II (1991–2020) climatic periods. Also, differences between these two analyzed periods were determined.

In the area of Sanski Most, the average annual insolation was determined to be 5.12 h per day. Analyzing the first climatic period (1961–1990), the average value of insolation is 4.82 h per day, which is below the 60-year average, while the second period has an average of 5.42 h per day, that is, between the two climatic periods there was increase in the amount of sunshine, i.e. 0.6 h or there is 11% more sunshine in the area of Sanski Most.

Insolation (h/day)		Wi	Sp	Sum	Au	Veg	Annual
1961–2020	x	2.37	5.65	8.31	4.13	7.21	5.12
	σ	0.67	0.76	0.91	0.56	0.69	0.53
	CV	28.27	13.37	11.00	13.57	9.62	10.31
	b	0.017	0.021	0.027	0.009	0.021	0.019
I 1961–1990	x	2.09	5.29	7.84	4.05	6.86	4.82
	σ	0.65	0.65	0.67	0.50	0.49	0.38
	CV	31.25	12.35	8.50	12.39	7.14	7.89
	b	0.026	0.005	-0.005	0.004	-0.002	0.008
II 1991–2020	x	2.64	6.01	8.79	4.21	7.57	5.42
	σ	0.57	0.69	0.89	0.61	0.69	0.49
	CV	21.61	11.40	10.07	14.51	9.17	8.98
	b	0.001	0.024	0.028	0.035	0.027	0.022
Difference	x	0.6	0.7	1.0	0.2	0.7	0.6
	σ	0.1	0.0	-0.2	-0.1	-0.2	-0.1
	CV	9.6	0.9	-1.6	-2.1	-2.0	-1.1

Table 3. Statistical data for insolation (h per day) in the area of Sanski Most period: 1961–2020.

Note: \bar{x} – Arithmetic mean; σ – Standard deviation; CV – Coefficient of Variation; b – decline of the trend curve; Wi – Winter; Sp – Spring, Su – Summer, Au – Autumn, V – Vegetation

Similar to the temperature, in all seasons there is a noticeable trend of increasing the amount of sunshine and it ranges from 0.9 h to 0.27 h per day per decade. The most pronounced changes are in the summer period, when the differences between the two climatic periods amount to as much as 1 additional hour of sunlight.

Air humidity (\mathbf{RH}_{mean}). Air humidity is generally one of the most important parameters in agricultural production due to the relation to occurrence of diseases and their prevention, as well as defining the need for irrigation. The climate in the area of Sanski Most is such that the air circulation is significantly influenced by the inflow of maritime air from the Adriatic Sea and nearby mountain ranges [37] therefore, the area is characterized by moderate air humidity. Data on relative air humidity for different seasons are shown in the following table (Table 4).

The average air humidity for the entire analyzed period is 78.83%, where in the first climatic period we have an annual average of 79.48%, and in the second a decrease of 1.3% or the average relative humidity of 78.18%. This decrease is present in all analyzed seasons, i.e. there is a trend of decreasing air humidity in the area of Sanski Most. The most pronounced change is in autumn, when air humidity dropped from an average of 82.39% to 79.63%. The decrease in air humidity leads to a whole series of other phenomena, of which perhaps the most significant for agriculture and the environment is the increase in evapotranspiration.
Air humidity ((%)	Wi	Sp	Sum	Au	Veg	Annual
1961–2020	x	82.39	74.25	76.01	81.01	76.19	78.83
	σ	4.50	2.45	3.61	10.82	2.48	1.84
	CV	5.46	3.30	4.75	13.35	3.26	2.34
	b	-0.040	-0.033	-0.073	0.007	-0.040	-0.033
Ι	x	83.48	74.86	77.18	82.39	76.89	79.48
1961–1990	σ	2.13	2.39	2.67	1.88	1.89	1.33
	CV	2.55	3.19	3.45	2.28	2.46	1.67
	b	-0.142	-0.051	0.013	0.053	0.013	-0.032
II	x	81.30	73.65	74.85	79.63	75.48	78.18
1991–2020	σ	5.85	2.40	4.07	15.18	2.82	2.07
	CV	7.19	3.25	5.44	19.07	3.73	2.65
	b	0.260	0.025	-0.130	0.555	-0.051	0.029
Difference	x	-2.2	-1.2	-2.3	-2.8	-1.4	-1.3
	σ	-3.7	0.0	-1.4	-13.3	-0.9	-0.7
	CV	-4.6	-0.1	-2.0	-16.8	-1.3	-1.0

Table 4. Statistical data for average air humidity (%) in the area of Sanski Most period: 1961–2020.

Note: \bar{x} – Arithmetic mean; σ – Standard deviation; CV – Coefficient of Variation; b – decline of the trend curve; Wi – Winter; Sp – Spring, Su – Summer, Au – Autumn, V – Vegetation

Snow. The role of snow in hydrological processes can be of great importance, above all in the cold period of the year, in higher mountain areas and higher latitudes. Snow represents a critical storage component in the hydrologic cycle. Large waters, and the floods caused by them, occur as a consequence of rapid snow melting. In climatological and meteorological research, especially in the last few decades, snow gained a very significant place, this fact can be explained by the great interest in studying global climate change, especially the consequences of the global warming on snow-related processes.

The annual average amount of snow for the entire analyzed period was determined to be 183 mm. By far, the largest amount of snow is during the three winter months (December, January, and February), whose sum is 159 mm. It is very important to note the negative trend that snow has for all three analyzed periods, i.e. the amount of snow in winter in period II is 9 mm less, while in spring in period II it is less by 10 mm.

The trend of this reduction in the amount of snow for the entire analyzed period is 11.23 mm per decade, while this reduction is even more pronounced in period II, when it amounts to 22.67 mm per decade. A negative trend in the amount of snow was also determined for other parts of BiH, in northern BiH from 11.58 to 16.64 per decade [17], and up to 35.45 mm in the Čemerno mountain range [38] (Table 5).

Snow (mm)		Wi	Sp	Sum	Au	Veg	Annual
1961-2020	x	159	12	-	12	-	183
	σ	74.7	19.2	-	23.5	-	82.8
	CV	47.1	162.0	-	194.0	-	45.3
	b	-0.712	-0.339	-	-0.071	-	-1.123
Ι	x	163	17	-	12	-	192
1961–1990	σ	79.4	23.4	-	18.2	-	84.1
	CV	48.6	139.9	-	152.7	-	43.8
	b	-3.070	-0.350	-	0.456	-	-2.965
II	x	154	7	-	12	-	173
1991-2020	σ	70.7	12.2	-	28.1	-	81.8
	CV	45.9	176.4	-	228.6	-	47.2
	b	-0.762	-0.398	-	-1.107	-	-2.267
Difference	x	-9	-10	-	0	-	-19
	σ	8.7	11.2	-	-9.9	-	2.3
	CV	2.7	-36.6	-	-75.9	-	-3.4

Table 5. Statistical data for snow in the area of Sanski Most period: 1961–2020

Note: \bar{x} – Arithmetic mean; σ – Standard deviation; CV – Coefficient of Variation; b – decline of the trend curve; Wi – Winter; Sp – Spring, Su – Summer, Au – Autumn, V – Vegetation

3.2 Water Balance Components

The components of the water balance are the result of climate, so their values change following the change of climate. In the following text, the four most important components of the soil water balance will be presented: Soil moisture deficit (SMD), total runoff (TRO), reference evapotranspiration (ET_0) and actual evapotranspiration (AET).

Soil Moisture Deficit (SMD). Soil moisture deficit is a very important parameter in agricultural production, because its value shows to what extent irrigation is necessary and to what extent the lack of water affects the yield of agricultural crops. The following table (Table 6) shows the obtained statistical data for the entire analyzed period (1961–2020), as well as separately for the I (1961–1990) and II (1991–2020) climate periods.

In the area of Sanski Most, the annual average amount of soil moisture deficit for the entire analyzed period was determined to be 111 mm, with a positive trend of 13.34 mm per decade. Observed by seasons, during the summer period we have an average of 86 mm, while there is a positive trend during the summer period for all three analyzed time periods, that is, the soil moisture deficit in the II period is greater by 48 mm.

The SMD obtained through the water balance procedure is the result of the determined increase in air temperature and decrease in air humidity and the amount of precipitation, that is, it can indicate the increased dryness in the area of Sanski Most. Based on the obtained statistical data, the SMD in the II period (1991–2020) is more pronounced than in the I period (1961–1990), precisely in that period when there were major droughts in BiH [39–41].

SMD (mm)		Wi	Sp	Sum	Au	Veg	Annual
1961-2020	x	2	9	86	14	105	111
	σ	2.6	11.2	69.4	19.8	76.3	77.0
	CV	103.3	125.4	80.7	145.5	72.4	69.3
	b	-0.044	0.058	1.479	-0.160	1.420	1.334
Ι	x	3	8	62	15	82	88
1961–1990	σ	2.9	10.3	53.0	20.5	59.6	62.3
	CV	91.2	134.0	85.4	132.7	73.1	70.4
	b	0.020	0.192	1.201	-0.297	1.306	1.116
II	x	2	10	110	12	129	134
1991-2020	σ	2.0	12.1	76.1	19.2	84.4	84.3
	CV	113.0	118.7	69.4	163.5	65.3	63.1
	b	-0.107	-0.226	1.090	-0.231	0.546	0.525
Difference	x	-1	3	48	-4	48	45
	σ	0.8	-1.8	-23.1	1.3	-24.7	-22.1
	CV	-21.8	15.3	16.1	-30.8	7.7	7.3

Table 6. Statistical data for soil moisture deficit (SMD in mm) in the area of Sanski Most period:1961 – 2020.

Note: \bar{x} – Arithmetic mean; σ – Standard deviation; CV – Coefficient of Variation; b – decline of the trend curve; Wi – Winter; Sp – Spring, Su – Summer, Au – Autumn, V – Vegetation

Total Runoff (TRO). Excess water defined here as total runoff, is very important for the agriculture. In contrast to water deficit problems, excess water can also have some negative impacts on agricultural production, causing floods, erosion, landslides or increasing soil drainage requirements. The following table (Table 7) shows the obtained statistical data for the entire analyzed period (1961–2020), as well as for the I (1961–1990) and II (1991–2020) climate periods separately.

The annual average TRO for the entire analyzed period was determined to be 375 mm, with a positive trend of 7.19 mm per decade. Observed by season, the largest TRO is in spring when it amounts to 139 mm. In the first climatic period (1961–1990) there is a negative trend in all seasons and annually. However, in the second climatic period (1991–2020) a positive trend, the exception is autumn with a slight negative (-0.92 mm per decade), was determined. The values of these changes are much smaller in the II period. The obtained values indicate the incoherence of this data.

The period after 1991 is characterized by an increase in the amount of TRO and a higher coefficient of variation, this is precisely the period in which large floods occur in BiH, more precisely in 2004, 2006, 2009, 2010, 2014 [1, 36, 42] as well as the last one in 2021.

TRO (mm)		Wi	Sp	Sum	Au	Veg	Annual
1961-2020	x	74	139	87	75	202	375
	σ	31.3	47.2	31.9	39.6	68.2	105.3
	CV	42.5	34.0	36.5	53.0	33.7	28.1
	b	0.650	0.080	-0.219	0.207	-0.150	0.719
Ι	x	61	136	91	69	204	357
1961–1990	σ	30.5	47.9	31.2	34.3	62.3	92.3
	CV	49.9	35.4	34.2	49.8	30.6	25.9
	b	-0.113	-0.959	-0.507	-0.650	-1.187	-2.229
Π	x	86	142	84	81	201	393
1991-2020	σ	27.2	47.0	32.7	44.1	74.7	115.7
	CV	31.4	33.2	39.1	54.6	37.2	29.5
	b	0.244	0.341	0.241	-0.092	0.562	0.734
Difference	x	25	6	-7	12	-3	36
	σ	3.3	0.9	-1.6	-9.8	-12.4	-23.4
	CV	18.5	2.2	-4.9	-4.7	-6.6	-3.6

Table 7. Statistical data for the average value of total runoff (TRO in mm) in the area of Sanski Most period: 1961 – 2020.

Note: \bar{x} – Arithmetic mean; σ – Standard deviation; CV – Coefficient of Variation; b – decline of the trend curve; Wi – Winter; Sp – Spring, Su – Summer, Au – Autumn, V – Vegetation

Reference Evapotranspiration (ET₀). Reference evapotranspiration (ET₀) is a very important element of the water balance. In hydro-reclamation practice, the calculation of evapotranspiration is one of the basic steps in the design of irrigation and drainage systems. ET₀ is necessary for calculation of crop and irrigation water requirements, determination of the correct irrigation regime and sizing the irrigation system [28, 43, 44]. Reference evapotranspiration for the area of Sanski Most was calculated using FAO Penman-Monteith 56 equation [30]. The following table (Table 8) shows the obtained statistical data of reference evapotranspiration in the area of Sanski Most.

The sum of ET_0 for the analyzed period (1961–2020) is 777 mm. Comparing the I (1961–1990) and II (1991–2020) climate periods, an increase of 50 mm was found, with a positive trend of 14.49 mm per decade.

The biggest changes (8.9 mm per decade) are during the summer when the ET_0 value is also the highest (361 mm). In all seasons and all climatic periods, a certain degree of increase in ET_0 was determined, the exception being autumn, with a particularly pronounced negative trend during the II climatic period. In that period, ET_0 in the area of Sanski Most decreases slightly by 2.15 mm per decade.

For agriculture, the vegetation period is the most important, and in that period the sum of ET_0 for the entire analyzed period (1961–2020) is 607 mm, i.e. 78.1% of the total annual ET_0 .

ET ₀ (mm)		Wi	Sp	Sum	Au	Veg	Annual
1961–2020	x	52	216	361	147	607	777
	σ	7.7	18.3	28.9	11.9	41.2	50.0
	CV	14.8	8.5	8.0	8.1	6.8	6.4
	b	0.132	0.418	0.897	0.001	1.213	1.449
I 1961–1990	x	50	209	346	147	586	752
	σ	8.7	19.1	21.4	13.1	32.0	43.4
	CV	17.4	9.1	6.2	9.0	5.5	5.8
	b	0.489	0.268	0.496	-0.028	0.589	1.226
Π	x	54	223	377	148	628	802
1991–2020	σ	6.1	14.4	27.4	10.7	38.9	43.7
	CV	11.3	6.4	7.3	7.2	6.2	5.5
	b	-0.166	0.203	0.526	-0.215	0.693	0.348
Difference	x	4	14	31	1	42	50
	σ	2.6	4.7	-6.0	2.4	-6.9	-0.3
	CV	6.1	2.7	-1.1	1.7	-0.7	0.3

Table 8. Statistical data for reference evapotranspiration (ET_0 in mm) in the area of Sanski Most period: 1961 - 2020.

Note: \bar{x} – Arithmetic mean; σ – Standard deviation; CV – Coefficient of Variation; b – decline of the trend curve; Wi – Winter; Sp – Spring, Su – Summer, Au – Autumn, V – Vegetation

Actual Evapotranspiration (AET). Actual evapotranspiration (AET) indicates the actual amount of water that evaporates from the surface through the processes of evaporation and transpiration, it is the main component of the hydrological cycle and one of the most important physical processes in natural ecosystems. Estimation of AET can represent an important alternative for agricultural or hydrological studies, for example when measurement techniques are not available due to their high cost, complex installation or intensive maintenance [43, 45].

The following table (Table 9) shows statistical data for AET in the area of Sanski Most observed in certain climatic periods, among which we can see differences.

In the area of Sanski Most, the sum of AET for the entire analyzed period (1961–2020) was determined to be 666 mm, with a slight increasing trend of 1.15 mm per decade. Based on the analysis of the I (1961–1990) and II (1991–2020) climate periods, the determined difference in the average annual amount of AET is only 5 mm.

In research by Čadro and Marković [17] as well as Čadro and Uzunovic [38] carried out in the area of northern BiH where Sanski Most is located, the determined value of the annual AET ranges from 578 mm (Bijeljina) to 667 mm (Banja Luka), and the values obtained for Sanski Most coincide with the upper limit of previously determined values.

Variations of this component of the water balance are not high, however, there are significant differences between the trend of changes by seasons. So, during winter, spring and autumn, we have a slightly positive trend of AET, which ranges from 0.7 to

4.7 mm per decade. On the other hand, during the summer we have a more pronounced negative trend, the value of which varies from 5.6 to 7.0 mm per decade, depending on the observed period. These results confirm the previously explained problem of more pronounced climate changes during the summer period. The differences between the two climatic periods indicate a decrease in the mean annual AET of 17.1 mm, with all that in the summer period, the AET variations are the most pronounced.

AET (mm)		Wi	Sp	Sum	Au	Veg	Annual
1961-2020	x	50	207	275	134	502	666
	σ	8.4	15.0	45.8	16.2	48.0	50.2
	CV	16.9	7.3	16.6	12.1	9.6	7.5
	b	0.176	0.360	-0.582	0.160	-0.207	0.115
Ι	x	47	201	284	131	505	663
1961–1990	σ	9.3	15.6	36.1	17.9	40.6	46.6
	CV	19.7	7.8	12.7	13.7	8.0	7.0
	b	0.470	0.076	-0.705	0.269	-0.717	0.110
II 1991–2020	x	52	213	267	136	499	668
	σ	6.6	11.9	53.1	14.0	55.0	54.2
	CV	12.7	5.6	19.9	10.3	11.0	8.1
	b	-0.059	0.429	-0.564	0.016	0.147	-0.178
Difference	x	5	12	-17	5	-5	5
	σ	2.7	3.7	-17.1	3.9	-14.4	-7.7
	CV	7.0	2.2	-7.2	3.4	-3.0	-1.1

Table 9. Statistical data for Actual evapotranspiration (AET in mm) in the area of Sanski Most period: 1961 – 2020.

Note: \bar{x} – Arithmetic mean; σ – Standard deviation; CV – Coefficient of Variation; b – decline of the trend curve; Wi – Winter; Sp – Spring, Su – Summer, Au – Autumn, V – Vegetation

4 Conclusion

Based on a detailed and long-term analysis of climate data and soil water balance in the Sanski Most area, we can conclude that the changes are in line with those of the national or regional level. It is especially important to point out the increase in air temperature (0.34 °C per decade) the duration of sunshine (0.19 h per day per decade), and soil moisture deficit (13.34 mm per decade) i.e. the decrease in the amount of snow (-11.23 mm per decade) and relative humidity (-0.33% per decade). Observed by seasons, the period of summer shows the most intense changes, which are hardly noticeable if only the annual level is observed.

Such data should be a kind of alarm, that is, a warning that adaptation to new challenges is necessary. The responsible institutions, that is, the authorities of this area should provide certain funds and create functional systems for the fight and adaptation to climate change. Institutions should be able to establish early warning systems and decision support systems taking into account the state of all actors in the area.

BiH, as a signatory to various initiatives and international agreements related to the climate, including the latest Green Agenda for the Western Balkans, has accepted certain concepts, among which sustainable agriculture takes a special place. Observing the upcoming trends, certain steps must already be taken.

References

- 1. Žurovec, O., Vedeld, P.O., Sitaula, B.K.: Agricultural sector of bosnia and herzegovina and climate change—challenges and opportunities. Agriculture **5**(2), 245–266 (2015)
- Marković, M., et al.: Promoting the application of smart technologies in agricultural water management in Bosnia and Herzegovina. In: SERBIAN SOCIETY OF SOIL SCIENCE Soils for Future under Global Challenges. 3rd International and 15th National Congress. Serbian Society of Soil Science. University of Belgrade, Faculty of Agriculture, Sokobanja, Serbia (2021)
- Lipper, L., et al.: Climate-smart agriculture for food security. Nat. Clim. Chang. 4(12), 1068– 1072 (2014)
- 4. FAO: Climate Smart Agriculture. Sourcebook (2013)
- Crljenković, B.: Comparative Analysis of Different Software Models for Determination of Irrigation Requirements in Maize, p. 85. University of Sarajevo, Sarajevo (2022)
- Čadro, S., Škaljić, S., Rakita, N., Žurovec, J.: A modern hardware and software solutions for corn irrigation. In: 4th International Symposium Agricultural Engineering ISAE 2019, p. 18. Belgrade (2019)
- UNDP: Strategija lokalnog razvoja općine Sanski Most 2014–2023. UNDP, SDC, Bosna i Hercegovina (2014)
- Biščević, V., Biščević, E.: Građa za historiju Općine Sanski Most. Sanski Most, Selbstverl (2009)
- 9. CSS: Procjena ugroženosti općina Sanski Most i Oštra Luka od prirodnih i drugih nepogoda. Centar za sigurnosne studije, Sarajevo (2018)
- Geiger, R.: Überarbeitete Neuausgabe von Geiger, R.: KöppenGeiger Klima der Erde. (Wandkarte 1:16 Mill.). – KlettPerthes (1961)
- Čadro, S., Uzunović, M., Žurovec, J., Žurovec, O.: Validation and calibration of various reference evapotranspiration alternative methods under the climate conditions of Bosnia and Herzegovina. Int. Soil Water Conserv. Res. 5(4), 309–324 (2017)
- OSM: Vodić za investitore, O.S.M. Odsjek za lokalni ekonomski razvoj i investicije, Editor. BFC, Sanski Most (2020)
- Korjenić, A.: Lendšaftna regionalizacija ZUnsko-Sanskog kantona. Acta geographica Bosniae et Herzegovinae 5, 21–30 (2016)
- Živić, N.: Stanje i mogućnosti proizvodnje i prerade ovčjeg mlijeka na području Bosanske Krajine. Mljekarstvo 25(1), 13–17 (1975)
- Zurovec, O., Cadro, S., Sitaula, B.K.: Quantitative assessment of vulnerability to climate change in rural municipalities of Bosnia and Herzegovina. Sustainability 9(7), 1208 (2017)
- Ljuša, M., Čustović, H., Hodžić, S.: The impact of climate change on soil water balance and agricultural production sustainability in Mediterranean part of Bosnia and Herzegovina. Polish J. Soil Sci. 53(1), 125 (2020)

- Čadro, S., Marković, M., Kaloper, S.E., Ravlić, M., Žurovec, J.: Soil water balance response to climate change in Posavina region. In: Brka, M., Omanović-Mikličanin, E., Karić, L., Falan, V., Toroman, A. (eds.) AgriConf 2019. IP, vol. 78, pp. 11–24. Springer, Cham (2020). https:// doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-40049-1_2
- Popov, T., Gnjato, S., Gnjato, R.: Recent climate change in Bosnia and Herzegovina. In: Материалы Международной научно-практической конференции Географическая наука Узбекистана и России. г. Ташкент, Республика Узбекистан, pp. 276–280 (2019)
- Milić, V., et al.: The impact of climate change on crop production in Bosnia and Herzegovina. In: Agrotechnologies of the XXI Century – Proceedings of All-Russian Scientific and Practical Conference with International Participation Devoted to the Centennial of Higher Agrarian Education in the Ural Region (2019)
- Žurovec, O., Vedeld, P.O.: Rural livelihoods and climate change adaptation in laggard transitional economies: a case from Bosnia and Herzegovina. Sustainability 11(21), 6079 (2019)
- Popov, T., Gnjato, S., Trbic, G., Ivanisevic, M.: Recent trends in extreme temperature indices in Bosnia and Herzegovina. Carpath. J. Earth Environ. Sci. 13(1), 211–224 (2018)
- 22. TNC: Third National Communication and Second Biennial Update Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions of Bosnia And Herzegovina under the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change. UNDP, Sarajevo (2016)
- 23. WMO: Guidelines on the Calculation of Climate Normals. World Meteorological Organisation, Geneva, Switzerland (2017)
- 24. Thornthwaite, C.W., Mather, J.R.: The Water Balance. Publications in Climatology, Centerton (1955)
- 25. Thornthwaite, C.W., Mather, J.R.: Instructions and tables for computing potential evapotranspiration and the water balance. Lab. Climatol. Publ. Climatol. **10**(3), 311 (1957)
- 26. Dingman, S.L.: Physical hydrology [book + electronic resource], 2nd edn., 646 p. Prentice Hall, Upper Saddle River, N.J. (2002)
- 27. McBean, E.A., Rovers, F.A., Farquhar, G.J.: Soil Waste Landfill Engineering and Design. Prentice Hall PRT: Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey (1995)
- Čadro, S.: Razvoj i primjena softvreskih modela u cilju održivog upravljanja vodom i povečanja produktivnosti poljoprivrednih kultura u BiH, in Faculty of Agriculture and Food Scences. University of Sarajevo, Sarajevo (2019)
- 29. Resulović, H., Čustović, H., Čengić, I.: Sistematika tla/zemljišta Nastanak, svojstva i plodnost. Univerzitet u Sarajevu, Poljoprivredno-prehrambeni Fakultet, Sarajevo (2008)
- Allen, R.G., Pereira, L., Raes, D., Smith, M.: Crop evapotranspiration: Guidelines for computing crop water requirements. FAO Irrigation and Drainage Paper. United Nations FAO, Rome 326 (1998)
- Allen, R.G., Zhenguli, L.G.: REF-ET Reference Evapotranspiration Calculator. University of Idaho Research and Extension Center Kimberly, Idaho (2016)
- Popov, T., Gnjato, S., Trbić, G.: Changes in precipitation over the east Herzegovina Region. Bull. Serbian Geogr. Soc. 99(1), 29–44 (2019)
- Popov, T., Gnjato, S., Trbić, G., Ivanišević, M.: Trends in extreme daily precipitation indices in Bosnia and Herzegovina. Zbornik radova – Geografski fakultet Univerziteta u Beogradu 65(1a), 5–24 (2017). https://doi.org/10.5937/zrgfub1765005P
- Petrović, M.: Temperatura vazduha kao bitan klimatski meteorološki parametar za određivanje evapotranspiracije. Zaštita materijala 56 (2015)
- 35. Trbic, G., Popov, T., Gnjato, S.: Analysis of air temperature trends in Bosnia and Herzegovina. Geographica Pannonica **21**(2), 68–84 (2017)

- Mešić, M.: Analiza kapaciteta Bosne i Hercegovine za rješavanje problema klimatskih promjena u okviru sektora upravljanja vodnim resursima. Univerzitet u Sarajevu, Sarajevo (2021)
- Vusk, A. Knežević, et al. (eds.) Vlada Unsko-Sanskog Kantona, Ministarstvo Za Građenje, Prostorno Uređenje I Zaštitu Okoliša, Bihać (2017)
- Čadro, S., Uzunovic, M., Cherni-Čadro, S., Žurovec, J.: Changes in the water balance of Bosnia and Herzegovina as a result of climate change. Agric. For. 65(3), 19–33 (2019)
- 39. Hodžić, S., Marković, M., Čustović, H.: Drought Conditions and Management. Strategies in Bosnia and Herzegovina – Concise Country Report, in UNW-DPC Proceedings (2013)
- 40. Čadro, S., Miseckaite, O., Gavrić, T., Baublys, R., Žurovec, J.: Impact of climate change on the annual water balance in a humid climate. Agricult. Forest. **64**, 129–143 (2018)
- Čadro, S., Žurovec, J., Cherni-Čadro, S.: Severity, magnitude and duration of droughts in Bosnia and Herzegovina using standardized precipitation evapotranspiration index (SPEI). Agricul. Forest. 63(3), 199–206 (2017)
- 42. Čaušević, A., Beslik, S., Hadžić, F., Griffin, R.: Bosna i Hercegovina uticaj i rizici klimatskih promjena, 115. Multi, Damira Hadžibeganovića, Sarajevo (2020)
- 43. Žurovec, J.: Melioracije i uređenje poljoprivrednog zemljišta, 245. Univerzitet u Sarajevu, Poljoprivredno-prehrambeni fakultet, Sarajevo (2012)
- 44. Trajković, S.: Metode proračuna potreba za vodom u navodnjavanju. Univerzitet u Nišu, Građevinsko-Arhitektonski Fakultet (2009)
- 45. Ochoa-Sanchez, A., Crespo, P., Carrillo-Rojas, G., Sucozhanay, A., Celleri, R.: Actual evapotranspiration in the high andean grasslands: a comparison of measurement and estimation methods. Front. Earth Sci. **7**, 55 (2019)



Effect of Pruning on Mechanical Composition of Bunch of Table Grape Varieties (Vitis Vinifera L.)

Mersija Delić^{1(⊠)}, Fikreta Behmen¹, Semira Sefo², Pakeza Drkenda¹, Saša Matijašević³, and Ana Mandić⁴

 Faculty of Agriculture and Food Sciences, University of Sarajevo, Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina m.delic@ppf.unsa.ba
 Agromediterian Faculty, University "Džemal Bijedić" of Mostar, Mostar, Bosnia and Herzegovina
 Faculty of Agriculture, University of Belgrade, Belgrade, Serbia
 Faculty of Agriculture and Food Technology, University of Mostar, Mostar, Bosnia and Herzegovina

Abstract. The aim of the research was to study the effect of pruning on the mechanical composition of the bunch of three introduced table grape varieties (Black Magic, Muscat Bleu and Alphonse Lavallee) in the area of Mostar. The research lasted three years (2011–2013), each variety had three variants of pruning, and each variant had four repetitions. The bud load levels studied in this research were 28 (variant I), 32 (variant II) and 40 (variant III) buds per vine. The following parameters were measured: bunch, berries and stem weight, number of berries in a bunch and single berry weight, length and width of bunch and berry. The highest values of the parameters: bunch, berries and stem weight, single berry weight and berry width were in the variety Alphonse Lavallee variant II, while the longest bunch was in the variety Black Magic variant II, and the bunch widest in variant III, as well as the berry length. The largest number of berries in a bunch was recorded in the variety Muscat Bleu variant II.

Keywords: Mechanical composition \cdot Pruning \cdot Black Magic \cdot Muscat Bleu \cdot Alphonse Lavallee

1 Introduction

Table grape varieties constitute a special group of varieties that are exclusively intended for fresh consumption. The market demands for grapes of the highest quality imposed made it necessary to design new table grape varieties. This resulted in the current abundance of new varieties whose qualitative characteristics need to be checked and compared with the conditions of the variety's origin. New varieties challenge grape producers in doubt, and therefore checking the quality of newly created varieties is a necessity, so that they can subsequently be recommended for cultivation in new agro-ecological conditions [1].

After the introduction of the variety it is necessary to monitor its adaptation to new ecological conditions. In recent years, in the territory of Herzegovina, a large number of newly created table grape varieties, with different biological and economic-technological characteristics, have been introduced. So far these varieties have not been studied from the viewpoint of their adaptation to the ecological conditions of Herzegovina [2].

An important factor in the adaptation of the variety to new ecological conditions is the correct selection of the cultivation system. Cultivation system is of great importance in the cultivation of table grapes as attention is focused on the external appearance of the bunch and the total yield. The cultivation system consists of the planting distances, the training system, the pruning methods, the construction of trellis, and ampelo-technical measures that regulate the vegetative potential of vines [3], and the load of the buds is especially important. Understanding the correlation between the bud load and the yield is very important for grape producers in view of choosing the adequate pruning for each variety in specific ecological conditions [4].

The height of the yield affects the mechanical composition of the bunch. The bunch size depends on the environment and growing conditions. Even if these conditions are the same, there are big differences between the varieties. The size of the bunch is determined by its length and width, that is, its mass [5]. Bunch architecture is controlled by environmental and genetic factors [6]. Some of these sub-traits are under genetic control as reported for berry size and berry weight [7, 8]. Parameters, berry number in the bunch [9] and stem sub – traits [10] have the high sensitiveness to seasonal environmental changes. Accordingly, it is necessary to achieve an optimal bud load of vine for each variety in order to provide conditions for the growth and development of the vine, and thus for the production of grapes.

The aim of this work was to study in detail the influence of pruning, i.e. the bud load levels of vine on the mechanical composition of bunch of table grape varieties: Black Magic, Muscat Bleu and Alphonse Lavallee, being some of the large number of introduced table grape cultivars, in the conditions of Herzegovina.

The tested hypotheses are: (1) smaller bud loads can significantly increase the weight of the bunch; (2) higher bunch weight implies greater bunch length and width.

2 Research Methods

Material: Table grape varieties Black Magic, Muscat Bleu: Garnier 15/6 (Villard Noir × Muller Thurgau) × Seyve Villard 20–347 (Perle Noire), and Alphonse Lavallee grafted on the rootstock Paulsen 1103. The experiment lasted three years (2011–2013), and was set up at the facility "Vinogradi" doo Mostar, by the method of random selection. The vineyard is in full fruition, with intensive cultivation, drip irrigation system, and regular application of agro-technical measures. It was planted in 2008, with a planting distance of 3 m × 1.2 m, and the Moser cordon as a vine-training system. Three variants of pruning were investigated is shown in Table 1, on 72 vines in four repetitions (6 vines per repetition) for each variety. A total of 216 vines were included in the trial. Laboratory research was carried out at the Faculty of Agriculture and Food Sciences, University of Sarajevo.

Variant	Pruning	Shoot or spur	Shoot or arc	Number of buds per vine
Variant I	Short	4 (5) + 4(2)	0	28
Variant II	Mixed	4 (2)	4 (6)	32
Variant III	Mixed	4 (2)	4 (8)	40

Table 1. Pruning variants with the spacified number of buds

Mechanical composition (method by Prostoserdov): Bunches were taken at full maturity, 10 representative bunches for 4 repetitions each, within each pruning type, for all three investigated varieties and during three years (2011, 2012 and 2013). The bunch mass (g) was obtained by weighing, and the length (cm) and width (cm) by measuring on graph paper. Berries were manually removed from each bunch, counted and weighed as well as the peduncle. After that, the length (cm) and width (cm) of the berry were measured and the weight of one berry (g) was determined [11].

Analysis of the results: A two-factor analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed for each variety and each year of the study. The obtained parameters were processed by the SPSS (IBM SPSS Statistics) computer program. The standard error was determined using the Tukey test for a significance level of 0.05. Principal component analysis (PCA) was used to identify the differentiation factor of grape variety and pruning on analyzed mechanical properties using Statgraph 3.14. The visualization of overall parameters was obtained by a heatmap function, using the ClustVis program package [12].

2.1 Ecological Conditions

Vine varieties have certain requirements in terms of the external environment conditions and that has to be taken into consideration when choosing a variety that is best suited to the given conditions. In order to make a decision on the appropriate varieties for a given region, as well as on the application of certain agro-technical and ampelotechnical measures, it is necessary to understand both the current state of temperatures and atmospheric phenomena, and their multi-year averages and extremes.

Anticipated climate change in European regions can significantly alter viticulture in the coming decades, in terms of both the spectrum and the distribution of grape varieties that are currently in use [13].

The climate of the Mostar vine-growing area is decisively influenced by the openness to the sea, along the Neretva river valley, and the separation from the northern areas by mountain massifs. The data of the Mostar meteorological station, obtained from the FBiH Hydro-meteorological Institute, were used for analyzing climatic conditions (Table 2).

Indicator	1961 – 1990	2011	2012	2013
Mean annual air temperature (°C)	14.1	16.2	16.1	15.9
Mean vegetative air temperature (°C)	18.83	21.76	22.1	21.16
Absolute minimum air temperature (°C)	-14.2	-1.6	-7.4	-2.4
Absolute maximum temperature (°C)	41	40.4	41.8	41.1
Precipitation during vegetation (mm)	518	396.5	744.4	931.1
Annual precipitation (mm)	1102	872.5	1394.9	2188.3
Length of the vegetation period (days)	239	235	236	237
Length of insolation (hours)	2287	2629.9	2656.9	2465.2

Table 2. Basic hydro - meteorological factors in Mostar winegrowing region

Mean vegetative air temperature and precipitation during vegetation.

3 Results and Discussion

The results of the analysis of the mechanical composition of the bunches of the varieties of Black Magic, Muscat Bleu and Alphonse Lavallee, depending on the bud load levels during three consecutive years, are shown in the Table 3.

The results of the study show that statistically significant differences were found in most of the characteristics of the bunches of the tested table grapes varieties. Bunch mass was statistically significantly highest in the variety Alphonse Lavallee, variant II (32 buds/vine) (458.43 g), and the lowest in the variety Muscat Bleu, variant III (40 buds/vine) (242.24 g). This was to be expected as the largest bunch mass of the studied varieties was produced by the Alphonse Lavallee variety, and the smallest by the Muscat Bleu variety [2, 14–16]. Also, with an increase in the yield, the mass of the bunch decreases, which is why it is the smallest in variant III where the highest number of buds per vine were left which is consistent with our hypothesis (1). Observed by the years of study, it was determined that there is a statistically significant difference in the same variety during the three years of study. The mass of the berries and the mass of the stem in the bunches of the examined varieties during three years of the research using three types of pruning, as parameters, followed the correlations established during the cluster mass analysis. There were statistically significant differences in the levels of these parameters between varieties, types of pruning within a given variety, and between research years.

Based on the results of the research it becomes apparent that the levels of the bunch length and width parameters of the tested varieties were statistically significant, when differences between the varieties in all three years of the research are observed. This was expected considering that the studied varieties have different bunch sizes. The largest bunch mass was in the variety Alphonse Lavallee, and the smallest in the variety Muscat Bleu. The highest values of the bunch length and width parameters were recorded in the Alphonse Lavallee variety, and the lowest in the Muscat Bleu variety, which is in accordance with our hypothesis (2). The effect of pruning on the length and width of bunches in the varieties Black Magic, Muscat Bleu and Alphonse Lavallee was not statistically significant within the variety, therefore, we can say that in this study, the bud load in all three studied varieties did not have a statistically significant effect on the values of the bunch length and width parameters. The length and width of the berry was statistically significantly different between varieties during all three years of research. If we observe the values of these parameters within the same variety, and depending of the type of pruning, we can see that it was statistically significant in the Muscat Bleu variety for both parameters, and in the Alphonse Lavallee variety for the berry width parameter. Other values were not statistically significant.

In this study, there were statistically significant differences in the number of berries per bunch between the varieties during the years of the study. There was also a statistically significant difference in the value of this parameter and between the pruning types within the same variety, so that the pruning types with a lower bud load had a higher number of berries in the varieties Muscat Bleu and Alphonse Lavallee, while the result was the opposite in the variety Black Magic. The weight of one berry was statistically significantly different between all three tested varieties during the years of the study. Observation made by the type of pruning within one variety, gave us an unexpected result. In the case of the Black Magic variety, the highest weight of one berry was recorded in the lowest bud load. In the Muscat Bleu variety, the values of this parameter were higher with a higher bud load, while in the Alphonse Lavallee variety, the weight of one berry was not statistically significant in different types of pruning.

There was a statistically significant difference in the amount of precipitation during all three years of research. A lower amount of precipitation can negatively affect the yield, and an excessive amount of precipitation during grape ripening negatively affects its quality. The amount of precipitation during the growing season in 2011 was extremely low, and in 2013 it was too high, while the average air temperature differed by 0.6 °C.

The results of this study show that the variety Black Magic belongs to the group of varietis with medium and large bunch [14, 17]; the bunch of the Muscat Bleu variety belongs to the category of medium-sized bunches [18], and the bunch of the Alphonse Lavallee variety to the group of large bunch varieties [14, 19, 20]. Also, the size of the bunches obtained in this study is consistent with the classification of bunches of table grape varieties by size, as classified by Korać [21].

The average bunch mass in the variety Black Magic in the conditions of the Tikveš vine-growing area (Macedonia) was 369.00 g [22], in the variety Muscat Bleu in the ecological conditions of Poland it was 181.00 g [23], while in the variety Alphonse Lavallee it was 480.00 g in the conditions of northern Greece [24], and 253.9 g in the conditions of the Niš vine-growing sub-region [25].

The length of the bunch of the Black Magic variety (19.42 cm) in this study was consistent with the three-year study conducted on this variety in the conditions of the Tikveš vine-growing area (Macedonia), where the average bunch length of 20.9 cm was recorded, and the width of the bunch was smaller compared to this study [22].

In this three-year study, the variety Alphonse Lavallee had an average length of the bunch, amounting to 21.57 cm in all three years, which is consistent with the study carried out in the conditions of northern Greece on this variety, where the length of the bunch was 21.8 cm, while the average width of the bunch was by approximately 1 cm smaller compared to this study [23] (Fig. 1).

	VATIATIAS		
	A OTSUP	N n n	2
-	T T T D		
1	D TOAVTER		
-	5	3	
	The rough of the r		
	ç	3	
51			
	V911 PC		
	AVErage		2
c		1	

Variety		Bunch weight (g)	Stem weight (g)	Berries weight (g)	Bunch length (cm)	Bunch width (cm)	Number of berries	Single berry weight (g)	Berry length (cm)	Berry width (cm)
Black	Variant I	$308.57\pm90.6^{\mathrm{ns}}$	8.80 ± 0.9^{ns}	302.02 ± 92.3^{ns}	$19.58\pm0.8^{\rm ns}$	15.94 ± 2.3^{b}	64.67 ± 32.2^{b}	$4.97\pm1.4^{\rm a}$	$2.69 \pm 0.6^{\mathrm{ns}}$	$1.93 \pm 0.5^{\mathrm{ns}}$
Magic	Variant II	$330.39\pm162.6^{\rm ns}$	9.27 ± 3.7^{ns}	321.12 ± 159^{ns}	$19.66\pm1.7^{\rm ns}$	16.86 ± 2.4^{ab}	$73.10\pm44.3^{\rm a}$	4.37 ± 0.3^{b}	$2.64\pm0.3^{\rm ns}$	$1.98 \pm 0.5^{\mathrm{ns}}$
(BM)	Variant III	$311.59\pm136.6^{\rm ns}$	10.10 ± 4.9^{ns}	301.49 ± 131.6^{ns}	$19.02\pm1.1^{\rm ns}$	17.10 ± 3.8^{a}	$72.10 \pm 42.7a$	$4.30\pm0.2^{\rm b}$	$2.70\pm0.4^{\rm ns}$	$1.95 \pm 0.4^{\rm ns}$
Muscat	Variant I	$254.62\pm91^{\rm a}$	9.49 ± 3.2^{ab}	245.13 ± 87.6^{a}	$18.02\pm0.1^{\rm ns}$	$13.72\pm1.6^{\rm ns}$	84.81 ± 17.8^{ab}	$2.73\pm0.6^{\rm b}$	$1.92\pm0.3^{\mathrm{ab}}$	$1.69 \pm 0.3^{\mathrm{b}}$
Bleu	Variant II	263.67 ± 95.2^a	9.83 ± 3.1^{a}	253.84 ± 92^a	$18.47\pm1.8^{\rm ns}$	13.37 ± 1.5^{ns}	90.61 ± 27^a	$2.95\pm0.7^{\rm a}$	1.86 ± 0.2^{b}	1.65 ± 0.2^{b}
(dIM)	Variant III	$242.24\pm104.1^{\rm b}$	$8.83\pm4.0^{\rm b}$	$233.41\pm100.1^{\rm b}$	$18.00 \pm 1.9^{\mathrm{ns}}$	$13.33\pm2.5^{\rm ns}$	$82.60\pm24.9^{\rm b}$	3.04 ± 0.9^{a}	$1.97\pm0.1^{\rm a}$	1.75 ± 0.2^{a}
Aphonse	Variant I	435.89 ± 221.3^{a}	11.84 ± 9.7^{ns}	424.05 ± 211.5^{a}	$21.82\pm1.0^{\rm ns}$	$14.54\pm2.8^{\rm ns}$	$76.54\pm41.5^{\rm b}$	$5.86\pm0.8^{\rm ns}$	$2.36\pm0.2^{\rm ns}$	$2.05\pm0.6^{\mathrm{b}}$
Lavallee	Variant II	458.43 ± 223^{a}	$13.33\pm11.1^{\rm ns}$	445.10 ± 211.9^{a}	21.74 ± 1.2^{ns}	$15.59\pm3.0^{\rm ns}$	$81.40\pm52.5^{\rm a}$	$5.98\pm1.7^{\rm ns}$	$2.39\pm0.1^{\rm ns}$	$2.11\pm0.6^{\rm a}$
(AL)	Variant III	407.99 ± 125.9^{b}	$11.64 \pm 3.8^{\rm ns}$	396.35 ± 122.1^{b}	21.17 ± 2.8^{ns}	$14.27\pm0.7^{\rm ns}$	$72.50\pm26.6^{\text{b}}$	$3.01\pm0.8^{\rm ns}$	$2.37 \pm 0.2^{\mathrm{ns}}$	$2.10\pm0.5^{\rm a}$
Year	BM	$247.91\pm18.7^{\rm b}$	$7.78 \pm 1.0^{\mathrm{ns}}$	240.14 ± 18.2^{b}	$19.20 \pm 1.5^{\mathrm{b}}$	$17.03\pm0.3^{\rm a}$	50.82 ± 2^{b}	$4.67\pm0.9^{\rm b}$	$2.90\pm0.2^{\rm a}$	$1.90\pm0.1^{\mathrm{ab}}$
2011	MB	$225.65\pm25.5^{\rm C}$	$8.42\pm1.6^{\rm ns}$	217.20 ± 24.17^{c}	$18.03\pm1.5^{\rm c}$	$14.39 \pm 0.9^{\mathrm{b}}$	73.89 ± 8.21^{a}	$3.13\pm0.2^{\rm c}$	$1.93 \pm 0.2^{\mathrm{b}}$	$1.79 \pm 0.1^{\mathrm{b}}$
	AL	$336.91\pm10.9^{\rm a}$	$8.80\pm2.2^{\rm ns}$	328.11 ± 11.0^{a}	$21.55\pm0.9^{\rm a}$	$13.79\pm1.4^{\mathrm{b}}$	54.80 ± 3^{b}	$6.47\pm0.8^{\rm a}$	$2.35\pm0.1^{\rm ab}$	$2.31\pm0.1^{\rm a}$
Year	BM	$377.85 \pm 65.3^{\rm b}$	$10.82\pm3.8^{\rm a}$	$367.78\pm60.9^{\rm b}$	19.97 ± 0.9^{b}	$17.71\pm2.6^{\rm a}$	$90.61\pm14.1^{\rm a}$	$4.18\pm0.1^{\rm b}$	$2.47\pm0.1^{\rm a}$	$1.76\pm0.1^{\mathrm{b}}$
2012	MB	$224.28\pm48.9^{\rm C}$	$8.63 \pm 3.5^{\mathrm{b}}$	$215.65 \pm 45.3^{\circ}$	$18.46\pm1.1^{\rm c}$	$12.52 \pm 1.2^{\mathrm{b}}$	$88.30\pm20.2^{\rm a}$	$2.48\pm0.0^{\rm C}$	$1.81\pm0.1^{\rm b}$	1.54 ± 0.2^{c}
	AL	$438.44\pm44^{\rm a}$	$10.99 \pm 1.7^{\rm a}$	427.44 ± 42.3^{a}	$20.96\pm2.8^{\rm a}$	$13.99 \pm 0.7^{\mathrm{b}}$	$80.60\pm7.1^{\rm b}$	$5.76\pm0.3^{\rm a}$	$2.31\pm0.1^{\rm a}$	$2.20\pm0.1^{\rm a}$
Year	BM	324.79 ± 7^{b}	$9.58\pm0.8^{\rm c}$	316.72 ± 7.1^{b}	19.09 ± 0.3^{b}	$15.13\pm1.0^{\rm a}$	$68.38\pm9.3^{\rm b}$	$4.77 \pm 1.2^{\mathrm{b}}$	$2.65\pm0.1^{\rm a}$	$2.20\pm0.0^{\rm a}$
2013	MB	$310.61\pm9.62^{\rm b}$	11.10 ± 0.3^{b}	$299.51\pm9.8^{\rm b}$	$18.00\pm2.1^{\mathrm{c}}$	$13.50\pm0.7^{\rm b}$	$95.80\pm2.4^{\rm a}$	$3.10\pm0.7^{\rm c}$	$2.00\pm0.0^{\rm b}$	$1.77\pm0.1^{ m b}$
	AL	526.97 ± 106.6^{a}	17.02 ± 5.8^{a}	509.95 ± 100.7^{a}	$22.21\pm0.2^{\rm a}$	$15.62\pm2.0^{\rm a}$	$95.0\pm22.9^{\rm a}$	$5.70\pm1.2^{\rm a}$	$2.47\pm0.1^{\rm a}$	$1.74\pm0.1^{\mathrm{b}}$
Doto monoco	enlou acom ta	(1+ CD) of form month	itions The standon	d amon uno datamina	d under The Turbau	toot for a citarifac			anifantly diffo.	out moon induo

Data represent mean values (\pm SD) of four repetitions. The standard error was determined using the Tukey test for a significance level of 0.05. Values (a-c, ns) are significantly different mean values of bunch dimension.



Fig. 1. Projection bunch characteristics of the table grape varieties on the PCA. MG-bunch weight, SG-bunch width, MS – stem weight, MB – berries weight, DG – bunch length, DB – berry length, SB – berry width, BB – number of berries, TJB – single berry weight, BM1– Black Magic variant 1, BM2 – Black Magic variant 2, BM2 – Black Magic variant 3, MB1 – Muscat Bleu variant 1, MB2 – Muscat Bleu variant 2, MB3 – Muscat Bleu variant 3, AL1 – Alphonse Lavallee variant 1, AL2 – Alphonse Lavallee variant 2, AL3 – Alphonse Lavallee variant 3)

The variety Muscat Blue, regardless of the pruning variant, is in the positive part of the first component and dominated by the number of berries, compared to the other two tested varieties. In the case of the Muscat Blue variety, the fruits from Variant II of the pruning stood out due to the stem weight, compared to the other two pruning models.

The Black Magic variety was distinguished by the length of the berry and the width of the bunch.

The fruits of the Alphonse Lavallee variety from the first and second pruning variants were distinguished by the stem weight and the number of berries compared to the fruits of this variety from the third pruning variant (Fig. 2).

The data of the average values of the bunch characteristics of the varieties Black Magic, Muscat Bleu and Alphonse Lavallee shown on the heatmap are divided into two main bunches. The greatest variation in the mean values of the investigated parameters was recorded in the number of berries and the mass of berries in a bunch.

Biplot



Fig. 2. Projection bunch characteristics of the table grape varieties on the Heatmap. MG-bunch weight, SG- bunch width, MS – stem weight, MB – berries weight, DG – bunch length, DB – berry length, SB – berry width, BB – number of berries, TJB – single berry weight, BM1– Black Magic variant 1, BM2 – Black Magic variant 2, BM2 – Black Magic variant 3, MB1 – Muscat Bleu variant 1, MB2 – Muscat Bleu variant 2, MB3 – Muscat Bleu variant 3, AL1 – Alphonse Lavallee variant 1, AL2 – Alphonse Lavallee variant 2, AL3 – Alphonse Lavallee variant 3)

4 Conclusion

The study of the influence of the type of pruning, i.e. the bud load on the mechanical composition of the bunch of the Black Magic, Muscat Bleu and Alphonse Lavallee varieties was carried out at the site of Vrapčići – Mostar. Based on the three-year study, it can be concluded that there was a statistically significant difference in the value of almost all examined characteristics of the bunches of the subject table grape varieties. The most favorable mechanical composition of the bunches in all three varieties, in the agro-ecological conditions of Mostar, was recorded in variant II, where pruning left 32 buds/vine, and which we recommend.

References

- Mijatović, D., Radojević, I., Jovanović Cvetković, T., Ranković, V.: Elementi rodnosti kao parametri vrijednosti stonih sorti. Zbornik naučnih radova Instituta PKB Agroekonomik 16(5), 79–87 (2010)
- Delić, M., Behmen, F., Sefo, S., Matijašević, S., Hamidović, S.: The effect of pruning on fruiting capacity of Muscat Bleu table grape variety. In: Works of the Faculty of Agriculture and Food Sciences, vol. LXV, no. 7, pp. 29–36. University of Sarajevo (2020)
- 3. Karoglan, M., Osrečak, M., Andabaka, Ž., Brodski, A.: Proizvodnja stolnog grožđa, Agronomski fakultet Sveučilište u Zagrebu, Zagreb (2017)
- Delić, M., Behmen, F., Matijašević, S., Mandal, Š, Hamidović, S., Murtić, S.: Influence of crop load on the yield and grape quality of Merlot and Vranac (*Vitis vinifera* L.) varieties in Trebinje vineyard. Acta agriculturae Slovenica 117(4), 1–7 (2021). https://doi.org/10.14720/ aas.2021.117.4.1601
- 5. Zilai, J.: Fajtaértétékkutatás eredményei a szölötermesztésben, Budapest (1987)
- Döring, J., Frisch, M., Tittmann, S., Stoll, M., Kauer, R.: Growth, yield and fruit quality of grapevines under organic and biodynamic management. PLoS ONE 10, e0138445 (2015)
- Ban, Y., Mitani, N., Sato, A., Kono, A., Hayashi, T.: Genetic dissection of quantitative trait loci for berry traits in interspecific hybrid grape (*Vitis labruscana × Vitis vinifera*). Euphytica 211, 295–310 (2016)
- 8. Tello, J., Ibáñez, J.: Evaluation of indexes for the quantitative and objective estimation of grapevine bunch compactness. Vitis **53**, 9–16 (2014)
- Dry, P.R., Longbottom, M.L., McLoughlin, S., Johnson, T.E., Collins, C.: Classification of reproductive performance of ten winegrape varieties. Aust. J. Grape Wine Res. 16, 47–55 (2010)
- Tello, J., Torres-Perez, R., Grimplet, J., Ibáñez, J.: Association analysis of grapevine bunch traits using a comprehensive approach. Theor. Appl. Genet. 129, 227–242 (2016)
- 11. Prostoserdov, N.: Tehnologičeškaja karakteristika vinograda i produktiv ego pralabotik (uvologija), Ampelografija SSSR, Moskva (1964)
- 12. https://biit.cs.ut.ee/clustvis/online. Accessed on 1 Nov 2022
- Chiriac, C.: Influence of climate change upon environment in the Cotnari Vineyard. Annals of Stephan the Great University, Romania, XVI. http://www.atlas.usv.ro/www/anale/datagrid (2007)
- 14. Žunić, D., Garić, M.: Posebno vinogradarstvo, Ampelografija II, Poljoprivredni fakultet Univerzitet u Prištini, Beograd (2010)
- Rubio, J.A., Yuste, J.: Effects of cluster-thinning and the water regime in the yield, development, must and physiological behavior of 'Tempranillo' driven in a trellis. Viticultura y Enología Profesional 83, 82–92 (2002)
- Aipperspach, A., Hammond, J., Hatterman-Valenti, H.: Utilizing pruning and leaf removal to optimize ripening of Vitis riparia-based 'Frontenac Gris' and 'Marquette' wine grapes in the Northern great plains. Horticulturae 6(1), 18 (2020). https://doi.org/10.3390/horticulturae60 10018
- Nicolaescu, G., et al.: Gibberellin as a determinant factor of grapes quality of Codreanca (Black Magic) variety. Lucrări ştiințifice USAMUB, Seria B LIII, 573–576 (2009)
- Bockius, W., Krüger, E., Rasim, S.: Ein zwischenbericht: erfahrungen mit tafeltrauben am standort geisenheim in den jahren 1998–2001. Fachgebiet Obstbau der FA, Geisnheim, Deutschland (2002)
- Mirošević, N., Turković, Z.: Ampelografski atlas, Golden marketing. Tehnička knjiga, Zagreb (2003)
- 20. Cindrić, P., Korać, N., Kovač, V.: Sorte vinove loze, III izdanje. Prometej, Novi Sad (2000)

- Korać, N.: Ampelografsko ispitivanje stonih sorti vinove loze u fruškogorskom vinogorju, pp. 1–165. Doktorska disertacija, Poljoprivredni fakultet Univerzitet u Novom Sadu, str. (1989)
- Dimovska, V., Beleski, K., Boskov, K., Ivanova, V., Ilieva, F.: The productive characteristics on Black Magic table grape variety, growing in the Tikves's vineyard, Republic of Macedonia. In: IV International Symposium "Agrosym 2013", pp. 141–146, Jahorina, B&H (2013)
- Lisek, J.: Evaluation of yield and healthiness of twenty table grapevine cultivars grown in Central Poland. J. Hortic. Res. 22(1), 101–107 (2014). https://doi.org/10.2478/johr-2014-0012
- Mattheou, A., Stavropoulos, N., Samaras, S.: Studies on table grape germplasm grown in Northern Greece. I. Maturity time, bunch characteristics and yield. Vitis 34(3), 155–158 (1995)
- Kocić, S., Zima, V., Stanković, S., Tarailo, R., Petrović, G.: Ispitivanje tehnoloških osobina nekih introdukovanih stonih sorti u kutinskom vinogorju. X Savetovanje Vinogradara i vinara Srbije. Poljoprivreda 375–378, 48–54 (1995)



Vascular Flora of Medieval Fortresses of Bosnia and Herzegovina

Nermina Sarajlić¹^(⊠), Semir Maslo², Biljana Lubarda³, Nejc Jogan⁴, Šemso Šarić⁵, Borut Bosančić⁶, and Vladimir Ranđelović¹

¹ Department of Biology and Ecology, Faculty of Sciences and Mathematics, Niš, Serbia nermina.sarajlic@ptice.ba

² Primary School, Lundåkerskolan, Gislaved, Sweden

³ Department of Biology, Faculty of Natural Sciences and Mathematics, University of Banja Luka, Banja Luka, Bosnia and Herzegovina

⁴ Department of Biology, Biotechnical Faculty, University of Ljubljana, Ljubljana, Slovenia ⁵ Jelaške, Olovo, Bosnia and Herzegovina

⁶ Faculty of Agriculture, University of Banja Luka, Banja Luka, Bosnia and Herzegovina

Abstract. With the objective to add to the knowledge of the vascular flora of medieval sites in Bosnia and Herzegovina, eight limestone fortresses situated in different regions and subjected to different intensity of anthropogenic impact were selected. All native and subspontaneous alien vascular plant taxa were recorded, resulting in a total of 714 taxa, ranging from 82 to 384 in individual sites. The share of most numerous families and life forms was in accordance with the situation recorded in similar habitats across Europe. Despite many common features, the flora composition of surveyed fortresses varies significantly, mainly as a result of their geographical location, local environmental factors as well as the intensity of anthropogenic pressure. The main reason for the differences in floristic composition is the fact that only ten taxa were found in all eight fortresses, and a presence of numerous "site-specific" species that were found at only one of the surveyed fortresses. Although the indicators of anthropogenic changes indicate the strong anthropogenic influence on the flora, expressed through urbanization and maintenance degree, which influenced the presence and number of endemic and alien taxa, as well as the high percentage of therophytes and widespread plants, the analysis of the overall floristic assemblages showed the major significance of biogeographical position, reflected in preferences for the environmental factors in general floral composition and supported by the distribution of floristic elements.

Keywords: Bosnia and Herzegovina \cdot Fortress Flora \cdot Ecological Factors \cdot Urbanization

1 Introduction

Fortresses are generally large closed structures combining the dominant defensive function with residential and economic functions [1]. They are usually situated on rocks and, together with their impressive fortification walls, create a specific environment for plant life in many respects [2]. The walls are similar to natural rocks and rock crevices [3, 4], but even in cases when they are built of natural stone, the effect of mortar and other binding substances is noticeable, in a sense that different chemical composition allows the development of certain species which are not found on surrounding rocks [5, 6]. Generally, the walls are characterized by low availability of room for plant development, hardness and alkalinity of the substratum, scarcity of soil and humus, high inclination, extreme temperatures and low humidity [3, 7]. The flora of fortresses is generally composed of native species adapted to rocky habitats and species with a wide ecological amplitude, which colonize the walls due to a mass-effect from the surroundings [2, 8, 9]. There is also a significant share of alien species, most of which originate from warmer regions [9]. The study of the wall flora is also of special importance for the maintenance and preservation of archaeological monuments [2]: on one hand, roots of some plants can damage the buildings, and on the other, the walls can have a role as a habitat for some rare specialized plants not present in the vicinity of the fortress.

The flora of castle and fortress ruins – "Burgbergflora", as Sukopp [10] refers to it – and flora of city walls have been studied in Germany [11–14], Poland [15], Czech Republic [4], Bulgaria [16–18], France [3], Italy [8], Albania [19], Greece [2, 7, 20], Turkey [6], Morocco [21] and Algeria [22]. In Bosnia and Herzegovina, the flora of several individual fortresses was surveyed in recent years [23–25], but no comparison work has been done so far.

Considering the ecological differences between eight fortresses situated in different regions of Bosnia and Herzegovina and the fact that they are subjected to different intensity of anthropogenic impact, we wanted to compare their vascular flora with regard to the following questions: 1) Is there a general pattern of species composition regarding the most frequent species and species diversity? 2) Does the intensity level of human factor, expressed through the indicators of anthropogenic changes of flora, have effect on overall similarity of vascular flora of selected fortresses? 3) Can the flora composition and differences between individual fortresses be explained on the basis of local ecological factors?

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Surveyed Area

Eight medieval limestone fortresses located in three distinct phytogeographic regions of Bosnia and Herzegovina [26] were selected: four (Blagaj, Ljubuški, Počitelj and Stolac) in Mediterranean region with predominant vegetation of Ostryo-Carpinion, two (Sarajevo, Vranduk) in Euro-Siberian region with predominant vegetation of Fagion illyricum and two (Srebrenik, Banja Luka) in the same region, but within the vegetation belt of Carpinion betuli. This delimitation is roughly mirrored in division of Bosnia and Herzegovina in three biogeographic regions [27] (Fig. 1).

Kastel Fortress (Banja Luka) is situated in the very center of the city of Banja Luka. Most part of the site is regularly maintained and used for various cultural manifestations, while some sections of walls and corners inside the fortress complex are almost completely neglected.



Fig. 1. Biogeographical position of surveyed sites

Gradina Fortress (Srebrenik) is located atop a steep cliff, completely surrounded by forest. Although not easily accessible, it is a popular tourist spot. A part of a fortress located near the main entrance is occasionally cleared of weeds, and other parts are derelict.

Vranduk Fortress is located on a hill about 10 km from the center of the city of Zenica. The fortress complex, which is turned into a museum and regularly maintained, is surrounded by numerous private houses and small-scale agricultural areas.

White Fortress (Sarajevo) is located on a cliff on the eastern entrance to the city of Sarajevo. Due to the lack of maintenance, the inside of the fortress is derelict. It is currently closed for public.

Old Town Blagaj – Stjepan Grad (Blagaj) is located on top of a rocky hill above the city, and is surrounded by garrigue and rocky pastures. Although it is located near the urban area, the fortress is accessible only by a narrow uphill trail, and is partially derelict.

The Fortress of Herzog Stjepan Vukčić Kosača (Ljubuški) is located on a rocky hill, surrounded by garrigue and accessible only by gravel road. The major part of the fortress is derelict.

Kula Fortress (Počitelj) is situated on a cliff in the middle of the historic village of Počitelj. It is a popular tourist spot, but no regular maintenance works are taking place.

Stolac Old Town – Vidoški (Stolac) is located on a hill above the city. The central part of the complex is frequented by tourists and used for hosting various events, and most marginal parts are derelict and damaged by illegal construction works.

2.2 Field Investigation

The vascular flora of the selected fortresses was surveyed individually, during the 2010–2021 period. All plants found on and inside the walls of the fortresses, as well in their immediate vicinity, were recorded. The taxa that are cultivated in the area were recorded only if they were found subspontaneously growing, i.e., it could positively be identified that they developed from seedlings and were not deliberately planted in the surveyed sites.

2.3 Data Analysis

The plants were identified according to the available determination keys [28-30]. The nomenclature follows the Euro + Med PlantBase [31], except for taxa marked with an asterisk (*), where the World Flora Online [32] was used.

In the list (Appendix 1), the taxa are listed in alphabetic order (by family, then by genus), followed by designations for life form, floral element, endemic status, degree of naturalization and time of introduction for alien taxa.

The data on the life forms is taken from Flora of Italy [33, 34], with categories based on the classification of Raunkiaer [35]. The taxa were classified into floral elements [36], and assigned endemic [37], and alien status [38, 39]. The alien taxa were classified as archaeophytes or neophytes according to their residence time [39, 40]. To indicate the degree of naturalization of a taxon, the terms casual, naturalized and invasive were used [41]. For the analysis of ecological preferences of the flora, the values of six ecological indices [34, 42] were considered: light (L), temperature (T), continentality (C), humidity (H), soil acidity (R) and available nitrogen quantity (N).

The overall condition of each fortress was estimated on the basis of subjective perception, and its distance from the urban area was measured by measuring the aerial distance from the fortress and the main administrative building of the nearest compact urban area (Table 1).

The scope of anthropogenic changes of the flora of each site was assessed with the use of indicators based on proportions between individual geographical-historical groups [1, 43]:

1. Indicators of anthropization.

1.1. Indicator of total anthropization

$$IAnt = An/(Sp + An) \times 100$$

1.2. Indicator of permanent anthropization

$$IAnp = Mt/(Sp + Mt) \times 100$$

2. Indicators of archaeophytization.

2.1. Indicator of total archaeophytization

$$IArt = Ar/(Sp + An) \times 100$$

Fortress	Coordinates	Phytogeographic region/vegetation alliance	Distance from the urban area (km)	Condition
Banja Luka	44.766806, 17.189648	Euro-Siberian/Carpinion betuli	<1	Regularly maintained
Srebrenik	44.703430, 18.530938	Euro-Siberian/Carpinion betuli	3.34	Occasionally maintained
Vranduk	44.291687, 17.903757	Euro-Siberian/Fagion illyricum	9.94	Regularly maintained
Sarajevo	43.859260, 18.444485	Euro-Siberian/Fagion illyricum	1.59	Partly derelict
Blagaj	43.259918, 17.902484	Mediterranean/Ostryo-Carpinion	<1	Partly derelict
Ljubuški	43.200987, 17.558122	Mediterranean/Ostryo-Carpinion	1.05	Partly derelict
Počitelj	43.135335, 17.731690	Mediterranean/Ostryo-Carpinion	3.27	Partly derelict
Stolac	43.081333, 17.954334	Mediterranean/Ostryo-Carpinion	<1	Partly derelict

Table 1. General data on surveyed fortresses (geographical position, ecological characteristics, disturbance level).

2.2. Indicator of permanent archaeophytization

$$IArp = Ar/(Sp + Mt) \times 100$$

3. Indicators of kenophytization.

3.1. Indicator of total kenophytization

$$IKnt = Kn/(Sp + An) \times 100$$

3.2. Indicator of permanent kenophytization

$$IKnp = Kn/(Sp + Mt) \times 100$$

4. Indicator of flora modernization

$$IM = (Kn/Mt) \times 100$$

5. Indicator of fluctuation changes

$$IF = Df/(Sp + An) \times 100$$

where An is number of alien species; Sp – number of native species; Mt – number of permanently established alien species (Ar + Kn – Df), Ar – number of archaeophytes, Kn – number of neophytes, Df – number of casual alien species.

The similarity of floral composition was calculated based on the Bray-Curtis cluster analysis using the PAST [44] and Principal Component Analysis (PCA) in SPSS Statistics 22 software.

3 Results and Discussion

A total of 714 vascular plant taxa belonging to 91 families were registered in eight surveyed fortresses. The number of species varied from 82 in Vranduk to 384 in Stolac (Appendix 1). This is similar to the number of species observed in similar habitats by other authors, which was between 59 in Elbasan fortress in Albania [19] and 418 in the ruins of Akrokorinthos Castle in Greece [2], but also to the number of species in walls – 288 in southern and western Moravia [45].

Families with highest number of species in the flora of Blagaj and Ljubuški are *Compositae*, *Poaceae* and *Brassicaceae*. In floras of Počitelj, Stolac, Sarajevo and Banja Luka, *Brassicaceae* are replaced by *Fabaceae*, and in Srebrenik by *Lamiaceae*. *Compositae* and *Poaceae* were among top four most dominant families in floras of walls and fortresses in Central Europe [1], East Bohemia [4], Bulgaria [17], Albania [16], Turkey [6, 46], Morocco [21] and Algeria [22]. However, in Vranduk, *Compositae* account only 2.44% of total flora, and the most numerous families are *Brassicaceae*, *Poaceae* and *Rosaceae* (Table 2). This can be explained by the fact that this fortress is located far from the urban area, as *Compositae* are more common in more urbanized areas, due to the fact that they are adapted to anthropogenic pressure [47].

	Blagaj	Ljubuški	Počitelj	Stolac	Sarajevo	Banja Luka	Srebrenik	Vranduk
Compositae	12.99	9.86	12.14	11.72	15.48	13.97	10.59	2.44
Poaceae	10.39	10.33	11.08	10.68	12.55	10.04	10.59	9.76
Brassicaceae	9.52	9.86	7.39	6.77	5.44	3.93	4.24	12.19
Lamiaceae	8.22	8.45	5.54	6.26	5.44	6.55	7.63	2.44
Caryophyllaceae	5.63	3.75	3.96	3.91	5.02	3.49	3.81	2.44
Fabaceae	5.63	6.57	8.18	8.33	7.53	8.73	5.93	3.66
Apiaceae	2.16	4.22	3.69	4.17	3.35	3.49	4.24	4.88
Rosaceae	1.29	2.35	2.37	2.34	5.44	4.8	5.93	9.76

Table 2. Most numerous families (%) in eight surveyed fortresses in Bosnia and Herzegovina.

Only ten taxa (Anagallis arvensis L., Asplenium ceterach L., Asplenium ruta-muraria L., Capsella bursa-pastoris (L.) Med., Draba verna L., Ochlopoa annua (L.) H. Scholz, Veronica persica Poir., Senecio vulgaris L., Hedera helix L. and Petrorhagia saxifraga (L.) Link) were found in all eight fortresses, and only one of them (Veronica persica) is a neophyte. Some of the typical plants of wall crevices (Cymbalaria muralis P. Gaertn, Mey. et Scherb and Parietaria judaica L.) were not found in all sites, but it is interesting to note that *Parietaria judaica* L. was replaced by *P. officinalis* L. in those fortresses which are surrounded by forest (Banja Luka, Srebrenik and Vranduk). It has been previously observed that a number of species considered to be regular elements of wall vegetation are not as common in walls in montane regions as they are in the lowlands [3]. Also, *P. judaica*, which is a typical wall-dwelling plant, was present on only 10% of walls in the sub-urban areas in Trabzon (Turkey) [46]. The average number of "unique" taxa (those found at only one of the surveyed fortresses) is 238, and varies from 3 (Ljubuški) to 59 (Srebrenik).

Therophytes and hemicryptophytes were the dominant life forms in flora of all surveyed fortresses (Fig. 2). They were also the most numerous in walls and fortresses in across Europe [1, 2, 4, 6, 7, 13, 15, 16, 20].



Fig. 2. Life spectrum (%) of flora of surveyed fortresses (Ch – chamaephytes, G – geophytes, H – hemicryptophytes, P – phanerophytes, T – therophytes)

Therophytes were especially numerous in sites under the influence of a slight Mediterranean climate, namely Ljubuški, Počitelj and Stolac. They were also the most numerous in floras in parts of Europe characterized by more xeric microclimatic conditions, in Greece [2, 7, 20] and Turkey [6]. Hemicryptophytes, on the other side, were the most numerous life form in central Europe: in several castle ruins across Germany [13], remains of West Slavic settlements [1], walls in East Bohemia [4] and Poland [15], but also in Bulgaria [16]. The share of phanerophytes, mostly seedlings, in the surveyed fortresses ranges from 7.39% in Počitelj to 17.07% in Vranduk. As expected, geophytes were the least dominant life form in all surveyed fortresses.

The share of endemic plant taxa in the total fortress flora is below 4%. Their number is higher in fortresses situated in the south (17 or 7.36% in Blagaj, 13 or 3.38% in Stolac and 6 or 2.82. in Ljubuški). This can be explained by the fact that the number of endemic

taxa in Bosnia and Herzegovina, as well as in the Balkan Peninsula, decreases from south towards the north, or more precisely, towards the periphery of the Balkan Peninsula and the Pannonian Plain [37, 48]. There was not a single endemic taxon at the Kastel fortress in Banja Luka, probably due to the fact that it is located in the very center of the urban area, and under strong anthropogenic pressure from visitors and regular maintenance.

Alien plants are represented by 65 taxa or about 9% of total fortress flora. The largest number of aliens were recorded it the fortress in Stolac and Počitelj (41, or slightly less than 11%), whereas the highest percentage (12.19%) was recorded in Vranduk Fortress. It can be explained by the small number of recorded taxa in the flora of this fortress, but also by the higher percentage of both invasive (6.1%) and casual (2.44%) alien species than in any other site. The smallest number of alien plants was recorded at the fortress in Ljubuški (only 4 species or less than 2%) which is explained by the fact that this fortress is situated on the hill outside the settlement and is not under strong anthropogenic influence. The percentage of alien plants in fortresses in Bosnia and Herzegovina is smaller than in fortresses and walls in central and northern Europe, where their share was more than 25% [9, 45]. The higher percentage of alien plants is also typical for the Mediterranean [8, 19]. These discrepancies can be explained by the methodological frame which is not completely clear-cut and different spectra of habitat types in fortress area are covered by certain census.

The analysis of chorological spectra (Fig. 3) shows the dominance of widespread plants and plants belonging to the Eurasian floral element in all surveyed sites. The fortresses situated in the central and northern part of the country were dominated by Eurasian (Sarajevo, Banja Luka) and European (Srebrenik) floral elements, and cultivated and adventitious plants (Vranduk). The Mediterranean floral element is was the most dominant in fortresses situated in the southern part of the country (Blagaj, Ljubuški, Počitelj and Stolac), as was the case in comparable habitat types in Greece [2, 7, 20] and Bulgaria [16].

The indicators of anthropogenic changes of flora are given in Table 3. As expected, the highest values of the indicators of anthropization (both total and permanent) were calculated for fortresses which are under the highest anthropogenic impact due to regular maintenance (Vranduk and Banja Luka), as well as in those that have the largest number of species (Počitelj and Stolac), and the lowest in Ljubuški and Blagaj. This is the result of a small share of neophytes (smaller than the share of archaeophytes) in these sites, as indicated by the indicators of kenophytization, which are very low in these sites (0.94 and 1.3, respectively). In all other sites, the indicators of archaeophytization were on average two times lower than indicators of kenophytization, indicating that their flora is more influenced by neophytes than by archaeophytes. The indicator of flora modernization (IM) was the highest in Banja Luka (88.23%), and lowest in Ljubuški (50%), which is also true for the indicator of fluctuation changes (2.62 in Banja Luka, and 0 in Ljubuški). The similar values of total and permanent values of indices indicate that alien flora is well established, with a small share of casual species. This is confirmed by the low value of the indicator of fluctuating changes. High indicator of modernization calculated for each site (from 50% in Ljubuški to 88.23% in Banja Luka) is in accordance with the high share of alien species, indicating the strong anthropogenic influence on the flora. The minimum values of the flora modernization index were calculated for the flora



Fig. 3. Spectrum of floral elements (%) of eight surveyed fortresses (MEDI – Mediterranean floral element, ILBA – Illyrian-Balkan floral element, SOEU – South European floral element, EEUP – East European-Pontic floral element, SEEU – Southeast European floral element, CEEU – Central European floral element, EURO – European floral element, EUAS – Eurasian floral element, CIHO – Circum-Holartic floral element, WISP – widespread plants, CUAD – cultivated and adventitious plants).

of fortresses situated in areas dominated by arable land (Blagaj, Ljubuški) and forest (Srebrenik).

	Blagaj	Ljubuški	Počitelj	Stolac	Sarajevo	Banja Luka	Srebrenik	Vranduk
IAnt	3.03	1.88	10.82	10.68	7.53	10.04	5.08	12.19
IAnp	2.18	1.88	8.89	9.02	6.35	7.62	4.27	10
IArt	1.73	0.94	3.43	3.64	2.09	3.49	2.12	4.88
IArp	1.75	0.94	3.5	3.71	2.12	3.59	2.14	5
IKnt	1.3	0.94	7.39	7.03	5.44	6.55	2.97	7.32
IKnp	1.31	0.94	7.55	7.16	5.51	6.73	2.99	7.5
IM	60	50	84.85	79.41	86.67	88.23	70	75
IF	0.86	0	2.11	1.82	1.25	2.62	0.85	2.44

Table 3. Indicators of anthropogenic changes in flora of eight surveyed fortresses

The analysis of the ecological preferences of the flora [34] showed no major differences in preference for light intensity between the analyzed localities. The same applies to temperature and soil acidity. As for humidity, slightly higher values were determined for fortresses situated in Continental (Banja Luka and Srebrenik) and Alpine (Sarajevo and Vranduk) biogeographical regions than in those situated in the Mediterranean region. The biggest difference between the localities was recorded in relation to nutrients: higher values were recorded for fortresses in the northern part of the country (Banja Luka, Sarajevo, Srebrenik and Vranduk), and lower in ones situated in the south (Blagaj, Ljubuški, Počitelj and Stolac).

Analysis of the studied locations by Principal Components Analysis (PCA) explained 92.17% of variation and indicated grouping among both environmental factors and studied sites. PCA was made on the basis of environmental characteristics of individual plant species found on each studied site. Calculations were done on the basis of eigenvalues and covariance matrix, hence the analysis was directed towards correlation among locations along principal components and among studied environmental factors.

First principal component (75.35% of explained variation) is predominantly influenced in positive direction by humidity, nitrogen content and soil reaction, while in negative direction it was light and temperature. Second principal component (16.82% of variation) is predominantly defined by continentality in positive direction (Fig. 4).



Fig. 4. Principal Components Analysis of surveyed sites with ecological preferences of the taxa towards the environmental factors

The sites are grouped based on the values of ecological indices, but the grouping also reflects their geographical distribution. Group 1 consists of Počitelj, Ljubuški, Stolac and Blagaj, which are highly marked in light and temperature indicator species, while poor in nitrogen and humidity. Group 2 is consisted of Vranduk and Sarajevo, which are less marked by light and temperature, and higher with nitrogen and humidity indicator species. Group 3 is also lower in temperature and light while higher in humidity and nitrogen, but generally lower in continentality in comparison to Group 2, which is on the same side of the figure.

The comparison of the flora composition (based on presence-absence data of complete lists of taxa), identified two broad groups of sites with different floristic assemblages (Fig. 5): one, located in the southern part of the country, in the Mediterranean biogeographical region (Blagaj, Ljubuški, Počitelj and Stolac) and another, situated in the other two regions (Sarajevo, Banja Luka and Srebrenik). Considering the fact that the cluster is made on the basis of total number of species, the dissimilarity of Vranduk in comparison to the other fortresses is expected.



Fig. 5. Dendrogram (Bray-Curtis cluster analysis) constructed according to list of plant taxa identified at the fortresses (similarity ratio, absence-presence data).

It is evident that grouping of fortresses which was made in accordance with environmental factors (PCA) and another one by sole species abundance (Cluster Analysis) is closely matched. This clearly indicates major significance of environmental factors in general floral composition in studied fortresses.

4 Conclusions

Despite many common features, the flora composition of surveyed fortresses varies significantly, mainly as a result of their geographical location, local environmental factors as well as the intensity of anthropogenic pressure. The main reason for the differences in floristic composition is the fact that share of species common to all sites was very low, and a presence of numerous unique species. The floristic similarity among individual fortresses is a consequence of their biogeographical position. In that sense, the flora of the fortresses that belong to the Mediterranean region differs from the ones located elsewhere. The values of the indicators of anthropization and modernization, based on the share of alien species, are in line with urbanization and maintenance degree, and the anthropogenic factor also influenced the higher percentage of therophytes and widespread plants. Given the fact that the fortresses play a significant role as a habitat for native species as well as archaeophytes, the future research may assess the conservation potential of these semi-natural habitats.

References

- Celka, Z.: Relics of cultivation in the vascular flora of medieval West Slavic settlements and castles. Biodiv. Res. Conserv. 22, 1–110 (2011)
- Iatrou, G., Trigas, P., Pettas, N.: The vascular flora of Akrokorinthos Castle and its surrounding area (NE Peloponnese, Greece). Phytol. Balc. 13(1), 83–93 (2007)
- 3. Segal, S:. Ecological notes on wall vegetation. Dr. W. Junk N.V, The Hague, Netherlands (1969)
- Duchoslav, M.: Flora and vegetation of stony walls in East Bohemia (Czech Republic). Preslia 74, 1–25 (2002)
- Lososová, Z., Lanikova, D.: Differences in trait compositions between rocky natural and artificial habitats. J. Veg. Sci. 21, 520–530 (2010)
- Altay, V., Ozyigit, I.I., Yarci, C.: Urban ecological characteristics and vascular wall flora on the Anatolian side of Istanbul, Turkey. Maejo Int. J. Sci. Tech. 4(3), 483–495 (2010)
- Lagiou, E., Krigas, N., Hanlidou, E., Kokkini, S.: The vascular flora of the walls of Thessaloniki (N Greece). In: Tsekos, I., Moustakas, M. (eds.) Progress in Botanical Research, pp. 81–84. Springer, Dordrecht (1998)
- Lisci, M., Pacini, E.: Plants growing on the walls of Italian towns. Sites and distribution. Phyton – Ann. Rei Bot. a 33(1), 15–26 (1993)
- Láníková, D., Lososová, Z.: Rocks and walls: natural versus secondary habitats. Folia Geobot. 44, 263–280 (2009)
- 10. Sukopp, H.: On the early history of urban ecology in Europe. Preslia 74, 373-393 (2002)
- 11. Janssen, A.: Flora und Vegetation der Ruine Stollberg/Steigerwald anthropogene Veränderung des Wuchspotentials. Tuexenia **10**, 385–400 (1990)
- Brandes, D.: Zur Flora der Burgen im nördlichen Harzvorland. Braunschw. Naturkdl. Schr. 2(4), 797–801 (1987)
- 13. Brandes, D.: Flora und Vegetation von Stadtmauern. Tuexenia 12, 315-339 (1992)
- Brandes, D.: Burgruinen als Habitatinseln. Ihre Flora und Vegetation sowie die Bedeutung f
 ür Sukzessionsforschung und Naturschutz dargestellt unter besonderer Ber
 ücksichtigung der Burgruinen des Harzgebietes. Braunschw. Naturkdl. Schr. 5(1), 125–163 (1996)
- Boratynski, A., Ratynska, C., Waldon, B., Bartczak, A.: Flora and vegetation of walls in the town of Krosno Odrzanskie (Poland). Collect. Bot. (Barcelona) 26, 129–139 (2003)

- Pavlova, D., Tonkov, S.: The wall flora of the Nebet Tepe Architectural Reserve in the city of Plovdiv (Bulgaria). Acta Bot. Croat. 64, 357–368 (2005)
- Nedelcheva, A., Vasileva, A.: Vascular Plants from the Old Walls in Kystendil (Southwestern Bulgaria). Biotechnol. Biotechnol. Equip. 23(2), 154–157 (2009)
- Nedelcheva, A.: Observations on the wall flora of Kyustendil (Bulgaria). EurAsian J. Biosci. 5, 80–90 (2011)
- Gjeta, E., Titus, J., Titus, P.: Plant species occupy different habitats on the fortress walls in Elbasan, Albania. Hacquetia 20(1), 81–90 (2021)
- Krigas, N., Lagiou, E., Hanlidou, E., Kokkini, S.: The vascular flora of the Byzantine Walls of Thessaloniki (N Greece). Willdenowia 29, 77–94 (1999)
- Dabghi, A., Achoual, K., Benharbit, M., Magri, N., Belahbib, N., Dahmani, J.: Contribution to the study of the vascular flora of the archaeological site of Volubilis (Morocco). Plant Arch. 20(2), 7519–7527 (2020)
- 22. Jourdan, P.: Flore murale de la ville de Tlemcen (Prov. d'Oran). Alger. 38 S. (1866)
- Maslo, S., Abadžić, S.: Vascular flora of the town of Blagaj (South Bosnia and Herzegovina). Nat. Croat. 24(1), 59–92 (2015)
- Maslo, S., Boškailo, A.: Vascular flora of the old town of Počitelj and its surrounding area (South Bosnia and Herzegovina). Glasnik Zemaljskog muzeja Bosne i Hercegovine (PN) NS 37, 19–46 (2017)
- Sarajlić, N., Zukić, M., Šarić, Š.: Vaskularna flora Starog grada Srebrenika. Radovi Poljoprivredno-prehrambenog fakulteta Univerziteta u Sarajevu 71(1), 9–20 (2021)
- Horvatić, S.: Fitogeografske značajke i raščlanjenje Jugoslavije. In: Horvatić, S. (ed.) Analitička flora Jugoslavije I/1, pp. 23–61. Institut za botaniku Sveučilišta u Zagrebu, Zagreb (1967)
- European Environmental Agency: Biogeographical regions in Europe. https://www.eea.europa.eu/data-and-maps/figures/biogeographical-regions-in-europe-2 (2016). Last accessed 15 Mar 2022
- 28. Domac, R.: Mala flora Hrvatske i susjednih područja. Školska knjiga, Zagreb (1984)
- 29. Javorka, S., Csápody, V.: Iconographia Florae Partis Austro-Orientalis Europae Centralis. G. Fisher, Stuttgart (1979)
- Rottensteiner, W.K.: Exkursionsflora f
 ür Istrien. Naturwissenschaftlicher Verein f
 ür K
 ärnten, Klagenfurt (2014)
- 31. Euro+Med: Euro+Med PlantBase the information resource for Euro-Mediterranean plant diversity. http://ww2.bgbm.org/EuroPlusMed/ (2006). last accessed 15 Mar 2022
- 32. World Flora Online: http://www.worldfloraonline.org. Last accessed 24 Mar 2022
- 33. Pignatti, S.: Flora d'Italia (3 volumes). Edagricole, Bologna (1982)
- 34. Pignatti, S., Menegoni, P., Pietrosanti, S.: Valori di biondicazione delle piante vascolari della flora d'Italia, p. 97. Braun-Blanquetia, Università degli studi di Camerino (2005)
- Raunkiaer, C.: The Life Forms of Plants and Statistical Plant Geography. Clarendon Press, Oxford, UK: 1–35 (1934)
- Horvatić, S., Ilijanić, L., Marković, L.: Biljni pokrov okoline Senja, Senjski zbornik 3, Gradski muzej Senj, pp. 297–323 (1967/68)
- Lubarda, B., Stupar, V., Milanović, D, Stevanović, V.: Chorological characterization and distribution of the Balkan endemic vascular flora in Bosnia and Herzegovina. Bot. Serbica. 38(1), 167–184 (2014)
- Maslo, S.: Preliminary list of invasive alien plant species (IAS) in Bosnia and Herzegovina. Herbologia 16(1), 1–14 (2016)
- Nikolić, T. (ed.) onward (continuously updated): Flora Croatica Database, http://hirc.botanic. hr/fcd (2004). Last accessed 21 Jan 2022
- 40. Pyšek, P., et al.: Catalogue of alien plants of the Czech Republic (2nd edition): checklist update, taxonomic diversity and invasion patterns. Preslia **84**, 155–255 (2012)

- Richardson, D.M., Pyšek, P., Rejmánek, M., Barbour, M.G., Panetta, F.D., West, C.J.: Naturalization and invasion of alien plants: concepts and definitions. Divers. Distrib. 6, 93–107 (2000)
- Ellenberg, H.: Zeigerwerte der Gefäßpflanzen Mitteleuropas. 2, 122 pp. Aufl. Scripta Geobotanica IX (1979)
- 43. Jackowiak, B.: Methodological proposals for studies on the structure and dynamics of urban flora. Pol. Bot. Stud. **22**, 251–260 (2006)
- 44. Hammer, Ø., Harper, D.A.T., Ryan, P.D.: PAST: Paleontological Statistics Software Package for Education and Data Analysis. Palaeontologia Electronica **4**, 9 (2001)
- Simonová, D.: Allien species on walls in Southern and Western Moravia. In: Tokarska-Guzik, B., Brock, J.H., Brundu, G., Child, L., Daehler, C.C., Pyšek, P. (eds.) Plant Invasions: Human Perception, Ecological Impacts and Management, pp. 317–332. Backhuys Publishers, Leiden (2005)
- Yalcinalp, E., Meral, A.: Wall vegetation characteristics of urban and sub-urban areas. Sustainability 9, 1–15 (2017)
- Kowarik, I.: On the role of alien species in urban flora and vegetation. In: Pyšek, P., Prach, K., Rejmánek, M., Wade, M. (eds.) Plant invasions: general aspects and special problems, pp. 85–103. SPB Academic Publishing, Amsterdam (1995)
- Stevanović, V., Tan, K., Petrova, A.: Mapping the endemic flora of the Balkans a progress report. Bocconea 21, 131–137 (2007)



Soil Pollution by Heavy Metals Near the Lukavac Coke Factory and Models of Its Protection and Remediation

Hamdija Čivić¹(⊠), Emina Sijahović¹, Senad Murtić¹, and Nermina Sarajlić²

¹ University of Sarajevo-Faculty of Agriculture and Food Sciences, Zmaja Od Bosne 8, 71000 Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina h.civic@ppf.unsa.ba

² Faculty of Natural Sciences and Mathematics, University of Niš, Višegradska 33, 18000 Niš, Serbia

Abstract. Soil represents a limited and invaluable natural resource that has multiple functions: production, ecological (biotope, transformation, regulatory), filtration-buffering, and provision of raw construction materials. However, industrial, technical-technological development and certain activities that humans carry out today causes numerous forms of soil degradation, including pollution and contamination of the soil with agrochemicals and heavy metals.

Bearing in mind the mentioned functions and importance of soil on the one hand and human activities that can lead to different forms of soil degradation on the other hand, the need to preserve land from degradation processes has taken on a global character.

The aim of this work was to determine the level of contamination of agricultural soils with heavy metals in the narrow zone of the coke industry in Lukavac, (44°49′23"N, 18°41′21"E). After that, in accordance with the obtained results, appropriate remedial measures are taken on the contaminated soils in order to reduce the degree of their contamination.

The results of the research showed that according to the classification of soil contamination with heavy metals, the soil in the vicinity of the Lukavac coke industry is classified as class III. It means that this soil is characterized by a high degree of contamination with heavy metals, but it can be used for growing agricultural crops, with implementation of certain protection measures.

For the purpose of chemical stabilization of heavy metals in this soil and their reduced accessibility for plants, natural aluminosilicate materials zeolite and pyrophyllite were used in this experiment. Research has shown that pyrophyllite had a significant impact on reducing the content of accessible forms of zinc (Zn), cobalt (Co) and manganese (Mn).

Keywords: soil · heavy metals · pollution · contamination · zeolite · pyrophyllite

1 Introduction

Any economic development, especially the one accompanied by the construction of industrial plants, inevitably leads to an increase in the standard of living, but at the same time it leads to an increase in pollution of the land with toxic substances. Through his

reckless use of soil, the man has brought a large part of the land into a state of high pollution. From numerous pollutants that reach the soil due to human activity, heavy metals represent a significant problem due to their toxic effect on the environment, growth, development and quality of plants. As a result of these circumstances it is possible for humans to develop various diseases in case of exposure to harmful concentrations of heavy metals in the environment (Bates et al., 1995; Vratuša, 1999; Blake & Goulding, 2002; He Z.L. et al., 2005).

Taking into account the aforementioned facts, the preservation of fertile and remediation of agricultural land contaminated with heavy metals is simply imposed as a necessity if one wants to protect land as a primary resource for food production (Jakovljević & Antić-Mladenović, 2000; Malhotra et al., 2014). This need is particularly pronounced in the industrial areas of the Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina (FBiH), where the possibility of soil contamination with heavy metals is extremely high (Pranjić, 2017). During 2019, the Faculty of Agriculture and Food implemented a project called "Models of protection and remediation of land contaminated with heavy metals in industrial areas of the Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina", commissioned by the FBiH Environmental Protection Fund. This paper represents part of the results from the mentioned project which are related to the land in the vicinity of the Lukavac coke industry in the Tuzla Canton. The goal of these studies was to determine the degree of soil contamination with heavy metals in the soils in the immediate vicinity of the Lukavac coke industry. Then, on the land found to be the most polluted or contaminated with heavy metals, appropriate remedial measures were implemented with the intention of bringing the content of heavy metals to a level that does not pose a danger to the environment and human health. Through these researches, we tried to confirm the possibility and effectiveness of applying the chemical model of remediation through the use of natural aluminosilicates, zeolite and pyrophyllite. We also tested the effects of using the phytoremediation model through sowing and the cultivation of corn plants on polluted soils.

Previous research shows that the effectiveness of pyrophyllite in the immobilization of heavy metals in the soil depends on the properties of the soil, the pH reaction and the distribution coefficient of heavy metal ions in the soil. Although numerous studies confirm that pyrophyllite has a high efficiency in removing heavy metals from soil and water (Keren and Sparks, 1994; Saxena et al., 2001; Gücek et al., 2005; Kulović, 2017; Halilović, 2018; Panda et al., 2018), the binding mechanisms of heavy metals on pyrophile have not been scientifically fully explained. In the research conducted by Murtić et al. (2019) the use of pyrophyllite showed a significant effect in reducing the mobility of lead and cadmium in the soil. The aluminosilicate mineral zeolite shows similar properties and effects.

2 Material and Method

In the spring of 2019, in the vicinity of the Lukavac coke industry, average soil samples were first taken from three plots of land with an area of 1000 m^2 , with the aim of determining the content of heavy metals. Only the plots that are used or can potentially be used for the purpose of agricultural production, which had no major slopes and/or depressions, were selected. On those plots the application of remedial measures is easily feasible.

Analysis of total and accessible forms of heavy metals (Cd, Cr, Pb, Zn, Cu, Mn, Fe, Ni) was performed on average soil samples in the laboratory of the Faculty of Agriculture and Food, University of Sarajevo. Also, within the framework of these studies, the type of land and the basic parameters of fertility were determined (pH, humus content, carbonate content, and the content of accessible forms of phosphorus and potassium). The plot of land, which was determined to have a higher content of certain heavy metals according to the current legislation in the Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina, was taken into the further focus of the work. Appropriate remediation measures were carried out, such as chemical stabilization of the land using aluminosilicate minerals and phytoextraction/ phytoaccumulation.

The first action during the process of chemical stabilization of contaminated soil using aluminosilicate materials (zeolite and pyrophyllite) involved the agrotechnical measure of plowing and harrowing and then setting up a trial using the method of random block arrangement with 7 variants in 3 repetitions. The variants of the experiment were as follows:

- 1. Variant (control; without addition of pyrophyllite and zeolite).
- 2. Variant (application of 200 kg/ha of 0-3 mm granulation zeolite).
- 3. Variant (application of 400 kg/ha of 0–3 mm granulation zeolite).
- 4. Variant (application of 600 kg (ha) of 0-3 mm granulation zeolite).
- 5. Variant (application of 200 kg/ha of pyrophyllite with a granulation of 0-3 mm).
- 6. Variant (application of 400 kg/ha of pyrophyllite with a granulation of 0-3 mm).
- 7. Variant (application of 600 kg/ha of pyrophyllite with a granulation of 0-3 mm).

The sample plots had an area of 50 m^2 , with a 2 m wide distance between all plots to avoid the influence of one variant on another. Seven days after setting up the experiment, corn was sown on the tested plots, with the aim of determining whether the application of aluminosilicate materials had an effect on the reduced uptake of heavy metals by the tested plant. At the moment of technological maturity of the corn, sampling of plant material and soil was carried out on the experimental plots. The content of heavy metals was tested in the plant material (leaf), and the content of accessible forms of heavy metals in the soil.

2.1 Properties of Pyrophyllite

Pyrophyllite is a natural mineral from the group of aluminosilicates with the chemical formula $Al_2[Si_4O_{10}](OH)_2$. It got its name from the Greek words pyr - fire and philon - leaf, because it spreads in fan-shaped manner when heated. It is characterized by the following properties: hardness is between 1 and 1.5 on the Mohs scale, density between 2.7 and 2.9 g/cm³, hydrophobic, insoluble in water and does not swell, alkaline reactions (pH between 7.5 and 7.8 (Hasanbegović et al., 2020). It has a very high effective cation exchange capacity, between 50 and 70 meq/100 g. It is soft to the touch, visually very similar to talc, and its color varies depending on the proportion of oxides and other components in the pyrophyllite ore, but as a rule it is white to gray white color.

The pyrophyllite material used in this research was created by crushing and sieving pyrophyllite ore from the Parsovići - Konjic site, Bosnia and Herzegovina. Except for silicon dioxide (SiO2) and aluminum oxide (Al2O3), which together make up 80 to 90%
of the chemical composition of pyrophyllite, it also contains various other impurities that can greatly affect its properties, especially the effective cation exchange capacity. The chemical analysis of the prifofilt material used in this research was done in the laboratory of the Faculty of Agriculture and Food Sciences, University of Sarajevo, and the obtained results are presented in Table 1.

Tested parameter	Unit	Value
рН (H ₂ O)	pН	8.5
pH (KCl)	pН	8.1
SiO ₂	%	67.55
Al ₂ O ₃	%	19.10
Ca	%	3.65
К	%	0.023
Mg	%	0.135
Fe	%	0.337
Cu	mg/kg	1.40
Ni	mg/kg	2.74
Zn	mg/kg	25.68
Со	mg/kg	0.40
Mn	mg/kg	93.14
Cd	mg/kg	n.d.*
Pb	mg/kg	7.97
Cr	mg/kg	0.76

Table 1. Chemical analysis of pyrophyllite used in this research

* n.d. - not detected (below the detection limit of the instrument)

The results from Table 1 show that the pyrophyllite used in this research does not deviate significantly from the basic chemical characteristics of pyrophyllite ores, except for the fact that it contains a relatively high proportion of calcium and magnesium. It can be assumed that the pyrophyllite ore from the Parsovići - Konjic site contains a certain amount of dolomite or some other natural material rich in the mentioned elements. A positive characteristic of the pyrophyllite material used in this research is the fact that it contains very low concentrations of toxic heavy metals, which makes it environmentally acceptable for use in remedial purposes.

2.2 Properties of Zeolite

Zeolite is a hydrated aluminosilicate material created by mixing volcanic lava with alkaline groundwater. Its structure is latticed, composed mostly of SiO44- and AlO45-

tetrahedra connected by common oxygen atoms. It contains both monovalent and divalent cations (Na+, K+, Ca2+) and certain amounts of water.

The zeolite used in this research was created by crushing and sieving zeolite ore from the Slanci - Veliko Selo site near Belgrade, Serbia. The basic characteristic of the zeolite used is a high cation exchange capacity (above 180 meq/100 g), which enables it to attract and bind to its structure, as well as exchange positively and negatively charged particles, i.e. cations and anions.

The complete chemical analysis of the used zeolite is shown in Table 2 (results taken from the website of the zeolite manufacturer https://zeolit.rs/).

Tested parameter	Unit	Value
pH (H ₂ O)	рН	8.3
pH (KCl)	рН	7.4
SiO ₂	%	64.55
Al2O3	%	14.49
CaO	%	4.9
K ₂ O	%	1.04
MgO	%	0.88
Fe ₂ O ₃	%	2.3
Cu (bakar)	mg/kg	6.2
Ni (nikal)	mg/kg	21.0
Zn (cink)	mg/kg	42.0
Co (kobalt)	mg/kg	28.0
Cd (kadmij)	mg/kg	3.0
Pb (olovo)	mg/kg	35.0
Cr (hrom)	mg/kg	5.8

Table 2. Chemical analysis of the zeolite used in this research

The work methods used in this research were as follows:

- a pH meter (ISO 10390, 1994) was used to determine the pH value of the soil,
- humus content in soil samples was determined by the dichromate method (ISO 14235, 1994),
- the content of easily accessible forms of potassium and phosphorus in soil samples was determined by the ammonium lactate (AL) method (Egner et al., 1960),
- the extraction of the total forms of heavy metals from the soil was done with the use of gold dust (a mixture of nitric and hydrochloric acid in a ratio of 1:3) according to the ISO 11466 (1998) method,
- the extraction of accessible forms of heavy metals from the soil was done using the so-called EDTA-solutions (a mixture of 1 M (NH4)2CO3 and 0.01 M EDTA

(ethylene-diamino-tetraacetic acid) where the pH of the solution was adjusted to 8.6 using HCl or NH4OH),

- the extraction of heavy metals from plant material was done with the use of nitric and sulfuric acid (in a ratio of 2.5:1) according to the method specified in the practicum of Lisjak et al. (2009),
- the determination of the content of heavy metals in plant material samples, and the content of total and accessible forms of heavy metals in soil samples was performed using the method of flame atomic absorption spectrophotometry on a Shimadzu 7000 AA apparatus (ISO 11047, 1998).

For the interpretation of the results related to the content of heavy metals in the soil, the Rulebook on determination of permitted amounts of harmful and dangerous substances in the soil for the FBiH (Official Gazette of the FBiH, 72/09) and the classification of soil pollution according to Bašić (1994) were used. Within the framework of the classification of land pollution according to Bašić, land is ranked in several classes, depending on the degree of land pollution with heavy metals (So).

The degree of soil contamination (So) is determined from the ratio of the determined soil contamination with a particular heavy metal to the limit value for the specified heavy metal.

So = content in soil (mg/kg) / limit value.

3 Results and Discussion

A large number of industrial facilities are located in the area of the Lukavac municipality within a distance of a few kilometers, some of which, such as coke ovens and soda factories, are major polluters of the environment. Accordingly, the development of agricultural production in the mentioned area is very questionable, especially on lands located along the Spreča river, into which waste water from various industrial plants flows, not only from the area of the Lukavac municipality, but also from the Tuzla canton as a whole.

The experimental plot was located in the immediate vicinity of the Lukavac coking plant. The type of soil on the mentioned plot is humofluvisol fluvial, meadow - brown non-carbonate clay soil.

After the analysis of the average soil sample from the said plot, the content of heavy metals was determined, which is shown in Table 3.

No			Content of I	heavy me				
	Cu	Zn	Mn	Cd	Pb	Ni	Cr	Co
1	13.3	41.93	249.29	n.d	16.50	54.31	69.91	9.03

Table 3. Results of the analysis of the content of heavy metals in the tested soils

Before carrying out the process of chemical stabilization of the tested land, the degree of its contamination with heavy metals was determined based on the ratio of the

determined contamination of the soil with an individual heavy metal to the limit value for the specified heavy metal (So), i.e. based on the classification of soil contamination (Bašić, 1994). The threshold values needed to calculate the So factor are taken from the Rulebook on determining the permitted amounts of harmful and dangerous substances in soil for FBiH. According to the obtained results, the examined land is classified in the III class of land pollution, i.e. in the land of heavy pollution with heavy metals (the land belonging to this class can be used for growing plants, but enhanced protection measures are required).

As part of determining the fertility of the tested soil, the values of the following parameters were determined: humus content, carbonate content, content of accessible forms of phosphorus and potassium, and the pH value of the tested soil. The obtained values for selected soil fertility parameters are shown in Table 4.

Tested parameter	Unit	Value	Soil characteristics on basis of measured values
pH (H ₂ O) pH (KCl)	-	4.8	acidic reaction
	-	3.9	
Humus	%	2.5	moderately humous
Phosphorus (P ₂ O ₅)	${ m mg}\;100{ m g}^{-1}$	12.6	medium
Potasium (K ₂ O)	${ m mg}\;100{ m g}^{-1}$	14.6	medium
Carbonates	%	0	-

Table 4. Presentation of the results obtained from the chemical analysis of the tested soil

The results of the analysis showed that the tested soil is extremely acidic with a moderate content of organic matter. The content of accessible forms of phosphorus and potassium in the examined soil was at a medium level, and the content of carbonates was not determined.

The average contents of accessible forms of heavy metals in the examined soil (mg/kg soil), depending on the treatment with aluminosilicate materials, are shown in Table 5.

From the results shown in Table 5, it can be seen that the content of accessible forms of Cd and Pb was not determined in any of the examined plots of land. It can also be seen that the content of accessible forms of all other tested heavy metals in the soil, with the exception of Cr, was always lower in the variants where the soil was treated with aluminosilicate materials. With the aim of determining whether the mentioned influence of pyrophyllite and zeolite on reducing the accessibility of heavy metals in the investigated soil located near the coke plant in Lukavac was statistically significant, an analysis of variance (F test) was carried out, as well as testing the significance of the differences between the environments for the content of those heavy metals in which F test proved significant.

The results of the analysis of variance showed that the influence of pyrophyllite and zeolite on reducing the availability of Cu, Pb and Cr in the tested soil near the Lukavac coking plant was not statistically significant. Likewise, zeolite did not show a statistically

Variant*	Conter	nt of accessib	ole forms of	heavy me	tals in s	oil (mg/	kg soil)	
	Cu	Zn	Mn	Cd	Pb	Ni	Cr	Со
V ₁ (control)	1.6	0.53 ^a	10.14 ^a	n.d.**	n.d	9.53	0.27	0.042 ^a
V ₂ (Z200)	1.59	0.52 ^{ab}	9.65 ^{ab}	n.d	n.d	8.88	0.27	0.031 ^{abc}
V ₃ (Z400)	1.47	0.52 ^{abcd}	7.13 ^{abc}	n.d	n.d	8.14	0.27	0.027 ^{bc}
V ₄ (Z600)	1.48	0.52 ^{abc}	7.62 ^{abc}	n.d	n.d	8.63	0.29	0.038 ^{ab}
V ₅ (P200)	1.46	0.42 ^e	5.60 ^c	n.d	n.d	8.1	0.28	0.000 ^d
V ₆ (P400)	1.53	0.43 ^e	6.05 ^{bc}	n.d	n.d	8.7	0.28	0.021 ^c
V7 (P600)	1.54	0.46 ^{bcde}	7.57 ^{abc}	n.d	n.d	8.98	0.26	0.023 ^c
LSD _{0.05}	-	0.069	3.61	-	-	-	-	0.014

Table 5. Results of testing the significance of the differences of the environments for the content of accessible forms of heavy metals in the soil, near the coke oven in Lukavac.

^{*} V1 - Control (untreated variant); V2 - Zeolite 200 kg/ha; V3 - Zeolite 400 kg/ha; V4 - Zeolite 600 kg/ha; V5 - Pyrophyllite 200 kg/ha; V6 - Pyrophyllite 400 kg/ha; V7 - Pyrophyllite 600 kg/ha ** (not detected: below device detection level)

significant effect on the reduction of Zn and Mn availability in the tested soil. The only element whose accessibility in the soil is reduced by the application of zeolite is Co, and only when zeolite was applied in a dose of 400 kg/ha.

The use of pyrophyllite, in contrast to zeolite, had a statistically significant effect on reducing the content of accessible forms of Zn and Co in the tested soil, regardless of the applied dose. Varieties of 200 kg/ha and 400 kg/ha of pyrophyllite had a positive effect on the reduction of Mn availability as well.

The average content of the tested heavy metals in the leaves of corn (mg/kg dry matter) grown on the tested soil, depending on the treatment of the soil with aluminosilicate materials, are shown in Table 6.

The content of Cd and Pb was not determined in any sample of corn leaves, regardless of the land plot from which they were collected. When it comes to other elements, it can be seen from the Table 6 that the content of Zn, Mn and Ni in corn leaves was always lower in leaves taken from plots that were previously treated with aluminosilicates, regardless of their type or application dose. This sequence of results was not fully confirmed when the subject of the test was the content of Cu and Cr in corn leaves.

With the aim of determining whether the differences in the content of heavy metals in corn leaves between the tested varieties were significant, the F test was performed, and the significance testing of the differences between the means for the content of those heavy metals in which the F test proved to be significant. The obtained results are also shown in Table 6.

The content of Cd and Pb was not determined in the leaves of corn, which was expected if we take into account the fact that in the land where corn was grown, the content of accessible forms of the mentioned elements was not determined either.

The used aluminosilicate zeolite did not show a statistically significant effect on the reduction of the content of almost any tested element in corn leaves. The only exception

Variant [*]	Content o	Content of heavy metals in corn leaves (mg/kg dry matter)									
	Cu	Zn	Mn	Cd	Pb	Ni	Cr				
V ₁ (cont.)	7.18	14.53 ^a	29.06 ^a	n.d	n.d	1.77	0.45				
V ₂ (Z200)	7.29	13.63 ^{ab}	29.01 ^{ab}	n.d	n.d	1.63	0.46				
V ₃ (Z400)	6.82	13.26 ^{bc}	26.31 ^c	n.d	n.d	1.56	0.47				
V ₄ (Z600)	6.12	12.12 ^{cd}	26.58 ^{bc}	n.d	n.d	1.47	0.36				
V ₅ (P200)	6.09	11.49 ^{de}	27.48 ^{abc}	n.d	n.d	1.51	0.47				
V ₆ (P400)	6.11	11.27 ^{de}	26.20 ^c	n.d	n.d	1.56	0.43				
V7 (P600)	6.17	10.21 ^e	23.20 ^d	n.d	n.d	1.62	0.43				
LSD _{0.05}	-	1.184		-	-	-	-				

Table 6. Results of testing the significance of the differences between the environments for the content of heavy metals in the leaves of corn grown on the tested soil located near the Lukavac coking plant.

^{*} V1 - Control (untreated variant); V2 - Zeolite 200 kg/ha; V3 - Zeolite 400 kg/ha; V4 - Zeolite 600 kg/ha; V5 - Pyrophyllite 200 kg/ha; V6 - Pyrophyllite 400 kg/ha; V7 - Pyrophyllite 600 kg/ha

is the content of Zn in the leaves of corn applied at a dose of 400 kg/ha and 600 kg/ha and Mn at a dose of 400 kg/ha, compared to the control variant. Pyrophyllite, regardless of the application dose, showed a statistically significant effect on the reduced Zn content in corn leaves when compared to the control, untreated variant. A statistically significant effect of pyrophyllite in doses of 400 and 600 kg/ha on the reduced Mn content in corn leaves was also recorded.

4 Conclusion

- According to the classification of land contamination with heavy metals, the tested soil in the vicinity of the Lukavac coke plant belongs to the III class of land (So from 0.5–1), which means that agricultural production is allowed on the mentioned soil, but with enhanced protection measures.
- Soil treatment with zeolite and pyrophyllite did not have a statistically significant effect on reducing the accessibility of Cu, Ni, and Cr, regardless of the applied amount of these aluminosilicates.
- Soil treatment with zeolite only showed a statistically significant effect on reducing the content of the accessible form of Co compared to the control variant, but only at the application dose of 400 kg/ha
- Soil treatment with pyrophyllite showed a statistically significant effect on reducing the availability of Zn, Mn and Co, regardless of the applied dose.
- In the conditions of the conducted experiment, the application of pyrophyllite at a dose of 200 kg/ha reduced the accessibility of Zn by 20.7% and Mn by 44.8% in the examined soil, the application of pyrophyllite at a dose of 400 kg/ha reduced the accessibility of Zn by 18.9% and Mn by 40.3%, and the application of pyrophyllite in a dose of 600 kg/ha reduced the availability of Zn by 13.2% and Mn by 25.3%.

- The application of zeolite affected the reduction of the accumulation of Zn and Mn content in corn leaves compared to the control variant and only if it was used in a dose of 400 kg/ha and 600 kg/ha.
- The treatment of soil with pyrophyllite, regardless of the applied dose, significantly reduced the accumulation of Zn in corn leaves when compared to the control (untreated) variant. The application of pyrophyllite also had an effect on the reduction of the accumulation of Mn content in corn leaves, and only if it was used in doses of 400 kg/ha and 600 kg/ha. When it comes to the accumulation of other examined heavy metals in corn leaves, the treatment of soil with pyrophyllite did not show its justification.

References

- Bašić, F.: Trajno motrenje tla u okviru RZ Alpe, Alpe-Jadran i Podunavlje. U Poljoprivreda i gospodarenje vodama - Priopćenja sa znanstvenog skupa. Bizovačke toplice. str. 153–178 (1994)
- Bates, M.N., Smith, A.H., Cantor, K.P.: Case-control study of bladder cancer and arsenic in drinking water. Am. J. Epidemiol. 141(6), 523–530 (1995)
- Blake, L., Goulding, K.W.T.: Effects of atmospheric deposition, soil pH and acidification on hevay metal contents in soils and vegetation of semi-natural ecosystems at Rothamsted Experimental Station, UK. Plant and Soil 240(2), 235–251 (2002)
- Bundesgesetzblatt Jahrgang: BbodSchV-Bundes-Bodenschutz-und Altlastenverodnung. Vom 12 (1999)
- He, Z.L., Yang, X.E., Stoffellab, P.J.: Trace elements in agroecosystems and impacts on the environment. J. Trace Elem. Med Biol. **19**, 125–140 (2005)
- Jakovljević, M., Antić-Mladenović, S.: Visoki sadržaji teških metala u zemljištima i njihova koncetracija u biljkama. Zbornik radova, Novi Sad: Ekološki pokret grada, 71–76 (2000)
- Malhotra, R., Agarwal, S., Gauba, P.: Phytoremediation of radioactive metals. J. Civil Eng. Env. Technol. 1(5), 75–79 (2014)
- Pranjić, N.: Oboljevanje i umiranje ljudi izloženih teškim metalima u neposrednoj blizini odlagališta šljake i pepela termoelektrane Tuzla. http://ekologija.ba/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/ (2017)
- Raskin, I., Smith, R.D., Salt, D.E.: Phytoremediation of metals using plants to remove pollutants from the environment. Curr. Opins. Biotech. 8, 221–226 (1997)
- Salt, D.E., Smith, R.D., Raskin, I.: Phytoremediation. Ann. Rev. Plant Physipol. Plant Mol. Biol. 49, 643–668 (1998)
- Službene novine F BiH: 'Pravilnik o utvrđivanju dozvoljenih količina štetnih i opasnih materija u zemljištu za F BiH', br. 72/09 (2009)
- Vratuša, V.: Istraživanja stepena zagađenosti zemljišta teškim metalima zelenih površina Beograda i okoline. Beograd: Šumarski fakultet, Doktorska disertacija (1999)
- Hasanbegović, E., Huremović, J., Žero, S.: Adsorption capacity of nitrate from artificial fertilizers and soil on pyrophyllite. Int. J. Environ. Sci. Technol. **18**(12), 3731–3738 (2021). https://doi. org/10.1007/s13762-021-03135-2
- Keren, R., Sparks, D.L.: Effect of pH and ionic strenght on boron adsorption by pyrophyllite. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 58(4), 1095–1100 (1994)
- Saxena, S., Prasad, M., Amritphale, S.S., Chandra, N.: Adsorption of cyanide from aqueous solutions at pyrophyllite surface. Sep. Purif. Technol. 24(1–2), 263–270 (2001). https://doi. org/10.1016/S1383-5866(01)00131-9

- Gücek, A., Şener, S., Bilgeb, S., Mazmanci, M.A.: Adsorption and kineticstudies of cationic and anionic dyes on pyrophyllite from aqueous solutions. J. Colloid Interface Sci. 286(1), 53–60 (2005)
- Kulović, E.: Utvrđivanje kapaciteta adsorpcije teških metala iz otpadne vode na pirofilitu. Završni -magistarski rad. Univerzitet u Sarajevu, Prirodno-matematički fakultet (2017)
- Halilović N.: Optimizacija procesa adsorpcije teških metala iz otpadne vode na pirofilitu. Završni rad. Univerziet u Sarajevu, Prirodno-matematički fakultet (2018)
- Panda, L., Rath, S.S., Rao, D.S., Nayak, B.B., Das, B., Misra, P.: Thorough understanding of the kinetics and mechanism of heavy metal adsorption onto a pyrophyllite mine waste based geopolymer. J. Mol. Liq. 263, 428–441 (2018)
- Murtić, S., Čivić, H., Sijahović, E., Koleška, I., Jurković, J., Tvica, M.: Use of pyrophyllite to reduce heavy metals mobility in a soil environment. Agron. Res. **18**(X), 194–202 (2019)



Effectiveness of Chlorantraniliprole, Methoxyfenozide and Emamectin Benzoate Insecticides in Controlling *Tuta Absoluta*

Sanel Haseljić¹(⊠) , Snježana Hrnčić², Fejzo Bašić¹, Josip Jurković¹, and Siniša Mitrić³

¹ Faculty of Agriculture and Food Sciences, University of Sarajevo, Zmaja Od Bosne 8, 71 000 Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina

s.haseljic@ppf.unsa.ba

² Biotechnical Faculty, University of Montenegro, 81000 Pogorica, Montenegro

³ Faculty of Agriculture, University of Banja Luka, Banja Luka, Bosnia and Herzegovina

Abstract. *Tuta absoluta* is the most abundant pest of vegetable species from the Solanaceae family, which has been member of Bosnia and Herzegovina (B&H) entomofauna since 2010. It is widespread in the protected production spaces of the Mediterranean and continental areas of B&H, and has become a serious problem in tomato protection. According to the many studies frequent use of older generation insecticides has led to increased resistance of Tuta absoluta. Therefore, the aim of this work was to investigate the effectiveness of the newer insectides generation such as: Chlorantraniliprole, Methoxyfenozide and Emamectin benzoate in suppressing the tomato leaf miner population collected from the southern area of B&H. Insecticides were applied in different concentrations to three tomato hybrids (Matias F1, Belle F1, Rally F1) under controlled conditions. Test was performed according to the modified "leaf-deep method" (IRAC). The concentrations of applied insecticides had different effectiveness against *Tuta absoluta*. Insecticides based on active substances: Chlorantraniliprole, Methoxyfenozide and Emamectin benzoate, which were applied in two different concentrations, had no significant effect on reducing the resistance of Tuta absoluta.

Keywords: Tuta absoluta · Chemical control · Tomato · Resistance · Hybrid

1 Introduction

Tuta absoluta or the tomato leaf miner is a pest from the Lepidoptera family, which causes significant damage to tomatoes both in protected areas and in the open field. After it was first observed in Spain in 2006 [1], *Tuta absoluta* was identified in many other European countries. Thus, it was registered for the first time in Italy in 2008 [2, 3], the Netherlands [4], and France [5, 6]. It is considered that *Tuta absoluta*, as a new member of the BiH entomofauna, represents a serious problem of tomato production. Controlling *Tuta absoluta* is extremely demanding due to its development cycle and lifestyle. Large number of eggs that can be laid by one female and many generations greatly limit its

control. Therefore, in the planning of protection against this pest, all preventive plant protection measures must be carried out, such as: crop rotation, destruction of attacked plant parts, high-quality soil cultivation and planting of healthy planting material. In order to protect tomatoes from the attack of this pest, it is necessary to establish integral principles of production based on cultural, biotechnical, biological and chemical measures, which include appropriate resistance management strategies. Chemical control as part of the strategy to control this pest was already used in the early eighties of the last century [7]. In that period, chemical agents based on organophosphates and pyrethroids were mostly used to control Tuta absoluta. Pyrethroids as neurotoxic insecticides act on sodium channels in the cell membranes of the nervous system, causing disruption of the flow of nerve impulses, resulting in paralysis and death of the pest, and on the function of the nervous system of *Tuta absoluta*. When it comes to chemical measures to control Tuta absoluta, the very nature of the pest, as well as its ability to quickly develop resistance to many insecticides, significantly limit their effectiveness. In the work [8] state that chemical insecticides are the main means of controlling *Tuta* absoluta, and that effective control of this pest can be carried out by applying different active substances in combination with biological measures. The frequent use of insecticides with different active substances has led to increased resistance *Tuta absoluta*. In the study of the effectiveness of the active substances deltamethrin, abamectin and methamidophos, the resistance larvae of *Tuta absoluta* was determined [9]. Insecticides based on indoxacarb, lufenuron, spinosad, thiacloprid, imidacloprid showed a positive effect in controlling *Tuta absoluta* in Malta [10], while in Italy products based on chlorpyrifos and pyrethrins showed good results [2]. Bearing in mind all the above, the aim of this work was to investigate the effectiveness of the newer insectides generation such as: Chlorantraniliprole, Methoxyfenozide and Emamectin benzoate in controlling Tuta absoluta population collected from the southern area of B&H.

2 Materials and Methods

To test the effectiveness of insecticides based on the active substances: Chlorantraniliprole, Methoxyfenozide and Emamectin benzoate, Tuta absoluta populations collected from tomato plantations in Višići, Gabela and Klepci in B&H. Larvae samples were collected during June in the phenophase of tomato fruiting. The following preparations were used to test the effectiveness of insecticides against larvae. Coragen 20 SC (a.s. Chlorantraniliprole- 200 g/l; SC; IRAC MoA: 28) - insecticide with contact and digestive action, which is used to control economically important pests from the order of Lepidoptera and Coleoptera. The active substance of the product is Chlorantraniliprole, which has an ovicidal effect on all stages of caterpillar development. Coragen causes activation of ryanodine receptors in insects, thereby stimulating the release of calcium from internal depots of smooth and striated muscles, causing weakening of muscle control, paralysis and ultimately, death of the insect. The preparation is characterized by ecological properties and low toxicity. Runner 240 SC (a.s. Methoxyfenozide-240 g/l; SC; IRAC MoA: 18)- belongs to the group of growth accelerators, so it is an antagonist of the shedding hormone. It has a digestive and contact effect. Affirm (a.s. Emamectin benzoate- 9.5 g/kg; SG; IRAC MoA: 6) - a contact insecticide that shows excellent

translaminar movement in leaves. When an insect comes into contact with emamectin benzoate, it becomes paralyzed and immediately stops feeding, after which it dies within two to four days.

Laboratory tests of Coragen 20 SC, Runner 240 SC and Affirm insecticides were conducted on three tomato hybrids (Matias F1, Belle F1, Rally F1), where the insecticides were applied in two concentrations (Table 1).

Insecticide	Active substance	Concentration 1(%)	Concentration 2(%)
Coragen	Chlorantraniliprole	0.016	0.02
Runner	Methoxyfenozide	0.04	0.06
Affirm	Emamectin benzoate	0.15	0.2

Table 1. Insecticides and concentrations applied in the laboratory

The insecticide efficiency test was done in two parts. The first part included the investigation of whether the previous application of insecticides to tomato leaf disks prevents subsequent applied caterpillars from burrowing into the leaf, which was determined 24 h after treatment. For this test, healthy leaves were separated from each hybrid, from which disks of equal surface were made. The discs were rinsed with distilled water and dried on a ribbed metal grid. Leaf discs prepared in this way were used to apply each insecticide according to the modified leaf-deep method [11]. After applying each of the insecticide concentrations, the leaf sets were left on a drying rack for one hour. They were then placed on filter paper in Petri dishes, after which caterpillars were applied, whereby five larvaes of 4–6 mm in size were placed on each leaf disc (Figs. 1 and 2).



Fig. 1. Larvae on tomato leaf



Fig. 2. Tomato leaves – discs

The second part of the experiment involved testing the effectiveness of insecticides used to control larvae applied to the leaves of three tomato hybrids. Seedlings of tomato hybrids with applied larvae were treated with insecticides in two different concentrations. Treatment was done with a hand sprayer 30 min after larvae were applied to the tomato leaves of each hybrid. The effectiveness of the insecticide was determined based on the number of live larvae registered 24 h and 48 h after treatment. Samples larvae used from tomato plant material are shown in Figs. 3 and 4.





Fig. 4. Samples larvae

Standard descriptive statistics methods were used for statistical data processing. Variable values are presented as mean \pm standard deviation. The obtained data are presented in tables and graphics. All obtained results were statistically processed using the software programs SPSS (version 22) and Excel.

3 Results and discussion

3.1 Control Larvae with Affirm Insecticide

After the application of Affirm insecticide in concentrations of 0.15% and 0.2%, the average larvae number of *Tuta absoluta*, depending on the tomato hybrid and the length of the insecticide's action, is shown in Table 2. The average larvae number was derived from the total larvae number ls on the sample plants.

Time after application	Hybrid	/concent	ration (%)			1	1			Average concentration		GA TAA
(IAA)	Belle	Belle		Matias		Average	Rally		Average			
	0.15	0.2	Belle	0.15	0.2	Matias	0.15	0.2	Rally	0,15	0,2	
	Larvae number											
0 h	5.00 ^a	5.00 ^a	5.00 ^a	5.00 ^a	5.00 ^a	5.00 ^a	5.00 ^a	5.00 ^a	5.00 ^a	5.00 ^a	5.00 ^a	5.00 ^a
24 h	2.27 ^b	2.27 ^b	2.27 ^b	2.80 ^b	2.80 ^b	2.27	2.40 ^b	2.20 ^b	2.20 ^b	2.49	2.24	2.37 ^b
48 h	1.60 ^c	1.40 ^c	1.50 ^c	1.13 ^c	0.93 ^c	1.03	1.07 ^c	1.00 ^c	1.03 ^c	1.27	1.11	1.11 ^c
Average	2.96 ^a	2.89 ^a		2.98 ^a	2.73 ^a		2.82 ^a	2.73 ^a		2.92 ^a	2.79 ^a	
GA hybrid	2.92 ^a			2.86 ^a			2.78 ^a					

Table 2. The number larvae after the application of Affirm insecticide in concentrations of 0.15 and 0.2%, depending on the tomato hybrid and the length of the insecticide's action (Tukey test)

* Time after application (TAA), * General average (GA)

After 24 h from the application of the Affirm insecticide used at a concentration of 0.15%, the average number of larvae ranged from 2.4 in the Relly hybrid to 2.8 in the Matias hybrid. Affirm insecticide applied at a concentration of 0.2% resulted in an average number larvae from 2.2 in the Rally hybrid to 2.8 in the Matias hybrid 24 h after the application. After 48 h of Affirm insecticide application at a concentration of 0.15%, the average number of larvae ranged from 1.07 in the hybrid Rally to 1.60 in the hybrid Belle. The average number of larvae 48 h after the application of Affirm insecticide at a concentration of 0.2% ranged from 0.93 in the Matias hybrid to 1.40 in the Belle hybrid.

The analysis of variance test (Table 3) showed that only the length of insecticide action had a significant impact on the average number of larvae after Affirm insecticide application. The concentration of Affirm insecticide and tomato hybrid had no significant effect on the number of larvae.

Source of variability	SS	d.f	MS	F	p
Concentration (A)	1.200	1	1.200	1.680	0.196
Insecticide action (B)	685.385	2	342.69	479.770	< 0.0001
Hybrid (C)	0.941	2	0.470	0.659	0.519
$A \times B$	0.689	2	0.344	0.482	0.618
$A \times C$	0.422	2	0.211	0.296	0.744
$B \times C$	4.681	4	1.170	1.639	0.165
$A \times B \times C$	0.756	4	0.189	0.264	0.901
Error	180.000	252	0.714		
Total	3070.0	270			

Table 3. Analysis of variance test on the influence of tomato hybrids, effect and concentration of Affirm insecticide on the number larvae of *Tuta absoluta*

The results of the Tukey test (Table 2) showed that 48 h after the application of Afirma, the significantly lowest number larvae. The results of the research by Gacemi and Guenaui [12] show good efficacy of emamectin benzoate against *Tuta absoluta*.

3.2 Control Larvae with Runner Insecticide

After the application of Runner insecticide at a concentration of 0.04% and 0.06%, the average number larvae depending on the tomato hybrid and the length of the insecticide's action is presented in Table 4.

Table 4. Mortality larvae after the application of Runner insecticide concentrations of 0.04 and 0.06%, depending on the tomato hybrid and the action of the insecticide (Tukey test)

Time after application	Hybrid	/concent	ration (%)							Average concentration		GA TAA
(TAA)	Belle		Average	Matias		Average	Rally		Average			
	0.04	0.06	Belle	0.04	0.06	Matias	0.04	0.06	Rally	0.04	0.06	
	Larvae number											
0 h	5.00 ^a	5.00 ^a	5.00 ^a	5.00 ^a	5.00 ^a	5.00	5.00 ^a	5.00 ^a	5.00 ^a	5.00 ^a	5.00 ^a	5.00 ^a
24 h	2.60 ^b	2.47 ^b	2.53 ^b	2.67 ^b	2.73 ^b	2.7 ^b	2.67 ^b	2.07 ^b	2.37 ^b	2.64 ^b	2.42 ^b	2.53 ^b
48 h	1.33 ^c	1.40 ^c	1.37 ^c	1.53 ^c	1.13 ^c	1.3 ^c	1.07 ^c	1.20 ^c	1.13 ^c	1.31 ^c	1.24 ^c	1.28 ^c
Average	2.98 ^a	2.96 ^a		4.07 ^a	2.96 ^a		2.91 ^a	2.76 ^a		2.99 ^a	2.89 ^a	
GA hybrid	2.97 ^a			3.01 ^a			2.83 ^a					

After 24 h from the application of Runner insecticide at a concentration of 0.04%, the average number of larvae ranged from 2.60 in the Belle hybrid to 2.67 in the Rally and Matias hybrids. After the application of Runner insecticide with a concentration of 0.06%, the average number of larvae 24 h after treatment ranged from 1.13 in the Matias hybrid to 1.40 in the Bella. After 48 h from the application of Runner insecticide at a concentration of 0.04%, the average number of larvae ranged from 1.07 in the Rally hybrid to 1.53 in the Matias hybrid. The average number of larvae 48 h after treatment with Runner insecticide at a concentration of 0.06% ranged from 1.13 in the Matias hybrid to 1.40 in the Belle hybrid. The results of the Tukey test (Table 4) showed that 48 h after the application of the insecticide Runner, the significantly lowest number of larvae was registered. The variance analysis test (Table 5) showed that only the length of action of the Runner insecticide had a significant effect on the number of larvae after application in each tomato hybrid.

			1		
Source of variability	SS	d.f	MS	F	р
Concentration(A)	0.626	1	0.626	0.941	0.333
Insecticide action (B)	645.4	2	322.7	485.26	< 0.0001
Hybrid (C)	1.541	2	0.770	1.158	0.316
$A \times B$	0.585	2	0.293	0.440	0.645
$A \times C$	0.207	2	0.104	0.156	0.856
$B \times C$	1.081	4	0.270	0.407	0.804
$A \times B \times C$	2.815	4	0.704	1.058	0.378
Error	167.60	252	0.665		
Total	3149.0	270			

Table 5. Analysis of variance test on the influence of tomato hybrids, length of action and concentration of insecticide Runner on the number of larvae

3.3 Control Larvae with Coragen Insecticide

After the application of the Coragen insecticide at a concentration of 0.016% and 0.02%, the average number of tomato leaf miner larvae depending on the tomato hybrid and the length of the insecticide's action is presented in Table 6.

Table 6. Number larvae after the application of Coragen insecticide in a concentration of 0.016% and 0.02%, depending on the tomato hybrid and the length of the insecticide's action

Time after application	Hybrid	/concent	recation (9	6)						Average concentration		GA TAA
(TAA)	Belle		Average Belle	Matias		Average Matias	Rally	Rally A R				
	0,016	0,02		0,016	0,02		0,016	0,02		0,016	0,02	
	Larvae number											
0 h	5.00 ^a	5.00 ^a	5.00 ^a	5.00 ^a	5.00 ^a	5.0 ^a	5.00 ^a	5.00 ^a	5.00 ^a	5.00	5.00	5.00 ^a
24 h	2.33 ^b	1.13 ^b	2.10 ^b	2.80 ^b	2.93 ^b	2.8 ^b	3.33 ^b	2.93 ^b	3.13 ^b	2.82 ^b	2.58 ^b	2.7 ^b
48 h	1.33 ^c	1.87 ^c	1.23 ^c	1.40 ^c	1.47 ^c	1.4 ^c	2.40 ^c	1.13 ^c	1.77 ^c	1.71 ^c	2.67 ^c	2.19 ^c
Average	2.89 ^a	2.67 ^a		3.07 ^a	3.13 ^a		3.58 ^a	3.02 ^a		3.41 ^a	3.17 ^a	
GA hybrid	2.78 ^a			3.10 ^a			3.30 ^a					

The average number of larvae 24 h after the application of Coragen at a concentration of 0.016% on tomato hybrids ranged from 2.33 in hybrid Belle to 3.33 in Rally. The average number of larvae 24 h after the application of Coragen concentration 0.02% ranged from 1.13 in hybrid Belle to 2.93 in hybrid Matias and Rally. After 48 h from the application of Coragen concentration 0.016%, the average number of larvae ranged from 1.33 in hybrid Belle to 2.40 in hybrid Rally. The average number of larvae 48 h after the application of Coragen concentration 0.02% ranged from 1.33 in hybrid Belle to 2.40 in hybrid Rally. The average number of larvae 48 h after the application of Coragen concentration 0.02% ranged from 1.13 in the hybrid Rally to 1.87 in the hybrid Belle.

Source of variability	SS	d.f	MS	F	р
Concentration(A)	3. 793	1	3. 793	5. 813	0. 017
Insecticide action (B)	575.69	2	287.85	441. 227	0. 000
Hybrid (C)	12.496	2	6.248	9. 577	0. 000
$A \times B$	2.452	2	1.226	1. 879	0. 155
$A \times C$	4.363	2	2.181	3. 344	0. 037
$B \times C$	9.126	4	2.281	3. 497	0. 008
$A \times B \times C$	4.726	4	1.181	1. 811	0. 127
Error	164.4	252	0.652		
Total	3304.0	270			

Table 7. Analysis of variance test on the influence of tomato hybrids, length of action and concentration of Coragen insecticide on the number of larvae

The analysis of variance test (Table 7) showed that the effectiveness of Coragen in laboratory conditions was statistically significantly influenced by all experimental factors (tomato hybrid, duration of action and concentration of insecticide), as well as interactions of tomato hybrid with duration of action and concentration of the applied insecticide. From the analysis of variance test, it can be concluded that, on average, a higher concentration of Coragen resulted in a significantly lower number of larvae, that is, it was more effective. From the results presented in Table 6, it is evident that 24 h after the application of Coragen, a statistically significantly lower number of larvae was registered compared to the moment of application. Also, 48 h after the application of this agent, there was a further drop in the number of larvae, so in this term the statistically significantly lowest number of larvae was registered compared to the other two examination terms. In our research, *Tuta absoluta* showed less resistance to chlorantraniliprole, when a higher concentration was used. Also, research [13] of the *Tuta absoluta* population showed resistance to chlorantraniliprole.

4 Conclusions

From present work, it can be concluded that 48 h after application of Affirm (as. Emamectin benzoate), Runner (as. Methoxyfenozide) and Coragen (as. Chlorantraniliprole) the number of *Tuta absoluta* larvae was significantly lower. The concentration of Affirm and Runner as well as the tomato hybrid had no significant effect on the number of *Tuta absoluta* larvae. However, in the interaction of Coragen with the tomato hybrid, as well as combination the length of Coragen action and the tomato hybrid, there was a significant impact on the abundance of *Tuta absoluta* larvae. The slightly lower effectiveness of the applied insecticides in lower concentrations with different tomato hybrids is probably mainly due to the development of the larvae within the plant tissue, rapid development from egg to adult insect and a large number of *Tuta absoluta* generations.

References

- 1. Urbaneja, A., Vercher, R., Navarro, V., Garcıa, M.F., Porcuna, J.L.: La polilla del tomate, *Tuta absoluta*. Phytoma Espana **194**, 16–23 (2007)
- TropeaGarzia, G.: *Physalis peruviana* L. (Solanaceae), a host plant of Tuta absoluta in Italy. IOBC/WPRS Bull. 49, 231–232 (2009)
- Viggiani, G., Filella, F., Ramassini, W., Foxi, C.: *Tuta absoluta*, nuovo lepidottero segnalato anche in Italia. Informatore Agrario 65(2), 66–68 (2009)
- Potting, R., et al.: *Tuta absoluta*, Tomato leaf miner moth or South American tomato moth. Ministry of Agriculture, Nature and Food Quality (LVN) Plant Protection Service of the Netherlands. http://www.minlnv.nl/cdlpub/servlet/CDLServlet?p_file_id=42402 (2009). Accessed 21 Oct 2010
- Desneux, N., et al.: Biological invasion of European tomato crops by *Tuta absoluta*: ecology, geographic expansion and prospects for biological control. J. Pest Sci. 83, 197–215 (2010)
- 6. Germain, J.F., Lacordaire, A.I., Cocquempot, C., Ramel, J.M., Oudard, E.: Un nouveau ravageur de la tomate en France: *Tuta absoluta*. PHM-Revue Horticole **512**, 37–41 (2009). (in French)
- 7. Souza, J.C., Reis, P.R.: Controle da tracë a-do-tomateiro em Minas Gerais. Pesquisa AgropecuaÂria Brasileira **21**, 343–354 (1986)
- 8. Filho, M.M., Vilela, E.F., Attygalle, A.B., Meinwald, J., Svatoš, A., Jham, G.N.: Field trapping of tomato moth, *Tuta absoluta* with pheromone traps. J. Chem. Ecol. **26**(5), 875–881 (2000)
- Lietti, M.M., Botto, E., Alzogaray, R.A.: Insecticide resistance in argentine populations of *Tuta absoluta* (Lepidoptera: Gelechiidae). Neotrop. Entomol. 34(1), 113–119 (2005)
- Mallia, D.: Guidelines for the Control and Eradication of *Tuta absoluta*. Ministry for Resources and Rural Affairs, Plant Health Department, Malta. http://www.agric.gov.mt/plant-health-dep tprofile (2009). Accessed 4 Nov 2009
- IRAC Susceptibility Test Method 022. https://irac-online.org/methods/tuta-absoluta-larvae/ (2012)
- Gacemi, A., Guenaoui, Y.: Efficacy of emamectin benzoate on *Tuta absoluta* meyrick (Lepidoptera: Gelechiidae) infesting a protected tomato crop in Algeria. Academic J. Entomol. 5(1), 37–40 (2012)
- Roditakis, E., et al.: Determination of baseline susceptibility of European populations of *Tuta absoluta* (Meyrick) to indoxacarb and chlorantraniliprole using a novel dip bioassay method. Pest Manag. Sci. 69, 217–227 (2013)



The Effect of Pyrophyllite on Yield Components and Accumulation of Nitrate in Lettuce (Lactuca Sativa L.)

Ćerima Zahirović Sinanović¹([⊠]), Lutvija Karić¹, Admira Halilović¹, Dragan Žnidarčič², Senad Murtić³, and Fikreta Behmen⁴

¹ Department of Vegetable Production, Faculty of Agriculture and Food Science, University of Sarajevo, Zmaja Od Bosne 8, 71 000 Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina c.zahirovic@ppf.unsa.ba

² Department of Agronomy, Biotechnical Faculty, University of Ljubljana, Jamnikarjeva 101, 1000 Ljubljana, Slovenia

 ³ Department of Plant Physiology, Faculty of Agriculture and Food Science, University of Sarajevo, Zmaja Od Bosne 8, 71 000 Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina
 ⁴ Department of Fruits Production, Faculty of Agriculture and Food Science,

University of Sarajevo, Zmaja Od Bosne 8, 71 000 Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina

Abstract. Lettuce (Lactuca sativa L.) plays an important role in human nutrition. It is rich in vitamins, minerals, proteins, amino acids, phenolics, and other bioactive substances. Lettuce also contains a significant amount of natural nitrates which can cause harm to human health if they form carcinogenic nitrosamines. The nitrate concentration in lettuce is influenced by many factors such as climatic conditions, soil chemical properties, and especially fertilizer management. On the other hand, fertilizer management is crucial for lettuce growth, development, yield, and quality. Another significant aspect associated with fertilizer management is the environmental issue. Namely, more than 90% of applied fertilizers may be lost in the environment leading to water, soil, and air pollution. The main goal of this research was to determine whether the use of pyrophyllite ore as a soil conditioner can reduce the use of mineral fertilizers and thus the accumulation of nitrates in lettuce, which are potentially dangerous for human health, without reducing the growth and development of the plant. The experiment was set up in a greenhouse using the split-plot method in three repetitions with variants in which the fertilizer was replaced with pyrophyllite ore in the amount of 25%, 50%, and 75% of the recommended amount of fertilizer, and with a control variant where 100% of the recommended amount of fertilizer was used. The results of this research show that the replacement of mineral fertilizer with pyrophyllite in the amount of 25% and 50% of the recommended fertilization rate in the conditions of the experiment increases the yield of lettuce and improves the quality compared to the control variant, i.e. applying 100% of the recommended amount of mineral fertilizer.

Keywords: Lettuce · Nitrates · Pyrophyllite ore

1 Introduction

The basis of modern vegetable production is increasing total production and improving food quality. The importance of food is increased by the fact that the natural capacity of the land for food production is limited, while the population is constantly increasing.

The most intensive form of vegetable production is in a protected area with maximum land use and irrigation system used by changing two to three vegetable gardeners during the year. This type of vegetable production, followed by the excessive use of mineral fertilizers and pesticides, gradually leads to land contamination, and consequently to the reduction of production areas and the creation of agricultural products that are questionable for the health of consumers.

The production of lettuce in different types of protected areas in Bosnia and Herzegovina is very significant. Due to the short growing season and poor use of nutrients from organic fertilizers in lettuce cultivation, mineral fertilizers are often applied. Mineral fertilizers are mostly applied in quantities greater than the needs of the cultivated plants, which equally leads to the deterioration of the physical and chemical properties of the soil, the contamination of groundwater, and the deterioration of the quality of the produced vegetables.

The use of mineral fertilizers, especially nitrogen, in the cultivation of lettuce should be strictly controlled. Lettuce is included in the group of leafy vegetables that tend to accumulate nitrates. Nitrates are compounds that often appear in nature, in living and decaying tissues of plants, animals, and humans [1, 2]. They are non-toxic by themselves, while their metabolites nitrites, nitric oxide (NO), and carcinogenic N-nitrosamines, which are formed by combining nitrites with secondary amines, have a potentially harmful effect on human health. The acceptable daily intake (ADI) of nitrate ranges from 0 to 3.7 mg/kg of body weight, and the derived ADI value for nitrites is from 0 to 0.07 mg/kg of body weight [3].

The maximum permissible values of nitrate content in lettuce are legally regulated and amount to $5000 \text{ mg NO}_3/\text{kg}$ when growing lettuce in a protected area when harvesting from October 1 to March 31, and if the harvest was made in the period from April 1 to September 30, then the nitrate content must not exceed the limit of 4000 mg NO₃/kg lettuce [4]. The amount of nitrates in lettuce depends on a series of factors, among which nitrogen fertilization is the most important.

V. Vukadinović and V. Vukadinović [5] point out that an overdose of nitrogen fertilizers is very dangerous, regardless of whether they are of organic or mineral origin. Such activities have significantly increased the concentrations of accumulated nitrates in plants, primarily through intensive fertilization with nitrogen fertilizers, which replace the traditional use of organic fertilizers. Namely, the accumulation of the easily mobile nitrate form of nitrogen in the soil affects its increased leaching, thus contaminating groundwater and watercourses.

Lettuce is extremely sensitive to phosphorus deficiency. Charles et al., [6] state that the application of mineral fertilizer below the fertilization recommendation can lead to a significant impact on the yield, and therefore on the economic loss of the producer. On the other hand, the same authors claim in their research that lettuce producers introduce enormous amounts of phosphorus into the soil, especially if the production takes place on sandy soil (over 200 kg/ha), while the plant absorbs only 25% of the applied amounts.

This method of intensive fertilization has a negative environmental impact, and excessive exploitation of this fertilizer from ore deposits can lead to its deficit in the future. V. Vukadinović and V. Vukadinović [5] state that phosphorus fertilizers contain a certain amount of radioactive elements (radionuclides).

Considering the above, the intensive production of vegetables in a protected area imposes mandatory land conditioning, which implies maintaining optimal soil fertility in different types of protected areas. Soil with optimal fertility does not have to have a larger reserve of available nutrients, but it must have optimal physical, chemical, and biological properties that, with minimal agricultural techniques, ensure optimal dynamics of the availability of all essential nutrients and water. However, the land in the protected area generally has one or several properties that make it less fertile and require the use of soil improvers. The need to preserve and protect land has stimulated the development of many technological procedures whose goal is to prevent or at least reduce land contamination. One of the newer technological procedures involves the use of aluminosilicates such as bentonite, zeolite, and pyrophyllite. Pyrophyllite is a type of phyllosilicate mineral from the clay family, in the structure of which ions are organized into tightly bound parallel planes that build a three-layer structure. Thanks to its structure and the large contact surface, pyrophyllite has a high ion exchange capacity. It is able to retain a large number of ions needed by the plant for development, preventing their leaching from the zone of the root system, which gives it the properties of a soil improver. According to the above, the processing of pyrophyllite ore can have a positive effect on the availability of nutrients in the soil and enables the use of mineral fertilizers in smaller quantities, which is important in protecting the environment and revitalizing resources to produce health-safe food [7].

The main goal of this research was to determine whether the use of pyrophyllite ore as a soil improver can reduce the use of mineral fertilizers and thus the accumulation of nitrates in lettuce, which are potentially dangerous for human health, without reducing the growth and development of the plant. Certainly, an important goal was to examine whether pyrophyllite ore as a soil improver can increase the absorption of phosphorus and reduce the use of mineral fertilizers without having a negative effect on the productivity of lettuce.

2 Materials and Working Methods

2.1 Materials

Lettuce: (*Lactuca sativa* L.*var Sahngore*), this lettuce hybrid is widely used in production in protected areas in Bosnia and Herzegovina. It is grown from late autumn to spring in greenhouses. It is characterized by fast growth, the possibility of cultivation on different types of land, and the formation of semi-closed heads weighing 400–600 g.

Pyrophyllite: The pyrophyllite material used in this research was created by crushing and sieving pyrophyllite ore from the Parsovići – Konjic site, Bosnia and Herzegovina. Except for silicon dioxide (SiO₂) and aluminum oxide (Al₂O₃), which together make up 80 to 90% of the chemical composition of pyrophyllite, it also contains various other

substances that can greatly affect its properties, especially the effective cation exchange capacity.

The chemical analysis of the pyrophyllite ore used in this research was performed in the laboratory of the Faculty of Agriculture and Food in Sarajevo. The average total content of SiO₂, Al₂O₃, K, Ca, Mg, Cu, Ni, Zn, Co, Mn, Pb and Cr was: 67.55%, 19.10%, 0.3%, 6.65%, 0.14%, 1.40 mg kg⁻¹, 2.74 mg kg⁻¹, 25.68 mg kg⁻¹, 0.4 mg kg⁻¹, 93.14 mg kg⁻¹, 7.97 mg kg⁻¹ and 0.76 mg kg⁻¹.

2.2 Study Area

The experiment was carried out in a greenhouse from November 2019 to March 2020 on a family farm in Srebrenik, Bosnia and Herzegovina (44° 41'N, 18° 26'E, and altitude 275 m). Srebrenik is located in the northeastern part of Bosnia and Herzegovina, mostly in the valley of the river Tinja, and according to geographical regionalization, it belongs to the macroregion Peripanno Bosnia. According to Keppen's climate classification, Srebrenik has a moderately warm and humid climate with hot summers (Cfb). The average annual air temperature in the area of Srebrenik is 11.1 °C, with an amount of precipitation of 856 mm, with significant precipitation also in the dry months.

The geographical structure ensures that there are no sudden temperature fluctuations during the year [8]. The land on which the experiment was conducted is classified as district cambisol (A - (B)v - C) according to the FAO land classification. In terms of mechanical composition, it is a loamy, deep soil with a favorable crumbly structure. District Cambisol is characterized by a slightly acidic pH reaction and base saturation of 50%, low to moderate water storage capacity, and medium nutrient storage capacity.

2.3 Soil Sampling and Analysis

Before setting up the experiment, an agrochemical analysis of the soil was performed at a depth of 0-30 cm, and the following parameters were determined: soil pH in water, soil pH in KCl, organic matter content, available phosphorus (P₂O₅) and potassium (K₂O). The pH value of the soil was determined by a pH meter [9], the humus content by the dichromate method [10], and the content of easily accessible potassium and phosphorus by the AL method [11]. A stainless-steel auger was used to take a soil sample.

2.4 Experimental Design and Treatments

Based on the obtained results of soil analysis and the lettuce's nutrient needs, a fertilization recommendation was made, and the same was used as the basis for conducting an experiment in which one part of the fertilizer was replaced with the appropriate amount and granulation of pyrophyllite ore.

For basic fertilization, it is recommended to apply 300 kg ha⁻¹ NPK 7:20:30 (nitrogen-phosphorus-potassium). The recommended amount of fertilizer is calculated per the area of one randomized block. The experiment was set up according to a randomized block system in three repetitions. The size of the basic plot was 2 m^2 . The experiment was set up according to the method of random block arrangement with four variants in

three repetitions. The area of one block was 3 m^2 . The variants of the experiment were as follows:

T1 – optimal fertilization with mineral fertilizers without the addition of pyrophyllite ore, control (150 g NPK 7:20:30 for each repetition).

T2 - 75% of the recommended amount of mineral fertilizers + 25% pyrophyllite ore with 5 mm granulation (112.5 g NPK 7:20:30 + 37.5 g pyrophyllite ore).

T3 - 50% of the recommended amount of mineral fertilizers + 50% pyrophyllite ore with 5 mm granulation (75 g NPK 7:20:30 + 75 g pyrophyllite ore).

T4 - 25% of the recommended amount of mineral fertilizers + 75\% pyrophyllite ore with 5 mm granulation (37.5 g NPK 7:20:30 + 112.5 g pyrophyllite ore).

Application of mineral fertilizer and pyrophyllite ore was carried out after the surface treatment of the land, a few days before planting on 20.11.2019. A "drop by drop" irrigation system is placed under the film. Also, sprinklers were installed in the greenhouse to irrigate the lettuce by raining. All other agrotechnical measures necessary for the optimal growth of lettuce (irrigation, protection against diseases, and pests) were carried out on all experimental blocks until the technological maturity of the lettuce (March 15, 2020).

2.5 Analysis of Lettuce Yield and Quality

At the technological maturity of the lettuce, samples were collected for the analytical determination of nitrate and phosphorus content. A total of 40 heads of lettuce were collected for each variant and the control (10 heads from each repetition).

Individual samples were collected following the pattern in the shape of the letter "X^{*}" through the sample square. The plants that were selected were cut at ground level. Soil and outer leaves were removed before packing the samples. The collection of samples was carried out according to the Rulebook on sampling and analysis methods for the official control of the amount of nitrates in food [4].

Nitrate content in lettuce was measured on a DR/2000 HACH device using the NitraVer 5 reagent. This method represents a modification of the cadmium reduction method using Gentisic acid instead of 1-naphthylamine [12].

Phosphorus content in lettuce was measured on a DR/2000 HACH device using the PhosVer3 phosphate reagent. The PhosVer 3 method creates a blue color with phosphate. The indicator is combined with the reducing agent ascorbic acid in a powder formulation called PhosVer 3 Phosphate Reagent [12].

2.6 Statistic Data Processing

The obtained results were processed using the statistical method of analysis of variance with the use of the SPSS software package. The significance of the differences between the average values of the tested variants and the control variant was determined using the Dunnett t-test at the significance level of p < 0.05.

3 Results and Discussion

The examination of basic parameters of soil fertility (Table 1) showed that the examined soil had a slight acid reaction, moderate level of organic matter (OM), and high content of the available form of phosphorous (P_2O_5) and potassium (K_2O).

Parameter	Unit	Measured value	Recommended values for vegetable production*
pH H ₂ O	pH unit	5.80	5.70-7.20
pH KCl	pH unit	5.20	5.20-6.70
ОМ	%	3.83	3.00-5.00
P2O5	${ m mg}~100~{ m g}^{-1}$	15.10	12.00–16.00
K ₂ O	mg 100 g ^{-1}	31.30	25.00-35.00

Table 1. The results of soil chemical analysis

* Values reported by [13].

Based on the obtained results we can conclude that the tested soil is suitable for vegetable production.

The results of the analysis of yield and yield contributing parameters of lettuce depending on the experimental treatment are given in Table 2.

Treament ¹	The weight of the formed head (kg)	Percentage of waste leaves (%)	Market return (kg/m ²)
T1	0.43 ± 0.50	6.19 ± 0.68	6.57 ± 0.65
T2	$0.60\pm0.08^*$	5.74 ± 0.92	$9.02 \pm .75*$
Т3	$0.57\pm0.08*$	5.36 ± 1.10	$8.77\pm0.40*$
T4	0.43 ± 0.09	4.60 ± 6.16	6.50 ± 1.32

Table 2. Yield components of lettuce

¹Experimental treatment: T1 – recommended fertilizer rate (RFR) without pyrophyllite (PP), i.e. control treatment; T2 – 25% of RFR was replaced with PP; T3 – 50% RFR was replaced with PP; T4 – 75% of RFR was replaced with PP

* Main difference at the significance level of 0.05

Values marked with the symbol * indicate that there is a statistically significant difference compared to control variant T1

From the data shown in Table 2, the application of pyrophyllite ore in any variant did not negatively affect the weight of the formed head of cultivated lettuce in comparison to the control, moreover, the weight of the head of lettuce, and therefore the yield, were higher in the variants where pyrophyllite ore was applied as a substitute for part of the fertilizer. The highest weight of formed heads, and thus the yield, was achieved in variants T2 where the ratio of fertilizer and pyrophyllite ore was 75%: 25%. Only the treatment in which pyrophyllite ore was applied as a substitute for 75% of the recommended amount of fertilizer did not show a positive effect on the weight of the head of lettuce.

The greater weight of formed heads of variant T2 can be explained by the specific structure of pyrophyllite, which, thanks to its three-layer structure, has a high ion exchange capacity and is able to retain a wide range of cations needed and available to the plant for development on its boundary surface, which gives this mineral the properties of a breeder. In terms of its structure, pyrophyllite is very similar to clay minerals that have the properties of colloids that are characterized by the possibility of adsorption of various substances [14–16]. We assume that the lettuce in treatments where pyrophyllite was applied as a majority replacement for fertilizer (T3 and T4) had less amount of available nutrients in the soil resulting in reduced yields.

The energy of adsorption of nutrients that are in ionic form depends on their ion hydration valence. If the valency is higher, the adsorption energy is also higher. Potassium (K), calcium (Ca), and magnesium (Mg) have lower adsorption energy compared to elements with a higher valency, i.e. heavy metals (Fe, Cu, Zn, Mn, Cd, Co, Pb, and Cr). Higher atomic mass and weaker hydration lead to higher adsorption energy [17].

Pyrophyllite ore contains a certain amount of magnesium, a high proportion of readily available phosphorus, calcium, and microelements (Mn, Zn, Fe), and thus in itself contributes to better plant nutrition, and thus plant growth and the formation of a higher yield. Accordingly, the application of NPK mineral fertilizer and pyrophyllite ore in a ratio of 75%:25% gives the plants a sufficient amount of nutrients, but with the help of pyrophyllite, the efficiency of its uptake by the plant increases at the same time.

The outer leaves of lettuce that are damaged, diseased, and overgrown are waste leaves, which must be removed after harvesting and before being offered on the market. The lowest percentage of waste leaves was in variant T4, where the ratio of fertilizer and pyrophyllite ore was 25%: 75%, while the highest percentage of waste leaves was recorded in variant T1, in which optimal fertilization with mineral fertilizers was applied without the addition of pyrophyllite ore.

However, the smaller amount of waste leaves of the variants in which pyrophyllite ore was applied was not statistically significant. Based on the obtained results, we can conclude that the variants in which pyrophyllite ore was applied in larger quantities had a positive effect on the reduction of the % of waste leaves in lettuce. This can be explained by the chemical composition of pyrophyllite ore, which contains considerable amounts of calcium (6.65%).

It should be emphasized that calcium is an essential element that participates in the construction of Ca pectinate in the cell walls and in the membrane components of the plasmalemma. Its role is very important in the structure of the cell because it affects the strength of the cell wall, and therefore the resistance of plants to mechanical damage, diseases, and pests.

Taking into consideration that the waste leaves consist of damaged and diseased leaves, we can conclude that pyrophyllite has a positive effect on the reduction of the process of leaf decay, and therefore on the reduction of the % of waste leaves in relation to the mass of the formed head.

The market yield is very important for producers, it mostly depends on the percentage of waste leaves. The highest market yield on average was achieved by the T2 variants, where 75% of the recommended amount of mineral fertilizers was applied, while 25% was replaced by pyrophyllite ore with granulation of 5 mm, and the T3 variant, where 50% of the recommended amount of mineral fertilizers was applied, and 50% was replaced by 5 mm granulation pyrophyllite. The market yield of the control variant T1 (6.57 ± 0.65) was statistically significantly different in relation to the treatments T2 (9.02 ± 0.75) and T3 (8.77 ± 0.40), while in relation to the treatment T4 (6.50 ± 1.32) differences were observed due to chance.

This result indicates that the application of pyrophyllite in greenhouses, which is characterized by a large amount of nutrients remaining in the soil, gives a positive effect even when only 25% of the recommended amount of mineral fertilizers is applied, while the rest is replaced with pyrophyllite ore. This indicates that pyrophyllite ore, thanks to its high calcium content (6.65%) has a positive effect on the strength of the leaves, reducing their deterioration, thus increasing the market yield.

Treatment ¹	Content NO ₃ (mg/kg fresh leaves)	Content P, PO_4 (mg/100 g fresh leaves)
T1	791.66 ± 7.63	29.10 ± 1.17
T2	726.66 ± 25.16	27.46 ± 0.86
Т3	$463.33 \pm 55.07*$	26.13 ± 2.28
T4	$392.00 \pm 10.58*$	$19.10 \pm 1.96^{*}$

Table 3. Content of NO₃⁻, P, PO₄⁻, in fresh lettuce leaves

¹Experimental treatment: T1 – recommended fertilizer rate (RFR) without pyrophyllite (PP), i.e. control treatment; T2 – 25% of RFR was replaced with PP; T3 – 50% RFR was replaced with PP; T4 – 75% of RFR was replaced with PP

* Main difference at the significance level of 0.05

Values marked with the symbol * indicate that there is a statistically significant difference compared to the control variant T1.

The highest content of nitrates was the variant T1 (control variant) with an average of 791.66 mg NO₃ in one kg of fresh leaf, and the lowest variant T4 with an average of 392 mg in one kg of fresh leaf (Table 3). The obtained results indicate that the use of pyrophyllite ore as a substitute for part of the mineral fertilizers has a positive effect on the reduction of nitrate accumulation in lettuce. Also, the presented results show that the lettuce produced in this research work had a significantly lower amount of nitrates than the upper limit allowed by the B&H rulebook [4].

Based on the presented research results (Table 3), variant T4, in which only 25% of the recommended mineral fertilizers were applied (the rest was replaced by pyrophyllite ore), adopted the smallest amount of phosphorus. This can be explained by the fact that phosphorus is a poorly mobile plant nutrient in the soil, and that the application of mineral fertilizer at only 25% of the fertilization recommendation significantly reduces the possibility of adopting this nutrient. On the other hand, if we replace 50% of the recommended dose of mineral fertilizer with pyrophyllite, we will improve the absorption of

phosphorus, reduce the excessive intake of mineral fertilizer and achieve a high yield. Mukherjee, [18] states that the increase in crop yield due to the addition of pyrophyllite to soil is due to its ability to release tightly bound phosphates already present in the soil making them available to plants.

4 Conclusions

Based on the results achieved in the conditions of the experiment, the application of pyrophyllite material from the Parsovići – Konjic site reduced the use of mineral fertilizers without negative effects on the yield of the grown lettuce.

This approach to fertilization with reduced use of mineral fertilizers makes an immeasurable contribution to environmental protection. The obtained results indicate that the application of pyrophyllite in the appropriate ratio with mineral fertilizer can increase the yield without proportionally increasing the accumulation of nitrates in lettuce leaves, which is reflected in the quality of the lettuce.

References

- 1. Lundberg, J.O., Weitzberg, E., Cole, J.A., Benjamin, N.: Nitrate, bacteria and human health. Nat. Rev. Microbiol. **2**, 593–602 (2004)
- 2. Lundberg, J.O., Weitzberg, E., Gladwin, M.T.: The nitrate-nitrite-nitric oxide pathway in physiology and therapeutics. Nat. Rev. Drug Discov. **7**, 156–167 (2008)
- FAO/WHO: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations/World Health Organization. https://inchem.org/documents/jecfa/jecmono/v50je06.htm. Last accessed 25 Oct 2022
- 4. Rule book of the maximum allowed quantities for certain food contaminants. Official Gazette of BiH, Bosnia and Herzegovina 68–39 (2014)
- 5. Vukadinović, V., Vukadinović, V.: Soil, fertilization and yield. Osijek, Croatia (2016)
- 6. Charles, A.S., Nolte, K.: Sampling methods for optimizing soil test-based phosphorus fertilizer recommendations for lettuce. Water and Environmental Sciences, Yuma Agricultural Center (2010)
- Murtić, S., Zahirović, Ć, Karić, L., Jurkovi, J., Čivić, H., Sijahović, E.: Use of pyrophyllite as soil conditioner in lettuce production. Nat. Env. Pollut. Technol. Int. Q. Sci. J. 19(1), 355–359 (2020)
- 8. Spahić, M.: Opća Klimatologija. Tuzla, Bosnia and Herzegovina (2002)
- ISO: International Standard ISO 14235: Soil quality Determination of organic carbon in soil by sulfochromic oxidation. International Organization for Standardization, Geneva, Switzerland (1998)
- 10. ISO: International Standard ISO 10390: Soil quality Determination of pH. International Organization for Standardization, Geneva, Switzerland (2005)
- Egnér, H., Riehm, H., Domingo, W.R.: Untersuchungenüber die chemische Boden analyseals Grundlagefür die Beurteilung de Nährstoffzustandes der Böden. II. ChemischeExtraktionsmethodenzur Phosphor – und Kaliumbestimmung. KungligaLantbrukshögskolansAnnaler 26, 199–215 (1960)
- 12. DR 2000 Spectrophotometer Procedures Manual. HACH Company, 1996–2000. USA (1990)
- 13. Vukadinović, V., Vukadinović, V.: Ishrana bilja. Osijek. Poljoprivredni fakultet u Osijeku, Hrvatska (2011)

- Ararem, A., Bouras, O., Arbaoui, F.: Adsorption of caesiumfrom aqueous solution on binary mixture of iron pillared layered montmorillonite and goethite. Chem. Eng. J. 172, 230–236 (2011)
- 15. Demirkiran, A.R., Acemioglu, B., Gonen, T.: Sorption of copper and nickel ions from solution by clay minerals. Oxid. Commun. **39**, 817–829 (2016)
- 16. Wigger, C., Loon, L.R.V.: Importance of interlayer equivalent pores for anion diffusion in clay-rich sedimentary rocks. Environ. Sci. Technol. **51**(4), 1998–2006 (2017)
- 17. Resulović, H., Čustović, H.: Pedologija, Opći dio (Knjiga I). Univerzitet u Sarajevu, Sarajevo (2002)
- Mukherjee, S.: The Science of Clays. Applications in Industry, Engineering, and Environment, pp. 54–68. Springer, New York, USA (2013)



The Use of Pyrophyllite for the Purpose of Remediation of Soil Contaminated with Heavy Metals in the Industrials Zone of Kakanj

Emina Sijahović¹(⊠), Hamdija Čivić¹, Senad Murtić¹, and Biljana Dojčinović²

¹ Faculty of Agriculture and Food Sciences, University of Sarajevo, Zmaja Od Bosne 8, 71000 Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina

e.sijahovic@ppf.unsa.ba

² Institute of Chemistry, Technology and Metallurgy, University of Belgrade, Njegoševa 12, 11000 Beograd, Serbia

Abstract. From the large number of pollutants that enter the soil throughhuman activity, special attention should be paid to heavy metals due to their toxic effects on the environment. The toxic effects of heavy metals manifest themselves through the pollution of land and water systems. Through plants they enter the food chain and manifest their harmful effects on human health. The pyrophyllite as aluminosilicate material can potentially be used as a remedial measure because it reduces the presence of heavy metals in the soil, and thus its absorption into the plant. The location of the field experiment is in the immediate vicinity of the thermal power plant and the cement factory in Kakanj, which are among the biggest environmental polluters in the Zenica-Doboj Canton. Pyrophyllite particles with a size of 100 µm were added in the soil of potato field in amounts of 200, 400 and 600 kg ha⁻¹, in three repetitions. Accessible forms of heavy metals from soil samples and potato leaves were extracted with EDTA solution $(0.01 \text{ mol dm}^{-3} \text{ C10H16N2O8} \text{ and } 1 \text{ mol dm}^{-3} \text{ (NH4)2CO3}, \text{ adjusted to pH 8.6)},$ and their concentrations in the obtained extract were determined by the method of atomic absorption spectrophotometry. In the conditions of the conducted experiment, the application of pyrophyllite, regardless of the applied dose, reduced the availability of Zn, Mn, Cd and Co in the tested soil.

Keywords: heavy metals · pyrophyllite · remediation

1 Introduction

With the level of human development (infrastructure, traffic, industry), the level of development of society also increases, but at the same time, the negative impact of humans on the environment also increases.

Establishing a balance between industrialization and urbanization on the one hand and environmental protection on the other is the main challenge for all modern societies. And protecting the soil quality is certainly one of the foundations on which this balance is based on [25, 26].

Of the large number of pollutants that reach the soil due to human activity, heavy metals should be given special attention due to their toxic effects on the environment.

Because of these facts, the preservation of fertile and remediation of agricultural areas contaminated with heavy metals is simply imposed as a necessity if one wants to protect soil as a primary resource for food production [13].

All heavy metals tend to accumulate in the organism of plants and humans, which can consequently lead to toxic effects on their health.

In addition to the content and form of heavy metals in the soil, the availability of heavy metals to plants also depends on the type of soil, its chemical and physical properties, and genetic properties of the cultivated plant [20, 24, 27]. The accessibility of heavy metals to the plant, and thus its harmful effects, are most influenced by the pH value, and the capacity and state of saturation of the soil adsorption complex [5]. It is considered that the pH value of the soil is the key factor on which the uptake of heavy metals from the soil into the plant depends and that decreasing the pH value increases the accessibility of heavy metals [18, 22].

Given that conventional methods of environmental heavy metals remediation are very expensive and destructive in terms of soil composition, structure, fertility and biological diversity, and that they are limited to relatively small areas [21, 24], it is necessary to develop innovative environmental rehabilitation technologies that would be effective but also economical.

2 Material and Method

The Zenica-Doboj Canton (ZDK) occupies central and northeastern part of Bosnia and Herzegovina. Its total area is 3343.3 km². The largest part of ZDK stretches along the Bosna river valley, along the course of which seven cities are located within this canton: Visoko, Kakanj, Zenica, Žepče, Maglaj, Zavidovići and Doboj-jug. The relief of the ZDK in the southern hilly part stretches from Visoko to Zenica, following the course of the Bosna River. This stream is characterized by a moderately continental climate, characterized by warm summers and cold winters with moderate amounts and an even distribution of precipitation.

The special feature of ZDK, more precisely its lithosphere, is the wealth of coal, ores and minerals, which was the basis for the development of mining, metallurgy and metalworking industry in this area. In the area of ZDK, a large part of the population is engaged in agricultural production, mostly as an additional activity. This canton is also characterized by a large network of roads with a high frequency of traffic. Taking into account all the above facts; the concentrations of minerals in the lithosphere, and the strong development of the metal processing industry accompanied by the emission of fumes and dust, it can be assumed that the lands in this area, especially in the area of the municipality of Kakanj, where the industry is widespread, are more or less polluted, and thus also risky from the aspect of use in the production of healthy food.

Thermal power plant Kakanj (TEK) uses coal to generate electricity and is one of the biggest polluters of the environment in Bosnia and Herzegovina. Environmental pollution in the vicinity of TEK is primarily attributed to high concentrations of carbon dioxide (CO2), sulfur dioxide (SO2), nitrogen oxide (NO) and heavy metals resulting from coal combustion. The release of heavy metals from TEK and their subsequent deposition in the soil is a growing problem for the social community, especially for agricultural producers whose agricultural production is prevented or at least limited due to soil pollution.

Soil treatment with aluminosilicate materials, which have been proven to have a positive effect on the immobilization of heavy metals in the soil, is certainly one of the procedures that could contribute to the achievement of this goal, which is why it was also used as part of this research.

In this research, the influence of the aluminosilicate material pyrophyllite on the content and accessibility of heavy metals in potato leaves on the plots near the thermal power plant in Kakanj is presented.

The first phase of this research was carried out in the period from 1st of March to 1st of April 2019, and its focus was the determination of the current state of heavy metals soil pollution of a plot and the land near the thermal power plant in Kakanj (Zenica-Doboj canton).

The second phase of this research was conducted in the period from 1st of April to 15th of April 2019. Its focus was the analysis of the content of total and accessible forms of heavy metals (Cd, Cr, Pb, Zn, Cu, Mn, Fe, Ni) in the collected average soil samples from the investigated locality. As part of this phase of the research, the type of land on each tested plot was determined, as well as the basic parameters of fertility (pH, humus content, carbonate content, and the content of accessible forms of phosphorus and potassium). The analyzes were performed in the laboratory of the Faculty of Agriculture and Food Sciences, University of Sarajevo.

The third phase of the research included the application of remedial measures on the selected plot of land, i.e. the application of the aluminosilicate material pyrophyllite.

A random block experiment with 4 variants in 3 repetitions was set up on the examined land. The variants of the experiment were as follows:

- 1. Variant (control; without addition of pyrophyllite).
- 2. Variant (application of 200 kg/ha of pyrophyllite with a granulation of 0–3 mm).
- 3. Variant (application of 400 kg/ha of pyrophyllite with a granulation of 0–3 mm).
- 4. Variant (application of 600 kg/ha of pyrophyllite with a granulation of 0–3 mm).

All the mentioned quantities were recalculated according to the area of the sample plots (the sample plots had an area of 20 m^2 , with a 1 m wide distance between all plots to minimize the influence of one variant on another). Seven days after setting up the experiment, potatoes were sown on the tested plot, with the aim of determining whether the application of aluminosilicate materials affected the uptake of heavy metals by the tested plant. When plant reached its technological maturity, sampling of plant material and soil was carried out on the experimental plots. Heavy metals content was tested in the plant material (potato leaf), as well as the content of accessible forms of heavy metals in the soil.

The aluminosilicate material pyrophyllite was used for the chemical stabilization of soil contaminated with heavy metals. The culture on which the influence of pyrophyllite was monitored was the early variety of Agria potato.

Pyrophyllite is a natural mineral from the group of aluminosilicates with the chemical formula Al2[Si4O10](OH)2, and it is characterized by the following properties: hardness is between 1 and 1.5 on the Mohs scale, density between 2.7 and 2.9 g/cm³, it is hydrophobic, alkaline reactions (pH between 7.5 and 8.5). It is soft, visually very similar to talc, and its color varies depending on the proportion of oxides and other components in the pyrophyllite ore, but as a rule it is white to gray-white in color. According to available data from the literature, pure pyrophyllite consists of 60.0–67.6% SiO2 and 28.3–28.9% Al2O3 [2, 4]. The elementary cell of this mineral is electroneutral and therefore does not show any colloidal abilities [33].

The pyrophyllite material used in this research was created by crushing and sieving pyrophyllite ore from the Parsovići – Konjic site, Bosnia and Herzegovina. Except for silicon dioxide (SiO2) and aluminum oxide (Al2O3), which together make up 80 to 90% of the chemical composition of pyrophyllite, it also contains various other impurities that can greatly affect its properties, especially the effective cation exchange capacity. The chemical analysis of the pyrophyllite material used in this research was done in the laboratory of the Faculty of Agriculture and Food Sciences, University of Sarajevo, and the obtained results are presented in Table 1.

Tested parameter	Unit	Value
pH (H2O)	pH	8.5
pH (KCl)	pН	8.1
SiO2	%	67.55
Al2O3	%	19.10
Ca	%	3.65
K	%	0.023
Mg	%	0.135
Fe	%	0.337
Cu	mg/kg	1.40
Ni	mg/kg	2.74
Zn	mg/kg	25.68
Со	mg/kg	0.40
Mn	mg/kg	93.14
Cd	mg/kg	n.d.*
Pb	mg/kg	7.97
Cr	mg/kg	0.76

Table 1. Chemical analysis of pyrophyllite used in this research

* n.d. – not detected (below the detection limit of the instrument)

The results from Table 1 show that the pyrophyllite used in this research does not deviate significantly from the basic chemical characteristics of pyrophyllite ores, except for the fact that it contains a relatively high proportion of calcium and magnesium. It can be assumed that the pyrophyllite ore from the Parsovići – Konjic site contains a certain amount of dolomite or some other natural material rich in the mentioned elements. A

positive characteristic of the pyrophyllite material used in this research is the fact that it contains very low concentrations of toxic heavy metals, which makes it environmentally acceptable for use in remedial purposes.

The work methods used in this research were as follows:

- a pH meter [14] was used to determine the pH value of the soil,
- humus content in soil samples was determined by the dichromate method [15],
- the content of easily accessible forms of potassium and phosphorus in soil samples was determined by the ammonium lactate (AL) method [9].
- the extraction of the total forms of heavy metals from the soil was done with the use of gold dust (a mixture of nitric and hydrochloric acid in a ratio of 1:3) according to the ISO 11466 [17] method,
- the extraction of accessible forms of heavy metals from the soil was done using the so-called EDTA-solutions (a mixture of 1 M (NH4)2CO3 and 0.01 M EDTA (ethylene-diamino-tetraacetic acid) where the pH of the solution was adjusted to 8.6 using HCl or NH4OH),
- the extraction of heavy metals from plant material was done with the use of nitric and sulfuric acid (in a ratio of 2.5:1) according to the method specified in the practicum of Lisjak et al. [23],
- the determination of the content of heavy metals in plant material samples, and the content of total and accessible forms of heavy metals in soil samples was performed using the method of flame atomic absorption spectrophotometry on a Shimadzu 7000 AA apparatus [16].

3 Results and Discussion

The object of the work was a plot of land located in the immediate vicinity of the thermal power plant (44°5′26″N, 18°6′51″E). The type of land on the selected plot was rendzina, which was determined by visual observation of the pedological profiles made on the plots, and additionally confirmed by the review of the Pedological Map of Bosnia and Herzegovina 1:50000 authored by the Federal Institute for Agropedology in Sarajevo.

The average content of total forms of heavy metals in the tested land plots are shown in Table 2.

Content of heavy metals (mg/kg soil)								
E*	Cu	Zn	Mn	Cd	Pb	Ni	Cr	Со
V*	41.99	56.24	1091.06	0.17	64.60	127.89	16.21	13.58
LV*	65	150	-	1	80	50	80	45

Table 2. Results of the analysis of the content of heavy metals in the tested soil

 E^* – Elements; V^* – Value; LV^* – Limit value for the content of heavy metals for soils in Federation B&H above which the soil can be considered polluted [30].

131

Before carrying out the process of chemical stabilization of the tested land using aluminosilicate materials, the degree of its contamination with heavy metals was determined. For these purposes, the Rulebook on determination of permitted amounts of harmful and dangerous substances in soil for the Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina, and the classification of soil pollution according to Bašić [3] were used.

According to this classification, the tested land is included in class III, i.e. heavily polluted with heavy metal contamination (land that belongs to this class can be used for growing plants, but enhanced protection measures are required).

3.1 Results of the Analysis of the Basic Fertility Parameters of the Tested land near the Thermal Power Plant in Kakanj

The results of the analysis of the basic parameters of soil fertility (pH, humus content, carbonate content, and the content of accessible forms of phosphorus and potassium) on the plot that was used to carry out the procedure of chemical stabilization of the soil are shown in Table 3.

Parametre	Unit	Measured value	Soil characteristic
pH (H2O) pH (KCl)	-	7.2	nutral
	-	6.9	-
Humus	%	3.63	moderately
Phosphorus(P2O5)	mg 100g ⁻¹	2.05	low
Potasium (K2O)	${ m mg}\;100{ m g}^{-1}$	22.7	optimal
Carbonates	%	11.9	very high

Table 3. Presentation of the results obtained from the chemical analysis of the tested soil

The results of the analysis showed that the tested soil is moderately humus with a neutral reaction, which represents a favorable environment for the cultivation of most agricultural crops. The content of accessible forms of phosphorus in the tested soil was very low, while the soil was optimally provided with an accessible form of potassium. With the aim of determining whether the differences in the content of accessible forms of heavy metals between the examined variants were statistically justified, an analysis of variance was performed, and the obtained results are shown in Table 4.

Soil treatment with pyrophyllite in all used doses had a statistically significant effect on the reduction of Zn, Mn, Cd and Co availability in the soil. An interesting detail is that the doses of pyrophyllite 400 kg/ha and 600 kg/ha were not statistically significantly different from each other in terms of their influence on the accessibility of the mentioned elements.

When it comes to Pb, only the application of pyrophyllite in doses of 400 kg/ha and 600 kg/ha had a significant impact on reducing its availability in the soil. All other soil treatments with aluminosilicate materials did not show a statistically significant effect on the reduction of Pb availability in the soil.

Variant [*]	Content of accessible forms of heavy metals in soil (mg/kg)							
	Cu	Zn	Mn	Cd	Pb	Ni	Cr	Co
V1 (control)	3.89	2.11 ^a	7.56 ^a	0.050 ^a	2.66 ^a	0.90	0.069	n.d
V2(P200)	3.62	1.61 ^e	6.13 ^b	0.034 ^d	2.51 ^a	0.86	0.070	n.d
V3 (P400)	3.48	1.33 ^f	5.29 ^c	0.028 ^f	2.43 ^b	0.85	0.071	n.d
V4 (P600)	3.49	1.32 ^f	5.55 ^{bc}	0.029 ^f	2.27 ^b	0.81	0.072	n.d
LSD0.05	-	0.162	0.708	0.0037	0.168	-	-	-
LV*	65	150	-	1	80	50	80	45

Table 4. Results of testing the differences significance between the environments for the content of accessible forms of heavy metals in the tested soil near the thermal power plant in Kakanj

* V1 – Control (untreated variant); V2 – Pyrophyllite 200 kg/ha; V3 – Pyrophyllite 400 kg/ha; V4 – Pyrophyllite 600 kg/ha; n.d. – not detected; LV* – Limit value for the content of heavy metals for soils in Federation B&H above which the soil can be considered polluted[30]

3.2 Results of the Analysis of the Content of Heavy Metals in Potato Leaves Grown on Polluted Land Near the Thermal Power Plant in Kakanj

The content of Mn, Cd, Pb and Ni in potato leaves was always higher in the control (untreated) variant compared to the variants where aluminosilicate material was used, which points to the conclusion that the treatment of soil with pyrophyllite had a positive effect on reducing the accumulation of the mentioned elements in potato leaves.

Unlike the previously mentioned elements, the accumulation of Cu, Zn, Cr and Co in potato leaves was not always lower in the variants where the land treated with pyrophyllite was observed in relation to the untreated (control) variant.

To determine the statistical significance of the influence of pyrophyllite on the accumulation of heavy metals in potato leaves, the F test was performed, and the significance of the differences between the environments for the content of those heavy metals in which the F test proved significant. The obtained results are shown in Table 5.

The treatment of soil with pyrophyllite in a dose of 200 kg/ha also did not significantly affect the reduction of the content of any of the tested elements in the leaves of potatoes grown on the tested soil. Soil treatment with pyrophyllite at a dose of 400 kg/ha had a significant effect on the reduction of Cu, Zn, Mn, Ni and Cr content, while at a dose of 600 kg/ha it also significantly affected the reduction of Co in potato leaves, compared to the untreated (control) variant.

None of the soil treatments with pyrophyllite contributed to the reduction of Cd accumulation in potato leaves. This data was not expected if we consider the fact that soil treatments with aluminosilicates significantly affected the reduction of Cd availability in the soil. The assumption is that the adopted potato mostly accumulates Cd in the roots of the plant. This results in its lower transport into the leaves of the plant, and therefore there are fewer opportunities to determine the differences in the influence of the used aluminosilicates on the accumulation of Cd in the plant if the test parameter is the Cd content in leaves. Determination of Cd content in roots would be a more appropriate

Table 5. Results of testing the differences significance between environments for the content of heavy metals in the leaves of potatoes grown on the tested land near the thermal power plant in Kakanj

Variant	Heavy metals content in potato leaves (mg/kg of dry matter)							
	Cu	Zn	Mn	Cd	Pb	Ni	Cr	Co
V1(cont)	15.06 ^a b	45.87 ^a b	164.62 ^a	0.27 9	6.39 a	12.27 ^a	0.142 ^a b	1.88 ^{ab} c
V2 (P200)	15.92 ^a	40.94 ^b c	157.99 ^{abc} d	0.26 8	6.12 a	12.08 ^{ab} c	0.143 ^a	1.91 ^{ab}
V3 (P400)	12.04 d	35.86 ^c d	133.62 ^e	0.26 0	5.95 a	7.32 ^d	0.101 ^d	1.97 ^a
V4 (P600)	11.85 d	28.53 ^e	61.36 ^f	0.22 6	6.01 a	5.29 ^e	0.095 ^d e	1.39 ^e
LSD0.05	2.68	5.368	15.55	-		1.522	0.026	0.178

V1 – Control (untreated variant); V5 -Pyrophyllite 200 kg/ha; V6 – Pyrophyllite400 kg/ha; V7 – Pyrophyllite 600 kg/ha.

parameter for these purposes. Subhashree et al. [32] in their research came to conclusion that 75% of Cd and 98% of Pb can be removed from an acidic environment within the first 30 min of shaking wastewater samples. They stated that the adsorption capacity of Cd (II) and Pb (II) decreases with an increase in particle diameter, and because of this, smaller particle sizes have larger adsorption power. Janjićijević et al. [19] investigated the potential use of pyrophyllite for wastewater treatment and, and noted that Pb is best absorbed by pyrophyllite, and Cd and Zn were least absorbed.

Pyrophyllite has other uses in agriculture. Govedarica-Lučić et al. [12] noted the increase in yield and dry matter in cabbage grown on soil to which pyrophyllite was added, and Adamović et al. [1] concluded that the addition of pyrophyllite with a granulation of 100 μ m to corn silage leads to the appearance of better organoleptic properties (color and smell), reduction of the content of milk and increasing the content of acetic acid, and decreasing the number of aerobic bacteria and yeasts.

The addition of pyrophyllite to the substrate generally leads to a decrease in the availability of heavy metals for plants [6, 7, 11, 28].

The use of clay minerals has proven to be effective for chromium immobilization [8, 10].

4 Conclusion

In the conditions of the experiment, the application of pyrophyllite in a dose of 200 kg/ha reduced the accessibility of Zn by 23.7%, Mn by 18.9%, Cd by 32.0%, and Co by 37.3% in the tested soil, in a dose of 400 kg/ha it reduced accessibility of Zn by 37.0%, Mn by 30.0%, Cd by 44.0% and Co by 66.7%, and in a dose of 600 kg/ha it reduced accessibility of Zn by 37.4%, Mn by 26.6%, Cd by 42.0% and Co by 70.5%. Application

of pyrophyllite in a dose of 400 kg/ha had a significant effect on the reduction of Cu, Zn, Mn, Ni and Cr content, while in a dose of 600 kg/ha it had asignificant effect on the reduction of Co in potato leaves.

References

- Adamović, M.J., Stojanović, M.D., Harbinja, M.M., Maslovarić, M.D., Bočarov-Stančić, A.S., Pezo, L.L.: Efficiency investigation of the use of pyrophyllite in ensiling maize plant. Food Feed Res. 47(2), 109–118 (2020)
- Ali, M.A., Ahmed, H.A.M., Ahmed, H.M., Hefni, M.: Pyrophyllite: an economic mineral for different industrial applications. Appl. Sci. 11, 11357 (2021)
- Bašić, F.: Trajno motrenje tla u okviru RZ Alpe, Alpe-Jadran i Podunavlje. U Poljoprivreda i gospodarenje vodama – Priopæenja sa znanstvenog skupa. Bizovačke toplice. str. 153–178 (1994)
- Bentayeb, A., Amouric, M., Olives, J., Dekayir, A., Nadiri, A.: XRD and HRTEM characterization of pyrophyllite from Morocco and its possible applications. Appl. Clay Sci. 22, 211–221 (2003)
- Blake, L., Goulding, K.W.T.: Effects of atmospheric deposition, soil pH and acidification on hevay metal contents in soils and vegetation of semi-natural ecosystems at Rothamsted Experimental Station, UK. Plant Soil 240(2), 235–251 (2002)
- Caporale, A.G., Vioalante, A.: Chemical processes affecting the mobility of heavy metals and metalloids in soil environments. Curr. Pollution Rep. 2(1), 15–27 (2016)
- Chalyaraksa, C., Tumtong, M.: Acid soil amendment by zeolite, sepiolite and diatomite. ScienceAsia 45, 253–259 (2019)
- Dhal, B., Thatoi, H.N., Das, N.N., Pandey, B.D.: Chemical and microbial remediation of hexavalent chromium from contaminated soil and mining/metallurgical solid waste: a review. J. Hazard. Mater. 250–251, 272–291 (2013)
- Egnér, H., Riehm, H., Domingo, W.R.: Studies on the chemical soil analysis as a basis for the assessment of the nutrient status of soils. II. Chemical extraction methods for determination of phosphorus and potassium. Kungliga Lantbruks-Högskolans Annaler 26, 199–215 (1960)
- Ertani, A., Mietto, A., Borin, M., Nardi, S.: Chromium in agricultural soils and crops: a review. Water Air Soil Pollut. 228, 190 (2017)
- 11. Esmaeili, A., Mobini, M., Eslami, H.: Removal of heavy metals from acid mine drainage by native natural clay minerals, batch and continuous studies. Appl. Water Sci. 9, 97 (2019)
- 12. Govedarica-Lučić, A., Pašić, A., Jovović, M., Rahimić, A.: Effects of dose of pyrophyllite on yield and quality of the cabbage. Acta Sci. Pol. Hortorum Cultus **20**(5), 25–32 (2021)
- 13. He, Z.L., Yang, X.E., Stoffellab, P.J.: Trace elements in agroecosystems and impacts on the environment. J. Trace Elem. Med Biol. **19**, 125–140 (2005)
- International Standard Organization, Soil quality Determination of pH, ISO 10390. Geneva (2005)
- 15. International Standard Organization, Soil quality Determination of organic carbon in soil by sulfochromic oxidation, ISO 14235. Geneva (1998)
- International Standard Organization, Soil quality Determination of cadmium, chromium, cobalt, copper, lead, manganese, nickel and zinc – Flame and electrothermal atomic absorption spectrometric methods, ISO 11047. Geneva (1998)
- International Standard Organization, Soil quality Extraction of trace elements soluble in aqua regia, ISO 11466. Geneva (1995)
- Jakovljević M., Antić-Mladenović S.: Visoki sadržaji teških metala u zemljištima i njihova koncetracija u biljkama, pp. 71–76. *Ekološki pokret grada*, Zbornik radova, Novi Sad (2000)
- Janjićijević, A., et al.: Pyrophyllite "Parsovići" efficient matherial in heavy metal removal. In: The 51st International October Conference on Mining and Metallurgy, 16–19 Oct 2019. Bor Lake, Serbia (2019)
- 20. Kabata-Pendias, A., Pendias, H.: Trace Metals in Soils and Plants, 2nd edn. CRC Press, Boca Raton, Fla, USA (2001)
- Khan, A.G., Kuek, C., Chaudhry, T.M., Khoo, C.S., Hayes, W.J.: Role of plants, mycorrhizae and phytochelators in heavy metal contaminated land remediation. Chemosphere 41(1), 197– 207 (2000)
- Kovačević, V., Bertić, B., Grgić, D.: Response of maize, barley, wheat and soybean to liming on acid soils. Rostlinna vyroba **39**(1), 41–52 (1993)
- Lisjak, M., Špoljarević, M., Agić, D., Andrić, L.: Practicum-Plant Physiology, 1st edn. Joseph George Strossmayer University of Osijek, Faculty of Agriculture (2009)
- Luo, Y.M., Christie, P., Baker, A.J.M.: Soil solution Zn and pH dynamics in non-rhizosphere soil and in the rhizosphere of Thlaspi caerulescens grown in a Zn/Cd-contaminated soil. Chemosphere 41(1–2), 161–164 (2000). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0045-6535(99)00405-1
- 25. Mengel, K., Kirkby, E.A.: Principles of Plant Nutrition, 3rd edn. International Potash Institute Bern, Switzerland (1982)
- Oreščanin, V., Kollar, R., Ruk, D., Nađ, K.: Characterization and electrochemical treatment of landfill leachate. J. Env. Sci. Health Part A. Toxic/Hazardous Subst. Env. Eng. 47(3), 462–469 (2012)
- Osmanović, S.: Procjena sadržaja teških metala u povrću uzgojenom na tuzlanskom području.
 Naučno-stručni skup sa međunarodnim učešćem 'QUALITY 201', Neum, B i H, 10. 13 juni 2015 (2015)
- Park, J.A., Kang, J.K., Kim, S.B.: Comparative analysis of bacteriophages and bacteria removal in soils and pyrophylliteamended soils: column experiments. Water Air Soil Pollut. 228, 103 (2017)
- Pranjić, N.: Oboljevanje i umiranje ljudi izloženih teškim metalima u neposrednoj blizini odlagališta šljake i pepela termoelektrane Tuzla. http://ekologija.ba/wp-content/uploads/201 8/02/ (2017)
- Službene novine F BiH: 'Pravilnik o utvrđivanju dozvoljenih količina štetnih i opasnih materija u zemljištu za F BiH', br. 72/09 (2009)
- Službeni glasnik BiH: 'Pravilnik o maksimalno dozvoljenim količinama za određene kontaminante u hrani', br. 37/09 (2009)
- Subhashree, S., Sandeep Kumar, J., Bisweswar, D.: Application of pyrophyllite mine waste for the removal of cadmium and lead ions from aqueous solutions. Desalination Water Treat. 57, 1–15 (2015)
- Tecilazić-Stevanović, M.: Osnove tehnologije keramike, pp. 149–164. Tehnološko-metalurški fakultet, Beograd (1990)



Spontaneous Flora of Urban Domestic Gardens of the City of Sarajevo

Nermina Sarajlić^{1(\Bigger)}, Nejc Jogan², and Vladimir Ranđelović¹

¹ Department of Biology and Ecology, Faculty of Sciences and Mathematics, Niš, Serbia nermina.sarajlic@ptice.ba

² Department of Biology, Biotechnical Faculty, University of Ljubljana, Ljubljana, Slovenia

Abstract. Gardens around private houses are complex urban habitats, and generally consist of a mosaic of different microhabitats including hedges, paved surfaces, lawns, flowerbeds, fruit trees, vegetable patches and areas of uncultivated land. Although their individual size is small, domestic gardens significantly contribute to the overall flora of the urban areas. The floristic composition of domestic gardens is influenced by both natural processes and by the activities of the owners, who shape them according to their own preferences, depending on culture and lifestyle. Domestic gardens have not been represented in ecological studies until recently, primarily due to lack of access and were deliberately omitted, but it has been showed that they represent the greatest source of potentially invasive alien plants. This study, conducted in the area of 32 km^2 , as a part of a wider study of the urban flora of the city of Sarajevo, presents the first detailed analysis of the spontaneous flora in the domestic gardens and provides new knowledge on the flora of this, often overlooked, habitat.

Keywords: Domestic Gardens · Sarajevo · Floristic Composition · Urbanization

1 Introduction

The term domestic gardens (home gardens, backyard gardens, kitchen gardens, dooryard gardens, household gardens) refers to small patches of ground, associated with residential (owned or rented) homes, often delimited from their surroundings by hedges, walls, fences or other barriers [1]. Domestic gardens are complex habitats, and generally comprise paved paths and patios, lawns, flowerbeds, vegetable patches, various shrubs and trees, and in some cases a pond or fountain, a greenhouse, as well as uncultivated and neglected grounds, and a composting area [2, 3].

Although each garden individually occupies a small area, the total contribution of this type of habitat to the total green areas of the city can be substantial and constitute 16–36% of the total urban area [2, 4–7]. Species diversity in domestic gardens is often determined by a combination of environmental, cultural and socio-economic factors [8–10], and is directly influenced by the owners, who shape them according to their own discretion depending on culture, lifestyle and aesthetic preferences [11, 12]. Domestic gardens contribute significantly to the total number of plant taxa in urban environments,

and are also a key site for introduction of non-native plants, including the invasive taxa [2, 13, 14].

Generally, horticultural practice promotes the use of low-maintenance plants [11], and is the main pathway for the introduction of alien taxa. Ornamental plants comprise more than 40% of widespread invasive plant taxa [15]. As domestic gardens are the places where alien taxa that escaped cultivation often occur first, the study of spontaneous domestic garden floras is interesting with respect to potential spread of alien taxa. Since most domestic gardens are located in the peripheral parts of the urban areas, close to the natural vegetation, there is a high rate of species exchange between gardens and their surroundings [16], and acquiring knowledge about the floristic composition of the domestic gardens could anticipate the spread of alien taxa and changes in biodiversity of natural plant communities. Domestic gardens are also regarded as an important habitat for managing and conserving biodiversity, including rare, endangered or endemic taxa [7, 8].

Private gardens have not been represented in ecological studies until recently [2, 17–19], primarily due to lack of access and were deliberately omitted in surveys of urban floras. The study of home gardens was initiated in the tropics of South East Asia [20], and most available data are from tropical Asia and Central America [8, 10, 21–26] and Africa [27–29], but these are mainly focused on role of domestic gardens as sustainable agroforestry systems.

To our knowledge, home-gardens in cities have not been systematically studied in Bosnia and Herzegovina, and this paper attempts to describe and analyze the flora of domestic gardens from an urban environment, with focus on alien taxa and taxa of conservational interest. We also analyzed if the floristic similarity between gardens changes according to the urbanization gradient (i.e. with the distance from the center of the urbanized area).

2 Materials and methods

2.1 Surveyed Area

The survey was performed from the summer of 2015 to the autumn of 2021, in the gardens of private, owner-occupied dwellings in the urban part of the city of Sarajevo (Fig. 1), in an area of 32 km^2 within the administrative boundary of the city, in $1 \times 1 \text{ km}$ grid cells with more than 25% coverage by residential or industrial zones [2, 3]. The plants were recorded by surveying the entire domestic garden area, where it was possible, or by observing the area from the street or nearby path, if the access to the garden was not granted by the owners. The survey was carried out using an ad-hoc method, which consists in examining the site until it is subjectively concluded that no more species can be found there [30]. Only the spontaneous flora (native taxa, and aliens that were observed growing as seedlings, in a places outside the ones where they were originally planted or sown) was recorded. Cultivars were not considered as separate taxa.



Fig. 1. Surveyed area

2.2 Data Analyss

The nomenclature follows the Euro + Med PlantBase [31]. The data on the life forms is taken from Flora of Italy [32, 33], with categories based on the classification of Raunkiaer [34].

The taxa were classified into floral elements [35], and assigned alien or native status [36, 37]. Alien taxa were further classified according to their residence time, mode of introduction and geographic origin [37, 38], as well as the degree of naturalization [38–40]. The native taxa were assigned endemic [41], and conservation status [42]. The data on the affinity towards the conditions that prevail in urban environments were taken from the BiolFlor database [43].

The scope of anthropogenic changes of the flora was assessed using the indicators based on proportions between individual geographical-historical groups[44–46]:

- 1. Indicators of anthropization.
 - 1.1. Indicator of total anthropization, $IAnt = An/(Sp + An) \times 100$;
 - 1.2. Indicator of permanent anthropization, $IAnp = Mt/(Sp + Mt) \times 100$;
- 2. Indicators of archaeophytization.
 - 2.1. Indicator of total archaeophytization, $IArt = Ar/(Sp + An) \times 100$;
 - 2.2. Indicator of permanent archaeophytization, $IArp = Ar/(Sp + Mt) \times 100$;
- 3. Indicators of kenophytization.
 - 3.1. Indicator of total kenophytization, $IKnt = Kn/(Sp + An) \times 100$;
 - 3.2. Indicator of permanent kenophytization, $IKnp = Kn/(Sp + Mt) \times 100$.
- 4. Indicator of flora modernization, $IM = (Kn/Mt) \times 100$;
- 5. Indicator of fluctuation changes, $IF = Df/(Sp + An) \times 100$;

where An is number of alien taxa; Sp – number of native taxa; Mt – number of permanently established alien taxa (Ar + Kn – Df), Ar – number of archaeophytes, Kn – number of neophytes, Df – number of casual alien taxa.

To examine the floristic similarity along the urbanization gradient, similarity of 1×1 km squares was calculated based on the Bray-Curtis cluster analysis using the PAST software [47].

3 Results and Discussion

During this research, a total of 505 species of 296 genera and 76 families were recorded. The most abundant families were *Compositae* (67 taxa, 13.27%), *Poaceae* (52 taxa, 10.3%) and *Fabaceae* (35 taxa, 6.93%). These families are the most numerous in the total vascular flora of Bosnia and Herzegovina [48]. The flora of domestic gardens in England [4] and France [49] is dominated by *Compositae* and *Rosaceae*, probably due to the fact that deliberately planted ornamentals and fruit trees and shrubs (most of which are *Rosaceae*) were included in these analyses. Out of 76 families recorded in domestic gardens in Sarajevo, 23 (30.36%) were represented by only a single species, 16 of which were native, and 7 alien. The number of taxa in domestic gardens in Sarajevo is in accordance to the data given in the available literature sources, which ranges from 208, as recorded in Marseille (France) [6], to 1166 in Sheffield (England) [4]. The large number of plant taxa in gardens is a result of the fact that in most domestic gardens, nutrients and water are constantly added to the soil, enabling the survival of plants in places where it would not otherwise be possible [18].

The analysis of life forms showed the domination of hemicryptophytes (244 taxa, 48.32%), followed by therophytes (25.54%), phanerophytes (11.68%), geophytes (8.32%), and chamaephytes (6.14%). Hydrophytes were not recorded among the spontaneous taxa. The domination of hemicryptophytes and therophytes was also noted in weed flora of gardens in settlements in around Plešivica mountain in Croatia [50].

Most of the taxa found in the domestic gardens of Sarajevo naturally occur in Bosnia and Herzegovina (86.93% of the garden flora). The share of alien taxa (13.07%) is much smaller than in this habitat type in other cities worldwide. For example, in Minneapolis– Saint Paul in Minnesota (USA), 59% of all spontaneous yard taxa were exotic [51], an average of 71% alien taxa was calculated for domestic gardens in 5 cities in Great Britain[3], and an average of 40% for 54 Central European cities [52]. In private gardens in Lauris and Marseille, there were 13% and 10% alien taxa, respectively [6]. The high ratio of alien taxa in private gardens worldwide is a result of the horticultural practices, which promote the planting of hardy and aesthetically pleasing non-native plants [1]. In Sarajevo, however, most domestic gardens are located in the peripheral part of the city, on the slopes of hills surrounding the city, where the local microclimate due to the higher altitude prevents the development of taxa originating from warmer regions. Numerous domestic gardens in Sarajevo also include a traditionally managed vegetable patches and small orchards, and parts of unmanaged or neglected ground, where the development of native vegetation is encouraged.

Out of 66 alien taxa observed during this survey, 47 (71.21%) are naturalized and 21 (31.82% of total number of alien taxa) invasive. Alien flora of domestic gardens

of Sarajevo is dominated by neophytes (38 taxa or 57.57%). The ratio of neophytes to archaeophytes increases in direct relation to the intensity of human disturbance [53], as archaeophytes are typically associated with traditional rural environments or intermediate levels of anthropogenic activities, while neophytes are more common in highly disturbed habitats, which provide distinctive environmental conditions that favor the establishment of plant taxa from warmer and drier areas [40, 52, 54, 55]. The neophyte/archaeophyte ratio in domestic garden flora of Sarajevo (1.52) indicates the high intensity of anthropogenic disturbance in this urban habitat type.

According to the mode of introduction, most alien taxa (42 or 63.64%) found during this survey were deliberately introduced in Balkan region and/or in Europe, mostly as ornamentals, or various crops, including fruit trees and vines. Some of these "planta hortifuga" [56] tend to escape the cultivation and establish their populations in fringe vegetation, as on the riparian habitats and banks, roadsides, along forest edges, on wasteyards, old walls, debris and also on arable fields.

During this survey, some of invasive neophytes introduced as ornamentals (*Reynoutria japonica* Houtt., *Acer negundo* L. *Ailanthus altissima* (Mill.) Swingle, *Helianthus tuberosus* L., *Impatiens balfourii* Hooker f., *Parthenocissus quinquefolia* (L.) Planchon, *Robinia pseudoacacia* L., *Solidago gigantea* Aiton), were observed to invade the natural or seminatural vegetation. Still, these taxa are either deliberately planted and grown in many surveyed gardens, or not removed in their seedling stages. Given the fact that most domestic gardens in Sarajevo are located in the peripheral parts of the city, it is possible that these plant taxa can become troublesome invaders particularly on dry, rocky or gravelly soils, or in riparian habitats such as are the ones found in the protected area of Bentbaša, located in the western part of the surveyed area.

The high number of seedlings of *Rhus typhina* L. was observed during this survey. This neophyte is listed as invasive in Belgium [57] and Serbia [58], and has not reached its maximum range yet, so its spread should be monitored.

Most accidentally introduced taxa are agricultural weeds (e.g. Amaranthus retroflexus L., Ambrosia artemisiifolia L., Datura stramonium L., Erigeron canadensis L., E. annuus (L.) Pers., Galinsoga parviflora Cav., G. quadriradiata Ruiz & Pav., Papaver rhoeas L., Veronica persica Poir...), which can be explained by the fact that some of the surveyed domestic gardens comprise parts in which the traditional agricultural practices are still present (vegetable patches or orchards).

The analysis of floral elements of domestic garden flora of Sarajevo (Fig. 2) shows the dominance of widespread taxa (29.89%), followed by taxa of Eurasian (25.84%) and South European (13.93%) floral element. The ratio of cultivated and adventitious plants is rather low (9.89%), which is in accordance to the low percentage of alien taxa in the overall flora. Widespread and Eurasian taxa were the most numerous in garden communities in Plešivica hills in Croatia as well [50]. The domination of Eurasian taxa in both cases can be explained by the geographic location of the surveyed area, and the widespread taxa have fewer specific environmental preferences and tend to have a higher affinity to urban areas [59].

Most alien taxa (31.52%) originate from Asia, followed by taxa from other parts of Europe, mostly Mediterranean (Fig. 3). American taxa constitute 27.17% of alien flora (including 18.48 taxa from North America, 4.35 taxa from Central America and 4.35



Fig. 2. Spectrum of floral elements (%) of domestic garden flora of Sarajevo (MEDI – Mediterranean floral element, ILBA – Illyrian-Balkan floral element, SOEU – South European floral element, EEUP – East European-Pontic floral element, SEEU – Southeast European floral element, CEEU – Central European floral element, EURO – European floral element, EUAS – Eura-sian floral element, CIHO – Circum-Holartic floral element, WISP – widespread plants, CUAD – cultivated and adventitious plants).

taxa from South America), and mostly include deliberately introduced ornamentals. In domestic gardens in 5 cities in the United Kingdom, the largest number of alien plant taxa was of European or Asian origin, and fewer were from North and South America, Africa and Australia [3].



Fig. 3. Geographic origin of the alien flora observed in the domestic gardens in Sarajevo

The flora of domestic gardens is dominated by moderately urbanophobic taxa (37.04%), followed by urbanoneutral (28.27%), urbanophobic (20.99%), moderately

urbanophilic (9.85%), and only 3.85% taxa observed in this habitat type is urbanophilic (Fig. 4), which indicates the high level of naturalness in flora of domestic gardens in Sarajevo.



Fig. 4. The affinity of domestic garden taxa towards the conditions that prevail in urban environments (U1 – urbanophobic, U2 – moderately urbanophobic, U3 – urbanoneutral, U4 – moderately urbanophilic, U5 – urbanophilic)

The values of indicators of anthropogenic changes are presented in Table 1. The indicators of anthropophytization (IAn_t = 13.07%; IAn_p = 9.67%) show the considerable anthropogenic influence on the total flora of domestic gardens in Sarajevo. Higher indicator values of kenophytization (IKn_t = 7.52%; IKn_p = 7.82%) showed that the flora of the domestic gardens is more influenced by neophytes than by archaeophytes (IAr_t = 4.95%; IAr_p = 5.14%). In both archaeophytes and neophytes, the values of total and permanent indicators were similar, showing that alien flora is well established, which was confirmed by the low value of the indicator of fluctuating changes (IF = 3.76%).

Endemic and endangered taxa represent only a small portion of the garden flora of Sarajevo. During this survey, one endemic taxon (*Trifolium dalmaticum* Vis.), and three taxa protected by the Red List of wild species and subspecies of plants, animals and fungi of Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina, of which *Convallaria majalis* L. is listed as Near Threatened (NT), *Cephalanthera longifolia* (L.) Fritsch as Vulnerable (VU), and *Scabiosa cinerea* Lam. as Data Deficient (DD) species were found. The presence of these rare and endangered taxa in domestic gardens highlights the role that such land use types can fulfil in the conservation of local biodiversity. If we consider the fact that a substantial part of domestic gardens was not surveyed because of privacy issues, we can argue that this number is much higher. However small the contribution of individual domestic gardens may be towards the protection of such taxa, the collective effort of this habitat type across an entire urban ecosystem and also globally holds a large potential [2, 60].

The analysis of floristic similarity along the urbanization gradient indicates that the species richness is bigger in domestic gardens located in squares at the periphery of the

Indicator	Value
IAn _t	13.07
IAn _p	9.67
IArt	4.95
IArp	5.14
IKnt	7.52
IKnp	7.82
IM	80.85
IF	3.76

Table 1. Indicators of anthropogenic changes in the domestic garden flora of Sarajevo

surveyed area (Fig. 5). The exception are the squares located in the very north of the surveyed area (F6, G6), which cover mostly industrial zones, city graveyards and parks, and I4 and I5, which include substantial part of natural vegetation, and in which most houses are enclosed by tall walls, which did not allow the systematic survey of gardens. These results still demonstrate the decrease in floristic similarity along the urbanization gradient, as was found in Lauris and Marseille [6].



Fig. 5. Total number of taxa in gardens in 1×1 km squares in surveyed area

The overall floristic composition of gardens in individual squares shows that their diversity is more influenced by the geographic location within the urbanized area, as the squares which are located next to each other, and the ones that have the same distance from the urban center show higher similarity (Fig. 6).

Out of 505 taxa recorded during this survey, only 41 (8.12%) were found in all 32 1 km² squares. Only two of these (*Veronica persica* Poir. And *Capsella bursa-pastoris* (L.) Medik.) are alien. A total of 39 taxa (7.72%), including five aliens (*Catalpa bignon-ioides* Walter, *Cydonia oblonga* Mill., *Syringa vulgaris* L., *Ricinus communis* L., *Symphoricarpos albus* (L.) S.F. Blake) were observed spontaneously growing in only one



Fig. 6. Dendrogram constructed according to the list of plant taxa observed in domestic gardens in individual 1×1 km squares (similarity ratio, absence-presence data)

square. The fact that very small number of taxa were recorded only once indicates the low species turnover, and shows the uniformity of domestic garden flora in the surveyed area. These results differ from the ones reported for the gardens of Sheffield in England [1], which probably can be explained by the gardening practices and the fact that they included both spontaneous and cultivated taxa.

4 Conclusions

During the first systematic survey of domestic garden flora of the city of Sarajevo, a total of 505 species of 296 genera and 76 families were recorded. Compositae, Poaceae and Fabaceae were the most abundant families. Hemicryptophytes and therophytes are the most numerous life forms. Alien flora consists of 66 taxa, including 21 invasive, and is dominated by neophytes, which indicates high disturbance rate, and is supported by the fact that most of these taxa were deliberately introduced as ornamentals. Unlike most other cities, garden flora of Sarajevo is dominated by native taxa, and has a very low share of urbanophilic taxa, which indicates the high level of naturalness. One endemic and three protected taxa were found. However, the anthropogenic influence on the total flora of domestic gardens in Sarajevo is considerable. As some of the invasive and potentially invasive neophytes were observed to invade the natural and seminatural vegetation, but are still grown in gardens, there is the need to raise general awareness about the dangers these plant pose to the natural plant communities. More taxa were found in domestic gardens located at the edge of the urban area. Although the role of the homeowners in shaping the garden is important, the floristic diversity in Sarajevo is more influenced by the geographic location within the urbanized area. The results of this research may be used for assessing the risk of spreading cultivated plants, but also to indicate the importance of this habitat type for local biodiversity conservation.

References

- Thompson, K., Austin, K.C., Smith, R.M., Warren, P.H., Angold, P.G., Gaston, K.J.: Urban domestic gardens I: putting small-scale plant diversity in context. J. Veg. Sci. 14, 71–78 (2003)
- Gaston, K.J., Warren, P.H., Thompson, K., Smith, R.M.: Urban domestic gardens (IV): the extent of the resource and its associated features. Biodivers. Conserv. 14, 3327–3349 (2005)
- 3. Loram, A., Thompson, K., Warren, P., Gaston, K.: Urban domestic gardens (XII): the richness and composition of the flora in five UK cities. J. Veg. Sci. **19**(3), 321–330 (2008)
- Smith, R.M., Thompson, K., Hodgson, J.G., Warren, P.H., Gaston, K.J.: Urban domestic gardens (IX): composition and richness of the vascular plant flora, and implications for native biodiversity. Biol. Cons. 129(3), 312–322 (2006)
- Mathieu, R., Freeman, C., Aryal, J.: Mapping private gardens in urban areas using objectoriented techniques and very high-resolution satellite imagery. Landsc. Urban Plan. 81, 179– 192 (2007)
- Bossu, A., Marco, A., Manel, S., Bertaudière-Montes, V.: Effects of built landscape on taxonomic homogenization: two case studies of private gardens in the French Mediterranean. Landsc. Urban Plan. 129, 12–21 (2014)
- Goddard, M.A., Dougill, A.J., Benton, T.G.: Scaling up from gardens: biodiversity conservation in urban environments. Trends Ecol. Evol. 25(2), 90–98 (2010)
- Albuquerque, U.P., Andrade, L.H.C., Caballero, J.: Structure and floristics of homegardens in Northeastern Brazil. J. Arid Environ. 62, 491–506 (2005)
- Wiersum, K.F.: Diversity and change in homegarden cultivation in Indonesia. In: Kumar, B.M., Nair, P.K.R. (eds.) Tropical homegardens. AA, vol. 3, pp. 13–24. Springer, Dordrecht (2006). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4020-4948-4_2
- Kehlenbeck, K., Arifin, H.S., Maass, B.L.: Plant diversity in homegardens in a socio-economic and agro-ecological context. In: Tscharntke, T., Leuschner, C., Zeller, M., Guhardja, E., Bidin, A. (eds.) The stability of tropical rainforest margins: linking ecological, economic and social constraints of land use and conservation, pp. 297–319. Springer, Berlin (2007)
- 11. Birol, E., Bela, G., Smale, M.: The role of home gardens in promoting multi-functional agriculture in Hungary. EuroChoices **3**, 14–21 (2005)
- Grove, J.M., Troy, A.R., O'Neil-Dunne, J.M.P., Burch, W.R., Cadenasso, M.L., Pickett, S.T.A.: Characterization of households and its implications for the vegetation of urban ecosystems. Ecosystems 9, 578–597 (2006)
- Reichard, S.H., White, P.: Horticulture as a pathway of invasive plant introductions in the United States. Bioscience 51, 103–113 (2001)
- 14. Dehnen-Schmutz, K., Touza, J., Perrings, C., Williamson, M.: The horticultural trade and ornamental plant invasions in Britain. Conserv. Biol. **21**, 224–231 (2007)
- 15. Weber, E.: Invasive Plant Species of the World. A Reference Guide to Environmental Weeds. CABI Publishing, Wallingford (2003)
- Hanspach, J., Kühn, I., Pyšek, P., Boos, E., Klotz, S.: Correlates of naturalization and occupancy of introduced ornamentals in Germany. Perspect. Plant Ecol. Evol. Syst. 10, 241–250 (2008)
- 17. Grimm, N.B., Grove, J.M., Pickett, S.T., Redman, C.L.: Integrated approaches to long-term studies of urban ecological systems. Bioscience **50**, 571–584 (2000)
- Hope, D., et al.: Socio-economics drive urban plant diversity. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 100, 8788–8792 (2003)
- Cilliers, S.S., Siebert, S.J.: Urban flora and vegetation: patterns and processes. In: Niemelä, J., Breuste, J., Elmquist, T., Guntenspergen, G., James, P., McIntyre, N.E. (eds.) Urban Ecology, pp. 148–158. Oxford University Press, Oxford (2011)

- Soemarwoto, O., Soemarwoto, I., Karyono, Soekartadiredja, E.M., Ramlan, A.: The Javanese home garden as an integrated ecosystem. In: Proceedings of an International congress on the human environment, pp. 193–197. Science council of Japan, Kyoto, Japan (1975)
- Alvarez-BuyllaRoces, M.E., Chavero, E.L., García-Barrios, J.R.: Homegardens of a humid tropical region in Southeast Mexico: an example of an agroforestry cropping system in a recently established community. Agroforest. Syst. 8(2), 133–156 (1989)
- 22. Soemarwoto, O., Conway, G.R.: The Javanese homegarden. J. Farming Syst. Res.-Ext. 2, 95–118 (1992)
- Lamont, S.R., Eshbaugh, W.H., Greenberg, A.M.: Species composition, diversity, and use of homegardens among three amazonian villages. Econ. Bot. 54, 312–326 (1999)
- Trinh, L.N., et al.: Agrobiodiversity conservation and development in Vietnamese home gardens. Agr. Ecosyst. Environ. 97, 317–344 (2003)
- Blanckaert, I., Swennen, R.L., Paredes-Flores, M., Rosas-López, R., Lira-Saade, R.: Floristic composition, plant uses and management practices in home gardens of San Rafael Coxcotlaán, Valle of Tehuacán-Cuicatlán, México. J. Arid Env. 57, 179–201 (2004)
- Kehlenbeck, K., Maass, B.L.: Crop diversity and classification of homegardens in Central Sulawesi, Indonesia. Agroforest. Syst. 63, 53–62 (2004)
- Linares, O.F.: Casamance, Senegal: home gardens in an urban setting. In: Eyzaguirre, P.B., Linares, O.F. (eds.) Home gardens and agrobiodiversity, pp. 198–212. Smithsonian Books, Washington (2004)
- Gebauer, J.: Plant species diversity of home gardens in El Obeid, Central Sudan. J. Agric. Rural. Dev. Trop. Subtrop. 106, 97–103 (2005)
- Lubbe, C.S., Siebert, S.J., Cilliers, S.S.: Political legacy of South Africa affects the plant diversity patterns of urban domestic gardens along a socio-economic gradient. Sci. Res. Essays 5, 2900–2910 (2010)
- Gordon, J.E., Newton, A.C.: Efficient floristic inventory for the assessment of tropical tree diversity: a comparative test of four alternative approaches. For. Ecol. Manage. 237, 564–573 (2006)
- 31. Euro+Med: Euro+Med PlantBase the information resource for Euro-Mediterranean plant diversity. http://ww2.bgbm.org/EuroPlusMed/ (2006). Last accessed 15 Mar 2022
- 32. Pignatti, S.: Flora D'Italia, No 1–3. Edagricole (1982)
- Pignatti, S., Menegoni, P., Pietrosanti, S.: Valori di biondicazione delle piante vascolari della flora d'Italia. Bioindicator values of vascular plants of the Flora of Italy. Braun-Blanquetia, Università degli studi di Camerino, p. 97 (2005)
- Raunkiaer, C.: The Life Forms of Plants and Statistical Plant Geography, pp. 1–35. Clarendon Press, Oxford, UK (1934)
- Horvatić, S., Ilijanić, L., Marković, L.: Biljni pokrov okoline Senja, pp. 297–323. Senjski zbornik 3, Gradski muzej Senj (1967/68)
- Maslo, S.: Preliminary list of invasive alien plant species (IAS) in Bosnia and Herzegovina. Herbologia 16(1), 1–14 (2016)
- Nikolić, T. (ed.): Flora Croatica Database. Botanički zavod, Prirodoslovno-matematički fakultet, Sveučilište u Zagrebu. http://hirc.botanic.hr/fcd (2004). Last accessed 5 July 2022
- Pyšek, P., et al.: Catalogue of alien plants of the Czech Republic (2nd edition): checklist update, taxonomic diversity and invasion patterns. Preslia 84, 155–255 (2012)
- Richardson, D.M., Pyšek, P., Rejmanek, M., Barbour, M.G., Panetta, F.D., West, C.J.: Naturalization and invasion of alien plants: concept and definitions. Divers. Distrib. 6, 93–107 (2000)
- 40. Pyšek, P., Sádlo, J., Mandák, B.: Catalogue of alien plants of the Czech Republic. Preslia 74, 97–186 (2002)

- Lubarda, B., Stupar, V., Milanović, D, Stevanović, V.: Chorological characterization and distribution of the Balkan endemic vascular flora in Bosnia and Herzegovina. Botanica Serbica 38(1), 167–184 (2014)
- 42. Red List of wild species and subspecies of plants, animals and fungi (Official Gazette of the Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina, 7/14)
- Klotz, S., Kühn, I., Durka, W.: BIOLFLOR Eine Datenbank zu biologisch-ökologischen Merkmalen der Gefäßpflanzen in Deutschland. – Schriftenreihe für Vegetationskunde 38. Bonn: Bundesamt für Naturschutz . https://www.ufz.de/biolflor/overview/gattung.jsp (2002). Last accessed 5 May 2022
- 44. Jackowiak, B.: Anthropogenic changes of the flora of vascular plants of Poznań. Seria Biologia 42. Wydawnictwo Naukowe Uniwersytetu im. Adama Mickiewicza, Poznań (1990)
- 45. Jackowiak, B.: Methodological proposals for studies on the structure and dynamics of urban flora. Polish Botanical Stud. **22**, 251–260 (2006)
- 46. Witosławski, P., Bomanowska, A.: Southern European species in the flora of towns in the central Poland. Botanica Serbica **33**(2), 115–129 (2009)
- 47. Hammer, Ø., Harper, D.A.T., Ryan, P.D.: PAST: Paleontological Statistics Software Package for Education and Data Analysis. Palaeontologia Electronica **4**, 9 (2001)
- Redžić, S., Barudanović, S., Radević, M. (eds.): Bosnia and Herzegovina Land of Diversity, First national Report of Bosnia and Herzegovina for the Convention on Biodiversity. Federal Ministry of Environment and Tourism, Sarajevo (2009)
- Marco, A., Dutoit, T., Deschamps-Cottin, M., Mauffrey, J.F., Vennetier, M., Bertaudiere-Montes, V.: Gardens in urbanizing rural areas reveal an unexpected floral diversity related to housing density. C.R. Biol. 331(6), 452–465 (2008)
- Dujmović Purgar, D.: Korovna flora vrtova Plešivičkog prigorja (SZ Hrvatska). Agronomski glasnik 2–3, 111–124 (2010)
- Knapp, S., et al.: Phylogenetic and functional characteristics of household yard floras and their changes along an urbanization gradient. Ecology 93(sp8), S83–S98 (2012)
- Pyšek, P.: Alien and native species in Central European urban floras: a quantitative comparison. J. Biogeogr. 25, 155–163 (1998)
- del Tredici, P.: Spontaneous urban vegetation reflections of change in a globalized world. Nat. Cult. 5(3), 299–315 (2010)
- Ricotta, C., Godefroid, S., Rocchini, D.: Patterns of native and exotic species richness in the urban flora of Brussels: rejecting the 'rich get richer' model. Biol. Invasions 12, 233–240 (2009)
- La Sorte, F.A., McKinney, M.L., Pyšek, P.: Compositional similarity among urban floras within and across continents: biogeographical consequences of human-mediated biotic interchange. Glob. Change Biol. 13, 913–921 (2007)
- Hulina, N.: Planta Hortifuga" in Flora of the Continental Part of Croatia. Agric. Conspec. Sci. 75(2), 57–65 (2010)
- 57. Möllerová, J.: Notes on invasive and expansive trees and shrubs. J. Forest Sci. **51**(Special Issue), 19–23 (2005). https://doi.org/10.17221/11844-JFS
- Glišić, M., Lakušić, D., Šinžar-Sekulić, J., Jovanović, S.: GIS analysis of spatial distribution of invasive tree species in the protected natural area of Mt. Avala (Serbia). Botanica Serbica 38(1), 131–138 (2014)
- 59. Knapp, S., et al.: How species traits and affinity to urban land use control large-scale species frequency. Divers. Distrib. **15**, 533–546 (2009)
- Savard, J.L., Clergeau, P., Mennechez, G.: Biodiversity concepts and urban ecosystems. Landsc. Urban Plan. 48, 131–142 (2000)



Analysis of the Breeding of Lipizzaner Horses at the State Stud Farm Đakovo

Barbara Perica, Maja Gregić, Tina Bobić, Pero Mijić, and Mirjana Baban^(⊠)

Faculty of Agrobiotechnical Sciences, University of Josip Juraj Strossmayer, Osijek, Croatia mirjana.baban@fazos.hr

Abstract. In the Republic of Croatia, the Lipizzan horse breed is a member of the protected breeds group. The State Stud Farm Đakovo carries out its breeding and selection work according to the breeding program of the Lipizzan breed in the Republic of Croatia. It is also a Lipizzan International Federation (LIF) member, following its breeding goals and principles. The State Stud Farm Dakovo currently breeds 7 sire lines of stallions, and 11 mare families, and has 178 horses of the Lipizzan breed at two locations. Out of the total number of horses, mares are the most represented, followed by stallions, which makes up about 60% of the herd. Within the paper framework, the numerical quantity and the representation of lines and breeds of Lipizzan horses in the Dakovo State Stud Farm for the past 10 years (2012 – 2021) were analyzed. Analysis shows that the most represented sire lines are Maestoso, Siglavy and Neapolitano, followed by Conversano, Favory and Tulipan, while Pluto is the least represented sire line. By analysing the collected data on the number of mares, it is shown that the most represented mare families are Mara, Montenegro, and Mima, while the least represented is the mare family Krabbe. Observing the overall analysis of graphs and tables, according to the lines and families of stallions and mares, we can see that proper and high-quality breeding and selection planning is a very complex job, which requires a lot of effort, knowledge, and skills to preserve the representation and uniformity of lines to obtain the best possible quality offspring.

Keywords: Lipizzaner · Stud Farm Đakovo · numerical quantity

1 Introduction

The term "stud farm" was mentioned for the first time in 1506, which is associated with the year of the foundation of the Stud Farm in Đakovo. There are records that the stable existed even before the written records, i.e. that it was founded by the Bosnian-Srijem bishops on the properties obtained from the Croatian king Koloman, back in 1239. Horses have been mentioned for the first time on the occasion of the wedding of a Bosnian ban with a Bulgarian princess, on the occasion of which ban Tvrtko presented Bishop Peter with 10 Arabian mares and one stallion, whose breeding continued until 1806. In 1854, Bishop Josip Juraj Strossmayer founded the Lipizzaner stud farm with original breeding material from Lipica. In December of the

same year in Stud Farm Dakovo came seven mares Sphingo (Neapolitano Waldemar-Storva), Contessa (Maestoso Erga-Kalma), Romana (Maestoso Erga-Romana), Tapia (Favory Ratisbona-Trompeta), Sorta (Neapolitano Valdemar-Stornella), Stella (Conversano Bibiana-Stornella) and Alda (Neapolitano Waldemar-Alda), and stallion Favory Casino. Further breeding resulted in the well-known Mare families: Munja (Sfinga), Karolina and Kontra (Contesa), Tera (Tapia) and Alka (Alda). Strossmayer's successor, Bishop Krapac, to fill the stud farm in 1912, brought the mares Sagan, Virtuoso, Fiorento and Are from Lipica to the stud. Today's foundation herd of Lipizzaner breeds originates from these mares (Bencevic, 1957). In 1945, the stud farm became state property, and in 1947, the Zemaljska Pastuharna was established in Dakovo. In 1957, with the abolition of the Lipik stud farm, all horses were moved to the Kutjevo military stud farm, and in 1960, after the dissolution of that stud farm, all Lipizzan mares were also moved to Đakovo. As the only breeding farm of the Lipizzaner horse breed in Croatia, it was named the Center for the Selection of Horses of the Republic of Croatia, especially influencing the improvement of the quality of breeding, spreading knowledge and awareness of their cultural value in land-based horse breeding in Slavonia. Lipizzaner stallions from the Stud farm have had a great breeding value while being correctors of terrestrial breeding. In 1997, it received the status of the State Stud.

2 Breeding of Lipizzaner Horses at the Đakovo Stud

The Lipizzan horse breed is part of the group of protected breeds in the Republic of Croatia (Ministry of Agriculture, 2021). It is spread over the entire territory of the Republic of Croatia, with the largest number in the area of Slavonia and Baranja. Đakovo Stud Farm carries out its breeding and selection work according to the Breeding Program of the Lipizzaner breed in the Republic of Croatia (stud breeding) (DEDL, 2019). The goal of the breeding program is to breed Lipizzaner horses by the breeding principles of the Lipizzan International Federation (LIF) (LIF-establishing acts, Bruxelles 2001), respecting the traditional breeding in Croatia. The implementation of breeding is the responsibility of the State Stud Farm Đakovo and Lipik (DEĐL, 2019). The goal is to breed a horse with a lively temperament and good-natured character and a pronounced willingness to work; stallions about 155 cm to 160 cm tall, mares 153 cm to 158 cm; body mass around 550 kg; noble heads; high-set, medium-long muscular necks; wellformed withers, straight and firm back well connected by muscles; rounded and slightly lowered croup, and properly planted tail; strong and muscular legs, dry and well-formed joints, and strong hooves; extremely high elastic movements, expressive and confident in all gaits. It strives to create a horse that is suitable for all forms of recreational use, as well as achieving results in sports. The Dakovo Stud Farm breeds Lipizzaner, which is suitable for all carriage driving activities, and in recent years, Lipizzaners have proven themselves by winning high places at national competitions in dressage riding. Baban (2021) points out that the various breeding goals of individual countries and regions were changed depending on geographical-social and cultural circumstances. There was a great morphological diversity of the Lipizzaner population in appearance, type, body shape, coat colour and gait. The breeding goal at Đakovo Stud Farm was to create the largest possible frames and bones of Lipizzan breeding horses with high-quality

predispositions for driving and riding, which is why Lipizzan stallions from Hungary, Romania, Austria and Slovenia were occasionally used as fresheners of the blood (Baban et al., 2006). Today, the Lipizzaner from Đakovo belongs to the larger type of this breed. It is important to emphasize that through the breeding goal, the preservation of Croatian lines and Mare families as well as their balance in the population is carried out. The most common coat colour of an adult Lipizzaner is grey, but a very small part of the population has a darker coat colour (bay, black and very rarely chesnut). Lipizzaner foals are born with a dark coat colour, which changes during the first years of life to a lighter shade, so when reaching the age of up to ten years, the horse's coat takes on a permanent light grey shade (senile leucism). After foaling, the heads must be registered in the registry books of the Lipizzan breed in the Republic of Croatia and must be registered in the Central Register of Equids of the Republic of Croatia, which is managed by an authorized institution. The name of the male animals consists of the assigned personal number, for example: (202), the name of the stallion's line (Maestoso), the name of the dam's branch (Batosta), a Roman numeral (V) and an Arabic numeral (5) indicating the order of the registered male offspring of the dam.

Example: 202 Maestoso Batosta V-5 (Đ. 2005) Sire: 700 Maestoso Gaetana XV-3 (D. 1991) Mother: 765 Batosta V (D. 1993)

The naming of female animals consists of the assigned personal number (765), the name of the branch of the mother's genus (Batosta) and the Roman numeral (V) indicating the order of the registered female offspring of the mother.

Example: 765 Batosta V (Đ. 1993) Father: 522 Tulipan Trofetta V-4 (Đ. 1986) Mother: 557 Batosta III (D. 1987)

Newborn foals up to 6 months of age must be marked with a transporter that is implanted under the skin with a mandatory mane or tail sample taken for DNA analysis to check the origin of the head. Marking is also carried out with a hot stamp, where the letter H, which denotes the Republic of Croatia, is printed on the left saddle, and below the letter, H is the personal number, and on the left thigh the letter Đ, which denotes the State Stud Đakovo. The described form of marking is characteristic of the Đakovo Stud, while other studs and land breeding are marked in a different way (HPA, 2015).

The horse selection program at the Đakovo State Stud includes the evaluation of stallions, mares and foals. The evaluation committee consists of at least 2 members qualified for the evaluation, appointed by DEĐL for the stud breeding. To ensure breeding and selection progress, the following factors are taken into account in the evaluation:

• evaluation of origin – heads must be registered in the register of Lipizzan horses in the Republic of Croatia and must have a full pedigree that connects them to the founders of the lines and genera of the Lipizzan breed;

- evaluation of appearance is carried out to evaluate and classify horses based on their appearance (phenotype), constitution (build), gaits, working ability, temperament and temperament following the breeding program;
- classification into class classes defined by the overall evaluation of the appearance, the results of the working ability test and the quality of the offspring;
- working ability test (IRS) the method of testing the horse of the Lipizzaner breed is defined according to the Ordinance of the working ability test. All horses, regardless of gender, can take the test when they are at least 4 years old, according to two protocols: IRS in riding or IRS in harness;
- evaluation of the quality of the progeny all the results of the breeding stallion or mare that they achieved during their lifetime, as well as the results of their offspring, are entered in the registry books, and based on that they can be awarded according to the class;
- judgment of health and fertility the breeding heads that approach the evaluation must be healthy, fertile and must not be carriers of hereditary errors.

Young stallions that are evaluated for the first time at the age of 4 and are evaluated with a minimum of 75 points or more are temporarily selected for breeding and must attend a second selection and pass the working ability test. At the age of six (if the stallion was evaluated with 75 or more points at the first and second selection and has passed the working ability test) he is permanently selected for breeding. Mares are evaluated after at least 3 years of age, while foals are evaluated in the year of birth. Before the evaluation of stallions and mares, body measurements are taken: height to the withers with a stick, height to the withers with a tape, chest girth, body length and cannon bone circumference. Characteristics that are evaluated are breed type and sexual dimorphism, head, neck, the front part of the trunk, middle part of the trunk, rear part of the trunk, front legs, hind legs, regularity of gaits, expressiveness of movements. The criteria are evaluated with marks from 1–10, the total result is obtained by adding up the average marks of all commission members for each individual factor, and the highest possible number of points is 100. Based on the results, the cattle are classified into the corresponding class (DEĐL, 2019):

- 85 and above a typical member of the breed, desirable in breeding, top grades
- 80 to 84 a typical member of the breed, its features are desirable in breeding
- 75 to 79 a typical member of the breed, its characteristics can contribute to the achievement of the breeding goal
- 70 to 74 the stallion is not recommended for breeding, and should only be used in case of preservation of genetic diversity mares go to further breeding
- 65 to 69 the stallion is not for breeding the mares go to further breeding
- 64 and under declined not for breeding

When evaluating foals, the following are taken into account: breed type, head and neck, trunk, legs, regularity and generous movements. Foals with 40 or more points enter the Sect. 1, foals with 35 to 39 points belong to Sect. 2, and foals with 34 or fewer points belong to Sect. 3 (DEDL, 2019).

3 Numerous Conditions of Lipizzaner Horses in State Stud Farm Dakovo

The numeral condition of horses is noted on the last date of the previous year (December 31, 2021), so the Đakovo State Stud currently has 178 horses of the Lipizzan breed, 56 in the pasture, and 122 Lipizzans of different ages and gender categories in Ivandvor. The Stud Farm located in the centre of Đakovo is home to stallions, who come there for training when they are 3–4 years old. In addition to them, some geldings are used for dressage and harness competitions, and participation in various events. 63 mares with offspring of different age groups are kept at Ivandvor stud farm, located outside the city.

Out of the total number, mares are the most represented, followed by stallions, which together make up about 60% of the herd (Fig. 1). Colts and fillies varying from 1 to 3 years of age make up a little more than a quarter of the herd.



Fig. 1. Relationship of Lipizzaner heads in 2021 (Horse book of the Đakovo State Stud, 2022).

The overall numerical condition, as well as the condition of individual categories, is constantly changing due to the life cycle of the horse. The foal category includes offspring from foaling up to 6 months of age. After that, the foal moves to the weanling's category up to 1 year of age. When the youngster reaches 1 year of age, it moves to the category of yearlings from 1 to 2 years of age. After reaching the 2nd year, the youngster passes into the last category of youngsters from 2 to 3 years of age. All age groups, or categories, are classified according to gender to avoid unwanted and uncontrollable mating between youngsters. At the age of 3, fillies pass into the category of mares and then enter the mother herd as heads for further reproduction. At the age of 3–4, colts pass into the stallion category and are moved to the stud farm. In the category of geldings, we include males that do not participate in reproduction. These are horses that for certain reasons are not suitable for reproduction and have undergone the castration procedure. Stallions that are not suitable for breeding are castrated and used in equestrian sports. Their further destiny is participation in sports competitions. They are characterized by a calm and balanced character. The condition of numerous heads changes also due to the excretion of individual individuals from breeding, heads are sold taking into account the excessive condition of individuals in a line or breed, horses that were not selected

for sport or breeding due to weaker genetic value – worse breeding ratings, deaths, and unfavourable breeding seasons which results in a reduced number of future offspring. On average, about 15 foals are foaled at the Đakovo State Stud every year. The number of Lipizzaner horses at the Đakovo State Stud from 2012 to 2021 is shown in Table 1.

Horse category	Numerous conditions of horses									
	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021
Lipizzan stallions	57	52	41	44	45	48	44	52	45	46
Lipizzaner mares	52	60	63	69	65	58	59	60	59	63
Lipizzaner colts from 2 to 3 years	5	4	11	12	11	2	10	3	6	7
Lipizzaner male yearling from 1 to 2 years	4	11	12	12	2	10	4	6	7	6
Lipizzaner male weanling up to 1 year	10	12	12	3	10	4	7	8	6	7
Lipizzaner male foal	10	12	12	3	10	4	7	8	6	7
Lipizzaner filly from 2 to 3 years	11	6	9	7	5	3	4	8	4	12
Lipizzaner female yearling from 1 to 2 years	6	10	7	5	3	5	8	4	12	8
Lipizzaner female weanling up to 1 year	11	7	5	5	5	8	5	14	8	6
Lipizzaner female foal	11	7	5	5	5	8	5	14	8	6
Gelding Lipizzaner	12	12	8	7	6	11	13	11	10	10
IN TOTAL	189	193	185	172	167	161	166	188	171	178

Table 1. Numerous conditions of Lipizzaner horses in the period from 2012 to 2021 at the ĐakovoState Stud (Register of horses of the Đakovo State Stud, 2022).

The number of Lipizzaner stallions in the observed period at the Đakovo State Stud Farm ranges from 41 in 2014 to 57 in 2012. By analyzing the number of Lipizzaner stallions over 10 years, we get an average value of 47.4 stallions. The biggest deviation from the average value was recorded in 2012. The smallest deviation from the average value was recorded in 2017 and 2021. The lowest number of Lipizzaner mares (52) was recorded in 2012, while in 2015 there were 69. The average number of Lipizzaner mares in the observed period of 10 years is 60.8 mares per year. The largest deviation was recorded in 2012 and 2015, and the smallest in 2013 and 2019. The number of Lipizzaner colts from 2 to 3 years of age ranges from 2 (in 2017) to 12 (in 2015). The average number of colts from 2 to 3 years of age is 7.1 per year. The largest deviation from the average value was recorded in 2015 and 2015, and at least 3 in 2017. If we compare the number of fillies between 2 and 3 years of age with the average annual value, which is

6.9, the largest deviation was seen in 2021, and the least in 2013 and 2015. The largest number of Lipizzaner colts from 1 to 2 years of age was recorded in 2014 and 2015, 12 of them, and the smallest number was in 2016, only 2. This is an average of 7.4 colts per year in the observed period. We recorded the largest deviation in 2016 and the smallest in 2020. Analyzing the table of the number of female yearlings from 1 to 2 years of age, it can be concluded that there were 12 of them in 2020, and only 3 in 2016. On average, that is 6.8 female yearling from 1 to 2 years of age per year. The biggest deviation from the average was in 2016, and the smallest in 2014. The number of Lipizzaner males up to 1 year of age was the highest in 2013 and 2014 (12), and the lowest in 2015 (3). In the last 10 years, the average number was 7.9 male weanling. The largest deviation from the average was recorded in 2015 when the minimum was recorded, and the least in 2019. The largest number of female weanlings up to 1 year of age was in 2019 when we counted 14, and at least 5 in 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2018. By comparison with the average value, the largest deviation is visible in 2019, when the maximum was recorded, and the minimum in 2013, 2017 and 2020. The average value is 7.4 female weanling per year. The largest number of Lipizzaner foals was recorded in 2013 and 2014 (12 foals), and the least in 2015 (3 foals). Data analysis results in an average value of 7.9 foals per year. The biggest deviation was recorded in 2015 when it was also the minimum and the least in 2019 and 2021. The number of fillies ranges from 5 (in 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2018) to 14 (in 2019). In the observed period, there were an average of 7.4 foals per year. The biggest deviation was in 2019, when the maximum was also recorded, and the least in 2013, 2017 and 2020. The number of Lipizzaner geldings ranges from 6 (in 2016) to 13 (in 2018). By comparison with the average value, the largest deviation is recorded in 2016, as well as the minimum, and the least in 2020 and 2021, when the number equaled the average value, that is, there are no deviations. In the observed period of 10 years, the average number is 10 castrates per year.



Fig. 2. The average ratio of male and female foals, and male and female foals in the period from 2012 to 2021 (Horse register of the Đakovo State Stud, 2022).

If we analyze the ratio of male and female foals in the past period, and by calculating the average value of the representation of male and female foals (Fig. 2), we can see an equal representation of both sexes, i.e., there were slightly more male foals (52%) than female foals (48%). If the above ratio is compared with the total average value of

male and female heads at the Đakovo State Stud, it can be seen that the ratios match. The average value of the total number of male heads (stallions and geldings) is 49% compared to female heads, which are represented by 51%.

4 Analysis of Male Lipizzaner Breed by Lines from 2012 to 2021

A stallion is an uncastrated sexually mature horse and, as such, is a potential future sire. Heads used for breeding must meet the evaluation of the appearance and have passed the working ability test (IRS), they must be in excellent physical and breeding condition, which is also an indicator of a favourable state of health, and they must also not be carriers of hereditary errors. In case of the appearance of morphological and physiological errors, these same heads are evaluated during the evaluation of the appearance (morphological) and veterinary examination (physiological) and are taken into account during the final evaluation. If certain errors appear in more than 10% of the offspring during breeding, the breeding stallion is excluded from breeding. Likewise, if poor fertility or complete infertility is proven, cryptorchidism (non-descended testicle in the scrotum) occurs in the offspring, which leads to the exclusion of stallions. Every year, the committee in charge of breeding and selection selects the breeding stallions that will be used in the mating season, which lasts from February 1 to June 30 of each year. The criteria according to which stallions are selected are:

- The line with the fewest individuals in the population, which is important for the preservation and representation of the lines.
- Quality and desirable morphological traits or movements with which undesirable traits in mares can be improved to obtain better quality offspring.
- Availability of individual stallions in other state studs or private breeding.

Stallions at Stud of the Đakovo (breeding male stallions that actively participate in breeding) are located in Ivandvor, where the mother herd of mares is located. When analyzing the representation of lines in the last 10 years, only male heads are taken into account, because they are representatives of lines (HPA, 2015).

Lines of stallions	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	Σ
Pluto	11	11	8	6	5	3	3	6	6	6	65
Neapolitano	12	16	16	16	11	9	10	10	8	8	116
Favory	3	6	7	7	11	11	11	11	12	11	90
Conversano	11	10	12	12	9	9	8	8	7	13	99
Tulipan	8	5	3	4	7	8	8	10	10	8	71
Siglavy	20	15	14	11	11	10	15	13	10	9	128
Maestoso	11	16	16	15	14	14	10	11	11	11	129

Table 2. Total number of males according to stallion lines from 2012 to 2021 (Horse register ofthe Đakovo State Stud, 2022).

The total number of male heads according to stallion lines at the Đakovo State Stud in the period from 2012 to 2021 is shown in Table 2. In 2012, the Siglavy line was represented the most (20 heads) and the Favory line the least (3 heads). This is why stallions of the Favory line. Neapolitano and Maestoso lines were used in the 2012 breeding season, precisely because of the increase in the number of individuals of the mentioned lines, especially the Favory line. In 2013, the highest number was recorded by the Neapolitano and Maestoso lines with 16 heads, and the least by the Tulipan line with 5 heads. Compared to the previous year, there is an increase in the number of heads in the Maestoso (5), Neapolitano (4) and Favory (3) lines, since stud stallions from those lines were used. In the breeding season of 2013, breeding stallions from the lines Conversano, Maestoso and Favory were used. In 2014, as in the previous year, the Neapolitano and Maestoso lines have the largest number of heads, and the Tulipan line has at least. In the breeding season of 2014, stallions at stud from the Favory and Tulipan lines were used, to increase the number of heads in the mentioned lines. In 2015, the most heads were recorded from the Neapolitano lines with 16 and Maestoso with 15, and the least Tulipan with 4 individuals. In the growing season of the mentioned year, nursery plants from the Favory and Tulipan lines were used, as in the previous year. In 2016, the Maestoso line has the most heads with 14, and the Pluto line has the fewest with 5 heads. Table 2 shows an increase in the number of heads of the Favory and Tulipan lines in comparison to previous years, which is extremely important for the preservation and representation of the line. Siglavy line stallions at stud were used for breeding since the number of individuals dropped by 45% from 2012 to 2016. In 2017, the largest number of heads was recorded in the Maestoso line with 14 individuals, and the least in the Pluto line with 3 individuals. In the breeding season of 2017, breeding stallions from the Siglavy line were used to continue increasing the number of individuals in the population as well as the Neapolitano line, since the number of individuals decreased by 44% in the past 3 years. In 2018, the Siglavy line records 15 head, and the Pluto line 3 (as in the previous year). The biggest increase in the number of individuals compared to the previous year was recorded by the Siglavy line, which is the result of using nurseries from the said line. For the breeding season of 2018, nursery plants from the Pluto, Favory and Tulipan lines were used. The Pluto line recorded a decrease in a number of individuals in recent years by 73%. The Siglavy line has the largest number of heads in 2019 with 13 individuals, and the Pluto line has the least with 6 individuals, although their population has increased by 100% compared to the previous year. The nurseries that were used in the 2019 breeding season are the Favory, Maestoso and Tulipan lines. In 2020, the Favory line has 12 heads, and the Pluto line has 6 (as in the previous year). That year, nursery stallions from the Conversano line were used for the mating season, since the number of stallions was in decline, as was the case from the Tulipan line. The highest number of heads in 2021 is recorded by the Conversano line with 13 individuals, and the least by the Pluto line with 6 individuals (as in the previous two years). The Conversano line recorded an increase of 46% compared to the previous year, which is the result of well-planned breeding. By analyzing Table 2 according to lines and years, it can be seen that good and high-quality planning of breeding and selection is a very complex job, which requires a lot of effort, knowledge and skills to preserve the representation and uniformity of lines with the aim of creating the best quality offspring that meet the breeding goal.

157

Figure 3 shows the movement of the number of individual lines in the observed period. According to what is shown, there is an unevenness in the number of individual lines in 2012 compared to 2021. In the last 10 years, this uneven representation of lines has decreased by almost 50%, which is proof of the good implementation of the given breeding plan.



Fig. 3. The direction of movement of male necks according to stallion lines from 2012 to 2021 (Horse register of the Đakovo State Stud, 2022).

Figure 4 shows the average value of the representation of stallion lines in the last 10 years. The most represented lines are Maestoso, Siglavy and Neapolitano, then Conversano, Favory and Tulipan, while Pluto is the least represented line. Representation of



Fig. 4. Representation of stallion lines in the observed period (Stud book of horses of the Dakovo Stud Farm, 2022).

individual lines in breeding often depends on the availability of nursery stallions from other state studs, private breeding, as well as within the stud itself (blood relation with mares).

In the following text, the characteristics of each stallion at stud will be presented, which is why it was chosen for breeding.

5 Analysis of the Breeding of Female Lipizzaner Mares by Breed from 2012 to 2021

Half of the original breeds of Lipica mares belong to the old classical type whose ancestors come from Lipica and Kladrub, while the other half come from other studs, but mostly Croatian. This is confirmed by the names Zenta, Krabbe (Rendes), Trofetta (Traviata), Mara (Margit), Munja (Famosa). By lineage is meant the female offspring of one foremother, the founder of the lineage (Stipić, 1975). The total number of females by breed of mare at the Đakovo State Stud in the period from 2012 to 2021 is shown in Table 3. Appendix 1 contains tables with a detailed description of offspring for each mare from a particular breed in the observed time period. Analyzing the genus Troffeta (Table 3), it can be seen that they were the most numerous from 2012 to 2016, then the number halved by 2020, and in 2021 it increased to 4 heads. Mares 45 Trofetta XI and 137 Trofetta XIII gave birth to one female foal each. From 2012 to 2016, Rod Toplica had 3 heads, then in 2017, 2018 and 2019, it increased by one head each, and by 2021, 6 heads were recorded. Mare 222 Toplica XXI gave birth to 2 female foals, and mare 28 Toplica XXVIII gave birth to 1 female foal. The genus Allegra was equally represented during the observed period with an average of 6 heads per year. Mare 214 Allegra XXXVI gave birth to 2 female foals, and mares 776 Allegra XXXII, 215 Allegra XXXVII, 952 Allegra XXXIII and 428 Allegra XXXVIII gave birth to one female foal each. Family Mara is the most numerous family of mares in the observed period. The most numerous was in 2012 with 15 heads, then the number decreased to 12 heads by 2021. In the last 10 years, mare 117 Mara LVI gave birth to the most foals (4), followed by mare 166 Mara XIV with 3 foals, mare 221 Mara XV with 2 foals, and mares 821 Mara LII, 750 Mara LI, 352 Mara LIX and 229 Mara LVII with one female foal each. In 2012, the genus Slavonia was represented by 6 heads, then in 2016 it has one head less (5), while in the last three years there have been eight. Mares 837 Slavonia XX and 348 Slavonia XXV gave birth to 2 female foals each, and mares 248 Slavonia XXIV and 304 Slavonia XXVI gave birth to one female foal each. Family Santa had 4 heads at the beginning of the observed period, as well as in 2021, and in 2014 and 2015 it counted 5 heads. Mare 828 Santa XLVII gave birth to 3 female foals, and mare 354 Santa L one. In 2012, the Munja breed was represented by 3 heads, in 2015 it increased by 1 head, and in 2017 it increased to 6 heads, and in 2020 and 2021 there are 4 heads. Mares 96 Munja VIII and 337 Munja X gave birth to 2 female foals each. In 2012, the Gaetana breed numbered 4 heads, then in 2015 it fell by one head, in 2018 and 2019 they recorded an increase of one head each, and in 2021 they numbered 6 heads. The mare 338 Gaetana XXII gave birth to 3 female foals and contributed the most to the breeding of the mentioned breed. The Batosta breed recorded the same number of head in 2012 and 2021–6 of them, with an increase in 2015 and a decrease in 2016. The mare

19 Batosta VIII gave birth to 3 female foals in the observed period, and the mares 792 Batosta LIV and 418 Batosta LXII gave birth to one female foal each. The Montenegra genus is among the most numerous genera after the Mara genus in the last 10 years. In 2012, they numbered 9 heads, then recorded growth, and in 2021 they numbered 12 heads. Mare 114 Montenegro XLIII gave birth to 2 female offspring, while mares 129 Montenegro XLIV, 934 Montenegro XLIII, 149 Montenegro XLIII, 384 Montenegro XLVI, 343 Montenegro XLVII each had one female foal. The genus Mima is the third most represented genus in the observed period. In 2012, they numbered 10 heads, then recorded growth, in 2017 they fell to 7 heads, and in 2021 they numbered 8 heads. Mare 121 Mima XVII gave birth to 3 female offspring, mare 20 Mima XX gave birth to 2 female offspring, and mares 766 Mima XIV and 211 Mima XIX each gave birth to one female offspring. Zenta genus recorded the lowest number of head in 2012, then it increased in 2013 and 2014, in 2017 it decreased to 6 head, and in 2019 and 2020 it again recorded growth to 8 and 9 head, respectively. Mare 252 Zenta XIV gave birth to 2 female foals, and mares 951 Zenta XIII, 279 Zenta XV, 94 Zenta XV, 396 Zenta XV and 379 Zenta XIX one each. The Krabbe genus is the least represented mare genus in the observed period. From 2012 to 2019, they count 2 heads, then their number increases to 4 heads (2020 and 2021). Mares 861 Krabbe XXI and 409 Krabbe XXVI gave birth to one female foal each. Figure 5 shows the direction of movement of the number of females according to the mare's families in the last 10 years, from which the tendency to equalize the representation of all breeds of mares can be observed.

Mares' families	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	Σ
Trofetta	7	7	6	6	6	3	3	3	3	4	48
Toplica	3	3	3	3	3	4	5	6	6	6	42
Allegra	6	5	6	5	6	7	7	6	5	6	59
Mara	15	14	13	14	12	11	11	12	12	12	126
Slavonia	6	6	6	6	5	5	5	8	8	8	63
Santa	4	4	5	5	4	4	4	4	4	4	42
Munja	3	3	3	4	4	6	6	6	4	4	43
Gaetana	4	4	4	3	3	3	4	5	5	6	41
Batosta	6	6	6	7	5	5	5	5	5	6	56
Montenegra	9	10	10	11	11	11	11	13	12	12	110
Mima	10	11	11	11	10	7	7	8	7	8	90
Zenta	5	8	9	9	7	6	6	8	9	9	76
Krabbe	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	2	3	4	23

Table 3. Total number of males according to mares' families from 2012 to 2021 (Horse register of the Dakovo State Stud, 2022).



Fig. 5. Direction of movement of the number of females according to breed of mares from 2012 to 2021 (Horse register of the Đakovo State Stud, 2022).

Figure 6 Shows the average value of the representation of mares in the last 10 years. As previously stated, it can be seen that the most represented genera are Mara, Montenegro and Mima, while the least represented is the genus Krabbe. The number of



Fig. 6. Representation of breeds of mares in the observed period (Register of horses of the Đakovo State Stud, 2022).

individuals in a particular breed of mares depends on the number of female foals within the breed itself and their quality during breeding.

6 Conclusions

The State Stud Farm Dakovo has set breeding selection measures in its breeding program, based on which it carries out breeding selection work by increasing the breeding, use and economic value of the Lipizzaner population. Genetic variability is maintained by a sufficient number of selected breeding stallions and mares while maintaining an optimal proportion of lines and mare families in breeding, continuous selection, implementation of the annual allowance plan and monitoring of the level of inbreeding as prescribed by the breeding program of the Lipizzaner breed for stud breeding. Analyzing the available numerical data related to the lines of stallions and breeds of mares related to the period of the last decade, it can be concluded that the State Stud Farm in Dakovo is planning breeding and selection in a high-quality way, which is a very complex job that requires a lot of professional work, effort, knowledge and skills in order to preserve representation and uniformity of lines in order to obtain the highest quality offspring, with the tendency to increase individuals within lines and genera that are deficient. The total number of breeding Lipizzan mares and stallions, foals and foals in the Dakovo Stud was analyzed, and the data was compared with the previous ten years. The ratio of Lipizzaner foals according to stallion lines and mares is shown. With its way of working, the Đakovo Stud wants to create horses that meet the given breeding goal and needs for harness and dressage sports, as well as raising the quality of private breeding by actively participating with its own breeding stallions as carriers of quality genetic material.

Remark The paper is an excerpt from the final thesis of student Barbara Perica, titled "Analysis of the breeding of Lipizzaner horses at the Đakovo State Stud", defended on 19 September 2022 on the Faculty of Agrobiotechical Sciences Osijek.

References

- Baban, M., Čurik, I., Maić, B., Rastija, T., Čačić, M., Mijić, P.: Morfološka svojstva đakovačkog lipicanca. Krmiva: Časopis o hranidbi životinja, proizvodnji i tehnologiji krme 48(3), 113–119 (2006)
- Baban, M.: 515 godina Đakovačke ergele i 220 godina uzgoja lipicanskih konja. REVIJA Dakovački vezovi. Broj **51**, 54–59 (2021)
- Benčević, Z.: Lipicanac u jahanju dresuri i zaprezi. Državna pastuharna Đakovo, Đakovo (1957) Birer, E.M., Izenbart, H.H.: Lipicaner carski konj. Jugoslavenska revija, Beograd (1986)
- Državna ergela Đakovo: Linije i rodovi u ergeli. http://ergela-djakovo.hr/hr (2016). 8 Aug 2022
- Državna ergela Đakovo i Lipik Uzgojni program lipicanske pasmine u Republici Hrvatskoj (ergelski uzgoj). Ministarstvo poljoprivrede (2019)
- Državna ergela Đakovo i Lipik Knjiga ždrebljenja Državne ergele Đakovo (2021). 10 Aug 2022
- Državna ergela Đakovo i Lipik Matična knjiga konja Državne ergele Đakovo (2021). 10 Aug 2022
- HAPIH Kopitari. Godišnje izvješće za 2021. Godinu. Hrvatska agencija za poljoprivredu i hranu, Osijek (2022)
- HPA Uzgojni program lipicanske pasmine u Republici Hrvatskoj (Program izradili: Ivanković, A., Korabi, N., Baban, M, Poljak, F, Tadić, T., Selanec, D., Dadić, M.). Hrvatska poljoprivredna agencija, Zagreb (2015)

Ivanković, A.: Konjogojstvo. Hrvatsko agronomsko društvo, Zagreb (2004)

- Ministarstvo poljoprivrede Nacionalni program očuvanja izvornih i ugroženih pasmina domaćih životinja u Republici Hrvatskoj 2021–2025. Zagreb (2021)
- Perica, B.: Analiza uzgoja lipicanskih konja u Državnoj ergeli Đakovo. Završni rad, Josip Juraj Strossmayer University of Osijek. Faculty of Agrobiotechnical Sciences Osijek (2022)

Stipić, L.: Bijeli lipicanci Đakova. Centar za selekciju konja PIK-a Đakovo, Đakovo (1975)

Zirn, K.: Prikaz linija lipicanskih pastuha u Državnoj ergeli Đakovo. Diplomski rad, Josip Juraj Strossmayer University of Osijek. Faculty of Agrobiotechical Sciences Osijek (2018)



Influence of the Honeybee Colony Strength on Collecting Bee Venom by Electro Stimulation Method

Kosta Šumar¹, Goran Mirjanić², and Lejla Biber^{1(⊠)}

¹ Faculty of Agriculture and Food Sciences, University of Sarajevo, Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina

l.biber@ppf.unsa.ba

² Faculty of Agriculture, University of Banja Luka, Banja Luka, Bosnia and Herzegovina

Abstract. Honey production has become lately more and more risky because of the frequent extreme climate changes. For this reason, it is necessary to develop production and other bee products. One of the bee products that deserves attention is certainly bee venom. Therefore, it is necessary to complete the knowledge on the possibilities of producing bee venom by a modern method of electro stimulation.

The study was conducted in Pale near Sarajevo in the village Podmjedenik. The experiment was carried out on a total of 6 honeybee colonies divided into three groups of two colonies. Collection of bee venom from worker bees was carried out by two electro stimulation devices. The study showed statistically significant differences in bee venom weight between strong (0.3 mg), medium strong (0.2 mg) and between medium strong and weak (0.11 mg) honeybee colonies. A statistically significant difference was also found in the amount of collected bee venom in the morning (0.3 mg) compared to the amount collected in the afternoon (0.1 mg), as well as the amount in the early evening (0.2 mg) and afternoon hours. There were no statistically significant differences between the morning and the early evening hours in the amount of collected bee venom.

Keywords: beekeeping \cdot bee products \cdot honeybee colony \cdot bee venom \cdot electro stimulation method

1 Introduction

Many products obtained from the bee colony are used nowadays, namely honey, which is the best known and most used bee product, followed by propolis, bee bread, royal jelly, beeswax and bee venom. All bee products are highly valued on the market for their medicinal properties. Beekeepers have been producing more and more bee venom because many studies have concluded that bee venom has a great impact on human health and pain relief in some diseases, so it is used in the pharmaceutical industry, but it is also used in the cosmetic industry for the production of various creams. At the age of 12–14 days, the maximum amount of venom is collected in the reservoir of the gland, after which the secretory cells degenerate. Worker bees, the most numerous members

of the bee colony, are sexually immature females. The production of bee venom is a demanding process, and it is developing more and more over the years. Bee venom has been used in folk medicine to treat various diseases. Additionally, for example, over 400 human diseases have been treated in China and India.

Bee venom is a product of the secretion of venom glands in bees. The venom is a thick, colorless liquid with a strong odor and a very bitter taste. In its free state, bee venom (separated by bees and located in hygienic vials) is a yellowish liquid with an acidic reaction, a pleasant aroma and a bitter and spicy taste. It is easily soluble in water, aqueous solution of glycerine, vegetable oils, poorly soluble in ethyl alcohol of various concentrations and organic acids. It is heavier than water (relative density of 1.0851.131). Furthermore, it contains 30–48% solids. It dries in the air, but the dried residue immediately absorbs moisture.

Bee venom has a complex chemical composition. It contains proteins (including enzymes), peptides, amino acids (histamine, dopamine, norepinephrine), quaternary derivatives, ammonium bases - acetylcholine, lipids (fats and sterols), ash elements (mineral thiol), sugar (glucose and fructose), nucleic and ascorbic acids, hydrochloric acid and other substances. The main part of the dry matter consists of proteins and peptides (80%). Protein melatin (50% of dry matter) is the main component of the venom (Hegić, 2019).

It dries quickly in the air and loses two thirds of its weight. It is slightly acidic, resistant to temperature and freezing does not harm it. If it is not protected, the bee venom will change its color from white to brown-yellow due to oxidation, and such changes caused by oxidation reduce the quality of the bee venom.

Bee venom can be found as:

- Pure and dried bee venom it is white, when used as a solution it is colorless.
- Dried bee venom it can be contaminated with pollen, nectar and dust, and its color varies from yellow to brown-yellow.
- Freeze-dried venom it is purified venom and is stored in hermetically sealed boxes (Tucak et al., 2004).

2 Material and Method

The research was conducted at the family apiary in 2022. It is located 35 km from Sarajevo at the foot of Romanija mountain at 1000m above sea level. There are 80 colonies in Dadant-Blat's beehives at the apiary. Research was done on 6 bee colonies, in the period of two months (June and July). An experiment was conducted and the aim was to see the amount of collected venom using standard electro stimulation. The venom was collected from productive communities, but of different strengths.

2.1 Collection of Bee Venom

There are a few different designed electrostimulators. All of them are essentially simple, meet the basic conditions of commercial production of bee venom and enable the availability of simultaneous collection of venom from a large number of bees, with the bees remaining alive. The standard method of venom collection was performed with an electric stimulator and an applicator (see Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. Electrical stimulator and applicator (Šumar, 2022)

Bee venom was collected simultaneously from two colonies of equal strength. Additionally, the venom was collected at different times for strong societies as well as for medium and weak ones, with an interval of four days and a duration of half an hour. An apparatus was used on which other parameters such as: frequency, pause, interval length (signal) and voltage can be adjusted, which was different at the given moment. The threshold of sensitivity depends on the duration of the stimulation and the step of their amplification. The weaker the increase in the strength of electrical impulses, the higher the stimulation threshold (accommodation effect). On the other hand, a growing impulse causes a rapid reaction in the tissue at lower strengths.

2.2 Extracting Venom from the Applicator

The venom is delivered with the applicators to a previously ventilated room where there is no air flow. The collection is done immediately or after prior drying in an air flow that does not exceed 40 °C. Drying is mostly done due to high humidity in the hive. This type of applicator is placed in boxes, the flow of hot air from the hair dryer is adjusted. To prevent the removal of venom from the glass, it is covered with a multi-layer gauze (2-3 layers). The criterion based on which it is known that the venom has dried is its brittleness during collection. Also, the venom can be dried naturally in the sun, which is soon after the end of the experiment. The venom does not lose its properties, with two thirds of the venom is removed from the cassette and inspected. After that, we put the glass with the venom on the table in the laboratory over black paper. The venom is

removed with a razor blade at an angle of 45°, and vibrations remove the venom from the edges of the glass onto shiny white paper. The rate of removal of the venom from the glass must be such as to prevent excessive dispersal of the venom particles formed by scraping the venom from the glass. The scraped venom is concentrated on the ends of the glass applicator and on the paper. The venom is then transferred using a makeshift spatula made of tracing paper into a vial with black glass. Removing the venom from the glass of the applicator leads to a large dispersion of the powdery parts of the obtained product, which leads to their entry into the mucous membranes of the respiratory organs.

2.3 Recommendations for Bee Venom Collecting

The collection of venom in apiaries should be based on the beekeeping schedule. The time frame of the beginning, duration and intensity of the main pastures is different for different locations. The beekeeper, depending on the pasture and the location, should make a schedule and plan the time of venom collection in accordance with that schedule.

In the period of honey collection, when there is an intensive development of the bee community and the collection of honey and pollen, the collection of venom is not recommended. Only after the stabilization of the bee community and the decline in collection one can start with the collection of bee venom.

The optimal collection interval from the same bee colony is the period considered from the point of view of the development of venomous glands and the longevity of the bees. In this way, we can theoretically justify the optimal time of 20 days. Mostly empirically, it was found to be 15-20 days. Only with such a method of collection is it possible to maintain the main indicator of beekeeping - honey productivity at a normal level, and not reduce productivity. It has been established that the collection of venom carried out in accordance with the technological elements mentioned above increases the vitality of bees. First, it increases the flying activity of the bees, thereby increasing the intake of nectar. However, honey productivity does not increase due to increased honey consumption by the bee colony. In general, the effect of electrical stimulation of bees in the process of collecting venom is reflected in the activation of the physiological state of the bees and the metabolic intensification of the organism. The amount of fat in the body decreases. As a proof of this statement, there are some data of research conducted by the department (Khomutov et al., 1994), and other research (Giniytalin, 1990, Toyganbaev, 1994). The collection of venom in regimes of 5, 10 and 15 days was carried out by the authors and it was determined that electrical stimulation for 5 days reduces the intake of honey by 200-800g, pollen by 7.5%, reduces bee brood by 4–17%. In contrast, electrostimulation for 10-15 days results in an increase in the daily intake of nectar by 100-600g, pollen by 4-7% and brood by 8-42%. All this leads to an increase in the strength of the colony. It was also determined that the strength of the colonies after coming out of winter in the colonies where the venom was collected for 5 days was 1314% less than the control, while the colonies where the venom was collected for 10-15 days came out of hibernation stronger by 5-20% of control.

In the collection season, which is in the summer months, a bee colony gives an average of 0.2 to 0.3 mg of venom per day. The best results were obtained when bee venom collection was carried out every 14 days. Venom is actively extracted from one community by electrostimulation for up to 30 min a day. With the help of one electrostimulator, venom can be extracted from three to four bee colonies in one day. Taking venom has a positive effect on bees, according to some researches, because it extends their life span and because during the extraction of venom by electrostimulation, the queen becomes stronger and egg laying increases, thereby the bee community increases.

On the treated societies, those from which the venom was extracted, a smaller occurrence of varroa (*Varroa jacobsoni*) was observed (see Fig. 2). Also, compared to other untreated societies, the amount of extracted honey is no less, which leads to the conclusion that the extraction of venom does not harm the queen and the bees (Katalinić, 1982).



Fig. 2. Varroa (a - The hive where the venom was extracted; b - The hive where the venom was not extracted) (Šumar, 2022)

Special interest was shown in the indirect effect of electrostimulation on the bee colony. Various studies have shown that there is an increase in the strength of the society as a result of the increased production of eggs in the uterus. This increase may be a consequence of the process of collecting venom by stimulating the bees, since increasing their motor activity leads to an increase in the temperature in the hive and hence the improvement of the process in the uterus. In addition, during this period, an increased separation of lactating milk bees was noticed.

The described technology makes it possible to obtain 350 mg of bee venom in one session by using a set with two applicators in a medium-strong colony (3 kg of bees). In this way, for the entire spring-summer-autumn season (5–8 sessions), it is theoretically possible to obtain 2–4 g of raw venom without intensifying the process.

2.4 Venom Collection Problems

The biggest problem is getting the bees to sting the glass (see Fig. 3) and thus leave the venom on it. Many people think that current impulses will make them do it, but this is wrong. What makes the bees sting is their defense and the smell of the venom that has already been released. That smell signals danger and the bees become aggressive and angry. The signal irritates the bees to release the venom at that moment, and the pause allows them to change. Another big problem is the appearance of predation on the apiary, which will not happen if it is done carefully. The colonies in the apiary must be approximately equal in strength.



Fig. 3. Venom collection problems (Šumar, 2022)

3 Results and Discussion

During the research, 24 venom samples were collected using the classical method of electrostimulation, the results were subjected to statistical analysis. The obtained results were statistically processed using the analysis of variance without transformations, and the significance of the difference was assessed using the Duncan test. The calculation was performed with a significance level of p = 0.05.

The results of the masses of venom collected from bee colonies using electronic stimulation, depending on the strength of the colony, are shown in Fig. 4.



Fig. 4. Venom mass depending on the strength of the bee colony

The results obtained by the experiment show that strong communities produce a significantly higher amount of venom compared to others. Expressed as a percentage, the mass of venom collected from strong communities was 200% higher than the mass of venom collected from weak communities. There are not many literature sources on methods of collecting venom. Hence, for example Fakhimzadeh (1998) reports the effectiveness of 26 mg of dry bee venom collected from one bee colony for one hour. The device described by Nobre (1998) collects 60 mg of venom under the same conditions.

A statistically significant difference was found in the strong (0.03 g) and medium strong (0.02 g) group compared to the weak group (0.01 g).

169

The mass of bee venom varies depending on the time, as well as the day on which the treatment is performed. Thus, the mass of venom increased according to the days of collection, which explains that the intensity of grazing plays a big role as well as the number of bees in the hive. Therefore, the largest amount of venom was collected in the morning and evening hours, while in the afternoon it was the lowest, as shown in Fig. 5.



Fig. 5. The mass of the venom depending on the period of the day in which the venom was extracted

In the research by Omar (2017), the highest average mass of bee venom was collected in August, when 0.44 mg of bee venom per bee colony was determined, then in July.

0.42 mg, and the lowest average mass of 0.30 mg was found during February. Also, Hegazi et al. (2017) found that although there was no statistically significant difference in the mass of bee venom per bee colony collected during June in two consecutive years (2014 and 2015), the highest mass of bee venom was determined in the third week in both years. The mass of bee venom ranged from 48.9 ± 0.03 mg to 72.4 mg. For the purposes of the research, they used a device for collecting bee venom that works on the principle of intermittent pulses of electric current under a voltage of 12V and was placed on the top of the hive. They performed the experiment for 10 days every month for three hours a day. The bee colonies they used in their research were fed sugar syrup (1:1) and bee bread.

4 Conclusion

Bee venom is a highly valued product obtained from bees by various methods, of which the most effective and painless method is electrostimulation of bees, after which the bees remain alive and bee venom is obtained with the least impurities and in the largest quantities. Electrostimulators can be placed at the entrance of the hive and in the hive itself. A purer venom with fewer impurities is obtained when the apparatus is placed on the top bar which was impossible to test due to lack of equipment. Considering the strength of the bee colony, it was determined that strong bee colonies (0.03 g) give more venom compared to medium (0.02 g) and weak (0.01 g).

Based on the previous research, it was also determined that the colonies where the venom was extracted were healthier, due to the appearance of significantly smaller amounts of varroa. The societies in the apiary must be of approximately the same strength to avoid predation and the suffering of the entire apiary. And it is best to treat all the colonies in the apiary.

References

- Beličić, J., Katalinić, J., Loc, D., Lončarević, S., Peradin, L.: Tomašec i Simić: Pčelarstvo, Nakladni zavod znanje, Zagreb (1982)
- Hegazi, A., Abdou, A.M., Abd El-Moez, S.I., Abd, F.: Evaluation of the antibacterial activity of bee venom from different sources. World Appl. Sci. J. 30(3), 266–270 (2014)
- Hegić, G.: Pčelarstvo, apiterapija, apiturizam. Geromar d.o.o., Bestovje, 488 (2019)
- Katalinić, J.: Pčelarstvo, peto izdanje, Nakladni zavod Znanje. Varoza- bolest odraslih pčela i poklopljenog legla (1982)
- Kapš, P.: Liječenje pčelinjim proizvodima APITERAPIJA. Geromar d.o.o., Bestovje, 440 (2013)
- Michener, C.D.: The Bees of the world, second edition, p. 992. The Johns Hopkins University Press, Baltimore (2007)
- Omar, R.E.M.: Effect of bee venom collection on the measurement of brood rearing activity of honeybee colony apis mellifera L. Midddle East J Agric. **6**(2), 409–414 (2017)
- (17) (PDF) Factors driving the compositional diversity of Apismellifera bee venom from a Corymbia calophylla (marri) ecosystem, Southwestern Australia. Available from: https:// www.researchgate.net/publication/352878046_Factors_driving_the_compositional_dive rsity_of_Apis_mellifera_bee_venom_from_a_Corymbia_calophylla_marri_ecosystem_Sou thwestern_Australia, accessed 29 Nov 2022
- Todorović, R.: Pčelarstvo- Ilustrovani priručnik za napredne pčelare, Sarajevo (2011)
- Tucak, Z., Bačić, T., Horvat, S., Puškadija Z.: Pčelarstvo 2. dopunjeno i prošireno izdanje. Poljoprivredni fakultet Osijek, Osijek (2004)
- Cekić, B.: Pčelinjim otrovom do zdravlja i dodatnih prihoda, last accessed 8 December 2015
- Hodžić, A.: pčelinji otrov proizvod vrjedniji od zlata, last accessed 27 April 2019
- https://www.agroklub.com/pcelarstvo/pcelinjim-otrovom-do-zdravlja-i-dodatnihprihoda/22101/, last accessed 29 July 2020
- https://www.agroklub.com/pcelarstvo/pcelinji-otrov-proizvod-vrijedniji-odzlata/50356/ last accessed 27 July 2020
- https://www.healthline.com/nutrition/beevenom#benefits, last accessed 15 June 2020
- https://www.pcelarstvo.hr/index.php/proizvodi/proizvodi-pcela/10-pcelinji-otrov, last accessed 27 July 2020
- Kubala, J.: Healthline pčelinji otrov, last accessed 24 June 2019 Pčelarstvo onLine – pčelinji otrov, last accessed 16 April 2015


An Overview of Using Algae Meal in Feeding Freshwater Fish Species

Senada Čengić-Džomba, Emir Džomba^(⊠), and Dženan Hadžić

Faculty of Agriculture and Food Sciences, University of Sarajevo, Zmaja Od Bosne 8, 71000 Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina s.cengic-dzomba@ppf.unsa.ba

Abstract. World aquaculture production of farmed aquatic animals grew on average at 5.3 percent per year over the period 2001-2018 (FAO, 2020). This trend imposes an increased demand for fishmeal and fish oil as the two major dietary ingredients used in compound aquafeeds. Global awareness of the need to manage aquatic ecosystems in a sustainable manner requires the use of alternative protein sources in fish nutrition as a replacement for the mentioned marine ingredients in aquafeeds. Due to the high content of proteins, whose amino acid composition is similar to the amino acid composition of fishmeal proteins, as well as the content of vitamins, natural carotenoids, polyunsaturated fatty acids and other bioactive substances, the use of algae as feed is one of the options for the complete or partial replacement of fishmeal in fish nutrition. High yields of algal biomass per unit area, their ability to grow in non-potable water, low production cost and cultivation in an environment-friendly way are crucial for development and sustainability of aquaculture. This overview highlights the impact of replacing fishmeal with blue-green algae Spirulina platensis in compound aquafeeds on the production performances of different freshwater fish species.

Keywords: algae meal · fishmeal · freshwater fish · spirulina

1 Introduction

Global production of aquatic animals was estimated at 178 million tons in 2020 (FAO, 2022), out of which 63% (112 million tons) came from oceans (70% capture fisheries and 30% from aquaculture), and 37% (66 million tons) from inland waters (83% from aquaculture and 17% from capture fisheries). An important share (around 20 million tons or 11% of overall production) is used for production of fishmeal and fish oil intended as feed for aquatic and terrestrial animals. In the last 10 years, average annual production of fishmeal and fish oil amounted to 5 million tons, while production of fish oil amounted between 0.8 and 1.3 million tons a year (EUMOFA, 2021).

Seventy percent of the produced fishmeal is used as feed for aquaculture, while a smaller part is used for pigs and chickens feeding in the early stage of their life. In aquaculture, about 30% of fishmeal is used as feed for shrimps, followed by feed for salmonids, with the largest share in the diet of young fish. 73% of fish oil is used

in aquaculture feed industry, mostly for salmonid fish (Mallison, 2017). The trend of increased demand for aquatic organisms in the world, as well as the concerns regarding sustainability of aquaculture production, impose the need to replace the fishmeal with alternative sources of protein. Vegetable protein and proteins of animal origin from rendering and slaughtering have been used for many years as a substitute for fishmeal and have certain disadvantages. The main deficiency of animal protein is significant variation in quality, lower digestibility of protein, and in some cases, higher ash content. Although they do contain a high percentage of protein, the blood meal and the feather meal cannot satisfy the fish requirements for amino acids. In comparison with fishmeal, vegetable sources of protein have worse amino acid profile, meaning lower content of methionine, lysine and arginine. These deficiencies become even more apparent if they make a greater share in the diet of carnivorous fish, particularly younger groups that require a higher protein feed. In addition, presence of fiber and phytates in this feed negatively affects digestion. All of these are reasons that had prompted the research in seeking new sources of protein that could partially or completely replace fishmeal in the fish feed (Hardy et al., 2006).

A number of studies (Alagawany et al., 2021; Mahata et al., 2022; Nagappan et al., 2021) conducted over the past decades suggest that several kinds of microalgae: *Spirulina platensis*, Chlorella sp., *Spirulina maxima*, Dunaliella sp. And Ulva sp., could be a good source of protein, but also of other nutrients and bioactive substances in fish diet. Among the mentioned microorganisms, special attention has been devoted to blue-green algae Spirulina *(Spirulina platensis*), primarily due to high protein content which can be as much as 70% (Ramírez-Rodrigues et al., 2021), and beneficial amino acid composition (Masten Rutar et al., 2022). *Spirulina platensis*, compared to other algae, is the richest source of γ –linolenic acid (GLA) polyunsaturated fatty acid (PUFA) that has proven beneficial effect on reduction of low-density lipoprotein, treatment of eczema and mitigation of symptoms of pre-menstrual syndrome (Tanticharoen et al., 1994).

Besides protein, Spirulina also contains significant amounts of vitamins (B-vitamins) and minerals, and free-radical scavenging phycobiliproteins. Numerous scientific studies (Aber et al., 2015; Faheem et al., 2022. Zhang et al., 2020) have showed its anti-oxidant, anti-viral, anti-cancer and immune stimulating effect of Spirulina on fish health.

2 Comparative Overview of Nutritional Composition of Spirulina and Fishmeal

2.1 Basic Chemical Composition

Apart from having high content of protein (50%–70%), essential amino acids and essential fatty acids, Spirulina is also a rich source of vitamins and minerals. Thus, fish diets can include various shares of Spirulina. Comparative overview of main nutritional composition of Spirulina and fishmeal is shown in Table 1.

It is evident, from the results of the aforementioned research, that the protein content in Spirulina is quite high but also variable - the determined values ranged from 55.82% to 71.90%.

Feed	References	Moisture, %	Crude protein, %	Gross energy, kcal/100 g	Ether extract, %	Crude fiber, %	Minerals, %	Calcium, %	Total phosphorus, %	Starch, %
Spirulina platensis	Alvarenga et al. (2011) ¹	11.92	58.20	428.60	2.60	0.78	8.44	0.48	1.06	dnr
	Saharan and Jood (2017) ²	5.27	71.90	353.55	1.27	9.70	3.50	0.62	0.79	dnr
	Sharoba (2014) ²	4.64	62.84	dnr	6.93	8.12	7.47	0.922	2.191	3.56
	Seghiri et al. (2019) ²	12.66	76.65	436.18	2.45	4.07	1.56	6.00	10.088	dnr
	Raczyk et al. (2022) ²	7.09	71.34	333.40	0.36	8.45	5.93	dnr	dnr	dnr
	Alagawany et al. (2021) ²	6.98	56.79	dnr	8.33	4.25	10.05	0.363	0.123	dnr
	Ngakou et al. (2012) ²	8.51	55.82	dnr	5.95	7.63	7.89	dnr	0.243	dnr
Fish meal herring*	NRC (1993))	8.00	72.00	dnr	8.40	0.60	10.40	2.20	1.67	dnr
Fish meal menhaden*	NRC (1993)	8.00	64.50	dnr	9.60	0.70	19.00	5.19	2.88	dnr
Fish meal white*	NRC (1993)	9.00	62.30	dnr	5.00	0.50	21.30	7.31	3.81	dnr
Fish meal	INRA (2004)	7.70	62.60	dnr	9.50	0.00	17.80	4.48	2.76	dnr

Table 1. Chemical composition of Spirulina platensis and fishmeal

* mechanically extracted; ¹expressed on natural matter basis, ²expressed on dry matter basis; dnr = did not report

Protein content may be affected by the algae growing conditions (medium and temperature). According to Yilmaz (2012), increasing temperature from 30 °C to 40 °C may, in addition to leading to growth variations, reduce the protein content in Spirulina from 64% to 59%. Matos et al. (2016) suggest that fibers in microalgae are present in the amount of 5%-18%. The crude fiber content in Spirulina, according to the authors mentioned in Table 1, range between 3.50% and 14.60%, while according to Nagapan et al. (2021), average fiber content in Spirulina is 8.5%. The characteristic of microalgae fiber is low content of hemicellulose and complete absence of lignin and cellulose in the cell walls, what significantly improves its digestibility. Predominant compounds that build the cell walls of *Spirulina platensis* include mucopeptides, acidic polysaccharides and lipopolysaccharides, and this makes Spirulina more digestible for fish compared to some other algae (Nagapan et al., 2021). Phytates and oxalates are not present in Spirulina (Masten Rutar et al., 2022).

2.2 Amino Acid Composition

Quality of protein depends on amino acid content. By comparing the amino acid profile of the Spirulina protein with amino acid profile of soybean meal, Alvarenga et al. (2011) found greater content of methionine, leucine, isoleucine and valine; approximately same content of arginine; and lower content of lysine in the Spirulina protein (Table 2). Yücetepe and Özçelik (2016) and Nagappan et al. (2021) reported similar results. The only difference found by Neumann et al. (2018), Bashira et al. (2016) and Montoya-Martínez et al. (2016) compared to the abovementioned authors is a greater content of lysine in the Spirulina protein.

By comparing the amino acid profile of Spirulina with amino acid profile of fismeal, Nagappan et al. (2021) found a greater content of aforementioned amino acids in the fishmeal. This difference is particularly significant in arginine – there is as much as 50% more of arginine in fishmeal than in Spirulina. Similar results were also found by Bashira et al. (2016), while Neumann et al. (2018) documents somewhat different results, showing greater content of valine, isoleucine, and leucine in Spirulina, and approximately the same content of lysine compared to the content of the same amino acids in fishmeal. A similar content of methionine and lysine in these feeds are also found by Montoya-Martinez et al. (2016). NRC (1993) states only the higher content of methionine in various kinds of fishmeal compared to the content of this amino acid in Spirulina, while the other amino acids were found in lower or similar amounts. In spite of the mentioned differences, it can be concluded that the amino acid profile of Spirulina is well balanced, and that Spirulina makes a much better choice than soybean meal to replace fishmeal in fish feed. Leucine and valine are major essential amino acids in Spirulina.

The research presented in Table 1 shows that the content of lipids (ether extract) in Spirulina dry matter ranges from 0.36% to 8.33%. According to Ambrozova et al. (2014), the lipid content in Spirulina ranges from 6.40% to 14.3% in dry matter. It seems that growing conditions, seasonal characteristics and technological drying processes can cause different deposition of lipids as well as differences in the fatty acids profile in Spirulina.

The profile of fatty acids in *Spirulina platensis*, as shown in Table 3, suggests that the dominant fatty acids are palmitic, linolenic and γ -linoleic (GLA) acids. Content of palmitic acid (C16:0) ranges from 33.30% to 51.54% (percentage of total fatty acid content), content of linoleic (C18:2n-6) ranges from 15.00% to 22.00%, and γ -linolenic (C18:3n-6) acid 12.90% to 27.60%. Stearic acid is also present in the amount of 1.06%-5.77%.

The total content of monounsaturated fatty acid (MUFA: C16:1 and C18:1) in *Spirulina platensis* amounted 9.45% (Widianingsih et al., 2013).

Mühling et al. (2005) finds that the Spirulina growth rate at various temperatures influences the content of three predominant fatty acids. Raising temperature from 200C to 300C increased the content of palmitic and linoleic acids (from 40.2% to 46.1% and 24.30% to 34.50%, respectively), while the content of the γ -linoleic acid decreased from 28.00% to 12.90%. Bhakar et al. (2014) examined the influence of different concentrations of NaNO₃ (1.0, 1.5 and 2.5 g/L) and K₂HPO₄ (0.2, 0.3 and 0.5 g/L) on the lipid

	Spirulina Raczyk et al. (2022) ¹	Spirulina Nagappan et al. (2021) ²	Spirulina Alvarenga et al. (2011) ²	Spirulina Neumann et al. (2018) ²	Spirulina Bashira et al. (2016) ²	Soybean meal Alvarenga et al. (2011) ²	Fish meal Nagappan et al. (2021) ²	Fishmeal herring ³ *	Fishmeal menhaden ³ *	Fishmeal tuna ³ *	Fishmeal white ³ *
Aspartic acid + asparagine	30.69	5.1	5.34	dnr	6.31	5.29	dnr	dnr	dnr	dnr	dnr
Glutamic acid + glutamine	49.63	7.8	8.15	dnr	8.47	8.65	dnr	dnr	dnr	dnr	dnr
Serine	20.35	2.6	2.92	dnr	dnr	2.42	dnr	dnr	dnr	dnr	dnr
Glycine	21.26	2.6	3.00	dnr	3.43	2.01	1.7	dnr	dnr	dnr	dnr
Histidine	27.39	0.8	1.00	1.28	1.13	1.38	dnr	1.05	1.45	1.75	1.34
Arginine	26.13	3.4	3.96	6.79	4.47	3.55	6.8	4.54	3.82	3.43	4.21
Threonine	39.61	2.7	2.84	4.39	3.31	1.85	3.5	2.90	2.50	2.31	2.57
Alanine	12.10	3.9	4.54	dnr	5.02	2.02	dnr	dnr	dnr	dnr	dnr
Proline	22.92	1.7	2.15	dnr	2.53	2.36	dnr	dnr	dnr	dnr	dnr
Tyrosine	20.34	2.1	2.58	dnr	3.07	1.74	dnr	2.20	1.94	1.09	1.94
Valine	27.89	3.0	3.34	5.87	4.21	2.03	4.0	4.20	3.22	2.77	3.02
Methionine	8.07	1.2	1.98	1.81	1.71	0.79	2.5	2.08	1.75	1.47	1.68
Cysteine	4.60	dnr	0.72	0.77	0.64	0.59	0.4	0.74	0.56	0.47	0.75
Isoleucine	25.34	2.9	3.06	5.07	3.64	2.04	3.7	3.13	2.66	2.45	2.67
Leucine	39.69	4.8	4.84	8.04	6.17	3.40	6.2	5.19	4.48	3.79	4.52
Phenylalanine	19.02	2.5	2.50	dnr	3.33	2.29	3.3	2.71	2.41	2.15	2.34
Lysine	22.62	2.5	2.72	3.91	3.40	2.80	3.7	5.57	4.72	4.06	4.53
Tryptophan	dnr	dnr	dnr	dnr	0.85	dnr	dnr	0.77	0.65	0.57	0.60

 Table 2. Amino acids profile of the Spirulina platensis, soybean meal and fishmeals commonly used in fish feed

¹expressed as mg AA/g dry matter, ²expressed as g AA/100 g protein; ³expressed as % on feed basis * NRC 1993; dnr = did not report

content and fatty acid profile of different Spirulina strains. Concerning *Spirulina platensis*, the results of this research showed that at lower initial concentrations of nitrogen and phosphorus, the amount of lipids was the highest and that NaNO₃ was more effective in increasing the total lipid content. The highest amount of GLA accumulated at a concentration of 1.0 g/L NaNO₃, while K₂HPO₄ had a greater impact on the profile of other fatty acids.

According to Turan et al. (2007) the total content of SFA in anchovy meal was 33.44%, with dominant palmitic acid in the amount of 20.31%. Average content of MUFA was 20.92% with predominant share of oleic acid (12.86%). Of the PUFA, the highest concentration of 18.3% was found for docosahexaenoic acid-DHA (C22:6 n-3), and 7.93% of eicosapentaenoic acid-EPA (C20:5 n-3). PUFA n-3 content (27.49%) was significantly higher than n-6 PUFA (4.54%) (all values are expressed as percentage of total fatty acid content).

Fatty acid	Spirulina powder					
	Raczyk et al. $(2022)^1$	da Silva et al. $(2019)^2$	Masten Rutar et al. $(2022)^2$	Yordanova et al. $(2015)^2$	Mühling et al. $(2005)^2$	protein, 65% ³
C12:0		1.76				0.10
C14:0		1.00	0.35	0.45		6.00
C16:0	51.54	33.30	41.80	49.45	44.1-46.1	17.80
C16:1	2.88	3.24	6.93	3.20	2.9–3.9	7.20
C17:0	4.04	1.07	0.33			
C18:0	1.06	5.77	3.90	4.66	1.3–2.1	3.60
C18:1n-9	2.69	3.30	3.78	6.94	3.5-7.6	12.30
C18:2n-6	17.21	17.90	22.00	17.25	15.0-31.5	
C18:3 n-3		0.36		0.82		1.90
C18:3 n-6	19.30	27.60	19.40	17.23	12.9–28.5	
C18:4						1.50
C20:0		0.26				0.30
C20:1		0.11				6.60
C20:2		0.11				
C20:3 n-0		0.84				
C20:4 n-6		0.48				2.40
C20:5						9.00
C22:0		0.93				0.30
C22:1						7.70
C22:5						2.60
C22:6 n-3		0.55				6.60
C24:0		0.09				
\sum SFA	56.63	45.60				
\sum MUFA	5.57	6.60				
\sum PUFA	37.80	47.80				

 Table 3. Fatty acids composition of Spirulina platensis and fishmeal

¹% of the spirulina powder; ²Fatty acids are presented as percentages of the total amount of the methyl esters identified ³INRAE-CIRAD-AFZ; SFA-saturated fatty acids; MUFA-monounsaturated fatty acids; PUFA-polyunsaturated fatty acids

3 Possibility to Replace Fishmeal with Spirulina in Feed for Freshwater Fish

Nandeesha et al. (1998) investigated the effect of replacing fishmeal protein with Spirulina (Spirulina platensis) protein on growth, carcass composition, activity of digestive enzymes and diet digestibility during 120 days in common carp (Cyprinus carpio L.) feeding. In four experimental diets fishmeal protein was replaced by Spirulina protein at amount of 25%, 50%, 75% and 100%. Control diet contained no Spirulina. In order to exam effect of Spirulina as solely source of protein they used one more (6th) experimental diet. Protein content in fishmeal and in Spirulina amounted 67% and 54.5% respectively, and fat content was 2% and 1%. All diets had approximately the same protein content (nearly isonitrogenous levels), and nearly equal energy value (14.59-14.79 kJ/g) except for the sixth diet, at which the energy value was 17.01 kJ/g. The results of this experiment showed no significant difference in body weight and length of the fish. Spirulina did not have negative effect on specific growth rate (SGR), feed conversion ratio (FCR) and protein efficiency ratio (PER). Net protein retention (NPR) was the best in fish fed with the diet where Spirulina was the only protein source. Negative influence of Spirulina was not found in organoleptic assessment of quality of raw and thermally processed fish. Digestibility of protein was even better than in case of fish fed with control diet. Results of this experiment show that Spirulina can be used as the sole source of protein in carp feeding.

Ramakrishnan et al. (2008) in 45 day feeding trial investigated effect of incorporation *Lactobacillus acidophilus*, *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* and *Spirulina maximus* into diets at concentrations of 1%, 2%, or 3% on common carp grow parameters. Control diet contained no supplement. Protein content in the control diet was 36.2%, while the diets enriched with Spirulina contained 40.6%, 41.4% and 43.2% protein. According to authors the best survival, growth, SGR, PER and FCR were achieved with diet containing 3% of Spirulina. There were no significant differences of carcass quality among the fish fed with different diets, although the greatest protein content in the carcass was obtained in the groups fed the diets containing Spirulina.

Faheem et al. (2022) investigated effect of supplementing diets with 0, 1, 5 or 10% of Spirulina on growth parameters, digestive enzymes, hepatic antioxidants, and immunity biomarkers of juvenile grass carp (*Ctenopharyngodon idella*). Fingerlings of average body weight 4.81 g were fed over 90 days with diets where the wheat flour, soybean meal, cottonseed meal and mustard cake were partly replaced with Spirulina. Results of the experiment showed the greatest growth, final body weight and SGR in fish fed a diet containing 5% of Spirulina. Mucus protease, lysozyme and peroxidase activity significantly increased in fish fed with 5% of Spirulina. Spirulina has significantly increased the enzyme activity. Activity of amylase was significantly higher in all experimental groups compared to the control group. Higher intestinal protease activity recorded in fish fed with 5 and 10% Spirulina and activity of lipase in fish fed diets containing 1% of Spirulina. Hepatic lipid peroxidation was significantly reduced in fish fed 1% and 5% of Spirulina, while a significant increase in hepatic superoxide dismutase was found in fish fed with 10% of Spirulina. Increase in mucosal lysozyme was also found in fish fed with 5% of Spirulina.

Replacing 15–20% of fishmeal with *cyanobacteria* decrease the growth rate of rainbow trout (Nagappan et al., 2021). Precise level of replacing the fishmeal or other feeds with microalgae depends on the fish species and pelleting conditions.

Rosenau et al. (2022) studied the possibility of total replacement of fishmeal with Spirulina in the feed of three salmonid species: rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss), brook trout (Salvelinus fontinalis) and brown trout (Salmo trutta fario). Initial average body weight of the fish was for rainbow trout 100.8 g, brook trout 111.8 g and brown trout 98.25 g. Brown trout was excluded from the experiment because of non-acceptance of the diet containing Spirulina, which was manifested in the loss of body weight after two weeks of experiment. The experiment results showed a significant difference in body weight among species (body weight differences among species were also found at the beginning of the experiment). In both species, body weight was lower in fish fed Spirulina containing diets, FCR was low in all groups, but lower in groups fed the fishmeal. In case of brook trout, high variation of body weight of fish fed with Spirulina was detected, suggesting that individual fish convert more efficiently the Spirulina protein or consume greater quantity of feed, which can be caused by genetic factors. Color of the filets (yellow and red) of both species was intensified as a result of adding Spirulina (the coloring was greater in brook trout). Concerning fatty acids, Spirulina containing diets reduced the content of PUFA including n3 fatty acids, increased the SFA content, and showed no significant influence on MUFA content in the muscles. The results showed significant differences in the content of different fatty acids in fish fed different diets, and negligible difference among different species. The EPA was reduced in both species, while DHA was reduced only in brook trout. Although both EPA and DHA were low in fish fed Spirulina containing diets, this difference was not detected in muscles, and this can be explained by the fact that rainbow trout can synthesize PUFA up to a certain amount.

In feeding trial with commercial (control, crude protein 39.67%) and experimental diet (crude protein 41.44%), where 10% of commercial diet was replaced with Spirulina Sirakov et al. (2012) found better weight gain, length, SGR, average daily growth and FCR in rainbow trout fed the diet containing Spirulina.

Results of another study (Hernández Flores et al., 2012) suggest that total replacement of fishmeal with 25% soybean meal and 75% of Spirulina in feed for juvenile rainbow trout improves the serum lysozyme activity and reduces the amount of phosphorus in faeces. Although there were no statistical differences among groups fed different diets (75% Spirulina and 25% soybean meal, 50% Spirulina and 50% soybean meal, and 25% Spirulina and 75% soybean meal) regarding to growth indicators, fish fed with fishmeal had strongest growth. Concerning replacement diets the best results were achieved with a mixture of 75% Spirulina and 25% soybean meal.

El-Sheekh et al. (2014) in 65 day feeding trial investigated the effect of replacing 0%, 50%, 75% and 100% of fishmeal with spirulina (*A. platensis*) in hybrid red tilapia fries (*Oreochromis niloticus* x *Oreochromis mossambicus*) diets. The control diet did not contain Spirulina. Experimental diets were iso-energetic (473 kcal/100 g) and iso-nitrogenous (36% CP).

The best growth performances (FW, WG, ADG and SGR) were obtained by replacing 75% of the fish meal with Spirulina. Slightly less favourable results were obtained by

substituting 50% of fishmeal, which were still better compared to diets without Spirulina. Lower mortality was recorded in fish fed with diets in which the replacement of fishmeal was 75% and 100%. The highest feed intake, FCR and PER value, as well as the highest red and white blood cells count were recorded in fish fed with 75% Spirulina.

Mahmoud et al. (2018) found that addition of 1% Spirulina more effectively increases bactericidal, phagocytic and lysozyme activities conferring protection against infection and significantly improves immunity of Nile tilapia against *Pseudomonas fluorescence* comparing to addition of 2% Spirulina in the diets.

Rosenau et al. (2021) explored the possibility of total replacement of fishmeal (20% in the feed) with Spirulina in the diet of African catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*) during a 10-week experimental period. The results of the experiment showed significantly lower final body weight and significantly higher values for the yellow skin and fillets color of fish fed with Spirulina. Higher values for C20:5n3 and C24:0 in fish fillet were found in the group fed with fishmeal, while C16:0 was more prevalent in fish fed with Spirulina. No significant differences were found in the content of C18:1n9 and C18:2n6 between the groups. The slight increase in n6/n3 ratio in the fillets observed in spirulina fed fish reflects the fatty acid composition of the diets.

4 Conclusion

In spite of being mildly inferior compared to standard protein (with 80% limiting amino acids), the Spirulina protein is significantly better than almost any other plant protein. One important advantage of Spirulina is that there are no limiting factors for utilization of amino acids. Full replacement of fishmeal in feed for some salmonid species results with poorer FCR (compared to the fishmeal fed fish), what can be explained by less efficient decomposition of cell walls of Spirulina in gastro-intestinal system of fish.

Significant variations in the final body weight in these species indicate a more efficient conversion of spirulina protein into body protein or a higher intake of spirulina by some individuals, which implies a possible influence of genetic factors. Therefore, breeding programs might increase the efficiency of using Spirulina in salmonid nutrition.

Change of the filet colour to yellow, as a result of carotenoid content in Spirulina, might cause rejection of the product because in European countries the desired colour of trout filet is white or red/pink. Complete replacement of fishmeal with Spirulina also results with reduced n3-PUFA in muscles. Partial replacement of fishmeal with Spirulina, or combination of Spirulina with soybean meal achieves satisfactory performance in these species of fish. In some herbivorous fish species, the complete replacement of fishmeal with Spirulina gives satisfactory results. By partial replacement it is possible to achieve even better growth performances comparing to the control. In general, partial replacement of fishmeal with Spirulina improves growth parameters, immune status and antioxidant response in fish. Precise ratio of replacement of fishmeal or other feeds with Spirulina, varies depending on the fish species and pellet manufacturing conditions. The price of Spirulina on the market is still quite high and is one of the main obstacles to the greater use of this algae in fish nutrition.

References

- Abu Zaid, A.A., Hammad, D.M., Sharaf, E.M.: Antioxidant and anticancer activity of *Spirulina platensis* water extracts. Int. J. Pharmacol. **11**, 846–851 (2015). https://doi.org/10.3923/ijp. 2015.846.851
- Alagawany, M., Taha, A.E., Noreldin, A., El-Tarabily, K.A., El-Hack, M.E.A.: Nutritional applications of species of spirulina and chlorella in farmed fish: a review. Aquaculture 542 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.aquaculture.2021.736841, last accessed 06 September 2022
- Alvarenga, R.R., Rodrigues, P.B., de Souza Cantarelli, V., Zangeronimo, M.G., da Silva, J.W., da Silva, L.R., et al.: Energy values and chemical composition of spirulina (*Spirulina platensis*) evaluated with broilers. Revista Brasileira de Zootecnia 40, 992–996 (2011)
- Ambrozova, J.V., et al.: Influence of extractive solvents on lipid and fatty acids content of edible freshwater algal and seaweed products, the green microalga *Chlorella kessleri* and the cyanobacterium *Spirulina platensis*. Molecules **19**, 2344–2360 (2014)
- Bashira, S., Sharifa, M.K., Butta, M.S., Shahidb, M.: Functional properties and amino acid profile of *Spirulina platensis* Protein Isolates. Pakistan J. Sci. Indus. Res. Series B: Biolog. Sci. **59**(1), 12–19 (2016)
- Bhakar, R.N., Brahmdutt, B., Pabbi, S.: Total lipid accumulation and fatty acid profiles of microalga Spirulina under different nitrogen and phosphorus concentrations. Egypt. J. Biol. 16(1), 57–62 (2014)
- El-Sheekh, M., El-Shourbagy, I., Shalaby, S., Hosny, S.: Effect of feeding *Arthrospira platensis* (Spirulina) on growth and carcass composition of hybrid red tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus x Oreochromis mossambicus*). Turk. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. **14**, 471–478 (2014)
- EUMOFA. The European Market Observatory for fisheries and aquaculture. Fishmeal and fish oil. https://doi.org/10.2771/062233, https://www.eumofa.eu/, last accessed 29 November 2022
- Faheem, M., et al.: Improving growth, digestive and antioxidant enzymes and immune response of juvenile grass carp (*Ctenopharyngodon idella*) by using dietary *Spirulina platensis*. Fishes 7(5), 237 (2022). https://doi.org/10.3390/fishes7050237
- FAO: The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture (SOFIA). FAO Rome, Italy (2022). ISBN: 978-92-5-136364-5, https://www.fao.org/publications/sofia/2022/en/, last accessed 27 November 2022
- Flores, G.H., Hernández, L.H.H., Araiza, M.A.F., López, O.A.: Effects of total replacement of fishmeal with spirulina powder and soybean meal on juvenile rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss Walbaum*). The Israeli J. Aquacul. Bamidgeh 64, 790 (2012)
- Gutiérrez-Salmeán, G., Fabila-Castillo, L., Chamorro-Cevallos, G.: Nutritional and toxicological aspects of Spirulina (*Arthrospira*). Nutr. Hosp. **32**(1), 34–40 (2015)
- Hardy, R.W.: Worldwide fish meal production outlook and the use of alternative protein meals for aquaculture. In: Cruz-Suarez, L.E., Ricque Marie, D., Salazar, M.T., Nieto Lopez, M.G., Willarreal Cavazos, D.A., Puello Cruz, A.C., Ortega, G.A. (eds.) Avances en Nutricion Acuicola VIII. VIII Simposium Internacional de Nutricion Acuicola. 15–17 Noviembre. Universidad Autonoma de Nuevo Leon Monterrey. Nuevo Leon, Mexico (2006)
- INRAE-CIRAD-AFZ.: INRAE-CIRAD-AFZ Feed tables: Composition and nutritive values of feeds for cattle, sheep, goats, pigs, poultry, rabbits, horses and salmonid. In: Sauvant, D., Perez, J.-M., Tran, G. (eds.) ISBN 9076998418, p. 304. INRA Editions Versailles (2004). https://feedtables.com/, last accessed 30 November 2022
- Mahata, C., Das, P., Khan, S., Thaher, M.I.A., Abdul Quadir, M., Annamalai, S.N., Al Jabri, H.: The potential of marine microalgae for the production of food, feed, and fuel (3F). Fermentation 8, 316 (2022). https://doi.org/10.3390/fermentation8070316
- Mahmoud, M.M.A., El-Lamie, M.M.M., Kilany, O.E., Dessouki, A.A.: Spirulina (*Arthrospira platensis*) supplementation improves growth performance, feed utilization, immune response,

and relieves oxidative stress in Nile tilapia (*Oreochromis niloticus*) challenged with *Pseudomonas fluorescens*. Fish Shellfish Immunol. **72**, 291–300 (2018)

- Mallison, A.: Future contributions of marine ingredients in aquafeeds. A summary of a presentation given at the World Aquaculture Society Annual Conference in Cape Town, South Africa, on June 28, 2017. Global Seafood Aliance (2019). Homepage: https://www.aquaculturea lliance.org/advocate/marine-ingredients-aquafeeds/?headlessPrint=AAAAAPIA9c8r7gs82o WZBA, last accessed 10 October 2022
- Masten Rutar, J., Jagodic Hudobivnik, M., Nečemer, M., Vogel Mikuš, K., Iztok Arčon, I., Ogrinc, N.: Nutritional quality and safety of the spirulina dietary supplements sold on the slovenian market. Foods 11(6), 849 (2022). https://doi.org/10.3390/foods11060849
- Matos, A.P., et al.: Chemical characterization of six microalgae with potential utility for food application. J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc. **93**, 963–972 (2016)
- Montoya-Martínez, C., Nolasco-Soria, H., Carrillo-Farnés, O., Civera-Cerecedo, R., Álvarez González, C., Vega-Villasante, F.: Chemical score of different protein sources to four Macrobrachium species. Lat. Am. J. Aquat. Res. 44(4), 835–844 (2016). https://doi.org/10.3856/ vol44-issue4-fulltext-19
- Mühling, M., Belay, A., Whitton, B.A.: Variation in fatty acid composition of Arthrospira (Spirulina) strains. J. Appl. Phycol. 17, 137–146 (2005)
- Nagappan, S., et al.: Potential of microalgae as a sustainable feed ingredient for aquaculture. J. Biotechnol. **341**, 1–20 (2021)
- Nandeesha, M.C., Gangadhar, B., Varghese, T.J., Keshavanath, P.: Effect of feeding *Spirulina platensis* on the growth, proximate composition and organoleptic quality of common carp. Cyprinus carpio L. Aquaculture Research 29, 305–312 (1998)
- National Research Council. Nutrient Requirements of Fish. Committee on Animal Nutrition, Board on Agriculture, p. 67. National Academy Press, Washington, D.C. (1993)
- Neumann, C., Velten, S., Liebert, F.: Improving the dietary protein quality by amino acid fortification with a high inclusion level of micro algae (*Spirulina platensis*) or Insect Meal (*Hermetia illucens*) in meat type chicken diets. Open Journal of Animal Sciences 8, 12–26 (2018). https:// doi.org/10.4236/ojas.2018.81002lastaccessed2022/03/09
- Ngakou, A., Ridine, W., Mbaïguinam M., Namba F.: Changes in the physico-chemical properties of *Spirulina platensis* from three production sites in Chad. J. Ani. Plant Sci. **13**(3), 1811–1822 (2012). http://www.m.elewa.org/JAPS, last accessed 09 June 2022
- Raczyk, M., Polanowska, K., Kruszewski, B., Grygier, A., Michałowska, D.: Effect of spirulina (*Arthrospira platensis*) supplementation on physical and chemical properties of semolina (*Triticum durum*) based fresh pasta. Molecules 27, 355 (2022). https://doi.org/10.3390/mol ecules27020355, last accessed 09 June 2022
- Ramakrishnan, C.M., et al.: Effects of probiotics and spirulina on survival and growth of juvenile common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*). The Israeli Journal of Aquaculture – Bamidgeh 60(2), 128– 133 (2008)
- Ramírez-Rodrigues, M., Estrada-Beristain, C., Metri-Ojeda, J., Pérez-Alva, A., Baigts-Allende, D.K.: *Spirulina platensis* protein as sustainable ingredient for nutritional food products development. Sustainability **13**, 6849 (2021). https://doi.org/10.3390/su13126849
- Rosenau, S., et al.: Total replacement of fishmeal by spirulina (*Arthrospira platensis*) and its effect on growth performance and product quality of african catfish (*Clarias gariepinus*). Sustainability 13, 8726 (2021). https://doi.org/10.3390/su13168726
- Rosenau, S., Ciulu, M., Reimer, C., Mott, A.C., Tetens, J., Mörlein, D.: Feeding green: spirulina (*Arthrospira platensis*) induced changes in production performance and quality of salmonid species. Aquac. Res. 53, 4276–4287 (2022)
- Saharan, V., Jood, S.: Nutritional composition of *Spirulina platensis* and its acceptability in food products. Int. J. Adv. Res. (IJAR) 5, 2295–2300 (2017)

- Seghiri, R., Kharbach, M., Essamri, A.: Functional composition, nutritional properties, and biological activities of Moroccan Spirulina microalga. J. Food Qual. 2019 (2019). https://doi.org/ 10.1155/2019/3707219
- Sharoba, A.M.: Nutritional value of spirulina and its use in the preparation of some complementary baby food formulas. J. Agroaliment. Process. Technol. **20**(4), 330–350 (2014)
- da Silva, S.C., et al.: Spray-dried spirulina platensis as an effective ingredient to improve yogurt formulations: testing different encapsulating solutions. Journal of Functional Foods **60**, 103427 (2019)
- Sirakov, I., Velichkova, K., Nikolov, G.: The effect of algae meal (Spirulina) on the growth performance and carcass parameters of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). J. Biosci. Biotechnol. 151–156 (2012)
- Tanticharoen, M., Reungjitchachawali, M., Boonag, B., Vonktaveesuk, P., A. Vonshak, A., Cohen, Z.: Optimization of y-linolenic acid (GLA) production in *Spirulina platensis*. Journal of Applied Phycology 6, 295–300 (1994)
- Turan, H., Kaya, Y., Erkoyuncu, Ü.: Protein and lipid content and fatty acid composition of anchovy meal produced in turkey. Turk. J. Vet. Anim. Sci. **31**(2), 113–117 (2007)
- Widianingsih, W.W., Hartati, R., Endrawati, H., Mamuaja, J.: Fatty acid composition of marine microalgae in Indonesia. J. Trop. Biolo. Conser. 10, 75–82 (2013)
- Yilmaz, H.K.: The proximate composition and growth of *Spirulina platensis* biomass (*Arthrospira platensis*) at different temperature. J. Anim. Vet. Adv. **11**(8), 1135–1138 (2012)
- Yordanova, G., et al.: Lipid profile of *m. Longissimus dorsi* in response to dietary *spirulina platensis* supplementation in pigs. Bulgarian J. Agricul. Sci. **21**(5), 1054–1059 (2015)
- Yücetepe, A., Özçelik, B.: Bioactive peptides isolated from microalgae Spirulina platensis and their biofunctional activities. Akademik Gıda 14(4), 412–417 (2016). http://www.academicf oodjournal.com
- Zhang, F., Man, Y.B., Mo, W.Y., Wong, M.H.: Application of Spirulina in aquaculture: a review on wastewater treatment and fish growth. Rev. Aquac. **12**(2), 582–599 (2020)



Agro-Ecological Zoning as the Basis for Planning Agricultural Production in the Area of the City of Tuzla

Adela Mujić^(⊠) and Melisa Ljuša

Faculty of Agriculture and Food Science, University of Sarajevo, Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina adela.mujic@untz.ba

Abstract. In addition to economic and social circumstances, climate conditions, soil properties and their production potential are the main initiators of agricultural production and its economic success. In the planning of agricultural production in a certain area, it should be considered that certain agricultural crops on different soil types thrive differently in the given agro-ecological conditions. The main goal of this research is to show the natural potential of certain soil types and subtypes in the City of Tuzla, to group them into agroecological zones, and to perform spatial distribution and optimization of production based on the characteristics of individual soil types and requirements of individual crops. In this research, the FAO Agro-Ecological Zoning (AEZ) methodology was applied, with a focus on soil and terrain parameters. Considering the soil parameters (pH, texture, humus) and the terrain slope, specific limitations for the cultivation of agricultural crops were identified. The average soil pH value in the Tuzla area ranges from 5.3 to 8.4, the soil is quite clayey while the average content of humus in the area of the city of Tuzla ranges from 0.93 to 9.48%. Following the requirements of the crops and combining the abovementioned soil parameters and the slope, suitability for the cultivation of chokeberry and blueberry was determined and presented on the maps. The results of this study on chokeberry indicate wide range of suitability levels from the very suitable to unsuitable. When it comes to blueberries production, suitability ranges from moderately suitable to unsuitable. The application of the AEC-GIS methodology resulted in a map of maps showing the general advantage for agricultural production from the housing content of humus, pH and texture, and slope gradients. The second set of cards, obtained by the combination of humus, pH and texture, and according to crop requirements, shows the benefits of growing aroma and blueberry. These maps can serve as a very important axis-new for planning the development of agriculture, as they are based on land resources estimates.

Keywords: agro-ecological zoning \cdot agricultural production \cdot planning \cdot sustainability \cdot soil parameters

1 Introduction

As stated in the Draft Rural Development Strategic Plan for Bosnia and Herzegovina (2018–2021), the agriculture sector is an important link in the overall economic structure of Bosnia and Herzegovina (BiH). The share of agriculture in GDP is about 8% and is ranked as the fourth branch of the economy (BHAS, 2019). The percentage of agriculture in total employment is relatively high and amounts to about 19% of the working-age population (BHAS, 2019). In addition, a large number of the population is engaged in agricultural production as an additional occupation for the production and provision of food for their own consumption. There are three basic resource factors for agricultural production: climate, soil, and water (Čustović and Ljuša, 2017). Physical, chemical and biological properties of the land, including topography and climate, together affect soil potential, agritechniques and knowledge of people on productivity, i.e. food production capacity (Vukadinović and Vukadinović, 2018). According to the Spatial Plan of the Tuzla Canton for period 2005–2025 agriculture in the area of Tuzla is very important to the overall economic development and food supply of the population. In crop production in the area of the City of Tuzla, the leading products are cereals (corn), potatoes, vegetables (tomatoes, cucumbers, peppers), fruits (apples and stone fruits), and berries. Agricultural producers in the Tuzla area show a great interest in growing chokerberries and blueberries. Because of its healing properties, it has been increasingly sought after, so that even more farmers are responsible for its cultivation. The fruits of the aromatic are rarely consumed fresh, but they are an excellent raw material for blended juices, and as such they currently have a significant economic value. Due to the great interest in chokeberry, the city administration launched several projects through which planting material was donated. On the other hand, the demand for blueberry is quite high both on the host and on a foreign market. Due to the low-level and high ransoming prices, farmers are increasingly reluctant to grow blueberries. According to Kurtovic and César (2016), three commercially important blueberries are present: Northern high-level blueberries (V. Corymbosum L.), rbitacea - rabbit eye - blueberry (V. Ashei Reade), blueberry (V) Angustifolium Ait., V. Myrtilloides Michx.). Data on vegetables under the chokberries and blueberries in the Tuzla area do not exist although the average yield of chokeberry is 0,70 to 0,80 kg per plant in the first two years of production (Kurtović et al., 2017). When it is about blueberries, the average yeald per plant is 3.5 to 5 kg, which certainly depends on the age of the seedlings (Kurtović et al., 2016). In the Spatial Plan of the Tuzla Canton for period 2005–2025, possible strategic orientations in agriculture by the municipality are presented. Organization of agricultural production based on healthy food, encouragement of rural entrepreneurship, promotion of intensive fruit growing, livestock, vegetable growing, beekeeping, etc. This orientation for Tuzla is certainly acceptable, given that the potential of agricultural land is not the same throughout the territory and it is not intended for every type of agricultural production. The geographic information system (GIS) has proved to be an excellent tool in Agroecological zoning that enabled connecting different parameters, modelling by-Datak and the preparation of thematic maps (Ljuša and Čustović 2010). In the AEZ approach, fruit crops play a key role with their specific requirements in relation to the values of climate, soil and terrain parameters (Kurtović et al., 2013). The main goal of this research is to show the natural potential of individual types and subtypes of soil in the area of the City of Tuzla, to group

them into agro-ecological zones, and to present spatial distribution and optimization of production by combining the characteristics of individual soil types with the requirements of chokeberry and blueberry for its growth. Furthermore, potential planning is possible from the point of view of socio-economic and social aspects and the needs of the population of the City of Tuzla.

2 Material and Methods

The research was carried out based on the existing spatial data. Soil map and data in scale of 1:25000, Land use value map in scale of 1:10000, and Soil bonity map in scale of 1:10000 were used as the main sources of data. These maps are an integral part of the GIS database prepared within the project "Multipurpose evaluation of land use and protection and creation of a land use value map for the area of the City of Tuzla" implemented by the Faculty of Agriculture and Food Science, University of Sarajevo (Čustović and Ljuša, 2016). The analysis of climate parameters (temperature, rainfall, length of vegetal range hood) is based on Tuzla's meteorology station. The data were obtained from the Federal hydro-meteorological office of Sarajevo for the period 1961-2015. The FAO AEZ (Biancalani et al., 2004) methodology applied in this research is focusing on soil parameters (pH, texture, humus), and slope. The system of Agroecological zoning (AEZ) is used to determine specific limitations for the cultivation of crops in certain conditions of climate, soil, and terrain, but also in certain (assumed) conditions of investment and management (FAO, 1996). Selected soil parameters were analyzed and a set of thematic digital maps were prepared. Limitations for growth of chokeberry and blueberry were determined based on their requirement for growth (Tables 1 and 2). These parameters were compared with the requirements of the crops, which resulted in maps of the suitability for the production of selected crops. The levels of suitability for crops are as follows: S1-very suitable (no significant limitations to sustained application of a given use, or only minor limitations that will not significantly reduce productivity), S2-moderately suitable (the limitations will reduce productivity or benefits and increase required inputs), S3-marginally suitable (land having limitations which in aggregate are severe for sustained application of a given use), and N-unsuitable.

Parameters	S1	S2	S3	Ν
pН	5,0-8,0		4,5-5,0	< 4,5; > 8,5
Texture	Loam, sandy loam, silt loam		Sandy clay loam, silty clay loam, sandy clay	clay
Humus	> 3	1-2	< 1	
Slope	0–30		> 30	

Table 1. Chokeberry and requirements according to parameters

Parameters	S1	S2	S3	Ν
pН	3,8-4,5		4,5–5,5	< 3,8; > 5,5
Texture	loam, sandy loam, silt loam		sandy clay loam, silty clay loam, sandy clay	clay
Humus	> 3	1-2	< 1	
Slope	0–30		> 30	

Table 2. Blueberry and parameter requirements

3 Results

In this chapter, the results of the research are presented: soil characteristics, requirements for the cultivation of agricultural crops, the slope of the terrain, and planning agricultural production based on the results obtained.

3.1 Pedological Characteristics of the City of Tuzla

In the soil map of the City of Tuzla M 1:25000, which is shown in Fig. 1, 21 (Automorphic and Hydromorphic) soil types are represented (Čustović and Ljuša, 2016). In the territory of the city of Tuzla, the following soils can be distinguished from the group of Automorphic soils: non-carbonate and carbonate Smonica, District brown leached soil on clays, Loams and Sandstones, District brown soil on clays and clays, Distric brown soil on sands and sandstones, Eutric brown soil on Marls and Limestones, Eutric brown soil on clays and clays, Eutric brown soil on Serpentines, Eutric brown soil on slates, Eelosols leached, Eelosols typical, Pelosol typical, Pelosol leached, Leached typical soil on clays, Clays and clayey sandstones, Primary pseudogley, Secondary pseudogley on the slope, Secondary pseudogley on the plain, Deposol, Cinerosol. When we talk about the group of hydromorphic soil types, the following are represented on the territory of the city: Alluvial carbonate sandy soil, Humofluvisol, non-carbonate, Humofluvisol carbonate deeply weathered, Eugleous-hypogleic, non-carbonate, which were described in detail by Resulović et al., 2008.

3.2 Agro-Ecological Conditions for Agriculture Production

When planning agricultural production, agroecological conditions are the most important factors. None of the factors work independently, but in interaction with others, so it is necessary to pay attention to each individually so that the agricultural production plan could work. Restrictions in the soil can be multiple, and refer to the pH reaction, texture, and humus content. Some of these restrictions can be removed or fixed.

3.3 Soil Reaction – pH Value in H₂O

For most of the crops that are grown in our country, the optimal pH value of the soil in H_2O is approx. 6.5. However, the acidic reaction of the soil, pH < 5.0 and alkaline >



Fig. 1. Soil map of the City of Tuzla

7.5 can have a significant impact on the yields of some of the cultivated crops because in these environments specific problems of nutrition and the dynamics of macro and micronutrients occur. This is why pH plays an important role in defining the suitability of the soil for the cultivation of an agricultural crop. Table 3 shows the levels of soil suitability based on pH in H_2O , and for cultures that are sensitive to a high pH reaction.

pH value	Suitability levels
6,5 - 7,0	S1 – very suitable
7 - 7,5; 5,5 - 6,5	S2 – suitable
7,5 - 8; 5 - 5,5	S3 – moderately suitable
>8; <5	N – marginally suitable

Table 3. Soil suitability levels based on pH in H₂O

Soils that have a pH reaction in the water of 6.5 - 7.0 have almost no restrictions in terms of pH reaction (S1). Soils with a pH reaction of 7.0–7.5 and 5.5–6.5 belong to the S2 class, 7.5–8 and 5–5.5 to the S3, and > 8 and < 5 to the N class. Soils with a pH greater than 8.2 have serious limitations for certain crops sensitive to chlorosis or nutrition, primarily phosphorus, and some microelements. The average soil pH value in the Tuzla area ranges from 5.3 to 8.4, that is, from moderately acidic to very alkaline soils (Fig. 2). With calcification measures, acidic soils can very quickly get a neutral reaction and thus increase their fertility.



Fig. 2. pH values of soil in the City area

3.4 Soil Texture

Soil texture is defined by the percentage ratio of sand, powder and clay fractions (sand 2.0 - 0.06 mm, powder 0.06 - 0.002 mm, clay < 0.002 mm). The S1 convenience class includes lands that are loam, sandy loam, silty clay loam, and sandy clay loam. In the S2 class of convenience, silt, silty clay, silt loam, sandy clay, and clay loam are included. The S3 class includes clay and loamy sand, and the N class includes sands or surface rocky shallow and skeletal soils with > 50% skeleton in the profile. In the area of Tuzla, the soil is quite clayey, which is a limiting factor for plant production (Fig. 3).



Fig. 3. Map showing the texture of the land in the area of the City of Tuzla

3.5 Humus Content

The role of humus in the soil is widely known, not only from the point of view of plant nutrition but above all the establishment of a favorable structure and biological activity of the soil. Based on the percentage of humus content of land in the City area, surfaces with the following humus content can be classified into the classes of benefits shown in table 4.

Table 4. Levels of soil suitability shown according to the humus content

Humus content	Levels of soil suitability
> 3%	S1
2–3%	S2
< 2%	\$3

Humus content could not be a factor that would classify soil as unsuitable, except in the case of sand and completely skeletal soils. Organic matter can be introduced into the soil, and thus compensated. The average content of humus in the investigated soils in the area of the city of Tuzla ranges from 0.93 to 9.48% (Fig. 4). It is possible to increase the low content of humus using humidification measures, by sowing siderates or by adding organic matter to the soil, and in this way influence the increase in soil fertility.



Fig. 4. Map of humus content in % in the area of the City of Tuzla

3.6 Slope of the Terrain

The slope of the terrain has a very significant role in the assessment of agroecological conditions for agricultural production and is directly related to the plant cultivation

system. The suitability of the land for the cultivation of field crops, vegetables, and fruit crops is directly related to the slope, that is, the greater the slope, the smaller the choice of cultivated crops. The mechanized system of crop cultivation rationalizes, increases the volume, and makes agricultural production cheaper, which makes it far more competitive on the market. 0-5% - flat and slightly undulating lands in terms of limitations for the cultivation of all crops, flat lands have no limitations and are ideal for all forms and systems of cultivation, i.e. LUTs. 5-10% - slightly sloping and undulating lands - have very few limitations, that is, almost no limitations for the crops that are grown in our areas. 10-15% - slightly sloping land - land with certain limitations, so that for certain crops appropriate leveling measures and leveling of the terrain are required. They have some influence on LUTs, but not enough to exclude some of the possible breeding systems. 15– 30% - moderately sloping - For most cultures, these lands have limitations for certain forms of cultivation and require appropriate technical measures of land management such as terracing. 30-60% - sloping lands - lands have an eliminative character for most cultivated crops and require more extensive and complex land management measures. 60-80% - very sloping land - This slope is limiting for the mechanized cultivation system of almost all agricultural crops and has a direct impact on LUTs. > 80% - extremely sloping land - This is the slope of the terrain on which the only possible extensive use of the land as pasture is where the traditional grazing system with goats and sheep can only be applied (Biancalani et al., 2004).

In the area of the city of Tuzla, the slope of the terrain is represented in four categories: < 5%, 5–12%, 12–15%, and > 15% (Fig. 5). According to the slope of the terrain, we can say that lands suitable for cultivation (<5% and 5–12%) are represented in the area of the settlements of Rapace, Sicki Brod, Plane, Mihatovici, Brgule, Pasci Gornji, Ljubace, and some land near the settlements of Simin Han and Dokanj. Lands with higher slopes (12–15% and > 15%) have limitations for the cultivation of agricultural crops, as well as the use of mechanization.



Fig. 5. Map of the slope of the terrain of the City of Tuzla

191

3.7 Climate Characteristics

The Tuzla area has a moderate-continental climate with certain specificities caused by the local relief and position in relation to the dominant regions in the surrounding area. The mean annual temperature for the last 40 years is 10oC. The average annual rainfall in Tuzla is 894 1 / m2. The most precipitation occurs in spring and summer, so June is the month with the highest average amount of precipitation, 111 l/m2. For sum T > 50C, the length of the vegetation period lasts 253 days. The sum of active temperatures for the mentioned vegetation period is 3,494.2 °C. For sum T > 100C, the length of the vegetation period lasts 190 days. The sum of active temperatures for the mentioned vegetation period is 3,015.2 °C. As for the temperature conditions and average precipitation for the cultivation of chokeberry and blueberry, in the wider area of Tuzla they are favorable, and for that reason they are not elaborated in detail in the paper.

3.8 Suitability for Growing Agricultural Crops: Chokeberry and Blueberry

Chokeberry is an autochthonous plant of the North American ecosystem, more precisely, it originates from the area of Canada and Florida, where it grows as a wild species, on wet and acidic soils, with an annual rainfall of 1000 to 1200 mm. It includes the following species: black chokeberry (A. Melanocarpa) and red chokeberry (A. Arbutifolia), and a species created by crossing the previous two - chokeberry with purple-colored fruits (Aronia x prunifolia) (Kurtović et al., 2017). Black chokeberry plants can also be grown in mountainous areas since they are enviably resistant to low winter temperatures, and due to late flowering in spring, there is no danger of their generative organs freezing due to late spring frosts (Strik et al., 2013). The optimal soil pH value for the successful cultivation of chokeberry is 6, and given that it has a weakly vigorous root that penetrates the soil shallowly, it can also be grown on surfaces with a higher level of groundwater (0.6–0.7 m below the surface of the soil) which most other fruit trees cannot tolerate due to the asphyxiation of the underground system. It is a heliophyte culture, which requires a lot of light and should be planted in sunny positions (Gluhić, 2018). On the map of the benefits of chokeberry cultivation in the area of the City of Tuzla (Fig. 6). The levels of convenience that are prepared according to the parameters required by this culture are presented. Very suitable land (S1) is located in the local communities of Bukinje, Husino, Pasci, and very little in the local community of Dobrnja. The following soil texture dominates the mentioned area: loam, sandy loam, and silt loam. The pH reaction of the soil ranges from 5.0 to 8.0, the humus content is greater than 3, and the slope is from 0-30. These areas of the City of Tuzla are distinguished by the best soil for growing chokeberry, and the soil type is District brown leached soil on clay, loam, and sandstone.

Moderately suitable land (S2) and marginally suitable land (S3) for growing chokeberry is located in the local communities of Sicki Brod, Mramor, Caklovici (Donji and Gornji), Grabovica, Gornja Tuzla, Dokanj and Solina. Soils (level S2) consisting of silt, silty clay, silt loam, sandy clay and clay loam containing 1-2% humus are represented. This land and the area of the city of Tuzla is suitable for growing chokeberry, and the result of production will be a high-quality yield. Marginally suitable soils - S3 for growing chokeberry in the city area are sandy clay loam, silty clay loam and sandy clay. The



Fig. 6. Map of the advantages of chokeberry cultivation in the area of the City of Tuzla

pH value ranges from 4.5 to 5.0, the humus content is less than 1%, and the slope is greater than 30. Chokeberry can be grown on such lands with adequate agrotechnical land improvements. Unsuitable land (N) for growing chokeberry in the area of the City of Tuzla is represented from the central to the northern part of the city, namely the settlements: Avdibasici, Dubrave, Lipnica, Dokanj, Solina and the area around Simin Han. These soils are characterized by a soil pH value of less than 4.5 and greater than 8.5, and the texture of the soil is clay. Cultivation of chokeberry is not recommended on such lands, but the biggest limitation is the pronounced slope of the terrain.

In the territory of BiH, wild blueberry is the most common, which grows in the higher areas of almost all our mountains. For agricultural production, tame varieties, selected blueberries, with larger fruit are the most important. Kurtović et al., 2016 state that these genotypes are much more fertile, but their fruits have colorless juice and little or no aroma, which are not characteristics of the local forest blueberry. Regarding the cultivation of highbush blueberry on different types of land, it is important to point out that a good medium for blueberry growth is positively correlated with the amount of sand and negatively correlated with the amount of silt and clay. The optimal pH value of the land for blueberry cultivation varies in interval from 4.5 to 4.8. Relief depressions, in which cold air is trapped, should be avoided. Shallow, poorly drained land, as well as land prone to flooding, are not suitable for raising blueberry plantations (Kurtović et al., 2016). Blueberries grown in BiH have a good price and are sustainable because there are no fresh blueberries from other countries on the market during their ripening period, which certainly gives them an advantage. When we talk specifically about the area of the City of Tuzla, there are no statistical data about the areas planted with blueberries. The reason for this is that the land has very little land that is suitable or moderately suitable for the cultivation of this crop, and the repair of the land, for the producers, would require a lot of material and financial investments. Interpreting the suitability map for blueberry growing in the area of the City of Tuzla (Fig. 7), we notice that no land belongs to the S1 level of convenience, that is, there is no very suitable land for blueberry cultivation.

This tells us that there is no land with a pH reaction of 3.8–4.5, which is the ideal acidity for growing blueberries. Moderately suitable lands (S2) are mostly represented in the area of settlements of Husino, Kiseljak, and Pasci, while smaller areas of these lands are also represented in the settlements of Brgule and Avdibasici. The pH reaction of the soil in this area is 4.8, and the humus content is 1-2%. These lands in the area of the City of Tuzla represent the most favorable lands for growing blueberries. With proper cultivation technology, blueberry plants can achieve yields of 3.5 to 5 kg/plant, which certainly depends on the age of the seedlings. Marginally suitable land (S3) for growing blueberries is mostly spread over the entire surface of the City of Tuzla. The pH value of these soils ranges from 5 to 5.5 (Fig. 3). Kurtović et al. (2016) in their book "Strawberry" state that soils with higher pH values can be improved by adding acidic components. The humus content on these lands is less than 1, while the slope is greater than 30, which is a distinct limitation for intensive production. Land unsuitable for blueberry cultivation (N) in the area of the City of Tuzla is located in the area of the settlements: Caklovici Gornji, Gornja Tuzla, Solina, Lipnica Gornja, Dobrnja. These soils have a large slope (>30), soil pH is < 3.8 and > 5.5, and the texture is clay. When the soil has a pH value lower than 3.8, it can cause burns on the edge of blueberry leaves, while soils with a pH > 5.5 exhibits a strong buffering capacity, which is why, despite the addition of acidic components, the pH value of the soil cannot be permanently changed. For this reason, it is better to avoid such lands for raising blueberry plantations (Kurtović et al., 2016).



Fig. 7. Map of benefits for growing blueberries in the area of the City of Tuzla

4 Conclusion

Agriculture in the area of Tuzla is very important to the overall economic development and food supply of the population.

In addition to economic and social circumstances, climate, soil properties and their production potential are the main drivers of agricultural production and its economic success. In the process of planning agricultural production in a certain area, it should be kept in mind that certain agricultural crops on different soil types succeed differently in given agroecological conditions. For this reason, agroecological zoning of agricultural production is one of the key factors and the basis of the success of this economic branch. When assessing the level of land suitability for the area of the City of Tuzla, special attention was paid on climate factors (temperature, precipitation, length of vegetation period), and to the following soil parameters: pH value, texture, humus content, and slope as terrain factors. To determine the limits for the cultivation of agricultural crops, the system of agroecological zoning (AEZ) is used, with the use of GIS. From the point of view of chokeberry and blueberry production, the climate is favorable. Analysis of soil parameters (ph, texture and humus, and terrain slope) determined very suitable and moderately suitable growing conditions required by chokeberry for successful production are located in the areas bordering the city of Zivinice (Local communities Husino and Pasci), the municipality of Lukavac (Local communities Sicki Brod and Bukinje), and at the foot of the Majevica mountain (Local communities Dokanj, Simin Han, Caklovici). Although chokeberry could great economic importance, which is reflected in the quick return of invested funds, but also in highly sought-after fruits on the market, that the production of chokeberry is not particularly prevalent in the area of the City of Tuzla. The results of this study on blueberries indicate that there are limitations to the cultivation of this crop. Suitable land for blueberry cultivation is in the area of Local communities Husino and Gornja Lipnica (a small area). The rest of the city's surface mostly has an alkaline pH reaction, which does not suit blueberries. Although this crop is in high demand on the market and has a good price, its cultivation is quite limited in the area of the City and there are no statistical data on the area under blueberry in this area. The application of the AEZ model in GIS resulted in a set of maps that show suitability for growing chokeberry and blueberry. The obtained research results can serve as a good basis for planning agricultural production. The application of AEZ results in the planning of agricultural development in the area of Tuzla can contribute to investment security and the long-term perspective of agricultural production in this area, which is certainly the most important motive for successful planning.

References

Biancalani, R., Predić, T., Leko, M., Bukalo, E., Ljuša, M.: Učešće u razvoju načina korištenja zemljišta na općinskom nivou u BiH – Tip iskorištavanja zemljišta (LUT) (2004)

FAO: Agro-ecological zoning (1996)

- Gluhić, D.: Tehnologija ekološke gnojidbe aronije. Stručni članak: Glasnik zaštite bilja **4**(5), 72–83 (2018)
- Kurtović, M., et al.: Voćarska rejonizacija u FBiH, Federalno Ministarstvo poljoprivrede, vodoprivrede i šumarstva. Univerzitet u Sarajevu- Poljoprivredno-prehrambeni fakultet
- Kurtović, M., Gaši, F., Okić, A., Maličević, A., Grbo, L.: Jagodasto voće biologija, tehnologija uzgoja, rasadnička proizvodnja i oplemenjivanje. Sarajevo; Grafičar promet, Sarajevo (2016)
- Kurtović, M., Smajlović, H., Grbo, L., Grahić, J.: Morfološka obilježja i proizvodni efekti uzgoja aronije (*Aronia Melanocarpa L.*) na području Nišićke visoravni. ANUBiH CLXIX, OPMN 26, 85–96 (2017)

- Ljuša, M., Čustović, H.: Tlo kao faktor agro-ekološkog zoniranja na teritoriji Općine Stolac, 21 Međunarodna naučno-stručna konferencija poljoprivrede i prehrambene industrije. Neum, 575–582 (2010)
- Čustović, H., Ljuša, M.: Studija upotrebne vrijednosti zemljišta za područje Grada Tuzla. Poljoprivredno-prehrambeni fakultet Univerziteta u Sarajevu (2017)
- Resulović, H., Čustović, H., Čengić, I.: Sistematika tla. Univerzitet u Sarajevu (2008)
- Strik, B., Finn, C., Wrolstad, R.: Performance of Chokeberry (Aronia melanocarpa) in Oregon. USA. Proc. XXVI IHC- Berry Crop Breeding. Acta Hort. 626, 447–451 (2013)



Screening Based Approach to Rational Utilization of GMO Testing Resources: Case of DP305423 Soybean

Merima Miralem^(D), Anesa Ahatović Hajro^(D), Mujo Hasanović^(⊠)^(D), and Adaleta Durmić-Pašić^(D)

Institute for Genetic Engineering and Biotechnology, University of Sarajevo, Zmaja od Bosne 8, 71000 Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina mujo.hasanovic@ingeb.unsa.ba

Abstract. The provisions of the Law on GMO in Bosnia and Herzegovina (B&H) are event based. The official testing laboratories should be able to detect GMO presence, to identify and quantify authorized, and to detect and identify unauthorized GMO events. The laboratories are also required to perform under ISO17025, and to introduce accredited methods according to new authorizations in the EU. They are not able to maintain financial sustainability within a limited B & H market, so they focus on the detection methods and identification of the events authorized for use in feed. Such setting justifies concerns that certain GM events evade detection and reach the market. In order to assess the risk thereof, we screened food and feed for the presence of soybean DP305423. This GM event is modified for increased production of oleic acid and is grown in a closed loop system. DP305423 is not detectable with the standard set of detection markers (p-35S, p-FMV, t-NOS, pat/bar), so the EU testing laboratories maintain the event specific method for the purposes of detection, identification and quantification. The samples of food and feed, previously screened for GMO in our laboratory, were tested for DP305423 using EURL-GMFF validated RealTime PCR based identification method (OT-EVE-GM-008). We detected no DP305423 among 95 samples of diverse food and feed products. We conclude that DP305423 is a low-risk GM event, so the introduction of event-specific method should not be a priority. Instead, we propose market screening strategy for prioritizing the future introduction of new event-specific methods.

Keywords: DP305423 soybean · GMO · RealTime PCR · event-specific method

1 Introduction

Soybean (*Glycine max* L.) is an annual plant from *Fabaceae* family and it has high nutritional value. In addition to being an important source of proteins for diabetics and vegetarians, it is an essential component of feed. Although the cultivation of soybean began in China, between the 17th and 11th centuries BC [1], it is now cultivated worldwide. FAOSTAT (Food and Agriculture Organization Corporate Statistical Database) states the soybean world production in 2020 at > 353 Mt [2]. According to the ISAAA (International Service for the Acquisition of Agri-biotech Applications) report from 2019, soybean is also the leading transgenic crop that occupies 48% (91.9 million hectares) of the global biotech crop area. Different types of transgenic soybean are cultivated in 8 countries: USA, Brazil, Argentina, Canada, Paraguay, Uruguay, Bolivia and South Africa [3].

The European Union (EU) has developed a comprehensive legal framework for genetically modified organisms (GMO) in order to ensure safe and responsible use of GMO food and feed. The authorizations and labeling requirements are event-based which means that the implementation of the legal provisions depends on the ability of testing laboratories to detect, identify and quantify particular event in food and feed. To that end, the EU has established EURL-GMFF (European Union Reference Laboratory for GM Food and Feed) within the Joint Research Center (JRC), with the primary task to "perform scientific assessment and validation of detection methods for GM food and feed as part of the EU authorization procedure" [4]. It also assists national reference laboratories for GMO control in the EU member states. EURL-GMFF extends its role beyond the EU by supporting implementation of harmonized analytical procedures worldwide.

In Bosnia and Herzegovina (B&H), the Law on GMO was adopted in 2009. It is harmonized with the EU legal framework on GMO [5]. The first authorizations for use of GM sovbean in feed were issued in 2015 for MON-04032-6. Since then, additional six GM events of soybean were authorized for use in feed [6]. The official testing laboratories should perform at the level necessary to support the enforcement of compliance with the authorization and labeling requirements. They should be able to detect GMO presence, to identify and quantify authorized GMO events, and to detect and identify unauthorized GMO events. The laboratories are required to perform under ISO17025 and to introduce accredited methods according to the latest authorizations in the EU. With traceability provisions in place, the laboratories are not able to maintain financial sustainability within limited B & H market. Therefore, they focus on maintaining the accredited DNA based detection methods (t-NOS, p-35S CaMV and p-34S FMV) and one laboratory recently accredited identification and quantification method for one GM event (MON-04032-6). Therefore, there is concern that unauthorized GM events, which do not contain the common regulatory elements, evade the detection and reach the market. Also, due to the lack of accredited identification and quantification methods for other six GM events authorized for use in feed, the ability of the authorities to monitor the compliance with the labeling requirements remains questionable.

In order to assess the risk thereof, we screened food and feed samples for the presence of one soybean event that cannot be detected using standard DNA based detection methods available in the country. Soybean DP305423 is modified for increased oleic acid and reduced linoleic acid, and the tolerance to acetolactate synthase-inhibiting herbicides. It is approved for cultivation in Canada, Japan and the United States [7]. Since 2015, DP305423 is authorized for food and feed in the EU. In 2017, the EU authorized stacked event DP-305423-1 x MON-04032-6. EURL-GMFF has validated the eventbased method QT-EVE-GM-008 [8] as a part of the authorization procedure. DP305423 is not authorized for use in B&H. Therefore, this GM event should be controlled in all imported food and feed. In addition to the standard screening procedure, the EU based laboratories test for the presence of this event in food and feed samples.

The primary goal of this study was to determine whether transgenic soybean DP305423 was present in the samples of food and feed collected in B&H, which were previously analyzed using standard detection methods. The secondary objective was to determine the frequency of this GM event in certain types of food and to estimate the actual need for the introduction and accreditation of the event specific method for the detection/identification of DP305423 by the authorized laboratories.

2 Material and Methods

Genomic DNA extracts from 95 samples of soybean containing food and feed were retrieved from -20°C storage. The samples were previously screened for GMO using validated methods based on RealTime PCR with TaqMan probes [9]. The structure of the sample is given in Table 1. Soybean presence was previously established by analyzing lectin, a taxon specific marker (QT-TAX-GM-002) [10].

	Food	Feed
GMO detected	12	47
GMO not detected	23	13

RealTime PCR reactions were performed in a total volume of 25 μ l with 100 ng template DNA, TaqMan Universal MasterMix x 1, 0.8 μ M forward and 0.5 μ M reverse primers and 0.22 μ M TaqMan probe (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA). Primers and probe sequences, and amplification conditions were according to the validated method QT-EVE-GM-008 [8]. The method amplifies the boundary area between the host genome and the 3' end of the transgenic cassette of DP305423. The certified reference material (DP305423—10%; ERM-BF426d, JRC-IRMM) was used as a positive control, and sterile deionized water as a negative control (reagent blank). RealTime PCR reactions were run on the ABI 7300 RealTime PCR instrument (Applied Biosystems). The analyses were performed in duplicate.

3 Results and Discussion

Following the analyses of RealTime PCR runs, we concluded that none of the samples contained DP305423 soybean. Positive control was amplified as expected with an average Ct value of 25.15 (24.34–26.03). That is concurrent with the values obtained during the verification procedure. Considering the diversity of processed samples of food and feed containing soybean, we can conclude that the presence of DP305423 on the B&H market is highly improbable.

According to Mall et al. [11], DP305423 is grown in "closed loop cultivation" system which includes steps for the avoidance of commingling with export-bound crops. The crops are used to extract oil while the remaining solids are recycled back into the soil. Oil produced from DP305423 is commercially known as PlenishTM and is authorized on the EU market, provided compliance with the labeling requirements. It is extremely difficult to obtain a sufficient amount of DNA from refined oil. Some successful protocols were published [12, 13], however, the DNA was suitable for detection only. Thus, the labeling relies primarily on the report by the operator.

Considering the exceedingly complex GMO universe, various research teams around the globe have devoted considerable efforts to developing more sustainable methods of GMO identification. There have been attempts to validate procedures for simultaneous identification of multiple events based on multiplex end-point PCR reaction with gel or capillary electrophoresis detection [14–17], RealTime PCR based pre-spotted plates [18] and, most recently, microarray [19] and dPCR [20, 21]. However, validated RealTime PCR based methods are still the foundation of the quantification process.

Despite the undeniable progress, most of the analytical techniques are technologically demanding and expensive, and therefore remain beyond the reach of most testing laboratories. Therefore, it is our belief that GMO testing system, in small market economies, would benefit from an integral approach that is based on the assessment of risk that a particular GMO event would reach the market. Development of such an approach is within the mandate of the GMO council of B&H. In addition to its regular task of monitoring the state and development of genetic technology and the use of GMO, the Council would require access to information on the origin of the imported high risk crops such as soybean and maize. The access can be provided by the Ministry of trade and international relations of B&H. Based on the data, the GMO Council should alert the food safety authority of potential risks, and precipitate preemptive market screening. Thus, the laboratories would accredit the method only when the risk truly exists. Prioritizing the future introductions of new event-specific methods would make the entire system more sustainable, the entire biosafety system more reliable and the testing system cost effective.

4 Conclusions

Based on the collected data, we can conclude that DP305423 represents a low-risk GM event, and it is not necessary for each authorized laboratory to maintain an accredited method for its detection/identification. Considering the costs of verification and accreditation of RealTime PCR based methods, and limited resources of the testing laboratories, a risk-based approach to prioritizing the introduction of methods should be developed. Studies of this type can contribute to more rational allocation of funds for the authorized laboratories, as well as lead to a significant decrease in the cost of analyses.

References

 Organization for Economic Co-operation and Development – OECD, Consensus Document on the Biology of Glycine max (L.) Merr. (soybean). https://www.oecd.org/env/ehs/biotrack/ 46815668.pdf. Accessed 15 Mar 2021

- 2. FAOSTAT Food and Agriculture Organization Corporate Statistical Database. https://www. fao.org/faostat/en/#data/QCL. Accessed 17 Feb 2022
- International Service for the Acquisition of Agri-biotech Applications, Global Status of Commercialized Biotech/GM Crops in 2019: Biotech Crops Drive Socio-Economic Development and Sustainable Environment in the New Frontier. ISAAA Brief No. 55. ISAAA, Ithaca, NY (2019)
- 4. European Union Reference Laboratory for Genetically Modified Food and Feed (EURL GMFF). https://gmo-crl.jrc.ec.europa.eu/. Accessed 03 Nov 2022
- 5. Law on GMO. Official Gazette B&H, No. 23/09.474 (2009)
- Food Safety Agency of Bosnia and Herzegovina, https://fsa.gov.ba/en/. Accessed 04 Nov 2022
- International Service for the Acquisition of Agri-biotech Applications, GM Approval Database. https://www.isaaa.org/gmapprovaldatabase/event/default.asp?EventID=168. Accessed 21 Oct 2022
- Mazzara, M., et al.: Event-specific method for the quantification of soybean event DP-305423-1 using real- time PCR v. 1.01 - Validation Report and Validated Method. Report no.: EUR 26142 EN. Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg (2013)
- 9. Gatto, F., Paternò, A., Ciabatti, I., Marchesi, U., Amaddeo, D.: Report of the collaborative study for the validation of real time PCR methods for GMO screening. Technical Report (2011)
- European Union Reference Laboratory for GM Food and Feed & European Network of GMO Laboratories: Compendium of reference methods for GMO analysis. Report No.: EUR 24526 EN. Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg (2010).
- Mall, T., Han, L., Tagliani, L., Christensen, C.: Transgenic crops: status, potential, and challenges. In: Gosal, S.S., Wani, S.H. (eds.) Biotechnologies of Crop Improvement, Volume 2, pp. 451–485. Springer, Cham (2018). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-90650-8_16
- 12. Costa, J., Mafra, I., Amaral, J.S., Oliveira, M.B.P.P.: Detection of genetically modified soybean DNA in refined vegetable oils. Eur. Food Res. Technol. **230**, 915–923 (2010)
- 13. Duan, Y., Pi, Y., Li, C., Jiang, K.: An optimized procedure for detection of genetically modified DNA in refined vegetable oils. Food Sci. Biotechnol. **30**(1), 129–135 (2021)
- García-Cañas, V., González, R., Cifuentes, A.: Sensitive and simultaneous analysis of five transgenic maizes using multiplex polymerase chain reaction, capillary gel electrophoresis, and laser-induced fluorescence. Electrophoresis 25(14), 2219–2226 (2004)
- Germini, A., et al.: Development of a seven-target multiplex PCR for the simultaneous detection of trans- genic soybean and maize in feeds and foods. J. Agric. Food Chem. 52(11), 3275–3280 (2004)
- James, D., Schmidt, A.M., Wall, E., Green, M., Masri, S.: Reliable detection and identification of genetically modified maize, soybean, and canola by multiplex PCR analysis. J. Agric. Food Chem. 51(20), 5829–5834 (2003)
- Kim, J.-H., et al.: Development of a multiplex PCR method for testing six GM soybean events. Food Control 31(2), 366–371 (2013)
- Rosa, S.F., Gatto, F., Angers-Loustau, A., Petrillo, M., Kreysa, J., Querci, M.: Development and applicability of a ready-to-use PCR system for GMO screening. Food Chem. 201, 110–119 (2016)
- Shao, N., et al.: MACRO: a combined microchip-PCR and microarray system for highthroughput monitoring of genetically modified organisms. Anal. Chem. 86(2), 1269–1276 (2014)

- 20. Bogožalec Košir, A., Demšar, T., Štebih, D., Žel, J., Milavec, M.: Digital PCR as an effective tool for GMO quantification in complex matrices. Food Chem. **294**, 73–78 (2019)
- Dobnik, D., Štebih, D., Blejec, A., Morisset, D., Žel, J.: Multiplex quantification of four DNA targets in one reaction with Bio-Rad droplet digital PCR system for GMO detection. Sci. Rep. 6, 35451 (2016)



Antioxidant Activity and Total Phenolic Content Determining in Samples of Celandine (*Chelidonium Majus* L.) by Applying Different Solvents

Zilha Ašimović^(⊠) , Semira Hasanović, Ševal Muminović, Nermina Spaho, Selma Čorbo, and Lejla Čengić

Faculty of Agriculture and Food Sciences, University of Sarajevo, Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina z.asimovic@ppf.unsa.ba

Abstract. Celandine (*Chelidonium majus*) is herbaceous, medicinal herb used in traditional medicine for internal use as tea, syrup, as well for external use. Teas from celandine contain phenolic compounds with high antioxidant activity which creates positive effects on human health.

The aim of this study was to determine the content of phenolic compounds and antioxidant activity in fresh and dry parts of plants (leaf and stem) with using water, diluted methanol, diluted ethanol (as solvents), for 15 min at 70 °C. The samples of plant Celandine (Chelidonium majus) originates from Canton Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina. Total phenols compounds were determined by Folin-*Ciocalteu* method (600 nm), antioxidant activity was determined by using *PFRAP* (700 nm). Gallic acid was used as the standard, and the results are expressed in mg GAE/100 g. The results showed that fresh leaves have a higher content compared to samples of dried leaf, particularly when diluted ethanol was used as a solvent. Based on the obtained results it can be concluded that the samples of dried leaf have higher antioxidant activity in comparison to fresh leaf, in case when diluted methanol was used as a solvent. Also, fresh and dry Celandine leaf have higher phenolic content and antioxidant activity compared to fresh and dry stem. During the extraction it was proved that both fresh and dry parts (leaves and stem) showed the lowest phenolic compounds content and antioxidant activity when water was used as a solvent.

Keywords: Celandine · Antioxidants · Polyphenols · Leaf · Stem

1 Introduction

Chelidonium majus L. (family Papaveraceae), or greater celandine, is an important plant in western phytotherapy and in traditional Chinese medicine [1].

Celandine is a perennial herbaceous plant, with a branched stem, 30 to 80 cm high. The leaves are large, oddly pinnately divided, gray and hairy on the reverse side [2].

The lower leaves are petiolate, and the upper ones are sessile. The flowers are yellow, gathered at the tops of the tree in rare shield inflorescences [2, 4].

The yellow juice contains a large number of different alkaloids, some of which are related to poppy opium. Due to the presence of a large number of alkaloids, many physiotherapists consider this plant poisonous and suitable only for external use. Besides alkaloids, it also contains saponins, organic acids (chelidonic, citric, malic), flavonoids, proteolytic enzymes and others. The plant has a sedative effect on the central nervous system. Some studies indicate the effect of these alkaloids on the bacteria Staphylococcus *aureus* [2]. Celandine is a reliable medicinal agent in the treatment of serious liver diseases if it is used homeopathically. As an agent that cleans the blood and liver, it has the best effect on metabolism. Celandine is almost exclusively used as an ingredient in herbal preparations against spasms of the digestive organs, biliary and urinary tracts, vascular and bronchial spasms, and externally in cases of chronic eczema, because it has antimicrobial and anti-ringing effects. The juice of the fresh plant is also used to remove some types of warts. The plant is poisonous and is used in limited quantities. It should not be taken for internal use during pregnancy and breastfeeding. For external use, it is used for malignant skin diseases, corns, warts and incurable ringworm. Toxic effects have rarely been recorded in humans, thanks to the traditional use of celandine in the form of refuse (tea). The first toxic effects were described with the use of chemical and more concentrated extracts. Celandine in a larger dose can cause liver damage, along with nausea and weakness [3].

Crude extracts of *C. majus L.*, as well as, purified compounds derived from it exhibit a broad spectrum of biological activity (anti-inflammatory, antimicrobial, antitumoral, analgesic, hepatoprotective) that support some of the traditional uses of it. On the other hand, celandine also has scientifically proven effects, e.g., ant-osteoporotic activity and radioprotection, which are not mentioned in traditional sources. Moreover, recent controversy about hepatoprotective versus hepatotoxic effects of *Chelidonium majus L.*, has renewed the interest of medical community in this plant [1].

The protective role of phenolic compounds in biological systems is attributed to their ability to pair ("capture") free radical electrons, chelate transition metal ions, activate antioxidant enzymes and inhibit oxidases [5]. Thus, phenolic compounds, due to their pronounced antioxidant activity, reduce the risk of the appearance of tumors, chronic and vascular diseases [6–8]. The antioxidant activity of phenolic compounds is mainly due to their redox properties such as adsorbing and neutralizing free radicals quenching singlet and triplet oxygen, or decomposing peroxides. In general, flavonoids have higher antioxidative activities against peroxyl radicals than do phenolic acids due multiple hydroxyl groups [9].

The aim of this work is to determine the content of total phenolic compounds and antioxidant activity in fresh and dry parts (leaf and stem) of celandine and to determine the existing differences in their content in different solvents (water, ethanol and methanol) during extraction for 15 min at 70 °C.

2 Material and Method

2.1 Samples

The research was started by collecting samples of the plant *Chelidonium majus* L (Celandine) at different locations of Sarajevo Canton, during April, 2016. The plants were collected in the period when they began to bloom, considering that at that stage the celandine has the most active substances. Before analysis, the samples were properly stored at room temperature and in a dry place protected from light. Plants were air-dried without direct contact with sunlight. Analysis of fresh leaves and stems were conducted immediately after harvest. Analyzed parts of the plant were leaf (L) and the stem (S) (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. Fresh and dry parts of Chelidonium majus L., for analysis

2.2 Extraction of Samples

For the extraction 1-2 g of samples of celandine, three different solvents: diluted ethanol (70:30 v/v); diluted methanol (70:30 v/v) and distilled water, were used. Extraction of samples with 40 mL of solvent, was carried out at 70 °C for 15 min, with reflux condenser. After cooling, extracts were filtrated through Whatman no.40 filter paper (Whatman International Ltd, Kent, UK)., and filtrates were adjusted to 50 mL with diluted ethanol, diluted methanol or distilled water. The same extract was used for the determination of total phenolic compounds and antioxidant activity.

2.3 Determination of Total Phenolic Content (TPC)

Determination of the total phenolic content in the extracts of leaves and stem is carried out spectrophotometrically using the Folin-Ciocalteau assay according to Ough and Amerine (1988); Singleton et al. (1999) with modifications [10–12]. 1 mL of the obtained sample extract, 1.5 mL of Folin-Ciocalteau reagent (diluted 2:1) to the test tube, wait for 5 min, then 7.5 mL of saturated (Na₂CO₃), was added. After that, everything is mixed well in a test tube and incubated in a water bath for 20 min at 50 °C, protected from the light. After cooling the samples, a reading of absorbance on the spectrophotometer (Cary IE

UV-VIS spectrophotometer, Agilent Technologies, USA) at a wavelength of 600 nm. Quantification of total phenols content was made by using of calibration curve of gallic acid (15 to 90 mg/L). Results were expressed mean \pm standard deviation (SD), as mg GAE/100g (Gallic Acid Equivalents).

2.4 Determination of Antioxidant Activity

Antioxidant activity of celandine (leaf and stem) was determined using PFRAP (*potassium ferricyanide reducing power*) method, [13, 14] with modifications. 1mL of extracts was transferred to test tube and 1 mL of 0.1% K₃[Fe(CN)₆] was added. After 5 min 1 mL of FeCl₃ and 7 mL distilled water was added and blue complex between phenolics and K₃[Fe(CN)₆] was measured at 700 nm. Quantification of antioxidant activity was made against gallic acid calibration curve.

2.5 Statistical Analysis

Statistical processing of the data was performed in Microsoft Excel 2007. And included two-factorial ANOVA with repetition, in order to show whether or not there are statistically significant differences in the obtained results between the tested samples. Each analysis in triplicate and expressed as (mean \pm SD). In order to determine a statistically significant difference between the tested samples, a non-parametric LSD test was used.

3 Results and Discussion

The results of phenolic compounds and antioxidant activity are presented from Tables 1 2, 3 and 4. Total phenolic content and antioxidant activity were calculated on the basis of gallic acid and expressed as mg GAE/100 g fresh weight (FW) and for dry samples as mg GAE/100 g DW.

From the presented data, it can be seen that the fresh leaf samples that were extracted in diluted ethanol had the statistically significantly highest average content of total phenols (159.36 \pm 0.96 mg GAE/100 g FW), while the samples that were extracted with water had the statistically lowest average content of total phenols (55.22 \pm 0.78 mg GAE/100 g FW).

Highly statistically significant differences were found in the average content of total phenols in fresh celandine leaf samples between content in the water (55.22 \pm 0.78 mg GAE/100 g FW) and diluted methanol (150.34 \pm 0.77 mg GAE/100 g FW), and water (55.22 \pm 0.78 mg GAE/100 g FW) and diluted ethanol (159.36 \pm 0.96 mg GAE/100 g FW).

The dry leaf samples that were extracted in diluted ethanol had the statistically significantly highest average content of total phenols (57.42 \pm 0.79 mg GAE/100 g DW), while the samples extracted with water had statistically lowest average content of total phenols (13.54 \pm 0.64 mg GAE/100 g DW).

A statistically significant difference in the average content of total phenols in the samples of dry leaves of celandine were between the solvents water (13.54 ± 0.64 mg

GAE/100 g DW) and diluted methanol (48.97 \pm 0.40 mg GAE/100 g DW), and water and diluted ethanol (57.42 \pm 0.79 mg GAE/100 g DW).

The extraction procedure of the plant material, as well as the solvent used, play a key role in the extraction of phenolic compounds. A statistically significant effect of solvent was found on the average content of total phenols in celandine leaf (F = 4590.054 > Fcrit = 3.402826); LSD_{0.05} = 1.225.

In Wojdylo et al. (2007) content of phenolic acids in pre-dried celandine plant: caffeic acid 186 \pm 0.02 mg/100 g DW, neochlorogenic acid 167 \pm 0.06 mg/100 gdw, p-coumaric acid 71.7 \pm 0.11 mg/100 g DW [15]. According to group of researchers, the content of total phenols in the celandine (water extracts) during the first phenological stages, ranged from 16.45 \pm 1.11, and for second, had a value of 12.72 \pm 1.17 mg GAE/g extract. The content of total phenols in the ethyl acetate extract had a value of 28.84 \pm 0.93 mg GAE/g extract, while from the methanol extract has a value of 38.89 \pm 1.23 mg GAE/g extract.[16]. Nile et al. (2021) found that in the methanol extract, the pod contained polyphenol content of 23.67 mg/g, whereas the stem had lowest content of 7.67 mg/g. All the other part parts of *C. majus* L., such as the leaf, flower and root showed concentrations of 13.9 mg/g, 12.11 mg/g and 10.35 mg/g, respectively. Gallic acid was used as a standard [17].

Table 1. Total phenolic content (TPC) in celandine in the fresh samples, as mg GAE/100g FW (mean \pm SD)

Extraction solvent	Leaf (L) N = 5	Stem (S) N = 5
Water	55.22 ± 0.78	30.30 ± 0.70
Methanol (70:30, v/v)	150.34 ± 0.77	67.65 ± 0.58
Ethanol (70:30, v/v)	159.36 ± 0.96	76.84 ± 0.74

The highest content of total phenolic compounds in the celandine stem was in diluted ethanol, while the lowest was in water.

The content of total phenolic compounds in the samples of fresh stem of celandine ranged from 30.30 ± 0.70 to. 76.84 ± 0.73 mg GAE/100 g FW, while in dry stem they ranged from 10.00 ± 0.30 to 34.72 ± 0.59 mg GAE/100 g DW. Based on the obtained results, it can be concluded that the samples of fresh stem have a higher content of total phenolic compounds compared to the samples of dry stem.

A statistically significant influence of the solvent was found on the content of total phenolic compounds in the stem of celandine (F = 917.3674 > Fcrit = 3.402826); LSD_{0.05} = 1.220.

A statistically significant influence of the solvent was found on the antioxidative activity in the leaf of celandine (F. = 193.7015 > Fcrit = 3.402826); LSD_{0.05} = 1.1464.

It can be seen that the highest average antioxidant activity in the stem of celandine was in diluted methanol, while the lowest was in water. The content of antioxidant activity in the samples of fresh stem of celandine ranged from 2.97 ± 0.06 to $20.55 \pm$
Extraction solvent	Leaf (L) N = 5	Stem (S) N = 5
Water	13.54 ± 0.64	10.00 ± 0.80
Methanol (70:30, v/v)	48.97 ± 0.40	25.17 ± 0.65
Ethanol (70:30, v/v)	57.42 ± 0.79	34.72 ± 0.59

Table 2. Total phenolic content (TPC) in celandine in the dry samples, as mg GAE/100g DW (mean \pm SD)

Table 3. Antioxidative activity in celandine in the fresh samples, as mg GAE/100g FW (mean \pm SD)

Extraction solvent	Leaf (L) N = 5	Stem (S) N = 5
Water	17.14 ± 0.71	2.97 ± 0.04
Methanol (70:30, v/v)	38.37 ± 0.89	20.55 ± 0.94
Ethanol (70:30, v/v)	35.69 ± 0.68	14.89 ± 0.69

0.94 mg GAE/100 g FW, while in dry stem they ranged from 11.01 ± 0.62 to 34.88 ± 0.68 mg GAE/100 g DW.

A statistically significant influence of the solvent was found on the antioxidative activity in the stem of celandine (F = 54,63527> Fcrit = 3.402826); LSD_{0.05} = 1.274.

The samples of fresh stem that were extracted in diluted methanol had the statistically significantly highest average antioxidant activity (20.55 \pm 0.94 mg GAE/100 g FW), while the samples in the water had the statistically lowest average antioxidant activity (2.97 \pm 0.06 mg GAE/100 g FW). Also, highly statistically significant differences were found in the average of antioxidant activity in samples of fresh stem of celandine between the solvents: water (2.97 \pm 0.06) and diluted methanol (20.55 \pm 0.94 mg GAE/100 g FW), as well as, between water (2.97 \pm 0.06) and diluted ethanol (14.89 \pm 0.69 mg GAE/100 g FW).

A statistically significant difference in the average antioxidant activity in the samples of dry stem of celandine is between the water (11.01 ± 0.62) and diluted methanol (34.88 \pm 0.68 mg GAE/100 g), and water (11.01 ± 0.62) and diluted ethanol (24.74 \pm 0.48 mg GAE/100 g DW).

According to Kazazic et al. (2016) the antioxidant activity in pre-dried celandine plant was 47.94 ± 2.06 mM Fe2+/100 g DW. Antioxidant activity was determined using the FRAP method. According to the DPPH• Method, the antioxidant activity was 9.17 \pm 0.30 mg/100 g DW, and according to ABTS•+ it was 3.13 ± 0.23 mM TE/100 g DW [18].

Antioxidant activity in previously dried celandine plant was $62.2 \pm 4.33 \ \mu M$ Trolox/100 g DW. Antioxidant activity was determined using the FRAP method. According to the DPPH• method, the antioxidant activity was $300 \pm 3.34 \ \mu M$ Trolox/100 g DW, and according to ABTS •+ it was $9.56 \pm 1.05 \ \mu M$ Trolox/100 g DW [15].

The antioxidant activity in dried celandine in methanol had value of $50.72 \pm 1.13 \,\mu$ g/mL, in ethyl acetate $448.64 \pm 2.04 \,\mu$ g/mL, and in water ($428.87 \pm 1.77 \,\mu$ g/mL). For determination antioxidant activity DPPH reagent was used [16]. According to Then et al. (2003) the content of antioxidant activity during the vegetation period in fresh greater celandine (IV. Month) was 289.5 \pm 18.5 μ mol/L. Antioxidant activity was determined using the FRAP method [19].

Table 4. Antioxidative activity in celandine in the dry samples, as mg GAE/100g DW (mean \pm SD)

Extraction solvent	Leaf (L) N = 5	Stem (S) N = 5
Water	30.38 ± 0.80	11.01 ± 0.62
Methanol (70:30, v/v)	65.56 ± 0.48	34.88 ± 0.68
Ethanol (70:30, v/v)	56.94 ± 0.79	24.74 ± 0.48

4 Conclusion

Experimental data showed that different solvents used (water, diluted methanol, diluted ethanol) significantly affected on extraction of phenol from the leaves and stems of *Chelidonium majus* L. Fresh leaf samples had higher TPC compared to dry leaf, as well as fresh stem samples compared to dry stem. Samples of dry leaves of celandine showed higher antioxidant activity compared to fresh leaves, as well as samples of dry stem compared to fresh ones. The lowest TPC and antioxidant activity were in water, because of different polarity of extraction solvent, implicated that binary system of extraction (ethanol:water) or (methanol:water), showed better efficiency in extraction polyphenolic compounds, compared to water.

It was seen that the average TPC in fresh parts of celandine (leaf and stem) is higher compared to dry parts of celandine (leaf and stem), and that the highest content was, when diluted ethanol as solvent, was used. The antioxidant activity is higher in the dry parts of the celandine (leaf and stem) compared to the fresh parts of the celandine (leaf and stem), and the highest antioxidant activity was in diluted methanol.

In generally: the variation in the TPC in celandine samples as well as the antioxidant activity is a consequence of the action of numerous factors, such as the habitat, the physiological stage in which the plant was harvested, climatic conditions, the method of picking, the method of drying, and the method of storage and transportation.

References

- Gilca, M., Gaman, L., Panait, E., Stoian, I., Atanasiu, V.: Chelidonium majus an integrative review: traditional knowledge versus modern findings. Forschende Komplementärmedizin/Res. Complement. Med. 17(5), 241–248 (2010)
- Rodaljević, B.: Rusa trava, rosopas ili zmijsko mlijeko (2014). http://www.frontslobode.ba/ vijesti/priroda/17351/rusa-trava-rosopas-ili-zmijsko-mlijeko. Accessed 11 2022 Oct
- 3. Krešek, E.: Ljekovito bilje u vinu i rakiji, Grafički zavod Hrvatske d.o.o., Zagreb (2004)
- 4. Kišgeci, J.: Lekovite i aromatične biljke, Srpska književna zadruga, Novi Sad, Srbija (2008)
- Rice-Evans, C.A., Miller, NJ., Paganga, G.: Antioxidant properties of phenolic compounds. Trends Plant Sci. 2(4), 152–159 (1997)
- Middleton, Jr, E., Kandaswami C.: The impact of plant flavonoids on mammalian biology: implications for immunity, inflammation and cancer. In: Harborne J.B. (ed.) The Flavonoids, Advances in Research since 1986, pp. 619–652. Chapman & Hall, London (1994)
- Dai, J., Mumper, R.J.: Plant phenolics: extraction, analysis and their antioxidant and anticancer properties, Kentucky – USA, p. 204 (2010)
- Fraga, C.G.: Plant Phenolics and Human Health Biochemistry, Nutrition, and Pharmacology, SAD. p. 154. Hoboken, New Jersey (2010)
- Yashin, A., Yashin, Y., Xia, X., Nemzer, B.: Antioxidant activity of spices and their impact on human health: a review. Antioxidants 6(3), 70 (2017). https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox603 0070
- 10. Ough, C.S, Amerine, M.A.: Methods for Analysis of Musts and Wines, vol. 2, Wiley, New York, Chichester, Brisbane, Toronto, Singapore (1988)
- Singleton, V.L., Orthofer, R., Lamuela-Raventos, R.M.: Analysis of total phenols and other oxidation substrates and antioxidants by means of Folin-Ciocalteau reagent. Meth. Enzymol. 299, 152–178 (1999)
- Siddhuraju, P.: Antioxidant activity of polyphenolic compounds extracted from defatted raw and dry heated Tamarindus indica seed coat. LWT Food Sci. Technol. 40(6), 982–990 (2007). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lwt.2006.07.010
- Meng, J., et al.: Phenolic content and antioxidant capacity of Chinese raisins produced in Xinjiang Province. Food Res. Int. 44(9), 2830–2836 (2011)
- 14. Pisochy, A.M., Negulescu, G.P.: Methods for total antioxidant activity determination: a review. Biochem. Anal. Biochem. **1**, 106 (2011)
- Wojdylo, A., Oszmianski, J., Czemerys, R.: Antioxidant activity and phenolic compounds in 32 selected herbs. Food Chem. 105(3), 940–949 (2007). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem. 2007.04.038
- Jakovljević, Z.D., Stanković,S.M., Topuzović,DM.: Seasonal variability of Chelidonium majus L. secondary metabolites content and antioxidant activity. EXCLI J. 12, 260–268 (2013)
- Nile, S.H., et al.: Comparative analysis of metabolic variations, antioxidant potential and cytotoxic effects in different parts of Chelidonium majus L. Food Chem. Toxicol. 156, 112483 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fct.2021.112483
- Kazazić, M., Đapo, M., Ademović, E.: Antioxidant activity of water extracts of some medicinal plants from Herzegovina region. Int. J. Pure. App. Biosc. 4(2), 85–90 (2016)
- Then, M., Szentmihályi, K., Sárközi, Á., Szöllôsi Varga, I.: Examination on antioxidant activity in the greater celandine (*Chelidonium majus L.*) extracts by FRAP method, Acta Biologica. Szeged. 47(1–4), 115–117 (2003)



Determination of Elements Composition in Vranec Wines Produced with Different Maceration Time

Violeta Ivanova-Petropulos¹(⊠), Elena Bogeva¹, Katerina Bačeva Andonovska², Dragan Nikolić³, and Trajče Stafilov⁴

¹ Faculty of Agriculture, Goce Delcev University, Stip, Krste Misirkov, 10A, 2000 Stip, Republic of North Macedonia

violeta.ivanova@ugd.edu.mk

² Research Center for Environment and Materials, Macedonian Academy of Sciences and Arts, Bul. Krste Misirkov 2, 1000 Skopje, Republic of North Macedonia

³ Faculty of Agriculture, University of Belgrade, Nemanjina 6, 11080 Belgrade-Zemun, Serbia

⁴ Institute of Chemistry, Faculty of Natural Sciences and Mathematics, University "Ss. Cyril

and Methodius", Arhimedova 5, 1000 Skopje, Republic of North Macedonia

Abstract. Vranec (Vitis Vinifera L.) is the most widespread red grape variety in Republic of N. Macedonia, which is grown in all vineyards, but mostly it is located in the main Tikveš wine region. In the present study, Vranec wines have been produced applying 4, 7, 14 and 30 days for maceration, in order to determine the influence of maceration time on the elements profile of wines. Inductively coupled plasma-atomic emission spectrometry (ICP-AES) technique was used to perform the analyses of 18 elements, including Al, Ba, Bi, Ca, Cr, Cu, Fe, K, Li, Mg, Mn, Na, Ni, P, S, Sr, V and Zn. The results demonstrated that K, P, Mg and Ca were the predominant elements in wines, regardless the maceration time applied for vinification. Concentration of the most of the elements, such as Al, Ba, Bi, Mg, Mn, Na, Ni, P, Sr, P and Zn, increased during the maceration. Copper was determined in a highest concentration in the wine macerated for 4 days (average value: 0.026 mg/L), followed by decreasing of the content during maceration, as it was expected. In general, the content of toxic elements Cu and Fe was lower than the maximal allowed concentrations, concluding that studied Vranec wines were safe for consumption and possessing a nutritional value as a result of the high level of K, P, Mg and Ca.

Keywords: Maceration · Elements · Vranec wine · ICP-AES

1 Introduction

Wine contains various organic and inorganic substances, such as carbohydrates, organic acids, proteins, polyphenols, volatile compounds, as well as elements (metals and nonmetals), which influence the quality [1]. Elements are important constituents of wine, which has already been proven that possess nutritional value (e.a. Ca, Cr, Co, K, Mg, Mn, Na, Se, and Zn). Some of them have potential toxic effects on the human body, such as heavy metals As, Cd, and Pb. According to the regulation published at the International Code of Oenological Practices, established by OIV (International organization of vine and wine), maximum acceptable limits for some metals have already been set as following: 0.2 mg/L for As, 0.01 mg/L for Cd, 1 mg/L for Cu, 0.15 mg/L for Pb, 80 mg/L for Na, and 5 mg/L for Zn. Therefore, their content have to be controlled during vinification [2].

Many factors influence the concentration of elements in wines, starting from the vineyards conditions, such as vine variety, soil content, fertilization practices used, climate changes, etc., continuing to the end of fermentation and vinification (addition of selected yeasts, maceration time, content of proteins and tartarates, addition of fining agents (i.e. bentonite, especially for white wines) [2–7]. Maceration is a technological phase important for production of high quality red wines. Longer maceration leads to increased color stability and complexity, improves the taste and flavor as well as overall wine quality. During maceration, the metals concentration increases, followed by decreasing throughout the fermentation process, as a result of precipitation [3, 8]. In addition, the prolonged maceration time can increase concentrations of some elements, such as Cd, Cr, Cu, Fe, Pb and Zn, since some of them can be released from cellar equipment produced from brass and stainless steel materials.

Elements can directly or indirectly affect the clarity and sensory characteristics of wines, due to the formation of precipitates during various phases of vinification (fermentation, maturation and storage). Moreover, Ca, K, Mg, and Na are considered as important elements for effective and successful alcoholic fermentation, while Cu, Fe, Mn, Zn are important elements for yeasts activity [8].

Various analytical techniques, such as atomic absorption spectroscopy (AAS), inductively coupled plasma-atomic emission spectroscopy (ICP-AES) and inductively coupled plasma-mass spectrometry (ICP-MS) have been used for determination of metals and nonmetals content in wines from various countries in the world [3, 8–17]. Actually, inductively coupled plasma-atomic emission spectroscopy (ICP-AES) and inductively coupled plasma-mass spectrometry (ICP-MS) have been introduced for the first time in the year 2011, in the booklet of the International Organization of Vine and Wine (OIV) as recommended methods for wine elemental analysis and control [18, 19].

Several studies on the elemental composition of Macedonian wines have been performed and published applying ETAAS, ICP-OES, ICP-AES and ICP-MS techniques [3, 10, 20]. Thus, systematic study on the elemental's concentration and composition of Macedonian wines has been performed in distinguishing red and white wines as well as in determination of their geographical origin. Analyses were carried out with inductively coupled plasma–mass spectrometry (ICP-MS) and inductively coupled plasma– optical emission spectrometry (ICP-OES) for wines classification [10]. In addition, the contents of Pb and Cd have been determined in *Vitis Vinifera* L. white wines (Smederevka, Chardonnay and Riesling, vintage 2011) grown at two different territories in the Tikveš region: Disan and Negotino, using electrothermal atomic absorption spectrometry (ETAAS) [3]. Moreover, multi-element composition of red Vranec wines fermented with autochthonous and commercial yeast strains, have been quantified, applying microwave digestion method for wine sample preparation, followed by ICP-MS analyses of the elements [20].

However, to the best of our knowledge, there has been no report on the concentration of elements in red Vranec wines produced with different maceration time, applying inductively coupled plasma-atomic emission spectroscopy (ICP-AES) for analysis. Considering this, the aims of the present work were twofold: (1) to report and use a simple and fast ICP-AES method for determination of elements, after dilution of wines (1:1 with 1M HNO₃) and (2) to study the influence of maceration time on the elements composition of red wines from Vranec grape variety, the most important variety in Republic of N. Macedonia and Balkan countries.

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Chemicals and Reagents

All reagents and standard solutions were p.a. grade. Bi-distilled water was used to prepare all solutions. Basic standard solution with a concentration of 1,000 mg/L for 23 elements in diluted nitric acid (ICP multi-element standard solution IV was purchased from Merck. Basic standard solutions with a concentration of 1,000 mg/L for Mo, P, S and V were purchased from Solution Plus.

2.2 Grape and Wine Samples

Grapes from Vranec variety, *Vitis vinifera* L. cultivated at Disan location in the Tikveš wine region, R. N. Macedonia, were harvested at optimal maturity (23–24° Brix, vintage 2010). Grapes were collected early in the morning from nine years old vineyards (area of 6 ha, at 560–580 m altitude) and were transported to the wine cellar "Elenov", located in Demir Kapija. The distance between the rows was 2.4 m and the distance between the vines was 0.9 m.

Harvested grapes were processed with electrical inox crusher/destemmer, followed by addition of SO₂ in a form of 5% sulphurous acid (ca. 50 mg/L total concentration of SO₂), addition of commercial yeast Lalvin ICV-D254, *S. cerevisiae* (25 g/hL, supplied from Lallemand, Montreal, Canada) after two hours in order to start the fermentation and addition of nutrients (25 g/hL, Go-Ferm, obtained from Lallemand, Canada). Then, the grape mash was divided into 4 sets, applying maceration of 4, 7, 14 and 30 days (abbreviations: V-4d, V-7d, V-14d and V-30d, respectively). During the maceration and alcoholic fermentation at 25 °C, "pumping over" was applied, three times a day. When fermentation finished, wines were separated from the pomace, stabilized at temperature of 15 °C for a period of three days, bottled and stored in a wine cellar at 6–8 °C. Elements profile was determined after three years wine aging.

Wine samples were diluted in ration 1:1 with 1M HNO₃ before the ICP-AES analyses.

2.3 ICP-AES Conditions

All analyzed elements (Al, As, Ba, Bi, Ca, Cd, Co, Cr, Cu, Fe, K, Li, Mg, Mn, Mo, Na, Ni, P, Pb, S, Sr, Tl, V, Zn) were determined by inductively coupled plasma-atomic emission spectrometry (ICP-AES) (Varian, 715-ES). In this spectroscopic method, inductively coupled plasma was used as the source for excitation of atoms. The test solution was fed by a peristaltic pump through an atomizer into the quartz burner (torch), which consists of three concentric tubes with separate inlets for the solution and the working gas argon. The torch was located in an induction coil connected to a high-frequency generator to produce a strong electromagnetic field that allows the generation of a plasma in which excitation occurs. At a temperature of about 7000 K, excitation of all elements present in the test solution was possible.

The following emission lines were used in ICP-AES: Al: 396.152 nm, As: 188.980 nm, Ba: 493.408 nm, Bi: 223.061 nm, Ca: 370.602 nm, Cd: 214.439 nm, Co: 238.892 nm, Cr: 267.716 nm, Cu: 327.395 nm, Fe: 238.204 nm, K: 769.897 nm, Li: 670.783 nm, Mg: 883.829 nm, Mn: 257.610 nm, Mo: 202.032 nm, Na: 589.592 nm, Ni: 231.604 nm, P: 213.618 nm, Pb: 220.353, S: 181.972 nm, Sr: 407.771 nm, Tl: 351.923 nm, V: 292.401 nm, Zn: 213.857 nm. The data on the operating conditions are given in Table 1.

RF generator			
Operating frequency: 40.68	8 MHz free-running,	air-cooled RF generator	
Power output of RF genera	tor: 700–1700 W in 5	50 W increments	
Introduction area			
Sample nebulizer: V-groov	e		
Spray chamber: Double-pa	ss cyclone		
Peristaltic pump: 0-50 rpm	1		
Spectrometer			
Optical arrangement: Eche	lle optical design		
Polychromator: 400 mm fo	cal length		
Echelle grating: 94.74 line	s/mm		
Polychromator purge: 0.5 l	min ⁻¹		
Megapixel CCD detector:	1.12 million pixels		
Wavelength coverage: 177	nm to 785 nm		
Conditions for the progra	am		
RFG power	1.0 kW	Pump speed	25 rpm
Plasma Ar flow rate	15 l min ⁻¹	Stabilization time	30 s
Auxiliary Ar flow rate	1.5 l min ⁻¹	Rinse time	30 s
Nebulizer Ar flow rate	0.75 1 min ⁻¹	Sample delay	30 s

Table 1. Instrumental parameters for ICP-AES analyses of elements.

Calibration solutions were used for construction of calibration curves (y = ax + b) for each element. The linearity of the calibration curves was tested and correlation factor $R^2 > 0.99$ was considered as acceptable.

The lowest concentration that can be quantitatively determined with an acceptable level of accuracy is defined as limit of detection (LOD). LODs were determined for each elements: 0.25 µg/L for Al, 10 µg/L for As, 0.5 µg/L for Ba, 1 µg/L for Bi, 0.5 µg/L for Ca, 0.1 µg/L for Cd, 1 µg/L for Co, 1 µg/L for Cr, 0.25 µg/L for Cu, 0.12 µg/L for Fe, 100 µg/L for K, 1 µg/L for Li, 0.5 µg/L for Mg, 0.03 µg/L for Mn, 4 µg/L for Mo, 40 µg/L for Na, 5 µg/L for Ni, 10 µg/L for P, 10 µg/L for Pb, 50 µg/L for S, 0.5 µg/L for Sr, 10 µg/L for Tl, 1 µg/L for V and 0.06 µg/L for Zn.

2.4 Statistical Analyses

Each wine was analyzed in three replicates. Statistical analysis was performed, including calculation of means, standard deviation and relative standard deviation, using the XLSTAT software, version 7.5.2, Addinsoft (Paris, France). In addition, the ANOVA test of Student–Newman–Keuls of multiple comparisons of mean values was applied to the results for the concentration of each element in order to reveal differences or similarities between the studied wines. Significant difference was considered at level of p < 0.05.

3 Results and Discussion

The results related to the determination of 18 elements (Al, Ba, Bi, Ca, Cr, Cu, Fe, K, Li, Mg, Mn, Na, Ni, P, S, Sr, V, Zn) in Macedonian red Vranec wines produced with different maceration time of 4, 7, 14 and 30 days are presented in Table 2. The elements As, Cd, Co, Mo, Pb and Tl, which are heavy and harmful, were detected at concentrations lower than the determined LOD, and therefore, they are not presented in the table. Elemental analysis demonstrated that K, P, Mg, S and Ca were the dominant elements in the wines, regardless the maceration time, followed by Na, Fe, Mn, Sr and Al.

Potassium was the major element in all analyzed Vranec wines regardless the maceration time, ranging from 298 to 332 mg/L. This element is considered as a natural component present in the grapes that passes into the wine during fermentation. The content of potassium in wine is an indication for its concentration in the grape berries at the final stages of ripening [10]. High potassium contents lead to precipitation of tartaric acid and then, increasing of the pH value, causing wine instability. In our study, the content of potassium was not very high, which confirms the tartarate stability of the wines, regardless the duration of maceration time applied for winemaking. Phosphorous, which is naturally present macroelement and essential for life, was ranging between 71.3 and 105 mg/L in the wines. High content of this element in the wines confirms their nutritional value [20]. Sulfur was detected in the wines in the range of 47.3 to 61.5 mg/L. In fact, S is expected to be present since SO₂ is used in winemaking to prevent oxidation and browning of wine (enzymatic and nonenzymatic oxidation of phenolic compounds, especially phenolic acids, carbohydrates and amino acids). The content of S in the analyzed wines confirms that wines were sufficiently protected from oxidation and ensures their stability.

Elements (mg/L)/Wine samples	V-4d	V-7d	V-14d	V-30d	Min	Max	Average
Al	0.33 ± 0.006	$0.51a\pm0.007$	$0.51a\pm0.007$	$0.54a\pm0.008$	0.33	0.54	0.474
Ва	0.097 ± 0.006	$0.125a \pm 0.0005$	$0.123a\pm0.002$	$0.134a\pm0.003$	0.097	0.134	0.120
Bi	0.042 ± 0.001	0.056 ± 0.0028	0.081 ± 0.0021	0.112 ± 0.007	0.042	0.112	0.073
Ca	$31.3a\pm0.342$	$33.5a\pm0.424$	$32.4a\pm0.326$	$31.9a\pm0.145$	31.3	33.5	32.3
Cr	$0.002a\pm0.001$	0.004 ± 0.0002	$0.001a \pm 0.0007$	0.010 ± 0.003	0.001	0.010	0.004
Cu	0.026 ± 0.003	0.009 ± 0.003	0.004 ± 0.0007	0.000 ± 0	0.000	0.026	0.010
Fe	$0.87a\pm0.034$	$0.91a\pm0.008$	0.57 ± 0.0404	$0.84a \pm 0.034$	0.57	0.91	0.797
K	317 ± 0.598	332 ± 1.29	298 ± 1.677	305 ± 1.813	298	332	313
Li	0.010 ± 0.0002	0.004 ± 0.0002	0.000 ± 0	0.002 ± 0.0002	0.000	0.010	0.004
Mg	51.9 ± 0.143	55.1 ± 0.234	54.9 ± 0.183	61.9 ± 0.218	51.9	61.9	55.9
Mn	$0.42a\pm0.003$	$0.45a\pm0.002$	$0.44a \pm 0.004$	$0.49a\pm0.030$	0.42	0.49	0.45
Na	$1.93a\pm0.036$	$2.08b \pm 0.044$	$1.91a \pm 0.048$	$2.15b\pm0.022$	1.91	2.15	2.02
Ni	0.000 ± 0	0.016 ± 0.0004	0.000 ± 0	0.022 ± 0.0002	0.000	0.022	0.010
Р	71.3 ± 0.132	88.4 ± 0.031	91.8 ± 0.445	105 ± 0.353	71.3	105	89.2
S	61.5 ± 0.212	$53.5a\pm0.084$	47.3 ± 0.438	$54.8a\pm0.362$	47.3	61.5	54.3
Sr	0.39 ± 0.0212	$0.48a\pm0.0136$	$0.48a\pm0.008$	0.52 ± 0.043	0.39	0.52	0.467
V	0.056 ± 0.001	0.016 ± 0.002	0.000 ± 0	0.000 ± 0	0.000	0.056	0.018
Zn	0.037 ± 0.0001	0.029 ± 0.0009	0.085 ± 0.001	0.180 ± 0.002	0.029	0.180	0.083
Σ	537	568	529	564	529	568	550

Table 2. Concentration (mg/L) of elements in Vranec wines produced with maceration time of 4, 7, 14 and 30 days and determined by ICP-AES.

Results represent an average value of three repeated measurements \pm SD (standard deviation). Values with indicated letter within a row have been analyzed by the Student–Newman–Keul's test (ANOVA) and are considered as not significantly different at p > 0.05.

In general, high concentrations of macroelements calcium (Ca), magnesium (Mg), potassium (K), and sodium (Na) contribute a salty taste in wines. The concentration of Ca (average value: 32.3 mg/L), Mg (average value: 55.9 mg/L) and Na (average value: 2.02 mg/L) were very low compared to other wines from the world [21] which means that the salty character was not present in Vranec wines, as it was expected. Similar contents between elements were noticed for manganese (on average: 0.45 mg/L), strontium (on average: 0.467 mg/L) and aluminum (on average: 0.474 mg/L), regardless the maceration time.

The presence of Al, Cu, Fe, Pb, Zn is important for conducting and completion of an effective alcoholic fermentation and therefore, their contents in wine must be controlled. Moreover, excess content of dissolved iron and copper can change the flavor and appearance of wine since both elements act in oxidation and reduction reactions, changing the flavor and color of wine, detrimenting the overall quality. The iron and cupper contents in Vranec wines ranged from 0.567 to 0.912 mg/L (on average: 0.797 mg/L) and from 0.00 to 0.026 mg/L (on average: 0.01 mg/L), respectively, which were very lower compared to maximum allowed concentrations for Fe (5 mg/L) and Cu (1 mg/L) in wine [2].

Heavy metals, such as Cd and Pb, have toxic effects and they deactivate the enzymes. Therefore, their contents in wine must be monitored. In this study, both metals (Cd and Pb) have been not detected in the analysed Vranec wines. In addition, Ni, Bi and Zn were found in very low concentrations (on average: 0.01 mg/L for Ni, 0.073 mg/L for Bi and 0.083 mg/L for Zn) compared to the maximum acceptable levels (for Ni: 0.1 mg/L and for Zn: 5 mg/L). In fact, the potential source of Ni in wine is the presence of nickel alloys in stainless steel equipment.

Considering the influence of maceration time, the content of trace elements is expected to increase during fermentation, and afterwards to decrease, since they are absorbed onto the yeast cell and precipitate or coprecipitate with polyphenols and tannins and then removed. Thus, copper was present in highest concentration in the wine macerated for 4 days (0.026 mg/L), followed by decreasing of the content during maceration, as it was expected. Sr and Fe presented relatively similar concentration regardless the maceration time. In this study, for most of the elements, such as Al, Ba, Bi, Mg, Mn, Na, P, Sr and Zn, a slight increasing of their content was noticed during maceration, observing slightly higher content in wines macerated for 30 days.

In general, analyzed Vranec wines produced with different maceration time contained similar or lower levels of determined elements compared to the literature data [10–16, 21], which confirms their safety for consumption. Moreover, high level of macroelements, such as K, P, Mg and Ca, confirmed the nutritional value of Vranec wines.

4 Conclusion

In this study, fast and simple method based on ICP-AES technique was used to determine 18 elements, including Al, Ba, Bi, Ca, Cr, Cu, Fe, K, Li, Mg, Mn, Na, Ni, P, S, Sr, V and Zn, in Vranec wines produced with maceration time of 4, 7, 14 and 30 days, after simple sample preparation (dilution of wines in ratio 1:1 with 1M HNO₃). K, P, Mg, S and Ca were the dominant elements in all wines regardless the maceration duration, followed by elements Na, Fe, Mn, Sr and Al. Concentration of Cu decreased during maceration, while slight increase of Al, Ba, Bi, Mg, Mn, Na, P, Sr and Zn contents were noticed in the wines. All wines presented a good dietary source of macro and micro-nutrient elements.

References

- Soto Vázquez, E., Rio Segade, S., Fernández Gomez, E.: Incidence of the winemaking technique on metal content and phenolic composition of red wines. Int. J. Food Prop. 16, 622–633 (2013)
- 2. OIV, International Code of Oenological Practices, 2015/01
- Ivanova-Petropulos, V., Jakabová, S., Nedelkovski, D., Pavlík, V., Balážová, Ž, Hegedűs, O.: Determination of Pb and Cd in Macedonian wines by electrothermal atomic absorption spectrometry (ETAAS). Food Anal. Methods 8, 1947–1952 (2015)
- Rodriguez Mozaz, S., Garcia Sotro, A., Garrido Segovia, J., Ancin Azpilicueta, C.: Influence of decantation of viura must on the cation content. Evolution during wine fermentation and stabilization. Food Res. Int. 32, 683–689 (1999)

- Cheng, J., Liang, C.: The variation of mineral profiles from grape juice to monovarietal Cabernet Sauvignon wine in the vinification process. J. Food Process. Preserv. Preserv. 36, 262–266 (2012)
- Hopfer, H., Nelson, J., Collins, T.S., Heymann, H., Ebeler, S.E.: The combined impact of vineyard origin and processing winery on the elemental profile of red wines. Food Chem. 172, 486–496 (2015)
- Charnock, H.M., Cairns, G., Pickering, G.J., Kemp, B.S.: Production method and wine style influence metal profiles in sparkling wines. Am. J. Enol. Vitic. Vitic. 73, 170–182 (2022)
- Rossi, S., et al.: Comparison of different winemaking processes for improvement of phenolic composition, macro- and microelemental content, and taste sensory attributes of Teran (Vitis vinifera L.) red wines. LWT – Food Science and Technology 154, 112619 (2022)
- Stafilov, T., Karadjova, I.: Atomic absorption spectrometry in wine analysis a review –. Maced. J. Chem. Chem. Eng. 28, 17–31 (2009)
- Ivanova-Petropulos, V., Wiltsche, H., Stafilov, T., Stefova, M., Motter, H., Lankmayr, E.: Multielement analysis of Macedonian wines by inductively coupled plasma–mass spectrometry (ICP-MS) and inductively coupled plasma–optical emission spectrometry (ICP-OES) for their classification. Maced. J. Chem. Chem. Eng. 32(2), 265–281 (2013)
- Kment, P., Martin, M., Ettler, V., Sebek, O., Strnad, L., Rohlová, L.: Differentiation of Czech wines using multielement composition – a comparison with vineyard soil. Food Chem. 91, 157–165 (2005)
- 12. Rodrigues, S.A., et al.: Elemental analysis for categorization of wines and authentication of their certified brand of origin. J. Food Compos. Anal. **24**, 548–562 (2011)
- Kruzlicova, D., Fiket, Ž, Kniewald, G.: Classification of Croatian wine varieties using multivariate analysis of data obtained by high resolution ICP-MS analysis. Food Res. Int. 54, 621–626 (2013)
- Šelih, V.S., Šala, M., Dragan, V.: Multi-element analysis of wines by ICP-MS and ICP-OES and their classification according to geographical origin in Slovenia. Food Chem. 153, 414–423 (2014)
- Cabrita, M.J., et al.: Multi-element composition of red, white and palhete amphora wines from Alentejo by ICPMS. Food Control 92, 80–85 (2018)
- Aceto, M., Abollino, O., Bruzzoniti, M.C., Mentasti, E., Sarzanini, C., Malandrino, M.: Determination of metals in wine with atomic spectroscopy (flame-AAS, GF-AAS and ICP-AES); a review. Food Addit. Contam. Addit. Contam. 19, 126–133 (2002)
- Sturza, R., Bilici, C., Zinicovscaia, I., Culicov, O.A., Gundorina, S., Duca, G.: Moldavian wine analysis by ICP-AES and NAA techniques: comparison study. Rev. Roum. Chim.Roum. Chim. 60, 1065–1071 (2015)
- 18. OIV. OIV-MA-AS323–07: Multielemental analysis using ICP-MS (2011)
- 19. OIV. OIV-MA-AS322–1: Analysis of mineral elements in wines using ICP-AES (inductively coupled plasma/atomic emission spectrometry) (2011)
- Ivanova-Petropulos, V., Balabanova, B., Mitrev, S., Nedelkovski, D., Dimovska, V., Gulaboski, R.: Optimization and validation of a microwave digestion method for multielement characterization of Vranec wines. Food Anal. Methods 9, 48–60 (2016)
- Cabello-Pasini, A., Macías-Carranza, V., Siqueiros-Valencia, A., Huerta-Díaz, M.A.: Concentrations of calcium, magnesium, potassium, and sodium in wines from Mexico. Am. J. Enol. Vitic.Vitic. 64, 280–284 (2021)



The Effect of Essential Oils on the Quality and Oxidative Stability of Linseed Oil

Belmina Halilović^(⊠), Selma Čorbo, Teofil Gavrić, and Munevera Begić

Faculty of Agriculture and Food Science, University of Sarajevo, Zmaja od Bosne 8, 71000 Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina belmina.halilovic@ppf.unsa.ba

Abstract. The aim of this work was examination of quality and oxidative stability of linseed oil, with and without the addition of essential oils. The content of carotenoids, chlorophylls and total phenols, the content of moisture, insoluble impurities, the composition of saturated and unsaturated fatty acids, the content of free fatty acids and the peroxide value were examined in linseed oil (initial analysis without the addition of essential oils). In the basic sample of linseed oil, garlic, thyme and oregano essential oil were added in different concentrations (0.1% and 0.5%). The samples were stored for 30 days at a temperature of 18 to 20°C in different conditions, in daylight and in the dark. With the addition of different essential oils, the content of moisture and insoluble impurities increased in proportion to the addition of a higher concentration of essential oil. PUFA are more abundant than MUFA. Linolenic fatty acid was dominant in all samples, with the content higher than 50% especially in samples with 0.1% oregano essential oil adition. The content of free fatty acids decreased and the peroxide value increased in all samples after 15 and 30 days of storage in the light and in the dark. The sample with the addition of garlic essential oil in a concentration of 0.1% had the lowest value of the peroxide value, i.e. the best oxidative stability. On the other hand sample with the addition of thyme essential oil in a concentration of 0.5% had the highest peroxide value and the lowest oxidative stability.

Keywords: linseed oil \cdot essential oils \cdot antioxidants \cdot fatty acids \cdot oxidative stability

1 Introduction

Vegetable oils and medicinal plants have a long tradition of use in Bosnia and Herzegovina. Small production plants were established in the last decade in Bosnia and Herzegovina, called "mini-oileries", that produce cold-pressed linseed oil. Linseed (*Linum usitatissimum* L.) is a plant that has various uses and is the oldest textile plant. Linseeds are used as raw materials for oil production. Linseeds are rich in oil and protein. They contain significant amounts of vitamins A, B6, D, and E and unsaturated fatty acids. Considerable amounts of mucilage, lecithin, minerals (including zinc), and free amino acids can also be found [1]. Cold-pressed vegetable oils are produced by a mechanical

pressing process, without heating, to maintain the oil's quality and nutritional value. The process of cold pressing of linseeds produces an edible oil of appropriate quality, characterized by high nutritional value and oxidation stability. The quality of the raw material is very important for the production of oil. Before pressing, the raw material is grounded, conditioned and then pressed to obtain raw linseed oil. Oils and fats have a limited shelf life, after which undesirable changes may occur, both in their organoleptic properties and in their nutritional value. Due to the spoilage of oils and fats, biologically active substances such as vitamins, provitamins and essential fatty acids are partially lost. Furthermore, various decomposition products are created that give oils and fats unpleasant smells and tastes. The three basic types of oil and fat spoilage are enzymatic, microbiological and oxidative spoilage, i.e. autoxidation of oil and fat [2]. The high content of unsaturated fatty acids in cold-pressed oil makes it susceptible to oxidative changes, especially linseed oil, which contains linolenic acid [3]. Because linseed oil lacks a refining process, there may be components that reduce its sustainability (degradation products of oxidation, metals, etc.), and on the other hand, a higher content of natural ingredients with antioxidant properties may contribute to better sustainability of the oil (tocopherols, carotenoids, phenolic compounds, etc.) [4]. The addition of essential oils, as natural antioxidants, aims to increase the oxidative stability of vegetable oils. Ethereal or essential oils (lat. Aetheroleum) are produced as secondary metabolites of aromatic plants. Essential oils are liquid, mostly colorless, soluble in organic solvents, and less dense than water. Due to their volatility, they are usually isolated from plants through the distillation process. Based on the wide spectrum of pharmacological activities of essential oils, they are used in the food, pharmaceutical, cosmetic and agricultural industries [5].

This study aimed to examine the quality and oxidative stability of cold-pressed linseed oil, treated with the addition of diverse essential oils in various concentrations and stored in different conditions and lengths of storage.

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Materials

Cold-pressed linseed oil (2L) from an individual producer (GA-ME-HA d.o.o.), were taken for analyses. The essential oils, garlic oil (Producer: Pranarom International-Belgium), thyme and oregano oil (Producer: Halilović d.o.o., BiH), were collected from the Sarajevo Canton market.

2.2 Methods

Initial analyses were made on basic cold-pressed linseed oil (without the addition of essential oils). The following quality determination methods were used for the analysis: the composition of saturated and unsaturated fatty acids on a gas chromatograph GC/MS using a Hewlett Packard 6890 II instrument, with a selective mass detector (MSD) 6890 II [6], the content of insoluble impurities using the standard ISO 663:1992 method [7], moisture content using the ISO 662:1992 method [8], free fat content acid using the

standard titration method [9], peroxide value using the Wheeler method [10], carotenoid content using the BSM method [11], chlorophyll content [12], and the content of a total of phenol [13].

After the initial analyses, the samples were prepared in such a way that it was 2 litters of linseed oil separated into pre-sterilized 500 ml dark-coloured glass bottles, to which the essential oils of garlic, thyme and oregano were individually added in the amount of 0.1% and 0.5%. The obtained mixtures of linseed and essential oils were subjected to the same quality testing methods as on the base sample (composition of saturated and unsaturated fatty acids, insoluble impurities, moisture content, free fatty acid content and peroxide value). After 15 and 30 days of storing samples mixed with different essential oils (garlic, thyme and oregano) in different concentrations of 0.1% and 0.5%, and a base sample of base oil, stored at a temperature of 18 to 20°C in daylight and in the dark, viability was determined based on peroxide value and free fatty acid content.

2.3 Statistical Analysis

The Past 3.15 program [14] was used for statistical data processing. To determine a statistically significant difference in the values of peroxide value, moisture content, insoluble impurities, composition of fatty acids and free fatty acids, under the influence of the type and concentration of the added essential oil, a two-factor analysis of variance was applied, and in the case of statistically significant differences, Tukey's post-hoc test was used. In addition to the above, a two-factor analysis of variance was used to examine the influence of time and method of storage on the values of the examined parameters. The aim was to determine whether the type and concentration of essential oil affect the oxidative stability of cold-pressed linseed oil samples. For the correlation and presentation of the results multivariate data analysis was used - analysis of the basic components or PCA analysis.

3 Results and Discussion

3.1 Determination of Oil Quality (Initial Analysis)

Table 1, shows the content of carotenoids, chlorophyll and total phenols in the base (base) sample of linseed oil. Results represent the mean value of two determinations \pm standard deviation (SD).

 Table 1. The average content of carotenoids, chlorophyll and total phenols in cold-pressed linseed oil

Parameter	Linseed oil
Carotenoids (β-carotenoid mg/kg)	13.50 ± 0.03
Chlorophyll (pheophytin α mg/kg)	1.85 ± 0.02
Total phenols (mg/kg GAE)	381.51 ± 1.34

221

The base sample of linseed oil had a content of carotenoids expressed as β -carotenoid in the value of 13.50 mg/kg. The content of carotenoids in linseed oils varies from 2 to 11.5 mg/kg of oil [15], and according to Tuberoso et al. [16] 0.7 mg/kg.

Relative to our results the base sample of linseed oil had a chlorophyll content of 1.85 mg/kg, which is in accordance with the data in the literature of 3.4 mg/kg oil reported by Tuberoso et al. [16]. The same author states that in many oilseeds, the amount of chlorophyll ranges from 1.5 mg/kg in peanut oil to 33.9 mg/kg in olive oil. Similar results to those in Table 1 are reported by Suri et al. [17], the chlorophyll content in linseed oil is 1.45 mg/kg. Obranović et al. [18], found that the mean value of chlorophyll in linseed oil expressed as pheophytin is 0.44 mg/kg of oil. According to their results, the difference is in the content of chlorophyll (from 0.23 to 0.86 mg/kg) and carotenoids (from 1.02 to 2.78 mg/kg) in the oil obtained from four varieties of linseed. Similar results (0.59 and 0.39 mg/kg) of oil were reported by Zhang et al. [19] for the oil obtained from two different varieties of linseed. Deme et al. [20] state the different content of chlorophyll in the oil, where the content primarily depends on the variety of linseed oil and was from 1.64 to 2.31 mg/l. In their research, Choo et al. [21] stated that the content of chlorophyll in cold-pressed linseed oil ranged from 0.80 to 5.76 mg/kg of oil, and the content of total phenols from 76.8 to 307.3 mg/kg. 100 g. The content of total phenols in the base sample of cold-pressed linseed oil was 381.51 mg/kg GAE. Kiralan et al. [22] report a slightly higher content of total phenols in linseed oil (554 mg/kg GAE).

In the research by Odeh et al. [23] the content of total phenols in linseed oil during storage of 180 days was examined, where the content at the beginning of the study was 5.44 mg/kg, after 60 days 5.62 mg/kg, and after 180 days 10.58 mg/kg. The content of total phenols is determined by various factors. Variety, growing conditions (soil and temperature), the interaction between genotype and growing conditions, postharvest treatments including mechanical extraction, and storage conditions can significantly alter the chemical composition of plant materials [24]. The foregoing may explain why the results of this research differ from those of other authors mentioned in the paper. The obtained values for the moisture content and the content of insoluble impurities in the tested samples are shown in Table 2.

Table 2. Content of moisture and insoluble impurities in cold-pressed linseed oil with the addition of different concentrations of essential oils

Parameter	Control	0.1%BL	0.5%BL	0.1%MD	0.5%MD	0.1%O	0.5%O	F 1*	F 2*	Intera ction
Moisture (%)	0.10	0.12	0.15	0.15	0.18	0.20	0.25	**	ns	ns
Insoluble impurities (%)	0.35	0.38	0.40	0.45	0.60	0.50	0.55	**	ns	ns

* Factor 1- type of essential oil; Factor 2 - concetracion; p - significance level: * p < 0.05; ** p < 0.01; *** p < 0.001; ns - no statistical significance

Analysis of variance found that there is a statistically significant influence of the experimental factor (type of essential oil) on the content of moisture and insoluble impurities (p < 0.01), while the influence of the essential oil concentration factor and the interaction of factors on the two parameters was not statistically significant. From Table 2. it can be seen that the moisture content in all tested samples is in accordance with the Regulation on Vegetable Oils, Edible Vegetable Fats and Mayonnaise [25] and is less than 0.4%, while the content of insoluble impurities is higher than the maximum allowed values, i.e. greater than 0.05%. In the base sample of linseed oil, the moisture content is 0.10%, and the content of insoluble impurities is 0.35%. By adding essential oil of garlic, thyme, and oregano to linseed oil in different concentrations (0.1% and 0.5%), the moisture content and insoluble impurities increase. The values for both parameters are higher with higher concentrations of added essential oil. It was found that all three added essential oils affect the increase of moisture and insoluble impurities in the oil. Oregano essential oil the amount of 0.5% had the greatest influence on the increase in the values of the mentioned parameters, while garlic essential oil in the amount of 0.1% had the least influence on the change in moisture content (0.12%) and insoluble impurities (0.38%). On the other hand, thyme added in the amount of 0.1% had the same effect on the moisture content, the value of which was 0.15%, as did the addition of garlic in an added concentration of 0.5% (0.15%).

In the research of Biondić [26], the lower moisture content in linseed oil was recorded compared to the results determined in this research (0.068%), while the values of the content of insoluble impurities are in accordance with the results of this work (0.38%) and are higher than permitted according to the current Regulation. Similar results were recorded by Radanović [27] in her research, the results of which are within the allowed values. Moisture content in cold-pressed linseed oil was 0.067%, and insoluble impurities 0.16%. Accordingly, in order to reduce the content of impurities in the oil, it is good to carry out sedimentation, filtration, or centrifugation of the oil. Table 3 shows the composition of fatty acids in the examined samples of cold-pressed linseed oil with the addition of different essential oils in concentrations of 0.1% and 0.5%.

Analysis of variance revealed that there is a statistically very high significant influence of the experimental factor (type of essential oil) on almost all tested fatty acids of linseed oil (p < 0.001), with the content of C10:0, C16:0, C18:0, C20:0 very significant influence of the mentioned factor (p < 0.01), with C22:1 content and MUFA/SFA ratio statistically significant influence of the mentioned factor, while the differences determined between the values of the n-6/n-3 ratio were not statistically significant. The essential oil concentration factor showed a very high statistically significant effect on the content of C18:4 and C20:4 (p < 0.001), a very statistically significant effect on the content of C12:0 (p < 0.01), a statistically significant effect on the content of C16: 1, while the determined differences in the content of all other fatty acids were not statistically significant. The interaction of the factors had a statistically significant influence on the content of C18:4 and C20:4 (p < 0.001), a highly statistically significant influence on the content of C18:2 and SFA (p < 0.01), a statistically significant influence on the content of C12:0, C18:3, n-6 and n-3 fatty acids, while the determined differences in the content of all other fatty acids were not statistically significant. The total content of SFA

Fatty acid	Cont rol	0.1% BL	0.5% BL	0.1% MD	0.5% MD	0.1% O	0.5% O	F 1*	F 2*	Inter action
C8:0	0.50	0.53	0.52	0.10	0.12	0.30	0.35	***	ns	ns
C10:0	0.20	0.25	0.20	0.25	0.26	0.15	0.15	**	ns	ns
C12:0	0.10	0.15	0.15	0.10	0.15	0.15	0.20	***	**	*
C14:0	0.05	0.05	0.04	0.15	0.17	0.10	0.13	***	ns	ns
C15:0	0.05	0.05	0.05	0.08	0.05	0.15	0.18	***	ns	ns
C16:0	5.00	5.50	5.30	3.50	3.80	4.50	4.70	**	ns	ns
C17:0	0.05	0.05	0.05	0.05	0.10	0.50	0.55	***	ns	ns
C18:0	3.00	3.90	3.50	3.10	3.00	4.10	4.20	**	ns	ns
C20:0	0.30	0.50	0.52	0.35	0.40	0.50	0.55	**	ns	ns
C14:1	0.05	0.15	0.15	0.05	0.05	0.10	0.15	***	ns	ns
C16:1	1.05	2.15	2.50	1.00	1.20	1.85	2.00	***	*	ns
C17:1	0.30	0.35	0.38	0.35	0.20	0.50	0.50	***	ns	ns
C18:1	15.10	18.00	19.20	11.00	10.10	12.00	11.80	***	ns	ns
C22:1	0.20	0.25	0.30	0.20	0.25	0.30	0.35	*	ns	ns
C18:2	19.20	18.00	18.50	23.10	20.20	17.60	18.70	***	ns	**
C18:3	45.50	49.10	47.00	48.00	49.50	50.00	48.50	***	ns	*
C18:4	0.10	0.10	0.15	0.20	0.25	0.15	0.50	***	***	***
C20:4	0.30	0.35	0.30	0.35	0.80	0.35	0.50	***	***	***
SFA	9.25	10.98	10.33	7.68	8.05	10.45	11.01	***	ns	**
MUFA	16.70	20.90	22.53	12.6	11.80	14.75	14.80	***	ns	ns
PUFA	65.10	67.55	65.95	71.65	70.75	68.10	68.20	***	ns	ns
n-6	19.50	18.35	18.0	23.45	21.00	17.95	19.20	***	ns	*
n-3	45.60	49.20	47.15	48.20	49.75	50.15	49.00	***	ns	*
PUFA/SFA	7.04	6.15	6.38	9.33	8.79	6.52	6.19	***	ns	ns
MUFA/SFA	1.80	1.90	2.18	1.64	1.47	1.41	1.34	*	ns	ns
n-6/n-3	0.43	0.37	0.4	0.49	0.42	0.36	0.40	ns	ns	ns

 Table 3. Composition of fatty acids in cold-pressed linseed oil with the addition of different essential oils and their concentrations

* Factor 1- type of essential oil; Factor 2 - concetracion; p - significance level: * p < 0.05; ** p < 0.01; *** p < 0.001; ns - no statistical significance; SFA - saturated fatty acids; MUFA - monounsaturated fatty acids; PUFA - polyunsaturated fatty acids; n-6 omega 6 fatty acids, n-3 omega 3 fatty acids

in the tested samples ranged from 7.68 to 11.01%, while the base sample had an approximate mean value of 9.25%. With the addition of essential oil of garlic and oregano in the amount of 0.1%, the SFA content was 10.98% and 10.45%, and in the sample with

the addition of essential oil of garlic in the amount of 0.5%, it was 10.33%. Samples with the addition of thyme essential oil added in both concentrations showed slightly lower SFA values compared to the other samples. Of the saturated acids, in all samples with the addition of 0.1% thyme and garlic, the most abundant was palmitic acid, whose content ranged from 3.5% to 5.5%. According to Tuberoso et al. [16], the content of palmitic acid in linseed oil was 4.9% and 3.50% according to Kostadinovic-Velickovska and Mitrev [28]. Lewinska et al. [29] state that the content of palmitic acid in linseed oil ranged from 5.1 to 5.3%. Of the unsaturated fatty acids, PUFA acids were dominant, the content of which in all samples ranged from 65.10 to 71.65%. These acids were significantly more abundant than MUFA acids (11.80-22.53%). The most abundant acid in linseed oil was linolenic acid (18:3). The highest content of linolenic acid was recorded in the sample of oil with the addition of oregano in the amount of 0.1% (50.00%), while the lowest value was recorded in the sample with the addition of essential oil of garlic in the amount of 0.5% (47.00%). (Table 3.). Compared to the base sample, an increase in linolenic acid was observed in all samples with the addition of different essential oils and their concentrations. The highest content of linoleic acid (18:2) was found in samples with the addition of thyme essential oil in a concentration of 0.1% and 0.5% (23.10% and 20.20%). Other samples had slightly lower values compared to the base sample (19.20%). In all tested oil samples, with the addition of different essential oils and their concentrations, the content of oleic acid was lower compared to linoleic acid. The exception is the sample with added garlic essential oil in the amount of 0.5% (19.20%), while the value of linoleic acid in the same sample was lower (18.50%). The content of oleic acid is in accordance with the results reported by Lewinska et al. [29] for two linseed oils, namely 15.8% and 20%. These three acids had the highest proportion in all tested samples. According to the recommendations of the UK Department of Health [30], Wood et al. [31] and Wood et al. [32] the values of the PUFA/SFA ratio should be greater than 0.4 in order for the food to be declared as a product of high nutritional value. Based on the above, and according to the results from Table 3, it can be concluded that the examined sample of cold-pressed linseed oil, with and without the addition of essential oils in different concentrations, can be declared as such, i.e. a product of high nutritional value. Acids from group n-3 were significantly more dominant than n-6. The values ranged from 45.60% to 50.15% for group n-3, and for group n-6 from 17.95% to 23.45%. The highest content of n-3 was recorded in the sample with the addition of essential oil of oregano in the amount of 0.1%, and n-6 in the sample with the addition of essential oil of thyme, also in the amount of 0.1%. The health- recommended ratio of n-6/n-3 fatty acid groups according to Simopoulos [33] is 1:1

- 4:1, according to Simopoulos [34] around 4, and according to Wood et al. [31] and Wood et al. [32] below 4. High content of linolenic acid resulted in a low n-6/n-3 ratio ranging from 0.36 to 0.49, depending on the sample. A similar composition of fatty acids in linseed oil is reported by Savva and Kafatos [35], according to which linseed oil contains 9.0 g SFA/100 g, 18.4 g MUFA/100 g and 67.8 g PUFA/100 g, of which 53,4 g ALA. The authors state that this unusually high ALA content makes the mentioned oil oxidize quickly, which is why it is not supplied as a pure oil but supplied with suitable antioxidant preparation. Also, Grajzer et al. [36] published results stating that the content of SFA in linseed oil is about 10.7%, MUFA 20.5%, PUFA 68.8%, of which linolenic

225

acid is dominant (53.1%), and the n-6/n-3 ratio is 0.3%. Zhang et al. [19] investigated the characteristics of linseed oil from two different linseed plants. They found that the SFA content was 15.55% and 8.52%, and the total SFA content was 83.53% and 90.70%. They concluded that a higher content of SFA in oil did not affect its stability compared to oil with a lower content of unsaturated fatty acids. These results largely agree with the results described in the work of Herchi et al. [37] where it was reported that linseed oil contained from 59% to 69% of PUFA acids, mainly linolenic acid (38–54%).

3.2 Determination of the Oxidative Stability of the Oil at the Beginning of the Treatment (Initial Analysis), After 15 and 30 days of Storage in Different Storage Conditions (Light, Dark)

Table 4., shows the values for the content of free fatty acids for each tested sample of cold-pressed linseed oil with the addition of different essential oils (garlic, thyme and oregano) in different concentrations (0.1% and 0.5%) of essential oils, after 15 and 30 days of storage in different conditions (light and darkness).

Free fatty aci	ds (%)				
Sample	Control	15 days	15 days	30 days	30 days
		(light)	(darkness)	(light)	(darkness)
Control	$0.73^{\text{x}} \pm 0.00$	$0.68^{\text{yX}} \pm 0.00$	$0.56^{\rm yY}\pm0.00$	$0.79^{zX}\pm0.00$	$0.73^{zY}\pm0.00$
0.1% BL	$0.90^{aAx}\pm0.01$	$0.68^{aAyX}\pm0.00$	$0.73^{aAyY}\pm0.00$	$0.85^{aAzX}\pm0.00$	$0.90^{aAzY}\pm0.00$
0.5% BL	$0.90^{aAx}\pm0.00$	$0.69^{aAyX}\pm0.02$	$0.67^{bAyY}\pm0.00$	$0.79^{\rm bAzX}\pm0.00$	$0.84^{\rm bAzY}\pm0.00$
0.1% MD	$0.84^{aBx}\pm0.00$	$0.67^{aAyX}\pm0.00$	$0.67^{aByY}\pm0.00$	$0.84^{aAzX}\pm0.00$	$0.90^{aBzY}\pm0.00$
0.5% MD	$0.85^{aBx}\pm0.00$	$0.62^{aAyX}\pm0.00$	$0.63^{\rm bByX}\pm0.02$	$0.96^{\rm bBzX}\pm0.00$	$0.85^{\rm bBzY}\pm0.00$
0.1% O	$0.90^{aAx} \pm 0.00$	$0.64^{aAyX} \pm 0.04$	$0.67^{aByX}\pm0.00$	$0.84^{aAzX}\pm0.00$	$0.79^{aCzY}\pm0.00$
0.5% O	$0.95^{bCx} \pm 0.00$	$0.74^{bCyX} \pm 0.02$	$0.73^{bCyX} \pm 0.00$	$0.90^{bCzX} \pm 0.00$	$0.84^{bCzY} \pm 0.00$

Table 4. Average values of the content of free fatty acids \pm SD in cold-pressed linseed oil with the addition of different essential oils and in various concentrations (light and dark)

a - b Different lowercase letters in rows indicate statistically significant differences between linseed oil samples, regarding the concentration of added essential oil; A - C Different capital letters in the rows indicate statistically significant differences between the linseed oil samples, regarding the type of added essential oil; x - z Different lowercase letters in the columns show statistically significant differences between the linseed oil samples, regarding the storage time; X - Y Different capital letters in columns show statistically significant differences between linseed oil samples, regarding the storage time; X - Y Different capital letters in columns show statistically significant differences between linseed oil samples, regarding storage conditions (light or dark).

From Table 4, it can be seen that the content of free fatty acids in all tested samples was within the limits allowed by the Regulation on Vegetable Oils, Edible Vegetable Fats and Mayonnaise [25]. The content of free fatty acids in the base sample in the initial analysis was 0.73% and increased with the addition of all essential oils in both concentrations. From the table, it can be seen that the content of fatty acids in all samples after the 15th day of storage both in the light and in the dark decreased compared to the initial values, with the smallest change recorded in the base sample (0.68% and 0.56%). After the 30th

day of storage, both in the light and in the dark, the content of free fatty acids increased in all samples, but mostly remained within the range of values that the samples had during the initial analyses, that is, there was no statistically significant difference compared to the initial results, which means that the essential oils used had a positive effect on the oxidative stability of the oil. Slightly higher values were recorded for samples with the addition of thyme essential oil in the amount of 0.1%. After 30 days of storing the samples in the dark, the value of free fatty acids was 0.90%, and in the light the value was almost identical to the initial analysis (0.84%). In the sample with the addition of garlic in the amount of 0.1%, higher values were recorded in the samples stored in the dark that were identified in the initial analyses (0.90%), compared to the samples stored in the light. With the addition of oregano essential oil in both concentrations, the FFA content after 30 days of storage in the light was lower (0.84% and 0.90%) compared to the value of the initial analyses (0.90% and 0.95%). Samples stored in the dark for the same period of time (30 days) had significantly lower values of FFA content (0.79% and 0.84%). Accordingly, it can be concluded that the addition of essential oils with adequate storage conditions in the dark and at the appropriate temperature has a positive effect on the oxidative stability of the oil. According to Choo et al. [21] variations in the content of free fatty acids in linseed oil range from 0.25% to 0.98%, and according to Abd-El-hady and Elsorady [15], expressed over oleic acid, they range from 0.36 to 1.16% similar to the results of Biondić [26] (0.38%). Obtained values of the peroxide value for each tested sample of cold-pressed linseed oil with the addition of essential oils (garlic, thyme, oregano) in different concentrations (0.1% and 0.5%), after 15 and 30 days of storage in different conditions (light and dark), are shown in Table 5.

Peroxide valu	ue (mmol O2/kg)				
Sample	Control	15 days	15 days	30 days	30 days
		(light)	(uarkiess)	(light)	(uarkiess)
Control	$0.49^{\rm x}\pm0.00$	$2.96^{yX}\pm0.02$	$1.49^{\rm yY}\pm 0.01$	$4.95^{zX}\pm0.00$	$1.97^{zY}\pm0.01$
0.1% BL	$0.50^{aAx}\pm0.00$	$14.95^{aAyX}\pm0.35$	$1.97^{aAyY}\pm0.04$	$20.45^{aAzX}\pm0.49$	$2.71^{aAyY}\pm0.37$
0.5%BL	$0.50^{aAx}\pm0.00$	$16.67^{\text{bAyX}}\pm0.23$	$3.00^{bAyY}\pm0.00$	$19.46^{aAzX}\pm0.21$	$3.16^{aAyY}\pm0.34$
0.1% MD	$0.49^{aBx}\pm0.00$	$15.39^{aAyX}\pm0.21$	$5.26^{aByY}\pm0.04$	$21.78^{aAzX}\pm0.00$	$6.80^{aBzX}\pm0.09$
0.5% MD	$1.97^{\mathrm{bBx}}\pm0.01$	$15.86^{aByX}\pm0.20$	$7.88^{\rm bByY}\pm0.05$	$21.75^{aBzX}\pm0.35$	$9.00^{bBzY}\pm0.35$
0.1% O	$0.49^{aCx}\pm0.01$	$16.42^{abcYx}\pm0.11$	$3.56^{aCyY}\pm0.36$	$21.75^{aAzX}\pm1.06$	$4.70^{aCyY}\pm0.35$
0.5% O	$1.22^{bCx} \pm 0.34$	$13.17^{bCyX} \pm 0.09$	$4.21^{aCyY}\pm0.41$	$20.50^{aAzX}\pm0.00$	$5.17^{aCyY} \pm 0.38$

Table 5. Average values of the peroxide value \pm SD in cold-pressed linseed oil with the addition of different essential oils and different concentrations (light to dark)

a – b Different lowercase letters in rows indicate statistically significant differences between linseed oil samples, regarding the concentration of added essential oil; A – C Different capital letters in the rows indicate statistically significant differences between the linseed oil samples, regarding the type of added essential oil; x – z Different lowercase letters in the columns show statistically significant differences between the linseed oil samples, regarding the storage time; X – Y Different capital letters in columns show statistically significant differences between linseed oil samples, regarding storage conditions (light or dark)

According to the results shown in the previous table, it can be stated that the peroxide values on the base samples (initial analysis) are in accordance with the Regulation on Vegetable Oils, Edible Vegetable Fats and Mayonnaise [25], where the highest value compared to the base sample (0.49 mmol O2/kg) was the sample with the addition of thyme essential oil in the amount of 0.5% (1.97 mmol O2/kg). The best protection against oxidative deterioration was shown by the samples with the addition of garlic essential oil in both concentrations (0.1% and 0.5%), with the 0.5% concentration slightly better for the oil stored in the light for 30 days (19.46 mmol O2/kg), and 0.1% for oil stored in the dark (2.71 mmol O2/kg). All samples stored in the light, except the base sample, after 15 days of storage, had significantly higher values than the initial ones, which means that the essential oils used did not show antioxidant properties. However, all antioxidant-supplemented samples stored in the dark showed some protection against oxidative deterioration even after 30 days, although the values were slightly higher than those of the base samples (initial analysis). In addition, the sample with the addition of thyme essential oil in the amount of 0.5% (9.00 mmol O2/kg) had the highest peroxide value, while the sample with the addition of thyme essential oil at a concentration of 0.1% had slightly lower value (6.80 mmol O₂/kg) and better antioxidant properties.

In the case of samples stored in the dark with the addition of the essential oil of oregano, the sample with the added concentration of 0.1% (4.70 mmol O2/kg) had better protection against oxidative deterioration, compared to the concentration of 0.5% (5.17 mmol O2/kg). However, the mentioned differences are not statistically significant. Odeh et al. [23] report in their research the peroxide values for linseed oil with the addition of herbs before and during storage. Linseed oil with the addition of essential oil of oregano shows values for the initial analysis of 2.46 mmol O2/kg, and after 60 days of storage, the peroxide value was less than 1.5 mmol O2/kg. This means that oregano has strong antioxidant properties and good stability, as well as a long oil storage time in suitable storage conditions. Also, Odeh et al. [23] state that oxidative spoilage occurs due to inadequate oil storage conditions (high temperature, daylight, ionizing radiation and the presence of heavy metals Cu and Fe) which could be supported by the results of our own research, shown in Table 5. Stanković [38] determined in her research that using essential oil (winter sayoury, oregano, thyme and basil), with the addition of 0.05%, there is a decrease in the peroxide value in apricot kernel oil after 25 min of microwave heating compared to the base sample. This means that the examined essential oils possess antioxidant properties and show protection against oxidative deterioration. In her work, Stokić [39] obtained similar initial peroxide values in oil without the addition of antioxidants (0.41 mmol O2/kg), similar to the one in this research. The peroxide value of the same sample as well as samples with added antioxidants (BHA, BHT, PG and α -tocopherol) increased during the 96 h of the test, which proves that not all antioxidants necessarily improve the oxidative stability of the oil [38].

3.3 Principal Component Analysis (PCA) of Fatty Acid Composition and Chemical Parameters

The analysis of the main components was carried out on the basis of a correlation matrix in which 28 parameters were included for four groups of linseed oil samples (base, with the addition of essential oils of oregano, thyme and oregano). For the analysis of the main components, the contents and ratios of the following fatty acids were used as variables C8:0, C10:0, C12:0, C14:0, C15:0, C16:0, C17:0, C18:0, C20:0, C14:1, C16:1, C17:1, C18:1, C22:1, C18:2, C18:3, C18:4, C20:4, SFA,

MUFA, PUFA, PUFA/SFA, MUFA/SFA, n-6/n-3, moisture content, insoluble impurities content, free fatty acids content and peroxide value. The first two components, which are the result of testing the composition of fatty acids and chemical parameters of linseed oil without and with the addition of essential oils contained 79.28% of the total variance, namely the first 43.96% and the second 35.32%, which indicates that the examined parameters were well chosen. The cumulative variance for the four principal components was 94.30%. It can be seen from the graph that octane fatty acid (C8:0) was highly positively correlated with C16:0, C18:1, MUFA and MUFA/SFA. A significant positive correlation was found between the peroxide value, the content of insoluble impurities, C14:0, C20:4 and PUFA. Also, there was a very high positive correlation of fatty acids C12:0, C15:0, C17:0, C18:4, C18:3, C22:1, C18:0, C17:1, C20:0 with moisture content and of free fatty acids. A high correlation was found between C14:1, C16:1 and SFA content, and all mentioned fatty acids were significantly negatively correlated with C18:2 content, PUFA/SFA and n-6/n-3 ratios. From the graph it can be seen that the samples of linseed oil with the addition of garlic oil were positioned in relation to the content of C8:0, C16:0, C18:1, MUFA and the MUFA/SFA ratios that were characteristic of them (blue color of the ellipsoid). The base sample of linseed oil without additives separated into a separate quadrant (purple color of the ellipsoid). The content of moisture, free fatty acids, C12:0, C17:0, C18:0 and C17:1 were characteristic for samples of linseed oil with the addition of essential oil of oregano (red color of the ellipsoids). The samples of linseed oil with the addition of essential oil of thyme were positioned in a



Fig. 1. The plot of principal component analysis of the composition of fatty acids and chemical parameters of linseed oil without and with the addition of essential oils (*Kon – Control; BL – a sample with the addition of garlic; MD - a sample with the addition of thyme; O - a sample with the addition of oregano; PN - peroxide value; FFA- free fatty acids*)

separate quadrant (pink color of the ellipsoid), where the content of insoluble impurities, C14:0, C20:4 and peroxide values were characteristic for the sample of linseed oil with the addition of 0.5% of the mentioned essential oil. On the other hand, the characteristic content of C18:2, C10:0 and values of the ratio between PUFA/SFA and n-6/n-3 acids had a sample of linseed oil with the addition of thyme essential oil in the amount of 0.1% (Fig. 1).

4 Conclusion

The chlorophyll content determined in the base sample of linseed oil (1.85 mg/kg) corresponds to literature data, but compared to the results of other authors, the carotenoid content (13.50 mg/kg) is slightly higher, and the phenol content (381.51mg/ kg GAE) differs both in this and in other studies. Variations in the content of total phenols in linseed oil can be explained by the fact that the chemical composition of plant materials is influenced by a number of factors that can change them. With the addition of essential oils and in higher concentrations, the value of the content of moisture and insoluble impurities increases. In all tested samples, the average content of saturated fatty acids had significantly lower values (9.68%), compared to the average content of unsaturated fatty acids (84.5%), of which polyunsaturated fatty acids were dominant (68.2%). The content of linolenic acid increased with the addition of different essential oils, and the sample with the addition of oregano in the amount of 0.1% (50.00%) had the highest value. The high content of linolenic acid resulted in a low n-6/n-3 ratio, which averaged 0.4%. The content of free fatty acids in all tested samples was within the allowed values. After the 15th day of storage, it was lower both in the light and in the dark, and after the 30th day of storage, it also increased in all samples. There was no significant difference compared to the initial results. In the initial analyses, the linseed oil samples had appropriate peroxide values (0.49-1.97 mmol O2/kg). All samples kept in the light, except for the base one, after the 15th day had peroxide values that were significantly higher compared to the initial ones. All oil samples, stored in the dark with the addition of different essential oils and concentrations, had certain antioxidant properties and better stability even after 30 days of storage. Based on the obtained results, we can state that the applied essential oils have an antioxidant effect and a beneficial effect in terms of improving the stability of edible vegetable oils. Analyses performed only on one sample of vegetable oil with the addition of different essential oils and in different concentrations, showed that it is possible to make a new and/or similar product (without the application of new technologies), which would satisfy all parameters not only of the quality of the oil but also of its organoleptic properties. We have these or similar products on the market today, but it is important to apply their different concentrations that will positively or negatively indicate how and to what extent they affect the nutritional properties on the one hand and the health aspect on the other. Regarding the health aspect, research should be continued and focused on a special phase of testing, in order to establish the concentration of the very important toxic substance pulegone, which is present in almost all essential oils and causes the appearance of allergies and a negative effect on the liver and nervous system.

References

- Czech, A., Stachyra, K., Ognik, K., Klebaniuk, R.: Composition and characteristics of linseed. The use of flax and inulin in nutrition and food production - Modern trends in food production on the background of the sustainable development of rural areas. In: 5th International Scientific Conference, pp. 13–33 (2012)
- Čorbo, S.: Tehnologija ulja i masti. Poljoprivredno-prehrambeni fakultet Univerziteta u Sarajevu (2008)
- Begić, M., Nezirević-Nizić, E., Čorbo, S., Podrug, S., Ašimović, Z., Muminović, Š: Fatty Acid Composition and Stability of Cold-Pressed Vegetable Oils. In: Brka, M., Omanović-Mikličanin, E., Karić, L., Falan, V., Toroman, A. (eds.) AgriConf 2019. IP, vol. 78, pp. 303– 312. Springer, Cham (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-40049-1_39
- 4. Dimić, E.: Hladno ceđena ulja. Tehnološki Fakultet Novi Sad (2005)
- Bakkali, F., Averbeck, S., Averbeck, D., Idaomar, M.: Biological effects of essential oils -A review. Food Chem. Toxicol. 46(2), 446–475 (2008). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fct.2007. 09.106
- 6. Härtig, C.: Rapid identification of fatty acid methyl esters using a multidimensional gas chromatography-mass spectrometry database. J. Chromatogr. A 1(1177), 159–169 (2008)
- 7. ISO 663: Animal and vegetable fats and oils-Determination of insoluble impurities content (1992)
- 8. ISO 662: Animal and vegetable fats and oils-Determination of moisture and volatile matter content (1992)
- 9. ISO-International standard of animal and vegetable oils and fats: Determination of acid value and of acidity, ISO Geneve, Switzerland, 6858 (2003)
- 10. ISO-International standard of animal and vegetable oils and fats: Determination of peroxide value, ISO, Geneve, Switzerland, 3960 (2001)
- 11. British standard methods (BSM) of analysis: Determination of carotene in vegetable oils, B.S 684, section 2.20 (1977)
- Pokorny, J., Kalinova, L., Dysseler, P.: Determination of chlorophyll pigments in crude vegetable oils. Pure Appl. Chem. 67(10), 1781–1787 (1995)
- 13. Ough, C.S., Amerine, M.A.: Methods for Analysis of Musts and Wines. Wiley, Second Edition, New York (1988)
- 14. Hammer, Ø., Harper, D.A.T., Ryan, P.D.: PAST: paleontological statistics software package for education and data analysis. Palaeontol. Electron. **4**(1), 1–9 (2001)
- Abd-El-hady, M.A.M., Elsorady, M.E.I.: Effect of sprouting on chemical, fatty acid composition, antioxidants and antinutrients of flaxseeds. Asian Food Sci. J. 19(1), 40–51 (2020). https://doi.org/10.9734/afsj/2020/v19i130231
- Tuberoso, C.I.G., Kowalczyk, A., Sarritzu, E., Cabras, P.: Determination of antioxidant compounds and antioxidant activity in commercial oilseeds for food use. Food Chem. 103(4), 1494–1501 (2007). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem.2006.08.014
- Suri, K., Singh, B., Kaur, A., Yadav, M. P., Singh, N.: Influence of microwave roasting on chemical composition, oxidative stability and fatty acid composition of flaxseed (*Linum usitatissimum* L.) oil. Food Chemistry 326: 126974 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foodchem. 2020.126974
- Obranović, M., et al.: Influence of climate, varieties and production process on tocopherols, plastochromanol-8 and pigments in flaxseed oil. Food Technol. Biotechnol. 53(4), 496–504 (2015). https://doi.org/10.17113/ftb.53.04.15.4252
- Zhang, Z.S., Wang, L.J., Li, D., Li, S.J., Özkan, N.: Characteristics of flaxseed oil from two different flax plants. Int. J. Food Prop. 14(6), 1286–1296 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1080/109 42911003650296

- Deme, T., Haki, G.D., Retta, N., Woldegiorgis, A., Geleta, M.: Fatty acid profile, total phenolic content, and antioxidant activity of niger seed (*Guizotia abyssinica*) and Linseed (*Linum usitatissimum*). Front. Nutr. 8, 674882 (2021). https://doi.org/10.3389/fnut.2021.674882
- Choo, W.S., Birch, J., Dufour, J.P.: Physicochemical and quality characteristics of coldpressed flaxseed oils. J. Food Compos. Anal. 20(3–4), 202–211 (2007). https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.jfca.2006.12.002
- Kiralan, M., Çalik, G., Kiralan, S., Özaydin, A., Özkan, G., Ramadan, M.F.: Stability and volatile oxidation compounds of grape seed, flax seed and black cumin seed cold-pressed oils as affected by thermal oxidation. Grasas Aceites **70**(1), e295 (2019). https://doi.org/10.3989/ gya.0570181
- Odeh, D., Kraljić, K., Benussi Skukan, A., Škevin, D.: Oxidative Stability, Microbial Safety and Sensory Properties of Flaxseed (*Linum usitatissimum* L.) Oil Infused with Spices and Herbs. Antioxidants 10, 785 (2021). https://doi.org/10.3390/antiox10050785
- Perry, J., Hao, Z., Luther, M., Su, L., Zhou, K., Yu, L.: Characterization of cold-pressed onion, parsley, cardamom, mullein, roasted pumpkin, and milk thistle seed oils. J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc. 83(10), 847–854 (2006)
- 25. Regulation on Vegetable Oils, Edible Vegetable Fats and Mayonnaise (Official Gazette, BiH, No. 21/11)
- Biondić, A.: Utjecaj hladnog prešanja i antioksidanasa na proizvodnju i stabilnost lanenog ulja. Završni rad. Veleučilište u Požegi (2018)
- 27. Radanović, T.: Utjecaj antioksidansa na održivost ulja smeđeg lana. Diplomski rad. Sveučilište Josipa Jurja Strossmayera u Osijeku, Prehrambeno-tehnološki fakultet Osijek (2019)
- Kostadinovic-Velickovska, S., Mitrev, S.: Characterization of fatty acid profile, polyphenolic content and antioxidant activity of cold pressed and refined edible oils from Macedonia. J. Food Chem. Nutrition 1(1), 16–21 (2013)
- Lewinska, A., Zebrowski, J., Duda, M., Gorka, A., Wnuk, M.: Fatty Acid Profile and biological activities of linseed and rapeseed oils. Molecules 20(12), 22872–22880 (2015). https://doi. org/10.3390/molecules201219887
- UK Department of Health: Nutritional aspects of cardiovascular disease. Report on Health and Social Subject No. 46. Her Majestys Stationery Office, London (1994)
- Wood, J.D., et al.: Effects of fatty acids on meat quality: a review. Meat Sci. 66(1), 21–32 (2004). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0309-1740(03)00022-6
- Wood, J.D., et al.: Fat deposition, fatty acid composition and meat quality: a review. Meat Sci. 78(4), 343–358 (2008). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.meatsci.2007.07.019
- Simopoulos, A.P.: Omega-6/Omega-3 essential fatty acid ratio and chronic diseases. Food Rev. Intl. 20(1), 77–90 (2004)
- Simopoulos, P.A.: The importance of the ratio of omega-6/omega-3 essential fatty acids. Biomed. Pharmacother. 56, 365–379 (2002)
- Savva, S.C., Kafatos, A.: Vegetable Oils: Dietary Importance. Encyclopedia of Food and Health, pp. 365–372 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1016/b978-0-12-384947-2.00709-1
- Grajzer, M., Szmalcel, K., Kuzminski, L., Witkowski, M., Kulma, A., Prescha, A.: Characteristics and antioxidant potential of cold-pressed oils-possible strategies to improve oil stability. Foods 9, 11 (2020). https://doi.org/10.3390/foods9111630
- Herchi, W., Sakouhi, F., Boukhchina, S., Kallel, H., Pepe, C.: Changes in fatty acids, tocochromanols, carotenoids and chlorophylls content during flaxseed development. J. Am. Oil Chemists' Soc. 88(7), 1011–1017 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11746-010-1750-3
- 38. Stanković, J.: Utjecaj mikrovalnog zagrijavanja i dodatka antioksidanasa na oksidacijsku stabilnost hladno prešanog ulja iz koštice marelice. Diplomski rad. Sveučilište Josipa Jurja Strossmayera u Osijeku, Prehrambeno-tehnološki fakultet Osijek (2015)
- Stokić, D.: Praćenje održivosti biljnog ulja s dodatkom antioksidansa primjenom Schall- Oven testa. Završni rad. Veleučilište u Požegi (2017)



Identification of Anthocyanins and Anthocyanin-Derivatives in Vranec Wines During Aging

Violeta Ivanova-Petropulos¹(⊠), Dragan Nikolić², Borimir Vojnoski³, and Isidro Hermosín-Gutiérrez⁴

¹ Faculty of Agriculture, Goce Delcev University, Stip, Krste Misirkov, 10A, 2000 Stip, Republic of North Macedonia

violeta.ivanova@ugd.edu.mk

 ² Faculty of Agriculture, University of Belgrade, Nemanjina 6, 11080 Belgrade-Zemun, Serbia
 ³ Department of Enology, Institute of Agriculture, University "Ss. Cyril and Methodius", Arhimedova 5, 1000 Skopje, Republic of North Macedonia

⁴ Instituto Regional de Investigación Científica Aplicada (IRICA), Escuela de Ingenieros Agrónomos, Universidad de Castilla-La Mancha, Ronda de Calatrava 7, 13071 Ciudad Real,

Spain

Abstract. This study aimed to characterization of anthocvanins (3-monoglucosides, 3-acetylglucosides, and 3-coumaroylglucosides), pyranoanthocyanins and hydroxyphenyl-pyranoanthocyanins in Vranec wines during aging of three years. The HPLC-DAD-ESI-MSⁿ technique was applied for identification of anthocyanins and derived stable pigments pyranoanthocyanins. All anthocyanins presented mass spectra characterized with two signals, molecular ion M⁺ and fragment ions [M-162]⁺, [M-204]⁺ and [M-308]⁺ resulting from elimination of glucose, acetylglucose and p-coumaroylglucose moieties, respectively. From the group of pyranoanthocyanins, A-type and B-type vitisins, as well as hydroxyphenyl-pyranoanthocyanins have been determined according to their molecular ions (M⁺) and characteristic fragments.

Keywords: anthocyanins \cdot pyranoanthocyanins \cdot hydroxyphenyl-pyranoanthocyanins \cdot Vranec wine \cdot HPLC-DAD-ESI-MSⁿ

1 Introduction

Colour of wine is one of the most important sensorial attribute, firstly perceived by the consumers. Anthocyanins are the responsible colored compounds, synthesized in the skins of red grape berries and transformed to the wine. The main anthocyanins in *Vitis vinifera* L. grape varieties are delphinidin, cyanidin, petunidin, peonidin and malvidin in a form of 3-*O*-glucosides, 3-*O*-acetylglucosides, 3-*O*-p-coumroylglucosides [1, 2]. Among all them, derivatives of malvidin are the most abundant colored compounds in red grapes and wines.

I. Hermosín-Gutiérrez—In memoriam.

When maceration will start, anthocyanins are the first compounds which are extracted from red grape skins, reaching maximum levels after few days of maceration (usually 3 to 4 days). Afterwards, their content is followed with decreasing during the end of fermentation, stabilization and storage of wine. It has been determined that there are many reasons for decrease of anthocyanin's content, including their adsorption on yeast cell walls, coprecipitation with proteins and tartarates, participation in various chemical reactions in which new and stable compounds are formed. Moreover, their content decreases during filtration and finning process [3, 4]. In particular, anthocyanins participate in formation of anthocyanin-derived pigments during wine storage and ageing, and thus, contribute to a progressive change of the red-purple colour towards a more red-orange colour, especially evident during aging. In fact, anthocyanins participate in cycloaddition reaction at the O-5 and C-4 positions with fermentation metabolites and other grape and wine phenolic compounds [5–7], forming new stable anthocyanin-derived pigments, and named pyranoanthocyanins. This group includes vitisins, hydroxyphenyl-pyranoanthocyanins and flavanyl-pyranoanthocyanins, playing an important role in colour stabilization and sensory properties [7–10].

In the past decades, different techniques have been used for analysis of pigments and studying their structure, such as high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) and ultrahigh-performance liquid chromatography (UPLC) coupled to diode array detection (DAD) and/or mass spectrometry (MS) [1–8, 11], matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization-time of flight-mass spectrometry (MALDI-TOF-MS) [12, 13], nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR). Recently, high performance liquid chromatography combined with low-field drift tube ion mobility time-of-flight mass spectrometry (HPLCxIMS-TOFMS) was used for characterization and fingerprinting of Macedonian red wines [14].

In this study, the focus of the work was set on the identification and quantification of individual anthocyanins and pyranoanthocyanins, the most important compounds which determine the wine colour and stability. For that purpose, wines produced from Vranec variety, the most widespread and important grape variety for Macedonia and for the Balkans, characterized with deep red colour, have been analyzed with HPLC coupled to DAD and ESI-MS (Ion Trap) in order to identify and investigate the changes of pigments during wine aging.

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Chemicals and Reagents

Commercial standard of malvidin 3-glucoside was purchased from Phytolab (Vestenbergsgreuth, Germany). Standards of pyranoathocyanins, including vitisin A or 10-carboxy-pyranomalvidin-3-glucoside, pinotin A or 10-(4'''-monohydroxyphenyl)-pyanomalvidin-3-glucoside and 10-(3''', 4'''-dihydroxyphenyl)-pyranomalvidin-3-glucoside, have been isolated in laboratory conditions [6]. All other solvents used were of HPLC quality and purity (> 99%) and all chemicals of analytical grade (p.a). Water used for analyses was of Milli-Q quality.

2.2 Wine Samples

Red wine samples from Vranec V. vinifera L. variety (vintages: 2006, 2007 and 2008) were kindly provided by Tikveš Winery, Kavadarci. Wines from the three vintages have been produced by same winemaking protocol in triplicates. Thus, harvested grapes (maturity of 22 to 24 °Brix) were processed with electrical inox crusher/destemmer, then supplemented with SO₂ (ca. 60 mg/L total concentration), and after few hours, *Saccharomyces cerievisiae* yeast was inoculated to start the alcoholic fermentation. Maceration time of 8–10 days at 23 ± 2 C was applied, with pumping over and delastage once to two times per day. Wines produced with the same technological treatment, from three tanks were mixed in order to obtain representative samples for analysis.

2.3 HPLC-DAD-ESI-MSⁿ Analysis

Analyses of pigments have been performed with instrumentation supplied by Agilent: An Agilent 1100 Series system (Agilent, Germany) coupled to DAD (G1315B) and a LC/MSD Trap VL (G2445C VL) electrospray ionization mass spectrometry (ESI-MS^{*n*}) system. An Agilent ChemStation (version B.01.03) software was used for data processing and Agilent LC/MS Trap software (version 5.3) was used for mass spectra processing. Before analyses, wines were diluted with 0.1 M HCl solution (1:4, *V/V*), filtrated (0.20 μ m, polyester membrane, Chromafil PET 20/25, Macherey-Nägel, Düren, Germany) and then were injected into the HPLC system. Separation of the analytes was performed on a Zorbax Eclipse XDB-C18 column (250 × 4.6 mm; 5 μ m particle size; Agilent, Germany) at 40 °C. The mobile phase consisted of solvent A: water/acetonitrile/formic acid (87:3:10, *V/V/V*, solvent A) and solvent B: water/acetonitrile/formic acid (40:50:10, *V/V/V*), at flow rate of 0.63 mL/min. Proportions of solvent B were as follows: 0 min, 6%; 15 min, 30%; 30 min, 50%; 35 min, 60%; 38 min, 60%; 46 min, 6% [3].

Identification of pigments was performed in a positive ionization mode. Nitrogen was the drying gas (flow rate of 11 L/min), the drying temperature was set at 350 °C, the pressure of the nebulizer was 65 psi, the capillary at 2500 V, capillary exit offset at 70 V, skimmer 1 at 20 V; skimmer 2 of 6 V and the compound stability at 100%. The mass spectra were recorded in m/z range of 50–1200. DAD chromatograms were recorded at 520 nm [3].

2.4 Statistical Analyses

XLSTAT software, version 7.5.2, Addinsoft (Paris, France) was used for calculation of means, standard deviation and relative standard deviation. Each wine was analyzed in three replicates.

3 Results and Discussion

3.1 Identification of Anthocyanins and Anthocyanin-Derivatives

Identification of individual anthocyanins and anthocyanin-derivatives in Vranec wines (vintage 2006, 2007 and 2008) was performed with HPLC–DAD–ESI-MS^{*n*} technique. In total, 25 pigments were determined, including 14 anthocyanins, 5 pyranoanthocyanins and 6 hydroxyphenyl-pyranoanthocyanins. Identification of analyte peaks was performed comparing the UV/Vis spectra and the retention times of compounds for which standards were available. Moreover, obtained ESI-MS and MS/MS data were compared with those found in the relevant literature [5–10]. Table 1 contains the data for the molecular and fragment ions of the identified compounds.

Pigments	MS (m/z)	MS/MS (m/z)
Anthocyanins	M ⁺	Fragment ion
3-O-glucosides		
Delphinidin-3-glucoside	465	303
Cyanidin-3- glucoside	449	287
Petunidin-3- glucoside	479	317
Peonidin-3- glucoside	463	301
Malvidin-3- glucoside	493	331
3-O-Acetylglucosides		
Delphinidin -3-acetylglucoside	507	303
Petunidin -3- acetylglucoside	521	317
Peonidin -3- acetylglucoside	505	301
Malvidin -3- acetylglucoside	535	331
3-O-p-Coumaroylglucosides		
Delphinidin -3-p- coumaroylglucoside	611	303
Cyanidin -3- p-coumaroylglucoside	595	287
Petunidin -3- p-coumaroylglucoside	625	317
Peonidin -3- p-coumaroylglucoside	609	301
Malvidin - p-coumaroylglucoside	639	331
Pyranoanthocyanins		
Vitisins		
Vitisin A	561	399
Acetyl-vitisin A	603	399
<i>p</i> -Coumaroyl-vitisin A	707	399

Table 1. MS identification of colored compounds in Vranec wines.

(continued)

Pigments	MS (m/z)	MS/MS (m/z)
Vitisin-B	517	355
Acetyl-vitisin-B	559	355
Hydroxyphenyl-pyranoanthocyanins	· ·	
10-DHP- pyranomalvidin -3- glucoside (pinotin A)	625	463
10-DHP- pyranomalvidin -3- acetylglucoside	667	463
10-DHP- pyranomalvidin -3- p-coumaroylglucoside	771	463
10-MHP- pyranomalvidin -3- glucoside	609	447
10-MHP- pyranomalvidin -3- acetylglucoside	651	447
10-MHP- pyranomalvidin -3- p-coumaroylglucoside	755	447
ALL		10 MUD 10

 Table 1. (continued)

Abbreviations: 10-DHP: 10-(3^{'''}, 4^{'''}-dihydroxyphenyl); 10-MHP: 10-(4^{'''}-monohydroxyphenyl)

Anthocyanins. In total, 14 anthocyanins were identified in analyzed Vranec wines, present in a form of 3-O-glucosides, 3-O-acetylglucosides and 3-O-p-coumaroylglucosides of delphinidin, cyanidin, petunidin, peonidin and malvidin. Identification was based on two characteristic signals, molecular ion M^+ and aglycone fragments $[M-162]^+$, $[M-204]^+$ and $[M-308]^+$ as a result of elimination of a glucose moiety, acetylglucoside group and p-coumaroylglucoside group, respectively [1-3].

Pyranoanthocyanins. Pyranoanthocyanins are formed in a reaction of cycloaddition between anthocyanins and pyruvic acid, caffeic acid, and *p*-coumaric acid. These compounds are called 10-carboxy-pyrano-anthocyanins or A-type vitisins [10]. In this study, three A-type vitisins have been identified in wines, as follows: vitisn A (10-carboxy-pyranomalvidin-3-glucoside), acetyl-vitisin A (10carboxy-pyranomalvidin-3-acetylglucoside) and *p*-coumaroyl-vitisin A (10-carboxypyranomalvidin-3-*p*-coumaroylglucoside). These three compounds show same characteristic fragment ([M + H]⁺ = m/z 399) which corresponds to 10-carboxypyranomalvidin aglycone [3]. Thus, the mass spectrum of vitisin A contains the molecular ion M⁺ at m/z 561 and fragment ion at m/z 399, resulting from the loss of glucose. The mass spectra of acetylvitisin A and coumaroylvitisin A show M⁺ at m/z 603 and 707, respectively, and fragment ions at m/z 399, as a result of the elimination of acetyland *p*-coumaroyl groups, respectively.

B-type vitisins are formed in a cycloaddition reaction between anthocyanins and acetaldehyde. In this study, following B-type vitisins were identified: vitisin B (pyranomalvidin-3-glucoside) with molecular signal M⁺ at m/z 517 and fragment ion at m/z 355 by loss of glucoside (162 Da) and acetyl-vitisin B (pyranomalvidin-3-acetylglucoside) with molecular signal M⁺ at m/z 559 and fragment ion at m/z 355 by loss of acetylgucoside (204 Da) [3, 15]. Fragmentation of vitisin A and vitisin B is presented in Fig. 1.

Hydroxyphenyl-Pyranoanthocyanins. Hydroxyphenyl-pyranoanthocyanins are compounds form in a reaction of caffeic acid and anthocyanins. In this study,



Fig. 1. MS/MS fragmentation of vitisin A (a) and vitisin B (b).

three hydroxyphenyl-pyranoanthocyanins have been determined, observing molecular ions at m/z 625, 667 and 771 and identified as 10-(3''', 4'''-dihydroxyphenyl)-pyranomalvidin-3-glucoside (known as pinotin A) [6], 10-(3''', 4'''-dihydroxyphenyl)-pyranomalvidin-3-acetylglucoside and 10-(3''', 4'''-dihydroxyphenyl)-pyranomalvidin-3-p-coumaroylglucoside, respectively. MS/MS fragmentation of molecular ions gave fragment ion at m/z 463 corresponding on elimination of glucose, acetylglucoside and p-coumaroylglucoside groups, respectively [15].

Moreover, compounds originated in a reaction of *p*-coumaric acid and anthocyanins are called hydroxyphenyl-pyranoanthocyanins. MS/MS analysis of Vranec wines showed presence of molecular ions at m/z 609, 651 and 755, which were identified as 10-(4^{'''}-monohydroxyphenyl) derivatives of pyranomalvidin-3-glucoside, pyranomalvidin-3-acetylglucoside and pyranomalvidin-3-*p*-coumaroylglucoside, respectively, all producing fragment ion at m/z 447 [15].

3.2 Influence of Aging on Pigments Content

Table 2 summarize the data for the individual anthocyanins, pyranoanthocyanins and hydroxyphenyl-pyranoanthocyanins quantified in Vranec wine. Quantitative analysis of pigments was performed on a basis of peak area calculations in the HPLC-DAD chromatograms which were recorded at 520 nm. UV/Vis chromatogram of one Vranec wine is presented in Fig. 2.

Malvidin derivatives were present in highest content in wines, as it was expected. Thus, malvidin-3-glucoside was the main anthocyanin in wines from all three years of production (47.6 to 50.2%, on a molar basis), regardless the year of production, as it is already known for most of the *V. vinifera* cultivars, followed by petunidin-3-glucoside (10.6 to 14%, on a molar basis), whereas the cyanidin-3-glucoside (1.03 to 2.34%, on a molar basis) was present in lowest content in all wines (Table 2). Obtained results were in accordance to previous work focused on phenolic analysis of Macedonian red wines [4].

With regards to pyranoanthocyanins, vitisin A was the dominant compound in all wines, present in a relatively high amount (39.5 to 69%), followed by acetyl-vitisin A

Table 2. Content of **a**nthocyanins, pyranoanthocyanins and hydroxyphenyl-pyranoanthocyanins in Vranec wines from three vintages (2006, 2007 and 2008) (molar % of each compound in its group and total content of each group of compounds in mg/L).

Compounds/Vintage	Vranec wines								
	2006		2007	2008					
Anthocyanins									
Delphinidin-3-glucoside	10.9 ± 0.08		7.38 ± 0.04	6.69 ± 0.04					
Cyanidin-3- glucoside	2.34 ± 0.02		2.09 ± 0.02	1.03 ± 0.01					
Petunidin-3- glucoside	14.0 ± 0.11		10.6 ± 0.10	10.9 ± 0.09					
Peonidin-3- glucoside	10.1 ± 0.09		9.34 ± 0.08	8.10 ± 0.08					
Malvidin-3- glucoside	47.6 ± 0.39		50.2 ± 0.42	48.7 ± 0.45					
Delphinidin -3-acetylglucoside	2.51 ± 0.02		1.74 ± 0.02	1.12 ± 0.01					
Petunidin -3- acetylglucoside	0.47 ± 0.01		0.93 ± 0.01	1.54 ± 0.01					
Peonidin -3- acetylglucoside	0.71 ± 0.01		1.14 ± 0.01	1.47 ± 0.01					
Malvidin -3- acetylglucoside	3.13 ± 0.02		5.54 ± 0.04	7.24 ± 0.06					
Delphinidin -3- <i>p</i> - coumaroylglucoside	0.65 ± 0.01		0.66 ± 0.01	0.92 ± 0.01					
Cyanidin -3- <i>p</i> -coumaroylglucoside	0.65 ± 0.01		0.73 ± 0.01	0.78 ± 0.01					
Petunidin -3- <i>p</i> -coumaroylglucoside	0.82 ± 0.01		0.75 ± 0.01	1.41 ± 0.01					
Peonidin -3- <i>p</i> -coumaroylglucoside	1.62 ± 0.01		2.20 ± 0.02	2.40 ± 0.02					
Malvidin - <i>p</i> -coumaroylglucoside	4.57 ± 0.03		6.80 ± 0.05	7.64 ± 0.06					
Total anthocyanins*	16.1 ± 0.2		53.6 ± 0.6	508 ± 6.2					
Vitisins									
Vitisin A	69.0 ± 0.58		59.7 ± 0.52	39.5 ± 0.36					
Acetyl-vitisin A	12.6 ± 0.11		16.4 ± 0.14	19.7 ± 0.17					
p-Coumaroyl-vitisin A	11.5 ± 0.12		14.9 ± 0.16	12.6 ± 0.14					
Vitisin B	6.67 ± 0.05		8.82 ± 0.07	28.4 ± 0.24					
Acetyl-vitisin-B	< LOD		< LOD	< LOD					
Total vitisins**	6.94 ± 0.06		15.5 ± 0.13	53.1 ± 0.57					
Hydroxyphenyl-pyranoanthocyanins									
10-DHP- pyranomalvidin -3- glucoside (pinotin A)		45.5 ± 0.45	38.1 ± 0.30	25.4 ± 0.26					
10-DHP- pyranomalvidin -3- a	< LOD	10.8 ± 0.18	< LOD						
10-DHP- pyranomalvidin -3- <i>p</i> -coumaroylglucoside		< LOD	< LOD	< LOD					
10-MHP- pyranomalvidin -3- glucoside		55.1 ± 0.52	38.2 ± 0.39	49.8 ± 0.46					
10-MHP- pyranomalvidin -3- acetylglucoside		< LOD	4.26 ± 0.05	11.5 ± 0.15					
10-MHP- pyranomalvidin -3- <i>p</i> -coumaroylglucoside		< LOD	9.07 ± 0.09	13.6 ± 0.14					

(continued)

Table 2. (<i>co</i>	ntinuea
-----------------------------	---------

Compounds/Vintag	e V	Vranec wines						
	2	2006			2007	2008		
Total HP-pyranoanthocyanins***			1.08 ± 0.03	3.59 ± 0.04	7.37 ± 0.07			
Abbreviations	10-DHP	10-(3'''	Δ	///-dihydroxyph	envl) 10-M	HP· 10-(4 ^{///} -		

monohydroxyphenyl).

*mg/L, as malvidin 3-glucoside; **mg/L, as vitisin-A; ***mg/L, pinotin A; Limit of detection (LOD): Mv-glc 0.640 mg/L.

All results are average values of three replicates \pm SD (standard deviation).



Fig. 2. UV-Vis chromatogram of Vranec wine sample (vintage 2007) recorded at 520 nm. **Abbreviations**: Dp: delphinidin; Cy: cyanidin; Pt: petunidin; Pn: peonidin; Mv: malvidin; glc: 3-glucoside; acglc: 3-(6"-acetyl)-glucoside; cmglc: 3-(6"-coumaroyl)-glucoside; 10-DHP: 10-(3", 4"'-dihydroxyphenyl); 10-MHP: 10-(4"'-monohydroxyphenyl); pymv: pyranomalvidin; vitisin A: 10-carboxy-pyrmv-3-glc; vitisin B: 10-H-pymv-3-glc; A-type vitisin: 10-carboxy-pyranoanthocyanins.

(12.6 to 19.7%) and *p*-coumaroyl-vitisin A (6.67 to 28.4%). Vitisin B ranged from 6.67 to 28.4%, on a molar basis, while acetyl-vitisn B was not quantified since it was detected below the limit of detection. Concerning the group of hydroxyphenyl-pyranoanthocyanins, 10-DHP-pyranomalvidin-3-glucoside (pinotin A) and 10-MHP-pyranomalvidin-3-glucoside ranged from 25.2 to 45.3% and 38 to 54.7%, respectively (Table 2), while 10-DHP-pyranomalvidin-3-*p*-coumaroylglucoside was present in a very low amount (lower than the determined limit of detection).

Regarding the influence of aging, it is well known that anthocyanin content in red wines declines constantly, as a results of various mechanisms, such as adsorption on yeast cell, oxidation, degradation, adsorption and precipitation with tartarates, proteins, polysaccharides or condensed tannins, as well as their participation in stable and complex anthocyanin derived pigments. In this view, it was observed that total anthocyanins were highest in wine produced in 2008 (508 mg/L), followed by intense reduction in wines from 2007 (53.6 mg/L) and 2006 (16.1 mg/L). Similar trend was observed for vitisins and

hydroxyphenyl-pyranoanthocyanins content. Highest amount was noticed in the wine sample produced in 2008 (53.1 mg/L total vitisins and 7.37 mg/L total hydroxyphenyl-pyranoanthocyanins), followed by reduction of their content in wines from 2007 and 2006 (Table 2). Generally, pyranoanthocyanins and hydroxyphenyl-pyranoanthocyanins are considered as important pigments in wine, which also decrease during aging, similarly as anthocyanins.

4 Conclusion

In this study, 25 pigments (anthocyanins and anthocyanin derivatives) have been identified and quantified in Vranec wines applying HPLC-DAD-ESI-MSⁿ technique. Malvidin-3-glucoside and its derivatives (3-acetylglucoside and 3-*p*coumaroylglucoside) were the major compounds in all analyzed wines. Vitisin A and 10-MHP-pyranomalvidin-3-glucoside were the dominant compounds in the group of derived pigments. Regarding the year of production, wine from vintage 2008 presented highest levels of all pigments analyzed. In general, anthocyanins dominated in all wines, regardless the year of production, followed by pyranoanthocyanins and hydroxyphenyl-pyranoanthocyanins.

References

- Ivanova, V., et al.: Polyphenolic content of Vranec wines produced by different vinification conditions. Food Chem. 124, 316–325 (2011)
- Ivanova, V., et al.: Identification of polyphenolic compounds in red and white grape varieties grown in R. Macedonia and changes of their content during ripening. Food Res. Int. 44(9), 2851–2869 (2011)
- 3. Ivanova-Petropulos, V., et al.: Phenolic compounds and antioxidant activity of Macedonian red wines. J. Food Compos. Anal. **41**, 1–14 (2015)
- Ivanova-Petropulos, V., Ricci, A., Nedelkovski, D., Dimovska, V., Parpinello, G.P., Versari, A.: Targeted analysis of bioactive phenolic compounds and antioxidant activity of Macedonian red wines. Food Chem. 171, 412–420 (2015)
- Marquez, A., Serratosa, M.P., Merida, J.: Pyranoanthocyanin derived pigments in wine: structure and formation during winemaking. J. Chem. 2013, 1–15 (2013). Article ID: 713028
- Blanco-Vega, D., Gómez-Alonso, S., Hermosín-Gutiérrez, I.: Identification, content and distribution of anthocyanins and low molecular weight anthocyanin-derived pigments in Spanish commercial red wines. Food Chem. 158, 449–458 (2014)
- 7. He, F., et al.: Anthocyanins and their variation in red wines II. Anthocyanin derived pigments and their color evolution. Molecules **17**(2), 1483–1519 (2012)
- 8. Bakker, J., Timberlake, C.F.: Isolation, identification and characterization of new color-stable anthocyanins occurring in some red wines. J. Agric. Food Chem. **45**, 35–43 (1997)
- Schwarz, M., Hofmann, G., Winterhalter, P.: Investigations on anthocyanins in wines from Vitis vinifera cv. Pinotage: factors influencing the formation of pinotin A and its correlation with wine age. J. Agric. Food Chem. 52(3), 498–504 (2004)
- Fulcrand, H., Cameira dos Santos, P.J., Sarni-Manchado, P., Cheynier, V., FavreBonvin, J.: Structure of new anthocyanin-derived wine pigments. J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. 1(7), 735– 739 (1996)

- Wang, Z., Zhang, L., Li, Y., Liu, Q., Yuan, C.: Non-acylated and acylated anthocynins in red wines of different ages: color contribution and evaluation. J. Food Compos. Anal. 115, 104951 (2023)
- Ivanova, V., et al.: Rapid MALDI-TOF-MS detection of anthocyanins in wine and grape using different matrices. Food Anal. Methods 4, 108–115 (2011). https://doi.org/10.1007/s12161-010-9143-7
- Ivanova Petropulos, V., et al.: Application of a novel small-scale sample cleanup procedure prior to MALDI-TOF-MS for rapid pigment fingerprinting of red wines. Food Anal. Methods 7, 820–827 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1007/s12161-013-9687-4
- Causon, T.J., Ivanova-Petropulos, V., Petrusheva, D., Bogeva, E., Hann, S.: Fingerprinting of traditionally produced red wines using liquid chromatography combined with drift tube ion mobility-mass spectrometry. Anal. Chim. Acta 1052, 179–189 (2019)
- Blanco-Vega, D., López-Bellido, F.J., Alía-Robledo, J.M., Hermosín-Gutiérrez, I.: HPLC– DAD–ESI-MS/MS characterization of pyranoanthocyanins pigments formed in model wine. J. Agric. Food Chem. 59, 9523–9531 (2011)



The Effect of Antioxidants on the Quality and Stability of Olive Oil

Sara Uglješa, Selma Čorbo , and Munevera Begić^(⊠) [™]

Faculty of Agriculture and Food Science, University of Sarajevo, Zmaja od Bosne 8, 71 000 Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina m.begic@ppf.unsa.ba

Abstract. Lipid oxidation is significant problem during the production, processing and using of edible oils, which causing an important changes in the chemical, sensory and nutritional properties. Antioxidants are used for preventing oxidation of the edible oils (natural and synthetic). Synthetic antioxidants are cheaper than natural ones, while natural antioxidants are safer than synthetic ones. In this work, the quality and oxidation stability of olive oil with and without the addition of natural and synthetic antioxidants, were investigated. The natural antioxidants that were used were immortelle, milk thistle and smoketree extracts, while the synthetic antioxidants were: propyl gallate (PG), butylhydroxyanisole (BHA) and butylhydroxytoluene (BHT). Four samples of olive oil were used for analysis. Different types of natural antioxidants were added with a concentration of 0.2%, while the concentration of synthetic antioxidants was 0.01%. The aim of this investigation was to monitor the influence of eleveted temperature on oil quality parameters, first of all peroxide value and acid value using the Schaal-Oven test in different time intervals for maximum 96 h. Analyses have shown that eleveted temperature has a significant influence on the change in oil quality, especially when it comes to the total acidity of the oil and the peroxide value, because there was an increase in this parameters. After completing the analysis of all tested samples, by monitoring the value of the peroxide value, the conclusion was that the antioxidants that had the most influence on reducing spoilage and improving the quality of the oil were smoketree extract from natural antioxidants and propyl gallate from synthetic antioxidants. In terms of acid value, immortelle and smoketree extracts have been shown to be good natural antioxidants, while butylhydroxytoluene has been shown to be a good synthetic antioxidant.

Keywords: olive oil · antioxidants · oil stability · peroxide value · acid value

1 Introduction

Since ancient times, olive oil has been used in the Mediterranean area, primarily for human consumption. Olive oil is rich in antioxidants, vitamins, and various nutrients, which is why many medicinal properties are attributed to it [1]. Olive oil is a functional food, whose nutritional properties have a positive effect on human health [2]. In addition to the high content of monounsaturated fatty acids, it contains biologically valuable
components, such as α -tocopherol, phenols, phytosterols, chlorophylls and carotenoids [3]. The method of processing, olive variety, the area of cultivation, the time of harvesting olives and the method of processing, have a great influence on the mentioned components. Therefore, the process of oxidation of vegetable oils is inevitable, and the duration of the process depends on the composition of the oil itself, and on the presence of factors that accelerate or slow down oxidation [1]. It can be slowed down and even prevented by the addition of antioxidants that can be found naturally in the oil, and the best-known natural antioxidants are tocopherols, polyphenols and phytosterols. Apart from them, carotenoids and chlorophylls, natural pigments found in oils, also play a role in preventing oxidation. The addition of natural antioxidants in the form of plant extracts, aims to increase the oxidative stability of vegetable oils. The antioxidant properties of natural antioxidants in the form of plant extracts, originate from the ability of components, especially phenols, to stop or delay the aerobic oxidation of organic matter. Olive oil is an important source of natural phenolic antioxidants. Phenols in olive oil are present more compared to other vegetable oils. Their presence in the oil, even in small quantities, significantly affects the oxidation stability of the oil. According to some authors, phenols are one of the most important factors that influence the oxidative stability of olive oil and are also the most responsible for the great resistance of olive oil to oxidation. They are represented in olive oil from 50 to 500 mg/kg [3]. Vegetable oils, especially olive oil, are a rich source of phytosterols, nutritionally valuable ingredients. Dietary intake of plant sterols reduces cholesterol absorption and lowers total and LDL plasma cholesterol levels [4, 5]. The color of extra virgin olive oil is yellow to green, which comes from the presence of chlorophylls and carotenoids [2]. The decomposition of chlorophyll produces pheophytin, which is the dominant chlorophyll in the oil. The most abundant carotenoids are β -carotene and lutein. The influence of external factors, especially daylight, significantly affects the reduction of colored pigments in oil [6–8]. Factors that influence the content of chlorophylls and carotenoids in olive oil are the variety, degree of maturity, cultivation conditions, method of extraction and oil storage conditions [9]. The production of quality olive oil includes a whole series of steps, from the application of appropriate agrotechnical measures in the olive grove (fertilization, pruning, irrigation, protection against diseases and pests), through the proper harvesting of the fruit and its handling to the moment of processing in the oil mill and finally to proper storage, which are the factors that affects the content of phenols, chlorophylls and carotenoids [2]. Improper preservation and storage of olive oil results in an improper loss of product quality. That is why it is extremely important to properly store the produced oil and store it in appropriate containers in order to avoid quality deterioration [10]. The aim of the work was to determine the influence of natural and synthetic antioxidants on the quality and stability of extra virgin olive oils and the content of chlorophyll, phenol and carotenoides in oils and what their influence was.

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Materials

Four samples of extra virgin olive oil of different origins in dark glass bottles were used for the testing. All four samples are in their original packaging (produced in 2022). The first three samples of olive oils come from the market of Bosnia and Herzegovina, while the fourth sample is from the market of the Republic of Slovenia. Olive oils were used as the control oil, subsequently treated with the addition of various types and concentrations of plant extracts, namely: smoketree, milk thistle and immortelle, with concentrations of 0.2%. The preparation of plant extracts is carried out by weighing 5 g of each plant species into a measuring flask and adding 100 ml of water. The prepared flasks with plant materials were transferred to a water bath heated to 60 °C and heating was carried out for 2 h. After that, the content was filtered. Various synthetic antioxidants were added, namely butylhydroxytoluene (BHT), butylhydroxyanisole (BHA) and propyl gallate (PG), in a concentration of 0.01%. The mentioned plant extracts are produced from the following plants: milk thistle (Sylibum marianum), smoketree (Cotinus coggygria) and immortelle (Helicchrysum italikum), without preservatives and artificial substances (Producer: Mobis Pharm, B&H). Plant extracts are natural substances that can be used to improve the sustainability of oils since they have significant antimicrobial, antioxidant, and other biological activities [11]. The experiment was performed in three replicates.

2.2 Methods

2.2.1 Schaal-Oven Test

To test the oxidative stability and quality of the oil, the Schaal-Oven test was applied in a drying oven at a temperature of 63 °C. This is a dynamic test, in which oxidative changes occur in the oil due to the action of heat without the influence of light. The content of free fatty acids was determined using the standard titration method BAS EN ISO 6858, 2003 [12], and the peroxide value using the Wheeler method BAS EN ISO 3960, 2001 [13]. These parameters were tested in all oil samples, before treatment and after treatment at a temperature of 63 °C. The mentioned parameters were monitored after 24, 48, 72, and 96 h of temperature treatment. The composition in total phenols, chlorophyll and carotenoid content was also monitored during the exposure of the oil to the test conditions.

2.2.2 Determination of Total Phenolic Content

The presence of total phenol was determined on a Perkin Elmer Lambda 25 UV/VIS spectrophotometer. The method is based on the reaction of phenol with the Folin-Ciocalteau reagent. The sample for analysis is prepared in the following way: 1 ml of the sample is mixed with 15 ml of distilled water, 5 ml of Folin-Ciocalteau reagent and with 15 ml of 20% Na₂CO₃ solution. After 2 h of incubation, the absorbance of all samples is measured at 765 nm using a spectrophotometer (Perkin Elmer Lambda 25 UV/VIS, 190–1100 nm). The total amount of phenol was measured using a calibration curve, and the results were expressed as gallic acid (mg/ml). It was done according to the method [14].

2.2.3 Determination of Chlorophyll Content

Chlorophylls content was determined by measuring absorbance at 670 nm in an undiluted oil sample. The measurement results are expressed as pheophytin α . The procedure involves measuring the absorbance in an undiluted oil sample at wavelengths of 670, 630 and 710 nm with a spectrophotometer (Perkin Elmer Lambda 25 UV/VIS, 190–1100 nm) in appropriate 10 mm wide cuvettes without a blank test. The results are expressed according to the method [15].

2.2.4 Determination of Carotenoid Content

The presence of carotenoids was determined using a spectrophotometer (Perkin Elmer Lambda 25 UV/VIS, 190–1100 nm). Carotenoid content was determined by measuring absorption at 445 nm in a 10% diluted oil sample. The measurement results were expressed as β -carotenoid content [16].

2.2.5 Statistical Analysis

All determinations were carried out in triplicate, and data were reported as mean \pm standard deviation. The Past 3.15 program [17] was used for statistical data processing. To determine a statistically significant difference in the peroxide values, phenolic, chlorophyll, carotenoid, and free fatty acids content in base oils a one-factor analysis of variance was applied. Also, to determine a statistically significant difference in the peroxide values and free fatty acids content, under the influence of the type of added synthetic and natural antioxidants and sampling time, a two-factor analysis of variance was applied. In case of statistically significant differences, Tukey's post-hoc test was used. Multivariate data analysis - principal component analysis or PCA analysis - was used for correlation and display of results.

3 Results and Discussion

3.1 Results of Determination of Peroxide Value and Content of Free Fatty Acids in the Control Samples

Oxidative decomposition processes can depend on several factors: the raw material from which the oil or fat is produced, the composition of the oil, storage conditions, and ingredients that can speed up or slow down the reactions [18, 19]. One-factor analysis of variance revealed a statistically significant influence of the sample factor (manufacturer) on the values of the mentioned parameters (p < 0.05), except for the peroxide value (p > 0.05). The addition of the mentioned plant extracts in the stated concentrations provides thermal stability and high resistance to oxidative degradation of the product. By examining the initial values of peroxide content of extra virgin olive oil (without the addition of plant extracts), which was used as a control, it was found that the peroxide values varied within a range 2.75–3.75 mmol O₂/kg, which correspond to the provisions of the Regulation on Vegetable Oils, Edible Vegetable Fats and Mayonnaise [20], because the values were less than 10 mmol O₂/kg. From Table 1, it can be seen that the content of free fatty acids in all tested samples were in accordance with the Regulation on

Vegetable Oils, Edible Vegetable Fats and Mayonnaise [20], because the values were less than 3% (as % oleic acid). Virgin olive oils were characterized by high antioxidant stability. High stability can be correlated with antioxidant molecules and their activity (phenolic compounds, carotenoids, pigments) and the high content of monounsaturated fatty acids in triacylglycerol molecules (about 70% oleic acid) [21]. According to Čorbo et al. [2], the peroxide values for cold-pressed olive oil are from 1.00 to 3.00 mmol O_2/kg , according to Rabrenović and Dimić [5] from 1.53 to 3.84 mmol O_2/kg , and according to Mulagić et al. [22] was 2.55 mmol O_2/kg . The stated values are in accordance with the obtained results in our research. Also, according to Stokić [23] the values of the free fatty acids for cold-pressed olive oil are from 0.59 to 0.62%, therefore, values are in accordance with the obtained results in our research.

3.2 Results of Determination of Carotenoid Content

The color of the oil is determined based on the content of chlorophyll and carotenoids. Sample M3 had the highest content of carotenoids (13.37 mg/kg), and sample M4 had the lowest content (7.32 mg/kg). According to Luaces et al. [24] the carotenoids values in extra virgin olive oils after storage (1 month) and under temperature from 60 °C to 68 °C range from 1.4 to 17.5 mg/kg, therefore, the stated values are in accordance with the results obtained in our research.

3.3 Results of Determination of Chlorophyll Content

The analysis of chlorophylls was performed on four samples of extra virgin olive oils, these were control samples, without additional antioxidants. The chlorophyll content of the tested extra virgin oils varied within a range 9.07–12.47 mg/kg. The highest content was determined in sample M3 and the lowest in sample M4. According to Anniva et al. [25] the chlorophyll values in extra virgin olive oils after storage in light and under temperature ranged from 8.6 to 68.3 mg/kg, also according to Psomiadou and Tsimidou [26] who studied Greek olive oils under the influence of light and temperature, the research showed that chlorophyll values ranged from 2.6 to 64.1 mg/kg, also according to Gómez-Alonso et al. [27], the values of the chlorophyll after 21 months at room temperature and in the dark are from 2.71 to 15.3 mg/kg. The stated values are in accordance with the obtained results in our research.

3.4 Results of Determination of Phenolic Content

Phenols are responsible for the only health claim of virgin olive oil recognized by the European Commission EU 432/2012 and the European Food Safety Authority [28]. In research Castillo-Luna et al. [29], they studied the decrease in the phenolic content of 160 extra virgin olive oil after 12 months storage in darkness at 20 °C. Phenolic concentration was decreased $42.0 \pm 24.3\%$ after this period and this reduction strongly depended on the initial phenolic profile. In our research, the content of total phenols was the highest in sample M2 (328.45 mg/kg GAE) and the lowest in sample M1 (195.86 mg/kg GAE). According to Čorbo and Đorđević [3] the values of the total phenol for olive oil are from 50 to 500 mg/kg. Therefore, the results from our research are in the values of other authors.

Parameter	M1	M2	M3	M4
Peroxide value (mmol O ₂ /kg)	$3.75^{a} \pm 0.35$	$2.75^{a} \pm 0.35$	$3.25^{a} \pm 0.35$	$3.75^{a} \pm 0.35$
Free fatty acids (%)	$0.17^{\mathrm{a}} \pm 0.00$	$0.31^{c} \pm 0.04$	$0.22^{ab}\pm0.00$	$0.31^{\rm bc} \pm 0.04$
Carotenoids (β-carotenoid mg/kg)	$8.51^{b} \pm 0.12$	$9.52^{c} \pm 0.11$	$13.37^{\rm d} \pm 0.07$	$7.32^{a} \pm 0.21$
Chlorophyll (pheophytin α mg/kg)	$12.03^{b} \pm 0.04$	$11.58^{b} \pm 0.04$	$12.47^{b} \pm 0.06$	$9.07^{a} \pm 0.09$
Total phenols (mg/kg GAE)	$195.86^{a} \pm 2.62$	$328.45^{d} \pm 0.93$	$212.58^{b} \pm 5.25$	$286.20^{\circ} \pm 2.64$

Table 1. Results on base oils, for the parameters listed below

a-b - different lowercase letters in the rows indicate statistically significant differences in the values of the examined parameters.

M1, M2, M3 and M4 - samples of extra virgin olive oil.

3.5 Results of Determining the Peroxide Value Using the Schaal-Oven Test

The Schaal-Oven test was used to test the activity of natural and synthetic antioxidants of different concentrations in examined samples of extra virgin olive oils, and the peroxide values were determined. This was observed with the addition of all antioxidants, in all concentrations. A two-factor analysis of variance revealed that there is a statistically significant influence of the sampling time on the peroxide values in all samples of olive oil with the addition of different antioxidants (p < 0.05). The type of antioxidants showed a statistically significant influence on the peroxide values in all samples of olive oil with the addition of different antioxidants (p < 0.05), except for the third tested sample (p > 0.05). The interaction of the factors had a statistically significant effect on the peroxide value of the M1, M3 and M4 samples of olive oil with the addition of different antioxidants (p < 0.05), while the determined differences in the peroxide values of the second examined sample were not statistically significant (p > 0.05). In the case of sample M1, it was observed that after 24 h the sample with added immortelle extract had the highest peroxide value of 5.25 ± 0.35 mmol O₂/kg. In comparison, after 48 h and 72 h, the sample with added synthetic antioxidant BHT had the highest value, 8.75 \pm 1,06 mmol O₂/kg and 9.75 \pm 0.35 mmol O₂/kg, respectively. Also, at the end after 96 h of exposure to temperature of 63 °C, the highest peroxide value was observed in the sample with immortelle extract, 11.00 ± 0.00 mmol O₂/kg. The sample with PG had the lowest value starting from 24 h to 96 h, so at 96 h, the value was 9.00 ± 0.00 mmol O₂/kg. In the case of sample M2, after 24 h, the causes with immortelle extract and BHA have the highest value, 4.75 ± 0.35 mmol O₂/kg, then after 72 h and 96 h, the sample with PG had the highest peroxide value, 9.50 ± 0.70 mmol O₂/kg. The lowest peroxide value was found in the sample with smoketree extract 7.75 ± 0.35 mmol O₂/kg. Sample M3, has the highest value with added milk thistle extract and at the end of 72 h and 96 h, 11.00 \pm 0.00 mmol O₂/kg, 14.50 \pm 0.70 mmol O₂/kg. After 72 h and 96 h, the samples with smoketree and immortelle extracts, and BHA were significantly accelerated. The lowest value was after 48 h and 96 h, in the sample with PG, so at 96 h, the value was 10.50 \pm

1.41 mmol O_2/kg . Sample M4, had the lowest value with added PG, and at the end of 72 h and 96 h, 6.75 ± 0.35 mmol O₂/kg, 8.50 ± 0.70 mmol O₂/kg. The highest value after 24 h and 48 h was the sample with milk thistle extract 5.75 ± 0.35 mmol O₂/kg, 6.50 \pm 0.70 mmol O₂/kg and after 96 h the sample with BHT 13.25 \pm 1.76 mmol O₂/kg. An accelerated process was observed in the sample with PG after 24 h and 48 h, 5.25 ± 0.35 mmol O₂/kg, 6.25 ± 0.35 mmol O₂/kg. According to Čorbo and Đorđević [30] the peroxide values of olive oil are from 0.5 to 15.5 mmol O_2/kg , according to Mulagić et al. [22], the peroxide values of olive oil are from 2.18 to 13.80 mmol O_2/kg , therefore, values are in accordance with the obtained results in our research. Also, according to Gómez-Alonso et al. [27] the peroxide values ranged from 2.67 to 6.52 mmol O₂/kg for virgin olive oil after three months of storage (at room temperature), where we can conclude that high temperature (in our case 63 $^{\circ}$ C) has a bad effect on the stability and quality of extra virgin oils, because the results of our research are higher. Obtained peroxide values for each tested sample of extra virgin olive oil with the addition of different antioxidants, natural (extracts of immortelle, milk thistle and smoketree) and synthetic (PG, BHA, BHT), of different concentrations (natural antioxidants 0.2% and synthetic 0.01%), and treated in an oven at 63 °C with the Schaal-Oven test in different time intervals (24, 48, 72 and 96 h) are shown in Table 2.

M1						
Antioxidants	Concentration (%)	0 h	24 h	48 h	72 h	96 h
Control	0	$3.75^{\rm Aa}\pm0.35$	$5.00^{\mathrm{Aa}} \pm 0.00$	$6.75^{\text{Aab}} \pm 0.35$	$9.00^{\rm Ac}\pm 0.70$	$10.75^{\rm Ad}\pm1.06$
Milk thistle	0.2	$3.75^{\rm Aa}\pm0.35$	$4.75^{\text{Aa}} \pm 0.35$	$6.75^{\text{Aab}} \pm 1.06$	$7.75^{\rm Ac}\pm1.06$	$9.75^{\text{Ad}} \pm 0.35$
Smoketree	0.2	$3.75^{\text{Aa}} \pm 0.35$	$4.50^{\text{Aa}} \pm 0.00$	$7.00^{\text{Aab}} \pm 0.00$	$8.25^{Ac}\pm1.76$	$9.00^{\rm Ac}\pm 0.70$
Immortelle	0.2	$3.75^{Aa}\pm0.35$	$5.25^{Aa}\pm0.35$	$5.75^{\text{Aa}} \pm 0.35$	$8.25^{\text{Ab}} \pm 1.06$	$11.00^{\rm Ac}\pm0.00$
PG	0.01	$3.75^{\text{Aa}} \pm 0.35$	$4.00^{\rm Aa}\pm1.76$	$5.50^{\text{Aa}} \pm 0.70$	$6.25^{Ba}\pm0.35$	$9.00^{Ab}\pm0.00$
BHA	0.01	$3.75^{Aa}\pm0.35$	$4.75^{Aa}\pm0.35$	$8.75^{\text{Bb}} \pm 1.06$	$9.75^{Ac}\pm0.35$	$10.75^{\text{Ad}} \pm 1.06$
BHT	0.01	$3.75^{\text{Aa}} \pm 0.35$	$4.25^{\text{Aa}}\pm0.35$	$6.00^{\rm Aa}\pm 0.00$	$8.00^{\rm Ab}\pm 0.70$	$9.50^{Ac}\pm0.70$
M2						
Antioxidants	Concentration (%)	0 h	24 h	48 h	72 h	96 h
Control	0	$2.75^{\rm Aa}\pm 0.35$	$4.25^{\rm Aa}\pm 0.35$	$7.00^{\rm Ab}\pm0.00$	$7.75^{\text{Ab}} \pm 0.35$	$9.50^{\rm Ac}\pm2.12$
Milk thistle	0.2	$2.75^{\rm Aa}\pm0.35$	$3.50^{\rm Aa}\pm0.00$	$6.75^{\rm Ab}\pm1.06$	$7.25^{\rm Ab}\pm1.06$	$8.25^{Ab}\pm0.35$
Smoketree	0.2	$2.75^{\rm Aa}\pm 0.35$	$3.25^{\rm Aa}\pm 0.35$	$5.00^{\operatorname{Aab}} \pm 0.70$	$6.50^{\rm Ab}\pm0.70$	$7.75^{\rm Ab}\pm0.35$
Immortelle	0.2	$2.75^{\text{Aa}} \pm 0.35$	$4.75^{\text{Aa}} \pm 0.35$	$6.25^{Aab}\pm0.35$	$7.25^{\text{Ab}} \pm 1.06$	$8.25^{Ab}\pm0.35$
PG	0.01	$2.75^{\text{Aa}} \pm 0.35$	$3.25^{\text{Aa}} \pm 0.35$	$6.00^{\rm Ab}\pm0.70$	$6.50^{\text{Ab}} \pm 0.70$	$9.50^{\rm Ac}\pm0.70$
BHA	0.01	$2.75^{Aa}\pm0.35$	$4.75^{Aa}\pm0.35$	$5.75^{\text{Aab}} \pm 0.35$	$7.50^{\rm Abc}\pm0.00$	$9.25^{Ac}\pm0.35$
BHT	0.01	$2.75^{Aa}\pm0.35$	$3.00^{\rm Aa}\pm0.00$	$6.50^{\rm Ab}\pm0.00$	$7.75^{Ab}\pm0.35$	$9.00^{\rm Ac}\pm0.00$
						(continued)

Table 2. Average values of peroxide value \pm SD in different time intervals and with the addition of natural and synthetic antioxidants

M3						
Antioxidants	Concentration (%)	0 h	24 h	48 h	72 h	96 h
Control	0	$3.25^{\text{Aa}} \pm 0.35$	$5.50^{\text{Aa}} \pm 0.35$	$8.00^{\rm Ab}\pm0.70$	$9.25^{\rm Ab}\pm1.06$	$11.00^{\rm Ac}\pm1.41$
Milk thistle	0.2	$3.25^{Aa}\pm0.35$	$4.75^{\rm Aa}\pm0.35$	$7.00^{\rm Ab}\pm0.00$	$11.00^{\rm Ac}\pm0.00$	$14.50^{\text{Bd}}\pm0.70$
Smoketree	0.2	$3.25^{Aa}\pm0.35$	$4.00^{Aa}\pm0.00$	$7.25^{Ab}\pm0.35$	$9.75^{\rm Ac}\pm0.35$	$12.00^{\rm Ad}\pm0.70$
Immortelle	0.2	$3.25^{\text{Aa}} \pm 0.35$	$5.25^{\rm Aa}\pm0.35$	$6.25^{\text{Aab}}\pm0.00$	$9.50^{\rm Ac}\pm0.70$	$12.25^{\rm Ad}\pm1.06$
PG	0.01	$3.25^{\text{Aa}} \pm 0.35$	$5.00^{\rm Aa}\pm0.00$	$5.00^{\text{Ba}} \pm 0.00$	$8.75^{\text{Bb}}\pm0.35$	$10.50^{\rm Ac}\pm1.41$
BHA	0.01	$3.25^{\rm Aa}\pm0.35$	$5.50^{\rm Ab}\pm0.70$	$6.75^{\rm Ab}\pm0.35$	$9.75^{\rm Ac}\pm0.35$	$11.75^{\rm Ad}\pm0.35$
BHT	0.01	$3.25^{\rm Aa}\pm0.35$	$5.25^{\rm Aa}\pm0.35$	$5.75^{\text{Bab}}\pm0.35$	$7.25^{\text{Bab}}\pm0.35$	$11.25^{\rm Ac}\pm0.35$
M4						
Antioxidants	Concentration (%)	0 h	24 h	48 h	72 h	96 h
Control	0	$3.75^{\rm Aa}\pm0.35$	$5.00^{\mathrm{Aa}} \pm 0.70$	$5.75^{\rm Aa}\pm1.06$	$8.25^{\text{Aab}} \pm 1.06$	$10.75^{\rm Ac}\pm1.76$
Milk thistle	0.2	$3.75^{\rm Aa}\pm0.35$	$5.75^{\rm Aa}\pm0.35$	$6.50^{\rm Aa}\pm0.70$	$8.00^{\operatorname{Aab}} \pm 1.41$	$9.25^{\text{Aab}}\pm0.35$
Smoketree	0.2	$3.75^{\rm Aa}\pm0.35$	$5.75^{\rm Aa}\pm0.70$	$6.00^{\mathrm{Aa}} \pm 0.00$	$8.75^{\text{Aab}} \pm 1.06$	$10.75^{\rm Ac}\pm0.35$
Immortelle	0.2	$3.75^{\rm Aa}\pm0.35$	$5.75^{\rm Aa}\pm0.35$	$5.75^{\rm Aa}\pm0.35$	$8.50^{\operatorname{Aab}} \pm 1.41$	$9.25^{\rm Ab}\pm0.35$
PG	0.01	$3.75^{\rm Aa}\pm0.35$	$5.25^{\rm Aa}\pm0.35$	$6.25^{\text{Aab}} \pm 0.35$	$6.75^{\text{Aab}} \pm 0.35$	$8.50^{\rm Aac}\pm 0.70$
BHA	0.01	$3.75^{\rm Aa}\pm0.35$	$4.25^{\rm Aa}\pm0.35$	$6.00^{\rm Aa}\pm0.70$	$7.00^{\text{Aab}} \pm 0.70$	$9.50^{\rm Ac}\pm0.00$
BHT	0.01	$3.75^{\rm Aa}\pm 0.35$	$5.25^{Aa} \pm 1.06$	$5.75^{\operatorname{Aa}} \pm 1.76$	$7.00^{\operatorname{Aab}} \pm 1.41$	$13.25^{\rm Bc} \pm 1.76$

Table 2.	(continued)
I able 2.	(commune)

A-B - different capital letters in the columns indicate statistically significant differences between olive oil samples without and with the addition of different antioxidants.

a-b - different lowercase letters in rows show statistically significant differences between olive oil samples without and with the addition of different antioxidants sampled at different time intervals.

M1, M2, M3 and M4 - samples of extra virgin olive oil.

0, 24, 48, 72 and 96 h - sampling time (0 h - before starting the temperature treatment; sampling after 24, 48, 72 and 96 h of temperature treatment).

It can be concluded that the synthetic antioxidant propyl gallate had the best effect, but it is very interesting that the natural antioxidants showed themselves well, so smoketree extract is in step with propyl gallate. That is, in all four samples, the best where propyl gallate and smoketree extract, but on the fourth day, all but sample M2 had a peroxide value above 10 mmol O_2/kg , when we talk about the control samples, and when we talk about the causes with added antioxidants, all except sample M3, had a lower peroxide value of 10 mmol O_2/kg . Observing all the given results, it can be concluded that sample M2 is a very high-quality olive oil, while the same cannot be said for sample M3.

3.6 Results of Determining the Free Fatty Acids Content After Schaal-Oven Test

After applying the Schaal-Oven test on extra virgin olive oil samples with addition of different natural and synthetic antioxidants in different concentrations, the changes in free fatty acids contents were observed. A two-factor analysis of variance revealed that there is a statistically significant influence of the sampling time on the content of free

fatty acids in all samples of olive oil with the addition of different antioxidants (p < p(0.05), except for the M3 sample. Also, the type of antioxidants showed a statistically significant influence on the content of free fatty acids in all samples of olive oil with the addition of different antioxidants (p < 0.05), except for the M3 tested sample (p >0.05). The interaction of the factors had a statistically significant effect on the content of free fatty acids in the M1 and M4 samples of olive oil with the addition of different antioxidants (p < 0.05), while the determined differences in the content of free fatty acids in the M2 and M3 examined samples were not statistically significant (p > 0.05). This was confirmed with the addition of all antioxidants, in all concentrations. Analyzing the sample M1, it was noticed that during the period from 24 h to 96 h, the sample with the addition of immortelle extract had the lowest value of free fatty acids, after 24 h, the value was 0.25%, and after 96 h, 0.29%, while the sample with the addition of the synthetic antioxidant, BHA, had the highest value, after 24 h, the value was 0.62%, and after 96 h, 0.87%. Comparing sample with immortelle extract addition and the sample with BHA, during the period of 24 h to 96 h, it was noticed that the sample with BHA had almost 60% higher content of free fatty acids. Sample M2 had the highest value of free fatty acids in samples with synthetic antioxidants, BHA and BHT, throughout the entire analysis period, from 24 h to 96 h. The sample with BHA, after 24 h, had a value of 0.42%, and after 96 h, 0.54%, while with BHT, after 24 h, it had a value 0.44%, then after 96 h, 0.53%. Analyzing samples M1 and M2, it was seen that in both olive oils, BHA has the highest values of free fatty acids, but in sample M1 the values are higher by 30%. The lowest value throughout the entire analysis period was for the sample with immortelle extract, after 24 h, the amount was 0.25%, and after 96 h, 0.29%. In sample M3, samples with smoketree extract and BHT had the lowest values, where during the period from 24 h to 72 h, they had identical values, 0.28%, 0.32%, 0.34% but at 96 h the sample with BHT had a lower value (the same value as at the end of 72 h), in the amount of 0.34%. The sample with the addition of PG had the highest value of free fatty acids, throughout the entire analysis period, after 24 h, the amount was 0.50%, while at the end, 96 h, the value was 0.59%.

M1						
Antioxidants	Concentration (%)	0 h	24 h	48 h	72 h	96 h
Control	0	$0.17^{\rm Aa}\pm0.00$	$0.36^{\rm Ab}\pm0.04$	$0.39^{\rm Ab}\pm0.04$	$0.40^{\rm Ab}\pm0.04$	$0.45^{Ab}\pm0.04$
Milk thistle	0.2	$0.17^{\rm Aa}\pm 0.00$	$0.31^{\text{Aa}} \pm 0.08$	$0.33^{\text{Aa}} \pm 0.04$	$0.35^{\rm Aa}\pm 0.00$	$0.78^{\text{Bb}}\pm0.04$
Smoketree	0.2	$0.17^{\rm Aa}\pm0.00$	$0.25^{\text{Aa}} \pm 0.04$	$0.25^{Aa}\pm0.04$	$0.33^{\text{Aa}} \pm 0.04$	$0.34^{Aa}\pm0.04$
Immortelle	0.2	$0.17^{Aa}\pm0.00$	$0.25^{Aa}\pm0.04$	$0.25^{Aa}\pm0.04$	$0.28^{Aa}\pm0.00$	$0.29^{Aa}\pm0.04$
PG	0.01	$0.17^{\rm Aa}\pm0.00$	$0.39^{\text{Ab}}\pm0.80$	$0.39^{\text{Ab}}\pm0.04$	$0.40^{\rm Ab}\pm0.00$	$0.42^{Ab}\pm0.04$
BHA	0.01	$0.17^{\rm Aa}\pm 0.00$	$0.62^{\text{Bb}}\pm0.40$	$0.70^{\text{Bb}}\pm0.04$	$0.80^{\text{Bb}} \pm 0.04$	$0.87^{\text{Bbc}}\pm0.04$
BHT	0.01	$0.17^{Aa}\pm0.00$	$0.30^{Aa}\pm0.12$	$0.31^{Aa}\pm0.04$	$0.33^{Aa}\pm0.12$	$0.34^{Aa}\pm0.04$

Table 3. Average values of free fatty acids content \pm SD in different time intervals and with the addition of natural and synthetic antioxidants

(continued)

M2								
Antioxidants	Concentration (%)	0 h	1	24	h	48 h	72 h	96 h
Control	0	0.3	$31^{Aa} \pm 0.04$	0.3	$36^{Aa} \pm 0.04$	$0.39^{\text{Aa}} \pm 0.04$	$0.40^{Aa}\pm0.08$	$0.41^{\rm Aa}\pm 0.04$
Milk thistle	0.2	0.3	$31^{Aa} \pm 0.04$	0.2	$28^{ABa} \pm 0.08$	$0.31^{\rm Aa}\pm 0.04$	$0.33^{Aa}\pm0.04$	$0.42^{ABa}\pm0.04$
Smoketree	0.2	0.3	$31^{Aa} \pm 0.04$	0.3	$36^{Aa} \pm 0.04$	$0.36^{\rm Aa}\pm0.04$	$0.39^{Aa}\pm0.04$	$0.45^{Aa}\pm0.04$
Immortelle	0.2	0.3	$31^{Aa} \pm 0.04$	0.3	$35^{Aa} \pm 0.04$	$0.36^{\rm Aa}\pm 0.04$	$0.36^{\text{Aa}}\pm0.08$	$0.38^{\rm Aa}\pm 0.04$
PG	0.01	0.3	$31^{Aa} \pm 0.04$	0.3	$30^{Aa} \pm 0.08$	$0.36^{\rm Aa}\pm 0.04$	$0.37^{Aa}\pm0.00$	$0.42^{Aa}\pm0.04$
BHA	0.01	0.3	$31^{Aa} \pm 0.04$	0.4	$42^{Aa} \pm 0.04$	$0.48^{\text{Bb}}\pm0.04$	$0.50^{\rm Bb}\pm 0.00$	$0.54^{Ab}\pm0.04$
BHT	0.01	0.3	$31^{Aa} \pm 0.04$	0.4	$44^{\text{Ba}} \pm 0.12$	$0.49^{\text{Bb}}\pm0.04$	$0.51^{\text{Bb}}\pm0.04$	$0.53^{\text{Bb}}\pm0.04$
M3								
Antioxidants	Concentration (%)	0 h		24 h	48 h	72 h	96 h
Control	0		$0.22^{Aa} \pm 0.$	00	$0.33^{Aa} \pm 0.08$	$0.35^{Aa} \pm 0.0$	4 $0.35^{Aa} \pm 0.04$	$0.38^{Aa} \pm 0.04$
Milk thistle	0.2		$0.22^{Aa} \pm 0.$	00	$0.28^{\operatorname{Aa}} \pm 0.00$	$0.42^{Aa} \pm 0.0$	4 $0.43^{Aa} \pm 0.04$	$0.45^{Aa}\pm0.00$
Smoketree	0.2		$0.22^{Aa} \pm 0.$	00	$0.28^{Aa} \pm 0.00$	$0.32^{Aa} \pm 0.0$	$0 0.34^{Aa} \pm 0.04$	$0.36^{Aa} \pm 0.04$
Immortelle	0.2		$0.22^{Aa} \pm 0.$	00	$0.36^{Aa} \pm 0.04$	$10.38^{Aa} \pm 0.0$	$0 0.39^{Aa} \pm 0.04$	$0.57^{Aa} \pm 0.04$
PG	0.01		$0.22^{Aa} \pm 0.$	00	$0.50^{Aa} \pm 0.04$	$1 0.53^{Aa} \pm 0.0$	4 $0.57^{Aa} \pm 0.12$	$0.59^{\rm Aa}\pm0.00$
BHA	0.01		$0.22^{Aa} \pm 0.$	00	$0.39^{Aa} \pm 0.08$	$0.41^{Aa} \pm 0.0$	4 $0.45^{Aa} \pm 0.12$	$0.47^{Aa}\pm0.04$
BHT	0.01		$0.22^{Aa} \pm 0.$	00	$0.28^{Aa} \pm 0.08$	$0.32^{Aa} \pm 0.0$	4 $0.34^{Aa} \pm 0.08$	$0.34^{\rm Aa}\pm 0.08$
M4								
Antioxidants	Concentration (9	%)	0 h		24 h	48 h	72 h	96 h
Control	0		$0.31^{Aa} \pm 0.1$	04	$0.31^{\mathrm{Aa}} \pm 0.08$	$0.39^{Aa} \pm 0.1$	5 $0.39^{Aa} \pm 0.04$	$0.39^{Aa}\pm0.15$
Milk thistle	0.2		$0.31^{Aa} \pm 0.1$	04	$0.31^{Aa} \pm 0.12$	$0.38^{Aa} \pm 0.0$	$0 0.51^{\text{Bb}} \pm 0.04$	$0.67^{\rm Bb}\pm 0.00$
Smoketree	0.2		$0.31^{Aa} \pm 0.1$	04	$0.31^{\operatorname{Aa}} \pm 0.04$	$0.39^{Aa} \pm 0.0$	$0 0.50^{\text{Bb}} \pm 0.15$	$0.53^{Ab}\pm0.04$
Immortelle	0.2		$0.31^{Aa} \pm 0.$	04	$0.25^{Aa} \pm 0.04$	$0.29^{Aa} \pm 0.0$	$4 0.32^{\text{Aa}} \pm 0.12$	$0.36^{Aa}\pm0.08$
PG	0.01		$0.31^{Aa} \pm 0.$	04	$0.33^{\operatorname{Aa}} \pm 0.04$	$1 0.35^{Aa} \pm 0.0$	$4 0.36^{\text{Aa}} \pm 0.80$	$0.38^{\text{Aa}} \pm 0.00$
BHA	0.01		$0.31^{Aa} \pm 0.$	04	$0.31^{Aa} \pm 0.04$	$0.33^{Aa} \pm 0.0$	$0 0.45^{Aa} \pm 0.00$	$0.48^{Aa}\pm0.00$
BHT	0.01		$0.31^{Aa} \pm 0.000$	04	$0.31^{\operatorname{Aa}} \pm 0.04$	$0.31^{Aa} \pm 0.0$	$0 0.34^{Aa} \pm 0.00$	$0.64^{\text{Bb}}\pm0.04$

A-B - different capital letters in the columns indicate statistically significant differences between olive oil samples without and with the addition of different antioxidants.

a-b - different lowercase letters in rows show statistically significant differences between olive oil samples without and with the addition of different antioxidants sampled at different time intervals.

M1, M2, M3 and M4 - samples of extra virgin olive oil.

0, 24, 48, 72 and 96 h - sampling time (0 h - before starting the temperature treatment; sampling after 24, 48, 72 and 96 h of temperature treatment).

After analyzing the results, it was noticed that the samples with immortelle extract, BHA and milk thistle extract accelerate reactions throughout the entire period that can affect the stability of olive oil. Analyzing the sample M4, the highest value of free fatty acid content was in the sample with added milk thistle extract, and at the end of 96 h, the value was 0.67%, and the lowest value during the entire analysis period, the sample with the addition of immortelle extract, where the amount after 24 h was 0.25%, and

after 96 h, 0.36%. According to Čorbo and Đorđević [30], the values of the free fatty acids of olive oil are from 0.148 to 1.772%, according to Bošković [31], the values of the free fatty acids of extra virgin olive oil are from 0.180 to 0.306%, therefore, values are in accordance with the obtained results in our research. Also, according to Gómez-Alonso et al. [27] values for the free fatty acids ranged from 0.29% to 0.42% for virgin olive oil after three months of storage (at room temperature), where we can conclude that high temperature (in our case 63 $^{\circ}$ C) has a bad effect on the stability and quality of extra virgin oils, because the results of our research are somewhat higher. Observing the results, it was concluded that all samples, did not have higher values than allowed by the Regulation on Vegetable Oils, Edible Vegetable Fats and Mayonnaise [20] - 3% free fatty acids expressed as oleic. All causes, along with all antioxidants, passed the Schaal-Oven test well, with the emphasis that all three natural antioxidants for all four samples did not change the stability and quality. The content of free fatty acids is an important parameter that indicates the degree of hydrolytic degradation of the oil. The obtained values for the free fatty acid content of each tested sample are presented in table 3. And represent the mean value of two determinations \pm standard deviation.

3.7 Principal Component Analysis (PCA) of Sustainability Parameters

The analysis of the main components was carried out on the basis of a correlation matrix in which 10 parameters were included, that is, two parameters during sampling in five time intervals for four groups of olive oil samples (control, with the addition of natural and synthetic antioxidants). For the analysis of the main components, the values of the peroxide value and the content of free fatty acids were used as variables, when sampling five times every 24 h. The first two components that are the result of testing the sustainability parameters of olive oil without and with the addition of antioxidants contained 66.24% of the total variance, namely the first 37.08% and the second 25.16%. The cumulative variance for the four main components was 83.52%. It can be seen from the graph that the peroxide values at each sampling were in a very high positive correlation, and that all together were in a high negative correlation with the content of free fatty acids determined before the experiment was set up (FFA0). The contents of free fatty acids determined after 24 h, 48 h, 72 h and 96 h achieved a significant positive correlation. From the graph it can be seen that the samples of the second tested sample of olive oil (M2-yellow color) were separated from the other samples and positioned in the lower two quadrants in relation to the content of free fatty acids determined before setting up the experiment (FFA0), which was characteristic of them. Samples M1-BHA and M3-PG were positioned in relation to the content of free fatty acids determined after 24 h, 48 h, 72 h and 96 h, which were characteristic for them. The sample M3-MK was positioned in relation to the peroxide values determined after 72 h and 96 h that were characteristic of it, and compared to all tested samples with and without the addition of antioxidants, it had the highest peroxide values after 72 h and 96 h (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. The plot of principal component analysis of the sustainability parameters (M1-blue, M2yellow, M3-red, M4-green; M1, M2, M3 and M4 - samples of extra virgin olive oil)

4 Conclusions

The tested parameters (peroxide value and free fatty acids content) reflect and indicate the quality of the oil, and the obtained initial values for determining these two parameters are within the limits within the limits prescribed by Rulebook for this type of oil. The results of the base oils have values that corrisponds to the given limits, and the amounts for the peroxide value in cold pressed olive oil are $2.75-3.75 \text{ mmol } O_2/kg$, and for free fatty acids content 0.17–0.31%. The addition of smoketree, milk thistle and immortelle extracts, was aimed to improve the stability of the oil, acting as antioxidants, just like synthetic antioxidants (BHA, BHT, PG). Statistical analysis of the data showed the influence of the sampling time and type of added natural and synthetic antioxidants on the peroxide values and the content of free fatty acids. It was analytically determined that all tested extra virgin olive oils are of good quality after treatment with antioxidants. Basic quality parameters (peroxide value and free fatty acids content) are in accordance with the current Rulebook. With the addition of natural and synthetic antioxidants, increased the stability, i.e. oil sustainability towards oxidative deterioration. Smoketree extract showed the best activity as a natural antioxidant, while propyl gallate (PG) was the best of the synthetic ones. Also, with the addition of immortelle extract in three oil samples, accelerated spoilage occurred, while in one sample the accelerated spoilage was caused by the addition of butylhydroxytoluene. Content of free of fatty acids was also in the values according to the valid Rulebook. Natural antioxidants showed antioxidant activity in the following order: immortelle, milk thistle and smoketree extract. Among the synthetic antioxidants, butylhydroxytoluene showed the best activity. The presence of chlorophyll in all olive oil samples was within the permissible values for fresh oil. The presence of chlorophyll is very important because its decomposition also means a shorter shelf life of the oil. The content of carotenoids in base samples of extra virgin olive oil were on a par with other results of other studies. The carotenoid content is important because its reduction can also reduce the stability of the oil. The values of the content of total phenols were characteristic for extra virgin olive oils, and there were no deviations. If the phenol content is lower, the sustainability of the oil may be reduced. The addition of plant extracts rised the oxidative stability of examined extra virgin olive oil samples as well as acceptability from the aspect of its sensory properties.

References

- 1. Dobra, M.: Laboratory analysis of olive oil. Diploma thesis, University of Split, Faculty of Chemistry and Technology, Split, Croatia (2017)
- Čorbo, S., Dimić, E., Vujasinović, V., Podrug, S.: Determination of some antioxidants in olive oil. Uljarstvo J. Edible Oil Ind. 44(1), 3–12 (2013)
- Čorbo, S., Đorđević, Đ: Changes in total phenol content in olive oil during storage. Uljarstvo J. Edible Oil Ind. 41(1–2), 7–11 (2010)
- Dimić, V., Verhé, R., Van Hoed, V.: Determination of sterols in olive oil. Uljarstvo J. Edible Oil Ind. 37(1–2), 7–12 (2006)
- Rabrenović, B., Dimić, E.: Delta-7 sterols: specificity of pumpkin seed oil. Uljarstvo J. Edible Oil Ind. 44(1), 45–49 (2013)
- 6. Žanetić, M., Gugić, M.: Health values of olive oil. Pomologia Croat. 12(2), 159–173 (2006)
- Boskou, D.: Olive Oil: Chemistry and Technology, 2nd edn., pp. 192–204. AOCS Press, Champaign (2006)
- Šindrak, Z., Benčić, Đ, Voća, S., Barberić, A.: Total phenols in varietal olive oils from Istria. Pomologia Croat. 13(1), 17–29 (2007)
- Giuffrida, D., Salvo, F., Salvo, A., Cossignani, L., Dugo, G.: Pigments profile in monovarietal virgin olive oils from various Italian olive varieties. Food Chem. 124(3), 1119–1123 (2011)
- 10. Žanetić, M., Gugić, M.: Storage of virgin olive oil. Pomologia Croat. 11(1-2), 31-41 (2005)
- 11. Dimić, S., Vujasinović, V., Nedić Grujin, K., Fijat, A.: Improve the stability and flavor of edible oils enriched with natural additives. Uljarstvo J. Edible Oil Ind. **48**(1), 56–71 (2017)
- 12. ISO-International standard of animal and vegetable oils and fats. Determination of acid value and of acidity. ISO, Geneve, Switzerland, 6858 (2003)
- 13. ISO-International standard of animal and vegetable oils and fats. Determination of peroxide value. ISO, Geneve, Switzerland, 3960 (2001)
- Ough, C.S., Amerine, M.A.: Methods for Analysis of Musts and Wines, 2nd edn. Wiley, New York (1988)
- Pokorny, J., Kalinova, L., Dysseler, P.: Determination of chlorophyll pigments in crude vegetable oils. Pure Appl. Chem. 67(10), 1781–1787 (1995)
- British standard methods (BSM) of analysis. Determination of carotene in vegetable oils, B.S 684, section 2.20 (1977)
- 17. Hammer, Ø., Harper, D.A.T., Ryan, P.D.: PAST: paleontological statistics software package for education and data analysis. Palaeontol. Electron. **4**(1), 1–9 (2001)
- Ergović-Ravančić, M.: Oil and Fat Technology Exercise Manual. Polytechnic of Požega, Požega (2017)
- Čorbo, S.: Technology of oils and fats. Faculty of Agriculture and Food Science, University of Sarajevo, Sarajevo, B&H (2008)
- Regulation on Vegetable Oils, Edible Vegetable Fats and Mayonnaise (Official Gazette, BiH, No. 21/11)

- Dimić, E., Lužaić, T., Vujasinović, V., Esalami, S., Rabrenović, B., Fijat, A.: Antioxidant capacity of virgin olive oil from different growing areas of Libya at moderate temperatures. Uljarstvo J. Edible Oil Ind. 47(1), 31–37 (2016)
- Mulagić, A., Begić, M., Čorbo, S., Ašimović, Z., Gavrić, T., Vesna, V.: The influence of essential oils on the quality and stability of olive oil. In: Brka, M., et al. (eds.) CE-Food 2020, pp. 33–44. Springer, Cham (2022). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-04797-8_3
- Stokić, D.: Stability determination of edible oils with antioxidants during Schaal-Oven test. Undergraduate thesis, Polytehnic in Pozega (2017)
- Luaces, P., Pérez, A.G., García, J.M., Sanz, C.: Effects of heat-treatments of olive fruit on pigment composition of virgin olive oil. Food Chem. 90(1–2), 169–174 (2005)
- Anniva, C., Grigoriadou, D., Psomiadou, E., Tsimidou, M.Z.: Pheophytin α degradation products as useful indices in the quality control of virgin olive oil. J. Am. Oil Chem. Soc. 83(4), 371–375 (2006)
- Psomiadou, E., Tsimidou, M.: Pigments in Greek virgin olive oils: occurrence and levels. J. Sci. Food Agric. 81(7), 640–647 (2001)
- Gómez-Alonso, S., Mancebo-Campos, V., Salvador, M.D., Fregapane, G.: Evolution of major and minor components and oxidation indices of virgin olive oil during 21 months storage at room temperature. Food Chem. 100(1), 36–42 (2007)
- Commission Regulation (EU) No 432/2012 European Commission EU 432/2012 and the European Food Safety Authority
- Castillo-Luna, A., Criado-Navarro, I., Ledesma-Escobar, C.A., López-Bascón, M.A., Priego-Capote, F.: The decrease in the health benefits of extra virgin olive oil during storage is conditioned by the initial phenolic profile. Food Chem. 336, 127730 (2021)
- Čorbo, S., Đorđević, Đ: Influence of storage conditions on fatty acids composition, colour and stability of olive oil. Uljarstvo J. Edible Oil Ind. 40(1–2), 9–15 (2009)
- Bošković, A.: Determination of polyphenol content in extra virgin olive oil. Master's thesis, University of Zagreb, Faculty of Pharmacy and Biochemistry (2019)



Plant-Based Diet as a Sustainable Diet or a New Diet Trend

Lejla Mujezin¹(⊠), Adna Salkić², and Irzada Taljić³

¹ PZU Apoteka Avicena, Branilaca 41, 71300 Visoko, Bosnia and Herzegovina l.mujezin@avicena.ba

² JU Apoteke Sarajevo, Maršala Tita 1, 71000 Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina

³ Faculty of Agriculture and Food Sciences, University of Sarajevo, Zmaja od Bosne 8, 71000 Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina

Abstract. Nutrition that is based on mostly consuming plant origin food, also known as plant-based diet, generates multiple forms of dietary patterns, which in common have lower consummation of animal-based food. Plant-based diet must not be mistaken for a vegetarian diet, or subcategories of the one, even though they all have in common lower intake of animal-based food. Plant-based diet is promoted because of its' multiple health benefits.

The aim of the research is to evaluate plant-based diet as a sustainable diet or as a new diet trend. Results of this research demonstrate: positive effect on a cardiovascular health (positive effect on the decrease of lipid blood concentration, the decrease of blood pressure, the decrease of body weight, the improvement of blood sugar control, the improvement of the overall lifestyle), enablement of required protein intake among the athletes, enablement of the intake of dietary fibers, plant oils, nuts, seeds and nutritive rich food. On the contrary plant-based diet is not represented as a safe diet for children and pregnant women.

Plant-based diet satisfies all aspects of sustainability, fulfilling the regulations of environment protection, preserving humans' health, enabling easy meal preparation and respecting peoples' cultural habits. It has been shown that is not safe for pregnant women and children. Popularization of the plant-based diet would ensure industry change, improvement of peoples' overall health and satisfaction of social and ecological aspects of worlds' population.

The used study method for this research is the analysis of literatures' sources on the topic of plant-based diet.

Keywords: plant-based diet · sustainable diet · healthy diet

1 Introduction

Plant-based diet is a healthy diet which includes mostly the consummation of nutritive rich plant-based foods, and decreased consummation of refined foods, oil, and animal-based foods (including eggs and dairy), as it is mentioned in Tuso (2013). Plant-based diet refers to increased consummation of larger amounts of fruit, vegetables, legumes (beans and soya beans), seeds and nuts in smaller amounts [1].

Sustainabilty in the area of diet and nutrition was first mentioned in 1980, at the Institute of nutrition, at the University of Giessen. Sustainable diet is the one that incorporates intake of plant-based food, such as: fruit, vegetables, whole grains, potatoes, legumes and dairy products, and decreased intake of processed foods. Sustainable diet also refers to increased intake of plant-based oils, nuts and seeds, and decreased intake of fish, eggs and meat [2].

Increased intake of plant-based foods, such as: whole grains, vegetables and fruit; correlates to decreased risk of cardiovascular diseases, where increased intake of healthy plant-based foods such as potatoes and certain sugars is related to increased risk of metabolic diseases, as it is mentioned in Satija et al. (2016) [3].

There are three plant-based indicators established, as it is mentioned in Martínez-González (2014):

- PDI (an overall plant-based diet index)
- hPDI (a healthful PDI) and
- uPDI (an unhealthful PDI),

and they can evaluate the quality of a plant-based diet [4].

The goal of this research paper is to distinguish a plant-based diet as a sustainable diet or a new diet trend.

From the research problem we have excluded the following questions, such as:

- Is a plant-based diet safe for the environment?
- Is plant-based food nutrient rich?
- Is a plant-based diet healthy and safe for the healthy and unhealthy consumers?

2 Research Methodology

Analysis of literatures' sources on the topic of plant-based diet, is the used study method.

In terms to achieve the noted goal, literature data from the following sources were used:

- Available scientific and professional literature;
- Original scientific articles from biomedicine magazines;
- Medical data bases (Medline, Embase, Science Direct), public and digital archive PubMed;
- Electronic magazines and books;
- Internet, general and specialized research programs.

Research type:

- Retrospective and
- Descritpive.

3 Results and Discussion

3.1 Results of the Studies About Effects of Plant-Based Diet on the Environment

Agriculture and meat consummation are responsible for 25% production of all greenhouse gases. Livestock breeding results with a 250 times greater Greenhouse gas emissions (GHGE) on a gram of produced protein in a comparison to legumes production.

Eggs, dairy, nontransportable seafood production have smaller GHGE in a comparison to the meat production [5].

Germany notes that 72% of emitted gases come from animal-based foods production, where 28% of emitted gases come from plant-based foods' production [6].

Animal-based food production engages larger financial resources, amid greater costs. In Germany, animal-based foods industry results in emitting 85% of total gas emission, which corresponds to the 44% of gas emission only from animal-based foods production [7].

Surface of used land for animal-based food production has increased during the last 20 years, on every continent, excluding Africa. Because of the lack of land for livestock breeding, many countries prefer import of animal-based foods. European Union imported 362 000 tons of beef (176 000 tons from Brasil and 106 000 tons from Argentina) during the time period from 2008. Until 2010 [8].

Water consuption is way lower for production of plant-based foods in comparison to the animal-based food production. As a confirmation of the noted, consuption of water to the kg of produced foods' products is listed: 15 415 L water for 1 kg of produced beef, 5 988 L for 1 kg of produced pork, 5 060 L water for 1 kg of produced cheese, 3 265 L water for 1 kg of produced eggs, 1 827 L water for 1 kg of produced wheat, 822 L for 1 kg of produced apples, 287 L water for 1 kg of produced potatoes, 214 L for 1 kg of produced tomatoes [9].

Waste that comes from animal-based foods processing, contains large amount of nitrogen, phosphorus and pottasium compounds, traces of metals and antibiotics. Also it is a source of more than 199 zoonotic pathogens, which can pollute certain foods' sources and water. It is estimated that 76 milion Americans yearly, are inffected by causitive agents that come from food. Worldwide 20 milion people die from diseases which are caused by the agents that come from food [10].

Production of 1 kcal of plant-based protein requires 2,2 kcal of fossil fuel. Production of 1 kcal of animal-based protein requires 25 kcal of fossil fuel, which is 11 times more in comparison to the production of plant-based protein. If livestock would only be fed by quality food, this fossil fuel use would be twice as lower [11].

Goal of the study by Friel et al. (2009), was to find the strategy for gass emission reduction for 50% until 2030. Considering the results, it is found that 30% reduction in livestock breeding could achieve the noted goal. It is also found that the livestock breeding reduction can also lower the incidence of ischemic hearth disease for 15% [12].

Results of the study by Monsivais et al. (2015), have shown that greater compliance to the Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension (DASH) diet, caused lower GHGE and increased financial expense. Individuals that had a better compliance, showed 16% lower GHGE a day, but 18% higher financial expense a day. Consummation of larger amounts of fruit, whole grains, and smaller amounts of salt, red and processed meat caused lower GHGE, while the consummation of vegetables, low fat dairy and highly sugared products, increased the GHGE. Data also shows that the DASH diet had 18% bigger financial cost for an individual, no matter the persons' adherence to the diet, in comparison to the unhealthy diets [13].

Nutrients	Plant-based hamburgers	Animal based hamburgers	P value	Plant-based sausages	Animal-based sausages	P value	Plant-based minced meat	Animal based minced meat	P value
Energy (kJ)	736 ± 194	760 ± 257	0,737	735 ± 155	1157 ± 287	<0,001	574 ± 238	774 ± 162	0,035
Proteins (g)	9,7 ± 2,6	$15,4\pm2,6$	<0,001	$13,4\pm6,0$	$16,0 \pm 3,1$	<0,081	$13,7\pm5,6$	$25,1 \pm 4,0$	<0,001
Fats (g)	$7,2\pm4,8$	$13,7\pm7,8$	0,001	$7,9\pm3,8$	$22,1\pm8,4$	< 0,001	$5,4\pm5,2$	$9,4 \pm 3,6$	0,053
Saturated fats (g)	$1,5\pm1,6$	$6,2 \pm 4,1$	0,005	$2,4\pm2,1$	$8,5\pm1,6$	< 0,001	$2,1\pm3,1$	$3,9 \pm 1,7$	0,108
Carbohydrates (g)	$16,7 \pm 7,2$	$5,2 \pm 1,9$	<0,001	$11,4\pm6,2$	$3,7\pm1,5$	< 0,001	$7,9\pm7,3$	0	
Sugars (g)	$3,4\pm3,2$	1.3 ± 0.9	0,046	$2,2\pm1,9$	0		$1,9\pm1,5$	0	
Dietary fibers (g)	$5,3\pm2,3$	NA		$4,2 \pm 1,8$	$0,6\pm0,4$	< 0,001	$5,9\pm3,4$	0	
Sodium (g)	372 ± 1173	463 ± 119	0,119	497 ± 136	826 ± 142	< 0,001	401 ± 310	64 ± 12	0,007
Iron (g)	$3,6\pm0,8$	Not registered		$3,4 \pm 0,4$	$3,6 \pm 1,0$	0,529	$2,8 \pm 1,0$	$2,1 \pm 1,1$	0,2
HSR	$3,9\pm0,4$	$2,9 \pm 0,9$	0,005	$3,8\pm0,6$	$1,4 \pm 0,2$	< 0,001	$4 \pm 1,2$	$4,2 \pm 0,3$	0,623

Table 1. Nutrients and HSR/100g for plant-based hamburgers, sausages, minced meat and animal-based hamburgers, sausages, minced meat [14].

Study conducted by Curtain and Grafenauer (2019), which analyzed 137 products which represent plant-based replacement for meat, shows that the number of plantbased meat products has grown 5 times in a comparison to 2015., as it is shown in Table 1. Plant-based chicken was ranked first for the protein content, while the plantbased sausages had the biggest amount of saturated fat, which content varried around 1,4–2,4 g/100. Health Star Rating (HSR) value was 46% for all products. Plant-based products had higher content of carbonhydrates and dietary fiber, and lower energy value in comparison with the animal based meat. Plant-based minced meat had 6 times higher content of sodium than animal-based sausages. Difference in iron content in minced meat and sausages was not noticed, while the category of animal-based hamburgers did not show quantitative content of iron [14].

Results of the study conducted by Baden et al. (2020), have shown that during the time period of 4 years, Physical component scores (PCS) have lowered, while the Mental component scores (MCS) have increased among the participants. Results point on the correlation of growth of PDI and hPDI for more than 10 points and positive changes to PCS and MCS. It was shown that PCS increase of 10 points effected the hPDI increase in NHS group of participants, while the 10 point MCS growth resulted in the increase of hPDI in NHS II group of participants. Results of the study show the positive correlation between hPDI and HRQoL. Increased compliance to the plant-based diet results in the improvement of physical and mental HRQoL [15].

3.2 Results of the Studies About the Effect of Plant-Based Diet on Cardiovascular Health

A study conducted by John et al. (2002), has analyzed the effect of improved fruit and vegetable consummation on antioxidant plasma concentration and blood pressure during the time period of 6 months. Results have shown that intake of 1,4 portions of fruit and

vegetables lower the systolic blood pressure for 4 mmHg, and diastolic pressure for 1,5 mmHg [16].

Meta analysis conducted by Wang et al. (2014), had shown that the intake of 1 portion of unprocessed red meat increases the death rate from cardiovascular diseases, no matter the duration of red meat consummation [17].

Randomized clinical study conducted by Gardner et al. (2005), shows that the LDL and trygliceride reduction was more significant in "low-fat plus" group. Participants practiced the diet which was along the American Heart Association (AHA) recommendations. Control group practiced "low-fat" diet, while the study group practiced "low-fat plus diet". Among the "low-fat" group, tryglcerides levels were decreased by 0,24 mmol/L and LDL levels for 0,18 mmol/L. Tryglicerides level among "low-fat plus" group were lowered for 0,18 mmol/L, while the LDL level were decreased by 0,36 mmol/L. Tryglicerides in the "Low-fat plus" group were decreased by 8% and LDL by 9%, in comparison to the start values [18].

Ketih et al. (2015) have conducted the study, where they studied the effect of modified portofolio diet on HDL and LDL levels. Practice of the noted diet resulted in 19% LDL decrease and significant homocistein decrease. Modified portofolio diet didn't have an impact on HDL levels [19].

Results of the study conducted by Song et al. (2016), show that the replacement of animal-based proteins by 3% with plant-based proteins, causes a decrease of risk from cardiovascular disease caused deaths by 10% and the risk of cardiovascular diseases by 12% [20].

3.3 Results of the Studies About the Effect of Plant-Based Diet on Diabetes

Results of the study that was conducted by Chen et al. (2018), show that the increased intake of plant-based foods is connected to lower Homeostatic Model Assessment for Insulin Resistance (HOMA-IR), even among the participants with increased body mass index. Results show that the increased plant-based index is connected to the lower incidence of prediabetes, as well as diabetes type 2, no matter the body mass, age, and gender [21].

Meta analysis of 13 randomized controlled studies conducted by Viguiliouk et al. (2015), studied the effect of animal-based protein replacement with plant-based protein, and its' effect on blood sugar levels. Animal protein intake in an amount of 35% of total protein intake, has resulted in hemoglobin A1c, glucose and fasting insulin decrease [22].

Results of 12 conducted cohort studies by Anue et al. (2009), show that the risk of diabetes was 17% greater for the participants who consumed greater amount of red meat, in comparison to the participants who consumed smaller amounts less often. For every 120 g of consumed red meat, risk of diabetes was greater by 20% [23].

Study that analyzed the effect of plant-based diet on blood glucose levels and body mass was conducted by Wolfram and Ismail-Beigi (2011). It showed the decrease in blood glucose level for 28% and body weight reduction for about 7,2 kg, among the participants who practiced plant-based diet, in a comparison with the control group. Control group practiced the diet for diabetics according to the American guidelines and had the same calorie intake as the group of the participants [24].

3.4 Results of the Studies About the Effect of Plant-Based Diet on Obesity

A study conductes by Shintani et al. (1991), on obese female and male participants, who consumed traditional Hawaian diet, which is a plant-based diet. This diet consisted from low intake of fish and chicken, and high intake of fruits and vegetables. Participants lowered their calorie intake from 2594 kcal to 1569 kcal a day, and increased their carbonhydrate intake from 51% to 78% of total daily energy intake. Participants reduced their body mass for an average 15 lb [25].

Results of the study conducted by Najjar et al. (2019), had shown that the intake of 11.8 portions of fruit and 16 protions of vegetable daily, had reduced energy intake by 700 kcal and noted weight loss by 14,75 lb [26].

A study conducted by Wright et al. (2017), had reviewed an impact of plant-based diet with decreased fat intake, which was about 7–15% of the total energy intake; on cardiovascular health and weight loss. Results have shown a decrease in body mass index for 4,4 kg m⁻² after 6 months, and after 12 months 4,2 kg m⁻², among fat and obese participants. After three months, level of cholesterol had lowered and measured average 0,95 mmol/l, after 6 months 0,71 mmol/l, and after 12 months into the study, it measured average 0,55 mmol/l [27].

In the cohort study, conducted by Gomez-Donoso et al. (2019), effect of healthy and unhealthy plant-based diet on body weight was compared. It was found that healthy plant-based diet decreases the risk of overweight body mass for 18% during the 10 years time period, while unhealthy plant-based diet decreased the risk for only 7% [28].

3.5 Results of the Studies About the Effects of the Plant-Based Diet on Athlete Performances

Athletes often consume protein suplements, which are produced from soya, rice, peas and hemp. It is recommneded to consume protein rich foods, such as: tofu, nuts, seeds, hemp seeds, which can also be combined into smoothies and shakes. Isolated proteins in the form of powder are micronutrient poor, when compared to the wholesome foods. Because of the lack of conducted studies, there are no recommendation for increased protein intake for athletes [29].

A study shown by Frank et al. (2009), points that there is no documented advantage by consuming more than 2 g/kg body weight a day, because excessive protein intake can also result negativly on calcium depos, kidney function, bone health and cardiovascular health [30].

3.6 Results of the Studies About the Effect of Plant-Based Diet on Cognitive Health

In western countries consummation of red meat is connected to the negative impact on cognitive health, while in Asian countries this kind of effect is not reported. The cause of the mentioned statement, is that Asians consume smaller amounts of red meat, about 35 g a day, while western populations consume 128 g a day [31].

Consummation of tuna and dark meat fish has a positive effect on cognitive heath, and this effect is conected to the diets with decreased intake of animal-based foods, especially

among older females, as it is noted in the study conducted by Kim et al. (2013). Female participants who consumed 1,1–2,0 portions of tuna and dark meat fish a week, have showed better results in cognitive tests, when compared to female participants who consumed less than one portion of fish a week [32].

The study review (Kaartinen et al., 2000; Yadav et al., 2016; Rauma et al., 1993; Elkan et al., 2008) pointed out a mild positive effect of plant-based diet on the relief of migraines, multiple sclerosis, fibromialgia and rheumatoide arthritis symptoms [33].

Longitude study, which was conducted in England, by Boehm et al. (2018), shows a positive corelation of fruit and vegetables consummation on overall well-being. Also the results of the study which is conducted in New Zealand, show a positive correalation of psychological health and plant-based diet. Interventional study which was conducted on 500 participants, who were suffering from depression and anxiety, noticed the relief of symptoms after the participants consumed plant-based diet and modified their lifestyle, in a duration of 12 weeks [34].

3.7 Results of the Studies About the Effect of Plant-Based Diet on Pregnant Women and Children

Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics (ACND) had confirmed that a plant-based diet is safe during the pregnancy, and that insures the health of mother and child [35].

Plant-based diet and a diet with no consummation of animal-based foods, when correctly practiced, are safe for health of pregnant women and children. It is important to note, that correct practice of the two noted diets is possible in well developed countries, in which people are well educated about the diets and where the needed foods are easily approachable and available [36].

Gibsson et al. (2008), have conducted a crossection study on 99 pregnant women. Diet of the praticipants included the intake of corn and fermented Ethiopian bananas, while the intake of animal-based foods was less than 1% of total energy intake. Results show that 23% of pregnant women had low levels of vitamin B12, which were lower than 150 pmol/L, while 62% of them had increased level of methylmalonic acid, which was higher than 271 nmol/L. Even though they were diagnosed with vitain B12 anemia, they were not showing the symptoms of macrotic anemia [37].

Results of the study which was conducted by Haidar et al. (1999), in which the participants were the children from Ethiopia who practiced the diet with lower intake of animal-based foods; show morbidity about 22,9%, caused mostly from high fever and cough. According to the anthropometrical calculations 29,6% of children were malnourished, and 6,8% of children had lower body wight when compared to their height. 13.6% of children had lower hemoglobin level, while only two of them had the level of hemoglobine lower than 70 g/l. Iron anemia was found in 18,6% of children, who mostly consumed plant-based foods [38].

4 Conclusion

Plant-based diet has a positive effect on cardiovascular health, which is a result of lower lipid blood levels, lowered blood pressure, weight loss, improved control over blood glucose levels and improved lifestyle. Plant-based diet considers higher intake of dietary fibers, plant oils, nuts and seeds, and nutritive rich foods. Plant-based diet is able to satisfy athletes' performances and their needs for protein intake.

We have to note the importance of plant-based indexes, as objective indicators, which can be used for evaluation of the plant-based diet.

Plant-based diet satisfies all of the norms of sustainable diet, satisfying the norms of environment preservation, peoples' health preservation, and also respecting the cultural aspects and meal preparation processes. According to the previously mentioned, we can say that plant-based diet is a sustainable diet, and as such is recommended for everyone except children and pregnant women.

Its is important to point out the relatively small "plant-based" foods' market, which is in a constant growth. In future, people should aspire to the improvement and change of agriculture and nutrition politics, as well as promotion of plant-based diet on global level. This should result in improved processes of plant-based foods production and distribution, which would improve the health of human population, as well as social and ecological aspects of world population.

References

- 1. Tuso, P.: Nutritional update for physicians: plant-based diets. Permanente J. 17, 61 (2013)
- von Koerber, K., Thomas, M., Klaus, L.: Vollwert-Ernährung: Konzeption einer zeitgemäßen und nachhaltigen Ernährung. Deutsche Zeitschrift für Akupunktur 55, 55 (2012)
- 3. Satija, A., et al.: Plant-based dietary patterns and incidence of type 2 diabetes in US men and women: results from three prospective cohort studies. PLOS Med. **13**, e1002039 (2016)
- 4. Martínez-González, M.A., et al.: A provegetarian food pattern and reduction in total mortality in the Prevención con Dieta Mediterránea (PREDIMED) study. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. **100**(Suppl 1), 320S-328S (2014)
- Tilman, D., Clark, M.: Global diets link environmental sustainability and human health. Nature 515, 518–522 (2014)
- Dräger de Teran, T.: Das große Fressen: Wie unsere Ernährungsgewohnheiten den Planeten gefährden, 1st edn. WWF Deutschland (2015)
- McIntyre, B.: International Assessment of Agricultural Knowledge, Science and Technology for Development. Isl and Press, Washington, DC (2008)
- 8. von Witzke, H., Noleppa, S., Zhirkova, I.: Meat eats land. WWF Germany, Berlin (2011)
- 9. Mekonnen, M., Hoekstra, A.: The green, blue, and grey water footprint of crops and derived crop products. Hydrol. Earth Syst. Sci. 15, 1577–1600 (2011)
- Akhtar, A., Greger, M., Ferdowsian, H., Frank, E.: Health professionals' roles in animal agriculture, climate change, and human health. Am. J. Prev. Med. 36, 182–187 (2009)
- Pimentel, D., Pimentel, M.: Sustainability of meat-based and plant-based diets and the environment. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 78(3), 660S-663S (2003)
- Friel, S., et al.: Public health benefits of strategies to reduce greenhouse-gas emissions: food and agriculture. The Lancet 374, 2016–2025 (2009)
- Monsivais, P., et al.: Greater accordance with the Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension dietary pattern is associated with lower diet-related greenhouse gas production but higher dietary costs in the United Kingdom. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 102, 138–145 (2015)
- 14. Curtain, F., Grafenauer, S.: Plant-based meat substitutes in the flexitarian age: an audit of products on supermarket shelves. Nutrients **11**, 2603 (2019)
- Baden, M., et al.: Changes in plant-based diet quality and health-related quality of life in women. Br. J. Nutr. 124, 960–970 (2020)

- John, J.H., Ziebland, S., Yudkin, P., Roe, L.S., Neil, H.A.W.: Effects of fruit and vegetable consumption on plasma antioxidant concentrations and blood pressure: a randomized controlled trial. The Lancet 359, 1969–1974 (2002)
- 17. Wang, X., et al.: Fruit and vegetable consumption and mortality from all causes, cardiovascular disease, and cancer: systematic review and dose-response meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. BMJ **349**, g4490 (2014)
- Gardner, C.D., Coulston, A., Chatterjee, L., Rigby, A., Spiller, G., Farquhar, J.W.: The effect of a plant-based diet on plasma lipids in hypercholesterolemic adults. Ann. Intern. Med. 142(9), 725 (2005)
- Keith, M., et al.: A modified portfolio diet complements medical management to reduce cardiovascular risk factors in diabetic patients with coronary artery disease. Clin. Nutr. 34, 541–548 (2015)
- 20. Song, M., et al.: Association of animal and plant protein intake with all-cause and cause-specific mortality. JAMA Intern. Med. **176**, 1453 (2016)
- Chen, Z., et al.: Plant versus animal based diets and insulin resistance, prediabetes and type 2 diabetes: the Rotterdam Study. Eur. J. Epidemiol. 33, 883–893 (2018). https://doi.org/10. 1007/s10654-018-0414-8
- Viguiliouk, E., et al.: Effect of replacing animal protein with plant protein on glycemic control in diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Nutrients 7, 9804–9824 (2015)
- Aune, D., Ursin, G., Veierød, M.: Meat consumption and the risk of type 2 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis of cohort studies. Diabetologia 52, 2277–2287 (2009). https:// doi.org/10.1007/s00125-009-1481-x
- 24. Wolfram, T., Ismail-Beigi, F.: Efficacy of high-fiber diets in the management of type 2 diabetes mellitus. Endocr. Pract. **17**, 132–142 (2011)
- Shintani, T.T., Hughes, C.K., Beckham, S., O'Connor, H.K.: Obesity and cardiovascular risk intervention through the ad libitum feeding of traditional Hawaiian diet. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 53, 1647S-1651S (1991)
- Najjar, R., Feresin, R.: Plant-based diets in the reduction of body fat: physiological effects and biochemical insights. Nutrients 11, 2712 (2019)
- 27. Wright, N., Wilson, L., Smith, M., Duncan, B., McHugh, P.: The BROAD study: a randomised controlled trial using a whole food plant-based diet in the community for obesity, ischaemic heart disease or diabetes. Nutr. Diabetes **7**, e256 (2017)
- 28. Gómez-Donoso, C., et al.: Healthful and unhealthful provegetarian food patterns and the incidence of overweight/obesity in the Seguimiento Universidad De Navarra (SUN) cohort (OR33-05-19). Curr. Dev. Nutr. **3**, 3130721 (2019)
- 29. Fuhrman, J., Ferreri, D.: Fueling the vegetarian (vegan) athlete. Curr. Sports Med. Rep. 9, 233–241 (2010)
- Frank, H., et al.: Effect of short-term high-protein compared with normal-protein diets on renal hemodynamics and associated variables in healthy young men. Am. J. Clin. Nutr. 90, 1509–1516 (2009)
- Rajaram, S., Jones, J., Lee, G.: Plant-based dietary patterns, plant foods, and age-related cognitive decline. Adv. Nutr. 10, S422–S436 (2019)
- Kim, D.H., et al.: Seafood types and age-related cognitive decline in the Women's Health Study. J. Gerontol. Ser. A 68, 1255–1262 (2013)
- 33. Medawar, E., Huhn, S., Villringer, A., Veronica Witte, A.: The effects of plant-based diets on the body and the brain: a systematic review. Transl. Psychiatry **9**, 226 (2019)
- Boehm, J., Soo, J., Zevon, E., Chen, Y., Kim, E., Kubzansky, L.: Longitudinal associations between psychological well-being and the consumption of fruits and vegetables. Health Psychol. 37, 959–967 (2018)

- Craig, W.J., Mangels, A.R.: Position of the American Dietetic Association: vegetarian diets. J. Am. Diet. Assoc. 109, 1266–1282 (2009)
- Melina, V., Craig, W., Levin, S.: Position of the academy of nutrition and dietetics: vegetarian diets. J. Acad. Nutr. Diet. 116, 1970–1980 (2016)
- Gibson, R.S., Donovan, U.M., Heath, A.L.: Dietary strategies to improve the iron and zinc nutriture of young women following a vegetarian diet. Plant Foods Hum. Nutr. 51, 1–16 (1997)
- 38. Haidar, J., Nekatibeb, H., Urga, K.: Iron deficiency anaemia status in pregnant and lactating mothers of various staple areas in rural Ethiopia. East Afr. Med. J. **76**, 618–622 (1999)



Characteristics of Steviol Glycosides and Their Function as Sucrose Substitutes: A Review

Adna Salkić¹(^{ICI}), Lejla Mujezin², and Sanja Oručević-Žuljević³

 ¹ Public Institution Pharmacy Sarajevo, Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina adnasalkic21@gmail.com
 ² PZU Apoteka Avicena, Visoko, Bosnia and Herzegovina
 ³ Faculty of Agriculture and Food Sciences, University of Sarajevo, Zmaja Od Bosne 8, Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina

Abstract. *Stevia rebaudiana* Bertoni or stevia represents a branched small perennial shrub from the Asteraceae family. Stevia derivates are available on the market in the form of tablets, powder and liquid. It is used in herbal medicines (diabetic tonics), food industry (confectionery, desserts, ice cream, sauces, ketchup, drinks, soft drinks, formulas for athletes) as well as cosmetics (toothpastes and mouthwashes). The feeling of sweetness in stevia is caused by steviol glycosides. The four primary steviol glycosides: stevioside, rebaudioside A, rebaudioside C, dulcoside A. Stevia is a natural non-nutritive intensive sweetener that has a significant advantage over other sweeteners (sucrose and artificial sweeteners) as a food industry ingredient. It can be used as a sucrose replacement in beverages and food products. Stevia enhances the taste of food, helps digestion, weight loss, has antioxidant and antimicrobial action, prevents tooth decay among diabetics and healthy people who care about their health. In the future, stevia is probably going to play a significant role in the supply of high strength sweeteners for the expanding natural food market.

Keywords: Steviol glycoside · stevia · sucrose substitute in food and beverages

1 Introduction

Today, there is a great interest in healthy eating throughout the world as a result of the increased incidence of obesity, which initially occurred in developed countries, and is now becoming represented in all parts of the world. Since 1975, the prevalence of obesity has increased threefold. Several other medical disorders, including steatosis, diabetes, cardiovascular illnesses, and malignant diseases, are associated with obesity as a condition. Also, the prevalence of diabetes has dramatically increased over the past few decades, which is why it is critical to act quickly to lower the disease's risk among the general population. Measures include limiting the intake of added sugars or substitution sugar with caloric or non caloric sweeteners, the application of which has the potential to reduce daily caloric intake, for the prevention and control of diabetes. The American Food and Drug Administration (FDA-Food and Drug Association) has approved six artificial sweeteners and two natural sweeteners, produced by plants stevia and monk fruit, which represent in addition to natural and non-nutritive sweeteners. Consumption of foods and beverages sweetened with artificial sweeteners has increased in recent years.

It is assumed that substitution nutritional sweeteners with non-nutritive sweeteners in food and drink can help control body weight. Bearing in mind the mentioned health benefits, an increasing number of companies want to follow this trend, with the intention of creating healthier products, they replace their current products with new formulations. This implies the use of non-nutritive sweeteners as the main ingredients of new formulations, which ensure sufficient sweetners of the product without increasing its energy value. As a non-nutritive sweetener, steviol glycosides (SGs) is increasingly present in food products, in numerous studies as the main substitute for sucrose as a commonly present sweeteners.

2 Steviol Glycosides in Stevia

Stevia rebaudiana Bertoni or stevia is a small branched perennial shrub from the Asteraceae family, native to the Amambay region in northern Paraguay. Stevia was given the names Moises Santiago Bertoni, an Italian botanist, and the Paraguayan chemist Ovid Rebaudi. It grows as an herbaceous shrub, usually 65-80 cm high. Stevia leaves are up to 5 cm long and up to 2cm wide, but the length and height vary depending on the variety of the plant itself. The plant can be cultivated and the leaves are used to sweeten food and drinks. Sweeteners made of stevia are available in liquid, powder and granulated form. From ancient times, stevia leaves have been used as medicine, to cure wounds, diabetes, and high blood pressure, as well as to sweeten a variety of beverages [1-3]. There are 154 identified species of stevia, and Stevia Rabeudiana Bertoni is one of them, and is particularly popular for its sweet taste. It is characterized by elongated, lanceolate or shovel-shaped leaves with jagged edges from the middle of the leaf to the tip [4]. Diterpenes, triterpenes, tannins, stigmasterol, ascorbic acid, alkaloids, steroids, saponins, flavonoids, carotene, chromium, cobalt, magnesium, iron, potassium, phosphorus, riboflavin, thiamin, zinc, apigenin, luteolin, and quercetin are just a few of the numerous substances found in stevia leaves [5]. The leaves also contain a variety of natural glycoside chemicals, such as SGs (Fig. 1), including steviolbioside, stevioside, dulcoside A, and rebaudiosides A, C. These compounds are what give the leaves their sweet flavor [4].

Steviol Glycosides

So date, more than 40 SGs have been discovered [6]. Stevioside (from 5-15% of dry matter), rebaudioside A (Reb A) F (2–6% of dry matter), rebaudioside C (Reb C) (1–2% of dry matter), and dulcoside A (0.4–0.7% dry matter) are the most prevalent SGs in stevia leaves [7]. The only difference between SGs and other diterpenes, such as steviol, is the quantity and kind of sugars connected to the R1 (OH) and R2 (H) locations of aglycone steviol. Aglycon steviol can be modified using the sugars glucose, fructose, rhamnose, xylose, and deoxyglucose. The two most significant SGs are stevioside and Reb A, which are 200–300 times sweeter than sucrose and have no calories. Stevioside

and Reb A both have two glucose molecules connected to steviol, with the difference being that Reb A has three glucose molecules attached [1, 8].



Fig.1. Chemical structure of the SGs [6].

In addition to sweetness, SGs have additional therapeutic effects including antihyperglycemic, antihypertensive, anti-inflammatory, antibacterial, antiviral, antifungal, anticancer, antidiarrheal, diuretic and immunomodulatory effects, as well as in the prevention of caries and obesity. It helps treat type 2 diabetes by promoting the release of insulin because of its effects on lowering hyperlipidemia and insulin sensitivity [2, 9].

The aforementioned characteristics of SGs allow for their widespread use in herbal medicines (tonics for diabetics), the food industry (candy, ice cream, sauces, ketchups, barbecue sauces, formulas for athletes), and cosmetics (mouthwashes and toothpastes, creams) [7].

Earlier studies have shown that the smallest polar glycoside (steviolbioside) is relatively weak in sweetness, and the two more polar glycosides (Reb A and Reb D) are among the strongest in sweetness. Table 1. Shows the relative sweetness of SGs compared to sucrose. Many studies demonstrate that Reb A's overall taste quality is superior to stevioside's due to Reb A's lower bitter taste component and lower amount of cooling in its flavor [10].

Compound	Relative sweetness compared to sucrose
Stevioside	300
Rebaudioside A	250-450
Rebaudioside B	300–350
Rebaudioside C	50–120
Rebaudioside D	250-450
Rebaudioside E	150–300
Dulcoside A	50–120
Steviobioside	100–125

Table 1. Comparing the relative sweetness of SGs and sucrose [10].

According to Lindley DuBois et al. examined the sweetness and bitterness of SGs depending on other commercial sweeteners. The findings revealed that Reb A has a substantially lower amount of bitterness than stevioside in addition to having a greater flavor (Table 2) [10].

Table 2. The strength and taste of stevioside and Reb A expressed as a percentage of the over all taste impression [10].

Compound	% of total taste						
	Sweet	Bitter	Other flavors				
Stevioside	62	30	8				
Rebaudioside A	85	12	3				

Table 2. Shows the strength of sweetness and the percentage of flavors expressed: sweet and bitter, where it can be seen that Reb A is stronger than stevioside in percentage of sweetness, 85 compared to 62, and bitter in percentage of the total taste prevails with stevioside 30, and for Reb A it is 12. From this data it can be seen that other tastes (tastes that are not really desirable and can cause an aftertaste in the mouth) A Reb are more favorable, there are almost no other taste sensations - 3, compared to stevioside which is this value 8 (2.5 times higher).

Physico and Chemical Properties of SGs

SGs can withstand heat. High temperatures have no effect on the SGs' structure, preventing them from losing their sweetness. They can be used in food processing, such as pasteurization, sterilization, and frying, due to their stability at higher temperatures.

SGs Steviol glycosides do not ferment or caramelize. They are well soluble in water and water alcohol solutions. They are resistant to acids and bases [11]. Steviol glycosides are stable across a broad pH range from 3 to 9, even at 100 °C, which makes them acceptable as food additives. Food rarely displays pH values higher than 9, and sweetness rapidly decreases above pH 9 despite this. When refrigerated at 37 °C, citric and phosphoric acid containing carbonated beverages lose sweetness by 36% and 17%, respectively. When exposed to UV light, Reb A degrades, while stevioside is stable under the same conditions [10].

Metabolism of SGs

The bacteria in the colon breaks down SGs by cleaving the glycosidic bonds, eliminating the sugar components and leaving behind the aglycone backbone, or steviol. SGs are not digested in the upper section of the gastrointestinal tract. The glycosidic linkages in stevioside cannot be broken down by human saliva, salivary alpha amylase, pepsin, pancreatin, or pancreatic alpha amylase, however human intestinal microbiota can convert stevioside to steviol. With their glucosidase activity, bacteria from the Bacteroides group cause the hydrolysis of the SGs in the intestines. The released parts of the sugar are not absorbed and the intestinal microflora uses them as a source of energy, which makes it a calorie free sweetener. Steviol is not metabolized in the intestinal microbiota, it is quickly absorbed systemically, transported to the liver where, with the help of glucuronic acid, it is conjugated into steviol glucuronide, which is excreted in urine and feces [1, 10, 12].

Regardless of the kind or quantity of sugar groups, SGs are hydrolyzed to steviol at generally similar rates. Like other SGs, stevioside and Reb A go through comparable metabolic and elimination processes [1, 13] (Fig. 2).



Fig.2. Metabolism of the SGs [1].

3 Substitution Sucrose with SGs

SGs are promising new raw material for the food market, with great potential for development [14]. Stevia and stevia based sweeteners are good substitutes for sucrose for several reasons. They are added in a relatively small amount and have no energy value. They have a variety of advantages over other high intensity sweeteners including acesulfame, alitame, aspartame, saccharin, and sucralose, therefore it is reasonable to anticipate that SGs will eventually replace them as the primary source of high-intensity sweeteners for the expanding natural food market [4].

Using SGs in the treatment of several chronic and non-chronic diseases, including diabetes, cardiovascular disease, cancer, kidney disease, obesity, inflammatory bowel disease, and dental caries, has a number of advantages. Regular usage of SGs has been shown to reduce blood sugar and cholesterol levels, enhance blood coagulation and cell regeneration, inhibit the formation of cancerous cells, and strengthen blood vessels [15].

Health Benefits of SGs on Glucose Level, Energy Intake, Appetite and Feeling of Satiety Food has a significant impact on how blood glucose is regulated. SGs increases pancreatic performance and acts as a glucose stabilizer. Increased insulin sensitivity from stevioside lowers blood sugar levels. Moreover, because it is not absorbed by the body, SGs is suggested as a dietary supplement for diabetics with type 2 diabetes. It can improve glucose tolerance to consumed carbs, regulate glucagon secretion and blood sugar levels, and boost the impact of insulin on the cell membrane. It can also lower blood sugar levels. To support glucoregulation, sugars in diet can be replaced with steviol glycoside or stevioside from stevia leaves [1].

Sucrose intake has been proven to lead to a postprandial increase in glucose and insulin. Great interest has been shown in researching the influence of SGs on the postprandial level of glucose and insulin in the blood.

The effects of stevia, aspartame, and sugar on meal intake, feelings of satiety, and postprandial glucose and insulin levels were studied by Anton et al. in 2010. According to the findings, eating food sweetened with SGs significantly reduced postprandial blood glucose levels compared to eating food sweetened with sucrose and aspartame. Also, they discovered that eating food sweetened with aspartame and SGs results in a reduced energy intake than eating food sweetened with sucrose. The Stevia group consumed significantly less food overall (including preloads) than the sucrose group did during the entire day. When the preload calories were excluded from the studies, there was, however, no observable difference in the amount of food consumed. The subjects did not overeat at lunch or supper, as the researchers discovered no differences in satiety levels between the various locations at any time [16].

Consuming SGs before a meal decreases hunger and does not result in an additional rise in postprandial glucose concentration, according to research from Farhat et al. (2019). This finding may be important for the prevention and treatment of obesity and diabetes. In comparison to sugar and water, they looked at whether stevia raised postprandial glucose levels after a meal and whether it boosted appetite and food consumption. The results showed that, when compared to water and stevia, there was no discernible difference between the preload and enhanced caloric sugar preload in terms of energy intake throughout meals or throughout the day. The outcomes were in line with the findings of a study by Anton et al. (2010), which discovered that stevia did not, in comparison to sugar, result in a short term food replacement during meals or throughout the day. Tey et al. reported similar findings in 2016. Nonetheless, additional research must be conducted [17].

The findings of the study conducted by Tey et al. (2017) show that the caloric intake of subjects who consumed food sweetened with SGs and aspartame was lower, compared to the energy intake of subjects who consumed food sweetened with sucrose. Subjects who consumed SGs sweetened food also had a lower level of postprandial glucose in the blood, compared to subjects from the other two groups. On the contrary, the study did not show that the same effect would be achieved with the use of SGs in soft drinks. Consumption of drinks sweetened with sucrose resulted in a sharp increase in glucose and insulin concentrations in the blood one hour after consumption. The consumption of other drinks resulted in a sudden increase in the level of glucose and insulin in the period after lunch, the concentrations of which were twice as high, compared to the concentrations of glucose and insulin in subjects who consumed drinks sweetened with sucrose [18].

Tey et al. (2017) looked at the effects of stevia versus sugar on daily caloric intake from beverages in another randomized investigation. The findings revealed that compared to beverages sweetened with sucrose, aspartame, SGs, and monk fruit have no discernible impact on daily caloric intake, postprandial glucose levels, and insulin levels [19].

Ritu et al. (2016) investigated the impact of SGs (1g/day) of stevia leaf powder on type 2 diabetics' fasting blood glucose levels. The study was unique from previous research in that stevia leaf powder was employed in place of SGs, which were previously used in research. The results demonstrated that 60 days after the initiation of stevia leaf administration, SGs from stevia leaves lower fasting blood glucose levels in persons with diabetes. The levels of serum triglycerides, cholesterol, and VLDL all decreased, as did the levels of fasting and postprandial blood glucose. Results should be taken cautiously because the stevia leaves' raw powder contains a variety of other ingredients [20].

However, an earlier study conducted by Barriocanal et al. (2008) showed that the use of stevioside in diabetics did not affect the blood glucose level, as well as HbA1c in type 2 diabetes. The study showed that the use of stevioside did not cause changes in the glucose concentration in fasting blood, while in placebo subjects there was a significant increase in HbA1c and blood glucose concentration. The results indicate that SGs have the potential to maintain an unchanged diabetic state when used above the ADI value [21].

The findings of the study that was done by Stamataki et al. (2020) showed that the use of SGs didn't have a significant effect on glucose, insulin and weight change, but an increase in body weight was recorded in people who consumed glucose in contrast to people who consumed SGs. People who consumed SGs maintained their weight. Daily energy intake was lower in people who consumed SGs [22].

According to Ahmad et al. (2018), cookies sweetened with SGs cause consumers to feel less hungry after eating them than cookies sweetened with sucrose. The authors postulate that Reb A, which is present in stevia, causes the release of satiety hormones such peptide YY (PYY), cholecystokinin (CKK), and glucagon like peptide to increase (GLP-1) [23].

In contrast to yogurt sweetened with sucrose, yogurt sweetened with xylitol, SGs, or monk fruit lessens the feeling of hunger, according to a study by Chadha et al. (2022) [24].

Effect on Blood Pressure

Systolic and diastolic blood pressure have been shown to decrease using stevia leaf extract. Research have demonstrated that stevia extracts and its separated glycosides have hypotensive and diuretic effects. Similar to a class of medications known as calcium channel blockers, which are used to treat hypertension, SGs acts at the level of the cell membrane. Because SGs relaxes the arteries, it lowers blood pressure [1]. In two investigations, persons with hypertension who had not stopped taking their blood pressure medication were examined for the impact of stevioside. According to the findings of one study, stevioside (1500mg/day) usage for two years decreased both systolic and diastolic blood pressure. It's interesting to note that blood pressure began to decrease seven days after stevioside medication began. Chan et al. carried out a similar trial in which they evaluated the efficacy of giving hypertensive patients stevioside (750 mg/day). After three months, stevioside began to have a hypotensive impact [25, 26].

Another study found that SGs dramatically lowered diastolic blood pressure, however, results for systolic blood pressure were less significant. It is believed to be a result of the research' data being inconsistent and incomparable. Further clinical research and regulatory assessments are required [27].

Anticancer Activity

Studies have shown that SGs has an anticarcinogenic effect directly, but also through its antioxidant effect and its effect on lipid regulation [6]. Stevia leaf extract contains a substance called labdane sclareol that has cytotoxic and anticancer effects [1]. A study by Paul et al. (2012) demonstrated the polyphenolic components of stevia leaf extracts' inhibitory effects on tumor growth. The results proved that stevioside is a powerful apoptosis inducer and that it triggers apoptosis by creating reactive oxygen species inside of cells. This alters the transmembrane potential of the mitochondria and activates the route that leads to apoptosis through the mitochondria [28].

The findings of the research by Chen et al. (2018) show the anti-proliferative effects of steviol on six different gastrointestinal cancer cell lines, including gastric and colorectal cells. In all cell lines, steviol reduces cell viability. The study revealed the intriguing finding that the cytostatic effects of 5-fluorouracil (100–200 g/mL) and steviol (100–200 g/mL) on cell growth (60–90% inhibition) are comparable. According to the obtained results steviol may be used as a chemotherapeutic drug to treat cancer due to its metabolic properties and cytotoxicity toward human cancer cells. Human gastric cancer cells, colorectal cancer cells, and colon adenocarcinoma cells experienced a G1 phase arrest from steviol, while human poorly differentiated gastric cancer cells and ileocecal adenocarcinoma epithelial cells experienced a G2 phase arrest [29].

Gupta et al. (2017)'s study demonstrates that steviol has a potent cytotoxic effect on breast cancer cells. The purpose of the study was to examine the cytotoxicity, induction of apoptosis, and mechanism of action of steviol on human breast cancer cells. Steviol was used at its highest concentration for 48 h, and a dose dependent reduction in cell viability resulted in a 40% decrease in cell population. Reactive oxygen species (ROS) mediated arrest at the G2/M phase transition is how steviol triggered apoptosis [30].

Steviol has been shown in a study by Chen et al. (2018) to be cytotoxic in an osteosarcoma cell line. The findings demonstrated that steviol inhibited cell proliferation in a dose and time dependent manner, which reduced the cells' capacity to form colonies [31].

Stevia derivatives show cytotoxic and anti-proliferative effects on cancer cells, which is the basis for new research.

Substitution Sucrose with SGs in Flour-Based Confectionery Products

The primary sugar used to make flour based treats is sucrose, which makes up between 30 and 40 percent of the entire recipe. It is crucial to the creation and caliber of the finished product. A high dose of sucrose is bad for health reasons, hence substituting sucrose is a significant issue nowadays. In order to investigate the status of postprandial glycemia, Gao et al. (2016) conducted a study in which sucrose was replaced in the manufacturing of muffins with varying concentrations of stevia and inulin. The study's findings demonstrated that muffins completely devoid of sugar had better firmness than the test samples. Muffins whose composition included inulin as the only sweetener showed the highest firmness compared to muffins with stevianna in comparison to the test. Half substitution of sucrose, stevianna and inulin resulted in muffins of similar firmness. The results of the study indicate that muffins containing 50% inulin and muffins containing 50% stevianna had no change in softness, while muffins in which all the amount of sucrose was substituted by inulin had less softness compared to other samples. Surprising results showed that muffins with 100% substitution of sucrose with SGs, which had a higher softness than muffins with only sucrose [32].

The use of intense sweeteners, as well as stevia-based sweeteners in flour confectionery products can affect the structure, taste and especially the color of the product. Intensive sweeteners can contribute to a sweet taste; however, their use or omission of sucrose inevitably leads to changes in the texture of the product [33].

The results of one analysis noted that biscuits sweetened only with a preparation based on SGs (Reb A) could not achieve the same sensory characteristics as biscuits sweetened with natural sugars such as sucrose and fructose. Biscuits without natural sugars were lighter in color due to the lack of caramelization. In addition, the other sensory characteristics of biscuits with Reb A were inferior to samples containing sucrose or fructose. Biscuits with SGs have a lower caloric value than sucrose or fructose biscuits. According to nutrition and health claims placed on foods, these goods cannot be categorized as "reduced energy" products because the calorie reduction did not reach 30% [34]. Many studies have been conducted on the impact of stevia and SGs on dough rheology, physical and chemical quality, and flour confectionery items. In order to simulate the properties of sugar and guarantee enough moisture and texture, research frequently points in the direction of mixing stevia with some polyols or bulking agents [33].

The production of functional oat flour biscuits could potentially use stevia aqueous extract as a bioactive ingredient [35] (Table 3).

Stevia derivates	Products	Combination	Results	Ref.
Aqueous extract of Stevia	Oatmeal cookies	Replacement 25, 50, 75 and 100% sucrose	- Due to their high fiber content, angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE) inhibitor activity, amylase inhibitory activity, and antioxidant effect, the functional characteristics of cookie samples were suggested by partially substituting sucrose with an aqueous extract of S. rebaudiana - Samples containing 25 and 50 percent of the aqueous extract of S. rebaudiana) received the highest sensory approval	[35]
Stevia leaf powder	Biscuits based on mocaf and pedada flour	Fructose syrup	 There was no discernible substantial affect on the yield, moisture, ash, protein, fat, or carbohydrates of the samples; The best results were obtained by substituting 10.0% fructose syrup and 1.5% stevia leaf powder 	[36]
Stevioside	Biscuit	Replacing levels 50 and 100%	 Samples, particularly those containing stevioside 50%, not have negative impacts on the general quality Significant improvement in color, chewiness, flavor, and overall acceptability 	[37]
Stevioside maltodextrin mixture	Iranian traditional cookie	Replacing levels: 25%, 50%, 75%, and100%	 - 25% was the acceptable maximum level of saccharose replacement - Higher levels revealed a deleterious effect of hardness and a decline in overall quality 	[38]
Stevioside	Cookie	Fructose and stevioside in diferent ratio	- Reduction of glycemic index and glycemic load	[39]

Table 3. Effects of adding stevia to flour-based confectionery products

(continued)

Stevia derivates	Products	Combination	Results	Ref.
Stevioside and Reb A	Cookie	Substitution levels: 50, 75 and 100%	 Decreasing caloric value, total sugars, fracturing power, diameter and spread ratio; Raising the moisture, ash and thickness 	[40]
Stevia	Muffins	Inulin	Inulin as the only sweetener showed the highest firmness -50% inulin and muffins containing 50% stevia had no change in softness -muffins in which all the amount of sucrose was substituted by inulin had less softness compared to other samples	[40]
SGs	Wheat dough	Erythritol	Reduces dough consistency and water absorption	[37, 38]
SGs	Cookie		Cookies sweetened with SGs reduce the feeling of hunger after consumption	[23]

Table 3. (continued)

The positive properties were reported by the authors Salaras et al. (2018) using stevioside in oat cakes, as well as Jariyah et al. (2021) who used a combination of SG with fructose syrup in biscuits. Vatankhah et al. (2014) completely replaced sucrose in the biscuit composition, reducing calories by up to 15%, and significant improvements in color, chewiness, taste and general acceptability were noted. According to Vazdi et al. (2016), increased SG levels had a negative impact on hardness and reduced the overall quality of the product. Popova et al. (2021) recorded a decrease in glycemic index and glycemic load in combinations of cookies with SG, while Hassan et al. (2016) recorded a decrease in caloric value, total sugars, breaking strength, diameter and spread ratio in cookies to which stevioside and Reb A were added in different proportions [35–40].

The aqueous extract of stevia is thought to have the capacity to control the glycemic response of muffins by adding either 50% stevia or 50% inulin without changing the texture of the finished product [41]. Depending on their concentration and type, erythritol and SGs as sugar substitutes have varying effects on the coagulation qualities of wheat dough. Erythritol and SGs decrease dough consistency and water absorption [42, 43].

Substitution Sucrose with SGs in Chocolate and Related Products

In addition to sweetness, sucrose in chocolate provides a number of functional properties such as mouthfeel, flavor enhancement, and preservation. According to Minali et al. (2020), the use of SGs in the production of chocolate offers a number of health advantages that may enhance the nutritional and health status of the general public [44]. Research

frequently point to the use of stevioside and a few polyols as bulking agents to replicate the properties of sugar and offer the right amount of moisture and texture [45].

The successful production of sugar-free chocolate products with the desired appearance, texture, taste, and aroma has a great deal of potential when sucrose is replaced with high intensity sweeteners like stevioside in combination with sugar alcohols and other bulking agents like polydextrose, maltodextrin, and inulin. These goods share a lot in common with sucrose-containing goods in terms of quality [46].

The impact of bulking agents on the physicochemical characteristics of chocolate products sweetened with stevia was examined by Nur et al. in 2021. The findings shown that adding inulin and sorbitol to dark chocolate that has been sweetened with stevia enhances the protein and fat content while lowering the moisture content. In comparison to reference chocolate, milk chocolate that has been bulked up with inulin and erythritol has a larger amount of protein and fat and a lower proportion of carbohydrates. The percentage of carbohydrates in stevia sweetened dark and milk chocolate rises with a larger inulin concentration. The fat content of dark chocolate that has been sweetened with stevia is decreased by a higher sorbitol concentration. An increase in erythritol concentration brightens the color and lowers dampness. Inulin concentrations increase the reduction of fat in stevia sweetened, sucrose free milk chocolate [47].

In their study, Shah et al. (2010) used polydextrose as a bulking agent in place of sucrose in a chocolate recipe that was sweetened with stevia and inulin with varied degrees of polymerization. The findings demonstrated that long chain inulin, in conjunction with stevia and polydextrose, is the most ideal ingredient for the creation of chocolate devoid of sucrose. The research also revealed that substituting stevia for sucrose as a sweetener and inulin and polydextrose for bulking agents had little to no impact on the final product's hardness [41, 48].

The ability to manufacture sugar free chocolate using bulking agents and SGs as a non caloric sweetener was demonstrated by Aguilar et al. in 2020. Maltitol, SGs, polydextrose, and inulin were the ingredients in one sample formulation while SGs and maltitol were the ingredients in the other. When compared to milk chocolate with sucrose, the second formulation had the best score and mouthfeel. Samples without sugar performed higher in sensory tests relating to overall likeability, melting speed, and flavor of chocolate and milk [49].

Homayouni et al. (2012) conducted a study to evaluate the physical characteristics of dietary chocolate milk with the addition of SGs and inulin as a substitute for sugar. The findings demonstrated that replacing sugar with SGs boosted precipitation and greatly reduced viscosity, but using inulin significantly decreased precipitation and increased viscosity. To improve the physical properties of the product in chocolate milk sweetened with SGs, a thickening agent, such as inulin, should be used [50].

Rodriguez et al. (2016) conducted research aimed at developing white chocolate formulations for diabetics where sucrose was substituted with sucralose and SGs. The results showed that combinations of SGs with sucrose have a synergistic effect and that the sensory properties of chocolate are acceptable if SGs is combined with sucrose and sucralose [51].

It has been proven that there is a greater intensity of taste when, instead of sucrose, the chocolate was sweetened with potassium acesulfame, SGs and monk fruit sweetener. Tan et al. (2020) investigation revealed that the use of SGs, as a substitute sweetener in tea, results in the appearance of a metallic and pungent taste. In addition to the above, it is known that the sweetener from monk fruit and SGs lead to increased acidity and a "chemical" taste. Also, sucralose and SGs lead to an increased taste of acidity when they are used as sweeteners in chocolates [14].

According to Chranioti et al. (2015), to effectively reduce or mask the bitter taste of products containing steviol glycoside, the spray drying microencapsulation method can be used with encapsulating agents such as maltodextrin and inulin [52].

Azevedo et al. (2016) investigated the effects of Reb A, which is thought superiority in sweetness and taste, at various concentrations in bitter chocolate with additional stevia and insulin. The study's findings demonstrated that there were no appreciable variations between the tested concentrations and the matching Reb A values [53].

In order to solve the problem of stevia's bitter taste, new research was recently conducted that focused on sweetening ice cream with three SGs (Reb A, Reb D and Reb M) due to their different sensory characteristics. Muenprasitvej et al. (2022) observed that ice creams sweetened with Reb D and Reb M have a better taste and provide a better perception than Reb A, which is the most commonly utilized glycoside in the food sector. Ice cream sweetened with Reb M had the same intensity of sweetness as ice cream sweetened with glucose. Ice cream that has been sweetened with Reb D and Reb M has a sweet, pleasant, creamy, and milky flavor, while ice cream that has been sweetened with Reb A has an artificial, chemical flavor [54].

In their 2017 study, Torri et al. looked into the viability of making premium chocolate that has been sweetened with both raw and commercial stevioside. The findings demonstrated that raw stevia extract can be used to produce high quality chocolate with reduced sugar content that will be acceptable to customers and have much higher antioxidant activity [55].

In comparison to conventional chocolate, a bar of dark chocolate without sugar sweetened with SGs, erythritol, and inulin lowers postprandial blood glucose levels in diabetics, according to research by Oliveira et al. (2022) [56].

Considering that these are the latest studies, it is necessary to investigate the long-term effects SGs on glucose control (Table 4).

Substitution Sucrose with SGs in Drinks

In the research done by Parker et al. (2018) whey protein based beverages were sweetened with five different sweeteners: sucralose, sucrose, fructose, SGs, and monk fruit sweetener. Astringency and metallic taste were present in tested drinks with sucralose, SGs and monk fruit sweetener, while the use of SGs had the longest duration of sweetness. Also, drinks sweetened with SGs had the longest persistence of metallic and harsh in flavor [57].

It has been established that the quantity of SGs added to apricot nectar plays a significant role in its sweetness. According to a study by Reale et al. (2020), there are no appreciable differences between a nectar sample containing 10% sucrose and one containing 0.07% stevia in terms of acceptability. However, boosting the stevia content to 0.14% had a negative impact on acceptance [58].
Product	Combination	Results	Reference
Dark chocolate sweetened with stevia	Inulin, sorbitol	 Increases the fat and protein content while decreasing the moisture content, The amount of fat is decreased by increasing the sorbitol concentration, The proportion of carbs rises as inulin concentration rises 	[14, 47, 48]
	Inulin, polydextrose	- Long-chain inulin is the most suitable for the formulation with stevia and polydextrose	
	Acesulfame, monk fruit	- Greater flavor intensity	
	Sucralose	- Increased taste of acidity	
Milk chocolate with stevia	Inulin, erythritol	 A larger percentage of fat and protein, and a lesser percentage of carbohydrates, Erythritol concentrations that are greater make colors brighter and absorb less moisture, Inulin lowers the fat content when it is present in greater amounts, The percentage of carbs rises when inulin concentrations are higher 	[47, 49]
	Maltitol, polydextrose, inulin	- A higher sensory rating in terms of overall preference and melting rate	
Chocolate milk with stevia	Inulin	- Rainfall and a drop in viscosity	[50]
White chocolate	Sucralose	- The sensory properties of chocolate are not acceptable	[51]

Table 4. Presentation of the results of stevia in chocolate

The sensory profile of peach nectar was considerably impacted by varied Reb A concentrations in stevia extracts, according to Medeiros et al. (2022), with an effect on

the descriptors of bitter flavor and residual bitter taste, which reduced with increasing Reb A concentration [59].

In comparison to drinks sweetened with sucrose, drinks sweetened with stevia showed a substantially larger loss of flavonones and a lot milder loss of vitamin C when stored in a lit environment at room temperature, according to a study by Salar et al. (2020) [60].

Previous studies have shown that SGs in appropriate percentages are a good substitute for sucrose for the production of fruit nectar.

It is necessary to conduct additional studies in order to investigate the replacement of sucrose with SGs in other drinks (Table 5).

Combination	Drink	Results	Ref.
SGs Xylitol, monk fruit	Yogurt	- Reduces the feeling of hunger	[24]
Sucralose, sucrose, fructose, SGs, and monk fruit	Whey protein	-Astringency and metallic taste were present in tested drinks with su-cralose, SGs and monk fruit sweetener, use of SGs had the longest duration of sweetness drinks sweetened with SGs had the longest persistence of bitter and metallic taste	[57]
SGs	Apricot nectar	-The acceptability of a nectar sample containing 0.07% stevia and a sample containing 10% sucrose does not differ noticeably -Increasing the stevia concentration to 0.14% resulted in reduced acceptability	[58]
Reb A	Peach nectar	-The sensory profile of peach nectar was significantly impacted by the different Reb A concentrations in stevia extracts, especially the bitter taste and lingering bitter taste descriptors, which reduced with increasing Reb A concentration	[59]

Table 5. Presentation of the results of stevia with bulking agent in drink

4 Conclusions

Unlike artificial sweeteners, which have negative consequences and may even be carcinogenic, stevia is a natural sweetener that has been used for millennia and has no calories or negative health effects. The two most significant SGs are stevioside and Reb

A. They have no calories and are 200–300 times sweeter than sucrose. In comparison to other sweeteners (such as sucrose and artificial sweeteners), stevia and SGs offer a significant advantage. In recent years, the chocolate industry has employed it frequently. The reason for the popularity of SGs lies in its many positive effects on health, as well as the fact that it is a natural sweetener without energy value, which makes it suitable for consumption by people who care about their health. The results of previous studies have shown numerous positive effects of consumption of SGs, including reduction of postprandial glucose and insulin levels, feeling of satiety, reduction of triglycerides, cholesterol, lowering of systolic and diastolic blood pressure, as well as cytotoxic and antiproliferative effects on various cancer cells. Several studies have demonstrated that adding SGs to food reduces its GI and energy value while maintaining its sensory qualities. However, it should be pointed out that the use of SGs in confectionery products also shows some disadvantages, namely a bitter after-taste, or even a metallic taste. Also, they do not caramelize, which is crucial for confectionary made with flour, thus they do not contribute to the development of color in baked goods. Furthermore, when they are added independently to chocolate or related products they adversely affect the chocolate's structure and viscosity of the chocolate liquor. Therefore, they are usually added in combination with some of the carriers such as polyhydroxyl alcohols, inulin polydextrose and others.

However, additional research on consequences of SGs on individual health is needed in the future.

References

- 1. Samuel, P., et al.: Stevia leaf of stevia sweetener: exploring its science, benefits, and future potential. J. Nutr. **148**(7), 1186–1205 (2018)
- Lanestosa, A.C., Moguel Ordonez, Y., Segura Campos, M.: Stevia rebaudiana bertoni: a natural alternative for treating diseases associated with metabolic syndrome. J. Med. Food 20(10), 933–943 (2017)
- Goyal, S.K., Samsher, N., Goyal, R.K.: Stevia (Stevia rebaudiana) a bio-sweetener: A review. Int. J. Food Sci. Nutr.Nutr. 61(1), 1–10 (2010)
- 4. Giuffré, L., Romaniuk, R., Ciarlo, E.: Stevia, Ka'a He'e, wild sweet herb from South America - An overview. Emirates J. Food Agric. **25**(10), 746–750 (2013)
- Bakar, S., Rahman, M.M.R., Hossain, M.A., Rashid, M.A.: Phytochemical screening and comparative antimicrobial potential of different extracts of stevia rebaudiana bertoni leaves. Asian Pac. J. Trop. Dis. 4, 275–280 (2014)
- Iatridis, N., Kougioumtzi, A., Vlataki, K., Papadaki, S., Magklara, A.: Anti-cancer properties of Stevia rebaudiana; more than a sweetener. Molecules 27(4), 1362 (2022)
- Sieminska, M., Najda, A., Gawronski, J., Balant, S., Swicaand, K., Zaba, A.: Stevia rebaudiana bertoni, a source of high-potency natural sweetener-biochemical and genetic characterization. Molecules 25(4), 767 (2020)
- Anker, C.C.B., Rafiq, S., Jeppesen, P.B.: Effect of steviol glycosides on human health with emphasis on type 2 diabetic biomarkers: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. Nutrients 11(9), 1965 (2019)
- 9. Kaplan, B., Turgut, K.: Improvement of rebaudioside a diterpene glycoside content in stevia rebaudiana bertoni using clone selection. Turk. J. Agric. For. **43**, 232–240 (2019)
- Lindley, M., Mitchell, H.: Sweeteners and Sugar Alternatives in Food Technology. Blackwell Publishing, Hoboken (2006)

- 11. Belitz, H.D., Grosch, W., Schieberle, P.: Food Chemistry. Springer-Verlag, Berlin (2009)
- Magnuson, B.A., Carakostas, M.C., Moore, N.H., Poulos, S., Renwick, A.G.: Biological fate of low-calorie sweeteners. Nutr. Rev.. Rev. 74, 670–689 (2016)
- 13. Wheeler, A., et al.: Pharmacokinetics of rebaudioside A and stevioside after single oral doses in healthy men. Food Chem. Toxicol.Toxicol. **46**(7), S54–S60 (2008)
- Tan, V.W.K., Wee, M.S.M., Tomic, O., Forde, C.G.: Rate-All-That-Apply (RATA) comparison of taste profiles for different sweeteners in black tea, chocolate milk, and natural yogurt. J. Food Sci. 85(2), 486–492 (2020)
- 15. Moryson, M.K., Michalowska, A.G.: Directions on the use of stevia leaves(Stevia rebauidana) as an additive in food products. Acta Sci. Pol. Technol. Aliment. **14**(1), 5–13 (2015)
- 16. Anton, S.D., et al.: Effects of stevia, aspartame, and sucrose on food intake, satiety, and postprandial glucose and insulin levels. Appetite **55**(1), 37–43 (2010)
- 17. Farhat, G., Berset, V., Moore, L.: Effects of stevia extract on postprandial glucose response, satiety and energy intake: a three-arm crossover trial. Nutrients **11**(12), 3036 (2019)
- Tey, S.L., Salleh, N.B., Henry, J., Forde, C.G.: Effects of aspartame-, monk fruit-, steviaand sucrose-sweetened beverages on postprandial glucose, insulin and energy intake. Int. J. Obes.Obes. 41, 450–457 (2017)
- 19. Tey, S., Salleh, N.B., Henry, C.J., Forde, C.G.: Effects of non-nutritive (artificial vs natural) sweeteners on 24-h glucose profiles. Eur. J. Clin. Nutr.Clin. Nutr. **71**, 1129–1132 (2017)
- Ritu, M., Nandini, J.: Nutritional composition of stevia rebaudiana, a sweet herb, and its hypoglycaemic and hypolipidaemic effect on patients with non-insulin dependent diabetes mellitus. J. Sci. Food Agric. 96, 4231–4234 (2016)
- Barriocanal, L.A., et al.: Apparent lack of pharmacological e_ect of steviol glycosides used as sweeteners in humans. A pilot study of repeated exposures in some normotensive and hypotensive individuals and in type 1 and type 2 diabetics. Regul. Toxicol. Pharmacol.. Toxicol. Pharmacol. 51, 37–41 (2008)
- 22. Stamataki, N.S., Crooks, B., Abubaker, A., McLaughlin, J.T.: Effects of the daily consumption of stevia on glucose homeostasis, body weight, and energy intake: a randomised open-label 12-week trial in healthy adults. Nutrients **12**(10), 3049 (2020)
- Ahmad, J., Khan, I., Johnson, S.K., Alam, I., Din, Z.U.: Effect of incorporating stevia and moringa in cookies on postprandial glycemia, appetite, palatability, and gastrointestinal wellbeing. J. Am. Coll. Nutr.Nutr. 37(2), 133–139 (2018)
- Chada, D., Hamid, N., Kantono, K., Marsan, M.: Changes in temporal sensory profile, liking, satiety, and postconsumption attributes of yogurt with natural sweeteners. J. Food Sci. 87(7), 3190–3206 (2022)
- Hsieh, M., et al.: Efficacy and tolerability of oral stevioside in patients with mild essential hypertension: a two-year, randomized. Placebo-Controlled Study. Clin. Ther. 25, 2797–2808 (2003)
- Chan, P., Tomlinson, B., Chen, Y., Liu, J., Hsieh, M., Cheng, J.: A double-blind placebocontrolled study of the effectiveness and tolerability of oral stevioside in human hypertension. Br. J. Clin. Pharmacol.Clin. Pharmacol. 50, 215–220 (2020)
- Onakpoya, J., Heneghan, C.J.: Effect of the natural sweetener, steviol glycoside, on cardiovascular risk factors: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised clinical trials. Eur. J. Prev. Cardiol.Cardiol. 22, 1575–1587 (2015)
- Paul, S., Sengupta, S., Bandyopadhyay, T.K., Bhattacharyya, A.: Stevioside induced ROSmediated apoptosis through mitochondrial pathway in human breast cancer cell line MCF7. Nutr. Cancer. Cancer 64(7), 1087–1094 (2012)
- 29. Chen, J., et al.: Steviol, a natural product inhibits proliferation of the gastrointestinal cancer cells intensively. Oncotarget **9**, 26299–26308 (2018)

- Gupta, E., Kaushik, S., Purwar, S., Sharma, R., Balapure, A., Sundaram, S.: Anticancer potential of steviol in MCF-7 human breast cancer cells. Pharmacogn. Mag. Mag. 13, 345–350 (2017)
- Chen, J., Zhang, J., Xia, Y., Wang, X., Li, J.: The natural sweetener metabolite steviol inhibits the proliferation of human osteosarcoma U2OS cell line. Oncol. Lett.. Lett. 15, 5250–5256 (2018)
- Gao, J., Brennan, M.A., Mason, S.L., Brennan, C.S.: Effect of sugar replacement with stevianna and inulin on the texture and predictive glycaemic response of muffins. Int. J. Food Sci. Technol. Novi Zeland 51, 1979–1987 (2016)
- Žuljević, S.O., Akagić, A.: Flour-based confectionery as functional food. In: Arshad, M.S., Ahmad, M.H. (eds.) Functional Foods - Phytochemicals and Health Promoting Potential. IntechOpen, London (2021). https://doi.org/10.5772/intechopen.95876
- Regulation (EC) No 1924/2006 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 20 December 2006 on nutrition and health claims made on foods. Official Journal of the European Union. L 404/9
- Salazar, V.A.G., Encalada, S.V., Cruz, A.C., Campos, M.R.S.: Stevia rebaudiana: a sweetener and potential bioactive ingredient in the development of functional cookies. J. Func. Foods 44, 138–190 (2018)
- Jariyah, S.W., Sarofa, U., Subagio, M.R.: study of the influence of stevia and fructose to the physicochemical characteristics of mocaf-pedada biscuits. In: 6th International Conference of Food, Agriculture, and Natural Resource (2021)
- Vatankhah, M., Garavand, F., Elhamirad, A.H., Yaghbani, M.: Influence of sugar replacement by stevioside on physicochemical and sensory properties of biscuit. Qual. Assur. Saf. Crops Foods 7(3), 393–400 (2014)
- Yazdi, A.G., Hojjatoleslamy, M., Javad Keramat, J., Jahadi, M., Amani E.: The evaluation of saccharose replacing by adding stevioside-maltodextrin mixture on the physicochemical and sensory properties of Naanberenji (an Iranian confectionary). Food Sci. Nutr., 845–851 (2017)
- Popova, N.N., Pisklyukova, Y.N., Asmolova, E.V., Orlova, V.A., Babaeva, A.V., Egorova, G.N.: Development of a recipe for sugar cookies with a reduced glycemic index. In: IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science, vol. 640 (2021)
- 40. Hassan, M.A., Ghoneim, S.I.: Substituting sucrose using stevioside and rebaudioside a in cookies and hibiscus beverage. SINAI J. Appl. Sci. **5**(1), 15–26 (2016)
- Čukelj, N., Novotni, D., Sarajlija, H., Drakula, S., Voučk, B., Ćurić, D.: Flaxseed and multigrain mixtures in the development of functional biscuits. LWT Food Sci. Technol. 86, 85–92 (2017)
- Alonso, S., Setser, C.: Functional replacements for sugars in foods. Trends Food Sci. Technol. 5, 139–146 (1994)
- Stefan, E.M., Voicu, G., Constantin, G.A., Munteanu, G.M., Ipate, G.: Effect of sugar substitues on wheat dough rheology. Scientific study & research. Chem. Chem. Eng. Biotechnol. Food Ind. 20(2), 313–320 (2019)
- Masih, M., Desale, T., Victor, J., Banjara, A., Mishra, A.: Development and quality evaluation of the handmade chocolate using stevia and starch. J. Pharmacognosy Phytochem. 9(1), 915– 921 (2020)
- Miličević, D., Oručević Žuljević, S., Ademović, Z.: Od kakao zrna do čokolade, Tuzla: Off-set. Bosnia and Herzegovina (2015)
- Aidooa, P.P., Depypere, F., Afoakwa, E.O., Dewettinck, K.: Industrial manufacture of sugar free chocolates - Applicability of alternative sweeteners and carbohydrate polymers as raw materials in product development. Trends Food Sci. Technol. 32, 84–96 (2013)

- Nur, M., Suryatiani, D.R., Dewi, R.L., Sari, A.B.T.: The effect of bulking agent and type of chocolate on the physicochemical characteristics of sucrose-free chocolate using stevia as a sweetener. In: IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science, vol. 733 (2021)
- Shah, A., Jones, G.P., Vasiljevic, T.: Sucrose-free chocolate sweetened with stevia rebaudiana extract and containing different bulking agents–effects on physicochemical and sensory properties. Int. J. Food Sci. Technol. 45, 1426–1435 (2010)
- Aguilar, C., Acosta, E., Rodrigues, E., Mazo, J.: Sucrose-free milk chocolate manufacture using bulking agents and a non-caloric sweetener. Food Sci. Technol. Campinas 40(1), 62–67 (2020)
- Homayouni, A., Alipoor, B., Delshadian, Z., Jafarabadi, M.A.: Effect of inulin and stevia on some physical properties of chocolate milk. Health Promot. Perspect. Promot. Perspect. 2(1), 42–47 (2012)
- Rodriguez, L.T.F., Campderros, M., Noemi, Z.: Development of free sugar white chocolate, suitable for diabetics, using Stevia and sucralose as sweeteners: study of the thermal degradation kinetic. Int. J. Res. Advent Technol. 4(7) (2016)
- Chranioti, C., Chanioti, S., Tzia, C.: Microencapsulation of SGs (Stevia rebaudiana Bertoni) by a spray drying method Evaluation of encapsulated products and prepared syrups. Int. J. Food Stud. 4, 212–220 (2015)
- Azevedo, B.M., Ferreira, J.M.M., Luccas, V., Bolini, H.M.A.: The influence of the rebaudioside a content of stevia (stevia rebaudiana bertoni) on the determination of sweetness equivalence in bittersweet chocolates, using the time-intensity analysis. J. Food Sci. 81(12), S3006–S3014 (2016)
- 54. Muenprasitivej, N., Tao, R., Nardone, S.J., Cho, S.: The effect of steviol glycosides on sensory properties and acceptability of ice cream. Foods **11**(12), 1745 (2022)
- Torri, L., Frati, A., Ninfali, P., Mantegna, S., Cravotto, G., Morini, G.: Comparison of reduced sugar high quality chocolates sweetened with stevioside and crude stevia 'green' extract. J. Sci. Food Agric. 97(8), 2346–2352 (2017)
- 56. Oliveira, B., Falkenhain, K., Little, J.P.: Sugar-free dark chocolate consumption results in lower blood glucose in adults with diabetes. Nutr. Metab. Insights (2022)
- 57. Parker, M.N., Lopetcharat, K., Drake, M.A.: Consumer acceptance of natural sweeteners in protein beverages. J. Dairy Sci. **101**, 8875–8889 (2018)
- Reale, A., Di Renzo, T., Russo, A., Niro, S., Ottombrino, A., Pellicano, M.P.: Production of low-calorie apricot nectar sweetened with stevia: Impact on qualitative, sensory, and nutritional profiles. Food Sci. Nutr.Nutr. 8, 1837–1847 (2020)
- Medeiros, A., Tavares, E., Bolini, H.M.: Descriptive sensory profile and consumer study impact of different nutritive and non-nutritive sweeteners on the descriptive, temporal profile, and consumer acceptance in a peach juice matrix. Foods 11(2), 244 (2022)
- Salar, F.J., Agullo, V., Garcia-Viguera, C., Dominguez-Perles, R.: Stevia vs. sucrose: influence on the phytochemical content of a citrus-maqui beverage- a shelf life study. Foods 9(2), 219 (2020)



Quality of Commercial Blends for Tarhana, Bey's and Sarajevska Soup

Jasmina Tahmaz¹(⊠) , Irma Velić², Sabina Operta¹, Amila Oras¹, Mersiha Alkić Subašić¹, and Enver Karahmet¹

¹ Faculty of Agriculture and Food Sciences, University of Sarajevo, Zmaja od Bosne 8, 71000 Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina

j.tahmaz@ppf.unsa.ba

² Secondary Vocational Educational and Training School, Azize Šaćirbegović 80, Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina

Abstract. The most popular traditional soups in Bosnia and Herzegovina are *Tarhana, Bey's* and *Sarajevska*. These traditional soups are commonly prepared at home, and also have great popularity in the restaurants. Industrial production makes it possible to obtain traditional soups in instant powdered form, which allows them to be stored at room temperature. The aim of this study was to investigate different quality parameters of industrial produced traditional soups from Bosnia and Herzegovina. Samples were collected from local industrial producers and analyzed for different physical, chemical and sensory properties.

The results of chemical analysis showed that all samples were in agreement to *Codex Alimentarius* and national Standard for quality of soups, sauces, food seasonings and related products. Bulk density ranged between 0.585 and 0.621 g/ml. Fat content varied between 4.30 and 12.46%. Amount of NaCl ranged between 8.99 and 10.52 g/L. The highest values of viscosity (111.67 mPas) and fat content were detected in *Bey*'s soup, while *Tarhana* had the lowest viscosity (32.33 mPas) and fat content. *Tarhana* had the lowest dispersibility and wettability. In terms of sensory properties, all samples were evaluated as acceptable with scores between 6.20 and 6.80 for overall acceptability. Industrial producers should use traditional ingredients and technologies to improve the quality of traditional soups.

Keywords: dried powdered soup \cdot traditional soup \cdot flowability \cdot physical and chemical properties \cdot sensory properties

1 Introduction

Soups are nutritionally valuable liquid dishes obtained by cooking of basic and additional ingredients and commonly served at the beginning of the meal. Due to their consistency, soups are classified into two groups: clear/thin and cream/thick [1, 2].

Besides of that main classification, the soups can also be classified by main ingredients (meat, vegetable or combined soups), preservation process (dehydrated, condensed/canned, frozen or non-preserved soups) and by the level of consumption readiness (ready-to-eat (completely prepared), semi-prepared and instant soups). Commercial or industrial soups reached their popularity after the invention of the canning process in the 19^{th} century. In that period, many producers started to produce industrial canned and condensed soups packed in jars. But nowadays, the most popular way of soup preservation is drying. Dehydration (drying and powdering) is the most common way for preservation in the industrial production of soups. Dehydrated soups are instant products, which can be reconstructed in warm water or boiled for about 5–10 min resulting in a ready-to-eat meal. The main advantage of dried soup production is the possibility to be kept at room temperature for a long time (6–12 months) in closed dark bags without any undesirable change in microbiological, nutritional or sensory quality [1].

The basic raw materials for soup production are meat, poultry, fish, shellfish, as well as vegetables, fruits and mushrooms. Additional raw materials in the production of soups are milk and milk products, eggs and egg products, vegetable and animal fats, starch, cereals and cereal products, noodles, yeast, yeast and protein hydrolysates, monosodium glutamate and other taste enhancers, table salt, sugars, spices and extracts of natural spices [2–4].

The most popular traditional soups in Bosnia and Herzegovina are *Tarhana*, *Bey's* (*Begova*) and *Sarajevska* (*eng. Sarajevo's*). For this reason, industrial producers try to develop recipes and technologies to produce powdered instant soups with characteristics similar to traditional.

During more than 400 years of the Ottoman Empire in Bosnia and Herzegovina, many influences of Turkish/Ottoman cuisine came very fast came in Bosnia and Herzegovina culture. Because of that, Bosnia and Herzegovina cuisine is still under huge influence from Turkish cuisine. Many Bosnia and Herzegovinian traditional dishes originated from the Ottoman Empire. During such a long period of Ottoman Empire and throughout history many of the original Ottoman dishes have undergone various changes and modifications influenced by Bosnian and Balkan culture, habits and climate (availability of raw ingredients). But the original names of the many dishes have persisted till the present days [5, 6].

In the traditional Turkish cuisine there are many variations of tarhana soup, made from different ingredients, depending on the region. Turkish *tarhana* noodles are usually prepared by mixing yoghurt, cereals and/or legume flour and different cooked vegetables such as paprika, tomato, onion and seasoned with spices like mint and paprika [7]. Tarhana soup is one of the oldest and the most popular traditional soups in Bosnia and Herzegovina. The main ingredient of this soup is dried tarhana noodles. Tarhana noodles are small irregular spherical shaped noodles, which are produced from fermented tarhana dough. Traditional Bosnia and Herzegovina tarhana dough is hard dense dough, made from white wheat flour, eggs and fresh chopped tomatoes, or mashed tomato or tomato juice. Prepared dough is left to ferment at room temperature for 3-4 days, and the obtained product is sour tarhana dough. After finished fermentation tarhana dough is kneaded with flour, crushed and passed through the small holes of kitchen colander and dried at room temperature. Traditionally, Bosnian tarhana soup is prepared by cooking of tarhana noodles in the meat broth with addition of salt, butter, chopped/diced tomato and spices like grounded black paper, dried paprika powder celery and parsley [8]. Traditional recipe for tarhana dough and noodles requires fermentation and because of that *tarhana* soup has a pleasant sour taste and aroma specific for fermented dough. In industrial conditions, *tarhana* soup is commonly made from ordinary non-fermented pasta formed in spherical shape similar to traditional pasta, but without the fermentation. Sour taste of industrial *tarhana* soup usually comes from the liquid phase with tomato powder as the main ingredient. Because of that, industrial *tarhana* soups cannot have such specific taste and flavor like traditional one.

Bey's (bos. Begova) soup is traditional Bosnian cream soup made from cooked and chopped chicken meat, chicken broth, carrots, cut celery and parsley roots, whole pieces of dried okra, eggs, wheat flour, butter, sour cream and addition of lemon juice [8]. The name *Bey's* soup (bos. *Begova*) originated from the Turkish word "*bey*" (bos. *Beg*) which means gentlemen (or person with high social status) and the name *Bey's* soup could be translated as Gentlemen's soup [6]. In Bosnia and Herzegovina's cuisine, the *Bey's* soup is commonly recognized as a special dish, prepared and served for special guests and special occasions such as celebrations, weddings or religious occasions and holidays as a part of Eid and Ramadan meals [5].

Sarajevska soup (eng. *Sarajevo's soup*) is traditional cream soup typical for Sarajevo region. This soup is traditionally made from diced and stewed veal meat, cooked okra, butter, wheat flour, stewed vegetable mixture (carrot, onion and parsley cut out into small pieces), salt, black pepper and mixture of egg yolk, sour cream and lemon juice, which is added at the end of cooking [8]. The recipe of *Sarajevska soup* is very similar to *Bey*'s, with the main difference in used meat (veal in *Sarajevska* vs. chicken in *Bey's*).

The quality of industrial soups is regulated by *Codex Alimentarius* [3, 9] and Bosnian national Standard for soups, sauces and food seasonings [4]. According to these two standards the amount of the salt (NaCl) has to be less than 12.5 g/l (calculated to ready-to-eat product).

The aim of this study is to research the physical, chemical and sensory quality of commercial dehydrated traditional Bosnia and Herzegovina soups produced in industrial conditions.

2 Material and Methods

Research was done on the three samples of commercial dehydrated soups (*Tarhana* - *TS*, *Bey's* - *BS* and *Sarajevska* - *SS*) produced by local producer (Vispak, Visoko, Bosnia and Herzegovina) and collected from local market (Table 1). It can be seen from Table 1 that a sample of industrial *Sarajevska* soup contained chicken meat, while the original traditional recipe for *Sarajevska* soup should contain veal meat.

2.1 Amounts of Ingredients

For determination of the main compound amounts, soup samples were separated into following fractions: dried vegetables and meat, noodles and powdered fraction. Samples were divided into two fractions by sieving through diameter holes of 1 and 0.5 mm (Prufsieb ISO 3310–1). Each fraction was weighted and presented as a percentage of total sample weight.

Code	Commercial name	Description	Ingredients (declared data)
TS	Tarhana soup	Dehydrated clear soup with noodles and tomato	Noodles 55% (wheat flour and tomato paste), concentrate 45% (dehydrated tomato min. 25%, potato starch, salt, hydrogenated vegetable fat, monosodium glutamate, parsley, spices, flavor)
BS	Bey's soup	Dehydrated cream soup	Maize starch, dehydrated vegetables (carrot, parsley, okra, celery, onion) 20%, dried chicken meat 9%, wheat flour, salt, hydrogenated vegetable fat, monosodium glutamate, flavor, spices, natural color riboflavin
SS	Sarajevska soup	Dehydrated cream soup	Dried vegetables (carrot, parsley, celery, cauliflower, onion) min. 15%, chicken meat 10%, table salt, hydrogenated vegetable fat, maize starch, wheat flour, skimmed milk powder, sugar, spices, monosodium glutamate, riboflavin

Table 1. List of soup samples with declared data

2.2 Chemical Analysis

Moisture content was determined by drying at 105 °C in the drying oven to constant weight [10]. Measurement of water activity (aw) and pH values were performed using aw meter (Lab Swift aw meter Nowasina, Switzerland) and pH meter (Mettler Toledo). Total ash content was determined by burning of samples in a muffle furnace at 550 °C during 8 h [11] and NaCl by Mohr titration with 0.1M AgNO3 and 5% potassium chromate as indicator [12]. Amount of NaCl was presented as percentages calculated on dehydrated soup powder as well as g/L in ready to eat liquid soups prepared according to declared instructions. Soxhlet extraction with diethyl ether was used for determination of fat content [13]. Amino nitrogen content was determined by titration in presence of formaldehyde. 5 g of sample and 80 ml of distilled water was mixed and left to stay for 3 h with periodical stirring. Then, the samples were filtered into volumetric flasks and filled with distilled water to 100 ml. 10 ml of this extract was titrated with 0.1 M NaOH to pH 8. After titration 10 ml of formaldehyde (40% p.a.) was added and titration was repeated to pH 8. The amino nitrogen content (%) was calculated using following equation: 1.4xV/m, where V is volume of 0.1 M NaOH used for second titration and m is the weight of sample in 10 ml of extract. Total acidity was determined by titration using 0.1 M NaOH and was calculated to citric acid [13].

Energy value (kCal/100 g) of the soup samples was calculated using the following equation [14]:

$$Energy \ value = (Protein + carbohydrates) \times 4.1 + Fat \times 9.3 = [kcal/100g] \quad (1)$$

The sum of total proteins and carbohydrates was calculated by subtracting the sum of the values of moisture, ash, and fat from 100 (per 100 gm) [15]:

Sum of proteins and carbohydrates(%) = 100 - (% moisture + % fat + % ash) (2)

2.3 Physical Analysis

For determination of viscosity and density of liquid soups prepared to eat, samples were prepared due to instructions from packaging. Density of cooked soup samples (liquid density) was determined at 50 ± 5 °C by the measuring of the weight and volume of the prepared sample in the measuring cylinder. Density [kg/m³] was calculated as ratio of weight and volume.

Dynamic viscosity [mPas] was measured at rotational rheometer (Myr, VR 3000) at 50 ± 5 °C using R2 spindle and rotation speed of 200 rev/min. Kinematic viscosity [m²/s] was calculated as ratio of dynamic viscosity and density of ready to eat samples (liquid density).

Bulk density [kg/m³] was determined as ratio of weight and volume of powder in measuring cylinder. 60 g of sample was put into a 200 ml graduated measuring cylinder. The volume of sample was recorded and bulk density was calculated as ratio of sample weight and volume [16].

Tapped density was determined after determination of bulk density. Soup powder was tapped 100 times (or to constant volume) in a measuring cylinder by beating on a plain surface. After tapping, the new tapped volume was recorded, and tapped density [kg/m³] was calculated as ratio of sample weight and tapped volume [16, 17].

Determination of wettability [s] was described by Fernandes et al. [16] with some modifications. Amount of 0.5 g of soup powder was put over the plain calm surface of 200 ml of distilled water at 20 °C without agitation. Stopwatch was turned on and the time was recorded after all powder had been wetted.

For the determination of dispersibility, 5 g of powder was put in a 50 ml measuring cylinder and distilled water (t = $20 \,^{\circ}$ C) was added to 50 ml. The mixture of powder and water was vigorously stirred and left to stay for 3 h without agitation. The volume of the liquid phase was measured. Dispersibility [%] was calculated as percentage of liquid phase volume V_{liquid} in total volume V_{total} (50 ml) [18–20].

Angle of repose and Hausner ratio were used as indicators of flowability and cohesiveness. The Hausner ratio was calculated as the ratio of tapped and bulk density [21]. For determination of angle of repose, 50 ml of dehydrated soup sample powder was carefully sloped through a funnel (D = 1 cm) on a plain surface base. The height (h) and diameter (d) of the powder heap were measured. Angle of repose α was calculated as tg α = 2h/d. Flowability and cohesiveness were described and explained by comparison of obtained results to referent values from literature data [22–24].

2.4 Sensory Evaluation

Sensory evaluation was done using a 9-point hedonic scale, where 1 means extremely unacceptable or extremely bad and 9 means extremely acceptable or excellent. Before sensory evaluation, soups were cooked according to declared instructions and served to panellists at recommended serving temperature (45 ± 5 °C). The panellists (n = 20) were semi-trained students of Faculty of Agriculture and Food Sciences, University of Sarajevo, who intended the subject Technology of ready-to-eat food. The acceptability of following properties was evaluated: appearance, consistency, smell, aroma, taste and overall acceptability. Besides acceptability evaluation, panellists also evaluated the intensity of taste attributes such as saltiness, sourness and umami taste.

2.5 Statistical Analysis

All analyses were done in triplicate and results are shown as mean value with standard deviation. Statistical analysis was performed using one-way ANOVA and post-hoc Tukey test ($p \le 0.05$) using SPSS version 20.0 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA).

3 Results and Discussion

3.1 Amount of Ingredients

Soup samples had a pretty different composition and different amount of analyzed fraction (Table 2). It was noticed that all samples contained a powdered fraction, but only *Tarhana* was clear soup with noodles. Other soups were typical cream soup with a high amount of powdered fraction and lower amount of dried vegetable fraction. The image of fractions is shown in Fig. 1.

Content of powdered fraction in *Tarhana soup* (*TS*) was significantly ($p \le 0.05$) lower than in other soups. Only *TS* didn't contain large particles fraction consisted of pieces of dried vegetable and dried meat. *Bey's* soup (BS) contained a significantly ($p \le 0.05$) higher amount of dried vegetables in comparison to *Sarajevska* (*SS*). On the other hand, *SS* contained significantly higher amount of powdered fraction than *Bey's* and *Tarhana*.

	Tarhana - TS	Bey's - BS	Sarajevska - SS
Noodles (%)	55.99 ± 3.06	-	_
Large particles fraction with dried vegetable (%)	_	26.80 ± 2.95^{a}	18.15 ± 0.92^{b}
Powdered fraction (%)	$44.01 \pm 3.06^{\circ}$	$73.20\pm2.97^{\text{b}}$	81.85 ± 0.42^{a}

Table 2. Amount of the main compounds in soup samples

* Different small letters in rows represent statistically significant differences ($p \le 0.05$) between samples

Large particle fraction was separated from powder by sieving through a sieve with holes diameter of 1 mm. This fraction had dimensions larger than 1 mm, and the powdered fraction had dimensions smaller than 0.5 mm. Particles with dimensions between 0.5 and 1 mm were not found. The image of the fractions is shown in Fig. 1. After observing a large particle fraction, it can be seen that its composition consisted mainly of dried vegetable pieces (mostly carrot, celery and parsley) (Fig. 1). The amount of okra in particular was 4.52% in total sample weight and 19.02% in the fraction of large particles (Fig. 1).

It should be noted that small pieces of dried meat, declared on the packaging (Table 1) could not be recognized or separated from the dried vegetable fraction. For this reason, that fraction is represented as a large particle fraction, composed mainly of dried vegetable pieces and smaller pieces of dried chicken meat (as declared).

Obtained results are in agreement to literature data [25, 26]. Abeysinghe and Illeperuma [25] reported that soup formulation contained 25% of dried vegetables, which was very similar to results *BS* shown in Table 1.



Fig. 1. Images of the dehydrated soup fractions: A) *Tarhana - TS*; B) *Bey's – BS* and C) *Sarajevska* soup *SS*

3.2 Chemical Analysis

Results of chemical analysis are given in Table 3. Chemical quality of dehydrated soups is regulated by *Codex Alimentarius* [3, 9] and the National Standard for soups, sauces, food seasonings and kindred products [4]. According to the official Bosnia and Herzegovinian Standard for soups, sauces, food seasonings and kindred products [4] moisture content in dehydrated soups must not exceed 10%. The maximum permitted amount of NaCl

in processed soups and broths is 12.5 g/L [3, 4, 9] and for amino nitrogen the lowest permitted amount is 210 mg/L for vegetable based soups [4, 9].

Water activity (aw) ranged between 0.335 and 0.434. These values (aw < 0.6) indicate good microbial stability [27, 28]. According to the literature data aw value of soup powders ranges between 0.19–0.58 [29–32]. The most similar values were obtained by Abd-Elhak and Salem [29] for sweet potato soup (0.38–0.47), while Gandhi et al. [32] reported that tomato soup had lower water activity value than vegetable. Moisture content in all samples is lower than 10% which is required by national Standard [4]. *TS* had the highest and *BS* the lowest moisture content, but the differences were not significant ($p \le 0.05$). Obtained results are in agreement with literature data. Moisture content in different dehydrated soups ranged from 2.70 to 9.84% [33–38]. The most similar values are reported by Niththiya et al. [37] for vegetable instant soup (3.24%) and Verma and Mogra [38] for tomato-mushroom soup (5.16%).

The lowest fat content was obtained in *TS* and the highest in *BS* (Table 3). These results were expected, because tarhana is tomato based soup without meat compounds, while *BS* and *SS* had chicken meat. *TS* had significantly ($p \le 0.05$) lower fat content in comparison to other two samples. According to different authors, fat content in dried soups can vary in a huge range between 1.16 and 11.96% depending on soup sample type and composition [25, 35, 37, 39]. Thuy et al. [39] reported the most similar values for fat (8.94–11.69%) in instant chicken soup.

	Tarhana - TS	Bey's - BS	Sarajevska - SS
Aw	0.335 ± 0.01^{c}	$0.389\pm0.01^{\rm b}$	0.434 ± 0.00^{a}
Moisture (%)	5.10 ± 0.17	3.95 ± 0.12	4.41 ± 0.74
Fat (%)	$4.30\pm0.28^{\text{b}}$	12.46 ± 1.71^{a}	11.90 ± 0.60^{a}
Ash (%)	20.04 ± 6.21	16.00 ± 1.82	15.92 ± 0.49
NaCl (%)	17.44 ± 1.10	15.70 ± 1.03	14.98 ± 0.90
NaCl (g/L)	10.52 ± 2.30	9.42 ± 0.62	8.99 ± 0.54
Amino-nitrogen (mg/L)	482.58 ± 104.80	563.82 ± 104.03	576.79 ± 196.81
Titrable acidity (%)	$1.78\pm0.12^{\rm a}$	$0.83\pm0.08^{\rm b}$	$0.75\pm0.13^{\text{b}}$
pH	$5.40 \pm 0.01^{\circ}$	$6.31\pm0.06^{\rm a}$	6.19 ± 0.00^{b}
Energy (kCal/100g)	329.28 ± 26.35^{b}	392.99 ± 7.65^{a}	388.54 ± 3.95^{a}

Table 3. Chemical properties of soup samples

* Different small letters in rows represent statistically significant differences (p \leq 0.05) between samples

The highest amounts of ash and NaCl were in TS and the lowest in SS, but the differences were not significant ($p \le 0.05$). From these results, it could be seen that the main component of the ash was NaCl. Different literature sources reported that ash in dehydrated soups varied from 5.58 to 28.60% [25, 34–37, 40]. The most similar

reported ash amounts were 16.00–28.60% in vegetable chicken soup [40], 16.76% in instant vegetable soup [41] and 20% in vegetable soup [42].

NaCl in analyzed soup samples was in agreement to requirements [3, 4, 9] and literature data reported for similar samples. It was previously reported [26, 31, 33, 35] that NaCl content in dried vegetable soups commonly ranged between 14.70 and 20.00%. According to Janjatović et al. [33] clear soups contained more NaCl than cream soups. Other authors reported lower NaCl content, for example 7.94–12% for vegetable soup powders [25, 32, 37, 43].

Amino-nitrogen content is an indicator of the total amount of free amino acids in samples [13]. Free amino acids and their salts are related to soup taste, especially for desirable umami taste. Presence of protein hydrolysates and monosodium glutamate can increase amino-nitrogen content. According to *Codex Alimentarius* [9] and national standard [4], the lowest required content of amino nitrogen in vegetable soups is 210 mg/L. All samples analyzed in this study had amino nitrogen above the required level. Matijević et al. [44] reported that amino nitrogen in vegetable soup was 680 mg/L, which is slightly higher in comparison to results of this study.

Significantly ($p \le 0.05$) the lowest pH and the highest total acidity were obtained in *TS*. These results were expected, because the basic ingredient in *TS* is tomato, and this soup also had the most intense sour taste. Tomato soup commonly has a lower pH value in comparison to vegetable soup [31, 43, 45]. Mohajan et al. [43] reported that vegetable soups had pH 6.13–6.17. On the other hand, pH value of tomato soups commonly ranges between 4.00 and 4.62 [31, 45, 46], while original tarhana soup has pH 4.37 [47]. Ansari et al. [36] reported that vegetable soup mix contained 2.50% of citric acid, which was a little bit higher in comparison to results obtained in this study.

As was expected, the energy value of *TS* was significantly ($p \le 0.05$) lower in comparison to other samples, that's because *TS* is vegetable based soup. Besides that, *Tarhana* soup had also the lowest fat content which caused the lowest energy value. Different studies from literature reported an energy value between 271–401 kcal/100 g for similar soup samples [25, 34, 35, 37, 39].

3.3 Physical Analysis

The results of physical analysis are shown in Table 4.

Dynamic viscosity varied in a very huge range between 32.33 and 111.67 mPas depending on soup consistency. The highest viscosity was noticed in *BS*, and the lowest in *TS*. *Tarhana* soup had significantly ($p \le 0.05$) lower dynamic and kinematic viscosity in comparison to other samples. After considering that *Tarhana* is clear tomato soup with noodles and has thinner consistency in comparison to cream soups, results for viscosity were expected. Obtained results also were in agreement with literature data, where viscosity of soup can vary in a very huge range (30–390 mPas) depending on composition, temperature and soup type [38, 40, 42, 43, 46, 48–50]. It is not uncommon that tomato soup has lower viscosity than other vegetable cream soups. Viscosity of tomato soup was 40 mPas [45] and of tomato-mushroom soup 47 mPas [38]. These values are very similar to the results obtained for *TS* sample (Table 4). According to literature data viscosity of cream soups commonly varies from 85 to 145 mPas [40, 42, 49, 50]. Also, very similar values for meat and vegetable soups were reported by other

authors, for example: 130–145 mPas for vegetable chicken soup [40], 85–115 mPas for vegetable cream soup [42] and 110 mPas for cereal cream soup [48]. Results for kinematic viscosity followed the same relations as dynamic viscosity. Kinematic and dynamic viscosity had highest values BS, and the lowest in TS.

The density of prepared ready to eat liquid soups had very similar values for all three samples without significant differences ($p \le 0.05$). Although *TS* had significantly ($p \le 0.05$) lower viscosity, its density was slightly higher in comparison to other samples. It is well known that density of liququids depends on composition and temperature. Skotnicka and Ocieczek [49] reported that cream soup had lower density (963 kg/m³) in comparison to clear soup with pasta (1017 kg/m²). According to Celik et al. [47] original *tarhana* soup had density in the range 1.04–1.05 g/ml, which is a slightly higher value in comparison to results for *TS* sample. These differences could be explained by different temperatures during testing of density and also by different composition and recipes for *tarhana* soup preparation. Celik et al. [47] measured density at room temperature, while measuring temperature in this study was 50 °C.

Bulk density depends on the size and shape of particles in soup powders. Prevalence of small and uniform size/shape of particles commonly causes higher bulk density. On the other hand, porous ingredients, such as dried vegetables with irregular shapes will decrease the bulk density. *TS* powder had the highest bulk density, probably because of the very high presence of very compact *tarhana* noodles (Fig. 1) and without porous dried vegetable fraction (Table 2). Results for bulk density are in agreement to literature data, where bulk density mostly ranged between 0.43 and 0.84 g/ml [29, 36, 38, 41, 42, 46]. Abd-Elhak and Salem [29] reported that the bulk density of sweet potato soup was 0.54 g/ml.

	Tarhana - TS	Bey's - BS	Sarajevska - SS
Dynamic viscosity (mPas) at 50 °C	32.33 ± 3.79^{b}	111.67 ± 11.68^{a}	106.33 ± 1.53^{a}
Kinematic viscosity (cm ² /s) at 50 °C	0.32 ± 0.03^{b}	1.14 ± 0.13^{a}	1.09 ± 0.04^{a}
Liquid soup density (kg/m ³) at 50 °C	996.67 ± 20.82	976.67 ± 5.77	986.67 ± 20.82
Bulk density (kg/m ³)	621.39 ± 17.96	585.53 ± 28.70	599.50 ± 24.26
Tapped density (kg/m ³)	860.67 ± 18.34^{b}	923.91 ± 46.14^{ab}	940.83 ± 22.78^{a}
Hausner ratio	1.39 ± 0.07	1.56 ± 0.10	$1.57\pm0,09$
Angle of repose (°)	$25.62 \pm 3.20^{\circ}$	$34.13\pm4.33^{\text{b}}$	44.69 ± 1.36^{a}
Wettability (s)	585.62 ± 192.95^{a}	$16.09\pm0.25^{\text{b}}$	$24.33\pm1.13^{\text{b}}$
Dispersibility (%)	$58.62\pm3.51^{\text{b}}$	76.50 ± 1.32^{a}	79.00 ± 2.65^{a}

Table 4. Physical properties of soup samples

* Different small letters in rows represent statistically significant differences ($p \le 0.05$) between samples

Values for tapped density were between 860.47 and 940.83 kg/m². Cream soup samples (*SS and BS*) had higher tapped density than *TS*. These results were expected because of the higher amount of powdered fraction in cream soups. Small particles of powders could be better compressed than large particles of *tarhana* noodles. Thus, the sample with the highest amount of powdered faction (*SS*) had the highest tapped density. In comparison to *SS*, *BS* had a higher amount of dried vegetables with irregular shape and porous structure (especially large pieces of dried okra) (Table 2, Fig. 1).

Tapped density is an important indicator of powder flowability. Higher differences between tapped and bulk density indicate lower flowability and higher affinity for compression and caking. Hausner ratio and angle of repose are important indicators of powder flowability and cohesiveness. Values of Hausner ratio lower than 1.18 indicate good flowability, while values higher than 1.26 are related to poor flowability. Lower values of angle of repose always mean better flowability. When angle of repose is above 41° , flowability of powder is poor [21, 22]. On the other hand, higher values of Hausner ratio (>1.40) and angle of repose (>45^{\circ}) indicate high cohesiveness of powder [23, 24].

The values of Hausner ratio and angle of repose in soup samples ranged between 1.39–1.57 and 25.62–44.69° (Table 4). Considering the obtained and referent values of Hausner ratio, flowability of soup samples could be described as poor to passable, while their cohesiveness was intermediate to high. By observing the angle of repose values, the samples had very low to negligible cohesiveness and good flowability [22–24]. From obtained results (Table 4), it can be seen that angle of repose and Hausner ratio did not refer to the same explanations of flowability and cohesiveness character. These opposite results could be explained by the following facts. The Hausner ratio values could serve to explain and classify powder flowability under higher stress or high speed of powder flow, while angle of repose could explain flowability only under low stress and slow flow. Because of that, the Hausner ratio should always be used as a better indicator for flowability description.

This phenomenon is best seen in *TS*. Results showed that *Tarhana* soup had the highest flowability and the lowest cohesiveness, because of the lowest values of Hausner ratio and angle of repose in comparison to other samples. Angle of repose of *TS* shows negligible cohesiveness and good flowability, while Hausner ratio indicates poor flowability and intermediate cohesiveness. These results indicate that slow speed flowability would be good to excellent, while flowability would be poor at fast speeds. The similar observation occurs in *BS* sample. *BS* could have good flowability and negligible cohesiveness in the case of slow flowing (low angle of repose), while under the fast flowing the flowability could be poor and cohesiveness high. Angle of repose of *SS* (44.69°) indicates poor flowability and low-to-intermediate cohesiveness, while Hausner ratio (1.57) indicates very poor flowability and high cohesiveness.

Results for Hausner ratio and angle of repose were in agreement to literature. Bhargavanandha et al. [46] reported that Hausner ratio for tomato soup was 1.3-1.33. Angle of repose for similar soup powders reported by other authors usually ranged between 45 and 57° [42, 46, 51, 52], which indicates poor flowability. Besides, it is possible to notice that tomato soup [46] and other soups consisting of larger size ingredients [51] had lower angle of repose in comparison to cream vegetable soups [42, 52], mostly consisting of powdered fraction. Dispersibility and wettability are indicators of reconstruction ability. Samples with lower wetting time and higher dispersibility have better reconstruction ability. Dispersibility of soup samples ranged between 58.62% and 79.00% and wettability 16.09– 585.62 s (Table 4). *TS* had significantly ($p \le 0.05$) the lowest dispersibility and the highest wettability. *SS* had the highest dispersibility (Table 4), while the lowest wettability was in *BS*. From the literature data dispersibility of soup powders varied between 69.67 and 82% [41, 43], while wettability varied in a higher range from 1.6 to 230 s, depending on composition and determination method [30, 38, 46, 51].

The lowest dispersibility of *Tarhana* soup could be explained by the high presence of noodles which absorb a lot of water by swelling. Swelling of the noodles consequently decreased the volume of liquid phase and noodles with absorbed water settled down. Wetting time for *TS* was significantly ($p \le 0.05$) longer than for other samples. Long wetting time of *TS* could be related to its composition. *TS* contained 44.00% of powder fraction with tomato powder as dominant compound (Table 1). Such a long wetting time of *TS* probably could be explained by the fact that tomatoes contain hydrophobic compounds like lycopene and beta carotene. Lycopene is apolar compound with high hydrophobic character [53–55]. The hydrophobic character of lycopene could increase wettability of *TS* and make it difficult to be wetted. Because of that, the presence of lycopene is probably the main reason for such a long wetting time. This theory could also be supported by results reported by Bhargavanandha et al. [46], where it was found that higher concentration of tomato powder in soup composition induced longer wetting time of tomato soup.

3.4 Sensory Evaluation

Results of sensory evaluation and images of ready to eat soup samples are shown in Fig. 2 and 3.

TS had the highest scores for smell and aroma, but the lowest scores for consistency and overall acceptability. *BS* had the highest scores for appearance, consistency and overall acceptability and the lowest scores for smell, aroma and taste. The scores for *SS* were mostly between *BS* and *TS*. *SS* had slightly the best evaluated taste and slightly the lowest scores for appearance. The scores for acceptability of each sensory property varied in following ranges: 5.83–6.3 for appearance, 5.50–6.60 for consistency, 4.92–6.42 for smell, 6.00–6.90 for aroma, 6.10–6.42 for taste and 6.20–6.80 for overall acceptability. All acceptability scores ranged between 4.92 and 6.90, but there were no statistically significant ($p \le 0.05$) differences in the scores for acceptability of any sensory attribute.

The highest scores for appearance and consistency were noticed in *BS* probably because of the presence of clearly visible large particles of dried vegetables (such as carrot and okra) in the thick liquid soup base (Fig. 1 and 3). This soup also had a slightly higher score for overall acceptability in comparison to other samples. It is important to be mention that *TS* had significantly ($p \le 0.05$) lower viscosity than other soup samples, and because of that its consistency was the thinnest. That thin consistency was evaluated as the most undesirable. Results showed that the panelists mostly preferred thicker consistency of soups and suggested that consistency and appearance played a very important role in sensory evaluation of soups. The highest scores for aroma and smell were noticed in *TS*, probably because of the fresh smell of tomatoes. *SS* had the

highest scores for taste. It is also interesting that SS had the lowest NaCl and the highest amino nitrogen content (Table 2).

There were no samples evaluated as unacceptable for overall acceptability as well as for any particular sensorial attribute. Although *TS* and *SS* had higher scores for taste, aroma and smell in comparison to *BS*, the highest score for overall acceptability was obtained in *BS* (6.80 – moderately acceptable to acceptable) and the lowest in *TS* (6.20 – moderately acceptable). These results probably suggest that panelists gave more importance to consistency than to taste or aroma. However, the differences between evaluated samples were not significant ($p \le 0.05$) nor for any sensory attribute nor for overall acceptability.



Fig. 2. Results of sensory evaluation of soups: a) acceptability of sensory properties and b) evaluation of intensity of saltiness, sourness ad umami taste

The intensity of salty taste (Fig. 2) was evaluated as moderately salty with scores between 4.5 and 4.75. *TS* had the lowest intensity of saltiness, although NaCl content was the highest in this soup (Table 3). This could be explained by the fact that *TS* had the most intense sour taste, which probably masked all other tastes. Because of that, the real saltiness of *TS* could not be recognized by panelists. From the results of sensory evaluation, it is seen that *TS* had significantly ($p \le 0.05$) the highest intensity of sourness and the lowest intensity of umami taste.

It was interesting to observe that panelists managed to recognize significantly ($p \le 0.05$) higher intensity of umami taste in *BS* and *SS* samples. It has to be mentioned that these two soups had higher amounts of amino nitrogen content in comparison to *TS*

(Table 3). Amino nitrogen is related to umami taste in many ready to eat products and it could be recognized as a main carrier of umami taste. Because of that, it was very interesting that panelists were able to recognize more intense umami taste in the samples with higher amounts of amino nitrogen. Sour taste intensity was evaluated with scores 3.25-4.58 (weakly expressed/slightly sour – normal/moderately sour), while umami taste was evaluated as moderately slightly expressed (3.90) in *TS* to moderate intense in *BS* and *SS* soup (4.92 and 5.08).



Fig. 3. Images of cooked soup samples prepared for sensorial evaluation

In the beginning of this study, it was expected that soups would be evaluated with higher scores than obtained. Results showed that analyzed samples were not bad in taste, aroma and consistency (the main sensory attributes), but also these samples were not evaluated as very good or excellent. Obtained scores never exceed 6.90 (aroma of TS), which was the lowest limit (6.90~7.00) to evaluate it as acceptable or good. The scores for overall acceptability did not exceed 6.80. These unexpected results can be explained by the fact that panelists probably had higher expectations of traditional soups. They probably had habits to consume these traditional soups produced by traditional ways at home or restaurants, and such evaluation was the result of comparisons between analyzed samples and soups produced using real traditional ways and recipes. Comparing industrial and traditional technologies for these soups described by literature [8], it becomes completely clear that these two technologies differ in many aspects, like used raw materials and production procedures.

For example real traditional *tarhana* soup is traditionally made from sour and fermented *tarhana* dough [8], which gives a specific sour fresh taste and aroma of traditionally prepared soup. On the other hand, the sample of commercial *TS* was produced from ordinary non-fermented dough and noodles (with addition of tomato paste in dough for sour taste, but without typical aroma related to fermented dough). Besides, industrial *tarhana* noodles also had different shape in comparison to traditional one. Commercial *tarhana* noodles have uniform size and shape (Fig. 1), unlike the traditional, which are typically in the form of crumbs or pieces of uneven size and shapes. For these reasons, consistency, appearance and overall acceptability for *TS* were evaluated with pretty low scores.

The lowest differences between industrial and traditional recipes were noticed in *BS*. Probably, because of that *BS* had the highest scores for appearance and overall acceptability. But on the other hand, *BS* obtained the lowest scores for aroma, taste and

smell, possibly because of taste enhancers, which were used during industrial production (Table 1) and which masked other typical tastes and flavors of traditional *BS*.

Very large differences between traditional and industrial recipes and technologies were recognized in *SS*. This soup traditionally is made from stewed veal meat and stewed vegetables [8]. Industrial/commercial *SS* was produced from cooked and dried chicken meat and dried but not stewed vegetables (Table 1). However, *SS* obtained the highest scores for taste and aroma, possibly because of the high amount of amino nitrogen (Table 2) and highly recognized umami taste (Fig. 2). Also unlike traditional, industrial *Sarajevska* soup did not contain okra, which is typical for traditional one. Because of that, *SS* had the lowest scores for appearance. Absence of stewed veal and okra probably caused the lowest scores of aroma and appearance of *SS*. However, it is interesting to notice, that slightly the best evaluated taste of *SS*, can be related to the lowest NaCl and high amino nitrogen content (Table 2).Also, it can be seen that *BS* had larger particles of dried vegetable than *SS* (Fig. 1), what was typical characteristic of traditional recipes [8].

Obtained results are in agreement with literature data, which reported that scores of sensory evaluation for similar soup samples ranged between 5.2 and 8.5 [35, 38, 41–43, 47, 51]. Many authors [35, 36, 38, 41, 47] reported that experimental or nontraditional soup samples had slightly lower sensory scores in comparison to control or traditional samples. Celik et al. [47] reported that experimental *tarhana* soup with addition of wheat bran had slightly lower scores than traditional, while Verma and Mogra [38], Ssepuya et al. [41] and Ansari et al. [36] reported that control soup samples were better evaluated for most sensory attributes in comparison to experimental ones.

4 Conclusion

Physical, chemical and sensory characteristics of analyzed soup samples were in agreement to official standards and literature data. All soup samples contained NaCl and moisture under permitted limits (<12.5 g/L and <10%).

TS had the lowest amount of powdered fraction, pH, fat, amino nitrogen, energy value, tapped density, dispersibility, viscosity, thinnest consistency and the lowest scores for consistency. *BS* had the lowest bulk density and the highest values for vegetable content, fat, energy value, pH, viscosity, thickest consistency and the highest scores for appearance, consistency and overall acceptability. *SS* had the highest values of tapped density, Hausner ratio, angle of repose, dispersibility, pH value and content of amino nitrogen, while the lowest values for acidity, NaCl and ash content.

Due to the results for wettability and dispersibility it can be concluded that SS had the best, while TS had the weakest reconstruction ability. It was supposed that presence of lycopene from tomato powder in TS caused the lowest wettability.

Samples with a higher amount of powdered fraction had higher cohesiveness and lower flowability. The Hausner ratio was recognized as a better flowability indicator in comparison to angle of repose.

There were no samples evaluated as unacceptable for overall acceptability as well as for any particular sensorial attribute. Also, no sample was evaluated as excellent or extremely acceptable. The highest score for overall acceptability was 6.80. Panelists probably had higher expectations of traditional soups. Results of sensory evaluation indicated that appearance, consistency and taste were recognized as the most important sensory attributes. The panelist preferred thicker soup consistency.

When comparing industrial and traditional technologies for these soups, it is clear that these technologies differ very much as well in ingredients as well as in process procedures. Industrial producers of traditional soups should use traditional ingredients and develop technologies more similar to traditional with the aim to achieve better quality of traditional soups produced in industry. Commercially produced traditional soups need to have characteristics more similar to original traditional soups.

References

- 1. Fernandez-Lopez, J., et al.: Vegetable soups and creams: raw materials, processing, health benefits and innovation trends. Plants **2020**(9), 1–33 (2020)
- Gisslen W.: Professional Cooking: Chapter Soups, 7th edn. John Wiley and Sons, 223–257 (2011)
- Codex Alimentarius: Standard for Bouillons and Consommes Codex Stan 117–1981, WHO FAO (2015)
- Pravilnik o kvalitetu supa, koncentrata za supu, koncentrata za umake i dodataka jelima (Službeni list SFRJ, br. 5/82 i 58/85) (1985)
- Alibabić, V., Mujič, I., Rudić, D., Bajramović, M., Jokić, S., Šertović, E.: Traditional diets of Bosnia and the representation of the traditional food in the cuisine field. Procedia Soc. Behav. Sci.Behav. Sci. 46, 1673–1679 (2012)
- Iyiyol, F.: The effect of Turkish culture on Bosnian culture exemplified by food culture. In: 2nd International Symposium on Sustainable Development 8–9 June, Sarajevo, pp. 469–474 (2010)
- Tarkci, Z., Dogan, I.S., Koca, A.F.: A traditional fermented Turkish soup, tarhana, formulated with corn flour and whey. Int. J. Food Sci. Technol. 39, 455–458 (2004)
- Lakišić, A.: Bosanski kuhar Tradicionalno kulinarstvo u Bosni i Hercegovini, 6. Izd. Svjetlost Sarajevo (1999)
- 9. Codex Alimentarius Commission: Report of the 2nd Seasons of the Codex Committee on Soups and Broths. WHO FAO (1978)
- AOAC: Official methods of analysis 16th Ed. Association of official analytical chemists. Washington DC, USA (1995)
- AOAC: Official Methods of Analysis, (17thedn) Association of Official Analytical Chemists, DC (2000)
- 12. E.K. 8045, JUS.: Određivanje sadržaja natrijum-hlorida, Službeni list SRJ 27/93 (1993)
- 13. Kostić, S.: Praktikum iz tehnologije gotove hrane, Univerzitet u Beogradu, Poljoprivredni fakultet, Beograd Zemun (1998)
- Mishra, G., Mishra, A.A., Skukla, R.N.: Development of pulse, banana and pinaple pomace based weaning food and its quality evaluation during storage. Int. J. Dev. Res. 4(6), 1257–1262 (2014)
- 15. AOAC: Official method of Analysis. 18th Edition, Association of Officiating Analytical Chemists, Washington DC (2005)
- Fernandes, R.V.D.B., Borges, S.V., Botrel, D.A.: Influence of spray drying operating conditions on microencapsulated rosemary essential oil properties. Ciência e Tecnologia de Alimentos 33, 171–178 (2013)
- Imtiaz, H., Burhan Uddin, M., Gulzar, M.A.: Evaluation of weaning foods formulated from germinated wheat and mungbean from Bangladesh. Afr. J. Food Sci. 5(17), 897–903 (2007)

- Alawode, E.K., Idowu, M.A., Adeola, A.A., Oke, E.K., Omaniyi, S.A.: Some quality attributes of complementary food produced from flour blends of orange fresh potato sorghum and soybean. Croat. J. Food Sci. Technol. 9(2), 122–129 (2017)
- 19. Asma, M.A., El Fadil, B., El Tinay, A.H.: Development of weaning food from sorghum supplemented with legumes and oil seeds. Food Nutr. Bull.Nutr. Bull. 27(1), 26–34 (2006)
- El-Gindy, A.A.: Preparation of some weaning food formulated from sweet potato, millet and quinoa. Curr. Sci. Int. 7(4) 662–679 (2018). ISSN: 2077-4435
- Szulz, K., Lenart, A.: Effect of composition on physical properties of food powders. Int. Agrophysics 30, 237–243 (2016)
- Jan, S., Rafiq, S.I., Saxena, D.C.: Effect of physical properties on flow ability of commercial rice flour/powder for effective bulk handling. Int. J. Comput. Appl. 0975, 8887 (2015). International Conference on Advancements in Engineering and Technology
- Sahni, S., Shere, D.M.: Comaparative evaluation of physico-chemical and and functional properties of apple, carrot and beetroot pomace powders. Int. J. Food Ferment Technol. 7(2), 317–323 (2017)
- Geldart, D., Abdullah, E.C., Hassanpour, A., Nwoke, L.C., Wouters, I.: Characterisation of powder flowability using masurement of angle of repose. China Particuology 4(3–4), 104–107 (2006)
- Abeysinghe, C.P., Illeperuma, C.K.: Formulation of MSG (monosodium glutamate) free vegetable soup. J. Natl. Sci. Found. 34(2), 91–95 (2006)
- 26. Sarkar, B.K., et al.: Development and quality evaluation of instant soup mix incorporated with spent hen meat shred. J. Entomol. Zool. Stud. 7(2), 24–30 (2019)
- Beuchat, L.R., et al.: Low-water activity foods: increased concern as vehicle of foodborne pathogens. J. Food Prot. 76(1), 150–172 (2013)
- Prabhakar, K., Malika, E.N.: Dried food. In: Batt, C.A., Tortorello M.-L. (eds.), Encyclopedia of Food Microbiology (Second Edition), pp. 547–576 (2014)
- Abd-Elhak, N.A., Salem, A.A.: Preparation and evaluation of dried soup produced from different sweet potato varieties. Egypt. J. Agric. Res. 95(3), 1161–1177 (2017)
- 30. Ocieczek, A., Palich, P.: The influence of development of the specific surface of sorption on the wettability of instant soups. Czes. J. Food Sci. **25**(6), 333–338 (2007)
- Jakubczyk, E., Jaskulska, A.: The effect of freeze drying on the properties of polish vegetable soups. Appl. Sci. 11, 654 (2021)
- Gandhi, N., Singh, B., Sharma, S.: Storage stability and quality assessment of instant vegetable soup mixes prepared by extrusion processing. Bull. Environ. Pharmacol. Life Sci. 6(6), 73–82 (2017)
- Janjatović, D., Benković, M., Srečec, S., Ježek, D., Špoljarić, I., Bauman, I.: Assessment of powder flow characteristics in incoherent soup concentrates, vol. 23, pp. 620–631 (2012)
- Abdel-Haleem, A.M.H.: Preparation of dry vegetarian soup supplemented with some legumes. Food Nutr. Sci. 5, 2274–2285 (2014)
- Farzana, T., Mohajan, S., Saha, T., Hossain, M.N., Haque, M.Z.: Formulation and nutritional evaluation of healthy vegetable soup powder supplemented with soy flour, Mushroom and Moringa Leaf. Food Sci. Nutr.Nutr. 2017(5), 911–920 (2017)
- 36. Ansari, F., Singh, A., Baidya, K., Rana, G.K., Bharti, A.: Formulation and development of instant soup mix using *Moringa oleifera* leaf powder. J. Pharmacogn. Phytochem. 429– 432 (2020). International Web-Conference on New Trends in Agriculture, Environmental & Biological Sciences for Inclusive Development 21–22 June 2020
- Niththiya, N., Vasantharuba, S., Subajini, M., Srivijeindran, S.: Formulation of instant soup mix powder using uncooked palmyrah (*Borassus flabellifer*) tuber flour and locally available vegetables. In: Proceedings of Jaffna University International Research Conference, pp. 198– 202 (2014)

- Verma, A., Mogra, R.: Process for the preparation of value addedtomato-mushroom soup mix incorporated with *Psillium* husk and its quality evaluation. Int. J. Pure Appl. Biosci. 5(5), 1502–1507 (2017)
- Thuy, N.M., Hang, L.T., Triep, T.L., Tan, N.D., Tai, N.V.: Development and nutritional analysis of healthy chicken soup supplemented with vegetables in Viet Nam. Food Res. 4(1), 113–120 (2020)
- Riyad, Y.M., Rizk, A.E.: Preparation of high nutritional quality soup for the elderly. J. Food Sci. Suez Canal Univ. 7(1), 1–14 (2020)
- SSepuuya, G., Katongole, J., Tumuhimbise, G.A.: Contribution of instant amaranth (*Amaranthus hypochondriacus L.*) based vegetable soup to nourishment of boarding school adolescent. Food Sci. Nutr. 6(6), 1402–1409 (2018). Wiley Periodicals Inc
- 42. Kamble, K.S., Mote, G.V., Sahoo, A.K.: Process development for instant *Moringa* pod soup powder supplemented with herbs. J. Pharmacogn. Phytochem. **8**(3), 3281–3286 (2019)
- Mohajan, S., Orchy, T.N., Farzana, T.: Effect of incorporation of soy flour on functional, nutritional and sensory properties of mushroom-moringa-supplemented healthy soup. Food Sci. Nutr. 6(3), 1–8 (2018). published by Wiley Periodicals Inc
- 44. Matijević, K.A., Tahmaz, J., Smajić, A., Operta, S.: Free amino nitrogen content in dehydrated vegetable-based and beef-based soups and its influence on the taste. In: Proceedings –21st Scientific-Expert Conference on Agriculture and Food Industry, Faculty of Agriculture and Food Sciences University of Sarajevo, pp. 775–782 (2010)
- 45. US FDA/CFSAN: Acidified and low acid canned foods Approximate pH of foods and food products. 1–13 (2008)
- Bhargavanandha, K.S., Kshirsagar, R.B., Patil, B.M., Bachate, A.H.: Effect of addition of partially hydrolyzed guar gum on the quality attributes of tomato soup powder. Pharma Innov. J. 10(9), 627–634 (2021)
- 47. Celik, I., Isik, F., Yilmaz, Y.: Chemical, rheological and sensory properties of tarhana with wheat bran as a functional ingredient. Akademik Gida **8**(3), 11–17 (2010)
- Lyly, M., Salmenkallio-Marttila, M., Sourti, T., Autio, K., Poutanen, K., Lahteenmaki, L.: The sensory characteristics and rheological of soups containing oat and barley β-glucan before and after freezing. Lebensmittel Wiessenschaft und Technologie 37, 749–761 (2004)
- 49. Skotnicka, M., Ocieczek, A.: Influence of tomato cream soup physical parameters on satiety potential level. Acta Agroph. **26**(4), 5–21 (2019)
- Noordraven, L.E., Kim, H.J., Hoogland, H., Grauwet, T., Van Loey, A.M.: Potential of chickpea flours with different microstructures as multifunctional ingredient in an instant soup application. Foods 2021, 10 (2622), 1–18 (2021)
- Elrih, W.M., Ismael, I.A.: Development of quick dried soup powder mixes and easy to prepare. Int. J. Multidiscip. Res. Publ. 3(3), 91–94 (2020)
- Yadav, Y.S., Prasad, K., Kumar, S.: Ingredients interactions effect on development and characterization of rice flour and *Moringa oleifera* leaf powder based instant soup mix. Chem. Sci. Rev. Lett. 11(42), 111–122 (2022)
- Pataro, G., Carullo, D., Falcone, M.: Recovery of lycopene from industrially derived tomato processing by-products by pulsed electric field-assisted extraction. Innov. Food Sci. Emerg. Technol. 63, 10239 (2020)
- Jazaeri, S., Mohammadi, A., Penah Kermani, A.M., Paliyath, G., Kakuda, J.: Characterization of lycopene hydrocolloidal structure induced by tomato processing. Food Chem. 245, 958–965 (2018)
- De Abreu, W.C., Piccolo Barcelos, M.F., de Vilas Boas, V.B., da Silva, E.P.: Total antioxidant activity of dried tomatoes marked in Brazil. Int. J. Food Prop. 17, 639–649 (2014)



Role of Sensory Evaluation and Quality in Consumers' Acceptance of Smoked Meat Products

Jasna Djinovic-Stojanovic¹(⊠), Milan Ristic², and Klaus Troeger²

¹ Institute of Meat Hygiene and Technology, Belgrade, Serbia jasna.djinovic@inmes.rs

² BAFF, Former Federal Centre for Meat Research (retired researchers), Kulmbach, Germany

Abstract. This paper reviews the most important trends and developments in meat sensory analysis in 2022 according to German Agricultural Society (DLG). The document "DLG Trend Monitor - Food Sensors 2022" built on results from 2009 to 2019, but also focused on other current aspects and development trends of sensory activities in food production in connection with the corona pandemic.

On the other hand, selected results concerning the sensory properties and quality of smoked meat products from Serbia and Montenegro are presented. This research is the result of long and successful collaboration between the Institute of Meat Hygiene and Technology, Belgrade, Serbia and the Federal Centre for Meat Research, Kulmbach, Germany (now the Max Rubner-Institute). Sensory evaluation of the products was conducted according to the DLG 5-point-testing-scheme by DLG-trained experts, in Kulmbach, Germany. The DLG 5-point-scheme is a descriptive sensory analysis method with scales, and points are given on the basis of assessment by experts. Analysis included visual (appearance/exterior), haptic (consistence/texture), olfactory (odor) and gustative (taste) criteria of the meat products. Meat products that pass the DLG tests receive a "DLG award winner" medal in Gold, Silver or Bronze. DLG medals are ambassadors for good taste and high-quality foods.

The quality of traditional smoked meat products was tested (from 2009 to 2019) by measuring different physico-chemical parameters (pH, water activity, sodium chloride, nitrite, and nitrate). Content of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons (PAHs) were determined by applying HRGC/MS/MS The chosen parameters are presented in this paper.

Keywords: Sensory evaluation \cdot Consumer acceptance \cdot Traditional smoked meat products

1 Developments and Trends in Food Sensory Analysis

1.1 "DLG Trend Monitor" - 2022

Meat and meat products are of high nutritional value, but some of their sensory properties, such as high amount of salts, fat, and smoke, can have negative effects on consumers' attitudes toward meat product quality. Hence, to understand consumers' acceptability of

different types of smoked meat products and to identify the sensory characteristics that drive consumers' acceptability, sensory analysis is necessary.

According to the German Agricultural Society (DLG), the most important trends in meat sensory analysis in 2022 related to study design and participant profile [1]. Sensory evaluation experts and managers from German-speaking countries were focused on practical sensory experts from the areas of food supply and processing. They concluded that there are the wide range of possible applications and great interest in the practical use of sensory methods. The importance of sensory evaluation of different foods was reflected in the time spent on sensory tasks in daily work in the companies that were involved. It was shown that the majority of respondents (60.5%) still spend "less than 1 h" or "1-2h a day" (20.3%) on sensory analysis. Sensory technology was located in different areas of the companies, such as "quality assurance" (69.1%), "product development" (57.6%), "market research" (15.3%), and "sensory department" (14.1%). The analytical methods in sensory technology can be divided into difference tests and descriptive tests. "Triangle tests" (66.7%), "rank order tests" (50.1%) and "pair comparisons" (48.1%) were the most dominant difference tests. In the descriptive tests that are currently used by the companies, the "simple descriptive exam" (72.3%) and "descriptive exam with subsequent evaluation" (67.8%) were the most commonly mentioned methods [1].

2 Traditional Smoked Meat Products from Serbia

2.1 Sensory Evaluation and Quality

Consumer evaluation of meat and meat products is becoming a critical issue for the meat industry because it has a direct influence on profitability [2]. Since attitude plays a crucial role in consumer decisions, it has become important to understand Serbian consumers' attitudes toward traditional smoked meat products, in order to market them effectively [3, 4]. In this section, selected results concerning sensory properties and quality of smoked meat products from Serbia and Montenegro, obtained from 2005 to 2019, are presented. During the 81st International Agricultural Fair in Novi Sad (2014, Serbia), Serbian consumers evaluated salami, sausage and chicken salami concerning their taste, salt content and smoke balance (Table 1) [5].

The highest percentage of consumers (55.3–88.2%) evaluated traditional smoked meat products as products with satisfactory taste, balanced salt content and appropriate smoke level. Results of statistical analyses showed that there was a significant difference (p < 0.01) between consumers' frequency of answers (satisfactory, average, non-satisfactory). Some consumers evaluated some meat products as too salty, while other products had too strong a smoke characteristic [5]. Literature data [6] indicate that traditional smoked meat and meat products with strong smoke contain phenols, antioxidant constituents that protect fat in meat products from oxidative degradation process and preserve the taste.

During 2015, sensory evaluation of five meat products from Zlatiborac Meat Company (beef salami, pork salami, chicken cajna sausage, homemade salami, and chicken salami) was performed in three large food store chains in Belgrade (Delhaize, DIS, and Mercator-S). For this purpose, sensory evaluation was conducted according to DLG quality testing [7] in which 1,157 randomly chosen persons participated. Consumers were

Taste % (n)			Salt content % (n)			Smoke (n)			
#	I*	II*	III^*	Ι	II	III	Ι	II	III
3	55.3	63.5	69.4	83.5	84.7	88.2	76.5	82.4	74.1
	(47)**	(54)	(59)	(71)	(72)	(75)	(65)	(70)	(63)
2	31.8	31.7	29.4	15.3	5.9	5.9	16.5	15.3	20. 0
	(27)	(27)	(25)	(13)	(5)	(5)	(14)	(13)	(17)
1	12.9	3.5	1.2	2.4	9.4	5.9	7.1	3.5	5.9
	(11)	(3)	(1)	(2)	(8)	(5)	(6)	(3)	(5)

Table 1. Results of consumers' satisfactory with sensory quality of meat products. (n = 85, rating in %). [5]

* I - Salami (100% beef meat); II - Sausage (20% beef meat and 80% pork meat); III - Chicken Salami (72% broiler breast meat). ** - Absolute number of the samples is shown in parentheses. # - rating level: Taste: 3- satisfactory, 2- average, 1- non satisfactory; Salt content: 3- balanced, 2- not salty enough, 1- too salty; Smoke: 3- balanced, 2- too weak, 1- too strong.

asked to answer the following questions: which type of meat has been processed (beef, pork, poultry, mixture), taste (good, satisfactory, non satisfactory), salt content (well-balanced, not salty enough, too salty), and smoke (well-balanced, too weak, too strong). All meat products were unlabeled, so the names of the manufacturers were unknown to the consumers. The most important results of that investigation [8] are presented in this paper.

With respect to taste, broiler salami was rated the best (77%, Fig. 1), as the salt content was considered well-balanced (78%). The smoke flavor was also described as well-balanced (90%) [8].



Fig. 1. The results of sensory evaluation of chicken salami (n = 521, [%]) [8]

Beef salami was evaluated similarly to chicken salami (Fig. 2). Most (70%) of the consumers evaluated the taste as good. The salt content of beef salami was acknowledged as being well-balanced (85%), as was the smoke flavor (89%) [8].



Fig. 2. The results of sensory evaluation of beef salami (n = 521, [%]) [8]

Meat color is an important quality trait in the meat industry sector. It is the most important first impression a consumer has of any meat product. Processed meats can contain high levels of animal fats that have been associated with increased risk of promoting obesity, diabetes and also cancers especially colon cancers [9]. However, reduced fat foods are seen by consumers as having inferior sensory properties than regular fat products. From the consumer point of view, fat content is not a good predictor of meat quality [10].

In 2017, Serbian consumer perceptions of color and fat content in three types of salami (chicken, royal, and beef) were examined [11]. Consumer testing was performed in four large retail stores in Belgrade. A total of 1018 consumers older than 18 years of age participated over six days. For each type of meat product, consumers were asked to express their perception of color and fat. They were asked to consume all types of salami and answer the following questions: (1) Rate the color (the offered answers were: good, too pale, too dark); (2) Rate the fat content (the offered answers were: sufficient, too fatty). The authors prepared a questionnaire as a modified version of the DLG 5-point-scheme [1]. The questionnaire followed with general socio-demographic information related to ages and education levels, including eating behavior. Results, showing consumers' attitudes in relation to education and age, are shown in Tables 2 and 3 [11].

Consumers, from both education levels and in both age groups, evaluated color as good and fat as sufficient, with these categories being chosen by a significantly (p < 0.05) higher percentage of consumers in comparison with the other offered answers [11].

The second part, on consumers' sensory acceptance of chicken, royal, and beef salami, were evaluated in 2018 and published the same year [12]. Consumers (n =

Education	Perception of	Offered answers	Salami		
			Chicken	Royal	Beef
BS-Basic School	Color	Good	96.4	98.8	72.3
		Too pale	3.6	1.2	_
		Too dark	_	_	27.7
	Fat	Sufficient	98.8	78.3	95.2
		Fatty	1.2	21.7	4.8
BD-Bachelor Degree	Color	Good	96.9	97.9	89.8
		Too pale	2.6	1.9	0.7
		Too dark	0.5	0.2	9.5
	Fat	Sufficient	90.3	83.6	96.4
		Fatty	9.7	16.4	3.6

Table 2. The consumers' evaluation of colour and fat content of salami in relation to their level of education [11]

Table 3. The consumers' evaluation of colour and fat content of salami in relation to their age
 [11]

Age (years)	Perception of	Offered answers	Salami		
			Chicken	Royal	Beef
18–29	Color	Good	97.6	97.6	90.2
		Too pale	1.8	2.4	0.6
		Too dark	0.6	_	9.1
	Fat	Sufficient	95.1	88.4	95.1
		Fatty	4.9	11.6	4.9
50–59	Color	Good	94.6	98.2	87.8
		Too pale	5.0	1.4	-
		Too dark	0.5	0.5	12.2
	Fat	Sufficient	88.3	82.4	94.1
		Fatty	11.7	17.6	5.9

1031) were asked to evaluate the taste (good, satisfactory, non-satisfactory), salt content (well balanced, not salty enough, too salty) and smoke flavor (balanced, too weak, too strong) of the products during six days (Belgrade, May, 2018) in five retail stores. The questionnaire used was a modified version of the DLG 5-point-scheme. The results of sensory evaluation by consumers of chicken, royal, and beef salami are shown in Figs. 3, 4 and 5 [12].



Fig. 3. The results of sensory evaluation of the taste of three salamis by consumers (n = 1031, [%]). [12]



Fig. 4. The tesults of sensory evaluation of salt content of three salamis by consumers (n = 1031, [%]) [12]



Fig. 5. The results of sensory evaluation of the smoke flavor of three salamis by consumers (n = 1031, [%]) [12]

Sensory evaluation of the three types of salami showed that the highest percentages of consumers evaluated the taste, salt content and smoke flavor as positive by choosing the best available answers (Figs. 3, 4 and 5).

Physico-chemical properties of different smoked meat and smoked meat products from Serbia were analyzed in multiple studies [13–15]. Different physico-chemical parameters (pH; water activity (a_w); peroxide value; acid value; and contents of water, protein, fat, ash, sodium chloride, nitrite, and nitrate) were determined [13–15]. Fatty acid composition and content of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons of some smoked meat products from Serbia were performed by applying GC/ECD and HRGC/MS/MS [14].

The chosen physico-chemical parameters of beef ham are shown in Table 4 [13]. The pH values were in the standard range for this type of product. The a_w values were between 0.886 and 0.933, and they were low enough to provide a barrier to help protect product safety, e.g. prevent growth pathogenic bacteria [16]. The salt content of ham was between 1.13 and 6.1%. According to the literature data, the average salt content for these products is 4.5% [17]. Contents of nitrate (495 and 680 mg/kg) in two samples were higher than the maximum allowable concentration (MAC), (250 mg/kg), while the nitrite content was in the standard range. Mean content of benzo(a)pyrene (1.7 μ g/kg) was below the MAC value (2 μ g/kg).

	рН	Water activity (a _w)	NaCl [%]	Nitrite [mg/kg]	Nitrate [mg/kg]	Benzo[a]pyrene [µg/kg]
Mean	5.54	0.903	4.9	13.0	227.5	1.7
Standard deviation	0.17	0.021	1.13	10.8	234.9	0.16
Minimum	5.38	0.886	3.0	1.0	37.0	1.5
Maximum	5.77	0.933	6.1	33.0	680	1.8

Table 4. Physico-chemical parameters and Benzo(a)pyrene content of raw cured beef [13].

3 Conclusion

This review focused on our research papers, from 2005 to 2019, evaluating the role of sensory evaluation and quality in consumers' acceptance of smoked meat products from Serbia. This area of research helps provide important information on consumers' attitudes toward different smoked meat products. The meat industry needs to know which attributes of meat products are considered important by consumers, information that can be obtained from proper sensory evaluation, in order to develop products that meet consumer needs and to promote the products more effectively. Also, this study contributes to display transparency to the public; it made it possible to gather reliable data on the acceptance and attitudes of Serbian consumers toward the different types of traditional smoked meat products that originate from Serbia. Consumers were satisfied

with the color and fat of the analyzed meat products. However, the high salt content and too strong smoke flavor of the meat products were the main deficiencies. The results obtained showed that traditional smoked meat products from Serbia can receive satisfactory sensory evaluations, but from the consumer point of view, their quality should be improved for the (Western) European market.

Acknowledgments. The study was supported by the Ministry of Education, Science and Technological Development of the Republic of Serbia (Contract number 451-03-68/2022-14/200050 from February 4th 2022).

References

- 1. DLG Homepage. http://www.DLG.org. Accessed 06 June 2022
- Fiorentini, M., Kinchla, A.J., Nolden, A.A.: Role of sensory evaluation in consumer acceptance of plant-based meat analogs and meat extenders: a scoping review. Foods 9, 1334–1349 (2020)
- Đinovic-Stojanovic, J., Troeger, K., Ristic, M., Knezevic, N., Damnjanovic, M.: Consumer perception and acceptance of meat products from Serbia. J. Agric. Sci. Food Technol. 3(2), 22–28 (2017)
- 4. Brankovic Lazic, I., et al.: Evaluation of sensory and chemical parameters of fermented sausages. Meat Technol. **60**(2), 84–90 (2019)
- Djinovic-Stojanovic, J., Ristic, M., Troeger, K., Knezevic, N., Babic, M.: Sensory evaluation and quality of traditional smoked meat products from Serbia and Montenegro – significance for consumers. In: 4th International Congress, New Perspectives and Challenges of Sustainable Livestock Production, Proceedings, pp. 630–636. Belgrade, Serbia, 7–9 October 2015
- Troeger, K., Veskovic-Moracanin, S., Turubatovic, L., Ristic, M., Dederer, I.: Hohe Qualität Prüfung traditioneller serbischer Rohpökelwaren aus Rind- und Schaffleisch. Rundschau für Fleischhygiene und Lebensmittelüberwachung 61, 386–389 (2009)
- DLG Certification Unit (2014). Test Regulations 7th edition, Frankfurt, Germany (for the award year 2015)
- Djinovic-Stojanovic, J., Troeger, K., Ristic, M., Knezevic, N., Damnjanovic, M.: Consumer perception of meat products in Serbia and Germany. In: III International Congress "Food Technology, Quality and Safety", Proceedings on CD, pp. 157–162, Novi Sad, Serbia, 25–27 October 2016
- Aggett, P.J., Antoine, J.-M., Asp, N.-G., Bellisle, F., Contor, L., Cummings, J.H.: PASS-CLAIM. Process for the assessment of scientific support for claims on foods. Consensus on criteria. Eur. J. Nutr. 44(1), 1–31 (2005)
- Tobin, B.D., O'Sullivan, M.G., Hamill, R.M., Kerry, J.P.: The impact of salt and fat level variation on the physiochemical properties and sensory quality of pork breakfast sausages. Meat Sci. 93, 145–152 (2013)
- Ristić, M., Troeger, K., Đinović-Stojanović, J., Knežević, N., Damnjanović, M.: Colour and fat content as intrinsic cues for consumers attitudes towards meat product quality. In: 59th International Meat Industry Conference MEATCON2017, IOP Publishing, IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science, vol. 85, p. 012054, Zlatibor, Serbia, 1–4 October 2017. https://doi.org/10.1088/1755-1315/85/1/012054
- Ristic, M., Troeger, K., Djinovic-Stojanovic, J., Knezevic, N., Vukasovic, I.: Influence of consumers' expectation on the sensory acceptance of traditional meat products. In: 4th International Congress "Food Technology Quality and Safety". Proceedings, pp. 414–419, Novi Sad, Serbia, 23–25 October 2018

- Troeger, K., Dederer, I., Ristic, M., Radetic, P., Turubatovic, L., Cavor, D.: Rohschinken aus Montenegro. Qualität der nach traditionellen Verfahren hergestellten Produkte. Fleischwirtschaft 86, 100–103 (2006)
- 14. Djinovic, J.: Chemodynamics of polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in smoked meat products. PhD Thesis, Faculty of Chemistry, University of Belgrade (2008)
- 15. Petrovic, M.Z., et al.: Analysis of beef meat quality in a slaughterhouse in Raska district. Meat Technol. **59**(1), 23–27 (2018)
- Leistner, L., Rodel, W. Krispien, K.: Microbiology of meat products in high and intermediatemoisture ranges. In: Rockland, L.B., Stewart, G.F. (eds.), Water Activity: Influences on Food Quality, pp. 855–916. Academic, New York (1981)
- 17. Vukovic, I.: Osnove tehnologije mesa. Veterinarska komora Srbije, Beograd (2020)



Determination of Antioxidant Activity in Parsley, Dill, Coriander and Basil

Lejla Čengić^(⊠) ^(D), Zilha Ašimović ^(D), and Teofil Gavrić ^(D)

Faculty of Agriculture and Food Science, University of Sarajevo, Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina

l.cengic@ppf.unsa.ba

Abstract. Natural antioxidants are considered to be substances that, in small quantities, can neutralize free radicals. Antioxidant properties are attributed to herbs, which are positively correlated with health effects. Antioxidant activity, as a link between nutrition and disease, finds increasing interest in research. The aim of this assay was to determine the antioxidant activity in herbs and the effect of drying treatment on the antioxidant potential. Plants from the *Apiaceae* family, namely parsley (Petroselinum crispum), dill (Anethum graveolens), and coriander (Coriandrum sativum) and basil (Ocimum basilicum) from the Lamiacea family, have been selected for this research (fresh, oven drying (45 °C) and air drying). Two different methods for antioxidant activity determination were used: DPPH (2,2diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl), a stable free radical that is decolorized in the presence of antioxidants, and the pFRAP (potassium ferricyanide reducing power) method, based on the reaction between phenolic compounds and pFRAP, resulting with blue complex with absorbance at 700 nm. Fresh samples showed high antioxidant power against the DPPH radical, as follows: basil (90.54%) > dill (82.92%) >coriander (79.06%) > parsley (75.64%). The ability to eliminate DPPH radicals in dried samples varied from 82.83% in air-dried basil to 24.97% in oven-dried coriander. The highest antioxidant activity was recorded in fresh basil (1097.80 \pm 17.57 mg GAE/100g dry matter), and the lowest in oven-dried coriander (12.31 \pm 0.82 mg GAE/100g dry matter) using the pFRAP method. The values obtained by determining the pFRAP activity of the reduction of Fe³⁺ to Fe²⁺ suggested that herbs contribute with good reducing potential, which can be a useful system for the prevention of oxidation. For all analyzed plants, drying resulted in decrease of antioxidant activity.

Keywords: Antioxidant activity · herbs · DPPH · pFRAP

1 Introduction

Antioxidants have been recognized as substances present in foods in low concentrations, which can delay the oxidation process or inhibit free radical action against cells and tissues [1]. Antioxidative molecules protect cells from oxidative damage caused by reactive oxygen species, reactive nitrogen and reactive chlorine species, which can be related to degenerative diseases [2]. Natural antioxidants, that are present in foods,

mostly flavonoids, C and E vitamins, and β -carotene, have been lately under growing interest because of their ability to reduce cardiovascular diseases risk, lipid oxidation and free radical action effects [3]. Total antioxidant activity can be a useful tool in the examination and determination of the relationship between antioxidant compounds in foods and diseases caused by oxidative stress [4, 5].

Herbs, due their abundance, are used in medicine, households and, with a special place, in food technology. Herbs are parts of plants with aromatic, bitter or spicy components that are used fresh or dried to enhance dish taste or digestion [6]. Plants from the Apiaceae family, with aromatic characteristics of their essential oils [7], have been traditionally used in folks medicine, due to their high content of phytochemicals and secondary metabolites, like terpenoids, flavonoids, saponins etc. [8]. Numerous plants from the Lamiaceae family, like basil, mint, or rosemary, with high content of essential oils mostly in leaves [9], have been used in the cosmetic industry, culinary [10] as well as in traditional medicine as a remedy for different conditions. Parsley (*Petroselinum crispum*), dill (*Anethum graveolens*), coriander (*Coriandrum sativum*), and basil (*Ocimum basilicum*) have been selected for this research due to their traditional usage as a good source of phytochemicals, thus as a good source of antioxidant activity.

The drying process has been considered essential for herbs, which are sensitive after harvest due to enzymatic actions which can be triggered to metabolic processes like spoilage, bacteria growth etc. [11]. Drying can reduce the amount of water to levels adequate for a safe and longer period of storage. Besides water loss, there are other benefits of drying: reduction of mass and volume of the products, which results in smaller package and storage space [12] as well as enzymatic degradation inhibition which can lead to loss of bioactive compounds. There are different types of drying, but considering the costs of the drying process, air drying, and oven drying are widely used [13].

This research aimed to determine the antioxidative activity in fresh and dried selected herbs using two methods for antioxidative activity determination, DPPH and pFRAP methods, respectively.

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Materials

For experimental purposes, samples were collected from local herbs producer, in the Kakanj area, Bosnia and Herzegovina. Herbs (leaf) were analyzed immediately after harvest. Parsley (*Petroselinum crispum*), Rialto variety and basil (*Ocimum basilicum*) - Italiano classico were produced in a greenhouse; coriander (*Coriandrum sativum*) and dill (*Anethum graveolens*), under commercial name ELLA, were produced in an open field. Samples were washed with tap and distilled water and the average amount of every herb species was 1.5–2 kg. After the removal of inadequate parts, samples were analyzed. Every herb species was divided into three parts: the first one was analyzed immediately for antioxidant activity, and the other two were subjected to a drying process (air-drying and oven-drying) and antioxidative activity determination afterward.

2.2 Methods

Drying process. For drying of selected herbs, two methods were used. Air-drying of selected herbs was carried out in the well-ventilated dark room at room temperature for a period of seven days. Oven-drying was carried out in a laboratory oven (MEMMERT, Germany) at 45 ± 1 °C for 4 h, with periodic mass measurement. Both drying processes were applied on fresh leaves of selected herbs, with moisture content of 83.82% for parsley, 85.67% for coriander, 84.12% for dill, and 89.21% for basil.

pFRAP antioxidant assay. For the pFRAP method extraction was carried out with 30% ethanol (w/w) as follows:1g of sample was mixed with ethanol, heated to 50 °C and after manual homogenization was transferred to an extraction flask with a round bottom which was heated in water bath with reflux for 1 h. After that, the sample was filtrated in the volumetric flask (50mL) and made up with ethanol to the mark.

Antioxidant activity was determined with pFRAP method according to Meng et al. (2011) [14]. The method is based on the reaction between phenolic compounds with K_3 [Fe (CN)₆]; a blue complex is created with absorption at 700 nm [14]. Briefly, 1 mL of extract was transferred to the test tube, 1 mL of K_3 [Fe (CN)₆] was added, and after 5 min 1 mL of FeCl₃ and 7 mL of distilled water were added. Test tube content was then subjected to absorbance measurement at 700 nm. The calibration curve was made with gallic acid as standard (0–100 mgl⁻¹) and the results were expressed as gallic acids equivalents GAE/100 g dw.

DPPH antioxidant assay. Antioxidant activity in selected herbs was determined with DPPH (1,1-dipheyl-2-pycrylhydrazile) free radical, which was discolored when interacted with antioxidant molecules [15]. Color of DPPH free radical changes from purple to yellow in the reduction process. The stock solution of DPPH free radical was made by dissolving DPPH in methanol (400μ M) and the solution was kept in a refrigerator for 2 h for stabilization. Briefly, 100μ L of the extract was mixed with 2 mL of DPPH solution whose absorbance was read at 517 nm and left for 30 min in the dark. The purple color of the DPPH solution was changed to yellow due to the transfer of electrons from the antioxidative compound to the DPPH molecule. The decrease in DPPH absorbance and antioxidative activity of antioxidative molecules were calculated following equation:

$$AA(\%) = \{(Ao - As)/Ao\}x100$$

Trolox (6-hydroxy-2,5,8,8-tetramethylchroman-2-carboxylcc acid) was used as a standard antioxidant molecule. The amount of the antioxidant as the Trolox equivalent antioxidative capacity was calculated from calibration curve (5–250 ppm) of Trolox and its inhibitory effect (percentage) against DPPH free radical, using linear regression equation (y = 0.348 + 6.7817, $R^2 = 0.9998$) [16].

2.3 Statistical Analysis

Obtained data were expressed as mean \pm standard deviation (SD) (n = 3) and statistically analyzed by ANOVA (Statistical Analysis Software) in order to determine differences depending of drying process. Least significant difference (p < 0.05) was used to means comparison.
3 Results and Discussion

Free radicals, which can be regenerated by different mechanisms, can be related to chronic diseases and a faster aging process [17]. Antioxidant activity assay showed that selected herbs exhibited very good antioxidative characteristics. Two different methods were used for determination, DPPH and pFRAP, respectively. Examination of the ability to scavenge free radicals by antioxidative molecules in parsley, dill, coriander, and basil resulted in high antioxidative power, shown in Table 1. Results are expressed as a percentage of inhibition, as well as the Trolox equivalents for DPPH assay, and gallic acid equivalents for pFRAP assay. Figure 1 and Fig. 2 show influence of drying process on the antioxidative activity. Antioxidant activity of Trolox and samples were tested for the same period (30 min), and concentration of antioxidative molecules in herbs extract, as well of Trolox, and its inhibitory effect against DPPH free radical was found. The scavenging effect against DPPH radical in extracts was calculated as Trolox equivalents antioxidant capacity from calibration curve.

Fresh samples showed high antioxidative activity against DPPH free radicals, as follows: basil (90.54%) > dill (82.92%) > coriander (79.06%) > parsley (75.64%). Similar studies showed antioxidative activity in basil leaves against DPPH 94.6% and parsley leaves 30,4% [18] which can be related to our results. High antioxidant activity in basil leaves from 69.33%-89.22% can be attributed to high levels of methyl eugenol found in basil [19, 20]. DPPH activity in methanolic extract ranged between 19.9% and 28.3% whilst water extract showed 13.9%-18.8% [21]. DPPH molecule is soluble in organic solvents, which can be a limitation for hydrophilic antioxidants determination, as well as the reaction between DPPH radical and antioxidative molecule which depends on the chemical structure of antioxidants [22].

Results are expressed as mean \pm SD; values with different letters (a, b, c) within the same column showed significant differences at p < 0.05; TEAC-Trolox antioxidative capacity equivalents.

Variations in results can be explained as a consequence of different solvents used for extraction, like ethanol, water, or methanol, which is found to be the most effective for antioxidants extractions. The difference in extraction solution polarity can be a possible explanation for different inhibition process within the same herbal species [23]. Dried samples generally showed lower antioxidative activity. For oven-dried samples, basil showed the highest value, and dill extract showed the lowest antioxidant activity (62.23% and 24.97%, respectively). Air dried samples exhibited a higher percentage of inhibition against DPPH radical compared with oven-dried samples. The ability of DPPH radical elimination varied from 82.83% in air dried basil to 24.97% in oven-dried coriander. There was a significant difference (p < 0.05) between fresh and dried samples of selected herbs. The drying process resulted with a decrease in antioxidant activity. The decrease of free radical inhibition of air-dried samples can be attributed to enzymatic activity and degradation during a long period of drying. Studies on lemon, oregano, and mint showed different values for antioxidant activity, from significant increase to significant decrease [24]. For every herb analyzed, a decrease in antioxidant activity was recorded. Decrease varied from 43%-68% in parsley, coriander, and dill dried samples compared to fresh samples and from 9.17%-31.4% in basil. Generally, it was noticed the highest

Herbs	Treatment	pFRAP	DPPH	mg Trolox /g dw
		mg GAE/100g dw	(% inhibition)	DPPH (TEAC)
	Fresh	$175.98 \pm 6,39^{a}$	75.64 ± 1.49^{a}	128.39 ± 2.79^{a}
Parsley	Air-dried	24.08 ± 1.23^{b}	$43.45\pm1.23^{\text{b}}$	$68.38\pm2.29^{\text{b}}$
	Oven-dried 45 °C	$16.23 \pm 0.06^{\circ}$	$34.46 \pm 0.66^{\circ}$	$51.61 \pm 1.23^{\circ}$
	Fresh	405.26 ± 5.28^{a}	82.92 ± 0.36^a	154.15 ± 0.72^{a}
Dill	Air-dried	44.29 ± 3.11^{b}	43.45 ± 1.23^{b}	$49.51\pm0.98^{\text{b}}$
	Oven-dried 45 °C	$23.82 \pm 1.38^{\circ}$	$34.46 \pm 0.66^{\circ}$	$111.73 \pm 0.51^{\circ}$
	Fresh	$153.67 \pm 2,54^{\rm a}$	79.06 ± 0.45^{a}	146.34 ± 0.91^{a}
Coriander	Air-dried	26.38 ± 1.23^{b}	$45.36\pm0.46^{\text{b}}$	$78.10\pm0.94^{\rm b}$
	Oven-dried 45 °C	12.31 ± 0.82^{c}	$24.97\pm0.41^{\rm c}$	$32.28 \pm 0.86^{\circ}$
	Fresh	1097.8 ± 17.57^{a}	$90.54\pm0.52^{\rm a}$	243.00 ± 0.41^{a}
Basil	Air-dried	63.40 ± 0.29^{b}	$82.23\pm0.59^{\text{b}}$	218.31 ± 1.70^{b}
	Oven-dried 45 °C	$44.29 \pm 3.11^{\circ}$	$62.11 \pm 0.63^{\circ}$	$80.09 \pm 1.91^{\circ}$

Table 1. Antioxidant activity in parsley, dill, coriander and basil

reduction of antioxidant activity (68%) in oven-dried coriander samples, whilst air-dried basil showed the lowest decrease in DPPH radical inhibition.



Fig. 1. Influence of drying process on level of inhibition DPPH free radical in selected herbs extracts

pFRAP assay had several advantages for antioxidative activity determination, such as fast, simple and low-cost. pFRAP assay showed the highest antioxidative activity in fresh basil samples 1097.80 ± 17.57 mg GAE/100g dw, and the lowest in oven-dried coriander



Fig. 2. Influence of drying process on the ability of Fe3+ to Fe2+ reduction in selected herbs extracts

12.31 \pm 0.82 mg GAE/100g dw. Results obtained with pFRAP assay had the same trend as DPPH assay, which suggests that herbs exhibit good excellent reduction potential and can be used as a useful system for oxidation prevention. Ašimović et al. [25] showed similar results. Based on the previous studies, it can be said that antioxidant activity is in relation to phytochemical compounds content [26], such as phenolic like ruthin, quercetin, and chlorogenic acids [27]. When it comes to pFRAP activity assays, one of the most important characteristics is the ability of the molecule that poses antioxidative properties to chelate Fe ²⁺. Water extracts of herbs showed 47% chelation ability for Fe ²⁺ ions [28]. Different data can be explained as a result of the loss of antioxidative molecules depending on the stage of development at the time of analysis, as the number of phytochemicals is higher in leaves compared with root or stem [29]. A decrease of antioxidative potential is attributed to heat treatments which can lead to the degradation of phytochemicals, enzymatic degradation of phenolic compounds as well as loss of enzymes [30, 31].

4 Conclusion

This research showed that herbs can be a potent source of natural antioxidants, with a focus on basil, dill, coriander, and parsley. Based on obtained data, basil was the strongest and the most potent herb among used herbs that can provide high antioxidant potential. However, high antioxidative activity categorizes these herbs as food with beneficial properties for human health. For all analyzed plants, drying resulted in decrease of antioxidant activity. Hence, to preserve bioactive nutrients, proper care and storage are necessary. Further research should be focused on adequate drying techniques that could better preserve bioactive compounds with antioxidative properties.

References

- 1. Shahidi, F.: Antioxidants in food and food antioxidants. Nahrung 44, 158-163 (2000)
- Shahidi, F., Naczk, M.: Phenolics in Food and Nutraceuticals. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL (2004)
- 3. Molyneux, P.: The use of stable free radical diphenyl picrylhydrazyl (DPPH) for estimating antioxidant activity. Songklanakarin J. Sci. Technol. **26**, 211–219 (2004)
- 4. Serafini, M., Ballrocco, R., Wolk, A., Ekstrom, A.M.: Total antioxidant potential of fruit and vegetables and risk of gastric cancer. Gastroenterology **123**, 985–999 (2002)
- 5. Pellegrini, N., Serafini, M., Colombi, B., Del Rio, D., Salvatore, S., et al.: Total antioxidant capacity of plant foods, beverages and oils consumed in Italy assessed by three different in vitro assays. J. Nutr. **133**, 2812–2819 (2003)
- 6. Muminović, Š.: Proizvodnja ljekovitih i začinskih biljaka, Edicija "Prirodom do zdravlja", Prvo izdanje, Sarajevo (1998)
- 7. Aćimović, M., Milić, N.: Perspectives of the *Apiaceae* hepatoprotective effects-a review. Natural Product Commun. **12**, 309–317 (2017)
- Aćimović, M., Kostadinović, L.: Apiaceae seeds as functional food. J. Agric. 60, 237–246 (2015)
- 9. Lawrence, B.M.: Labiatae oils: mother natures chemical factory. In: Essential Oils, Allured Publishing, Carol Stream, IL, pp. 188–206 (1993)
- Ozkan Gençler, A.M., Demirci, B., Demirci, F., Husnu Can Baser, K.: Composition and antimicrobial activity of essential oil from Ferulago longistylis Boiss, Fruits. J. Essential Oil Res. 20(6), 569–573 (2008)
- Ouzounidou, G., Papadopoulou, K.K., Asfi, M., Mirtziou, I., Gaitis, F.: Efficacy of different chemicals on shelf-life extension of parsley stored at two temperatures. Int. J. Food Sci. Technol. 48, 1610–1617 (2013)
- 12. Akpinar, E.K.: Mathematical modelling of thin layer drying process under the open sun of some aromatic plants. J. Food Eng. **76**, 864–870 (2006)
- 13. Motevali, A., Minaei, S., Khoshtagaza, M.H.: Evaluation of energy consumption in different drying methods. Energy Convers. Manage. **52**, 1192–1199 (2011)
- 14. Meng, J., Fang, Y., Zhang, A., Chen, S., Xu, T.et al,: Phenolic content and antioxidant capacity of Chinese raisins produced in Xinjiang Province. Food Res. Int. 44(9), 2830–2836 (2011)
- Musa, K.H., Abdullah, A., Kuswandi, B., Hidayat, M.A.: A novel high-throughput method based on the DPPH dry reagent array for determination of antioxidant activity. Food Chem. 141(4), 4102–4106 (2013)
- Liao, H., Dong, W., Shi, X., Liu, H., Yuan, K. Analysis and comparison of the active components and antioxidant activities of extracts from Abelmoschus esculentus L. Pharamcognosy Magaz. 8(30), 156–161
- Mustafa, R.A., Hamid, A.A., Mohamed, S., Abu Bakar, F.: Total phenolic compounds, flavonoids and radical scavenging activity of 21 selected tropical plants. J. Food Sci. 75, 28–35 (2010)
- Slowianek, M., Leszcynska, J.: Antioxidant properties of selected culinary spices. Herba Pol. 62(1), 29–41 (2016)
- Aburigal, Y.A.A., Mirghani, M.E.S., Elmogtaba, E.Y., Sirible, A.A.M., Hamza, N.B., Hussein, I.H.: Total phenolic content and antioxidant capacity of basil (Ocimum basilicum L.) leaves from different locations. Int. Food Res. J. 24, 378–381 (2017)
- Politeo, O., Jukic, M., Milos, M.: Chemical composition and antioxidant activity of essential oils in twelve spice plants. Croatia Vhemica Acta 79, 545–552 (2006)
- 21. Ulewicz-Magulska, B., Weselowski, M.: Total Phenolic contents and antioxidant potential of Herbs used for medical and culinary purposes. Plant Foods Hum. Nutr. **74**, 61–67 (2019)

- Sulaiman, S.F., Yusoff, N.A., Eldeen, I.M., Seow, E.M., Sajak, A.A.B., Supriatno Ooi, K.L.: Correlation between total phenolic and mineral contents with antioxidant activity of eight Malaysian bananas (Musa sp.). J. Food Compos. Anal. 24, 1–10 (2011)
- Krishnaiah, D., Sarbatly, R., Nithyanandam, R.: A review of the antioxidant potential of medicinal plant species. Food Bioprod. Process. 89, 217–233 (2011)
- 24. Czapecka, E., Mareczek, A., Leja, M.: Antioxidant activity of fresh and dry herbs of some Lamiaceae species. Food Chem. **93**, 223–226 (2005)
- Ašimović, Z., Čengić, L., Muminović, Š, Huseinbegović, N.: Sadržaj ukupnih fenola i antioksidativna aktivnost u peršunu (Petroselinum crispum) i celeru (Apium graveolens). Works Faculty Agric. Food Sci. UNSA 68(2), 92–97 (2018)
- Wojdyło, A., Oszmiański, J., Czemerys, R.: Antioxidant activity and phenolic compounds in 32 selected herbs. Food Chem. 105, 940–949 (2007)
- Omoba, S.O., Olagunju, A.I., Salawu, S.O., Boligon, A.A.: HPLC-DAD phenolic profiling and In Vitro antioxidant activities of three prominent Nigerian spices. Prev. Nutr. Food Sci. 24(2), 179–186 (2019)
- Wong, P., Kits, D.: Studies on the dual antioxidant and bacterial properties of parsley (Petroselinum crispum) and cilantro (Coriandrum sativum) extracts. Food Chem. 97, 505–515 (2006)
- Lisiewska, Z., Kmeick, W., Korus, A.: Content of vitamin C, carotenoids, chlorophylls and polyphenols in green parts of dill (*Anethum graveolens* L.) depending on plant height. J. Food Compos. Anal. 19(2–3), 134–140 (2006)
- Lim, Y.Y., Murtijaya, J.: Antioxidant properties of phyllanthus amarus extracts as affected by different drying methods. LWT-Food Sci. Technol. 40, 1664–1669 (2007)
- Larrauri, J.A., Ruperez, P., Saura-Calixto, F.: Effects of drying temperature on the stability of polyphenols and antioxidant activity of red grape pomace peels. J. Agric. Food Chem. 45, 1390–1393 (1997)



The Chemistry of Fermented and Pickled Food

Amina Stambolić¹(⊠), Selma Burović², Semira Galijašević², and Enisa Omanović-Mikličanin¹

 Faculty of Agriculture and Food Sciences, University of Sarajevo, Zmaja Od Bosne 8, 71000 Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina a.stambolic@ppf.unsa.ba
² Sarajevo Medical School, University Sarajevo School of Science and Technology,

Hrasnička Cesta 3a, Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina

selma.burovic@ssst.edu.ba

Abstract. Fermentation, as one of the primary metabolic pathways for energy extraction, has been utilised since antiquity as a means to preserve different types of food. In the most basic of definitions, it includes the breakdown of carbohydrates due to microbial activity. Fermented food has found its place in traditional cuisines all over the world and is consumed by many people on a daily basis.

Pickling, another way to ensure consumption and preservation of mostly vegetables even out of season, can be done in one of two ways: by anaerobic fermentation in brine or by immersion in vinegar.

Both fermentation and pickling change the chemical composition of the food. This review aims to showcase what happens during these food preservation processes on a molecular level and discuss the possible health benefits as well as detriments that come with consumption of food processed this way.

Keywords: fermentation · pickling · preserved food · food chemistry

1 Introduction

Fermentation, by one of its many definitions, is the breakdown of carbohydrates due to microbial activity in anaerobic conditions. Biochemically, fermentation is an anaerobic catabolism of an organic compound in which the compound is used as both an electron donor and an electron acceptor. [1] Primary products of fermentation are alcohols and organic acids. From the standpoint of food processing, the term fermentation implies that the microbial activity is a desired process. Early historical evidence of fermentation being used in food processing is linked to the production of alcoholic beverages such as beer and wine.

Aside from alcohol production, fermentation is also being used as a means to preserve easily perishable food such as fresh fruits and vegetables as well as different kinds of meat and fish. Food preservation via fermentation is achieved through two occurring processes: the production of organic acids and the production of carbon dioxide. The acids lower the system pH making it inhabitable for other pathogenic bacteria and the formed CO₂ flushes out the oxygen making it impossible for aerobic microorganisms to thrive.

Fermentation is also widely used to improve the flavor and aroma of food products through various aromatic compounds that are formed during the process.

Considering the complex matrix food represents, possible side reactions and interactions between fermentation products and other food molecules need to be discussed as well.

2 Chemistry of Carbohydrate Breakdown

Sugar is the fuel which most organisms use to extract energy necessary to sustain vital functions. The energy extraction is carried out through energetic pathways of the metabolism. [2] Naturally occurring carbohydrates in food provide the source of sugars the body needs. The Embden–Meyerhof–Parnas pathway, commonly known as glycolysis is a common pathway for the catabolism of sugars. [3] Glycolysis proceeds in two phases: the preparatory phase and the "pay-off" phase. The processes in the preparation phase demand adenosine triphosphate (ATP). Initially, ATP phosphorylates glucose to produce glucose-6-phosphate. Glucose-6-phosphate is isomerized to fructose-6-phosphate, and then converted into fructose-1,6-biphosphate through phosphorylation. Two ATP molecules are used leading up to that step. Aldolase then breaks down fructose 1,6-bisphosphate into two molecules with three carbons each, glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate and its isomer dihydroxyacetone phosphate. [4].

In the second stage, termed as pay-off phase, glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate is combined with an inorganic phosphate unit to produce 1, 3-bisphosphoglycerate, and glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase reduces NAD + to NADH (nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide). Given that glucose produces two molecules of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate, this redox process takes place twice. Following that, each molecule of 1, 3-bisphosphoglycerate is converted into 3-phosphoglycerate, which results in the synthesis of four molecules of ATP. Phosphoenolpyruvate is then transformed into pyruvate. Therefore, the net energy yield of glycolysis is two ATP molecules for every glucose molecule. [1].

To produce energy from sugars, microorganisms use two processes: respiration and fermentation. Both processes begin with glycolysis but proceed along distinct pathways after that. Under aerobic conditions, respiration, which can convert pyruvate to carbon dioxide (CO_2) and water with significant amounts of ATP, typically occurs in conjunction with glycolysis. Under anaerobic circumstances, pyruvate is fermented to produce a variety of fermentation products, many of which are important for the industry. [3].

3 Fermentation

During fermentation, the pyruvate produced by glycolysis is converted to various fermentation end products. The type of the end product is determined by the microorganism present. [5].

3.1 Yeast Fermentation

Yeasts are eukaryotic microorganisms that primarily inhabit water, soil, air, and the surfaces of plants and fruits, among many other diverse habitats. Basic nutrients including fermentable carbohydrates, amino acids, vitamins, minerals, and oxygen enable their development. Saccharomyces and non-Saccharomyces are the two main categories of yeasts according to technical convention. Due to its good fermentative capacity, quick growth, and ease of adaptation, S. cerevisiae is the species that has been studied the most and is also the one that is used the most in the fermentation of wines and beers. They have shown resistance to high levels of SO₂ which isn't typical for the majority of non-*Saccharomyces* strains. [6].

Non-*Saccharomyces* are a class of microorganisms that are utilized in a variety of fermentation processes because of their considerable metabolic diversity, which enables the synthesis of many final products. [7] When spontaneous fermentation initially begins, these yeasts predominate until the ethanol concentration reaches 4 to 5% v/v. Their development is then inhibited by the alcohol and the depletion of dissolved oxygen. The fermentation is finished when the most ethanol-resistant yeasts, *Saccharomyces*, prevail and take over. [8, 9].

Even though most non-*Saccharomyces* yeasts show some technological disadvantages compared to *S. cerevisiae* such as lower fermentative power and production of ethanol, non-*Saccharomyces* yeasts possess characteristics that *S. cerevisiae* doesn't exhibit, for instance, production of high levels of aromatic compounds such as esters, higher alcohols and fatty acids which contribute to the taste of the final product. [10].

Among the most studied non-Saccharomyces yeasts that reached special importance for researchers include Candida, Kloeckera, Hanseniaspora, Brettanomyces, Pichia, Lanchacea and Kluyveromyces.

Among all the food fermented due to yeast activity, the most widely consumed are beer, wine, bread, chocolate and coffee. A traditional yeast fermented drink called *boza* is made and consumed in the Balkans and Turkey.

Chemistry of Yeast Fermentation

The most significant chemical created by yeast is ethanol, which is used in many industrial fermentation processes. Furthermore, the initial interest in beverage fermentation was prompted by the synthesis of this main metabolite.

An important regulatory point in metabolism, the divergence of pyruvate following glycolysis has become a focus of biochemical and industrial research. At this stage, pyruvate can go in one of two basic directions: fermentation or respiration. This depends on the presence of oxygen in the majority of eukaryotes. Pyruvate dehydrogenase will convert pyruvate to acetyl-coA under aerobic conditions, and the two compounds will then move toward the citric acid cycle. Pyruvate is directed toward fermentation when anaerobic (fermentative) conditions are present. [11].

Pyruvate is transformed into ethanol in two steps. Pyruvate decarboxylase (PDC) first converts pyruvate to acetaldehyde, releasing carbon dioxide as a waste product. The *S. cerevisiae* genome contains three identified PDC enzymes that serve as a metabolic junction between fermentation and respiration. PDCs can remove extra pyruvate from the

pathway and shift it towards ethanol production in direct competition with pyruvate dehydrogenase. An alcohol dehydrogenase (ADH) then converts acetaldehyde into ethanol. This type of oxidoreductase can catalyze the reversible interconversion of alcohols and the corresponding aldehydes or ketones. [11] (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. Production of ethanol, acetaldehyde, acetic acid, and CO₂. Fermentable carbons are assimilated from the medium and converted to glycerol or pyruvate via glycolysis. Pyruvate can be shuttled towards the TCA cycle and respiration (left) or towards alcoholic fermentation (right). [11]

Alcohol produced by yeast-fermentation can further interact with urea usually present due to metabolic breakdown of arginine or citrulline in the presence of yeast. This interaction gives rise to ethyl carbamate, also known as urethane, which is a known carcinogen. Urethane has been found in almost all yeast fermented alcoholic beverages and bread at concentrations of $2 \mu g/kg$. [12] (Fig. 2).



Vicinal diketones can be produced during fermentation through non-enzymatic decarboxylation of intermediates in the anabolic pathways of valine and isoleucine. Vicinal diketones can provide a pleasant nutty, toasty and toffeelike flavor in fermented foods

and beverages, most notably beer, wine and dairy products. However, they are considered off-flavors when present in high concentrations, changing their sensory perception to 'buttery' or 'rancid'. [11] (Fig. 3).



Fig. 3. Metabolic production of vicinal diketones [11]

The Ehrlich route modifies assimilated amino acids, a major source of nitrogen in many fermentation processes, in three stages. Amino acids are generally deaminated, decarboxylated, and then reduced to the corresponding alcohol derivatives.

Despite having a higher sensory threshold than their corresponding acetate esters which can vary by several orders of magnitude—higher alcohols might nevertheless have a desired impact on a product's flavor. The major fusel alcohols found in alcoholic beverages are 1-propanol (alcoholic aroma), 1-butanol (alcoholic), isobutanol (alcoholic), 2-phenylethanol (roses, flowery) and isoamyl alcohol (banana, fruity). [11] (Fig. 4).



Fig. 4. Metabolic production of higher alcohols [11]

Esters are formed by a condensation reaction between acetyl/acyl-CoA and an alcohol. Ester synthesis is carried out by alcohol-O-acetyl (or acyl)- transferases (AATases). Esters are widely acknowledged as some of the most significant flavor and aroma contributors to alcoholic beverages, giving the beverage notes of fruit and flowers. In the perception of many esters, a combination of compounds will either highlight or hide the existence of additional compounds. The necessity of balance in the creation of aroma compounds is highlighted by the fact that an excess of esters frequently leads to an unappealing product. [11].

The catabolism or anabolism of sulfur-containing amino acids methionine and cysteine generates all sulfur compounds generated by yeast. Although these amino acids are present in both natural and industrial environments in very low proportions, yeasts also need to ingest inorganic sulfur through the sulfate reduction pathway. Sulfates are sequentially reduced to sulfide which can combine with a nitrogen source (O-acetylserine or O-acetyl-homoserine) to form cysteine and subsequently, methionine. [11] Bacteria have been more widely studied in regard to sulfur production since the negative odors are generally associated with spoilage or desired aromas in specific types of cheese which utilize lactic acid bacteria. [13] Sulfur compounds are most relevant in beer, wine and cheesemaking industries. Contrary to fusel alcohols or esters, some sulfur compounds are categorized as having good scents while others have unpleasant aromas. For instance, hydrogen sulfide (H₂S) is the source of the traditional "rotten-egg" smell typically associated with sulfur, but furfurylthiol has a roasted coffee aroma. Interestingly, the perception of these compounds is highly context specific. While dimethyl sulfide typically smells of cabbage, it can give the desired aroma notes to lager beers and whiskey [11].

In beverage production, pre-treating different lignin polymers of plant cell walls is a standard technique. The bioprocessing of these polymers prior to the fermentation process releases a variety of furans, carboxylic acids and phenolic compounds which can greatly inhibit microbial growth. Many microbial species including *S. cerevisiae* convert these compounds into derivates less toxic to the yeast. Several of the hydroxycinnamic acids, such as cinnamic acid (phenylacrylic acid), caffeic acid, ferulic acid and *p*-coumaric acid, can be decarboxylated to less toxic phenolic compounds. [11].

3.2 Lactic Acid Bacteria Fermentation

Lactic acid bacteria (LAB) are Gram positive procaryotes that are acid tolerant and nonrespiring. Those two characteristics are essential for their use in food processing. They form lactic acid as the major end product from the fermentation of carbohydrates. The produced lactic acid may be in the form of L (+) or D (-) stereoisomers or a mixture of both. [14].

LAB include the genera of Lactobacillus (Lb), Carnobacterium, Leuconostoc (Leu), Oenococcus, Streptococcus, Lactococcus (Lc), Enterococcus, Vagococcus, Pediococcus (Pe), Aerococcus, Tetragenococcus, and Weissella [15].

Food processed using LAB is commonplace in cuisines across the globe with some of the most popular ones being: yoghurt, kimchi, sauerkraut, kefir, kumis, fish sauce, and a wide variety of fermented dairy and meat products.

Chemistry of Lactic Acid Bacteria Fermentation

According to their capacity to ferment sugars, LAB are categorized as homofermentative

and heterofermentative from a biochemical standpoint. Lactic acid is the sole fermentation product produced by the homofermentatives. The heterofermentatives, on the other hand, produce a wide range of fermentation end products, primarily ethanol, CO₂, as well as acetic acid, acetaldehyde, diacetyl, and acetoin in addition to lactic acid. [16] (Fig. 5).



Fig. 5. Difference between homofermentation and heterofermentation [4]

The reason for the difference in end products for homo- and heterofermentation is the presence of aldolase in homofermentatives which ultimately gives rise to two molecules of lactic acid per one glucose molecule and twice the amount of energy compared to heterofermentatives. Homofermentative LAB include *Lactococcus*, *Streptococcus*, *Pediococcus*, *Enterococcus*, and some species of *Lactobacillus* such as *Lb*. *Delbrueckii* subsp. *Delbrueckii*, *Lb*. *Delbrueckii* subsp. *Lactis*, *Lb*. *Delbrueckii* subsp. *Bulgaricus*, *Lb*. *Acidophilus*, *Lb*. *Helveticus*, and *Lb*. *Salivarius* [4].

Heterofermentative LAB such as *Leuconostoc*, *Oenococcus*, and some *Lactobacillus* such as *Lb*. *Brevis*, *Lb*. *Buchneri*, *Lb*. *Fermentum*, and *Lb*. *Reuteri* use the pentose phosphate pathway and produce especially CO₂ and ethanol along with lactic acid. [14].

They are unable to convert fructose 1,6-bisphosphate into triose phosphate since they lack aldolase. But they oxidize glucose 6-phosphate to 6-phosphogluconate. Then, 6-phosphogluconate is decarboxylated to pentose phosphate, and CO_2 is released. The vital enzyme phosphoketolase transforms the created pentose phosphate into triose phosphate and acetyl phosphate. Acetyl phosphate is used as an electron acceptor and is reduced by NADH to ethanol. [1].

Heterofermentative LAB produce more flavor and aroma compounds such as acetaldehyde and diacetyl when they are compared to homofermentative LAB.

Some *Lactobacilli* such as *Lb. Casei*, *Lb. Curvatus*, *Lb. Plantarum*, and *Lb. Sakei* behave as facultatively heterofermentative depending on the presence of pentose sugars and gluconate due to having both aldolase and phosphoketolase enzymes. [17].

Most of the formation routes of aroma compounds in LAB rely on the presence of functional metabolic pathways, rather than single-enzyme conversions. During the fermentation of food raw materials, both intact and lysed LAB cells contribute to the process of aroma formation. The cytoplasmic enzymes in the matrices of the fermentable food materials are released as a result of cell lysis. Many of these released enzymes continue to function outside of the cell and will keep converting food matrix substrates. The primary food matrix substrates for the cytoplasmic enzymes released by fermenting LAB, which may have an effect on the aroma profile of the fermented food product, are proteins, oligopeptides, lipids, fats, and fatty acids. [18] It has been demonstrated that lysis of LAB in dairy starters plays an essential role in the process of cheese maturation, mainly because of the release of intracellular peptidases acting on the oligopeptides derived from partially hydrolyzed caseins. [19].

The production of specific flavor profiles depends strongly on the conversion of amino acids into various alcohols, aldehydes, acids, esters and sulfur compounds. As the formation of aromatic compounds is highly dependent on the enzymes present in various strains of LAB, comparative genomics analyses have been undertaken with the goal of producing starter cultures with predictable flavor-forming metabolic pathways. [18].

Citrate can be found in fermentable food products such as fruit, vegetables, and bovine milk. Citrate is broken down by microbes into substances like diacetyl, acetoin, butanediol, and acetaldehyde, all of which can significantly alter the scent of fermented food products. *Leuconostoc mesenteroides* and *L. lactis* are two of the few LAB species that can use citrate. Using citrate results in increased pyruvate intracellular pools and a variety of metabolites produced. Pyruvate is then dissipated, resulting in the creation of C4 aroma molecules such diacetyl, acetoin, and 2,3-butanediol. [18].

Interestingly, citrate metabolism was also shown recently to be correlated with the production of aroma compounds from amino acids. The amino acid transamination is combined with the glutamate conversion of α -ketoglutarate, which gives fermented foods like fish sauce their umami flavor. The conversion of threonine, a special aroma precursor, into aroma molecules depends on both transamination pathways and other metabolic processes. Yogurt starter cultures use an enzyme with threonine aldolase (TA) activity, a member of the lyase enzyme family, to directly convert threonine into acetaldehyde and glycine. As the starter cultures used to make yogurt do not include alcohol dehydrogenase, the enzyme that transforms acetaldehyde into ethanol, acetaldehyde is thought to be the predominant fragrance component in yogurt. [20].

4 Pickling

Depending on the season and what's available, many different kinds of fruit and vegetables are pickled. Although pickling is used more for the preservation of vegetables and fruits, there are several examples where this type of preservation is also used for the preservation of meat and meat products. Pickling can be done in two ways: anaerobic fermentation in brine and immersion in vinegar. Although there are two ways of pickling, anaerobic fermentation is much more often followed by immersion in vinegar with the addition of antimicrobial herbs and spices, which further increase the taste and preserve the nutritional value of the food.

Depending on the nature of the fresh vegetable and the desired outcome, vegetables can be treated in a different way prior to fermentation. Washing, chopping, peeling, blanching, and exposure to NaOH solution are some examples of prebrining treatments. Acid content, pH value, salt concentration, temperature, natural inhibitory chemicals found in vegetables, chemical additions, sugar content, redox potential, and nutrient availability in the brine are all factors that influence fermentation.

4.1 Anaerobic Fermentation in Brine

Brining can be done in two ways: dry brining or wet brining. Dry brining includes coating the meat in coarse dry salt and allowing it to rest for several hours. Wet brining includes immersion of foods in a solution of sodium chloride with a concentration of 3-6% by weight, sometimes higher concentrations of sodium chloride solutions (up to 20%) are also used depending on the type of food.[21] Brine can also include addition of sugars, spices and flavorings.[21, 22] This process can take place from couple of hours to days. Salting reduces the water activity which in return reduces the growth of microorganisms.^[23] In order to preserve fermented vegetables, salt, particularly NaCl, plays four key roles: (a) it affects the type and intensity of microbial activity; (b) it prevents vegetable tissue from becoming too soft; (c) it determines the flavor of the finished product; and (d) it aids in rupturing fruit membranes, allowing the diffusion of different ingredients into the cover brine solutions used by microbes for growth and metabolic activities.[24] Commercial processors use fermentation in NaCI brines to temporarily preserve around 40% of the crop. Fermentable carbohydrates are transformed into lactic and acetic acids, ethanol, CO₂, and traces of other chompounds by naturally occurring lactic acid bacteria and yeast during this process. For fermentation, which can take 10 to 21 days, open-top wood, fiberglass, or polyethylene tanks up to 76 m^3 in capacity are typically used. Storage times (in the same tank) are typically less than a year, but they can occasionally be longer. The tanks are kept outside so that sunlight's UV rays can hit the brine surface and prevent the growth of mold, yeast, and other oxidative microorganisms. Also, closed containers have been developed for this purpose, which avoids contamination of brine and dilution of NaCl and thus the consumption of NaCl for fermentation.[25].

The Chemical Changes During Anaerobic Fermentation

Morcos and El- Husseini investigated the chemical changes that occur during anaerobic pickling of cucumber and carrots in fresh brine containing 12% salt (1976). Cucumbers took 9 days to pickle completely, whereas carrots took 15 days. During the early stages of fermentation, total titratable acidity (TTA) increased progressively in the brine solution. On the 15th day, a pH of 3.0 was achieved. The acidity then proceeded to drop, eventually reaching a pH of 3.4 at the end of the fermentation time (27 days). The brine's salt concentration initially at 12%, then decreased to 10.5% after 1 day, and finally to 7.8%

on the 15th day due to osmosis. The salt content remained constant after that. During the first six days of pickling, the concentration of reducing sugars in the brine increased (0.05% on the first day and 0.51% on the sixth). This is consistent with the observed glucose loss from carrot tissue. The amount of reducing sugars gradually dropped as a result of microbial action, reaching 0.024% at the end of the fermentation.

TTA and sugar reduction were higher when giant carrots were used than when small carrots were used. Cucumber TTA grew to 0.86% by the 11th day after fermentation with a used brine starter, then steadily dropped due to acid breakdown by nonlactic acid bacteria.

4.2 Immersion in Vinegar

Vegetables are rinsed to eliminate excess salt before being packaged in a variety of containers (plastic pails, pouches, or jars) with appropriate cover liquor prior to sale. In addition to leftover lactic acid, the cover liquor generally contains acetic acid and spices. The most common acids are lactic and acetic acids, but other organic acids such as succinic, malic, and propionic acids can also be generated in small amounts. Ethanol, mannitol, CO₂, and other chemicals are created in varying proportions as a result of heterofermentative LAB metabolism. Acetic acid is often used as an acidulant in concentrations ranging from 0.5 to 2% Vinegar's preservation activity is related to its acetic acid component, but it is not merely a pH impact. The unionized, lipophilic molecule is related with activity because it can enter the cell membrane, interrupting membrane transport processes and dissociating within the cell to increase acidity and produce lethal quantities of the anion. Aside from being a preservation in two forms: 5–10% vinegar and 25–80% aqueous synthetic acetic acid solutions. [26].

Antinutritional factors in foods are responsible for the negative consequences associated with vitamin and micronutrient absorption, which may interfere with the function of specific organs. The majority of these antinutritional agents are found in plant-based meals. Thus, the presence of cyanogenic glycosides, protease inhibitors, lectins, tannins, alkaloids, and saponins in foods may cause adverse consequences in humans if consumed in excess. Certain negative effects may also be caused by the degradation products of these substances.

However, some antinutritional substances and their breakdown products may have health benefits when present in modest levels. The method by which food antinutritional factors exert their antinutritional and positive effects is the same.[27].

5 Combined Fermentation Products

Most of fermented products are fermented using either yeast or bacteria. In recent years the fermented drink *kombucha* became very popular as it boasted various health benefits to the consumer. Kombucha is made by fermenting sweetened black tea using a *Symbiotic Culture of Bacteria and Yeast* commonly known as a SCOBY which forms a biofilm on the surface of the liquid. The yeast component of the SCOBY is usually *S. cerevisiae*, whose task is to convert the sugar from the tea to ethanol. The bacterial component almost

always includes *Gluconacetobacter xylinus* to oxidize yeast-produced alcohols to acetic acid (and other acids) [28].

Kombucha is also brewed in households all across the globe alongside its industrial production. Although there is no conclusive proof about the health benefits of drinking kombucha it is advertised to help promote gut health as the bacteria used in its production is said to be probiotic. [29] (Fig. 6).



Fig. 6. Mature kombucha with the SCOBY on the surface. The SCOBY forms on the surface because the acetic acid bacteria in it is aerobic and migrates to the surface in search for oxygen. [30] (Picture taken from Wikipedia; Original Author: Mgarten https://creativecommons.org/lic enses/by-sa/3.0/legalcode)

6 Impact of Fermentation on the Nutritional Value of Food

Along with the formation of alcohol, the primary fermentation product, and other compounds which contribute to the overall aroma and sensory experience of a product, changes in the chemical composition of the raw material can greatly impact the nutrition and health of the consumer.

Although there are conflicting reports, the majority of researchers have found that in general the fermentation process reduced most of the basic nutrients in vegetables namely crude ash, crude protein, and fiber content. Nutrient losses during fermentation are related to meeting the lactic acid bacteria's growing nutritional needs as well as their metabolic needs when the fermented plant material serves as a medium for these microorganisms. The degree of protein's digestibility has been found to be greater in fermented food despite their reduced protein content. Pro-teases created by microorganisms during fermentation partially break down and release certain proteins, raising the concentrations of peptides and free amino acids. The bioaccessibility of cystine, histidine, and asparagine has been found to be higher. Also, there have been reports of decreased levels of anti-nutritional substances that promote protein cross-linking (such as phenolic and tannin compounds) and block digestive enzymes (such as trypsin and chymotrypsin inhibitors) [31].

331

Phytic acid which is abundant in legumes, pseudocereals, pollen and nuts (1-5% w/w) is an important compound which plants use to store phosphorus. However, phytic acid is deprotonated to the phytate ion at physiological pH which gives it a negative charge and therefore a strong ability to chelate minerals and other trace elements. The formed complexes are highly stable, insoluble, and difficult to digest which greatly diminishes their bioavailability. Along with its ability to chelate metal ions phytic acid can also form complexes with proteins and resist their proteolysis. This interaction is highly dependent on the pH but in general, the presence of phytic acid negatively impacts the digestibility of protein. [32] Phytases are naturally occuring enzymes that are usually present in phytic acid containing grains and legumes. Their activation recquires a pH between 5 and 6. Considering the lactic acid produced during fermentation lowers the pH of the system significantly, studies have shown that the environment achieved during fermentation provides the necessary conditions for the enzymatic degradation of phytic acid and increased bioaccessibility of minerals and other micronutrients. [33].

Very high concentrations of sodium were found in fermented vegetables, which was linked to the traditional fermentation method's use of salt. The consumption of fermented vegetables by humans is restricted due to their high salt content. On the other hand, salt acts as a flavor enhancer and improves the palatability of certain food products. In comparison to the raw material, the fermented vegetables had lower amounts of the majority of macroelements. Decrease in amounts of heavy metals like Cu, Pb, and Cd—which are generally challenging to remove from plant material by culinary processing—was one of the positive effects of vegetable fermentation. The most likely cause of this occurrence is metal adhering to the cell walls of fermentation-producing bacteria and fungi. [31].

Researchers have reported variable effects of fermentation of vegetables on the level of vitamin A and β -carotene. They emphasize that changes in the β -carotene content during fermentation are highly variable, depending on the plant material and fermentation conditions. Some authors report an increase in amounts of volatile β -carotene derivates e.g. β -ionone, β -cyclocitral, α -ionone, and β -damascenone, which gradually increased during the fermentation process. β -damascenon is characterized by a fruity and floral aroma, which significantly improves the flavor and aroma of fermented vegetables. An almost 70% increase in the carotene content in fermented tomatoes was reported by Bartkiene et al. Some researchers hypothesize that the increase in carotene levels can be explained by structural changes in the plant material during fermentation making extraction more efficient. [34].

In meals generated from plants that have undergone lactic acid fermentation, varying levels of antioxidant activity have been noted. This is likely due to the release of bioactive molecules that have conjugate phytochemicals like phenols. However, lactobacilli's metabolism of phenolic compounds during food fermentation is still not well understood. [35] The levels of these compounds in fermented vegetables are most often reduced, which is also accompanied by a decline in the content of flavonoids. In Syzygium cumini L. fruit juice fermented by Lb. Paracasei strain HII01, Sirilun et al. reported an increase in the total phenolic content and the antioxidant activity, and Bujna et al. noticed an increase in the amount of phenols and antioxidant activity in apricot juice. Vegetable phenolic compounds have a well-known functional value, but how well they are absorbed in the digestive tract affects their beneficial effect on human health. Esterases, which hydrolyze chlorogenic acid to release caffeic acid, are not present in human or animal tissues or biological fluids. Only the gut microbiome does this activity. Chlorogenic acid is not as effectively absorbed in the stomach and small intestine as free caffeic acid. Dihydrocaffeic acid exhibits high bioaccessibility and better antioxidant properties than its precursor, i.e. caffeic acid. Therefore, through bacterial bioconversion, fermented vegetables are enriched with phenolic derivatives with increased bioaccessibility to humans and animals. [36].

7 Conclusion

In recent years, more so with the era of the COVID-19 pandemic, people have sought out ways to improve their health and be more mindful of their nutrition. A well balanced and varied diet can supply the human body with the necessary fuel, cell building blocks as well as additional supplements that help it fight off free radicals and external stressors.

As we have showcased throughout this paper, fermentation is an effective way to preserve easily perishable food as well as enrich it with flavor and aroma not present in the raw materials. The reason for it lies in the complexity of food as a matrix and all the different ways the components can interact. Although the microorganisms without which fermentation cannot occur deplete the raw materials of some nutrients to sustain themselves, they also give back in the way they eliminate anti-nutrients and make vital trace elements more bioavailable.

After summarizing all of the possible pros and cons, one can draw the conclusion that fermented and pickled food is a beneficial addition to a person's diet as it allows consummation of food for a longer period of time and out of season as well as providing a source of nutrients and supplements not present in the unfermented raw material.

References

- 1. Madigan, M.T., Martinko, J.M., Stahl, D.A., Clark, D.P.: Biology of Microorganisms, 13th edn, p. 1155. Pearson Education Inc., New York (2012)
- Dufour, N., Swana, J., Rao, R.P.: Fermentation organisms for 5- and 6-carbon sugars. In: Hood, E.E., Nelson, P., Powell, R. (eds.): Plant Biomass Conversion, pp. 157–198. Wiley, Chichester, UK (2011)
- Okafor, N.: Modern Industrial Microbiology and Biotechnology, p. 475. Blackwell Publishing, Enfield, NH (2007)
- Erten, H., Boyacı-Gündüz, P., Ağırman, B., Cabaroğlu, T.: Fermentation, pickling, and Turkish table olives. In: Hui, Y. H., Evranuz, E., (eds.) Hanbook of Vegetable Preservation and Processing 2nd Edition, p. 209–231. CRC Press, Taylor & Francis Group (2016)
- Tortora, G.J., Funke, B.R., Case, C.L.: Microbiology: An Introduction. p. 960. Pearson, San Francisco, CA (2010)
- 6. Maicas, S.: The role of yeasts in fermentation processes. Microorganisms 8(8), 1142 (2020)
- Ciani, M., Maccarelli, F.: Oenological properties of non-Saccharomyces yeasts associated with wine-making. World J. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 14, 199–203 (1997)
- Estela-Escalante, W., Moscosa-Santillan, M., Gonzalez-Ramirez, J., Rosales-Mendoza, S.: Evaluation of the potential production of ethanol by Candida zemplinina yeast with regard to beer fermentation. J. Am. Soc. Brew. Chem. **75**, 130–135 (2017)

- Grangeteau, C., et al.: FT-IR spectroscopy: a powerful tool for studying the inter- and intraspecific biodiversity of cultivable non-Saccharomyces yeasts isolated from grape must. J. Microbiol. Methods 121, 50–58 (2016)
- Cordero-Bueso, G., Esteve-Zarzoso, B., Cabellos, J., Gil-DÃaz M., Arroyo, T.: Biotechnological potential of non-Saccharomyces yeasts isolated during spontaneous fermentations of Malvar (Vitis vinifera cv. L.). Eur. Food Res. Technol. 236, 193–207 (2013)
- Dzialo, M.C., Park, R., Steensels, J., Lievens, B., Verstrepen, K.J.: Physiology, ecology and industrial applications of aroma formation in yeast. FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 41, S95–S128 (2017)
- Haddon, W. F., et al.: Occurrence of ethyl carbamate (urethane) in US and Canadian breads: measurements by gas chromatography-mass spectrometry. Cereal Chem. 71(2), 207–215 (1994)
- Kieronczyk, A., Skeie, S., Langsrud, T., Yvon, M.: Cooperation between lactococcus lactis and nonstarter lactobacilli in the formation of cheese aroma from amino acids. Appl. Environ. Microbiol. 69, 734–739 (2003)
- Caplice, E., Fitzgerald, G.F.: Food fermentations: role of microorganisms in food production and preservation. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 50, 131–149 (1999)
- Bourdichon, F., et al.: Food fermentations: microorganisms with technological beneficial use. Int. J. Food Microbiol. 154, 87–97 (2012)
- Kleerebezem, M., Hugenholtz, J.: Metabolic pathway engineering in lactic acid bacteria. Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 14, 232–237 (2003)
- Axelsson, L.: Lactic acid bacteria: classification and physiology. In: Salminen, S., Von Wright, A., Ouwehand, A. (eds.) Lactic Acid Bacteria Microbiological and Functional Aspects, pp. 1– 66. Marcel Dekker Inc., New York (2004)
- Smid, E.J., Kleerebezem, M.: Production of aroma compounds in lactic fermentations. Annu. Rev. Food Sci. Technol. 5(1), 313–326 (2014)
- Guldfeldt, L.U., Sorensen, K.I., Stroman, P., Behrndt, H., Williams, D., Johansen, E.: Effect of starter cultures with a genetically modified peptidolytic or lytic system on cheddar cheese ripening. Int. Dairy J. 11, 373–382 (2001)
- Lees, G.J., Jago, G.R.: Formation of acetaldehyde from threonine by lactic acid bacteria. J. Dairy Res. 43, 75–83 (1976)
- 21. Rahman, M.: Handbook of Food Preservation, 2nd edn. Taylor & Francis, Boca Raton (2007)
- 22. McGee, H.: On Food and Cooking: The Science and Lore of the Kitchen, 1st editon, SCRIBNER, New York (2004)
- 23. Catsberg, M., Dommelen, G.K.: Food Handbook, 1st edn. Springer, Dordrecht (1990)
- 24. Perez Diaz, I.M., Breidt, F., Buescher, R.W.: Fermented and Acidified Vegetables. Compendium of Methods for the Microbiological Examination of Foods. Chapter 51. Johanningsmeier, S.D. (2014)
- 25. Humphries, E., Fleming, H.: Anaerobic tanks for cucumber fermentation and storage. J. Agric. Eng. Res. 44, 133–140 (1989)
- Montaño, A., Sánchez, A.: Pickling, Encyclopedia of Food and Health. Academic Press, pp. 369–374, Elsevier Ltd. (2016)
- 27. Habtamu, F., Negussie, R.: Antinutritional factors in plant foods: potential health benefits and adverse effects. Int. J. Nutr. Food Sci. **3**(4), 284–289 (2014)
- Jonas, R., Farah, L.F.: Production and application of microbial cellulose. Polym. Degrad. Stab. 59(1–3), 101–106 (1998)
- Ernst, E.: Kombucha: a systematic review of the clinical evidence. Forsch. Komplementarmed. Klass. Naturheilkd. 10(2), 85–87 (2003)
- 30. Bertsch, P., Etter, D., Fischer, P.: Transient in situ measurement of kombucha biofilm growth and mechanical properties. Food Funct. **12**(9), 4015–4020 (2021)

- Kiczorowski, P., Kiczorowska, B., Samolińska, W., et al.: Effect of fermentation of chosen vegetables on the nutrient, mineral, and biocomponent profile in human and animal nutrition. Sci. Rep. 12, 13422 (2022)
- 32. Rollán, G.C., Gerez, C.L., LeBlanc, J,G.: Lactic fermentation as a strategy to improve the nutritional and functional values of pseudocereals. Front. Nutrit. **6**, 98 (2019)
- Gupta, R.K., Gangoliya, S.S., Singh, N.K.: Reduction of phytic acid and enhancement of bioavailable micronutrients in food grains. J. Food Sci. Technol. 52(2), 676–684 (2015)
- 34. Mapelli-Brahm, P., et al.: The impact of fermentation processes on the production, retention and bioavailability of carotenoids: an overview. Trends Food Sci. Technol. **99**, 389–401 (2020)
- Filannino, P., Bai, Y., Di Cagno, R., Gobbetti, M., Gänzle, M.G.: Metabolism of phenolic compounds by Lactobacillus spp. during fermentation of cherry juice and broccoli puree. Food Microbiol. 46, 272–279 (2015)
- Huang, J., de Paulisb, T., May, J.M.: Antioxidant effects of dihydrocaffeic acid in human EA.hy926 endothelial cells. J. Nutr. Biochem. 15, 722–729 (2004)



Encapsulation and Its Possible Application in the Technology of Ready-Made and Ready to Eat Food - A Review

Jasmina Tahmaz^(⊠) **□**

Faculty of Agriculture and Food Sciences, University of Sarajevo, Zmaja od Bosne 8, 71000 Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina j.tahmaz@opf.unsa.ba

Abstract. Encapsulation is the process of entrapping or packaging active compounds into the structure of coating or carrier material. Each capsule contains two main materials: 1) carrier/matrix or coating material and 2) encapsulated active compound. The main purpose of encapsulation is protection of the active compound. Commonly used coating materials are different hydrocolloids (polysaccharides or proteins) like starch, cellulose, alginate, carrageenan, casein, gelatine etc. Encapsulation is widely used in the pharmaceutical industry.

Nowadays, encapsulation has an increasing application in food technology, mostly in bakery, functional food and beverages production. Encapsulation in ready-made and ready to eat food is still poorly researched. But in recent times, many examples for encapsulation in ready-made food technology can be found for research and practical purposes.

The common encapsulated compounds used in ready-made food are: essential oils, vitamins, fish oil, probiotics, folic acid and beta carotene. Nanocapsules and microcapsules with encapsulated active compounds can be added to improve nutritional or sensorial quality and shelf life of different ready-made foods like instant soups, mayonnaise, sauces, dressings, meat or fish burgers, tortillas, spicy and seasoning powders and dried mixtures for different dishes etc.

There are two main ways of applying encapsulation in ready-made/ready to eat food. The common way is encapsulation of sensitive active compounds and addition of prepared capsules to the ready-made food product during its production. Another way of application implies encapsulation of liquid sauces and spice extracts into macrospheres and macrocapsules.

Keywords: encapsulation \cdot soups \cdot mayonnaise \cdot sauces and dressings \cdot ready-made/ready to eat food

1 Introduction

Encapsulation is a technique of packing or entrapping active compounds into the structure of coating material. It is mostly used in the pharmaceutical, and recently in the food industry too. Most commonly encapsulated active materials in the food industry are vitamins, minerals, enzymes, probiotics, antioxidants, omega fatty acids, fish oil, essential oils and aromatic substances. Encapsulation is a technique that can improve the stability, usability and availability of many bioactive ingredients. The main aim of encapsulation is the formation of stable capsules from natural or synthetic polymer materials with encapsulated active substances. Each capsule consists of two main parts [1]:

- coating (wall material, carrier, shell or encapsulation matrix) and
- active compound (encapsulant, internal phase or capsule core).

The active compound is the material that is encapsulated inside the capsule. The coating (carrier/shell/matrix) is the outside material which coats the encapsulated active substance and protects it from degradation influenced by external factors. The role of the carrier/coating material is to create a boundary layer between the active substance and the environment.

2 The Main Fact About Encapsulation

The largest number of encapsulation techniques is based on dispersing very small particles of the active substance together with the particles of the encapsulation carrier, which is dissolved in the liquid phase [2]. The key factor for successful encapsulation is achieving as large a contact surface as possible between the particles of the coating material and active substance. This is the only way to make it possible to obtain completely coated active compounds. Most encapsulation techniques are based on fine dispersion of the active substance solution in the carrier solution, and this is commonly achieved by following techniques: spraying (or spray drying), slow dosing (drop-by-drop), emulsification, energetic homogenization (e.g. ultrasonic or membrane homogenization), application of high pressure, extrusion, etc. An exception to this rule is the encapsulation by co-extrusion. During co-extrusion the contact of the active substance and the carrier is achieved by flowing through concentric nozzles under high pressure. The active substance passes through the inner nozzle, while the coating material passes through the outer nozzle and wraps around the active substance at the exit of the extruder. Spray drying is the earliest and the most applied encapsulation method in the food industry [1, 3].

2.1 Capsule Types

Considering the structure of the capsule and the distribution of coating around the active substance, there are three basic types of capsules [1, 2]:

- 1. Aggregate, matrix or microsphere. Matrix type capsules have several separated cores of the active substance embedded within a continuously distributed matrix or carrier. This is the most common type of capsule formation. In the matrix types, active compounds can be found on the capsule surface. Therefore, this is the least efficient way of encapsulation. The example of encapsulation mechanism into matrix capsule is illustrated in Fig. 1.
- 2. Type of central accumulation. It is the simplest and most obvious form of capsule structure. The core with the encapsulated active compound is spherical in shape, surrounded by a shell or membrane.

3. Multilayer coating type. The coating is distributed around the core in the form of two or more different layers. Such capsules are designed to allow controlled release of the active substance.



Fig. 1. Illustration of formation of matrix type casein capsule with beta carotene [4]

2.2 Coating Materials

The first step during encapsulation planning is the selection of the coating material. Various natural or synthetic materials can be used as carriers/coating materials [1], but food compatible biopolymers are commonly used, e.g. polysaccharides and other hydrocolloids, proteins, gums, etc. [5]. The choice of carrier depends on different factors such as the nature of the active substance, encapsulation method and the type and purpose of the capsule as the end product. The success of the encapsulation and the physical properties of the capsules mostly depend on the choice of the encapsulation carrier. Edible and harmless biopolymers, which do not react with the active substance, are commonly used as carriers. In ideal cases, the carrier materials should meet the following criteria [1]:

- good rheological properties,
- good dispersibility and solubility in edible solvents (water, oil or alcohol);
- ability to protect encapsulated substance from physical or chemical changes in the contact with external factors (oxidation, heat, pH value, light, humidity),
- ability to protect and retain the encapsulated substance during different processing and storage conditions; and
- to be harmless, compatible with food and approved by the FDA and FSA.

Commonly, it is impossible to find a material that would meet all of the required criteria. Because of that, coatings are often mixed or combined with different modifying agents with the purpose to improve the function of the matrix [6-8]. The encapsulation matrix should have the ability to form a cohesive film that adheres to the particles of the active substance, without reacting with them. In order to improve their properties, the materials used as encapsulation carriers often undergo different physical or chemical modifications [8, 9].

2.3 Benefits of Encapsulation

Protection of the active substance from external/environmental influences, i.e. from degradation influenced by external factors (heat, oxidation, moisture, air, light, chemical

ingredients) is the main reason for encapsulation. Encapsulated compounds can be added to different foods with the aim to enrich them with nutritionally valuable ingredients (vitamins, minerals, omega fatty acids), which are often sensitive and easily decomposed. Encapsulation can also modify the physical characteristics and structure of the original food products, which makes it possible to achieve easier handling, mixing or solvation [5]. E.g. encapsulated liquid substances can be added into solid materials. Addition of encapsulated compounds can improve the texture and rheological properties of the products. By using encapsulation it is also possible to prevent the formation of lumps, reduce hygroscopicity, improve flowability, and modify the consistency of different food products [4, 10, 11]. For example small nanocapsules and microcapsules commonly have a good dispersibility. Because of their improved dispersibility, the small capsules could be added to the products with soft structure like foam drinks and cakes, ice cream blends etc. On the other hand, microcapsules and aggregates commonly have improved hydration ability, higher swelling power and voluminosity. After addition of large capsules into cream soups and sauces, the viscosity could be increased and thicker consistency could be obtained [4].

Another benefit of encapsulation is controlled release of the active substance (gradual, slow or at the exact desired moment). The release of the encapsulated active substance in the product is slower in comparison to non-encapsulated one. For example, by encapsulating the sweetener, a gradual release of the sweet taste can be achieved. By encapsulation it is possible to achieve uniform distribution of the active substance. Encapsulation can dilute the concentration of the active compound, which is very significant in the cases when it is necessary to obtain uniform mixing of very low concentrations of the active substance in a large amount of final product. In some cases the active compounds have undesirable or unpleasant flavor and taste and for that reason those substances should be added in encapsulated form. Encapsulation can mask unwanted or unpleasant taste, smell and aroma (e.g. encapsulated fish oil, bitter substances, essential oils etc.) Besides, encapsulation can prevent unwanted reactions between active compound and ingredients in the products [5, 10, 11].

3 Encapsulation in Ready-Made and Ready to Eat Food

Ready-made food represents a very wide group of food products, including salads, soups, sauces, omelets, pies, sandwiches, snack products, seasonings, spice blends and ready-made meals (main and side dishes). Many of these products are produced by intensive thermal culinary processing methods such as frying, baking and boiling. Prepared ready to eat food can be preserved by different techniques like dehydration, freezing and thermal canning (pasteurization and sterilization). Many of these processes have a destructive effect for sensitive bioactive substances and aromas. Because of that encapsulation could be a promising method to protect these sensitive substances during thermal processes.

On the other hand, as a part of ready to eat foods, there are some products which don't require heating treatments (salads, mayonnaise and related products, sauces and dressings). Encapsulated bioactive compounds could be added to these products with the aim of fortification and nutritional quality enhancement. The common characteristic of these products is low pH value, mostly under 4.5. Some bioactive compounds like probiotics

and enzymes are sensitive in the condition with low pH value. Encapsulation can protect them from degradation and protein denaturation under low pH value. On the other hand, in some cases addition of encapsulated ingredients can modify the consistency and the texture (by increased hydration and voluminosity) of the final product.

In the ready-made food products, encapsulated active compounds could have the most promising application in the technology of mayonnaise, sauces, dehydrated mixtures for soups, sauces and seasonings, minced meat products, breaded and fried products (e.g. fish, chicken and meat burgers) etc. Encapsulated omega fatty acids, vitamins, probiotics, additives, antioxidants, colors, essential oils and flavors could be used in ready-made food technology with the aim to enhance nutritional value of final products.

Ready-made foods, that normally don't contain omega fatty acids (dehydrated soups, breaded chicken products, mayonnaise and other products), can be enriched by addition of encapsulated omega fatty acids. The stability of encapsulated omega fatty acids in frozen chicken nuggets was extremely high and commonly changes in sensory properties didn't occur during the freeze storage [12]. Ready-made food can also be enriched with encapsulated oils. According to Rubillar et al. [13] dehydrated cream soup with encapsulated fish oil had acceptable sensory properties, because the encapsulation masks the undesirable smell and aroma of fish oil. Microencapsulated olive oil or a mixture of olive oil and lemon juice can be added to instant salad dressings [14].

Instead of final product fortification, encapsulation can provide modification of the product texture since obtained microcapsules have typical and improved physical properties such as dispersibility, wettability, hydration, voluminosity, swelling power etc. Generally, smaller capsules have better dispersibility, solubility and wettability, while larger microcapsules (as casein aggregates) have higher swelling power, voluminosity, water binding capacity and higher viscosity. It was suggested that small capsules of casein with beta carotene obtained by high hydrostatic pressure probably could be added to products which need to have better dispersibility. On the other hand, large microcapsules could be added to the products which should have thicker consistency, like cream soups, sauces and gravies [4].

Examples of application of encapsulated compounds in different types of ready-made and ready to eat food are given in Tables 1, 2, 3 and 4.

3.1 Soups

The examples of possible applications of encapsulated compounds in soups are given in Table 1.

Microencapsulated linseed oil (rich in omega 3 fatty acids) was added to a soup powder with the aim to fortify it with omega 3 fatty acids. Prepared soup samples with encapsulated linseed oil had good sensory properties and the shelf life of the soup was about 8 months [13].

Hastarini et al. [15] encapsulated catfish oil and the obtained microcapsules were added to the instant mushroom cream soup. The aim of encapsulation was to provide enrichment of instant soup with unsaturated omega 3 fatty acids from fish oil without a negative effect on taste, smell, aroma and other sensory properties. Since fish oil has a specific, intense and unpleasant smell, it is suggested to be added in encapsulated form to avoid influence on product taste. Commonly mushroom cream soup doesn't

J. Tahmaz

Soup	Active compound/	Coating material	Encapsulation method	Achieved effect
Dehydrated cream soup	Linseed oil	Gum arabic and maltodextrin	Spray drying	Improved oxidative stability of omega 3 fatty acids [13]
Mushroom cream soup	Catfish oil	Maltodextrin	Spray dying	Fortification with omega 3 fatty acids without negative effect on sensory properties, masking of fish oil taste [15]
Instant soup mix	Fish oil	Skimmed milk powder	Emulsification and spray drying	Improved oxidative stability of omega 3 fatty acids, acceptable sensory properties, masking fish oil taste [16]
Commercial soup	Zataria multiflora essential oil	S. cerevisiae	Freeze drying	Enhanced antimicrobial effect against phatogenic bacteria, masked essential oil flavor, acceptable sensory properties [17]
Bone broth powder	Bone broth extract	Maltodextrin and whey protein isolates	Emulsification and spray drying	Good rheological and sensory properties [18]
Chicken soup	Garlic extract	Maltodextrin	Oven and freeze drying	Improved antioxidative properties [19]

Table 1. Examples of encapsulation applied in preparation of different soups

contain omega-3-fatty acids, hence the interest to enrich it with encapsulated catfish oil. With the addition of catfish oil microcapsules, the soup powder had modified physical properties. Water absorption index and water solubility were decreased, but the lightness was increased. Moisture content decreased and fat content increased.

Maryam et al. [17] added encapsulated essential oil of Zataria multiflora to chicken commercial soup powder and obtained the following results. Zataria multiflora essential oil showed high antioxidative and antimicrobial properties. Commercial soup with addition of encapsulated oil had lower microbial growth for *E. coli* and *Listeria monocytogenes*. Since the essential oils have a very strong taste and flavor, it is suggested that they should be added to the product in encapsulated form to avoid the influences to sensory properties. The commercial chicken soup samples with encapsulated essential oil had acceptable sensory properties with slightly higher scores in comparison to the control sample with free essential oil.

Beef bone broth can be encapsulated by spray drying into maltodextrin and whey protein isolates. The obtained encapsulated and spray dried bone broth was freezestored at -18 °C for 3 months and tested for storage stability. During the storage period pH value and browning index increased. Bone broth microcapsules loaded with whey protein had lower changes in color, while maltodextrin loaded microcapsules showed better solubility, wettability and dispersibility [18].

Barido et al. [19] encapsulated black garlic extract, which was added to Korean ginseng chicken soup with the aim to improve antioxidative activity. The soup was prepared with chicken broth, chicken meat and black garlic extract encapsulated into maltodextrin microcapsules. Chicken soup with encapsulated black garlic extract had improved antioxidative activity, significantly higher phenolic content and higher presence of yellow and red color in comparison to samples with free garlic extract and control (without garlic extract).

3.2 Burgers and Similar Products

Different encapsulated compounds can be added to fish and meat burgers (Table 2).

Baron-Yusty et al. [20] encapsulated extra virgin olive oil and added it to the breadcrumbs which were used for breading of chicken nuggets. The main purpose of encapsulation was to produce healthier chicken nuggets enriched with encapsulated olive oil, which were baked without a deep fat frying process. Fat and acrylamide content in olive oil loaded fish burgers decreased by 88% and 55% in comparison to control sample (traditionally deep fried) without negative changes in the sensory properties.

Raeisi et al. [21] encapsulated fish oil and garlic essential oil extract into chitosan microcapsules and investigated shelf life, chemical and sensory properties during 20 days cold storage of chicken nuggets. Results showed that addition of encapsulated fish oil and garlic essential oil extract significantly prevented spoilage and extended shelf life of chicken nuggets. Encapsulated active compounds prevented and delayed lipid oxidation process and inhibited microbial growth. Chicken nuggets with encapsulated compounds had improved sensory properties, because the encapsulation avoided release of undesirable smell and taste of fish oil and garlic extract.

Encapsulated safflower (*Carthamus tinctorius*) oil enriched with acai (*Euterpe oler-acea*) extract was used as fat substitute in the experimental preparation of beef burgers. Grilled beef burgers with encapsulated compounds had lower hardness and cooking weight loss, better chewiness, unchanged color and extended shelf life in comparison to control [23].

J. Tahmaz

Food product	Active compound	Coating material	Encapsulation method	Achieved effect
Frozen chicken nuggets	Fish oil	Lecithin-chitosan and maltodextrin	Multilayer coating	Protected against lipid and protein oxidation, good sensory quality, higher juiciness and saltiness [12]
Chicken nuggets breadcrumbs	Extra virgin olive oil	α-Cyclodextrin	Molecular inclusion	Reduced fat and acrylamide content, lower microbial growth, longer shelf life, good sensory properties [20]
Chicken nuggets	Fish oil and garlic essential oil	Chitosan	Rotor-stator homogenization and freeze drying	Prevention of lipid oxidation and microbial spoilage, good sensory quality [21]
Beef burger	Thymus vulgaris essential oil	Chitosan	o/w emulsification and ionic gelation	Improved antimicrobial stability and sensory properties, inhibition of discoloration [22]
Beef burger	Safflower oil enriched with acai extract	Amorphophallus konjac and Na-alginate	Hydrogel emulsion technique	Extended shelf life [23]
Fish burger	Propolis	Gum arabic and modified starch	Spray drying	Improved texture and sensory quality, especially softness, taste and juiciness [24, 25]
Fish burger	Lemon essential oil	Chitosan-modified starch	Emulsification	Reduced oxidation during cold storage and increased shelf life [26]

Table 2.	Examples o	f encapsulation	applied in	burgers and	l nuggets	preparation
----------	------------	-----------------	------------	-------------	-----------	-------------

The common maximal shelf life of fresh beef burger patties is three days at 4 °C. After addition of prickly pear (*Opuntia* spp.) extract encapsulated in alginate beads the shelf life of patty can be extended up to 8 days with minimal changes in sensory properties. Burger patty samples with encapsulated prickly pear extract had lower amounts of mesophilic bacteria, enterobacteriaceae and *Pseudomonas* [27].

Reza et al. [28] reported that fish burger prepared with encapsulated *Ziziphora clinopodioides* essential oil and nisin had improved sensory properties and shelf life during a 20-day-storage period in comparison to control. *Ziziphora clinopodioides* is an edible endemic specie from Iran reach in the phenolic compounds with high antioxidative activity. Encapsulation prevents and slows down the oxidation of phenolic compounds from essential oil.

Fish burgers produced with the addition of nanocapsules of lemon essential oil encapsulated in chitosan/starch mixture had extended shelf life and better quality during 18 days of cold storage. Nanocapsules with essential oil improved antioxidative properties and inhibited lipid oxidation of fish burger during storage. Fish burger with encapsulated lemon oil had better overall acceptability in comparison to control [26].

The addition of microencapsulated propolis can increase the antioxidant activity and improve the sensory properties of fish burgers made from sea bream (*Sparus aurata*). Propolis is a biologically valuable product rich in antioxidants, and because of that there is a great interest to be added in different foods. However, the negative trait of propolis is its very strong, sharp and specific smell. Because of this, it is recommended that propolis should be dosed in an encapsulated form, in which it doesn't affect the sensory properties of the final food product [24, 25].

Antioxidant properties of fish burger can be improved by addition of microcapsules with encapsulated vitamin C. The content of vitamin C in the burger decreases slightly after 60 days of storage and remains about 89% from initial amount. The appearance of the fried fish burger with the addition of encapsulated and free vitamin C was very similar [29].

Active compound	Coating material	Encapsulation method	Achieved effect
Beta vulgaris juice	Gum arabic	Spray drying	Better stability of antioxidants, acceptable sensory properties [30]
Folic acid and ferrous fumarate	Acetiled maize starch	Extrusion and spray drying	Improved stability during cold storage without negative effect on texture, color and taste [31]

Table 3. Examples of application of encapsulated compounds in tortillas

3.3 Tortillas

Tortillas with encapsulated beetroot juice (Table 3) showed about 70% inhibited free radicals and acceptable sensory properties [30].

Microcapsules of iron (II) fumarate and folic acid (Table 3) can be added to nixtamalized corn flour for production of corn tortillas. Addition of microcapsules didn't cause the negative change in sensory properties such as color, texture, taste and flavor. Sensory properties of tortillas enriched with encapsulated compounds were very similar to control samples. The main reason for encapsulation was fortification of tortillas with folic acid and iron, the micronutrients which aren't contained in corn flour in high amounts. Reported results showed that encapsulation provided good retention of encapsulated folic acid and iron (II) fumarate [31]. Addition of encapsulated fumaric acid can extend the shelf life of industrially produced tortillas and slow down the development of molds. It has been proven that tortillas produced with encapsulated fumaric acid have a shelf life of 45 days, while the molds appeared in tortillas with free fumaric acid after 10 days of storage. The main problem with keeping packaged corn tortillas is the sticking of their sheets. In addition to increasing shelf life and preventing the development of molds in tortillas, encapsulated fumaric acid has been proven to reduce the sticking of packed tortillas [32].

3.4 Mayonnaise, Sauces and Dressings

Examples of encapsulated compounds application in mayonnaise and sauces are given in Table 4.

Mayonnaise can be enriched with encapsulated probiotics, omega fatty acids, fish oil and vegetable oils, essential oils, polyphenols, flavonoids, vitamin D, beta carotene and other antioxidants. Due to the presence of acetic acid, mayonnaise has a low pH value (3.6–4.6), which represents an unsuitable environment for probiotics. It is well known that denaturation of proteins occurs in an acidic environment. Free bifidobacteria are very sensitive at pH < 5. Encapsulated bifidobacteria (*B. bifidum* and *B. infantis*) in mayonnaise can survive even after 12 weeks, while free bifidobacteria in mayonnaise drops sharply in the first two weeks. Sensory properties of mayonnaise with encapsulated probiotics are assessed as better than mayonnaise with free probiotics [27, 33, 34].

Encapsulated probiotic bacteria *L. acidophilus* added to mayonnaise sauce had survived longer in comparison to free bacteria. The *L. acidophilus* cells are very sensitive under different factors during processing, and because of that encapsulation could serve as a promising method to protect probiotics and to improve the probiotic activity of the yogurt sauce. Besides the improved probiotic activity, yogurt sauce with encapsulated probiotics had better sensory properties [33]. Encapsulated bacteria *L. acidophilus* and *L. casei* reduce the overall acidity of the mayonnaise-based sauce without significant changes in consistency and rheological properties. After 90 days of refrigerator storage, encapsulated probiotic cells in sauce can remain preserved in an amount corresponding to the probiotic therapeutic minimum [34].

Shaygannia et al. [35] encapsulated phenolic compounds from lemon waste into the coating of basil seed gum and Persian gum. Mayonnaise samples with encapsulated compounds had higher antioxidative activity, delayed spoilage, extended shelf life and acceptable sensory properties.

Besides the probiotics and essential oils, mayonnaise can be enriched with encapsulated oils as a source of polyunsaturated fatty acids. Rojas et al. [36] found that appearance of control mayonnaise sample (without encapsulated oils) was very similar to mayonnaise with addition of chia (*Salvia hispanica*), pumpkin (*Cucurbita pepo*), and baru (*Dipteryx alata*) seed oils encapsulated in a Na-caseinate carrier. Mayonnaise samples with encapsulated oils had almost the same consistency (slightly firmer) as the control mayonnaise. The panelists involved in sensory evaluation mostly could not recognize the differences. All of these oils contain high amounts of polyunsaturated fatty acids. The encapsulation protected oils from oxidation and rancidity, and the obtained mayonnaise could be recognized as a functional product.

Sauce type	Active compound	Coating material	Encapsulation method	Achieved effect
Mayonnaise	L. acidophylus	Ca-alginate and resistant starch	Emulsification	Better survival of probiotics, improved sensory properties [33]
Mayonnaise	L. acidophilus, L. casei/	Ca-alginate, resistant starch	Emulsion technique	Better probiotic stability, lower acidity and better sensory properties [34]
Mayonnaise	Phenolic compounds from lemon waste	Persian and basil seed gums	Freeze drying	Enhanced antioxidant and antimicrobial activity, better storage stability [35]
Mayonnaise	Walnut oil	Pectin and maltodextrin	Ultrasound emulsification	Improved shelf life, lower peroxide number and lighter color [37]
Mayonnaise	L. casei, B. bifidum	Resistant starch and Ca-alginate	Emulsification	Enhanced survival of probiotics [38]
Salad dressing	Red onion skin antocyanins	Soy protein isolate, apple pectin, Na-carboxymethyl cellulose	Gelation and freeze drying	Better storage stability and antocyanins protection [39]
Yogurt sauce	L. paracasei	Resistant starch and Na-alginate	Emulsion technique	Increased survival of probiotics without negative effects on color, consistency, taste and acidity [40]
Cheese sauce	Fig leaves extract and L. helveticus	Skimmed milk and sodium alginate	Freeze drying	Improved shelf life and stability against yeasts and molds, better melting and sensory properties [41]
Soy sauce	Z. rouxii, T. halophylus	Alginate	W1/O/W2 emulsification	Enhanced soy sauce aroma development during moromi fermentation [42]

Table 4. Examples of application of encapsulated compounds in mayonnaise and sauces

Encapsulated *L. paracasei* with resistant starch and Na alginate were added to yogurt sauce. In comparison to control, yogurt sauce prepared with encapsulated probiotic bacteria had higher viscosity, better sensory properties and better survival of probiotics during 30 days of storage [40].

El-Sayed et al. [41] prepared the cheese sauce with encapsulated fig (*Ficus carica*) leaf extract. Fig leaf extract is rich in phenolic compounds and has a strong antioxidative and antimicrobial activity. Encapsulation protected phenolic compounds from oxidative

degradation and enriched cheese sauce had improved antioxidative and antimicrobial properties during 50 days of storage.

Addition of encapsulated Z. *rouxii*, T. *halophylus* in production of soy sauce can improve formation of aromatic compounds during fermentation of moromi [42].

Olive oil and lemon juice based salad dressing was encapsulated by freeze drying into different coating materials (maltodextrin, alginate, gum arabic and carboxymethyl cellulose) by spray dying. This technology allowed the production of encapsulated salad dressing in dried powdered form which can be stored at room temperature. Microcapsules had rounded shapes and could be easily reconstructed [14].

3.5 Macrocapsules with Encapsulated Sauces and Spice Extracts

Besides micro and nanocapsules, nowadays it is a very popular trend related to the production of macrocapsules with encapsulated liquid sauces, spicy extract, soy sauce, balsamic vinegar, liquid spice mixtures of spice extracts in olive oil, etc. Many of these products are produced commercially and can be found on the market in some countries.

These products are mostly alginate macrocapsules with encapsulated liquid spice extracts stabilized with addition of $CaCl_2$ (E 509). $CaCl_2$ enables the creation of a more rigid and compact structure of alginate coating. The mentioned products have a minimal shelf life of one month after opening the container and must be stored in a refrigerator at temperatures below 6 °C. Due to the appearance of these microcapsules, this product is sold under the commercial name "*Caviaroli*". Encapsulated soy sauce in the form of alginate macrocapsules is also commercially available (brand *Caviaroli*), and it is recommended to be served with fresh or cooked vegetables and raw fish dishes such as sushi [43, 44].

De Farias and Norena [45] encapsulated light soy sauce inside Na alginate macrocapsules. Soy sauce was mixed with different concentrations of xanthan gum before encapsulation. Xanthan gum was used for the same reason as CaCl₂ (E 509) in "*Caviaroli*" macrocapsules to create a firmer structure of the encapsulated liquid. Encapsulation was performed by ultrasonic homogenization of soy sauce with xanthan gum and Ca-lactate and freezing it (at -60 °C, 30 min). Before freezing, the homogenized mixture was dosed into acrylic molds with holes of size 5 cm. The frozen balls of soy sauce were coated by immersion in Na alginate solution (for 15 min at room temperature) and with constant stirring at a speed of 200 rpm. Capsules with a higher concentration of xanthan gum had a darker color and a more fibrous structure.

Balsamic vinegar can be encapsulated into macrocapsules of gellan gum. It is believed that gellan gum coating has better properties than Na alginate, related to its ability to form attractive smooth surfaces and allow better aroma release [46].

Different ways of serving and adding to ready-made food could be suggested, such as e.g. addition to the tomato salad, serving on the ready to eat meat surface or could be simply mixed to liquid ready to eat food such as soups and sauces.

4 Conclusion

Encapsulation can be assessed as a process with promising application in technology of ready to eat food. Encapsulated active compounds could be added to different readymade food for the purpose of fortification. As encapsulation is a relatively new process for applying in the food industry, its benefits and commercialization have not been completely researched. In recent times, the possibilities of applying encapsulation in food technology have been increasingly explored, especially in the area of ready to eat food products such as sauces, soups, burgers and similar products. The most publications related to encapsulation applying in ready to eat food dated to the period from 2013th to 2022nd. A significant number of papers, closely related to this topic, is published in a very short time, more precisely in the last 5 years (about 20 papers from 2018 to 2022).

In the preparation of instant soups, the mostly used encapsulated compounds are: plant extract with high antioxidative properties, oils rich in omega 3 fatty acids (fish oil, linseed oil) and different essential oils with high antioxidative and antimicrobial properties. Encapsulated compounds are mostly added to mayonnaise, sauces and dressings are: probiotic bacteria, omega-3 fatty acids, fish oil and essential oils. The commonly used encapsulation technique in instant soup production is spray drying, while in mayonnaise and sauce production the most common encapsulation technique is emulsification.

Although encapsulation is a promising process with numerous advantages and benefits, it is still not used enough in the food industry. The main reasons for weak use of encapsulation in the industry of ready-made food are: high costs and complications related to high-scale industrial application, as well as poorly explored benefits and possibilities. After summarizing all encapsulation's advantages and disadvantages, it becomes clear that encapsulation will continue to develop with the aim of being applied to readymade food as well as other food industries. Encapsulation techniques which are easy to apply and for which industrial equipment already exists (or is not expensive) would have the greatest perspective for more significant application in the ready-made food industry. Examples of such techniques are spray drying, freeze drying (lyophilization) and co-extrusion. For example, encapsulation by spray drying and freeze drying could be used in the industry of powdered ready to eat food such as instant soups, powdered seasonings mixtures, dehydrated mashed potatoes and dehydrated ready to eat meals. Co-extrusion is already used for industrial production of capsules with encapsulated sauces, balsamic vinegar or spice extracts.

References

- Pegg, R.B., Shahidi, F.: Encapsulation and controlled release in food preservation. In: Rahman, S. (ed.) Handbook of Food Preservation, pp. 611–667. Marcel Dekker Inc. (1999)
- Zuidam, N.J., Shimoni, E.: Overview of microencapsulates for use in food products or processes and methods to make them. In: Zuidam, N., Nedovic, V. (eds.) Encapsulation Technologies for Active Food Ingredients and Food Processing, pp. 3–29. Springer, New York (2010). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-1008-0_2
- 3. Blenford, D.: Fully protected. Food Flav. Ingred. Packg. Proc. 8(7), 43 (1986)
- 4. Tahmaz, J.: Application of high hydrostatic pressure in modification of casein micelle and encapsulation of beta carotene, Ph.D. thesis, Faculty of Agriculture and Food Sciences, University of Sarajevo (2014)

- Wandrey, C., Bartkowiak, A., Harding, S.E.: Materials for encapsulation. In: Zuidam, N., Nedovic, V. (eds.) Encapsulation Technologies for Active Food Ingredients and Food Processing, pp. 3–100. Springer, New York (2010). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-100 8-0_3
- 6. Gibbs, B.F., Kermash, S., Alli, I., Mulligan, C.N.: Encapsulation in the food industry: a review. Int. J. Food Sci. Nutr. **50**, 213–224 (1999)
- Reineccius, G.A.: Carbohydrates for flavour encapsulation. Food Technol. 45(3), 144–146, 149 (1991)
- Khanviklar, A.M., Ranveer, R.C., Sahoo, A.K.: Carrier materials for encapsulation of bioactive components of food. Int. J. Pharm. Sci. Rev. Res. 40(1), 62–73 (2016). Article No. 14
- Suganya, V., Anuradha, V.: Microencapsulation and nanoencapsulation: a review. J. Pharm. Cnical Res. 9(3), 233–239 (2017)
- Fang, Z., Bhandari, B.: Encapsulation of polyphenols a review. Trends Food Sci. Technol. 21(10), 510–523 (2010)
- Nedović, V., Kalušević, A., Manojlović, V., Lević, S., Bugarski, B.: An overview of encapsulation technologies for food application. Procedia Food Sci. 1, 1806–1815 (2011). 11th international Congress on Engineering and Food (ICEF11)
- 12. Jimenez-Martın, E., Gharsallaoui, A., Perez-Palacios, T., Carrascal, J.R., Rojas, T.A.: Suitability of using monolayered and multilayered emulsions for microencapsulation of ω -3 fatty acids by spray drying: effect of storage at different temperatures. Food Bioprocess Technol. **8**, 100–111 (2015)
- 13. Rubilar, M., et al.: Development of a soup powder enriched with microencapsulated linseed oil as a source of omega-3 fatty acids. Eur. J. Lipid Sci. Technol. **114**(4), 423–433 (2012)
- Silva, K.A., Coelho, M.A.Z., Calado, V.M.A., Rocha-Leão, M.H.M.: Olive oil and lemon salad dressing microencapsulated by freeze-drying. LWT Food Sci. Technol. 50(2), 569–574 (2013)
- Hastarini, E., Nabila, Nepitupulu, R.J., Poernomo, S.H.: Characteristics of instant mushroom cream soup enriched with catfish oil microcapsules. Earth Environ. Sci. 292, 2–8 (2019). International Conference on Food Science & Technology
- 16. Fakir, A.D., Waghmare, J.: Application of microencapsulated fish oil in instant soup mix as a source of omega 3 fatty acids. Int. J. PharmTech Res. **11**(4), 305–313 (2018)
- Maryam, N.M., Jebrail, M., Bazzaz, F., Sedigheh, B., Mohammad, A., Abdollah, J.: Encapsulation of *Zataria multiflora* essential oil in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*: sensory evaluation and antimicrobial activity in commercial soup. Iran. J. Chem. Chem. Eng. **39**(12), 233–242 (2020)
- Haluk, E., Yeliz, K., Orhan, O.: Production of bone broth powder with spray drying using three different carrier agents. Korean J. Food Sci. Anim. Resour. 38(6), 1273–1385 (2018)
- Barido, F.H., Jang, A., Pak, J.I., Kim, Y.J., Lee, S.K.: The effect of pre-treated black garlic extracts on the antioxidative status and quality characteristics of Korean ginseng chicken soup (Samgyetang). Korean J. Food Sci. Anim. Resour. 41(6), 1036–1048 (2021)
- Baron-Yusti, M., Martinez-Hernandez, G.B., Ros-Chumillas, M., Navarro-Segura, L.: Lopezcooked chicken nuggets. Clean Technol. 4, 53–66 (2022)
- Raeisi, S., Ojagh, S.M., Pourashouri, P., Salaun, F., Quek, S.J.: Shelf-life and quality of chicken nuggets fortified with encapsulated fish oil and garlic essential oil during refrigerated storage. J. Food Sci. Technol. 58(1), 121–128 (2021)
- Ghaderi, G.M., Berzegar, M., Sahari, M.A., Azizi, M.H.: Nanoencapsulation approach to improve antimicrobial and antioxidant activity of thyme essential oil in beef burgers during refrigerated storage. Food Bioprocess Technol. 9(7), 1187–1201 (2016)

- Hanula M., Szpicer A., Gorska-Horczyczak E., Khachatryan G., Pogorzelcki G., Pogorzelcka-Nowicka E., Poltorak A.: Hydrogel emulsion with encapsulated safflower oil enriched with acai extract as a novel fat substitute in beef burgers subjected to storage in cold conditions. Molecules 27, 3–24 (2022). (MDPI)
- Tolve, R., et al.: Encapsulation of health-promoting ingredients: applications in foodstuffs. Int. J. Food Sci. Nutr. 67(8), 888–918 (2016)
- Spinelly, S., Conte, A., Lecce, L., Incoronato, A.L., Del Nobile, M.A.: Microencapsulated propolis to enhance the antioxidant properties of fresh fish burgers. J. Food Process Eng 38, 527–535 (2015)
- Hasani, S., Ojagh, S.M., Ghorbani, M., Hasani, M.: Nano-encapsulation of lemon essential oil approach to reducing oxidation process in fish burger during refrigerated storage. J. Food Biosci. Technol. 10(1), 35–46 (2020)
- Parafati, L., Palmeri, R., Trippa, D., Restucia, C., Fallico, B.: Quality maintenance of beef burger patties by direct addiction of prickly pear fruit extract. Front. Microbiol. 10, 1760 (2019)
- Reza, S., Saeid, K., Mohammad, H., Mohammad, A., Aram, B.: Sensory analysis of fish burgers containing *Ziziphora clinopodioides* essential oil and nisin: the effects of natural preservatives and microencapsulation. Iran. J. Chem. Chem. Eng. **36**(5), 77–88 (2017)
- Farias, M.D.P., Albuquerque, P.B.S., Soares, P.A.G., de Sá, D.M.A.T., Vicente, A.A., Carneiro-da-Cunha, M.G.: Xyloglucan from *Hymenaea courbaril var. courbaril* seeds as encapsulating agent of l -ascorbic acid. Int. J. Biol. Macromol. **107**, 1559–1566 (2018)
- Martini-Morales, S.E., Reyes-Munguia, A.: Sensory evaluation of flour tortilla with microcapsules of beet (*Beta vulgaris*). J. Environ. Sci. Nat. Resour. 6(17), 7–9 (2020)
- Martinez-Bustos, F., Sanchez, A.C., Ortega-Martinez, A.C., Aguillar-Palazuelos, E.: Study of the functionality of nixtamalized maize flour and tortillas added of microcapsules of ferrous fumarate and folic acid. Cereal Chem. 95, 1–9 (2018)
- Maxx Performance Optimizing Ingredients, Microencapsulated fumaric acid. https://www. maxxperformance.com/stories/bakery/microencapsulated-fumaric-acid-shelf-life/. Accessed 09 Dec 2022
- Mohammadi, N., Ahari, H., Fahimdanesh, M., Zanjani, M.A.K., Anvar, A.A., Shokri, E.: Survival of alginate prebiotic microencapsulated *Lactobacillus acidophilus* in mayonnaise sauce. Iran. J. Vet. Med. 6(4), 259–264 (2013)
- Bigdelian, E., Razavi, S.H.: Evaluation of survival rate and physicochemical properties of encapsulated bacteria in alginate and resistant starch in mayonnaise. J. Bioprocess. Biotech. 4(5), 1000166 (2014)
- Shaygannia, S., Eshaghi, M.R., Fazel, M., Hashemiravan, M.: The effect of microencapsulation of phenolic compounds from lemon waste by Persian and basil seed gums on chemical and microbiological properties of mayonnaise. Prev. Nutr. Food Sci. 26(1), 82–91 (2021)
- Rojas, V.M., et al.: Formulation of mayonnaises containing PUFAs by the addition of microencapsulated chia seeds, pumpkin seeds and baru oils. Food Chem. 274, 220–227 (2019)
- Akhtar, G., Masoodi, F.A.: Structuring functional mayonnaise incorporated with Himalayan walnut oil. Pickering emulsions by ultrasound assisted emulsification. Ultrason. Sonochem. 86, 106022 (2022)
- Fahimdanesh, M., Mohammadi, N., Ahari, H., Zanjani, M.A.K., Hargalani, F.Z., Behrouznashab, K.: Effect of microencapsulation plus resistant starch on survival of *Lactobacillus casei* and *Bifidobacterium bifidum* in mayonnaise sauce. Afr. J. Microbiol. Res. 6(40), 6856–6858 (2012)
- 39. Stoica, F., et al.: Value-added salad dressing enriched with red onion skin anthocyanins entrapped in different biopolymers. Food Chem. X 15, 100374 (2022)

J. Tahmaz

- Porjavid, H., Ateim, M., Pourhmad, R., Anvar, A.A., Behmadi, H.: Improvement of quality parameters of novel symbiotic yogurt sauce using microencapsulated *Lactobacillus* paracasei and natural prebiotics. Food Sci. Technol. 4, e40322, 1–12 (2022)
- El-Sayed, S.M., El-Sayed, H.S., Salama, H.H., Abd-Rabou, N.S.: Processed Cheese Sauce functionalized with microencapsulated fig leaves extract. Egypt. J. Chem. 64(4), 1665–1678 (2021)
- 42. Dewanthi P.V.P.: Microbial encapsulation for enhancing soy sauce aroma development during moromi fermentation. Ph.D. thesis, School of Chemical Engineering, University of Birmingham (2018)
- 43. Hochedel The Unique Luxury Magazine: Caviarolli: Exquisite magic in pearl Form. https:// www.hochedel.ch/articles-en/caviaroli-gourmet-luxury-olive-oil-exquisite-magic-in-pearlform-en. Accessed 09 Dec 2022
- 44. Caviarolli: Encapsulated soy sauce, IbericoUSA.com wb page. https://ibericousa.com/pro ducts/caviaroli-encapsulated-soy-sauce. Accessed 09 Dec 2022
- 45. De Farias, Y.B., Noreña, Z.C.P.: Reverse encapsulation using double controlled gelification for the production of spheres with liquid light soy sauce-core. Int. J. Gastron. Food Sci. 16, 100137 (2019)
- 46. Ideas in Food: Encapsulated balsamic vinegar. https://blog.ideasinfood.com/ideas_in_food/ 2012/03/encapsulated-balsamic-vinegar.html. Accessed 09 Dec 2022


Green Synthesis of Silver Nanoparticles from *Mentha Piperita* Extract and Their Antimicrobial Activity

Asima Buljina, Amina Stambolić^(⊠), Saud Hamidović, and Enisa Mikličanin-Omanović

Faculty of Agriculture and Food Sciences, University of Sarajevo, Zmaja od Bosne 8, 71000 Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina {asima.buljina,a.stambolic}@ppf.unsa.ba

Abstract. Recently, we are increasingly growing interest in nanotechnology, which has developed over the years and based on which research has been conducted in various fields, from medicine to the food industry.

Green synthesis involves the use of an acceptable solvent, an environmentally friendly reducing agent and the selection of non-toxic substances to stabilize the synthesized nanoparticles.

Increasing interest is related to silver nanoparticles and their antimicrobial activity.

This work presents the results of the synthesis of silver nanoparticles from extract of *Mentha piperita* and their antimicrobial activity towards the bacteria Escherichia coli and Salmonella. The extract of Mentha piperita was used because of her wide pharmacy application, including the shampoo and fragnance industry to the confectionary and food industry, as well as her medicinal effect on the human body.

Keywords: silver nanoparticles · antimicrobial activity · Mentha piperita

1 Introduction

Concern about the harmful effects of pathogenic bacteria, is growing every day. That is the driving force behind researches which are related to the suppression of those bacteria. Because of the negative effects of bacteria like *Escherichia Coli* and *Salmonella sp.*, the need for antibiotics is increasing. This research on silver nanoparticles was carried out in order to find new ways of suppression of those types of bacteria. Silver nanoparticles have antibiotic properties, so they can be used to make new types of bactericidal agents. Because of antibiotic properties, silver nanoparticles can stop cell growth or cause cell death. They have the ability to bind to the bacterial cell wall and then penetrate into the cell. In this way they make structural changes in the cell membrane, such as cell membrane permeability or cell death. Silver nanoparticles accumulate on the cell surface by creating "holes" on the cell surface [1] They also can generate free radicals in interaction with bacteria, so the free radicals have the ability to damage the

cell membrane and make it porous, which can ultimately lead to cell death [2] Silver nanoparticles have pronounced antibacterial, antifungal, antiviral and anti-inflammatory properties, so in the combination with antibiotics such as penicillin G, amoxicillin, erythromycin, clindamycin or vancomycin, they enhance the effect of these antibiotics in the treatment of infections caused by resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* and *Escherichia coli* bacteria [3].

Bacteria that have been used to synthesize silver nanoparticles are given in Table 1.

S. no	Bacteria	Size (nm)	Author (year)
1	P. stutzeri AG259	200	(Tanja et al., 1999)
2	Bacillus megaterium	46,9	(Fu et al., 1999)
3	Plectonema borianum	1–200	(Lengke et al., 2007)
4	Enterobacter cloacae	50-100	(Minaeian et al., 2008)
5	Escherichia coli	5–25	(El-Shanshoury et al., 2011)
6	B. licheniformis	50	(Kalimuthu et al., 2008)
7	Lactobacillus fermentum	11,2	(Sintubin et al., 2009)
8	Klebsiella pneumonja	50	(Mokhtari et al., 2009)
9	Proteus mirabilis	10–20	(Samadi et al., 2009)
10	Brevibacterium casei	50	(Kalishwaralal et al., 2010)

Table 1. Silver nanoparticle synthesizing bacteria and the size of the resulting nanopraticles

The sience that studies the properties of nanoparticles is called nanoscience. Nanoscience has significantly evolved in the last few years, from science that was exclusively developed in the laboratory to its application in technology, like nanotechnology [4]. The term nanotechnology comes from the Greek word "nanos" which means "dwarf", and denotes a unit which is a billion times smaller than the base unit [5]. The other definition of "nanotechnology" includes the research and development of technologies and new properties of structures with dimensions on the nanoscale [6, 7].

Nanotechnology implies the application of science and technology which means design, synthesis and manipulation of structures in the range from 1 to a 100 nm. It has been implemented in almost all areas of human activity. Besides, nanotechnology has a major role in alternative medicine for the production of nanominerals, like nanosilver or nanogold as they are natural antibiotics. Nanotechnology also means application of nanomaterials. Nanomaterials are made of nanoparticles and they are used from the cosmetic to the food industry, especially in the industry improvement, food packaging, increasing the shelf life and bioavailability of different food.

There is the concept of "green synthesis" which is based on the principle of green chemistry. Green synthesis was developed due to concern about environmental protection and contribution to sustainable development. The principles of green chemistry refer to the prevention of waste generation, finding new solutions for obtaining ecologically harmless products, which also means "not toxic to the environment and not toxic to people" products [8] and finding new "environmentally non toxic" materials [9].

Because of that, we can say that green synthesis represents environmentally friendly synthesis. President of the American Chemical Saciety, Daryle Busch, said "Green chemistry represents the pillars that hold up our sustrainable future. It is imperative to teach the value of green chemistry to tomorrow's chemicts" [10].

This paper describes the green synthesis of silver nanoparticles from *Mentha piperita* extract, because of its antimibrobial activity and possibility of getting silver nanoparticles. Effect of silver nanoparticles synthesized like this on the growth of bacteria like *Escherichia coli* and *Salmonella sp.* was studied.

2 Method and Materials

Green synthesis of silver nanoparticles from *Mentha piperita* extract was conducted in the laboratory for chemistry and biochemistry in the University of Sarajevo, Faculty of Agriculture and Food Sciences.

2.1 Plant Extract Preparation and Silver Nanoparticles Synthesis

The herbal extract of *Mentha piperita* was prepared using the dried plant material acquired through commercial sources. The aqueous extract was acquired by boiling 5 g of the dried herb in 50 ml of MiliQ water for 30 min and filtering using blue ribbon filter paper. Three samples of silver nanoparticles were synthesized by mixing aliquots of *Mentha piperita* extract (150 μ l, 250 μ l, and 350 μ l) and 10 ml of 0.1 mM AgNO₃ solution. The reaction mixtures were stirred using a magnetic rod for 2 h and incubated at room temperature for 24 h. Silver nanoparticle synthesis was confirmed using UV/Vis spectroscopy. The spectra were collected in the range from 300 nm to 600 nm against MiliQ water as a blank.

2.2 Anti-microbial Activity of Silver Nanoparticles

Anti-microbial activity of the synthesized nanoparticles was determined against pure bacterial cultures of *Escherichia coli* and *Salmonella sp.* on a Mac Conkey agar nutrient medium. The nutrient medium was prepared according to the instructions on the packaging. All the dishes and utensils were sterilized at 120 °C beforehand in an autoclave for 15 min at 1,5 atm.

For nutrient medium preparation, 10,4 g of Mac Conkey agar was added to 200 ml of distilled water and homogenized. After that, it was heated in the microwave until boiling. The nutrient medium was poured into sterilized Petri dishes and left to solidify at room temperature.

2.3 Inoculum Preparation

Preparing the inoculum was carried out according to the EUCAST (The European Comittee on Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing, 2017). The microorganisms were transferred from their growth plate to a test tube containing 5 ml of saline solution using a sterilized inoculation loop to achieve a homogenous turbidity of 0,5 McFarland standard and concentration of microbial cells of 1×108 CFU/ml.

The prepared inoculum were incubated at 37 °C for 24 h. The bacteria were then smeared using a swab across the surface of the agar for antimicrobial activity testing.

2.4 Disc Difusion Method

For antimicrobial activity assessment of the prepared nanoparticles, the disc difusion method, also known as the Kirby-Bauer method, was used. The method consists of placing a disk impregnated with the sample being tested on the agar inoculated with bacteria [11] The agar is then incubated for 16 do 24 h at 37 °C. If there is an inhibitory effect on the growth of microorganisms it manifests itself as a transparent disc formed around the discs [12].

Bactera sensitivity was determined by measuring the diameter of the inhibition zone using a ruler. Results are usually expressed in millimeters.

Based on the measured diameters of the inhibition zone, the examined species are classified into the following categories:

S – sensitive - probability of therapy success is high after using the usual doses of antibiotics which were given in the usual way;

I - intermediate (moderately) sensitive - possible therapy success if the antibiotic was given in the maximum concentrations and by parenteral route;

R – resistant - never used in the therapy; no matter of dose, therapy will be probably unsuccessful.

3 Results and Discussion

3.1 Nanoparticle Characterization

The synthesized silver nanoparticles were characterized by UV/Vis spectroscopy using a Varian Cary 1E Spectrometer. The spectra were collected in the range from 300 to 600 nm. Previous research literature places the wavelength of maximum absorption for silver nanoparticles in the range from 410 to 450 nm [13] (Fig. 1).

The λ_{max} of the recorded samples was 414 nm which in accordance with literary data and serves as proof of silver nanoparticles being synthesized. The highest peak corresponding to the highest concentration of nanoparticles was recorded in the sample treated with 350 µl of mint extract (purple graph line). The lowest concentration of nanoparticles was discovered in the sample treated with 150 µl of plant extract (blue graph line).



Fig. 1. Recorded spectra of three resulting samples with the $\lambda_{max} = 414$ nm

3.2 Antimicrobial Activity

According to EUCAST standards, a comparative analysis of the results was conducted in comparison to standard values of antibiotics Trimethoprim in combination with Sulphomethoxazole for *E. coli* and *Salmonella sp* (Table 2).

 Table 2. Diameter of the inhibition zone for Escherichia coli i Salmonella sp.

Inhibition zone diameter (mm)					
Escherichia coli; Salmonella sp. S I R					
Trimethoprim + sulphamethoxazole	≥16	11–15	≤10		

The following tables are showing the results of measured diameters of inhibition zones of samples acquired with different volumes of plant extract (150 μ l, 250 μ l, 350 μ l) for bacteria *Escherichia coli* (Table 3).

Silver nanoparticles acquired from 150 µl of <i>Mentha piperita</i> extract	Diameter of inhibition zone for <i>Escherichia coli</i> (mm)
Disc 1	12
Disc 2	13
Disc 3	11
Disc 4	12
Disc 5	11
Disc 6	12
Average value	11,8

Table 3. Measured diameters of inhibition zones for silver nanoparticles from 150 μ l of Mentha *piperita* extract

The average value of measured diameters of inhibition zones is 11,8 mm which means that bacteria *Escherichia coli* is intermediately sensitive to silver nanoparticles acquired from 150 μ l of Mentha *piperita* extract, because the average value of 11,8 mm is in the rank of value of intermediate sensitive which is 11–15 (Table 4).

Table 4. Measured diameters of inhibition zones for silver nanoparticles from 250 μ l of Mentha *piperita* extract

Silver nanoparticles acquired from 250 µl of <i>Mentha piperita</i> extract	Diameter of inhibition zone for <i>Escherichia coli</i> (mm)
Disc 1	14
Disc 2	12
Disc 3	11
Disc 4	13
Disc 5	10
Disc 6	11
Average value	11,8

According the average value of diameter of inhibition zone, *Escherichia coli* is intermediately sensitive to silver nanoparticles acquired from 250 μ l of Mentha *piperita* extract, because the average value of 11,8 mm is in the rank of value of intermediate sensitive which is 11–15 (Table 5).

Silver nanoparticles acquired from 350 µl of <i>Mentha piperita</i> extract	Diameter of inhibition zone for <i>Escherichia coli</i> (mm)
Disc 1	10
Disc 2	10
Disc 3	11
Disc 4	12
Disc 5	10
Disc 6	12
Average value	10,8

Table 5. Measured diameters of inhibition zones for silver nanoparticles from $350 \,\mu l$ of Mentha *piperita* extract

The average value for silver nanoparticles acquired from 350 μ l of *Mentha piperita* extract means that *Escherichia coli* is intermediate sensitive because the value of 10,8 mm is closer to rank of value of intermediate sensitive which is 11–15 (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2. The zone of inhibition of Escherichia coli for silver nanoparticles

The following tables are showing the results of measured diameters of inhibition zones of samples acquired with different volumes of plant extract (150 μ l, 250 μ l, 350 μ l) for bacteria *Salmonella sp* (Table 6).

Silver nanoparticles acquired from 150 µl of Mentha piperita extract	Diameter of inhibition zone for <i>Salmonella sp.</i> (mm)
Disc 1	8
Disc 2	10
Disc 3	9
Disc 4	7
Disc 5	9
Disc 6	7
Average value	8,3

Table 6. Measured diameters of inhibition zones for silver nanoparticles from 150 μ l of Mentha *piperita* extract

The average value of 8,3 mm means that *Salmonella sp.* is resistant to silver nanparticles from volume solution of 150 μ l of mint extract (Table 7).

Table 7. Measured diameters of inhibition zones for silver nanoparticles from 250 μ l of Mentha *piperita* extract

Silver nanoparticles acquired from 250 µl of Mentha piperita extract	Diameter of inhibition zone for <i>Salmonella sp.</i> (mm)
Disc 1	10
Disc 2	9
Disc 3	8
Disc 4	11
Disc 5	11
Disc 6	8
Average value	9,5

The inhibition zone of nanoparticles acquired from 250 μ l of mint extract recorded an average value of 9,5 mm and it can be said that *Salmonella sp.* is resistant to the silver nanoparticles (Table 8).

Silver nanoparticles acquired from 350 µl of <i>Mentha piperita</i> extract	Diameter of inhibition zone for <i>Salmonella sp.</i> (mm)
Disc 1	9
Disc 2	10
Disc 3	9
Disc 4	7
Disc 5	9
Disc 6	7
Average value	8,5

Table 8. Measured diameters of inhibition zones for silver nanoparticles from 350 μ l of Mentha *piperita* extract

The average value of 8,5 mm means that *Salmonella sp.* is resistant to the silver nanoparticles from *Mentha piperita* extract (Fig. 3).



Fig. 3. The zone of inhibition for bacteria Salmonella sp. for silver nanoparticles

4 Conclusions

This work has shown the green synthesis of silver nanoparticles from *Mentha piperita* extract whose presence was proven by UV-VIS spectrometry with an absorbance peak wavelength in the range 410 to 450 nm. Their antimicrobial activity was also tested which led us to the following conclusions:

• Maximum of absorbance peak for silver nanoparticles is 414 nm which means that is in the range from 410 to 450 nm, which is the range of silver nanoparticles, which is a confirmation of silver nanoparticles' successful synthesis

- Comparing the average value of inhibition zone diameters with average value of antibiotics Trimethoprim + sulphomethoxazole, it is established that Ag nanoparticles are intermediately successful in inhibiting the growth of *Escherichia coli*, whereas they have been shown to be unsuccessful in suppressing the growth of *Salmonella sp.*
- The strongest antimicrobial effect was shown for volumes of plant extracts used being 150 μ l and 250 μ l on the bacteria *Escherichia coli* and the least inhibitory action for the sample where 350 μ l of the sample were used. This finding implies that the antimicrobial effect is not in direct correlation with the concentration of nanoparticles. The diameter of the inhibition zone for *Salmonella sp.* Shows that the strongest antimicrobial effect was for the sample treated with 250 μ l of extract and the weakest for the sample treated with 150 μ l of extract.

References

- Sondi, I., Salopek-Sondi, B.: Silver nanoparticles as antimicrobial agent: a case study on E. coli as a model for gram-negative bacteria. J. Colloid Interface Sci. 275, 177–182 (2004)
- Danilcauk, M., Lund, A., Saldo, J., Yamada, H., Michalik, J.: Conduction electron spin resonance of small silver particles. Spectrochimaca Acta Part A 63, 189–191 (2006)
- Wijnhoven, S.W.P., et al.: Nanosilver a review of available data and knowledge gaps in human and environmental risk assessment. Nanotoxicology 3(2), 109–138 (2009)
- 4. Oruč, M., Sunulahpašić, R., Gigović-Gekić, A.: Nanomaterijali, svojstva i primjene. Univerzitet u Zenici, Metalurško-tehnološki fakultet, Zenica (2018)
- 5. Omanović-Mikličanin, E., Badnjević, A.: Uvod u nanotehnologiju. Poljoprivrednoprehrambeni fakultet u Sarajevu, Sarajevo (2017)
- Pradeep, T.: Nano the Essentials Understanding Nanoscience and Nanotechnology. Tata McGraw-Hill Publishing Company Limited, New Delhi (2007)
- 7. Booker, R., Boysen, E.: Nanotechnology for Dummies. Wiley, Indianapolis (2005)
- Jukić, M., Đakovid, S., Filipovid-Kovačević, Ž, Vorkapid-Furač, J.: "Zelena" kemija otvara put čistim ekološki prihvatljivim kemijskim procesima. Kemija Industr. 53(5), 217–224 (2004)
- Wardencki, W., Curylo, J., Namiesnik, J.: Green chemistry current and future issues. Pol. J. Environ. Stud. 14(4), 389–395 (2005)
- Haack, J.A., Hutchison, J.E., Kirchhoff, M.M., Levy, I.J.: Going green: lecture assignments and lab experiences for the college curriculum. J. Chem. Ed. 82, 974–976 (2005)
- Tendencia, E.A., Ruangpan, L.: Disk diffusion method, laboratory manual of standardized methods for antimicrobial sensitivity tests for bacteria isolated from aquatic animals and environment, pp. 13–29. Aquaculture Department, Southeast Asian Fisheries Development Center, Tigbauan, Iloilo, Philippines (2004)
- 12. Đurić, S., Jarak, M.: Praktikum iz mikrobiologije (drugo dopunjeno izdanje). Poljoprivredni fakultet Novi Sad, Novi Sad (2006)
- Mulfinger, L., Solomon, S.D., Bahadory, M., Jeyarajasingam, A.V., Rutkowsky, S.A., Boritz, C.: Synthesis and study of silver nanoparticles. Juniata Coll. 84, 322–325 (2007)



Quality and Technology of White Sheep's Cheese from Bjelašnica

Adela Milišić, Zlatan Sarić^(⊠), Tarik Dizdarević, and Svjetlana Sakić-Dizdarević

Faculty of Agriculture and Food Sciences, University of Sarajevo, Zmaja od Bosne, 71000 Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina z.saric@ppf.unsa.ba

Abstract. The sheep's cheese produced on the Bjelašnica mountain belongs to the group of white brine cheeses, which are predominantly produced in the countries of the Mediterranean and the Balkan Peninsula. For production, the milk of sheep of the autochthonous Pramenka breed, Dubski strain, was used, without the addition of starter cultures. The main task of this study was to research the technological process of white sheep's cheese production and to determine the quality of sheep's milk and cheese based on the results of the analysis. By examining the physico-chemical composition and hygienic conditions of 7 milk samples, it was determined that all samples meet the quality requirements. The average values of the chemical composition of sheep's milk were (%): dry matter 19.88, fat 8.15, proteins 6.44, lactose 3.90, fat-free dry matter 11.63. Based on the examination of 7 samples of mature sheep's cheese, the average values of the chemical composition were (%): dry matter 45.60, fat 26.86, proteins 15.63, salt 4.57. Sensory analysis of the sheep's cheese from Bjelašnica revealed that 43% of the evaluated samples were of the extra class, 43% of the first class cheeses, while 14% of the second class cheeses were included.

Keywords: sheep's milk cheese · quality · technology

1 Introduction

Of at least 500 varieties of cheeses produced in the world [1], a special variety of "cheeses with a high percentage of salt" stands out, which includes white cheeses in brine [2]. White brine cheeses are ripened and stored in brine from production to consumption. They are skinless, with a pure sour-salty taste that becomes more piquant as they ripen. The white color of these cheeses comes from sheep's, goat's or buffalo's milk, from which they are most often produced, but over time more of these varieties are also produced from cow's milk [3]. Simple technology, a relatively short ripening period and the fact that they do not require special equipment and devices for production characterize the cheeses of this group. All of this influenced the development of the technology of white brine cheeses in Bosnia and Herzegovina and it has been maintained up to today in difficult mountain conditions [4]. The most famous Bosnian representative of this group of cheeses is the Vlašić cheese, which has achieved significant recognition within

but also outside the borders of the Balkan region [5]. Although the mountain Vlašić represents the center of production, the technology of this type of cheese is spread over almost the entire territory of Bosnia and Herzegovina. On the Bjelašnica mountain, the production of Vlašić type white cheese started a few years ago. This cheese is made from raw sheep's milk. While for the technology and chemical composition of Vlašić cheese, there are numerous data in the literature [4, 6–17] white sheep's cheese from Bjelašnica has not been studied so far.

Sheep's milk is white, opaque in color, has a pleasant taste and is odorless if the milking conditions are good, but it absorbs all the smells of the environment [18]. Sheep's milk is usually used for processing into various dairy products, while its fresh consumption is insignificant [19]. The main use of sheep's milk is for the production of traditional cheeses, and sometimes also for the production of sour milk [19, 20]. Very famous cheeses are produced from sheep's milk in the world, such as: Roquefort, Fiore Sardo, Pecorino Romano, Castellano, Fetta, Halloumi, and in Bosnia and Herzegovina Vlašić cheese [21]. Sheep's milk is about 50% richer in dry matter than cow's milk. This is primarily due to the higher content of fat and protein. The ratio of individual components is not like that of cow's milk. There is a higher proportion of fat, followed by protein. Due to the higher content of dry matter, especially fat and protein, this milk is very suitable for processing into cheeses, so double the yield is achieved. It is also suitable for the production of sour milk, because it is a product of excellent solid consistency [4]. According to the Rulebook on the quality of fresh, raw milk [22] sheep's milk must contain a minimum of 4.00% milk fat, a minimum of 3.80% protein and 9.50% non-fat dry matter. The titration acidity of sheep's milk varies between 7.0–9.5°SH. The higher titration acidity compared to cow's milk is a consequence of the higher content of casein and salts with a buffering effect [4]. Comparing the physical properties of cow's, goat's and sheep's milk, it can be said that the density of sheep's milk (1.0347-1.0384) is higher compared to goat's and cow's milk which are comparable (goat's milk 1.0290-1.0390, and cow's 1.0231-1.0398 g/cm³). The content of lactic acid (0.22-0.25%) is higher than that of goat (0.14–0.23%) and cow's milk (0.15–0.18%). The freezing point (-0.570°C) is lower compared to goat's milk (0.540–0.573 °C) and cow's milk (0.530–0.570 °C), while the pH value of all three types of milk is at an approximate level (sheep's 6.51– 6.85; goat's 6.50–6.80 and cow's milk 6.65–6.71). Regarding the pH value, it can only be said that the range of variation is narrower in cow's milk [23–26]. Sheep's milk is characterized by a higher count of microorganisms in 1 ml compared to cow's milk, because it is very difficult to achieve such a high level of hygiene during production as in the production of cow's milk. This can also affect the faster increase in acidity. It is certain that in the production of autochthonous cheeses, the most important role plays the natural microflora of sheep's milk, which creates a specific aroma during their ripening [4]. The aim of the work is to determine the quality and the technological process of the production of white sheep's cheese from Bjelašnica, all with the aim of achieving the unique features of this cheese and its recognition on the market and literature.

2 Materials and Methods

The production of sheep's cheese on the mountain Bjelašnica is studied in this work. The time and temperatures of production phases were monitored. On that occasion, sheep's milk and cheese were sampled. A total of 7 samples of sheep's milk and 7 samples of mature cheese aged 100 days were collected.

All milk samples were subjected to microbiological and physical-chemical testing. The following analyzes were performed on the milk: content of dry matter, fat, protein, lactose, non-fat dry matter by FTIR spectrophotometry, BAS ISO 9622:2015 [27] on the MilkoScan FT6000. The total count of bacteria/ml of milk was determined using the flow cytometry method by EN ISO 21187:2021 [28] on the BactoScan TM FC 50H.

Physical and chemical analyzes were performed on the cheese samples. The dry matter of all cheese samples was determined, using the method of drying in an oven (Heraeus) at 102 + 2 °C according to Regulations on sampling methods and methods of chemical and physical analysis of milk and milk products [29]. The fat content in cheese was determined by the Van Gulik method (ISO 3433:2008) [30]. To determine the pH value of the cheese, a Methrom 632 pH meter was used, with a stabbing electrode for cheese WTW - SenTix Sp. The pH value of all samples was determined in three different places (top of the slice, middle of the slice and center of the section). The final pH value is the average of these three measurements. The concentration of salt in cheese was determined by the standard "Norwegian method" potentiometrically using "MK II chloride Analyzer 926, Sherwood". The fat on dry basis (FDB) and the moisture on fat-free basis (MFFB) were determined by calculation [2, 31]. The protein content was determined using the Kjeldahl method according to ISO 8968:2004 [32] by determining the protein content through the N (nitrogen) content. The method is carried out in three phases: 1. Combustion of samples (using the apparatus Büchi Digest system K - 437), 2. Distillation (distillation apparatus Büchi, KjelFlex, K - 360) and 3. Titration (titration apparatus Methrom Herisau, Titrator E - 526 with dispenser 665). The protein content was obtained by multiplying the amount of TN by a factor of 6.38.

Sensory evaluation was performed using two cheese grading systems. The first sensory evaluation was done by the consumer group, and the second sensory evaluation was done by a panel composed of six expert evaluators. Cheeses for evaluation were coded from 1 to 7 (S1–S7). The first sensory evaluation was done according to the hedonic scale method. It is used to measure the consumer's acceptance of a product, i.e. whether one likes or dislikes a certain food. The scale consists of grades from 1 to 5, which represent the degree of acceptability, where grade 5 is the best degree of acceptability. All the presented ratings represent the average values of the ratings of all lay evaluators (36). For the second sensory evaluation, a 20-point scoring system was used, whereby different characteristics were evaluated (appearance, color, consistency, cut, smell and taste). Each of the characteristics was: external appearance-2, color-1, consistency-2, cut-3, smell-2 and taste-10 points. Based on this assessment, the cheeses were classified into quality classes. All values represent the average ratings of all evaluators. The results of milk and cheese analysis and the sensory evaluation of the cheese were statistically processed using descriptive statistics (MS Excel).

3 Results and Discussion

The production of white sheep's cheese on the Bjelašnica mountain is seasonal, and usually starts in mid-May and lasts until the beginning of October. During this period, the sheeps are fed exclusively on the pastures of the Bjelašnica mountain, which gives the milk and thus the cheese specific features. For the production of cheese, only the milk of sheep of the autochthonous Pramenka breed, Dubski strain, is used.

3.1 Technology of White Brined Cheese from Bjelašnica

The technology of white sheep's cheese produced in the area of the Bjelašnica mountain, consists of several basic stages (Fig. 1, Table 1). Rennet is added into raw sheep's milk immediately after milking. Liquid rennet "Vlašić HA-LA" from Bosnahem-Travnik, strength 1:10,000, is used for coagulation. The curdling time depends on a number of factors, especially the strength of the rennet and the temperature of the milk, and lasts from 90 to 135 min. The temperature of milk during curdling is from 28 to 30 °C. The temperature of milk before during renneting has significant oscillations, which is influenced by external climatic factors on the day of production. On days when the outside temperatures were low, the milk was heated to a temperature of 28 to 30 °C before renneting, and coagulation was performed in containers placed near the heat source. A measured amount of rennet is poured into the milk while stirring, in order to distribute it equally in whole milk quantity. After adding the rennet, the milk is left to stand until coagulation is complete. The end of the curdling phase is determined by the firmness of the curd. When the curd reaches a certain firmness, it is cut into cubes of 9 to 10 cm in size and left to rest until the whey begins to separate. The whey should have a green-yellow color. If the whey is whitish, it means that the rennet process is not complete. In this case, the cut curd is left to stand until it becomes firm enough. When a good quality curd is obtained, it is immediately strained. The draining is done in cloth bags. Preparation of bags for squeezing is done during the milk coagulation. The curd is carefully transferred to the bags with a large ladle, without breaking it. Transferring the curds to the bags proceeds slowly, so that the whey flows evenly and no whey nests remain. The cheese is drained without pressure, under its own weight. While placing the curds in the bags, the cheesemaker occasionally helps the whey to swell by gently lifting the sides of the cheese bags alternately to prevent the formation of a crust on the cheese, because they would prevent the whey from flowing out. The extraction of whey is monitored all the time, until the moment when there is no residual whey on the surface. The cheese squeezed in this way stands for a while so that the remaining whey is separated without any pressure. Shaping the round form of the cheese curd is achieved by tying the bag.



Fig. 1. Basic technological procedure of Bjelašnica white sheep's cheese production

The sqeezing continues for the next 7 to 9 h, which depends on the temperature and firmness of the curds. During warm weather, the length of squeezing is shorter, and the curd is more tender. After the squeezing is finished, the cheese bags are carefully removed from the carrier and the cheese lump is carefully removed. The cheese lump is first cut in half, and each half into 2 equal parts, then the ends of each slice are cut. After cutting the cheese curd the cheese slices are left to release the rest of the whey. On the cheese table, slices stand for 30 to 60 min, which depends on the intensity of the previous squeezing. After standing on the table, the cheese slices are placed in wooden tubs. Stacking the cheese slices and salting them in the vats is done so that the rounded sides of the cheese obtained by cutting the edges of the slices are used to fill the free space between the stacked slices. In this way, in addition to filling the free space, the slices are also prevented from sticking together. Thus, it is easier to remove the cheese

slices after ripening. Each complex layer is salted separately. The amount of salt depends on the size of the wooden tub and ranges from 40 to 105 g of salt per row. The filled tub is left without load for two days, so that the salt penetrates into the cheese. Then a wooden lid is placed on the surface of the cheese and weighed down, usually with stones, for pressing. If there is not enough separated whey in the tub, water or whey containing 15% salt should be added. The cheese is cured during standing. If mold appears on the surface, the upper layers of cheese and the upper part of the tub are washed with salt water. The size of wooden tubs depends on the volume of production and market demand. Tubs of 5, 10, 20, 40 and 50 kg can be used. The dimensions of the tub also depend on the amount of cheese. Before transporting the cheese from the mountain, the wood (lid) is tightly closed and the whey is poured out.

Indicators						
Productions (number)	7					
Temperature during curdling (⁰ C)						
- room for cheesemaking	19–22					
- curdling	28–30					
Duration of technological steps						
- curdling (minutes)	90–135					
- cutting of curd and separation of whey (minutes)	9–15					
- squeezing (hours)	7–9					
- cutting and resting of cheese slices (minutes)	30–60					
Technological characteristics						
- cutting of curd into cubes (cm)	9–10					
- color of separated whey	green-yellow					
- the appearance and consistency of the curd	solid, with a sharp break					
Method of squeezing						
- putting the curds in cheese cloths and helping to strain	until the formation of lump					
- shaping of lump	tying the bag					
Salting of cheese	1					
- while stacking in the tube, layer by layer (g)	40–105					
Cheese ripening						
- without whey or brine (aerobic)	2 days					
- within whey or brine (anaerobic)	30 days and longer					
- temperature of ripening (°C)	14–15					
Yield and liters of milk per kg of cheese	·					
- liters of milk per 1 kg of cheese	4,2 L of milk					
- from 100 L of milk	23,58 kg of cheese					
	1					

Table 1. Technological parameters in Bjelašnica white brined sheep cheese manufacture

Cheese ripening lasts at least 1 to 2 months, at a temperature of 14 to 15 °C. The cheese is watched during ripening and storage. A grey-white layer is created on the surface of the brine by the action of microorganisms. At the beginning, this phenomenon is much more intense than in the further course of ripening. Thus, in the beginning the cheese is washed and cleaned twice a week, and later every 10 to 15 days. If the cheese is not cared for regularly, the protein and fat break down faster, so it loses its quality. After ripening, the cheese is stored in a warehouse. The basement is used as a warehouse, where the temperature is low even during the summer. By comparing all production parameters with the technology of Vlašić cheese, it can be said that the production of white soft cheese from Bjelašnica is very similar to the technology of Vlašić cheese.

3.2 Chemical, Physical and Hygienic Quality of Sheep's Cheese Milk

Table 2 lists the physical and chemical characteristics of sheep's milk samples for the production of white brine cheese from Bjelašnica.

	Fat (%)	Proteins (%)	Lactose (%)	Density (g/cm ³)	DM ^a (%)	NFDM ^b (%)
Mean value	8.15	6.44	3.90	1.037	19.88	11.63
St. Dev.	0.43	0.33	0.14	0.00	0.64	0.24
Coef. Var. (%)	5.27	5.15	3.58	0.11	3.23	2.04
Min	7.56	6.16	3.59	1.036	19.16	11.38
Max	8.91	7.13	4.01	1.039	21.11	12.06

Table 2. Physico-chemical properties of sheep's cheese milk

^a – Dry matter; ^b – Non-fat dry matter

Sheep's milk for the production of white brine cheese from Bjelašnica was high in fat and protein content but low in lactose one. The mean value of fat content for all seven samples was 8.15%. The deviation of the individual milk fat percentages of the samples from the average was 5.27% due to small variations. For protein content, the average value for all analyzed samples was 6.44%. When individual protein content values were observed in all milk samples, smaller variations in values were noticeable, so the coefficient of variation was 5.15%. For lactose content, the average value for all milk samples was 3.90%. The coefficient of variation was 3.58% due to smaller deviations of the individual percentages of lactose in the samples from the average value. The smallest coefficient of variation of 0.11%, and at the same time the smallest variations, were in the case of density in milk samples. The mean value for the density was 1.037%. The average value of dry matter content was 19.88%. The calculated coefficient of variation was 3.23% due to smaller deviations of individual percentages of dry matter from the average. The average value of the non-fat dry matter content was 11.63%. There is no data on the composition of sheep's milk for the production of white brine cheese from Bjelašnica, but the sheep's milk for the production of Vlašić cheese had the following composition [13]: fat 9.31%, proteins 5.98%, dry matter 18.66%, non-fat dry matter 9.35%, mineral components 0.93% and density 1.037 g/cm³. It is known that the quality of cheese strongly depends on the hygienic quality of milk. Therefore, the count of microorganisms/ml of sheep's milk for the production of white brine cheese from Bjelašnica was analyzed (Table 3).

Mean value	16,000.00
St. Dev.	6,271.63
Coef. Var. (%)	39.20
Min	7,000.00
Max	27,000.00

Table 3. Count of microorganisms/ml of sheep's milk

The hygienic quality of sheep's milk for cheese production was high with an extremely low count of microorganisms/ml of milk. This is somewhat surprising considering that milking of sheep is done by hand. It is obvious that the farmers take care of hygiene during milking, and it is also certain that the mountain climatic conditions affected the good microbiological quality of the milk. The average number of CFU/ml in the milk samples was extremely low, 16,000.00 CFU/ml.

3.3 Chemical Composition and pH Value of White Brine sheep's Cheese from Bjelašnica

Sheep cheese technology is based on the use of raw sheep's milk, which is not standardized for fat content. The values of chemical composition and pH values of 7 tested cheese samples after 100 days of ripening are shown in Table 4.

The average dry matter content was 45.40%, which is typical for soft cheeses. Variations were low, which indicates the uniformity of the chemical composition of milk for cheese production and technology. The average percentage of fat content was 26.86%, and for proteins content 15.63%. Slightly larger deviations of individual values from the average related to the content of dry matter were recorded in the percentage of fat and protein. The salt content was typical for this variety of cheese (4.57%), while according to the average FDB content, it can be classified into the categories of extra-fat cheeses and full-fat cheeses. According to the proportion of MFFB, this cheese belongs to the category of soft cheeses. The pH value of all cheese samples was below 5.00, which shows that the production and ripening processes of this cheese were proceeding normally. The content of basic chemical components in mature sheep's milk Vlašić cheese varied in the following limits: dry matter 48.91–50.24%; fat 22.43–27.42%; FDB 46.09– 54.80%; proteins 20.10–21.84%; salt 3.77–5.44% and lactic acid 0.557–0.650% [7]. It can be noticed that the ratio of fat and protein is different in Bjelašnica cheese compared to Vlašić cheese.

	Dry matter (%)	Fat (%)	Proteins (%)	Salt (%)	рН	FDB ^a (%)	MFFB ^b (%)
Mean value	45.40	26.86	15.63	4.57	4.62	60.24	75.15
St. Dev.	2.25	3.04	1.09	0.30	0.16	6.02	3.03
Coef. Var. (%)	4.97	11.31	7.00	6.54	3.50	10.00	4.03
Min	42.11	23.00	14.42	4.03	4.48	53.70	69.70
Max	48.42	31.50	17.28	4.96	4.90	67.64	78.77

Table 4. Chemical composition and pH value of sheep's cheese from Bjelašnica

^a – Fat on dry basis; ^b – Moisture on fat-free basis

3.4 Sensory Evaluation of White Brined Cheese from Bjelašnica

All cheese samples were evaluated by the consumers as medium likeable, with an average rating of 2.28 (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2. Consumers sensory evaluation of cheese

In contrast to the assessment of likability, which was carried out by a group of lay evaluators, the expert panel gave the cheeses high marks, a total of 15.75 to 19.00, an average of 17.25. According to the total number of points, three cheeses were in the extra class, two in the first class, and only one was classified in the second class. This shows that these cheeses have good sensory properties, typical for this type of cheese (Table 5 and Fig. 3).

	Mean value	St. Dev.	Coef. Var. (%)	Min.	Max.
Outer appearance	1.76	0.18	10.18	1.40	2.00
Color	0.96	0.09	9.80	0.75	1.00
Consistency	1.54	0.33	21.12	1.00	1.90
Cut	2.35	0.49	20.66	1.70	2.90
Odour	1.84	0.14	7.82	1.60	2.00
Taste	8.80	0.57	6.46	8.20	9.60
Total	17.25	1.70	2.88	15.75	19.00

 Table 5. Expert sensory evaluation of cheese



Fig. 3. Grading of cheese into the quality classes according to sensory evaluation

4 Conclusions

In this paper, the research was carried out on white brine sheep's cheese produced on the Bjelašnica mountain. It can be stated that the technology of this cheese is typical for the group of white brine cheeses. It is very similar to the technology of Vlašić cheese, which is the most important representative of this group of cheeses in Bosnia and Herzegovina. Sheep's milk for cheese production had a usual chemical composition and high hygienic quality with a low count of microorganisms. The chemical composition of the cheese and the low pH value characterize this cheese as a white brine cheese. According to the FDB content, this cheese can be classified into the categories of extra-fat and full-fat cheeses. According to the proportion of MFFB, this cheese belongs to the category of soft cheeses. The cheese samples were evaluated by the consumer group as moderately appealing, but the sensory evaluation of the expert panel placed them in the categories of extra and first class. Only one cheese sample was in the second class. It can be concluded that the

white brine cheese from Bjelašnica is produced from good quality sheep's milk and it is a typical representative of white cheeses in brine in terms of chemical composition, pH value and sensory properties. It was highly sensory rated by the expert panel.

Acknowledgements. The authors have no conflict of interest to state regarding the results presented within this manuscript.

References

- 1. Fox, P.F., Guinee, T.P., Cogan, T.M., McSweeney, P.L.H.: Fundamentals of Cheese Science. Aspen Publisher Inc, Gaithersburg (2000)
- 2. IDF: Cheese and Varieties. Part II: Cheese Styles. IDF Factsheet 18/2021
- Abd Es-Salam, M.H., Alichanidis, E.: Cheese varieties ripened in brine. In: Fox, P.F., McSweeney, P.L.H., Cogan, T.M., Guinee, T.P. (eds.) Cheese: Chemistry, Physics and Microbiology. Major Cheese Groups, vol. 2. Academic Press, London (2004)
- 4. Bijeljac, S., Sarić, Z.: Autohtoni mliječni proizvodi sa osnovama sirarstva. Poljoprivrednoprehrambeni fakultet Univerziteta u Sarajevu (2005)
- Sarić Z., Dizdarević T.: Vlašić (or Travnik) cheese. In: Donnelly C. (ed.) The Oxford Companion to Cheese, p. 754. Oxford University Press. New York (2016)
- 6. Bijeljac, S.: Travnički sir. Udruga Pramenka. Mostar (2003)
- 7. Dozet, N.: Prilog poznavanju proizvodnje bijelih mekih sireva na području Bosne i Hercegovine. Disertacja, Poljoprivredni fakultet Sarajevo (1963)
- Dozet, N.: Autohtoni travnički sir i ogledi na usavršavanju njegovog kvaliteta. Mljekarstvo 19(8), 178–182 (1969)
- 9. Dozet, N.: Proizvodnja travničkog sira. Simex, Sarajevo (1970)
- Dozet, N.: Travnički-Vlašićki sir: sirevi u salamuri. Poljoprivredni fakultet, Univerzitet u Beogradu (2004)
- 11. Dozet, N., Stanišić, M.: Izučavanje standardizacije Travničkog sira u okviru problema standardizacije sireva. Mljekarstvo **20**(12), 280–283 (1970)
- 12. Dozet, N., Stanišić, M., Parijez, S., Sumenić, S.: Tendencije u proizvodnji autohtonih mlječnih proizvoda u Bosni i Hercegovini. Mljekarstvo **24**(8), 176–187 (1974)
- Dozet, N., Adžić, N., Stanišić, M., Živić, N.: Autohtoni mliječni proizvodi, Polj. Institut-Podgorica, SILMIR, Beograd (1996)
- 14. Zdanovski, N.: Travnički sir. Poseban separat. Veterinarskog vijesnika, Zagreb (1942)
- 15. Zdanovski, N.: Mljekarstvo. Poljoprivredni fakultet Sarajevo (1962)
- Zdanovski, N., Dozet, N., Stanišić, M., Jovanović, S., Džalto, Z.: Izučavanje tehnologije i mehanizacije najvažnijih domaćih sireva. Elaborat, Poljoprivredni fakultet Sarajevo (1966)
- Sarić, Z., Bijeljac, S.: Autohtoni sirevi Bosne i Hercegovine. Mljekarstvo 53(2), 135–143 (2003)
- 18. Đorđević, J.: Mleko: Hemija i fizika mleka. Naučna knjiga, Beograd (1982)
- Antunac, N., Lukač Havranek, J.: Proizvodnja, sastav i osobine ovčijeg mlijeka. Mljekarstvo 49(4), 241–254 (2002)
- 20. Kalantzopoulos, G., et al.: Characteristics of the sheep and goat milks: quality and hygienic stakes for the sheep and goat dairy sectors. IDF Standing Comitee on Microbiological hygiene, Agenda Item 4.8 (2002)
- 21. Mioč, B., Pavić, V., Sušić, V.: Ovčarstvo. Hrvatska mljekarska udruga, Zagreb (2007)
- 22. Pravilnik o kvalitetu svježeg sirovog mlijeka: Službeni glasnik BiH 21/11 (2011)

- Haenlein, G.F.W., Wendorff, W.L.: Sheep milk—production and utilization of sheep milk. In: Park, Y.W, Haenlein, G.F.W. (eds.) Handbook of Milk of Non-Bovine Mammals. Blackwell Publishing Professional, pp. 137–194. Oxford and Ames (2006)
- 24. Kurkdjian, V., Gabrielian, T.: Physical and chemical properties and composition of ewe's milk. In: Proceedings of the XVI Int. Dairy Congress, vol. AP, pp. 197–208 (1962)
- Park, Y.W., Juárez, M., Ramos, M., Haenlein, G.F.W.: Physico-chemical characteristics of goat and sheep milk. Small Rum. Res. 68, 88–113 (2007)
- Parkash, S., Jenness, R.: The composition and characteristics of goat's milk: a review. Dairy Sci. Abs. 30, 67–75 (1968)
- 27. BAS ISO 9622: Određivanje udjela mliječne masti, proteina i laktoze metodom infracrvene spektrofotometrije (2015)
- EN ISO 21187: Milk Quantitative determination of microbiological quality Guidance for establishing and verifying a conversion relationship between results of an alternative method and anchor method results (2021)
- 29. Pravilnik o metodama uzimanja uzoraka i metodama hemijskih i fizičkih analiza mlijeka i proizvoda od mlijeka: Službeni list SFRJ 32/83 (1983)
- ISO 3433: Milk Determination of fat content Van Gulik method -butyrometric method (2008)
- CODEX ALIMENTARIUS: General Standard for Cheese CXS 283-1978. Adopt. 1973; Rev 1999; Ammend. 2006, 2008, 2010, 2013, 2018, 2021 (1978)
- 32. ISO 8968: Milk Determination of Nitrogen Content Part 3: Block-digestion Method (2004)



Nanotoxicology in Food Technology

Maid Ćibo^(⊠), Adis Šator, Amina Stambolić, and Enisa Omanović-Mikličanin

Faculty of Agriculture and Food Sciences, University of Sarajevo, Zmaja od Bosne 8, 71000 Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina maid cibo@hotmail.com

Abstract. In addition to the benefits of nanotechnology, several experts and researchers have raised concerns about the potential toxicity of nano-food. The study of interactions between nanostructures and biological systems is the focus of the specialized field of toxicology known as nanotoxicology, which also emphasizes the relationship between the physicochemical characteristics of nanoparticles and their toxicological consequences. For instance, it is becoming clear that there will be toxicological consequences of persistent exposure to heavy metals, asbestos, silicate surfaces, or autoimmune responses caused by silicate surfaces (causing genotoxicity, neurodegenerative problems, and liver disease). Scientists and researchers believed that new nanomaterials might exhibit some toxicological effects similar to those previously mentioned because of how similar these elements are to nanostructures (such as carbon nanotubes with asbestos, silicon nanomaterials with silicon dust, and quantum dots containing heavy metals). An increasing concern is becoming legitimate, because of as many scientific papers have proven that nanoparticles at the nanometer level show different properties compared to particles in the macro and micro dimensions. Well, due to their size, nanoparticles can enter by ingestion, inhalation, transdermally or intravenously into cells, tissues, and other organs, which can cause adverse effects on human health, such as brain diseases, heart diseases, gastrointestinal tract disease, lungs disease, lymphatic and circulatory systems disease.

Keywords: Nanotoxicology \cdot Nano-food \cdot Toxicity of nanoparticles \cdot Effects on human health

1 Introduction

A special branch of toxicology deals with the study of the interaction of nanostructures with biological systems, emphasizing the connection between the physicochemical properties of nanoparticles and their toxicological effects. That is nanotoxicology deals with the study of the toxicity of nanomaterials. Nanostructures, like everything else in the world, have their drawbacks. Namely, the new area that has attracted everyone's interest in the last decade (nanotechnology), in addition to the great advantages it has brought in various fields, including food engineering, has also brought a question mark about the impact on human health, as well as the environment. When talking about new technologies related to the production and processing of food such as nanotechnology, it

is admitted that there is always apprehension, especially when it comes to such small particles that are at the nanometer level, especially since it is food. Well, today, very often in many media can be heard more and more about how harmful nano-food is for human health. In this work it will be explained how nanoparticles, nanocomposites, and nanosensors created are justified for use in food, that is, how and in what way they can affect human health [1, 2].

Nanostructures are much more complex than other products, such as those in micro or macro size, so because they can be deposited in air, water, and soil, but also in food, as well as in humans, their effect must be thoroughly investigated. For example, it is known that there are proven toxicological effects if people are chronically exposed to silicate surfaces (causing autoimmune reactions), asbestos (causing pleural cancer), or heavy metals (causing genotoxicity, neurodegenerative problems, and liver disease). It is the great similarity of these elements with nanostructures (such as carbon nanotubes with asbestos, silicon nanomaterials with silicon dust, and quantum dots containing heavy metals) that led many scientists and researchers to think that new nanomaterials could exhibit some toxicological effects like those previously mentioned [3, 8, 11–13].

1.1 What Does the Toxicity of Nanomaterials Depend on?

In order to know how much toxicity nanomaterials have, it is first necessary to answer the question, what are the main factors that are directly involved in their toxicity?

According to many types of research and findings, toxicity does not depend only on one factor, but on many factors that contribute to toxicity, such as: the size of nanomaterials (their small size means better communication with biological systems); the form of nanomaterials; chemical composition; charge; aggregations; self-assembly capacity; conjugation capacity (strong or weak bonds) with other components such as proteins, lipids, etc.; catalytic properties or combinations with other biological components [3, 11-13]. These factors affecting the toxicity of nanomaterials are shown in Fig. 1.

In addition to these factors, toxicity also depends on the biodegradability of nanomaterials, tissue localization, their speed of removal, and what is very important, whether the materials used are biodegradable or non-degradable [3, 8, 11, 12].

Due to all of the above, great attention is focused on the toxicology of nanoparticles and the possible diseases they cause, because, according to many studies, nanoparticles are more toxic than larger particles of identical chemical composition [3, 12].



Fig. 1. Factors affecting the toxicity of nanomaterials [3, 8, 11–13]

2 Determining the Activity of Nanomaterials in Food

Due to the fact that the size of nanomaterials is in the range of 1-100 nm, such materials show new, unique properties compared to other materials. Before determining the toxicity of nanomaterials and their impact on human health, it is necessary to determine the activity of these nanomaterials, which was previously mentioned in the text, such as chemical composition, surface structure, solubility, shape, and aggregation, which will be explained in more detail below [7, 8, 11, 16].

2.1 Factors Contributing to the Toxicity of Nanomaterials

One of the important factors for the unique properties of nanoparticles is their size. Precisely, because of the size of 1–100 nm, the surface areas are significantly larger than those in bulk. For example, lung inflammation, according to much evidence, can be caused by the size, surface area, and surface properties of nanoparticles. Nanoparticles can accumulate in the alveoli of the lungs, and then they can be transferred to distant organs such as the liver, kidneys, spleen, and brain. Research has shown that, for example, ultra-fine particles of TiO₂, compared to those fine particles of TiO₂, cause a higher percentage of lung cancer, which in this case would mean that the toxicity depends on the size of the particles. However, research was recently done and an interesting result was found that particles like soot and TiO₂ in a concentration of 20 μ g/cm² become toxic to kidney cells, but are safe in vivo. This means that, in order to provide useful data for

nanoparticle toxicity testing, an in vitro cell system should be developed. In addition to all these negative effects, there are also some advantages of nanomaterials, such as TiO_2 , which the immune system can recognize as "danger signals". To be more specific, the immune system of the human body has developed to recognize and get rid of potentially dangerous items, such as foreign invaders like viruses, bacteria, and other diseases. TiO_2 nanoparticles can set off a chain of immunological reactions when they enter the body because the body interprets them as "danger signals." During the recognition process, immune cells that are involved in phagocytosis, such as macrophages, may become activated (the process of engulfing and destroying foreign particles). This shows that TiO_2 nanoparticles can be a very important addition to the immune system. Also, there are research results that have shown that Crohn's disease would become more serious if the dose of microscale TiO_2 in the diet for patients was reduced [7, 8, 11–13, 15].

2.2 Chemical Composition

Purity, electronic properties, and crystallinity are some of the critical parameters for a nanomaterial. During the preparation of some materials such as carbon nanowires, there are usually some residues or impurities. Undoubtedly, these impurities can cause serious health problems and make it difficult to understand the true toxicity of carbon nanotubes. For example, single-walled carbon nanotubes usually contain a higher amount of iron, which can be a catalyst for oxidative stress, which would mean that carbon nanotubes containing iron are more toxic than those without iron [8, 9, 11].

2.3 Surface Structure

The surface structure of nanoparticles includes surface reactivity, inorganic or organic coatings, surface groups, etc. After modification with these compounds, the biocompatibility, dispersion, or activity of nanoparticles will be significantly improved. For example, in a comparison of nanoparticles alone and iron dioxide nanoparticles, iron dioxide nanoparticles showed no cell toxicity when coated with polyethylene glycol. And in the meantime, the surface charge of the nanoparticles changes with the changes themselves, so the activity and toxicity will also change. Auffan et al. (2009) examined the influence of the chemical stability of metal nanoparticles have no cellular toxicity, while nanoparticles that can be oxidized, reduced, and dissolved showed cytotoxicity and even genotoxicity for cellular organisms. This means that the surface structure can play a very important role in the toxicity of some specific nanomaterials [10–13].

2.4 Aggregation

Functions are determined by the structure and characteristics of materials such as proteins, which means that to know the function of a material completely, it should be known all its structures and characteristics [8, 11-15].

As is known, nanotoxicological research is carried out by in vitro and in vivo experiments, but the detailed changes of nanomaterials after their entry into cells are still not known. For example, it is not clear how aggregation affects toxicity. Nanoparticles in the dry state can be in two forms, namely aggregated (strong connections between primary particles) and agglomerated (which have weaker van der Waals forces). Thus, agglomerated nanoparticles can be separated by overcoming weaker attractive forces when dispersed in a solution. What is important to know is that toxicity cannot be determined by just one element, but by many that influence toxicity, and among them is the pH value, which in the medium plays an important role in the influence of lung toxicity with TiO₂ nanoparticles [11–14].

2.5 Solubility

It has been shown that the solubility of nanoparticles has a great influence on toxicity. Pott et al. (1998) showed the results of research that hydrophilic ultra-fine TiO₂ particles are very toxic and more lethal to rats than hydrophobic ultra-fine TiO₂ particles. Thus, research has shown that solubility has a great influence on the cytotoxicity of nanoparticles. When exposed to poorly soluble nanoparticles such as ZnO (zinc oxide) nanoparticles at concentrations above 15 ppm, all 3T3 cells (cells derived from Swiss albino mouse embryonic tissue) died. However, the cells did not die completely even at high concentrations (30 ppm) of insoluble nanoparticles. However, there are also data showing that solubility may not be a determinant of toxicity [11–15, 21, 31].

Among other things, all of the above, are only indicators that many factors influence the activity and toxicity of nanomaterials. It must be known what dose and at what point it becomes toxic, that is, it must be fully understood and evaluated the positive and negative effects of nanomaterials to fully utilize them [8].

3 Toxicology of Nanostructures in Food and Impact on Human Health

Human exposure to nanomaterials is increasing as the intensive use of nanotechnology increases. People who work with nanomaterials during production are exposed, while consumers are exposed during the use of products obtained from nanomaterials. By releasing nanomaterials into the environment (soil, water, air), it is to be expected that they can also enter the human body. What worries scientists and experts, as well as researchers, is the reactivity of nanoparticles when they are used in the food chain, as well as their size, considering that as such they can reach those parts of the body where larger particles cannot reach. Precisely in this way, nanomaterials can threaten the immune system in humans, as well as cause health problems that are not negligible at all, on the contrary [16-20].

3.1 Toxicokinetics

Regardless of the way of entry (oral, inhalation, transdermal, or intravenous), nanomaterials can cause the same toxicological effects on health, such as genotoxicity, cytotoxicity, as well as organ toxicity [16–18]. The way, that is, a potential path of entry of nanoparticles is shown in Fig. 2.



Fig. 2. Presentation of the way nanoparticles enter the human body [31]

Nano-food is food that implies the use of nanoparticles in any phase of food production, that is, in which nanomaterials are used throughout the entire food supply chain, but there is not much information about the interaction of food and nanoparticles in the human body. That is, there is not much data from studies on the mechanisms of toxicity of nanomaterials that are present in food. The use of nanoparticles, which can be intensive and extensive in food production, can result in the accumulation in food, which can lead to local and systemic health problems that can be of a more serious nature. The presence of nanoparticles in food can be intentionally used additives, i.e. food ingredients, or unintentionally, i.e. when nanoparticles unintentionally from packaging or nanosensors can pass into food, including the use of nano-agrochemicals. The toxicity and final fate of nanoparticles are based on their concentration and physicochemical characteristics, regardless of how these nanoparticles entered the food [16–25, 31–33]. There is a great concern when it comes to the presence of nanoparticles in food, so this concern can be classified into three groups, as shown in Fig. 3.

An increasing concern is also related to the toxicity of various nano-additives that are added to food and beverages in order to improve taste, smell, color, texture, and nutritional value. As mentioned previously, there are already a large number of food additives on the market, the effectiveness, and toxicity of which have not been proven. There is also an example when talking about nano-encapsulated particles that have great advantages, however, due to their absorption, distribution, metabolism, and excretion, they behave differently when they enter the body and make direct contact with numerous organs. It has also been proven that the higher absorption of nano-additives can increase health problems. Considering that the safety of additives is still questionable, much more detailed research and risk assessment must be done [16-20, 25-30]. The level of exposure to nanoparticles in food depends on two factors, which are shown in Fig. 4.



Fig. 3. Classification of concerns regarding the presence of nanoparticles in food [16–19, 24–27]



Fig. 4. Factors on which the level of exposure to nanoparticles in food depends [16-20, 25-30]

There are many more ways in which nanoparticles can enter the human body, and some of them are, for example, nano-packaging that is edible and that after metabolism can be excreted in the gastrointestinal tract, but about that, as well as nano-coatings used for some food products, which are consumed for a long time, there is no scientific evidence of their toxicity [11-13, 16-31].

In addition to this, the use of nanosensors has brought, it seems, a completely new system by which nano-food would be produced, processed, stored, distributed, or sold. However, some fragments of nanosensors, such as metals and metal oxides, which were previously mentioned are used as part of intelligent packaging, can be unintentionally transferred into food and thus affect its safety. All this, in fact, represents some undesirable changes in food, which is against the current EU laws, which state that materials that come into direct contact with food should not cause reactions that can lead to some changes in it. A big problem is that there is still no such analytical technique that could

investigate the impact of nanoparticles in food on human organs, that is, there is no such analysis that could investigate such small particles, such as those at the cellular or molecular level. Thus, for example, there is a big problem with nano-packaging, which represents the greatest potential for application in the food industry, from which nanoparticles can migrate into food and thus reach the body and cause health consequences, and for this reason, it is recommended to first test for migration, regulate and only then approve, depending on the case by case [16–30, 34].

Figure 2 shows the toxicokinetics of nanoparticles, while Fig. 5 shows a schematic representation of the human body with routes of exposure to nanoparticles, affected organs, and related diseases from epidemiological in vivo and in vitro studies. Ultimately, it can be said that the main way nanoparticles enter the human body is through the consumption of nano-food and drinks. Furthermore, after consumption, nanoparticles travel through the gastrointestinal tract. Due to various chemical reactions, such as agglomeration, aggregation, adsorption, or binding with other food ingredients, and their interaction with digestive enzymes, the properties of nanoparticles can change during the entire journey through the gastrointestinal tract. Due to possible accumulation within body tissues, but also the possibility of passing biological barriers, nanoparticles can change their composition and function. What still represents a potential risk for consumers is the consumption of products that may contain nanomaterials, mainly animal ones, for the reason that the application of nanomedicine in animal production may result in the transfer of possible residues of veterinary drugs further into food products that consumers, as previously mentioned, they consume and thus enter their body. Further, nanoparticles that enter the gastrointestinal tract can cause some diseases such as colon cancer and Crohn's disease [16-30].

From the gastrointestinal tract into the bloodstream, up to the liver, spleen, brain, reproductive system, and other organs, according to several studies, nanoparticles of silver, carbon, and titanium dioxide have been shown to be able to move. However, the mode of action, metabolism, and elimination of nanoparticles through the gastrointestinal tract is still largely unexplored, so data on the risk are also incomplete. It is precisely for this reason that there is limited data on the risk of nanomaterials that are taken in orally, that the assessment itself, as well as the recommendation of an acceptable daily intake of nanoparticles, is difficult. In environments where nanomaterials are produced, nanoparticles can be inhaled and thus enter the body [16–30].

For example, workers working in the agricultural and food sector who are directly involved in the production, handling, and use of nanomaterials are constantly exposed to them. Regardless of whether it is long-term or short-term exposure to nanomaterials, they can be absorbed into the skin via sweat ducts, hair follicles, etc. It is important to mention here that education of employers and employees about nanomaterials is required, as well as the application of safety practices, such as maintaining hygiene, and use of protective equipment (masks, glasses, gloves) in order to reduce the risk of nanoparticles and protect the health of those who handle nanomaterials, given that there is no legal framework that could protect the health of employees in the workplace. Almost the largest number of studies related to exposure to the inhalation of nanoparticles have shown that inhaled nanoparticles are associated with numerous diseases. Some of the factors that influence the retention and deposition of nanoparticles in different parts of the lungs are size,



Fig. 5. Schematic representation of the human body with routes of exposure to nanoparticles, affected organs, and associated diseases from epidemiological in vivo and in vitro studies [23]

the dose of nanoparticles, anatomy of the respiratory tract, time of exposure, but also method of inhalation. Research has shown that smaller nanoparticles compared to larger ones cause more serious lung diseases. Furthermore, nanoparticles that are inhaled can also reach other organs via blood and lymph and thus can cause health problems. It is through the respiratory flow and blood flow that nanoparticles penetrate the heart, lymph nodes, spleen, bone marrow, etc., which can lead to their potentially different functioning and various diseases. Some diseases that can be a consequence of inhalation of nanoparticles are lung diseases such as asthma, bronchitis, emphysema, lung cancer, neurodegenerative diseases (Parkin's and Alzheimer's diseases), while diseases such as heart disease, arrhythmia, arteriosclerosis, autoimmune diseases can occur if the nanomaterial enters the circulatory system. It has been proven that nanoparticles of silicon dioxide, and titanium dioxide, as well as ultra-fine particles of soot and diesel particles, have toxicological effects. But research has also proven that other nanoparticles in the body can be distributed in such a way that they cause and provoke some diseases. However, today there is a lot of research on silver nanoparticles because they are the most used of all nanomaterials, and it has been proven that these nanoparticles can reach the systemic circulation because they can pass physiological barriers and thus achieve communication with plasma proteins and other blood components or be further transmitted in other organs such as the liver, kidneys, lungs, heart, brain, etc. Some nanomaterials, according to research, can exhibit genotoxic, cytotoxic, and carcinogenic effects, for example, zinc oxide nanomaterials are cytotoxic to liver cells and can damage DNA [16, 23, 34].

It is not only zinc oxide nanomaterials that exhibit toxic effects, so fullerenes, quantum dots, and metal and metal oxide nanoparticles can cause changes in chromosome fragmentation, gene precision, as well as DNA chain breakage if they enter cells, tissues, and organelles [16]. Some of the possible risks brought by nanomaterials used in food, such as silver, titanium dioxide, zinc oxide, silicon dioxide, carbon, iron oxide, etc., are shown in Table 1.

Nanomaterial	Possible risks				
Silver	May damage human cells, toxic to cells derived from the brain, lungs, skin, liver, vascular system, and reproductive organs				
	Can cause DNA damage and chromosomal aberrations				
	It can be translocated by the bloodstream and thus cause destruction of the blood-brain barrier and degeneration of neurons				
	May alter mitochondrial function by producing reactive oxygen species				
	Enlargement of the membrane				
	Permeability and increased generation of reactive oxygen species				
Titanium dioxide	Causes tumor changes - turns benign into malignant tumor cells by creating reactive oxygen species				
	Oral consumption can lead to various diseases such as gastritis, colitis, and Crohn's disease				
	Causes thrombosis				
	Causes liver damage				
	Inhaling insoluble particles of titanium dioxide can cause pneumonia				
Zinc oxide	Causes toxicity of the digestive system				
	Causes cytotoxicity and DNA damage				
	Causes damage to liver and kidney cells				
Silicon dioxide	Effects on the gastrointestinal system				
	Causes pulmonary inflammations, granulomas, and fibrosis				
Cobalt oxide	Can cause cardiomyopathy, hearing, and vision impairment				
	Increases the risk of lung cancer				
Carbon	Entering the human body through the skin, it interferes with the lymphatic system and lymph nodes, which results in various health conditions				
	Causes pneumonia and vascular diseases				
	Causes thrombosis				
Tin dioxide	There is no study related to oral intake of tin dioxide nanoparticles				
Iron oxide	Causes cytotoxicity and DNA damage				

Table 1.	Potentially	harmful	effects of	nanomaterials	on human	health	[<mark>8</mark> ,	16-30]
----------	-------------	---------	------------	---------------	----------	--------	--------------------	--------

Finally, the removal or elimination of nanoparticles from the human body is very important. Data from the research show that the size and chemical composition of nanoparticles affects their excretion. Excretion/elimination of nanoparticles from the body can be carried out through the gastrointestinal tract or kidneys. It is also important to know that smaller nanoparticles can be excreted through the kidneys, while larger nanoparticles increase the risk of toxicity because such particles stay longer in the kidneys [16–30].

It can be concluded that the number of studies on the toxicity of nanomaterials, and their assessment, and characterization must be increased to obtain much more data and information about nanomaterials, and in addition, it is necessary to create and develop a regulatory framework. Also, the popularity that nanotechnology has experienced in the past years is becoming similar to what happened to genetic engineering, after which there was great opposition and resistance due to the risks it carries. For this reason, it is necessary to do much more research, both at the academic and industrial level, in order to know much more detail about the possibilities, but also the risks, that nanotechnology brings. Among other things, due to the aforementioned toxicological effects of nanomaterials, green nanotechnology has emerged as a new solution. The new, so-called 'Green approach' implies alternative, more environmentally friendly methods of synthesis of nanoparticles. In such methods, it is not necessary to use high pressure, energy, temperature, as well as toxic chemicals, so, for example, nanoparticles obtained by green synthesis using plants and their extracts also show antimicrobial properties. Numerous studies support this, and one such study is the green synthesis of silver nanoparticles using apple extract and its antimicrobial properties, where a great potential for inhibiting the growth of bacteria such as Escherichia coli and Salmonella spp was shown. This means that a solution always exists, and in order to find it, great attention should be paid to the study and research of nanotechnology, a technology that represents a new technological revolution and a possible major turning point in human history [32, 35-38].

4 Conclusion

In addition to all the advantages that it has brought, nanotechnology, on the other hand, has caused a lot of controversies, and different opinions of experts about the safety and toxicity of nano-food. Nanotoxicology is a science that studies the toxicology of nanomaterials.

Many studies have confirmed that some nanoparticles used in food, such as nanoparticles of silver, titanium dioxide, zinc oxide, silicon dioxide, carbon, and iron oxide, can cause serious consequences for human health. Regardless of the way of entering the human body (intravenous, transdermal, by inhalation, ingestion), they can cause serious diseases such as lung diseases, such as asthma, bronchitis, and even lung cancer, then diseases of the circulatory system (atherosclerosis, thrombosis, etc.), then heart diseases (arrhythmia), skin diseases (dermatitis, autoimmune diseases), diseases of the lymphatic system (podoconiosis, Kaposi's sarcoma), and diseases of the gastrointestinal system (Crohn's disease, bowel cancer), but also brain diseases (Parkinson's disease, Alzheimer's disease), as well as many other diseases. Therefore, it is necessary to carry out many more analyses in the field of toxicology of nanomaterials, because according to research so far, it can be said that the action, metabolism, and function of nanomaterials in food are still unknown.

References

- Kingsley, J.D., Ranjan, S., Dasgupta, N., Saha, P.: Nanotechnology for tissue engineering: need, techniques and applications. J. Pharm. Res. 7, 200–204 (2013)
- Nandita, D., Ranjan, S., Mundra, S., Ramalingam, C., Kumar, A.: Fabrication of food grade vitamin e nanoemulsion by low energy approach, characterization and its application. Int. J. Food Prop. (2015)
- Fadeel, B., Garcia-Bennett, A.E.: Better safe than sorry: understanding the toxicological properties of inorganic nanoparticles manufactured for biomedical applications. Adv. Drug Deliv. Rev. 62(3), 362–374 (2010)
- 4. Nel, A.: Air pollution-related illness: effects of particles. Science 308, 804-806 (2005)
- Oberdörster, G., Stone, V., Donaldson, K.: Toxicology of nanoparticles: a historical perspective. Nanotoxicology 1, 2–25 (2007)
- Oberdörster, G., Oberdörster, E., Oberdörster, J.: Nanotoxicology: an emerging discipline evolving from studies of ultrafine particles. Environ. Health Perspect. 113, 823–839 (2005)
- Oberdörster, G., Gelein, R., Johnston, C., Mercer, P., Corson, N., Finkelstein, J.N.: Ambient ultrafine particles: inducers of acute lung injury? In: Dungworth, D.L., et al. (eds.) Relationships Between Respiratory Disease and Exposure to Air Pollution, pp. 216–229. International Life Science Institute (ILSI) Press, Washington (1998)
- Xu, L., Liu, Y., Bai, R., Chen, C.: Applications and toxicological issues surrounding nanotechnology in the food industry. Pure Appl. Chem. 82(2), 349–372 (2010)
- 9. Murray, A.R., et al.: Oxidative stress and inflammatory response in dermal toxicity of singlewalled carbon nanotubes. Toxicology **257**(3), 161–171 (2009)
- Auffan, M., Rose, J., Wiesner, M.R., Bottero, J.-Y.: Chemical stability of metallic nanoparticles: a parameter controlling their potential cellular toxicity in vitro. Environ. Pollut. 157(4), 1127–1133 (2009)
- Sayes, C.M., et al.: Correlating nanoscale titania structure with toxicity: a cytotoxicity and inflammatory response study with human dermal fibroblasts and human lung epithelial cells. Toxicol. Sci. 92, 174–185 (2006)
- Grassian, V.H., O'Shaughnessy, P.T., Adamcakova-Dodd, A., Pettibone, J.M., Thorne, P.S.: Inhalation exposure study of titanium dioxide nanoparticles with a primary particle size of 2 to 5 nm. Environ. Health Perspect. 115, 397–402 (2007)
- Warheit, D.B., Webb, T.R., Reed, K.L., Frerichs, S., Sayes, C.M.: Pulmonary toxicity study in rats with three forms of ultrafine-TiO2 particles: differential responses related to surface properties. Toxicology 230, 90–104 (2007)
- Wick, P., et al.: The degree and kind of agglomeration affect carbon nanotube cytotoxicity. Toxicol. Lett. 168(2), 121–131 (2007)
- Pott, F., Althoff, G.H., Roller, M., Höhr, D., Friemann., J.L.: High acute toxicity of hydrophobic ultrafine titanium dioxide in an intratracheal study with several dusts in rats. In: Dungworth, D.L. et al. (eds.) Relationships Between Respiratory Disease and Exposure to Air Pollution, pp. 270–277. International Life Science Institute (ILSI) Press, Washington (1998)
- Maksimović, M., Omanović-Mikličanin, E., Badnjević, A.: Nanofood and Internet of Nano Things. Springer, Cham (2019). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-15054-9

- Hany, F., Atlam, R.J., Walters, G., Wills, B.: Internet of nano things: security issues and applications. In: Proceedings of the 2018 2nd International Conference on Cloud and Big Data Computing (ICCBDC 2018), pp. 71–77. Association for Computing Machinery, New York (2018)
- 18. Stoica, E.A., Grumezescu, A.M.: Nanotechnology Applications in Food: Flavor, Stability, Nutrition and Safety. Elsevier, Inc. (2017)
- 19. He, X., Hwang, H.-M.: Nanotechnology in food science: functionality, applicability, and safety assessment. J. Food Drug Anal. **24**(4), 671–681 (2016)
- Sajid, M., et al.: Impact of nanoparticles on human and environment: review of toxicity factors, exposures, control strategies, and future prospects. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 22(6), 4122–4143 (2014)
- Xiaoshan, Z., Jiangxin, W., Xuezhi, Z., Yung, C., Yongsheng, C.: Trophic transfer of TiO2 nanoparticles from daphnia to zebrafish in a simplified freshwater food chain. Chemosphere 79(9), 928–933 (2010)
- Cushen, M., Kerry, J., Morris, M., Cruz-Romero, M., Cummins, E.: Nanotechnologies in the food industry – recent developments, risks and regulation. Trends Food Sci. Technol. 24(1), 30–46 (2012)
- Buzea, C., Pacheco, I.I., Robbie, K.: Nanomaterials and Nanoparticles: sources and Toxicity. Biointerphases 2(4). MR17–MR71 (2008)
- Chaudhry, Q., Scotter, M., Blackburn, J., Ross, B., Boxall, A., Castle, L.: Applications and implications of nanotechnologies for the food sector. Food Addit. Contam. 2008(25), 241–258 (2008)
- Powell, M., Colin, M.: Nanotechnology and food safety: potential benefits, possible risks? CAB Rev. Perspect. Agric. Vet. Sci. Nutr. Nat. Res. 3, 123–142 (2008)
- Nel, A., Xia, T., Madler, L., Li, N.: Toxic potential of materials at the nanolevel. In: Acers (ed.) Progress in Nanotechnology: Applications, pp. 622–627. Wiley, New York (2009)
- Weiss, J., Takhistov, P., McClements, D.J.: Functional materials in food nanotechnology. J. Food Sci. 71, 107–116 (2006)
- Tiede, K., Boxall, A.B.A., Tear, S.P.: Detection and characterization of engineered nanoparticles in food and the environment. Food Addit. Contam. 25, 795–821 (2008)
- 29. Dowling, A.P.: Development of nanotechnologies. Mater. Today 7, 30-35 (2004)
- Moraru, C.I., Panchapakesan, C.P., Huang, Q., Takhistov, P., Liu, S., Kokini, J.L.: Nanotechnology: a new frontier in food science. Food Technol. 7, 24–29 (2003)
- Kalaiselvi, A., Rathna, R., Nakkeeran, E.: Toxicological Studies and Regulatory Aspects of Nanobased Foods. In: Roopan, S.M., Madhumitha, G. (eds.) Bioorganic Phase in Natural Food: An Overview, pp. 225–257. Springer, Cham (2018). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-74210-6_12
- Chau, C.F., Wu, S.H., Yen, G.C.: The development of regulations for food nanotechnology. Trends Food Sci. Technol. 18, 269–280 (2007)
- Filon, F.L., Mauro, M., Adami, G., Bovenzi, M., Crosera, M.: Nanoparticles skin absorption: new aspects for a safety profile evaluation. Regul. Toxicol. Pharmacol. 72, 310–322 (2015)
- Omanović-Mikličanin, E., Maksimović, M.: Nanosensors applications in agriculture and food industry. Bull. Chem. Technol. Bosnia and Herzegovina (47): 59–70. (2016)
- Kazlagić, A., Abud, O.A., Ćibo, M., Hamidović, S., Borovac, B., Omanović-Mikličanin, E.: Green synthesis of silver nanoparticles using apple extract and its antimicrobial properties. Health Technol. 10, 147–150 (2020)
- Parveen, K., Banse, V., Ledwani, L.: Green synthesis of nanoparticles: their advantages and disadvantages. Am. Inst. Phys. 020048, 1–7 (2016)

386 M. Ćibo et al.

- Chandran, S.P., Chaudhary, M., Pasricha, R., Ahmad, A., Sastry, M.: Synthesis of gold nanotriangles and silver nanoparticles using Aloe vera plant extract. Biotechnol. Prog. 22, 577–583 (2006)
- Ravichandran, R.: Nanotechnology Applications in Food and Food Processing: Innovative Green Approaches, Opportunities and Uncertainties for Global Market. Int. J. Green Nanotechnol.: Phys. Chem. 1(2), P72–P96 (2010)


Phytomelatonin: Recent Advances – Systematic Review

Semira Galijašević¹(⊠), Selma Burović¹, Amina Stambolić², and Enisa Omanović –Mikličanin²

¹ Sarajevo Medical School, University Sarajevo School of Science and Technology, Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina

semira.galijasevic@ssst.edu.ba

² Faculty of Agriculture and Food Sciences, University of Sarajevo, Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina

Abstract. Human hormone melatonin (N-acetyl-5-metoxy tryptamine), is a tryptophan metabolite synthesized in pineal gland. Melatonin is shown to control and a modulate circadian rhythms, seasonal reproduction, sleep regulation, retinal physiology. Besides its physiological role, the role of melatonin as a strong antioxidant that can subdue inflammatory pathways and scavenge free radicals has been proven in a numerous studies. Antioxidative ability of melatonin is based on its role as a scavenger of reactive oxygen species including hydroxyl radical, superoxide ion, peroxy radicals, singlet oxygen, nitric oxide, peroxynitrate and its metabolites. Antioxidative mechanism can proceed through several mechanistic pathways including hydrogen atom transfer, electron transfer and formation of radical adducts. Only much later melatonin has been detected in a different plant species. High concentrations of melatonin have been found in a different medicinal plant. Amounts of melatonin in these plant tissues amounted to several micrograms per gram of tissue (amounts more than those found in blood).

Daytime melatonin concentrations are related to light intensity to which the plants are exposed. Meanwhile, it has been shown in various plants that contain large amounts of melatonin to respond to intense light, especially UV, by increasing of methoxyl indole. This suggests a photoprotective role, which it already is presumably because of the numerous photoreactions to which melatonin is subject and ability melatonin to neutralize singlet oxygen and free radicals caused by UV rays. Recent research shows that melatonin concentrations differ not only between plants species but also among varieties of the same species, and to a considerable extent about the degree of growth, location, specific plant organ, as well as the time and season of harvest. At the current level of understanding, the presence of melatonin in plants is, in most cases, accepted although there are still many unanswered questions. Thus, we performed systematic review of a literature according to PRISMA protocol to analyze the origin, content in various plant species, detection and therapeutic potentials of phytomelatonin.

Keywords: Melatonin · antioxidant · plants · phytomelatonin · plant hormone

1 Introduction

Melatonin (N-acetyl-5-methoxytryptamine). Indoleamine is ubiquitous neurohormone synthesized from the amino acid tryptophan and secreted by the pineal gland in the brain [1-3]. It is involved in a numerous aspect of biological and physiological regulation including circadian entrainment, blood pressure regulation, oncogenesis, retinal physiology, seasonal reproduction, ovarian physiology, immunity and inflammation inhibition [4-8] (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. N-acetyl-5-methoxytryptamine

Its synthesis and release are stimulated by darkness and suppressed by light so the melatonin is known as a hormone of darkness [9-11]. On average, the pineal gland produces between 0.1 and 0.9 μ g of melatonin per day, but melatonin synthesis and circulating melatonin are elevated at night. In addition, it has a significant role in promoting immunomodulatory and cell protection properties in animals and humans. The property of melatonin to actively react with free radicals distinguishes melatonin from classical hormones [12]. As part of its antioxidant activities, it binds reactive oxygen species more efficiently than vitamin E and glutathione, regulates the activity of antioxidant enzymes such as peroxidases, glutathione reductases, superoxide dismutases and catalases [13]. Melatonin has been proposed to scavenge reactive oxygen and nitrogen species (ROS and RNS respecitively) in mitochondria, leading to improved mitochondrial respiration and increased adenosine triphosphate (ATP) synthesis during stress, which in turn may prevent the apoptotic cascade [14]. Melatonin can then be seen as an intermediate regulator of programmed cell death. At the genomic level, melatonin regulates gene expression by acting on antioxidant activity of enzymes and cellular mRNA levels of enzymes under conditions of basal and elevated stress [15]. Research studies on melatonin and its role in human physiology are numerous. In correlation with its beneficial effects, supplements and melatonin-based drugs are currently in use for a treatment of sleep disorders and jet-lag. After detection of melatonin in humans and animals, researchers discovered melatonin in algae and confirmed a circadian rhythm that persists even when organisms are kept in constant darkness [16]. That discovery posed a question about melatonin existence and physiological role in plants. Initial research that attempted to measured concentrations of melatonin in plant encountered a difficulty to extract and measure exact concentrations of melatonin. Only in 1997, melatonin concentrations in some medicinal plants were measured and reported [17]. Melatonin was discovered in organisms such as bacteria, mono- and multicellular algae, invertebrates, vertebrates, but lastly in some

plants [18–20]. In plants, chloroplast and mitochondria are organs where melatonin is produced. Several metabolic pathways of melatonin synthesis were discovered; classic pathway of melatonin synthesis via tryptophan is presented in Fig. 2. and is considered the main pathway in normal growth condition [21].



Fig. 2. Classical pathway of synthesis of melatonin in a plants (other pathway includes shikimic acid via tryptophan), (TDC,tryptophan decarboxylase T5H, tryptamine 5-hydroxylase; SNATs, several different serotonin N-acetyltransferases; ASMTs, several different N-acetylserotonin-O-methyltransferases, COMT, caffeic acid O-methyltransferase)

Various extraction and detection methods have been used and melatonin has been independently reported to be present in many plants and plant products. Plants/plant products investigated were tobacco, rice, maize, wheat, sour cherries and banana, coffee beans among others [22]. High concentrations of melatonin have been found in the medicinal plants of chrysanthemum, *Tanacetum parthenium*, and St. John's wort, *Hypericum perforatum* [17]. The amounts of melatonin in these plant tissues were several micrograms per gram of tissue (amounts much higher than those found in blood). Meanwhile, various plants containing high amounts of melatonin have been shown to respond to intense light, especially UV, by increasing methoxyl indole [22]. As shown in subsequent research, melatonin concentrations differ not only among plant species but also among varieties of the same species, and depend on the degree of growth, location, specific plant organ, exposure to the environmental stress as well as the time and season of harvest [17, 23].

The measured level of melatonin in a different plant so far varied from 2–5000 μ g/g of dry matter [24]. Interestingly, levels of melatonin measured in vertebrate blood and tissue are usually in pg/ml and pg/g protein. Exact concentration of melatonin either in the blood or in a different plant tissues is difficult to estimate. It highly depends on a metabolic process, diet, total antioxidant status and day/night cycle in humans as well as a total pathophysiological profile. In plants, levels are affected by genotype, stage of development, plant tissue, and significantly by environmental factors such as salinity, cold, heat stress, ultraviolent radiation, heavy metals and chemical stress [25].

In addition, a number of extraction methods and measurement of concentrations have been used in a research studies without exact validation in terms of sensitivity due to the absence of standard values and specificity and metabolic stability of melatonin molecule. Effect of consummation of edible plants on blood levels of melatonin have been measured, but again this data is relative considering above mentioned factor and fast catabolism of melatonin in humans. So far, research shows that melatonin in plants influence seed germination, crop growth, fruit ripening, postharvest preservation. It has a role as a stress mediator, growth regulator, and antimicrobial agent [26]. As an antioxidant, melatonin is directly involved in a redox network that controls a biochemical, cellular and physiological processes. More research is needed to detect and define biosynthesis, catabolism, transport, receptor(s), and physiologi-cal effects of phytomelatonin that is considered endogenous melatonin. This system-atic review will collect and analyze a published researched about endogenous mela-tonin in a plants and analyses method of quantification of melatonin and deter-mined concentrations.

2 Methodology

This systematic review was conducted in accordance with the established guidelines from the Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses (PRISMA) Statement [27], to the best of our ability.

2.1 Procedure and Search Strategy

All scientific papers were found by searching the PubMed database. Literature search was performed during month of October, 2022. All studies in this review were exclusively found through a thorough search strategy on PubMed. Publication time limitations were not set. Scientific articles and reviews (except those fulfilling the exclusion criteria) published on PubMed, which included studies about melatonin detection in plants were included in the systemic review. Scientific literature, which were scientific articles on melatonin without specific definition of melatonin as a phytomelatonin, articles on experimental modification in Arabidosa thaliana as a research model plant, studies on genetic modifications in a different plant in regards to melatonin levels, studies focusing on melatonin use as a supplement, and all studies about the role of melatonin in humans and animals were excluded. Systematic reviews describing mainly physiology of melatonin in a plants were excluded too. Studies that were eligible for inclusion if the following applied: the study in question examine determine concentrations of melatonin in a different plant with published detection method. Studies that analyzed plant mixture or did not have the method precisely defined were excluded. Only studies that are in the English language were considered. Pre-prints or other types of studies that are not peerreviewed were also excluded from this review. Initially, literature search was performed in a period from 2012. to 2022. However, results did not return a complete data on a basic of search terms except several reviews. Thus, search was expanded without time limitation. Initial search strategy was initiated with the following search term: melatonin and plants without time limitation with the search words only in title/abstract. Return search result showed 796 articles. After manual screening of a selected publications, it was apparent that search terms were mentioned in a number of abstracts that did not directly correlate to a topic defined in inclusion criteria. Surprisingly, many of the publications mentioned melatonin the plants but the research deviated the significantly from the keywords. Several different search were attempt to select a research papers focusing on phytomelatonin concentration with a described method of quantification but in a last ten years. New modified search was performed with the following search term: melatonin and plants and quantification.

2.2 Selection Process

Following the search query and after addition of search word quantification, each search result (n = 19) was manually screened by one individual without any automation tools. For the first screening process, the title of each result was exclusively considered. If the title was apparently irrelevant to the objectives of this review, it was disregarded and did not proceed to the second screening step. Following title screening, the number of potential studies decreased (n = 15). Most results were filtered in the first two screening steps by going through the title and abstract, respectively. At last, a few (n = 6) articles were excluded after a full-text analysis. Finally, eleven full text articles are excepted for the analysis in this review. After full article screening, manual search was performed again since based on our previous knowledge, selected articles by a keyword did not represent appropriate data. Articles are searched by title and abstract with data correctly represented in an abstract. Number of studies, in fact mentioned key words of our search, but full text article was related to the wide topics on melatonin.

2.3 Data Collection Process

All data was retrieved by the author(s) independently and manually. For each selected study, we obtained the full text publications and extracted the following data into a spreadsheet: author, year of publication, research design, key ideas of research, table with plant names, melatonin concentrations and detection method.

2.4 Study Risk of Bias Assessment

Each study was thoroughly read at least once by two reviewers, without any automation tools used in the process. In order to Human error would therefore be a potential factor; however, several steps and methods were practiced in order to minimize errors when extracting data. These include double-checking the data and using formulas to notice considerable deviations of data that could imply a faulty datapoint. One reviewer assessed all studies and extracted the data with supervision. Each study may have had its respective biases, which were noted and up for discussion.

3 Discussion

After intensive research of melatonin in humans and animals, and conformation of melatonin as a strong antioxidant, a number of studies focused on detection, quantification and biosynthesis of melatonin in a plants [28]. In addition, the role of melatonin in mediating abiotic and biotic stress is intensively researched in last decades [29]. The difficulty of detection of melatonin in plants can be explained by a number of factors that are affecting the determination of an exact concentration. Melatonin levels depend on genetic traits of the plant, the photoperiod, plant growth stage, and abiotic stressors such as temperature, drought, ultraviolet light exposure, and agrochemicals. Resent research discovered ability of plants melatonin to interact with heavy metals that plants have been exposed to and control transport of the metal ions across organs in the plant [25].

Concentration of melatonin in a tested plant species range from 0.001 ng/g DW to 5800 ng/DW. Some of the traditional herbal medicine such as Chinese licorice showed significantly high values as 34000 ng/g [28].

Roots, shoots, leaves, seeds, flowers and fruits, have been used for the detection of melatonin but the highest concentrations were detected in reproductive organs, particularly in seeds. Manchester et al. [18] evaluated melatonin concentrations in the seeds of 15 different plants and all had high indole levels. Their values varied from 2–200 μ g/g dry matter with the highest concentrations in white and black mustard seeds Interestingly that the highest level of melatonin measured in all plant organs so far was in pistachios (Pistacia vera), where reported values ranged from several mg/ml methanol extract [30].

Proposed explanation for such high values of melatonin was necessity of the plant to overcome harsh growing conditions. Number of other studies confirmed that various plants with high melatonin concentration have an increased capacity of stress tolerance. In order to analyze a literature, it is important to distinguish between exogenous melatonin (one that was used to treat different plant organs, or soil and endogenous one that is produced by a plant itself).

Determination of a melatonin concentrations in a samples us affected by a type of the sample and actual concentration that can be as low as low ng values. Any loss during sample preparation and purification will return a high error. Type of plant and organ, grow conditions, soil composition, water availability, heavy metal presence all are significantly changing melatonin concentration. When starting from raw material necessary steps for the melatonin determination involve extraction from raw material, purification of obtained extract and quantification with a selected method. In Table 1 are presented standard methods utilized for the extraction of melatonin.

Table 1. Standard methods utilized for the extraction of melatonin [31]

Solvents: Methanol 10–50%, acetone 89%; 1 M tris-HCl, 0,4 M perchloric acid, 0,1 M EDTA, 0,05% $Na_2S_2O_5$, 10 M ascorbic acid; 50 mM phosphate buffer, pH 7,4, chloroform;
Freezing or drying: fresh frozen, dry
Grinding: M or LM
Mixing: 3 min to 15 h
Light exposure: dark or dim light
Drying: vacuum, N ₂ gas, speed vac. Evaporation
Length of extraction methods: from 14 min to 50 min

Selection of extraction procedures vary significantly even when instrumental methods was the same such as LC-MS [31]. Compared two different sample extraction procedures: a direct-sample extraction (DSE) and a homogenized- sample extraction (HSE) [32]. DSE showed higher recovery rates are obtained both in standard solutions and in plant samples. Extraction methods based on acetone or perchloric acids were tested in a study that attempted to compare quantification methods of melatonin in phototrophic organisms. Results showed no substantial difference in melatonin quantification when compared two extraction methods. In the next step of a sample preparation purification techniques that were used included liquid-liquid extraction, micro extraction by a packed sorbent, solid phase extraction and HPLC purification. These methods were not compared for the same sample and the same method of detection.

In a Table 2. Are presented instrumental methods for the melatonin quantification published in a literature [32].

Method	Detector
LC-UV, Liquid Chromatography with UV detector	UV
LC-ECD-UV, Liquid Chromatography with electrochemical detector and with UV detector	Electrochemical detector with UV detector
LC-FLD, Liquid Chromatography with fluorescence detector	Fluorescence detector
LC-MS, Liquid Chromatography-mass spectrometry	Mass spectrometry
LC-ECD, Electrochemical (EC) detection (ECD) coupled with Liquid Chromatography	Electrochemical (EC) detection (ECD)
ELISA	
HPLC-MS, High performance liquid chromatography mass spectrometry	Mass spectrometry
HPLC-ECD, Electrochemical (EC) detection (ECD) coupled with HPLC	Electrochemical (EC) detection (ECD)
LC-MS-MS, Liquid Chromatography-mass spectrometry-mass spectrometry	Mass spectrometry
RADIOIMMUNOASSAY	
HPLC-FD-ELISA, High performance liquid chromatography with fluorescence detecor-ELISA	Fluorescence detector
TOF-LC-MS, Time of Flight (TOF) Liquid Chromatography-Mass spectrometry	Mass spectrometry
RIA & GC-MS, Radioimmunoassay, Gas chromatography-Mass spectrometry	Mass spectrometry
Ultra-performance liquid chromatography (UPLC)	Mass spectrometry

 Table 2. Instrumental methods for the melatonin quantification [32]

In one of the analyzed article [33] authors reviewed LC and LC-MS as the methods of choice for melatonin detection in a complex matrix. They concluded that LC-MS method was highly selective and sensitive when determining concentration of melatonin, especially because concentration of serotonin can be determined at the same time. Authors reviewed published articles about methods used for the determination of melatonin in period from 1992 to 2008.

Accurate determination of melatonin has been attempted using different instrumental techniques. Methods such as enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) and radioimmunoassay (RAI) have been used early on but due to the cross-reactivity of antibodies reduced specificity and accuracy was observed. Concentrations of melatonin determined by these methods is still used in literature and reviews, and should be only considered when other data is not available. High performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) was most common and frequent technique used for analysis of melatonin. MS detector improved accuracy and sensitivity compared to other defectors used such as fluorescence detector, electrochemical detector and UV detector.

HPLC with electrochemical detector is more sensitive compared to the fluorescence detector. However even with electrochemical detector, sensitivity of the method is not high. Plants are containing a number of well-known compounds with an oxidative ability such as alkaloid, carotenoid, coumarin, flavonoid, phenolic, and terpenoid group, sero-tonin that is precursor of melatonin, and enzymes such as superoxide dismutase, catalase, ascorbate peroxidase and glutathione reductase. In these cases, extraction of melatonin and purification methods are crucial for the validity of data. Liquid chromatographymass spectrometry (LC-MC) is one of the better methods, with a high specificity for melatonin. But, at the same time, due to the matrix effect, LC-MC method is not highly specific.

Ultra-performance liquid chromatography (UPLC) coupled with MS detection was recently used for the determination of melatonin in shoot and root of the rice. The limit of detection was 0.03 pg. Method was highly specific and samples were pretreated in one step liquid-liquid extraction [28].

Table 3 lists examples of edible plants, melatonin concentrations in ng/g of dry weight or fresh weight, used method for detection and reference of original publication [34]. The highest concentration was found in a different type of coffee beans of 6800 ng/g. Interestingly, when these high concentrations were first discovered, it was taught that melatonin is product of a chemical reaction that was part of a production process. Subsequent research showed that determined concentration was actual concentration in melatonin and varied between the different coffee species. Methods used for the concentration determination was mostly HPLC with either MS or ECD detectors. Interestingly, Caniato *et al.*, found high melatonin levels in alpine plants that was explained as resistance to abiotic stress these plants are exposed to [33].

In Table 4, presented are the selected concentration of melatonin from the screened literature. Selected plants are showing either the highest or lowest values of melatonin concentration. Interestingly, the lowest values are obtained either by radioimmunoassay or ELISA method that were recently described as a method with a low sensitivity. However, Carsten et al. [34] found out that methods with HPLC purification and quantification by ELISA and HPLC-PD were highly sensitive for melatonin determinations.

Compared to other methods, determination of a concentration of melatonin in coffee beans by LC-MS/MS show highly accurate results compared to other research studies for the same plant but with a different method.

Common name	Latin name	Melatonin [ng/g DW](or FW*)	Method	Ref	
Coffee robusta	Coffea canephora Pierr	5800 HPLC-MS		[35]	
Coffee arabica	Coffea arabina (L.)	6800	HPLC-MS	[35]	
Black pepper	Piper nigrum (L.)	1093	HPLC-MS	[36]	
Wolf berry (goji)	Lycium barbarum (L.)	530	HPLC-MS	[37]	
White radish	Raphanus sativus (L.)	485	HPLC-MS	[37]	
White mustard	Sinapis alba (L.)	189	HPLC-ECD	[18]	
Black mustards	Brassica nigra (L.)	129	HPLC-ECD	[18]	
Curcuma	Curcuma aeruginosa Roxb	120	HPLC-MS	[37]	
Wolf berry	Lycium barbarum	103	HPLC-ECD	[18]	
Burmese grepe	Baccaurea ramiflora Lour	43,2	HPLC-MS	[36]	
Fenugreek	Trigonella foenum-graecum (L.)	43	HPLC-MS	[18]	
Almond	Prunus amygdalus (Batsch)	39	HPLC-MS	[18]	
Sunflower	Helianthus annus (L.)	29	HPLC-MS	[18]	
Fennel	Foeniculum vulgare (Gilib.)	28	HPLC-MS	[18]	
Agati	Sesbania glandiflora (L.) Desv	26,3	HPLC-MS	[36]	
Bitter melon	Momordica charantia (L.)	21,4	HPLC-MS	[36]	
Alfalfa	Medicago sativum (L.)	16	HPLC-MS	[18]	
Green cardamom	Elettaria cardamomum (White et Maton)	15	HPLC-MS	[18]	
Flax	Linum usitatissimum (L.)	12	HPLC-MS	[18]	
Linseed (flax)	Linum usitatissimum (L.)	12	HPLC-MS	[18]	
Java bean	Senna tora (L.) Roxb	10,5	HPLC-MS	[36]	
Sesban	Sesbania sesban (L.) Merr	8,7 HPLC-MS		[36]	
Anise	Pimpinela anisum (L.)	7	HPLC-MS	[18]	
Celery	Apium graveolens (L.)	7	HPLC-MS	[18]	
Coriander	Coriandrum sativum (L.)	7	HPLC-MS	[18]	
Рорру	Papaver somniferum (L.)	6	HPLC-MS	[18]	
Walnut	Juglans regia (L.)	3,5	Radioimmunoassay	[38]	
Milk thistle	Silybum marianum (L.)	2	HPLC-MS	[18]	

Table 3. Concentrations of melatonin in different plants

(continued)

Common name	Latin name	Melatonin [ng/g DW](or FW*)	Method	Ref
Sweet cherries	Prunus avium (L.)	120*	HPLC-MS	[39]
Tart cherries	Prunus cerasus (L.)	19,5*	HPLC-MS	[40]
Grapevine	Vitis vinifera (L.)	18*	HPLC-ECD	[41]
Cherry	Prunus cerasus (L.)	18*	HPLC-ECD	[40]
Corn	Zea mays (L)	14–53*	HPLC-MS	[42]
Cucumber	Cucumis sativus (L)	11-80*	HPLC-MS	[42]
Strawberry	Fragaria x ananassa (Duch.)	11,3*	LC-MS-MS	[43]
Pomegranate	Punica granatum (L.)	5,5*	HPLC-ECD	[44]
Tall fescue	Festuca arundinmacea	5,3*	HPLC-ECD	[45]

 Table 3. (continued)

*corresponds to FW. DW, dry weight; FW, fresh weight

Common name	Scientific name	Melatonin (ng/g)	Method	Ref
Festival strawbery	Fragaria ananassa	11,26	HPLC-MS	[46]
Montmorency tart cherry	Prunus cerasus L	13,36	HPLC-EC	[40]
		12,3	HPLC-MS	[47]
Gordal tomato	Lycopersicon esculentum Mill	17,1	HPLC-MS	[46]
Sunflower seed	Helianthus annus	29	HPLC-ECD	[18]
Almond seed	Prunus amygdalus	39	HPLC-ECD	[18]
Green cardamom seed	Elettaria cardamomum	15	HPLC-ECD	[18]
Flax seed	Linum usitatissimum	12	HPLC-ECD	[18]
Alfalfa seed	Medicago sativum	16	HPLC-ECD	[18]
Fenugreek seed	Trigonella foenum-graecum	43	HPLC-ECD	[18]
Black mustard seed	Brassica nigra	129	HPLC-ECD	[18]
White mustard seed	Brassica hirta	189	HPLC-ECD	[18]
Extra virgin olive oil	-	71–119 pg/ml	ELISA	[48]
Coffee	-	5800	LC-MS/MS	[49]
Beetroot		0,002	RIA and GC-MS	[50]
Kiwifruit	Actinidia chinesis	0,02	Radioimmunoassay	[45]
Welsh onion	Asparagus officinalis L	0,01	Radioimmunoassay	[45]
Banana	Musa sapientum L	0,01	HPLC-FD & ELISA	[51]

Table 4. Concentration of melatonin in different plants

(continued)

Common name	Scientific name	Melatonin (ng/g)	Method	Ref
Strawberry	Fragaria magna	0,01	Radioimmunoassay	[45]
Cabernet franc grape (Skin)	Vitis vinifera L	0,01	HPLC-FD & ELISA	[52]
Van cherry	Prunus avium L	0,01	HPLC-MS	[53]

 Table 4. (continued)

4 Conclusion

After the screening of available publications that studied melatonin concentration in plants with different instrumental methods, we analyzed a number of studies and available data. Determining melatonin concentration is a difficult task, and comparison of a results in a same plant but in a different study cannot give completely valid results. Concentration and accumulation of a melatonin in a plant heavily depends on environmental factors, and biochemistry of melatonin in the plant under those conditions.

Melatonin is a strong antioxidant and any heavy stress and production of a free radicals in a plant exposed to abiotic stress will increase its concentration for a limited period of time. Future studies should measure melatonin concentration in correlation to environmental factors and soil composition compared to a sample kept under control condition.

References

- 1. Vollrath, L.: The Pineal Organ. 1st edn. Springer, Heidelberg (1981)
- Collin, J-P.: Differentiation and regression of the cells of the sensory line in the Epiphysis cerebri. In: Wolstenholme, G.E.W., Knight, J. (ed.) The Pineal Gland. Churchill Livingstone, Edinburgh. pp. 79–125 (1972)
- Gastel, A., Roseboom, H., Rinaldi, A., et al.: Melatonin production: proteasomal proteolysis in serotonin N-acetyltransferase regulation. Science 279, 1358–1360 (1998)
- Altun, A., Ugur-Altun, B.: Melatonin: therapeutic and clinical utilization. Int. J. Clin. Pract.Clin. Pract. 61(5), 835–845 (2007)
- Claustrat, B., Brun, J., Chazot, G.: The basic physiology and pathophysiology of melatonin. Sleep Med. Rev. 9(1), 11–24 (2005)
- Jonas, M., Garfinkel, D., Zisapel, N., Laudon, M., Grossman, E.: Impaired nocturnal melatonin secretion in non-dipper hypertensive patients. Blood Press. 12(1), 19–24 (2003)
- Zeman, M., Dulkova, K., Bada, V., Herichova, I.: Plasma melatonin concentrations in hypertensive patients with the dipping and non-dipping blood pressure profile. Life Sci. 76, 1795–1803 (2005)
- Galijasevic, S., Abdulhamid, I., Abu-Soud, M.: Melatonin is a potent inhibitor for myeloperoxidase. Biochemistry 47(8), 2668–2677 (2008)
- 9. Brzezinski, A.: Melatonin in humans. N. Engl. J. Med. 336(3), 186-195 (1997)
- Fung, K.: Transducin: structure, function, and role in phototransduction. In: Osborne, N.N., Chader, G.J. (eds.) Progress in Retinal Research, vol. 6, pp. 151–177. Pergamon Press, Oxford (1987)

- Pangerl, B., Pangerl, A., Reiter, J.: Circadian variations of adrenergic receptors in the mammalian pineal gland: a review. J. Neural Transm. Gen. Sect. Transm. Gen. Sect. 81, 17–29 (1990)
- Tan, D.X., et al.: Mechanistic and comparative studies of melatonin and classic antioxidants in terms of their interactions with the ABTS cation radical. J. Pineal Res. 34(4), 249–259 (2003)
- Reiter, R.J., Tan, D.X., Terron, M.P., Flores, L.J., Czarnocki, Z.: Melatonin and its metabolites: new findings regarding their production and their radical scavenging actions. Acta Biochim. Pol. Biochim. Pol. 54(1), 1–9 (2007)
- León, J., Acuña-Castroviejo, D., Escames, G., Tan, D.X., Reiter, R.J.: Melatonin mitigates mitochondrial malfunction. J. Pineal Res. 38(1), 1–9 (2005)
- 15. Tomás-Zapico, C., Coto-Montes, A.: A proposed mechanism to explain the stimulatory effect of melatonin on antioxidative enzymes. J. Pineal Res. **39**(2), 99–104 (2005)
- Pöggeler, B., Balzer, I., Hardeland, R., et al.: Pineal hormone melatonin oscillates also in the dinoflagellate Gonyaulax polyedra. Naturwissenschaften 78, 268–269 (1991)
- Murch, S.J., Simmons, C.B., Saxena, P.K.: Melatonin in feverfew and other medicinal plants. Lancet (London, England) 350(9091), 1598–1599 (1997)
- Manchester, L.C., Tan, D.X., Reiter, R.J., Park, W., Monis, K., Qi, W.: High levels of melatonin in the seeds of edible plants: possible function in germ tissue protection. Life Sci. 67(25), 3023–3029 (2000)
- Gomez, F.J., Raba, J., Cerutti, S., Silva, M.F.: Monitoring melatonin and its isomer in Vitis vinifera cv. Malbec by UHPLC-MS/MS from grape to bottle. J. Pineal Res. 52(3), 349–355 (2012)
- 20. Tan, D.X., et al.: Functional roles of melatonin in plants, and perspectives in nutritional and agricultural science. J. Exp. Bot. **63**(2), 577–597 (2012)
- Tan, D.X., Hardeland, R., Back, K., Manchester, L.C., Alatorre-Jimenez, M.A., Reiter, R.J.: On the significance of an alternate pathway of melatonin synthesis via 5-methoxytryptamine: comparisons across species. J. Pineal Res. 61(1), 27–40 (2016)
- Afreen, F., Zobayed, S.M., Kozai, T.: Melatonin in Glycyrrhiza uralensis: response of plant roots to spectral quality of light and UV-B radiation. J. Pineal Res. 41(2), 108–115 (2006)
- Stege, P.W., Sombra, L.L., Messina, G., Martinez, L.D., Silva, M.F.: Determination of melatonin in wine and plant extracts by capillary electrochromatography with immobilized carboxylic multi-walled carbon nanotubes as stationary phase. Electrophoresis 31(13), 2242–2248 (2010)
- Mannino, G., Pernici, C., Serio, G., Gentile, C., Bertea, C.M.: Melatonin and phytomelatonin: chemistry, biosynthesis, metabolism, distribution and bioactivity in plants and animals-an overview. Int. J. Mol. Sci. 22(18), 9996 (2021)
- 25. Hodžić, E., et al.: The protective role of melatonin under heavy metal-induced stress in Melissa Officinalis L. Turk. J. Chem. **45**(3), 737–748 (2021)
- Hodžić, E., Balaban, M., Šuškalo, N., Galijašević, S., Hasanagić, D., Kukavica, B.: Antioxidative response of Melissa officinalis L. and Valeriana officinalis L. leaves exposed to exogenous melatonin and excessive zinc and cadmium levels. J. Serb. Chem. Soc. 84(1), 11–25 (2019)
- 27. Page, M.J., et al.: The PRISMA 2020 statement: an updated guideline for reporting systematic reviews. BMJ (Clinical Research Ed.) **372**, n71 (2021)
- Cheng, G., et al.: Plant-derived melatonin from food: a gift of nature. Food Funct. Funct. 12(7), 2829–2849 (2021)
- Kanwar, M.K., Yu, J., Zhou, J.: Phytomelatonin: recent advances and future prospects. J. Pineal Res. 65(4), e12526 (2018)
- Oladi, E., Mohamadi, M., Shamspur, T., Mostafavi, A.: Spectrofluorimetric determination of melatonin in kernels of four different Pistacia varieties after ultrasound-assisted solid-liquid extraction. Spectrochim. Acta A Mol. Biomol. Spectrosc. 132, 326–329 (2014)

- Arnao, M.B., Hernández-Ruiz, J.: Assessment of different sample processing procedures applied to the determination of melatonin in plants. Phytochem. Anal. PCA 20(1), 14–18 (2009)
- 32. Huang, X., Mazza, G.: Application of LC and LC-MS to the analysis of melatonin and serotonin in edible plants. Crit. Rev. Food Sci. Nutr.Nutr. **51**(4), 269–284 (2011)
- Caniato, R., Filippini, R., Piovan, A., Puricelli, L., Borsarini, A., Cappelletti, E.M.: Melatonin in plants. Adv. Exp. Med. Biol. 527, 593–597 (2003)
- Pape, C., Lüning, K.: Quantification of melatonin in phototrophic organisms. J. Pineal Res. 41(2), 157–165 (2006)
- 35. Ramakrishna, A., Giridhar, P., Sankar, K.U., Ravishankar, G.A.: Melatonin and serotonin profiles in beans of Cofea species. J. Pineal Res. **52**, 470–476 (2012)
- Padumanonda, T., Johns, J., Sangkasat, A., Tiyaworanant, S.: Determination of melatonin content in traditional Thai herbal remedies used as sleeping aids. Daru J. Pharm. Sci. 22, 6 (2014)
- Chen, G., Huo, Y., Tan, D.-X., Liang, Z., Zhang, W., Zhang, Y.: Melatonin in Chinese medicinal herbs. Life Sci. 73, 19–26 (2003)
- Reiter, R.J., Manchester, L.C., Tan, D.-X.: Melatonin in walnuts: Influence on levels of melatonin and total antioxidant capacity of blood. Nutrition 21, 920–924 (2005)
- Zhao, Y., et al.: Melatonin and its potential biological functions in the fruits of sweet cherry. J. Pineal Res. 55, 79–88 (2013)
- Burkhardt, S., Tan, D.-X., Manchester, L.C., Hardeland, R., Reiter, R.J.: Detection and quantification of the antioxidant melatonin in Montmorency and Balaton tart cherries (Prunus cerasus). J. Agric. Food Chem. 49(10), 4898–4902 (2001)
- Vitalini, S., et al.: The presence of melatonin in grapevine (Vitis vinifera L.) berry tissues. J. Pineal Res. 51(3), 331–337 (2011)
- Kołodziejczyk, I., Bałabusta, M., Szewczyk, R., Posmyk, M.M.: The levels of melatonin and its metabolites in conditioned corn (Zea mays L.) and cucumber (Cucumis sativus L.) seeds during storage. Acta Physiol. Plant. 37, 105 (2015)
- Stürtz, M., Cerezo, A.B., Cantos-Villar, E., Garcia-Parrilla, M.: Determination of the melatonin content of different varieties of tomatoes (Lycopersicon esculentum) and strawberries (Fragaria ananassa). Food Chem. 127, 1329–1334 (2011)
- 44. Mena, P., Gil-Izquierdo, Á., Moreno, D.A., Martí, N., García-Viguera, C.: Assessment of the melatonin production in pomegranate wines. LWT-Food Sci. Technol. **47**, 13–18 (2012)
- Hattori, A., et al.: Identification of melatonin in plants and its effects on plasma melatonin levels and binding to melatonin receptors in vertebrates. Biochem. Mol. Biol. Int.. Mol. Biol. Int. 35(3), 627–634 (1995)
- Padumanonda, T., Johns, J., Sangkasat, A., Tiyaworanant, S.: Determination of melatonin content in traditional Thai herbal remedies used as sleeping aids. Daru: J. Fac. Pharm. Tehran Univ. Med. Sci. 22(1), 6 (2014)
- 47. Wang, L., et al.: Changes in melatonin levels in transgenic 'Micro-Tom' tomato overexpressing ovine AANAT and ovine HIOMT genes. J. Pineal Res. **56**(2), 134–142 (2014)
- 48. Puerta, C., et al.: Melatonin is a phytochemical in olive oil. Food Chem. 104, 609-612 (2007)
- Byeon, Y., Tan, D.X., Reiter, R.J., Back, K.: Predominance of 2-hydroxymelatonin over melatonin in plants. J. Pineal Res. 59(4), 448–454 (2015)
- Dubbels, R., et al.: Melatonin in edible plants identified by radioimmunoassay and by high performance liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry. J. Pineal Res. 18(1), 28–31 (1995)
- Johns, N.P., Johns, J., Porasuphatana, S., Plaimee, P., Sae-Teaw, M.: Dietary intake of melatonin from tropical fruit altered urinary excretion of 6-sulfatoxymelatonin in healthy volunteers. J. Agric. Food Chem. 61(4), 913–919 (2013)

400 S. Galijašević et al.

- 52. Iriti, M., Rossoni, M., Faoro, F.: Melatonin content in grape: myth or panacea? J. Sci. Food Agric. 86, 1432–1438 (2006)
- González-Gómez, D., et al.: Detection and quantification of melatonin and serotonin in eight Sweet Cherry cultivars (Prunus avium L.). Eur. Food Res. Technol. = Zeitschrift fur Lebensmittel-untersuchung und -Forschung. A. 229(2), 223–229 (2009)



Determination of Methanol Content in Homemade Brandy Using Raman Spectroscopy

Amina Stambolić^(⊠), Emina Drkić, Sabaheta Keser, Nermina Spaho, and Enisa Omanović-Mikličanin

Faculty of Agriculture and Food Sciences, University of Sarajevo, Zmaja od Bosne 8, 71000 Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina a.stambolic@ppf.unsa.ba

Abstract. Methanol and ethanol are alcohols naturally produced during fermentation. While similar in physical and chemical properties their toxicity is very different. Small quantities of methanol as low as 10 ml can cause permanent blindness while larger quantities have lethal outcomes. The history of human alcohol consumption is marked with instances of accidental methanol poisoning which led to many lives being lost. Methanol content in alcoholic beverages is highly monitored and regulated by law to prevent accidental poisonings. The method commonly used for methanol content determination is the spectroscopic method using chromotropic acid. This method requires a lengthy process of sample preparation and the use of many chemical reagents which is not the most practical approach, especially if there are many samples to be analysed. Raman spectroscopy is a non-destructive, quick instrumental method that can be used to determine methanol content in alcoholic beverages utilising the characteristic band of methanol noticable in the recorded spectra of samples. Considering the tradition of homemade brandy production and consumption in Bosnia and Herzegovina as well as in neighbouring countries, accidental methanol poisoning is a possible occurence. The goal of this study was to analyse the methanol content in homemade brandy samples which usually do not undergo any inspection before consumption. Fifteen samples of fruit brandy where analysed using both Raman spectroscopy and the chromotropic acid method. Out of these fifteen samples only one of them had a methanol content below the legal limit.

Keywords: Methanol · Alcoholic beverages · Raman spectroscopy

1 Introduction

Brandy, also known as *rakija* or *rakia* in the Balkans, is a very popular strong alcoholic beverage produced by distilling fermented fruit. Although produced industrially and available commercially, there is also a tradition of making rakija at home. Rakija is mostly made from fermented plums in which case it's called *šljivovica*, but can also be made from other types of fruit such as apples, cherries, apricots, quinces and grapes. The

ethanol content is usually in the range from 40 to 45 vol% but homemade brandy can be even stronger, up to 60 vol% as it is usually made according to the maker's preferences. [1].

During the fermentation process of the chosen fruit, the sugars are converted into ethanol via microbial activity. Since traditional fermentation occurs via spontaneous inoculation from the substrate and processing equipment. Accordingly, fermentation is typically carried out by mixed cultures. Therefore, contamination with bacteria, fungi, and other yeasts could lead to the production of methanol and other products. Additionally, because methanol has a lower boiling point (65 °C) than ethanol (78 °C), it might be concentrated even more during the distillation process. Methanol is not produced from sugar but from pectin. Many strains of bacteria and yeasts possess pectinolytic enzymes such as pectin methyl esterase, pectin lyase, and polygalacturonase which ultimately lead to the production of methanol, an unwanted side product. [2].

2 Methanol and Ethanol

Methanol (CH₃OH) is the simplest aliphatic alcohol with just one C atom. It is usually produced by distilling wood. It's a volatile, flammable, colorless liquid which forms mixtures with water and has a characteristic alcoholic scent. It's widely used as a solvent in chemical labs as well as in industrial synthesis of organic compounds.

Ethanol (C_2H_5OH) is by far the most utilized alcohol to the point where it is synonymous with the term. It is mostly consumed as a component of alcoholic beverages for its intoxicating effect on the human body (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. Ball and stick model of methanol (left) and ethanol (right)

Organoleptically, methanol and ethanol are indistinguishable which is the primary reason for accidental methanol poisoning. Although very similar in physical and chemical properties, methanol and ethanol have different effects on the human body. Where ethanol is toxic only if consumed in large quantities, methanol is classified as moderately to highly toxic to humans. Quantities as low as 10 mL of pure methanol are known to cause permanent blindness by destroying the optic nerve [3].

Reports on the fatal dose of methanol vary with some sources citing 15 mL as potentially fatal [3], while others place the lethal dose in the wide range from 30 to 240 mL [4].

Methanol is toxic by two mechanisms. First, methanol poisoning, like ethanol poisoning, can be fatal due to its CNS depressant properties. Second, it is metabolized to formic acid (formate anion) via formaldehyde in a toxication process that is started by the liver's alcohol dehydrogenase enzyme [5].

Formate is toxic because it inhibits mitochondrial cytochrome c oxidase, causing hypoxia at the cellular level, and metabolic acidosis, among a variety of other metabolic disturbances [6].

3 Methanol in Brandy

As stated previously, methanol is inevitably produced during fermentation of fruit and therefore can be a contaminant in the final product. Brandy produced from fruit richer in pectin will have a higher methanol content compared to fruit brandy made from softer fruit with a lower pectin content. Over the history of brandy production various methods for methanol removal have been developed.

One of the most common ways to prevent methanol contaminating the final product is by discarding the distillate which forms before the system temperature reaches the boiling point of ethanol (78 °C). To allow enough time for all of the methanol to evaporate before the boiling point of ethanol is reached, some producers advise using low quality fuel for the heating of the system. Low quality fuel prevents the production system from reaching higher temperatures too quickly, and consequently the simultaneous boiling of methanol and ethanol. To further ensure methanol removal, it is recommended to discard the first 500–750 mL of distillate per 100 L of brandy produced [7].

Another method for methanol removal is the so called "bottle method" utilized in homemade production. The distillate is let to flow over an open bottle placed in a bigger container. The rationale behind this method is that methanol will sink to the bottom of the bottle because its density is higher than the density of ethanol (0,792 g/mL vs 0,789 g/mL). However, experts advise against the use of this method as the difference in density is not big enough to ensure effective separation of methanol.

Because of its detrimental effects on human health, methanol content in commercially available alcoholic beverages is highly monitored and the legal limits determined by a rulebook [8]. According to the *Rulebook on defining, describing, presenting, marking and protection of geographical indications of strong alcoholic beverages* in Bosnia and Herzegovina, fruit brandy should not contain more than 1000 g of methanol per hectoliter of pure ethanol. The exceptions to this rule are brandy made from plums, pears (excluding the sort *Pyrus communis* L. cv "Williams"), apples, raspberries, blackberries and apricots where the legal limit is 1200g per hectoliter of pure ethanol and brandy made from quinces, juniper berries and the *Pyrus communis* L. cv "Williams" sort of pear with the legal limit of 1350 g of methanol per hectoliter of pure ethanol [8]. The different legal limits are in accordance with the pectin content of different fruit sorts which leads to a higher methanol content.

4 Methanol Determination

4.1 Chromotropic Acid Method

The chromotropic acid method is a spectrophotometric method used to detect and quantify methanol in samples of alcoholic beverages. The method is based on the oxidation of methanol to formaldehyde using potassium permanganate. The resulting formaldehyde forms a purple-colored complex with the chromotropic acid in the presence of concentrated sulfuric acid. The absorbance of the complex is measured at 570 nm and compared to the absorbance of a standard or determined using a calibration curve constructed using a standard series [9].

4.2 Raman Spectroscopy

Raman spectroscopy is a vibrational spectroscopy method which provides a very specific spectrum for every substance analyzed. The unique position and intensity of bands on a Raman spectrum is regarded as a "fingerprint" of a particular substance [10].

Raman spectroscopy is based on the ability of molecules to absorb or emit energy in the form of photons and change their own energy in this way. When irradiated by monochromatic light, the molecules scatter the light with a change in the wavelength characteristic for that molecule. Raman spectroscopy is non-destructive and contactless so working with very small quantities of a sample is made easier. Another advantage is the ability to acquire spectra in seconds and through transparent packaging like glass and plastic which is convenient for analyses of volatile or toxic liquids [10].

5 Method and Materials

5.1 Samples and Reagents

Samples of homemade fruit brandy were collected from friends and acquaintances. Out of fifteen samples collected, four were plum brandy (S1, S2, S3 and S4), three apple brandy (J1, J2 and J3), two were apricot brandy (K1 and K2), two pear brandy (K1 and Kr2), one quince brandy (D1), one grape brandy (L1) and two samples of plum brandy infused with herbs (T1 and T2).

All reagents were acquired through commercial sources and used without further purification. Ethanol and methanol of spectroscopic grade were used for the standard solutions.

5.2 Determination of Methanol Content Using the Chromotropic Acid Method

The ethanol content of the samples was measured using a portable Mettler Toledo densimeter. The samples were then diluted to 2,5 vol% of ethanol using distilled water. A stock solution of methanol is prepared by pipetting 1 mL of pure methanol into a 100 mL flask that is then filled to the mark with a 2,5 vol% solution of ethanol. The stock solution was then used to prepare standard solutions of 0.16, 0.32, and 0.80 vol%/p.e. (pure ethanol). 2,5 mL of the samples and the standards were pipetted into test tubes and 1 mL of sulfuric acid (1:3) was added. To ensure the oxidation of methanol, 1 mL od 1% potassium permanganate was added. After 10 min, the mixture was clarified using a saturated solution of sodium sulfite. 0,5 mL of 2% chromotropic acid is then added to the mixture along with 5 mL of concentrated sulfuric acid.

The treated samples and standards were then incubated for 20 min at 65 °C. After cooling the absorbance was recorded at 570 nm using a Varian Cary 1E UV-Visible Spectrophotometer.

5.3 Determination of Methanol Content Using Raman Spectroscopy

For the acquisition of Raman spectra of the samples no pre-treatment was required. A series of standard solutions of methanol in pure ethanol were made for the calibration curve. The concentrations used were 2.5, 5, 10 and 20 vol%/p.e.

The spectra were recorded using the ANT Flipper with a 785 nm excitation laser. The standards, samples as well as pure ethanol and methanol were poured into amber glass vials which were closed to prevent evaporation. The spectra were acquired in the range from 400 to 2000 cm⁻¹ with a 10 000 ms acquisition time. The spectra for each sample were acquired five times.

6 Results and Discussion

The spectra of pure ethanol and pure methanol are given in Fig. 2.



Fig. 2. The Raman spectra of ethanol and methanol

The main peaks important for spectra interpretation and processing are found in the $800-1200 \text{ cm}^{-1}$ range. This area of the spectra contains the very intensive peak of methanol found at 1035 cm^{-1} that is assigned to the stretching of the C-O bond, and the C-C stretching of ethanol found here at 883 cm^{-1} . Other characteristic vibrations for ethanol and methanol are given in Table 1.

All spectra were recorded under the same conditions and were subjected to a baseline correction and normalization according to the ethanol band at 883 cm^{-1} . To measure

Raman peak (cm ⁻¹)					
Ethanol					
Measured	Literature	Assignment	Intensity		
883	883	C-C stretching	vs		
1052	1054	C-O stretching	S		
1096	1096	CH ₃ rocking	S		
1455	1454	CH ₃ bending	m		
1482	1479	CH ₃ bending vw			
Methanol					
1035	1033	C-O stretching	vs		
1112	1106	CH ₃ rocking	w		
1162	1149	CH ₃ bending	S		
1461	1448	-	S		

Table 1. The characteristic peaks in the Raman spectrum of ethanol and methanol

methanol content in standard solutions and in samples the normalized spectra of ethanol was subtracted from the spectra of the mixtures and the intensity of the peak at 1035 cm^{-1} measured.

According to the concentrations of standard solutions and the peak intensity at 1035 cm^{-1} , a calibration curve has been constructed (Fig. 3).



Fig. 3. Calibration curve of methanol

When processing the spectra of the alcohol mixtures no shift in peaks has been detected due to the absence of water. However, the spectra of brandy samples show a significant shift of some bands, primarily the C-O stretching of ethanol which experiences a shift from 1052 cm^{-1} to $1046-7 \text{ cm}^{-1}$ (depending on the sample), as well as the C-O stretching of methanol which can be found at 1030 cm^{-1} as opposed to 1035 cm^{-1} in pure methanol. The comparison of the peak positions of a brandy sample and the ones of pure ethanol are given in Fig. 4. The C-C stretching of ethanol also experiences a shift in position from 883 to 879 cm⁻¹. This occurs most likely due to the presence of water molecules in brandy samples which mitigate the formation of hydrogen bonds. Hydrogen bonds can cause the peak position to shift towards lower wave numbers. This is further supported by the fact that the bonds experiencing the biggest changes in position are the ones most affected by the hydrogen bond formation.



Fig. 4. The difference in peak positions between pure ethanol and a sample of brandy (T1)

The band shift that occurs in aqueous solutions demands the additional step of curve fitting this particular band in the goal of successfully determining the concentration of methanol. The results are displayed as the mean value of five analyses along with the standard deviation.

The absorbance of samples tested using the chromotropic acid was measured at 570 nm and the concentration calculated using the calibration curve equation. The analyses were done in duplicate and the results expressed as the mean value.

The results of both methods are given in Table 2.

Out of all the samples analyzed, only sample J3 (apple brandy) has the methanol content within the legal limits; 1.24% of methanol corresponds to 980 g of methanol per hectoliter of pure ethanol and the legal limit for apple brandy is 1200 g/100 l p.e.

Sample name	MeOH concentration (Chromotropic acid method) %	MeOH concentration (Raman spetroscopy) %
S1	7.60	7.53 ± 0.13
S2	1.98	3.11 ± 0.09
\$3	3.82	4.50 ± 0.11
S4	7.65	6.83 ± 0.08
T1	11.49	10.40 ± 0.15
T2	4.50	4.56 ± 0.16
K1	7.11	5.66 ± 0.08
K2	1.68	1.89 ± 0.09
J1	4.32	5.09 ± 0.30
J2	2.86	2.41 ± 0.05
J3	1.76	1.24 ± 0.04
L1	14.02	12.30 ± 0.14
D1	5.09	5.01 ± 0.29
Kr1	1.88	2.30 ± 0.04
Kr2	1.84	1.93 ± 0.09

Table 2. Results for the methanol content obtained using the chromotropic acid method and Raman spectroscopy

7 Conclusions

Compared to the standard method of determining methanol content, Raman spectroscopy offers an alternative which is less time consuming as it doesn't require sample preparation and long-term cost effective as it doesn't require any additional use of chemicals. Based on our results we conclude that Raman spectroscopy is a viable method for methanol content determination and should be further researched and optimized in the hopes of wide spread industrial implementation.

References

- 1. Hui, Y.H., Evranuz, E.Ö. (Eds.). Handbook of Plant-Based Fermented Food and Beverage Technology. 2nd edn., p. 212. CRC Press, Boca Raton (2012)
- Ohimain, E.I.: Methanol contamination in traditionally fermented alcoholic beverages: the microbial dimension. Springerplus 5(1), 1 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1186/s40064-016-3303-1
- Kruse, J.A.: Methanol and ethylene glycol intoxication. Critic. Care Clin. 28 (4), 661–711 (2012)
- Anderson, I.B.: Chapter 102. Methanol. In: Olson, KR. (eds.) Poisoning & Drug Overdose, 6e. McGraw Hill (2012). https://accessmedicine.mhmedical.com/content.aspx?. Accessed 08 Dec 2022

- 5. Schep, L.J., Slaughter, R.J., Vale, J.A., Beasley, D.M.: A seaman with blindness and confusion. BMJ **339**, b3929 (2009)
- 6. Liesivuori, J., Savolainen, H.: Methanol and formic acid toxicity: biochemical mechanisms. Pharmacol. Toxicol. **69**(3), 157–163 (1991)
- Agroklub Croatia webpage. https://www.agroklub.com/vocarstvo/opasnosti-pri-nepravilnojdestilaciji-alkohola/22082/. Accessed 08 Dec 2022
- 8. Službeni glasnik BiH. Pravilnik o definiranju, opisivanju, prezentiranju, označavanju, i zaštiti geografskih oznaka jakih alkoholnih pića (81), 52 (2012)
- Nikitina, N., Reshetnyak, E., Chernyshova, O., Vlasenko, A., Bielia, A., Panteleimonov, A.: Visual binary testing of methanol contained in ethyl alcohol. Kharkiv Univ. Bulletin. Chem. Ser. 35, 51–61 (2020)
- Vaskova, H.: Spectroscopic determination of methanol content in alcoholic drinks. Int. J. Biol. Biomed. Eng. 8, 27–34 (2014)



Economic Analysis of Semi-hard Cheese Production Depending on the Applied Technology

Tarik Dizdarević^{1(⊠)}, Adin Fakić², Vedad Falan¹, Nedim Hadžiomerović³, Mersiha Alkić-Subašić¹, Nermina Đulančić¹, Zlatan Sarić¹, and Svijetlana Sakić-Dizdarević¹

¹ Faculty of Agriculture and Food Sciences, University of Sarajevo, Zmaja od Bosne 8, 71000

- Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina
- t.dizdarevic@ppf.unsa.ba

² Agrokultura o.d., Ćamila Sijarića 21, 71000 Sarajevo, Bosnia and Herzegovina

³ Velvet Trade d.o.o., Hasana Merdžanovića 42, 71320 Vogošća, Bosnia and Herzegovina

Abstract. The analysis of milk processing in Bosnia and Herzegovina showed the orientation of the dairy sector towards liquid and fermented products. During 2021, the export of dairy products from BiH amounted to 48 million euros (mainly drinking milk and cream), while the import reached 89 million euros, with the import of cheese (predominantly semi-hard) exceeding half of the stated amount. In order to reduce the market deficit of semi-hard cheeses, the research was based on the analysis of the profitability of investment in the technology of semi-hard type cheeses. Business risk assessment using analytical calculations was done on the basis of the applied technology of Gouda and Saint Paulin, the duration of technological operations, consumption of the amount of milk per 1 kg of cheeses, and the degree of tempering, while other parameters (rennet, culture starter, energy, etc.) were fixed in the calculations. The results of the analysis of the experimentally produced cheeses showed that the production of 1 kg of *Gouda* cheese requires 10.22 l, while for 1 kg of St. Paulin cheese is required 8.76 l of milk. Cheese yield was 9.80 kg (Gouda) and 8.38 kg (St. Paulin). The average duration of the primary production period for Gouda cheese technology was 5.01, and 3.83 h for St. Paulin's cheese. This research showed that technology of St. Paulin cheese is more economical, and this type of cheese can be recommended for the production.

Keywords: technology of semi-hard cheese · cheese yield · economic aspects

1 Introduction

Historically, animal husbandry and milk processing represent one of the most important agricultural branches in Bosnia and Herzegovina. This sector was almost completely destroyed during the citizen's war (1992.–1995.), but after the war, dairy farming gradually recovered and today it represents a very important part of country economy. Bosnia and Herzegovina have also a long tradition of animal husbandry, as well as production

of milk and dairy products. In addition, the dairy sector creates also opportunities for business and employment, especially in the rural areas, but not only, since plenty of persons from urban parts are working in dairy business (Sekovska et al. 2015).

The quantity of collected cow's milk was 21.571 tons in 2022nd year and decreased for 6.30% compared to 2021st (Agency for Statistics of the Bosnia and Herzegovina, 2022). Modern milk processing in B&H is based on the production of liquid dairy products (sterilized milk and fermented products). In the structure of dairy products consumption in entity Federation of B&H liquid dairy products make up to 80.80%, cheeses represent an average of about 17.00%, while other dairy products make up only 2.20% (Bajramović et al. 2015). In addition to the enormous import of dairy products in B&H, a vital problem of the dairy sector is the lack of a milk drying plant that could regulate market surpluses in the summer period.

The successful development and the introduction of new dairy products to the market is a very complex process that depends on numerous factors (technology, quality, economy, etc.). Cheese ripening represents one of the most important stages during production and in this phase, moisture evaporates from the inner part of cheese towards the surface. At the same time, complex biochemical processes such as glycolysis, lipolysis and proteolysis take place in the cheese, all together forming the sensory properties of the final product (Fox et al. 2017).

Cheese yield is of exceptional economic importance for cheese producers, because small differences in yield can lead to significant differences in profit, and that yield measurement should become a tool not only for cheese production but also for management (Abd El-Gawad et al. 2011). Everard et al. (2008) classifies the factors affecting cheese yield into 2 main groups: milk composition and technological conditions used during cheese production.

In order to assess the profitability, but also to reduce the risk of the investment in cheese technology is necessary to collect and analyze numerous inputs data such as: price of milk, transport costs, labor, process equipment, energy, rennet, starter cultures, etc. These inputs data from the experimental cheese production were used to calculate the economy using the cost calculation model.

The development of new dairy products is usually done in research and development centers (RDC), and this type of multidisciplinary research is related to large dairy companies because they are time-consuming, technical-technologically demanding, and involve many various areas of professions. Dairy sector in B&H is dominantly owned by multinational companies and the development of new dairy products is mainly based on the technologies transfer from "central" laboratories located in the country of origin, because this companies usually do not have departments for research and development in B&H. To overcome this problem some companies made cooperation with Faculty of Agriculture and Food Sciences University of Sarajevo (FAFS) in order to exchange knowledge and experience, and to overcome everyday problems in dairy production.

The aim of this study was to determine the profitability of semi-hard cheeses production depending on different inputs parameters (applied technology, length of technological process, fat content, cheese yield, method of cheese packaging), in order to reduce the market deficit of semi-hard cheese in B&H.

2 Methods

2.1 Analysis of the Dairy Sector in Bosnia and Herzegovina

Analysis of the dairy sector in Bosnia and Herzegovina was done through the desk research method using official data from Agency for Statistics of the Bosnia and Herzegovina, Foreign Trade Chamber of Bosnia and Herzegovina, company "Milkprocessing d.o.o." and Association of the Dairy Industry of B&H. Authors also used many years of knowledge and experience in dairy and cheese sector.

2.2 Technology of Semi-hard Cheeses

Two technologies of semi-hard type cheeses were selected and used for experimental cheese production: *Gouda* (Kammerlehner, J. 1989) and *Saint Paulin* (Scott et al., 1998). All experimental semi-hard cheeses were produced on a volume of 100 l of milk in a pilot plant (Faculty of Agriculture and Food Sciences-FAFS, University of Sarajevo) equipped with two 200 l vats. Sixteen productions of semi-hard cheeses were made in total (8 *Gouda* and 8 *Saint Paulin*).

Fresh, raw cow milk was purchased from dairy company Milkos d.o.o. (Sarajevo) Milk was standardized (2.80% and 3.20%), pasteurized (65 °C/30 min), cooled (32 °C) and inoculated with mesophilic and thermophilic cultures, after 25 min calcium chloride (15–20 g/100 l) and 2g/100 l lysozyme Afilact (ChrHansen, Denmark) were added. CHY-MAX M rennet (Chr. Hansen, Denmark) was added (1g/100 l), and the milk coagulated for 25 to 35 min.

Major difference between two technologies (*Gouda* and *St. Pauline*) of experimental cheeses was during production phase of washing the cheese curd, whereby for *Gouda* cheeses consisted in 35% of whey draining and adding of 25% of hot water, and for *St. Paulin* cheeses 45% of whey was replaced with same amount of water. After, one part of cheese curds was molded and pressed (0.2–0.3 bar) and other part was self-pressed in perforated cheese molds. All cheeses were salted in brine (° Be = 18.50) for 24 h and coated with Cleriplast S (Clerici Sacco Group, Italy).

After salting cheeses were prepared for ripening using three different packaging methods: pressed and packaged in foil (F), pressed without foil (BF), and self-pressed packaged in foil (SP).

2.3 Sensory Analysis

Sensory analysis was used to determine cheeses quality and it was done after 30 days of ripening. Evaluation was performed by five trained sensory experts, using 20-point scoring system, with maximum score of 20 points as follows: 2 points maximum for appearance, 1 point for color, 2 points for texture, 3 points for cut surface, 2 points for odor and 10 points for taste.

2.4 Cheese Yield

First was calculated the amount of milk required to produce 1 kg of cheese (L) according to the formula:

$$L = kg of milk/kg of cheese$$

In order to express the quantity of liters of milk in kilograms, result was multiplied with the average density of milk = 1.030 (Dozet, 1970).

Cheese yields were calculated using the formula:

$$(R) = 100/L$$

where (R) = cheese yield and L = amount of milk required to produce 1 kg of cheese.

In order to determine cheese mass loss (K) all experimental cheeses were weighed after salting and after 30 days of ripening. The percentage of cheese mass loss is calculated according to the formula:

K = (Difference in weight before and after cheese ripening \times 100)/Kg of cheese before ripening.

2.5 Analytical Model for Estimating the Economics of Semi-hard Cheese Production

Time is an important economic parameter for cheese technology, and it can be divided in the primary and secondary periods. The primary period of cheese production is considered to be the time from the reception of milk in the dairy until the cheese is placed in the ripening room. While the secondary period is considered the period of ripening and distribution of the cheese.

In this research, the duration of all technological operations in 16 experimental productions was measured, and the average time necessary for the production of *Gouda* and *St. Paulin* cheese. Economic efficiency production of semi-hard cheese was calculated on the results of experimental cheeses production in a dairy pilot plant (FAFS, University of Sarajevo).

The economy of production of experimental cheeses was calculated using the cost calculation model. Depending on the observed parameters, the economic efficiency of the production of experimental cheeses was calculated using a cost calculation model.

Falan and Mujčinović (2022) state that the budget of turnover ratio (TR), total costs (TC), production value (VP), cost price (CP), financial result (FR), and production economy (E) and profitability (P) can be successfully used to make business investment decisions.

The turnover ratio (TR) shows number of turnover (cycles) for cheese production during one business year, i.e. how many times an asset is turned over during one business year or 360 days, and is calculated according to the formula:

$$TR = 360/TO$$

where TO = the number of days of one turnover of an asset (production).

The cost price was calculated on 1000 kg of cheese by dividing a kg of cheese by the total costs with the total yield (CP = TC/Y), and the financial result was calculated based on the difference between the total costs and the production value (FR = VP - TC). Production economy (E) was obtained by dividing the production value and the total costs (E = VP/TC) and it is necessary to be E > 1. The percentage of profitability (R) is calculated on the relationship between the financial result and the value of production (P = FR/VP) and multiplied by a factor of 100. This parameter should give us an answer as to whether some production is profitable/profitable.

3 Results

The results of dairy sector analysis showed a great deficit of cheeses, especially of the semi-hard type, as well as extremely small production and export of these type of cheeses, like *Tilsit* (0.00%), *Edamer* (0.01%) and *Gouda* (0.13%). It has been established that on the B&H dairy market dominated production of low-accumulative products with a short shelf life and enormous import of different types of cheese.

Deregulation of the raw milk market during the summer months (lactation peak) could be partially solved by investing in cheese production.

3.1 Analysis of the Dairy Sector

Major part of Bosnia and Herzegovina presents the economic and socio-economic conditions of the mountainous area and provide for the livestock and milk sector the character of the leading fields of agriculture in the country (Jalić et al. 2022).

The analysis of the dairy products market (2021) in B&H showed that dairy products export was 48 million euros (\in), while import was 89 million euros. Among all dairy products imported in B&H the most dominant was cheese (47 million euros), especially semi-hard type (Foreign Trade Chamber of Bosnia and Herzegovina 2022).

Muhamedagić & Begović (2019) stated that the export of dairy products in B&H in 2019th was higher for 6,855 tons compared to imports. But ratio between import and export has a huge disproportion in financial terms, because lower price products such as milk and cream were dominantly exported, while higher price dairy products (cheeses) were imported.

3.2 Technology of Semi-hard Cheese

There are various technological ways to improve rate of ripening of cheese and reduction of costs that affect the sensory properties and quality of cheese (Cocolins et al. 2018).

Table 1 shows average duration period in minutes for each technological operation for experimental semi-hard cheeses (*Gouda* and *St. Paulin*) which starts with pasteurization and ends with coating and packing and it was used to calculate the economic parameter, i.e. the turnover ratio (Ko). By comparing the production length of *Gouda* and *St. Paulin* cheeses it was found out that for production of *St. Paulin* cheese was required shorter period (3.83 h), instead of 5.01 h needed for *Gouda* production. Where operations of adding culture, CaCl₂, rennet, cutting the curd, and especially washing cheese curd and drying grains lasted diverse.

	Gouda	St. Paulin
1. Pasteurization	15–35	15–35
2. Cooling	10–20	5–20
3. Adding culture, CaCl ₂	35-45	25-40
4. Adding rennet (salting of milk)	25–35	20–30
5. Cutting the curd	10–15	5-10
6. Release of whey	5-10	5-10
7. Washing cheese curd	35–40	20–30
8. Drying grains	40–50	15–20
9. Discharge of whey	5-8	5-8
10. Molding	20–30	20–30
11. Prepressing	ressing 5–15 5–15	
12. I. pressing	25–35	25–35
13. Turning the cheeses	10–20	10–20
14. II. Pressing	50-70	50–70
15. Salting (20h)	5-10	5-10
16. Coating and packing	50-70	50–70
Average	303,75 min. (5,01 h)	229,50 min. (3,83 h)

Table 1. Average duration period (minutes) for each technological operation for experimental semi-hard cheeses (*Gouda* and *St. Paulin*).

3.3 Sensory Analysis

The organoleptic quality of cheese arises as a result of complex changes that occur during production and ripening period. The ripening process plays a crucial role in the development of sensory properties, such as the odor and flavor of the cheese (Weimer, Seefeldt and Dias 1999). The results of the sensory analysis of the experimental cheeses showed exceptional quality, where 81.25% were categorized in the extra class cheese, regardless of the proportion of fat in the cheese-making milk. St. Paulin cheeses had slightly better average score (18.62) compared to the Gouda technology (18.59).

After 30 days of ripening, the sensory profile of the cheeses was formed and gustatory characteristics of the experimental cheeses were: a pleasant, expressed smell with a mild milky-sour taste. The cheeses had pure odor and flavor, specific for this type of cheeses. Düsterhöft et al. (2017) states similar results, where almost all cheeses after 30 days of ripening had fully formed sensory characteristics necessary for placing the cheese on the market.

Shorter ripening period (30 days) needed to form sensory properties in experimental cheeses indicates that semi-hard cheeses could be more competitive in the economic sense compared to some other types of cheese.

3.4 Cheese Yield

The ripening process is very important in the production of cheese with improved and consistent quality with minimum costs and maximum consumer acceptance. The parameters amount of milk required to produce 1 kg of cheese and cheese yield were used as input data to assess the profitability of introducing a new product.

The average cheese yield for *Gouda* technology was 9.80 kg, while amount of milk required for 1 kg of cheese was 10.22 kg. Quantity of milk required for 1 kg of *St. Paulin* cheese was lower (8.76 kg) and the cheese yield amounted 8.38 kg. Differences in cheese yield and amount of milk required for 1 kg of cheese among *Gouda* and *St. Paulin* cheese were important from an economic aspect, but it should be observed together with the cheese weight loss during ripening (Fig. 1).



Fig. 1. Average values of weight loss (%) for *Gouda* and *St. Paulin* cheeses depending on packaging method and fat content.

Average percentages of weight loss during 30 days of ripening for *St. Paulin* cheeses was higher compared to *Gouda*. A particularly high percentage of weight loss (of about 12%) was found in *St. Paulin* cheeses, regardless of the fat content in cheese milk (SP 3.2% and SP 2.8%). On the other hand, cheeses that were packed in foil had the lowest percentage of weight loss and it varied from 3.52% (*Gouda*) to 8.85% (*St. Paulin*).

3.5 Analytical Model for Estimating the Economics of Semi-hard Cheese Production

The average time of the primary period for *Gouda* cheese technology was 303.75 min and it was longer compared to the time required for the production of *St. Paulin* cheese

(229.50 min.), the main reason was shorter time of the technological operation of "drying the cheese grain". Results obtained in the technology of semi-hard cheeses were used as input data for calculating the economics. Experimental cheeses produced by self-pressing in both technologies had an identical duration.

The turnover ratio shows how many times receivables from customers are turned over during the year. A higher number of turnovers is considered better because then the company needs fewer financial resources to finance loans, goods and services (Škrtić & Mikić., 2011). Cheese ripening was taken as the secondary period of production and for both technologies was 30 days. The result of the turnover ratio (Ko) analysis of all experimental cheeses was 12, as a result of a shorter ripening period (30 days).

Some sensory characteristics, like a mild odor or flavor, were the result of a shorter ripening period. But total sensory score of the cheeses showed that all cheeses had a satisfactory maturity for placing it on the market. Since milk represents the main material in cheese technology, the economy and profitability of cheese production is determined by the price of milk. In addition to milk, other ingredients were used in cheese technology, such as: starter culture, calcium chloride, rennet, protective coating, salt, detergent, chlorine, etc. (direct costs), and were used to calculate profitability (Table 2).

Indicator	Gouda		St. Paulin	
Yield (kg)	100	1282	100	1380
Production value (8,68 €/kg)	868	1112313	868	1196618
Total Direct costs (€)	5018	643181	4808	663069
Total Indirect costs (€)	3250	416621	3247	447814
Total costs (€)	8268	1059802	8056	1110883
Cost price (€/kg)		8.27		8.05
Financial result (€)	410	52511	621	85734
Economy of production (Coefficient)		1,05		1,08
Profitability (%)		4,72		7,16

 Table 2. Income, costs and economic indicators of experimental Gouda and St.Paulin cheese production.

Based on the results of experimental cheeses production, including direct and indirect costs, analytical calculation was made depending on the applied technology, fat content and packaging method. The experimental cheese production capacity was calculated at 100 kg and the annual production.

Annual production of *Gouda* and *St. Paulin* cheeses were 128,180 kg and 137,895 kg, while the total value of productions were $1,112,313 \in$ and $1,196,615 \in$ respectively (calculation based on the price of $8,68 \notin /1$ kg of cheese).

Based on analytical calculations, it was determined that the total costs did not overcome the production value. The cost price (CK) calculated on the basis of the ratio of total costs and volume of production amounted to $8,27 \in$ for 1 kg of *Gouda* cheese, or $8,05 \in$ for *St. Paulin* cheese.

Financial result (FR) was calculated based on the difference between total costs and production value. In the technology of *Gouda* cheese FR was $52511 \in$, while *St. Paulin* cheese had a better result 102 593,00 \in and amounted to 50 081,00 \in

The coefficient of economy for the experimental *Gouda* technology was 1,05 and it was lower compared to *St. Pauline* technology which was 1,09.

Šarlija (2009) states that profitability indicators show the financial strength of the company, in fact these indicators measures return on invested capital. The percentage of profitability for *Gouda* and *St. Pauline* cheese was 4,72% and 7,16% respectively. The established profitability of experimental cheeses shows that for every 100,00 \in invested in the production of cheese, the profit varies from 2,41 to 3,65 \in .

High allocations for VAT (17%) and trade margin (of about 20%) brings production of both cheeses to the limit of economy and profitability.



Fig. 2. The percentage share of individual items in the total costs of semi-hard cheeses calculated on 100 kg.

Figure 2 shows the percentage share of individual items in the total costs of production of semi-hard cheeses (*Gouda*, *St Paulin*) and it is calculated on 100 kg. In the total cost structure cost of raw milk have the largest share for both cheeses, 51,31% or $476,71 \in$ (*Gouda*) and 41.39% or $402,43 \in$ (*St Paulin*). Lover cost of raw material for *St. Paulin* cheese was a result of better cheese yield, however during ripening the weight loss for this cheese was higher. The costs of raw material were followed by.

selling costs (20%): 18.68% and 20.34%; indirect cost for VAT (17%): 15.88% and 17.29%, costs for the energy 3.19% and 3.47%, salary 0.90% and 0.98% for *Gouda* and *St. Paulin* cheese respectively. The losses and breakdown for both cheeses were relatively small in calculation and this cost amounted to approx. 1,00%. Other additional materials required in technology, such as rennet, starter cultures, packaging, disinfectants and hygiene goods, etc. account a lower share (~5, 0%) in the cost structure.

A significant item in the total cost of experimental cheese was the allocation for direct depreciation for processing equipment for *Gouda* 6.82% and 7.42% *St. Paulin* cheeses.

The price of the process equipment was $127614,00 \in$, which, converted to months amounted $633,37 \in$ per months.

According to Milić et al. (2020) the largest share and amount in the costs for production of semi-hard and hard cheeses had raw material (milk), because milk represents the main ingredient of the final products.

In the technology of semi-hard cheeses fat content in raw milk is usually higher than required for this type of cheeses. After standardization of milk fat, the excess of fat represents a side product and can be used for production of various products (cream, sour cream, butter, etc.). In this economic calculation, as an extra profit, this parameter was not taken into account for profitability.

4 Conclusion

Experimentally produced cheeses during this study were predominantly of premium quality, and *St. Paulin* cheeses were rated slightly better (18.62) compared to *Gouda* (18.59).

The impact of packaging on the cheeses quality for both examined technologies showed that self-pressed cheeses packaged in foil (SP) were better compared to the one pressed and packaged in foil (F), and better yet compered to pressed cheeses without foil (BF).

The fat content (2.80% and 3.20%) in milk used for production did not show a significant impact on the sensory quality of the cheeses (*St. Paulin* and *Gouda*).

The results of the analysis of the experimentally produced cheeses showed that the production of 1 kg of *Gouda* cheese requires 10.22 L, while for 1 kg of *St. Paulin* cheese is required 8.76 L of milk. Cheese yield was 9.80 kg (*Gouda*) and 8.38 kg (*St. Paulin*), and degree of tempering was lower for *Gouda* cheeses (6.91%) than for *St. Paulin* (10.13%).

Although this study showed that the coefficient of economy and profitability of both examined technologies were positive, analytical calculation showed that the cost price of *Gouda* cheeses production was higher compared to *St. Paulin*, and this type of cheese can be recommended for the production.

In Bosnia and Herzegovina, the Law on Internal Trade of the Federation of B&H ("Official Gazette of the Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina", no. 40/2010 and 79/2017) abolished the priority provisions of domestic products on the shelves of shopping centers, which put domestic production in an even more unfavorable position.

Based on import-export analysis of dairy products from and in Bosnia and Herzegovina, it was identified that there is a true opportunity to place on the market semi-hard type cheeses produced in domestic dairies, but difficult business conditions, low technological level can hardly be competitive with imported products that are stimulated for export from their own countries.

References

- Abd El-Gawad, M. A, Ahmed, N.S.: Cheese yield as affected by some parameters review. Acta Scientiarum Polonorum Technologia Alimentaria **10**(2), 131–153 (2011)
- Agency for Statistics of the Bosnia and Herzegovina. Collected of cow's milk and milk products obtained. No. 8. Published by the Agency for Statistics of the Bosnia and Herzegovina, Sarajevo (2022)
- Bajramović, S., Nikolić, A., Ognjenović, D., Janjić, P., et al.: Medium-term strategy for the development of the agricultural sector in the federation of bosnia and herzegovina for the period 2015–2019. In: Federal Ministry of Agriculture, Water Management and Forestry, Federation of BiH, Sarajevo, pp. 192–198 (2015)
- Collins, Y.F., McSweeney, P.L.H., Wilkinson, M.G.: Lipolysis and free fatty acid catabolism in cheese: a review of current knowledge. Int. Dairy J. 345–360 (2003)
- Dozet, N.: Influence of milk quality on the efficiency of production of Travnički cheese. Mljekarstvo **20**(1) (1970)
- Düsterhöft, E.M., Engels, W., Huppertz, T.: Gouda and related cheeses. In: Cheese, pp. 865–888. Academic Press (2017)
- Everard, C.D., et al.: Effects of cutting intensity and stirring speed on syneresis and curd losses during cheese manufacture. J. Dairy Sci. **91**(7), 2575–2582 (2008)
- Falan, V., Mujčinović, A.: Costs and calculations in agro-industry. Unauthorized lectures, Faculty of Agriculture and Food Sciences University of Sarajevo, Sarajevo (2022)
- Foreign Trade Chamber of Bosnia and Herzegovina. Analysis of the foreign trade exchange of milk and milk products in the period 2020/2021
- Fox, Patrick F., Guinee, Timothy P., Cogan, Timothy M., McSweeney, Paul L H.: Fresh cheese products: principals of manufacture and overview of different varieties. In: Fundamentals of cheese science, pp. 543–588. Springer, Boston, MA (2017). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4899-7681-9_16
- https://advokat-prnjavorac.com/zakoni/Zakon_o_unutrasnjoj_trgovini_FBiH.pdf
- https://www.komorabih.ba/wp-content/uploads/2022/02/analize-mlijeko-i-mlijecni-proizvodiza-period-2020-2021_S_p.pdf (2022)
- Jalić, N., Rozman, Č, Vaško, Ž, Pažek, K.: Determining the extent of economical sustainability of a case study milk farm in Bosnia and Herzegovina based on the real options model. Sustainability 14(19), 11993 (2022)
- Kammerlehner J. Labkäse-Technologie. 3. Produktionstechnik, Fließbilder, Prozeßleitpläne. Verlag Th. Mann, Gelsenkirche Bauer (1989)
- Karić, M., Štefanić.: In: Costs and calculations in agricultural production. University Josip Juraj Strossmayer in Osijek, p. 43. Faculty of Agriculture in Osijek (1999)
- LNCS Homepage. http://www.springer.com/lncs. Accessed 21 Nov 2016
- Milić, D.M., Glavaš-Trbić, D.B., Tomaš-Simin, M.J., Zekić, V.N., Novaković, T.J., Vukelić, N.B. Economic indicators of production of semi-hard and hard cheeses in small capacity dairies in Serbia. J. Agric. Sci. (Belgrade) 65(3), 283–296 (2020)
- Muhamedagić, T., Begović, F.: Foreign trade analysis for 2018 dairy sector. Foreign Trade Chamber of B&H, Sarajevo (2019)
- Šarlija, N.: Analysis of business operations of the company, p. 2. Faculty of Economics in Osijek, Osijek (2009)
- Scott, R., Scott, J.E., Robinson, R.K., Wilbey, R.A.: Cheesemaking Practice. Springer, New York (1998). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4615-5819-4
- Sekovska, B., Todoroska, M., Jovanovska, S.R.: Dairy sector in Republic of Macedonia-yesterday, today, tomorrow. Економика пољопривреде **62**(4), 1109–1116 (2015)

Škrtić, M., Mikić, M.: Entrepreneurship. Zagreb: Sinergija-nakladništvo, p. 231 (2011)

Weimer, B., Seefeldt, K., Dias, B.: Sulfur metabolism in bacteria associated with cheese. In: In: Konings, W.N., Kuipers, O.P., In 't Veld, J.H.J.H. (eds.) Lactic Acid Bacteria: Genetics, Metabolism and Applications. Springer, Dordrecht, pp. 247–261. (1999). https://doi.org/10. 1007/978-94-017-2027-4_12

Author Index

A

Ahatović Hajro, Anesa 196 Alkić-Subašić, Mersiha 410 Andonovska, Katerina Bačeva 210 Ašimović, Zilha 202, 312 Avdović, Ajdin 56

B

Baban, Mirjana 148 Bašić, Emra 37 Bašić, Fejzo 14, 107 Begić, Munevera 218, 242 Behmen, Fikreta 72, 116 Bezdrob, Muamer 1 Biber, Lejla 163 Bobić, Tina 148 Bogeva, Elena 210 Bosančić, Borut 82 Bristrić, Elmedina 14 Buljina, Asima 351 Burović, Selma 320, 387

С

Čadro, Sabrija 14, 56 Çelik Oğuz, Arzu 30 Čengić, Lejla 47, 202, 312 Čengić-Džomba, Senada 171 Ćibo, Maid 373 Čivić, Hamdija 96, 126 Čorbo, Selma 202, 218, 242

D

Delić, Mersija 72 Đikić, Mirha 37 Dizdarević, Tarik 361 Dizdarević, Tarik 410 Djinovic-Stojanovic, Jasna 303 Dojčinović, Biljana 126 Drkenda, Pakeza 72 Drkić, Emina 401 Đulančić, Nermina 410Durmić-Pašić, Adaleta 196Džomba, Emir 171

F

Fakić, Adin410Falan, Vedad410

G

Gadžo, Drena 37 Galijašević, Semira 320, 387 Gavrić, Teofil 37, 47, 218, 312 Gregić, Maja 148 Gudić, Ahmed 56

H

Hadžić, Dženan 171 Hadžić, Faruk 56 Hadžiomerović, Nedim 410 Halilović, Admira 116 Halilović, Belmina 218 Hamidović, Saud 37, 47, 351 Hasanović, Mujo 196 Hasanović, Semira 202 Haseljić, Sanel 14, 107 Hermosín-Gutiérrez, Isidro 232 Hrnčić, Snježana 107

I

Ibraković, Vanesa 56 Ivanova-Petropulos, Violeta 210, 232

J

Jevremović, Darko 23 Jogan, Nejc 82, 136 Jurković, Josip 14, 107

K

Karahmet, Enver 285 Karakaya, Aziz 30

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2023 M. Brka et al. (Eds.): Agriconference 2022, LNBE, pp. 423–424, 2023. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-47467-5
Karić, Lutvija 116 Kermo, Zejneba 56 Keser, Sabaheta 401

L

Leposavić, Aleksandar 23 Ljuša, Melisa 183 Lubarda, Biljana 82

М

Mandić, Ana 72 Maslo, Semir 82 Matijašević, Saša 72 Matijević, Anamarija 47 Mijić, Pero 148 Mikličanin-Omanović, Enisa 351 Milišić, Adela 361 Miralem, Merima 196 Mirjanić, Goran 163 Mitrić, Siniša 107 Mujezin, Lejla 256, 266 Mujić, Adela 183 Muminović, Ševal 202 Murtić, Senad 96, 116, 126

N

Nikolić, Dragan 210, 232

0

Omanović, Rasim 14 Omanović-Mikličanin, Enisa 320, 373, 387, 401 Omerhodžić, Edin 1 Omerović, Zuhdija 1 Operta, Sabina 285 Oras, Amila 285 Oručević-Žuljević, Sanja 266

Р

Perica, Barbara 148

R

Rakita, Nermin 1

Ranđelović, Vladimir 82, 136 Ristic, Milan 303

Ŝ

Šakonjić, Ajla 47 Sakić-Dizdarević, Svjetlana 361 Sakić-Dizdarević, Svijetlana 410 Salkić, Adna 256, 266 Saraç Sivrikaya, Işıl 30 Sarajlić, Nermina 82, 96, 136 Šarić. Šemso 82 Sarić, Zlatan 361 Sarić, Zlatan 410 Šator. Adis 373 Sefo, Semira 72 Sijahović, Emina 96, 126 Sinanović, Ćerima Zahirović 116 Smajlović, Ajla 56 Spaho, Nermina 202, 401 Stafilov, Trajče 210 Stambolić, Amina 320, 351, 373, 387, 401 Subašić, Mersiha Alkić 285 Sulejmanović, Jasmina 14 Šumar, Kosta 163

Т

Tahmaz, Jasmina 285, 335 Tatarević, Sara 56 Taljić, Irzada 256 Troeger, Klaus 303

U

Uglješa, Sara 242

V

Vasilijević, Bojana 23 Velić, Irma 285 Vojnoski, Borimir 232

Z

Zejak, Dejan 23 Žnidarčič, Dragan 116